



L	I	B	$\mathbf{R}$	$\mathbf{A}$	$\mathbf{R}$	Y
---	---	---	--------------	--------------	--------------	---

OF THE

Theological Seminary,

PRINCETON, N. J.

Case, SCC Division...

shelf, 1620 Section....

Book, V. 2 No.

Theological Feminary inological Primary







# Horæ Solitariæ;

OR,

## ESSAYS

UPON SOME REMARKABLE

NAMES AND TITLES

OF THE

### HOLY SPIRIT,

OCCURRING IN

The OLD and New TESTAMENTS, and declarative of his essential Divinity and gracious Offices in the Salvation of Man:

TO WHICH IS ANNEXED,

A BRIEF ACCOUNT OF THE HERESIES,

Relative to the Doctrine of the Holy Spirit,

Which have been published since the Christian Æra.

VOL. II.

Ambrose Terle

FIRST AMERICAN, FROM THE SECOND LONDON EDITION.

PHILADELPHIA:

Printed by Cochran & M'Laughlin, No. 108 Race-Street.



#### PREFACE

#### TO THE FIRST EDITION.

THE former Volume of Essays, which chiefly related to the divinity of CHRIST, was composed in hours of retreat from the business of the world: The present, which treats of the divinity of the HOLY SPIRIT, has been written in full retirement from the world itself. It was therefore supposed, that the Title of Hora Solivaria might not be improper for both.

However trite and common the apology, it can very truly be said, that this part of the work was attempted and now appears at the instance of a learned and most valuable friend, whose wishes with the author, on the best of accounts, ought to have the force of commands, and whose worth and eminence it might seem vain to mention upon this occasion, as it would be thought superfluous (did he take the liberty to name him) upon any.

The two volumes, beyond the particular subjects of each, concur in one common design to shew; That the doctrine of a TRINITY or PERSONS in one and the same JEHOVAH is essential to the very being of the Christian religion; and, That the practical use or experience of this truth, including and combining all the other principles of the faith, is the proper constituent of the Christian life. If the Essays tend to confirm a doctrine so important, or to induce an improvement so desirable, the author may be credited in having no other purpose in their publication; unless indeed this consideration can be thought to have an undue influence with him, that any advantage, which the public indulgence may allow on the sale of the book, is already devoted to the household of faith, and will be applied by a different hand.

The author's distance from the press has increased the imperfections of his papers, which the candid and intelligent reader will have the goodness to correct or excuse: And he ventures humbly to solicit every reader, who is duly sensible of the consequence of divine truth, that prayer may be made for the blessing of grace, without which no human endeavors can be successful, and that all the praise, if the least good ensue, be rendered to HIM, "from whom all holy desires, all good counsels, and all just works, do proceed."

## CONTENTS.

	Pages
I ORD, or JEHOVAH	5
ALEHIM, or God -	18
Adonai	48
Most High	59
Holy Spirit '	75
Eternal Spirit	_ 90
Comforter	102
Spirit of Life — —	118
Water of Life	140
Spirit of Truth —	160
Spirit of Grace —	170
Spirit of Adoption — —	181
Spirit of Faith — —	195
Law	213
Voice — — —	228
Spirit of Wisdom, &c. — — —	241
Spirit of Counsel —	- 245
Spirit of Might — —	246
Spirit of Knowlede —	247
Spirit of Fear of Jehovah — — —	248
Guide — — —	249
Teacher — —	251
Power	. 267
Spirit of Promise	. 284
Love —	297
Understanding	312
Oil of Gladness — —	325
Conclusion	347

### N A M E S,

TITLES AND ATTRIBUTES,

OF THE

#### HOLY SPIRIT,

REVEALED IN THE

TWO TESTAMENTS.

#### LORD,

- \*\* \*\*

OR

#### JEHOVAH.

THE import of this glorious name has been considered in the former Volume, in which it was shewn, that the Almighty called himself by this title, to explain, to our understandings, his necessary, independent, self-existent Being, and to impress us with the idea of his own immutability and eternity, and of the derivation of all other existence from him. This name of course cannot belong to a creature, is never applied to any, but is claimed distinctly from all other names and attributes by the Great Author and Creator of all

things.

It is the purpose of this Essay to prove, that the incommunicable name JEHOVAH belongs to the HOLY SPIRIT: And such testimonies will be brought for this end, as (it is hoped) may confirm every believer, and do something to silence the mouth of the gainfayer; because they will be testimonies from Him who cannot lie—from Him, who cannot be mistaken himself, and who is too good and gracious, in the remotest degree to deceive us. We shall see, as we go along, what a glory this sublime truth throws upon all the other doctrines of the gospel, and in what perfect agreement it proceeds with the analogy of faith revealed in the Old and New Testaments, and (it may be added) revealed in every Chris-

Vol. II.

tian's soul for his comfort and salvation. To those who neither know the Scriptures nor the power of God, it is not presumed, that any evidence upon this subject, from those Scriptures, can be satisfactory; since, as our Lord assures us, that, rejecting these, they would not (or could not) believe though one arose from the dead. The SPIRIT JEHOVAH himself must afford an Elenchus, or energy, to his own testimony; or, could they cease to be declared infidels, they would only become mere speculatists, and consequently notional, not real believers. But to those, whose understandings are opened to understand the Scriptures (Luke xxiv. 45.) and from whose hearts the stone is in some measure removed (Ezek. xxxvi. 26.) it is hoped, that the evidences of this great truth will not only be convincing and undeniable, but (what seems, to the author, of more moment) edifying and establishing in their most holy faith. Merely to inform the judgment, is but half the object: The desire is, that, with a clear and sound comprehension of the truth, the heart may be warmed with the love of it, and the soul built up thereon by a happy and divine experience. The SPIRIT, of whom we are treating, is alone able to effect this: Reader, look up to him for his blessing, that thou mayest be led in a right way to a right end; which is, by the power of grace, to the glory of [EHOVAH, and thine own salvation.

Our first design is to prove, that the Holy Spirit is Jenovan; and our next, that, being Jenovan, he is able to accomplish all that is faid of Him, and all that is necessary

for us to life eternal.

It will be granted by all but professed Atheists, and no Christian therefore can deny it, 'That there is but one Jehovah.' We are slandered, consequently, when, upon our profession to believe, that the Father is Jehovah, the Son Jehovah, and the Spirit Jehovah, it is said of us that we talk of three Gods; for the very name Jehovah (if our adversaries would but understand it) entirely precludes that notion. A simple, infinite, perfect essence must necessarily be indivisible: Nor do we, in our idea, presume to make divisions in the Deity, but to believe only those distinctions of persons, hypostases, or subsistences in Him, of which he himself hath been pleased to give a revelation, and by which revelation alone we can know any thing of the matter. We are not wise

<sup>†</sup> One cannot help wishing with Forster, that the Hebrew name Jehovah were preserved in all translations of the Bible, quod hac attributa [i. c. Dominus et Deus] neque essentiam divinam, neque nominis propriam significationem exprimant; "because these titles of Lord and God can neither express the divine essence, nor give the proper signification of his names."

above what is written; nor would we be too proud or selfsufficient to follow the written wisdom of God. In another case, when our philosophers speak of the light, or fire, or substance of the material sun; they would deem it an insult, if they were accused of maintaining, that there were several suns; because of those distinctions, which they perceived in his nature. And, by a very small share of candor, those, who charge the Christians with Tritheism, for holding the doctrine of the Trinity, might have saved themselves from committing a violent injustice; because, though we maintain, that "each Person by himself is Jehovah," yet we also declare, that there are not three Lords, but one Lord, according to what is written in Deut. vi. 4. Hear, O Israel, Jehovah our Alehim is one Jehovah.-Nor doth it strike our reason with more repugnance to assert this concerning a spiritual essence, of which we can know nothing but what is revealed, when God himself hath revealed this doclrine to us; than it can the reason of a philosopher to conceive light and heat in a material substance, without affecting the unity of that substance, when he knows this only by his senses, which in some respects are acknowledged to be fallacious. In the one case, there is the testimony of God, who surely knows the mode of his own being, and who is himself pure and perfect reason; but in the other, we have only the evidence of sense, which not only is not reason, but very often is contrary to it. Yet were we to assert the existence of three separate suns, because we could find as many properties in our one sun; we should have enough to laugh at us for our notion, and especially among those who are so unfair (not to say worse) as to accuse us of believing in three separate Gods, because we assert three divine hypostases, or persons, to be in the Godhead, and this upon the authority of God himself. Who then act the most rationally; they, who, confessing God to be incomprehensible, yet presume to define his infinite nature according to their own low and limited notions; or we, who, acknowledging that his being infinitely transcends all human investigation, receive with humble submission that testimony, which he hath given us of himself? We never pretend, that God's existence is a subject of human reason: Nor have we so little reason as to attempt the measure of all infinitude by a finite rule. The presumption of infidelity, which affects to believe nothing beyond its own puny comprehension, and yet blames those who cannot believe it upon a point confessedly incomprehensible; is at once too daring to be safe, and too ignorant to be trusted, in a matter of such importance. God's own wisdom and truth, in this respect, are only sufficient to satisfy us: But, if they were not, we certainly could not be satisfied with the cogitations of poor mortals, who know not even the *mode* of their own being, or *bow* themselves think, nor indeed the *essence* of any one material substance about them.

### The SPIRIT is JEHOVAH.

JEREMIAH XXXI. 33, 34. This shall be the covenant, saith JEHOVAH—they shall teach no more every man his neighbour—saying, know JEHOVAH; for they shall all know me—saith JEHOVAH.

John xvi. 13. When He the Spirit of truth is come, he

will guide you into all truth.

This is the accomplishment of the promise, that Jehovah the Spirit guides into all truth, and makes himself known to his people. An obvious distinction is here made between the teaching of God and of man; And as obvious a fact it appears, that the Spirit guiding, in one text, is Jehovah promised to be known in the other.

DEUT. vi. 16. with Matth. iv. 7. Thou shalt not tempt JE-

HOVAH thy ALEHIM.

Acts v. 9. How is it that ye have agreed to tempt the SPI-

RIT of the LORD?

Ananias and Sapphira for this temptation were judicially seized by immediate death which proved upon fact, that they bad not lied unto men, but unto God, and that to tempt the Spirit, is no other than to tempt Jehovah himself, which could not be unless the Spirit were Jehovah.

ACTS XXVIII. 35. Well SPAKE the HOLY GHOST by Esaias

the prophet, &c. But we read in

LUKE i. 68, 70. that it was the the LORD GOD [Jehovah Alchim] of Israel, who spake by the mouth of his holy Prophets, which have been since the world began. See Micah iii. 8.

It follows, then, that the Holy Ghost is the Lord Gon

of Israel.

1 SAM. XVI. 13. The SPIRIT of JEHOVAH came upon David from that day forward.

But in the 18th verse, it is said expressly, that JEHOVAH

was with bim.

DEUT. XXXII. 12. Jehovah alone [773 entirely alone] did lead bim [Jacob, a collective name for his people]. But in

ISAIAH INIII. 11, 12. We read that it was the Holy Spirit, that led them by the right hand of Moses, with his glorious Arm.

<sup>‡</sup> See an excellent note upon this argument, in Jones's Catholic Doctrine of a Trinity. p. 41. 3d. Edit,

The HOLY SPIRIT, therefore, is JEHOVAH.

ISAIAH vi. 9. JEHOVAH SABAOTH said, go and tell this people, bear ye indeed, but understand not; and see ye indeed,

but perceive not, &c. But the Apostle says,

ACTS XXVIII. 25. Well spake the Holy Ghost by Esaias the prophet unto our fathers, saying, go unto this people, and say, hearing ye shall hear, and shall not understand, &c. Therefore,

The HOLY GHOST IS JEHOVAH SABAOTH.

NUMBERS xii. 6. If there be a prophet among you. I JEHOVAH will make myself known unto him in a vision, &c.

2. Pet. i. 12. For the prophecy came not in old time by the will of man; but holy men of God spake as they were moved by the Holy Ghost.

The Holy Ghost, therefore, must be Jenovan.

The name Jehovan in the Old Testament is rendered by Kopes in the New, and into the English by Lord, which certainly doth not convey the sense of the original word. It is, however, as well as to the Father and the Son, applied to the Holy Spirit; though not very modestly or carefully denied by the opposers of his divinity. Thus,

2. Cor. iii. 17, 18. For the Lord is the Spirit—even as by the Lord the Spirit; for so it should have been translated; as indeed it is so translated in the margin of our larger Bibles.

Col. ii. 9. In bim [Christ] dwelleth all the fullness of the

Godbead bodily.

Isaiah xi. 2. And the Spirit Jehovah shall rest upon him, &c. Matth. xii. 18. I will put my Spirit upon him, &c.

The Spirit therefore is the fullness of the Godhead, not separate from (for that is impossible, the Godhead being one) the other divine Persons, but in unity with them, participating the undivided essence.

Isaiah lxiii. 10. The Israelites of old rebelled and vexed

bis HOLY SPIRIT. But in

Numb. xiv. 11. They are said to have provoked Jehovah, and in Psalm lxxviii. 56. to have tempted and provoked the Most High God.

The Holy Spirit is, therefore, Jehovan and the Most

HIGH GOD.

Psalm xxxiii. 6. By the word of Jehovah were the Heavens made and all the bost of them by the Spirit [mm] of his mouth. But it is said,

<sup>§</sup> See some valuable notes from the Fathers upon this argument, in that excellent volume of sermons upon the Divinity of the Holy Spirit, by the late Mr. John Hurrion: Printed 1734. And also an Answer to some Objections in Sloss's Sermons upon the Trinity; Serm. xvi. Se also Wirself Exerc. in Is. vi.

Prov. xvi. 4. JEHOVAH made all things for himself, &c. And that, Acts xvii. 24. God made the world, and all things therein.

The Spirit, therefore, as well as the Son, is both Jeho-

Romans xv. 9. The apostle ascribes the mighty signs and wonders, wrought in confirmation of the gospel, to the power of the Spirit of God. But the Psalmist says, in

Psalm CXXXVI. that it is JEHOVAH, the ALEHIM, the Lord of Lords, who Alone doeth great wonders.

The HOLY GHOST, therefore, is JEHOVAH, GOD over all,

blessed for ever.

Many more arguments of this kind might be drawn from the Scriptures; but these, it is presumed, may suffice: At least, they may suffice, till they are proven not to support the Holy Spirit's Divinity, or that the term Jehovah may belong to a creature, an emanation, or a sort of inferior God like the demi-god of the heathen; which probably the adversaries of this truth, with all their acuteness, may not be in haste to perform. When they have done this, they have but one step farther, and that is, to prove that self-existence belongs to any thing or nothing, just as they please.

But if God be true, and can give the best account of his own being; then, upon the authority of his holy word, we may rest satisfied, that the Spirit is Jehovah. It seems even wonderful, how any man, who pretends to reason or philosophize upon the data of the Bible, can be absurd enough to deny a truth, so strongly marked from one end of that book to the other. For, to talk of the Spirit of Jehovah, the Spirit of the Alehim, or of God, as a separate, inferior, and dependent being; is to assume, that God hath parts and divisions, and that, so far from having a simplicity of nature, he is a composition of superiority and inferiority, enduring a comparison with himself, which entirely takes away every idea of his perfection, infinitude and eternity. If the Spirit be separate from Jehovah, or is not Jehovah himself; then the title Spirit of Jehovah, so frequently given, is a dreadful mistake into which (it seems) God himself hath led us; and the being so called dwindles down at once into a mere minister of deity, an angel, or some other creature. It follows too, that something can be in the Godhead, which is not of the Godhead, and that God's Spirit, by which he made all things, may be like our breath and vanish into thin air. To such absurdity of blasphemy does some men's opinions necessarily lead them, if they are but extended to their natural length, without any straining or perversion.

If likewise, the Spirit be inferior or dependent, he can neither be infinite nor eternal: Or, if he be infinite and eternal, he will be equal to Jehovah himself, and consequently must either be Jehovah, which we believe; or there must be two Jehovahs, two eternal and infinite beings, which we deny, and which no man in his senses can maintain. The doctrine of two first principles\* is absurd in reason; and by religion we are told, that Jehovah our Alehim is but one Jehovah.

God is one pure, uncompounded, infinite, and eternal, essence; a mere and simple act; the spring of all power, wisdom and being. HE only IS: And whatever can be predicated of him, does not merely belong to him, like a quality in the creatures; but IS HIMSELF. Whatever is now in him, ever was in him: It is his Ens; it is Himself.† If, therefore, the Spirit be of Jehovah, according to his name and the proofs already given from divine authority; then HE IS Jehovah essentially, infinitely, and eternally: And there is no avoiding this conclusion, but by denying him to be the Spirit of God; in which case, a flat contradiction will be given to every text of Scripture, which calls him by that name.

The Spirit, therefore, being Jehovah, not of like but of one and the same essence; he depends upon no other being for his being, but is necessarily self-existent, infinite, and eternasis

If he be not self-existent, &c. then he is not Jebovab, or a person in the essence Jebovab; for that name implies an Autofoun or self-existence; and consequently he is only a creature. But if he be not a creature, but Jebovab, himself; he then is whatever can be predicated of Jebovab, and possesses all the attributes which Jebovab has claimed, or which can possibly be ascribed to him. And when the Wisdom of God informs us, that in the ONE Jehovah there are THREE, Hypostases, or Persons, or Alehim, economically styled Father, Son, and Spirit; we may be assured there can be no contradiction in this testimony. Nor is this testimony proposed to us as a matter to be submitted to our little reasonings and speculation, but as an article of faith, in the reception of which we may be led up to communion with the Godhead in three persons, agreeable to our dependence upon them in their respective offices of Father, Redeemer, and Sanctifier. Nor yet do we "divide the substance" of Deity by this our faith; for though we say, that each of the three

<sup>\*</sup> Marcion and Cerdon, with some other of the ancient heretics, maintained this preposterous tenet, which common sense can easily refute.

<sup>†</sup> To this effect, Eulogius of Alexandria observes, "that Ens (or essence of all being) is more than to be. Man hath a being, but he is not properly the Ens or essence of that being. For that properly is Ens, which proceeds from nothing else, and which doth not cease to be the Ens of all other things." Apud Prot. Cof. coxxx.

Persons is self-existent, and so properly Jebovab; yet we do not maintain either or all to be separate-existent, or to formmore than ONE febovab. In other things, men can distinguish where they do not divide, and can allow three inseparable peculiarities (as in the case of the sun, or in the mind, will, and affection of man, &c.) to constitute but one substance or being; and all this upon no better evidence than human sensation, which (as we said before) is often fallible. Surely, then, having the infallible declaration of God with us; we may be bold to speak a truth, which cannot contradict our reason, because it is not, and cannot be the subject of it. We must follow God in this high matter implicitly; and surely-we may follow him with safety, where we cannot conduct ourselves. All the objects of religion do indeed rise above the poor intellect of man; and he can know nothing of another life, of immortality, or even of the grandpurpose of his own existence, but by divine revelation. How then by searching can be find out God; or how study the Almighty to perfection? Here, as one of the fathers says, mens deficit, vox silet; "The mind fails, and the tongue is dumb." And surely it should be so among short-sighted beings, who cannot tell bow their own spirits act upon their bodies, or in what mode the spring of life is exerted and influenced withinthem.

The Christian doth not pretend to explain the modus existendi, or manner of existence, which the Holy Spirit has in the divine nature; because no finite nature, human or angelic, can form a comparative idea of what is infinite: And we properly know nothing from reason but by comparison. It is quite sufficient for the believer, that GOD HATH SAID any proposition; and he leaves it (and it is both his wisdom and his duty to leave it) to God, either to be reserved as an inscrutable truth, or to be opened to his mind by a farther explanation. There are mysteries, which one day will be mysteries to him no more; and there are mysteries, which from their own exalted nature, must remain so for ever. As he grows in grace, though now imprisoned in a frail and corruptible body, which acts like a clog upon his spirit, he grows in the knowledge of many truths, which once he did not comprehend: And there is just cause to believe, that, in his advances from glory to glory, he will increase ad infinitum in the conceptions of heavenly things, and still be finding a glorious infinitum before him. The beight and depth, the length and breadth, (as the apostle speaks, while himself is absorbed in the vastness of the subject) of the wisdom and love of God around him, will still be unexplored; and that infinite ocean of everlasting entity and truth must remain, to all

ranks and orders of being, both unbounded and unfathomable for ever.

What then hath man to do, but to all like the angels, who wonder and adore? And if man knew what angels know, and was but as unclouded with sin as they; he would find it his supreme delight, to hold company and communion with them

in this blessed employment.

Over and above all other arguments, the real believer in Jesus hath a testimony, that the HOLY SPIRIT is JEHOVAH, which lies out of the view of the world, because it is within him. Behold, says Christ, the kingdom of God is within you. A throne is erected in every believing heart, from which the Spirit of God directs his rule, bringing every thought into captivity, and into sweet subjection to Christ. The promise of the Father; is accomplished in the Christian when the Spirit is poured out upon him, like oil to enliven, or like water to purify, his new-born soul. He sees clearly, that none but Jehovhh could vouchsafe the Holy Spirit; and he views as plainly, that this HOLY SPIRIT must be febovah, to perform the wonderful works, which are ascribed to him in nature and grace, and a portion of which he feels to be wrought in him by his power. He reads his Bible, and sees, that the everlasting covenant can only be performed by those divine persons who made it, and that the full completion of it, being reserved for the Spirit, could only be effectuated by Him, as He is Jehovah. Believing in Him, therefore, as Jehovah, he cannot but consider him fully able to accomplish all that is said of him in the Scriptures, and all that is necessary for his people to life eternal. And this was the next part of the subject to be considered.

Man is repesented by the Scriptures, in a state of spiritual death, through the fall. This was the penalty of his transgression—In that day, thou shalt surely die. Gen. ii. 17. Now Adam lived, as to his body, many hundred years after his sin; and therefore the denunciation must be understood, in order to justify divine truth, to imply that death of the soul that immediatly befel him, which consists in its separation from the life of God, and removal from the fruition of holiness, happiness, and heaven. All men experience the absence of this good; but all men are not sensible of its worth: Their spirits being dead to God, and to the things of God. And the people of God themselves are by nature as dead in this respect, as other men. This is fully expressed in the xxxviith chapter of Ezekiel, under the vision of the dry bones. These bones belonged to the house of Israel, or the people of God: And these the Spirit of God renewed to

Vol. II.

life. They were dead in trespasses and sins, till the Spirit of of life brought life into their souls, and enabled them to live by the faith of the Son of God: This is as full a communication of life, as the creating any thing which did not exist before; and therefore believers are said to be born of the Spirit (John iii.) whose life they had not before their new birth. They are also called new creatures or a new creation, in the very fame sense; because they had no existence in heavenly things, till the holy Spirit afforded it by his power. This is the obvious meaning likewise of the word regeneration, and of all those terms which denote the bestowment of a new life, the translation from darkness, and the admission to God. Hence it is that the redeemed, being born of the SPIRIT, are said to be born of God, and are called the sons, the children, and the heirs of God. They claim not heaven as an uncovenanted mercy, which too-too many unwarrantably-do; but as a matter of inheritance, promised and therefore due from the Father, purchased by the Son, and afforded by the power of the Holy Ghost.

Now, as none but God can impart life, and especially the immortal life of grace: the Holy Spirit, being "the Lord and giver of life," and the great agent to maintain it in the hearts of his people, must necessarily be God over all, blessed for ever. The Spirit himself is life, and communicates life

to when he will. I Cor. xii. 2. John iii. 8.

As the Divine Spirit gives life, so he supports it when given, by his Aimighty power: and none but Aimighty power could support the life of grace, against the united force of the spirits of darkness, the temptations of the world, and the treachery of an evil heart of unbelief, always inclining to departure from the living God. The Spirit of God visibly cast out devils, to testify the divine mission of Christ; and he hath spiritually cast them out in all ages, and will cast them out to the end of the world, to render that mission effectual for the salvation of his people.

He teaches the redeemed, also, whatever is necessary for them to know. Could any but an omnipresent agent thus instruct through every moment, and in every age, all the individual members of Christ's scattered church, correcting their thoughts, informing their judgments, sanclifying their wills and affections, and thereby preparing them for life eternal? And if this agent be omnipresent, doth it not conclusively fol-

low, that he is the infinite God?

In a word; if this Holy Spirit create anew in Christ Jesus; if he cause to be quickened from death into life; if he translate from darkness to light, and from the power of Satan unto God; if he be always present to help his people's infirmities, to mortify their sins, to fanctify their persons, to re-

new their minds, to teach their understandings, to give them access to the Father, to be in them all and to dwell in all for ever; is it possible for common sense itself to suppose, that He can be less than true and very God, the all-wise, the all-gracious, and omnipotent Jehovah? It seems less absurd to assirm, that a gnat or a fly can create a world, and preserve the series of being upon it, in its perfect, yet con plicated arrangement; than to assert, that any existence could accomplish all the wonderful works above-mentioned, but the author and preserver of all existence himself? Yet, paradoxical as the expression seems, this sort of credulity does that person entertain, who, admitting the Bible to be a divine revelation, has infidelity enough to deny the proper divinity of the

Roly Ghost.

To thee, O Believer in Fesus, this article of the Spirit's deity is a maxim of indisputable moment—an axiom of indubitable truth. Thou wilt not deny his word, which asserts it: Thou canst not resist his witness in thy self, which confirms it to a demonstration, Others may deny, what they do not experience or feel; but thou knowest Him that is true, because thou art in Him; and he with all his evidences of comfort, love, and joy, dwelleth in thee. He first brought thee into spiritual life from the death of sin: He reconciled thee to God, when thou wast an enemy by wicked works: He giveth thee a thousand tokens of his presence and support: He leadeth thy thoughts and thy heart direct to God and heaven; preferves thee (always ready in thyself to stray) from numberless snares in thy daily walk, and at length will give thee an abundant entrance into his everlasting kingdom. Thou constantly feelest thyself to be a poor, dependent creature; able to think nothing, to will nothing, and to do nothing good of thy own power: And it is thy privilege and thy joy to find this gracious Spirit, working in thee both to will and do of his good pleasure. Thou art never happy but in this perception. Thou art never holy but in this enjoyment. Thou art never safe but in this protection. What cares the devil for all the resolutions and strength of man, even if man could exert them, without grace divine? He broke down the patience of the most patient fob, and made him curse the day in which he was born, when God permitted him to exercise his power for a trial. And he would bring to nothing the highest attainments of thy soul, did the Spirit of truth depart from thee for a moment. If any man bade fair to stand alone, surely it must have been the man after God's own beart; but he fell, as every body knows, and fell foully and horribly too. If any man could hope to recover himself from a fall; who might expect to do it sooner than he, who had vanquished repeated foes, and trampled upon the boasted strength of a giant? Yet this man, a prince and a prophet too, wise and powerful, lay for a long time in his transgression, and at last cried out, like an helpless infant, for the restoration and support of God's free Spirit. Ps. li. 12. He found the powers of darkness and sin too mighty for his feeble efforts to resist, and too subtle for his dull understanding to oppose. The wisdom of God's Spirit alone could repel the sophistry of hell; and the energy of the Almighty

bring him back from the captivity of Satan.

Art thou not sensible of this gracious operation, dear Christian, from time to time within thy soul? Dost thou never feel a power, which is not thine own? Never taste a joy, which animal sense cannot induce? Never rise to views, which nature cannot show thee? Never have a communion with heaven and the unutterable glories of the world above, which earth could not inspire? Examine thy secret chamber, and the secret of thy heart; and say, "have I not tasted that the Lord is gracious indeed? Did I not feel his divine power at such and such times, far superior to any thing of my own? Was not my heart drawn out, in the sweetest communion of love, with God my portion, my Father, and my Friend?"-The records of heaven preserve the facts: They are gone up, like Cornelius's deeds of grace, for a memorial before God. If a drop of water, given to another for thy Master's sake, shall not be lost or poured out upon the ground; surely, the living streams of his love, which have flowed into thy soul, shall one day be recounted with joy, and all rise up again in the circuits of heaven.

Remember, believer, for thy comfort likewise, that thy gracious guide and supporter is the self-existent Jehovah, who faileth not, neither is weary, whose gifts and callings are without repentance, and whose love is everlasting as his nature. This HOLY SPIRIT did not bring thee into the way of salvation for any other purpose, but to lead thee to the end of it: And every testimony of his grace in thy soul is as sure an earnest for glory, as though thou wert already in it. We know that we bave passed from death unto life (says the apostle); because we have his Spirit dwelling in us, working all the motions of praver, love, hope, joy, righteousness and praise, which are his genuine fruits and the evidences of his presence. So surely, therefore, as thou hast the pledge, thou wilt, in due time, possess the everlasting inheritance. The world cannot prevent thee, the devil cannot destroy thee, thy own sinful flesh shall not prevail against thee; for the arm, counsel, and love, which are engaged in thy be-

half, belong altogether to the SPIRIT JEHOVAH.

"But may not libertine professors abuse this truth?" Indeed they may: And so do libertines abuse all other truths

and blessings. It is thought bad logic in the schools to reason from the perversion of a thing against its worth: And it is more dangerously erroneous in the school of Christ. There is not a single doctrine of grace, but which the folly of man, acted upon by the subtlety of the devil, may wrest, and wrest to destruction; but grace is gracious still, and will lead the children of God to his glory. Dog's will eat the children's bread; but it is not the less bread, and good bread too, though dogs devour it. Thus grunnitus parcarum (as Luther termed it,) this "grunting of hogs" is very different from the gentle bleating of Christ's sheep. We have, therefore, one short answer to give to all questions of this kind; that those persons, who, under pretence of gospel-liberty, run into any licentiousness of heart and life, and plead the privileges of grace for purposes which are not gracious, are neither more nor less than the servants of corruption, the bondslaves of the devil, and aliens from the commonwealth of Israel. To which it may be added, that if they live and die in this horrible state of mind; it will be more tolerable for Sodom and Gomorrab in the day of judgment than for them.-The gospel of the blessed Redcemer, and the grace of the Holy Spirit, are so far from indulging sin, that they indispensably inculcate upon believers to deny ungodliness and worldly lusts, and to live soberly, righteously, and godly, in this present evil world. All God's ways are holy; and fo must they be who call themselves his children, or they are not his children.

If the Christian were asked, which were his happiest moments; he would answer, those which were spent in the closest walk with Christ, and in the nearest communion with The enjoyment of the life of grace is founded in the death and destruction of all sin: And the believer is only unhappy, when corruptions within, aided by corruptions without, draw him off from an entire dependence upon his Lord. He would be perfect, if he could; because, in perfect holiness, he would obtain perfect happiness, a complete possession of all good; and he longs for heaven itself, both for the full enjoyment of God's presence, and for the absolute perfection of holiness, which he cannot attain till he arrives in it. On the other hand, every true believer can witness, that departing from God, is departing from peace. A serious Christian once asked a great backslider, whether he really had found more satisfaction in the indulgence of his lusts, and the full swing of carnal pleasure, than he before had done in the profession of the gospel and in the hours he had formerly spent for God. He honestly answered; he had not; and that, so far from being happy, he was not even untormented, but, when in a state of the most intoxicated dissipation. It pleased God to restore

him again; but not without such bitterness of soul, as all the mad and foolish pleasures he had pursued, were but a poor compensation to him. They, who leave the fountain of living waters, bewout unto themselves broken cisterns, that can hold

no water, or water only that can destroy them.

Turn, then, beloved Christian, to thine only rest. to Jehovah the Father, who hath loved thee for ever; Turn to Schovah the Redcemer, who hath saved thy life from destruction: Turn to Jehovah the Spirit, who crowneth thee with loving kindness and tender mercies. Soon shalt thou behold him face to face, and turn from him to the world, or to sin, or to self, no more. Soon shalt thou enjoy whatever can be possessed of this great One Jehovah, and be wrapt up in the fullness of his joy thro' a blessed eternity. O for transporting views of this ineffable glory! O how poor, how vain, how perishing, do the world and all other things appear, held up before this unutterable brightness of the Majesty on high! What is life, what is death, what are crowns and kingdoms below, what is all that can be named, in comparison with the unsearchable riches of Christ, the communion of the Holy Ghost, and the unalienable possession of both in heaven !-We should scarce endure to live in this wretched world, if we had much foretaste of this bliss, or if God, till his purposes are fulfilled in us below, did not permit the veil of flesh to hide the fullness of his love and brightness from our minds.

### ALEHIM, OR GOD.

IN the former Volume, the import of this significant title was considered; and it was shewn, that this name, applied to the Godhead, was manifestly meant to convey an idea of what we call the Persons,\* the Greeks Hypostases,

<sup>\*</sup> We follow the Latins in using the word Person for Hypostases, and the word Essence for Overex, Being or Existence. Seneca says, in his 58th Epistle, that this translation of Overex was first adopted by Cicero, and that he understood by it the universal nature and cause of all things. In this epistle he complains heavily of the Latin tongue for its incapacity to translate the sense of Greek terms without a periphrasis. The Latin Fathers seem to have followed Cicero for the same reason—the want of better terms. Indeed we are told by Gregory Nationzen, that because the Latins could not otherwise make a proper distinction between the essence and the hypostases, through the poverty of their language, they used the word person for the latter, lest it should be thought, that they held three essences. He well observes, that "the purity of our faith doth not

and the antient Jews Sepbiroth, in the divine essence. These denominations are given, not because they can express the mode of existence in God, for that is both inexpressible and inconceivable; but because they declare, according to the

stand upon names, but upon things." We use the names, not for their accuracy of expression (for no words of man can express God, or thoughts of man search him out;) but to prevent confusion, or concealment of the truth. See Introd. to Vol. i. p. 8. Note. Aug. de Trin. 1. v. Greg. Naz. Orat. i. de Pace, apud. Gasp. Laurent.

Cath. Cons. Vet. p. 44. MURET. Not. in Sen. epist.

In addition to the substance of this note, it may be here observed, that some have objected to the use of any of these terms, because they are not found in the Scriptures. If this proceeded from a real regard to what the Scriptures revealed, it would deserve the more attention; but when the objection is raised merely for cavillation, as without breach of charity it may be affirmed hath often been the case, it is sufficient to say, that if men will abide only by terms of Scripture, it will be absolutely necessary for them to use the Scripture only in the two languages of Hebrew and Creek in which they are written. For, if there be any force in such an argument, it lies against every translation in the world, because there after the terms, and sometimes impose a sense upon them, which not only is contrary to the sense which other men may affix, but in some instances wide enough from the original. In such a case, there would be no allowable divinity, but what might appear in Greek and Hebrew, to the great edification, (no doubt) of the common people, who happen to have souls as well as rabbies and philosophers, and who in general are at least as desirous of their salvation. truth is; the terms, used in this and other cases, would not offend; if the things, which the terms signify, were not disagreeable to the pride and conceit of man. We know, as well as these objectors, that the words Trinty, Incarnation, Person, Essence, and such like, are not to be found in the Bible; but we also know, that the truths, which these words relate to, are not only to be found there, but are the very sum and substance of it. If these terms convey the notion of these truths, they answer the use of all terms, which is to communicate the knowledge of things. And as to the terms themselves, they were first employed in opposition to various heretics by the fethers of the church, for a clearer or more full expression of their doctrines, and have been very properly retained to this day. Mosheim in his Ecclesiastical History, and some others, taffect to censure Theophilus Antiochenus for his first using the word Tpias or Trinity. He began at the wrong end; for he should first have proved, that the doctrine itself had no foundation.

Others have attempted to confound the terms Ferson and Essence, when they could not justly throw them aside, and have endeavoured to make the Christian assert, that there are three essences, and con-

<sup>†</sup> See Dr. King's Rites and ceremonies of the Greek church in Russia. p. 7..

sense of the Scripture, that there are more subsistences than one in Jebovab, which notwithstanding are but ONE Jebovab. We are bold to say, that there is, and can be no contradiction in this assertion; because it is a proposition, delivered to us by God himself; and that, if this doctrine be

sequently three Gods; or, that the names of the persons were but mere names, and consequently that there is but one person in the Godhead. These are answered by saying, that person and essence are neither synonimous nor convertible. For though each person be of the essence; yet the three persons together do constitute THE essence: And though the whole essence is inseparably connected with each of the persons, both in willing and working ad extra; yet it cannot be said with any propriety, that the Father is the whole Essence, of the Son, or the Holy Ghost, notwithstanding they are distinctly and by themselves essentially divine. Thus it will appear, that though Essence and Person differ as to the full extent of the terms, yet they perfectly agree, when they apply to the reality of the Deity.) Each person by himself is God, but not the Godhead; and the Godhead is in each person, but is not each person. From this relative distinction it follows, that the Son and Spirit, being persons in Jehovah and inseparable from the essence, are both personally and essentially Jehovah, and consequently, either in union or distinction, are the object of worship. In fact, as true believers, we do not and cannot worship any one of the Divine Persons separate or alone, however we may mention each by themselves; for if we invocate the Son, we invocate the Divine Essence, which is inseparable from the Son, and consequently invocate the Father and the Holy Ghost. The same may be observed, if we address the other persons. By this we may undersand what our Lord implies, when he says, He that hath seen me [meaning spiritually] hath seen the Father: I and my Father are ONE, &c. so the apostle, He that hath the Son, hath the Father also. If this doctrine of three persons in one essence; or of the one essence existing, indivisibly though distinctly, in the three persons; were rightly stated; there would seem but little room for the disputes, respecting the proper object of worship, and the inferiority or subordination of the divine persons. This supposed inferiority, applied to Godhead, is an absurdity in termino. It originated from the doctrines of the generation and procession, which relating entirely to the modus existendi, the Scripture has not endeavoured to explain, because man could not possibly conceive that mode, nor is it necessary for him; and therefore all disputation upon these points is impertinent, and proceeds from the affectation of being wise above what is written.

We would use the word person in the sense of the Augsburgh confession, which says, Nomine Person wutuntur ea significatione, qua usi sunt in hac causa Scriptores ecclesiastici, ut significat non partem aut qualitatem in alio, sed quad proprie subsistit. Syntag. Confe Pid. P. ii. p. 8. However, it would not be worth while to quarrel about the term, while the sense is truly and safely understood.

not true, the rest of the Bible will be equally false, which has no other sanction to command our submission, than that of its being a divine revelation. We do not presume to reason upon God's Essence; because it is impossible that such an essence should be the subject of our reason; and especially too since we know, that our reason cannot determine upon the mode of its own existence, nor specify the constitution of any one property, whether tangible or intelligible, about us. Reason would be unreasonable, if it pretended to define what it cannot reach; or rather becomes ignorance and folly, in attempting assumptions without data, and arguing, from what is unknown, to any positive or determinate propositions. It is impossible that God, as to the mode of his existence, should be comprehended by the idea of any of his creatures, and certainly not by so low and imperfect a creature as man; because, in that case, HE must first cease to be infinite and eternal; which attributes are themselves not to be conceived by the utmost extent of human thought and imagination. We can say, what God is not from our reason, rather than what he is.\* In order to comprehend God, creatures must be no longer creatures; or (with reverence be it spoken) God would be no more that height and depth, that length and breadth, which are eternally exploring, but never explored. To know God in this view, would be to possess ideas commensurate with his own; which is a presumption, perhaps, attempted by no man in profession, however in practice it is absurdly and ignorantly attempted every day. Of all philosophers, they are the most inconsistent with themselves, who, asserting that " nothing is in the intellect but what was before in the sense," preposterously fix any notion of a Being, whom no sense can possibly perceive, and whom no intellect but his own can ever explain. Nay, did God condescend to explain the extent of his nature, with all its wonders; the faculties of his creatures must be equal to his own attributes, before they could fully conceive that extent and those wonders; and this equality is impossible, on the first view. Reason thus can help us to discern our own ignorance; but cannot lift us up to attainments, which creatures, as creatures, can never possess. Our ideas, aided with our senses, can conceive something of the weight of a mountain, by the weight of a pound; but sense and idea

<sup>\*</sup> Thus it may be safely asserted; that God is not a liar; and that he is without sin, and cannot sin; by which, (as Augustine hath observed) there is no derogation of his omnipotence, because sin and error proceed from infirmity; and therefore if God could sin, he would cease to be omnipotent.

fail together in forming an adequate notion of the weight of the universe of things, because its extent is beyond their perception. Yet this universe is material and tangible; and its quantity is subject to our senses as far as they can go. But we presently sink beneath the weight of this extent of substance, and feel ourselves with regard to matter about us, but almost imperceptible atoms, lost in astonishment among innumerable worlds.

Matter, however, neither is nor can be infinite, or eternal. or omnipotent; and is far beneath those intelligible forms, of which we can faintly conceive the existence, such as angels and superior spirits, and of whose vastness or multitude we have some notion, though certainly not a notion commensurate with what they are. If this be true, and we have almost a sensible demonstration that it is true, how must we sink below the Ens Entium, the Bring which includes all this being within himself, to whom the universe is but as a span, and the nations of the earth as emptiness and nothing? If the mere works transcend our investigation beyond every comparison or idea; how must the nature of the GREAT AR-CHITECT himself ascend above our thoughts, and cause us to shrink within ourselves as littleness and vanity? " What is " man (says the admirable M. Pascal) considered in nature? " \_\_\_ A nothing in regard to infinity, and every thing in re-" gard to nothing; a medium between nothing and every "thing." He is alike removed from the two extremes; and " his being is no less distant from the nothing, from which " he was taken, than from the infinity, in which he is lost. "His understanding holds the same rank in the order of in-" telligible beings, as his body in the extent of nature; and " all that it can do, is to perceive some appearances in the " middle of things, in an eternal despair of knowing either " the beginning or the end. Who can follow these amazing " progressions? -- The AUTHOR of these wonders compre-" bends them; which only HE can do."\*

From hence it plainly appears, that the powers of reason can have no exercise in a point of this sublime and superior kind; but, like the powers of sense amidst the universality of matter, must stand still and own, that God's infinitude is

absolutely beyond them.

"Has reason then no employment in this research, no office in religion? Are we to give up all understanding and knowledge concerning the Deity, and no longer see with our eyes, or hear with our ears, or reflect with our minds?" We have found, that it is as reasonable for reason to confess her own weakness here, even were it perfect reason, which our

<sup>\*</sup> ROLLIN'S Belles Lettres. Vol. iv. D. 5.

reason is not; as it would be for a man to own his want of strength to remove a mountain or a world. This, then, is the first exercise of true reason, to know that there are boundaries to her powers, and to find where those boundaries are. We call it wisdom to discover this in all other things ; and why it should not be so here in the great cause of those things, it seems very difficult to explain. God's intellect alone, from the necessity of his nature, is unbounded: He is all centre as to himself, and all circumference to every other being. Our knowledge is a very minute circle within himself, which he has been pleased to describe around us; and if we attempt to look beyond it, we only see a supendous immensity, which swallows up all our conceptions, and leaves imagination itself to wander in a pathless profound, till it recurs to the earth again. In this confinement of our parts; is it not reasonable and right to understand, that we are thus confined, and that if we pass beyond our line, we shall lose our powers like a machine without a rest, and in that case become truly irrational? If one wise heathen could justly say, that the maxim Know THYSELF descended from beaven; he, who was called the wisest of the heathens, did not say amiss, when he confessed, that he knew nothing but his own ignorance. Right reason publishes this, because it is a trutb; and right reason can only be employed upon truth: In any other engagement, it would degenerate into nonsense and folly. And, if it be a truth, that reason by searching cannot find out God; is it not perfectly reasonable for reason to confess that inability? Surely, it is. What, then, is its next procedure? Is it right to sit still, and go no farther; or because we cannot fly like angels, are we not to walk as men? -- If we had no other beginning or end but SELF, and no other assistance but what SELF can procure; perhaps it might be right to stop here.

But it doth not follow, that because we cannot know the whole of God by ourselves, we are therefore, unable to know any thing of him by all other communication. Nor, though none of God's creatures can possibly discover any notion of the manner of his existence by their own intellect, is it by any means rational to say, that they cannot be sure, that such and such a manner doth exist, when it is discovered to them by him, who alone is able to inform them. Nor yet is it absurd to say, that He still exists beyond their comprehension, though some idea of his existence is brought within it; any more than it would be to affirm, that an unfathomable ocean still remains, though a man or a thousand men had received a part of it within them. God alone can make out his discoveries proportionally to our faculties; and, in this case, he adapts the faculty to the discovery, not merely to indulge

the imagination, but to communicate the grace of faith. And therefore, though we cannot comprehend God as to his incommunicable nature, we may apprehend him in what He himself is pleased to communicate. A whole may be incommunicable, while a portion may be easily taken: And God, as to the infinitude of his being, and consequently as to the precise mode of the existence of that infinitude, cannot properly and strictly be conceived; but still his people are said to be, and are, partakers of his divine nature. Our eye cannot absorb all the rays of the sun; and yet it may receive such an illumination from those rays, as may suffice to satisfy us in the reality of its existence, as well as in the kind of it. For this end, however, the sun must first have shone; or we should have remained perfectly ignorant of the matter. And we must have had senses fitted for its impressions; or we could not have known the nature of those impressions more than a plant or a stone. Nor should we have been less ignorant of the divine being; if He in mercy, had not revealed himself to us, and prepared us for that revelation. His revelation alone in this respect removes our mystic darkness; which is sufficiently proved in the example of the most acute and learned of all the heathen world,\* who formed such wretched opinions of the Causa Causarum, or first cause, as demonstrate how closely human reason borders upon stupidity in heavenly things.

Now, this revelation being granted, it is the office of reason to follow, not to run beyond it: And a man cannot be conceived to act more rationally, than when, sensible of his natural incapacity, he implicitly submits to the declarations of Him, who is all wisdom beyond the possibility of error, all truth beyond the reach of deceit, and all goodness beyond the attachment of evil. † If TRUTH itself lay

\* Vid. MACROB. in Somn. Scip. l. i. c. 14. Cic. de nat. Deor.

LACTANT. de fals. Rel. 1. 1.

† A late noble and masterly writer, speaking of " the pure and essential docurines plainly and evidently delivered in the gospel," has observed, that " these being made known to us by a revelation supported by proofs that our reason ought to admit, and not being such things as it can certainly know to be false, must be received by it as objects of faith, though they are such as it could not have discovered by any natural means, and such as are difficult to be conceived, or satisfactorily explained by its limited powers. \_\_\_Indeed, not even in heaven itself, not in the highest state of perfection to which a finite being can ever attain, will all the counsels of Providence, all the height and the depth of the infinite wisdom of God, be ever disclosed or undersood. Faith even then will be necessary; and there will be mysteries which cannot be penetrated by the most exalted archangel, and truths which cannot be known by him otherwise than from revelation, or believed upon any other ground down a principle; it is necessarily a true principle, an axiom, a demonsration. If we cannot conceive it, the truth will still be the same, and cannot change its nature; and the question then only is, whether is shall be admitted or rejected, because we have too short an understanding to comprehend it? And if we reject all that we cannot comprehend; we must begin to deny, that we ourselves exist, because we do not understand the proxima cansa, or even the mode of our own existence. Reason itself, then, brings us back to a more sure guide, and says aloud, That we cannot err in Belitiving the Declarations of the God of truth, and that it is the highest wisdom of man to receive them.

Here reason and revelation unite to bless the mind, by leading it from those wild mazes of ignorance and delusion, in which pride, infidelity, and sin, have conspired man's destruction, and where he could only roam without certainty,

without hope, and without peace at the last.

One of the fathers hath well observed, "That ignorance of God is the death of the soul:" And we all by nature are ignorant of God; because our souls, since the fall, are all dead in trespasses and sins. To recover us from this ignorance, is one great object of the divine revelation: And, to be sensible of this ignorance, is the first step to be made in departing from it. The next is, to follow our divine Leader, as the blest above follow the Lamb, whithersoever be goeth. He (we may be assured) can neither err himself, nor lead his disciples astray.\*

We have now some ground to proceed upon, and no longer need, like the bewildered heathens, to grope in the darkness, if baply we might feel after God and find bim; for we have the most convincing testimony, from the highest and most infallible evidence, that He IS, that he exists in a MANNER peculiar to himself, and that this PECULIARITY hath a description, as far as we are able to com-

of assent, than a submissive confidence in the divine wisdom. What then, shall man presume that his weak and narrow understanding is sufficient to guide him into all truth, without any need of revelation or truth? Shall he complain, that the ways of God are not like his ways, and past finding out? True philosophy, as well as true Christianity, would teach us a wiser and modester part. It would teach us to be content within those Lounds which God has assigned to us, 2 Cor. x. 5. casting down imaginations and every high thing that enalteth itself against the kingdom of God, and bringing into captivity every thought to the obedience of Christ." Lord Lyttleton's Obs. on the conversion of St. Paul.

\* Coeli mysterium doceat me Deus ipse, non homo qui ccipsum i nora-

vit. AMER. Epist. 31.

prebend it, or, at least, as far as it is necessary for us to know. Of course, we are not to seek for descriptions of the Deity out of the limits of this testimony, beyond which we are sure only of finding nothing certain, but most entirely within those boundaries, where we can hear nothing but the truth. If even Pythagoras could say, "Without light nothing is to be uttered concerning God:" Where then shall we find this light, but in his Word? Till this postulatum be admitted, a man has nothing but his own chimerical fancy to support him, which will not only differ from the ten thousand different opinions of ten thousand different men, but also quarrel with itself times without number in the course of his life. But when this ground and pillar of the truth is once erected in the heart, the man does not measure it by his own whims and conceptions taken from other things; but he makes this the standard and rule whereby to measure them. And after some experience of the justness of this measure in its exercise upon natural and moral subjects, in which it never was vet detected, by all human wit and malice, of one mistake; he has an increasing encouragement to trust it, by the grace and light of the Holy Spirit its Author, in the determination of those purely spiritual topics, to which no rule, taken from or existing in material objects, can possibly be applied.

The rule, then, by which we are to be guided, in these high and momentous enquiries, is no other than the MIND, RULE, or LAW of God, speaking and revealing itself, so far as it is right or necessary for us to know, in the boly Scriptures. These were given by bis inspiration, and are profitable for doctrine, for reproof, [conviction] for correction [Emaule Dwois, restoration to rectitude,] for instruction in righteousness; that the man of God may be perfect [wanting nothing] thoroughly furnished unto all good works. 2 Tim. ili. 16. The prophecy came not in old time, or at any time, by the will of man; for man could have foretold nothing by himself, and bad men especially, in different ages of the world, would never have combined to compose such a system of pure and pious doctrines; \* but boly men of God spake as they were moved by the Holy Guost. 2 Pet. i. 21. We can call for no greater witness in this cause than God himself; and we owe both to it and our own souls too much, to think

of calling for less.

GOD hath revealed his nature under the name of JEHO-

<sup>\* &</sup>quot;If the Scriptures were delivered by men; then either by good men or by bad: If by holy men, then they would speak the truth, and not lie; if by bad men, then they would never have set down such strict rules of doctrine to live by, as must condemn themselves." See Dr. Prestor's Sermons on the Divine Essence, &c. Serm. iii.

VAH, by which he declares himself to be the sole independent Essence, the necessary existence, in whom and by whom alone all other beings, corporeal or spiritual, exist and subsist. This title expresses his incommunicable, self-existent, infinite, and everlasting nature. He ever was, ever is, and ever will be. This is all we can comprehend of his essence, when we have added every idea of perfection and glory, which are revealed concerning this essence, and which can fill our minds. He is then beyond all idea THE EVER-LASTING SAME.

If we were pure creatures, this unchangeable perfection of the Most HIGH would be an unfailing source of joy to our souls: But, being imperfect, fallen, and sinful creatures, all this purity of our Greator is directly opposed to us. have now no complacency in it, naturally; and cannot have, while we continue in our natural state; for it is repugnant to our lusts and passions, which are all corrupted by sin. God is not only opposite to the sinner; but the sinner feels a diametrical opposition to him, and all that belongs to him. Hence, the world, in all ages, hath been averse to the revealed will of God, and to the true disciples of God, who have spoken of that will and walked in it. That no natural man can savor the things of God, is a proposition, which since the fall ever was true, and which will be true to the end of the world. From this opposition nothing could justly have been expected by the creature but absolute destruction and misery, a taste of which every man feels within him; had not the benignity of his Greator graciously inclined both to procure the means of deliverance, and to publish these means; and they are happily in force to this day. In the discovery of so much goodness and mercy in himself for his ruined creature; he was pleased to represent himself under a variety of names, either characteristic of his engagemement to save, or explanatory of the nature of his salvation. It was expedient for man's faith and comfort, that this publication should take place; or rather, it was necessary, or God would not have made it.

One unalterable attribute which God hath declared of himself, is his justice. The soul that sinneth, shall surely die. In the day, that thou eatest thereof, dying, thou shalt die. Without shelding the blood (which is spilling or destroying the life) there is no remission of sins. How then could this justice be satisfied? Not by the sinner's perdition; for then there could be no exercise of mercy. Not by the sinner's mere pardon; for then God must have been a liar, and have given up that pure justice, which is founded upon his infinite holiness, and is absolutely essential to his nature. The sinner was to be saved; and God's denunciation against sin

was at the same time to be fully accomplished. Here it was, that infinite wisdom alone could not be at a loss: Here, infinite love only could not meet with despair. Life was to be forfeited to procure salvation. But the life of WHOM? What created being could step forth and say, " Take my life for the lives or millions of men; and let my perdition prove an atonement for them!" If any finite love could have uttered this tender expression; it would have been madness or presumption for any finite being to have offered the change. No boly creature could have been guilty of it; because the root of presumption is ignorance and sin. All the augels in heaven, blessed with holiness and wisdom, could not but see, that no finite sufferings could have made an atonement to the infinite justice of their Maker, and that the destruction of one creature could never answer the deserved destruction of millions of creatures, -a destruction to keep equal with the guitt, necessarily without intermission or end. The Scripture now breaks in with light divine, and shews; that HE only, whom all the angels worship, was to perform this astonishing task of suffering; and that he only, who breathed into man his original life, would restore him, by a new and incorruptible birth, to the possession of that forfeited life again. The Scripture marks these two pronouns HE and HE by various names descriptive of their distinction in point of personality or subsistence, as well as of their undertaking or office. From one end of the Bible to the other, it appears to be the office of the one HE to atone for, reconcile, and restore; and of the other, to effectuate, apply, and complete; all that was necessary for the divine giory, and for human salvation. Thus Jebovah was to be reconciled by Jebovah: Thus Jebovah became a Saviour, and the only Saviour: And thus Jehovah is the sanctifier of those unholy creatures, who are the objects of his mercy and

Here, then, we see distinct offices, undertaken and accomplished by distinct persons. We read of one person, who is called the Father, who sent his Son into the world to save sinners; we read the prophecies concerning this Son, and their fulfilment in him and by him for the salvation of sinners; and we read of the Holy Spirit, sent from the Father and the Son to quicken and bless these sinners to the end.\* To

<sup>\*</sup> These and many other dostrines of divine revelation, in the delivery of which so many holy men in all ages, unknown to each other, have concurred, and concurred to one and the same end; in humans cerebro nasci non potuerunt says the excellent Mornaus) could never have sprung from the head of man, but must have been, as appears even from their internal evidence, communicated from

these three persons we also find ascribed all the powers, glories, perfections, and attributes of the deity: We hear each saluted by that incommunicable name, which is above every name, and distinctly denominated Jebovab: And we are taught, both by precept and example, to worship, in consequence, all these persons under this name. Yet, after all, we find it written, as with a sun-beam, and most carefully and emphatically delivered, as an infallible and invariable truth, that JE-HOVAH is but one febovab, Either, therefore, these three persons, each called febovab, are but one febovab; or the revelation and wisdom of God, respectig his own being, contradicts itself. But, as this is impossible, it will follow most irrefragably, that Jehovah is one Jehovah in three persons, and that the three persons have a distinct mode of subsistence in the one Jebovab, though their essence is not divided, but the same. It is absurd in this place to say, that we cannot comprehend this; because our reason is not the judge here, but God's own revelation of himself; and this truth cannot depend, for its existence, upon our depraved and unequal faculties. God bath revealed it, and therefore it is true: is an argument which human wit cannot repel, and which it will be found the height of human imprudence to oppose. If he hath not revealed it then it falls to the ground of itself; but then also fall with it, the whole gospel of God, and the whole salvation of man. There is no alternative in the case,

but humble faith, or absolute scepticism and infidelity.

Now, as the word Jebovab doth not express the trinal conjunction of these three divine persons in the divine essence; another word hath been given us, which affords us a notion of this plurality, and yet is so applied as not to mislead us from the unity. This name is the title of our present Essay.

ALEHIM is plural, and intimates plurality: It is frequently used with verbs and nouns singular, and is sometimes applied to unity itself. Thus, in that important text; Jehovah our Alehim is ONE Jehovah. As a very learned and excellent author hath observed; "The very sense of this

IIIM, who only could give just thoughts of his own being, and confirm the truths of these thoughts by wonders and signs following. See much more to this effect in that great work of MORNEUS. Deverit. Rel. Christ. c. 25.

Vol. II.

The Wirtemberg consession of saith, states the doctrine in the following words; Credimus et consitemur, unum solum, verum, aternum, immensum esse Deum, omnipotentem Creatorem, omnium visibilium, & indivisibilium; et in hac una ac aterna Divinitate TRES esse PER SE SUBSISTENTES proprietates seu personas, Patrem, Filium, et Spiritum Sanctum. Syntag. Cons. Fid. P. 11. p. 142.

"passage leads us to seek for a plural interpretation; be"cause there is no need of a revelation to teach us, that Je"bovab our Alebim is one Jebovab, which is no more than
that one is one."\* This word, then, expressing the plurality of the divine persons, is proved to mean the conjunction
of those persons by the use of the singular word Jebovab
with it: Or the two terms would contradict each other.
For, if the word Jebovab mean one essence, and the word
Alebim bear a plural interpretation; these divine persons are
in some respect that divine essence conjunctively, which they
are not distinctly respecting each other. In other words,
there is a distinction in the unity of the divine essence; or
an application of plural words to that essence would be an
absurdity, with which no man will surely be hardy enough
to charge the wisdom of God.

Since then there exists a plurality of persons in the divine essence, we have a full answer at once to the question; How Jehovah could be reconciled by Jehovah; how Jehovah could be an atonement for sinners to Jehovah; and how Jehovah could lead those pardoned sinners to Jehovah? Upon any other ground than that of this plurality, these doctrines, which frame the very constitution of the gospel, would be

overthrown as inexplicable and absurd.

The word, in this view, necessarily implies as well as expresses a Covenant, and, because undertaken for lost sinners, a covenant of Grace. The Son in Jehovah must have undertaken this redemption, or he could not have been compelled. The Spirit, who promised all that was promised, voluntarily made these promises, or they could not have been forced from him. Deity cannot suffer any impressions of external power; because there is no power out of itself. If, therefore, the Son undertook this work, long before its folfilment; and the Spirit promised for ages before the accomplishment of his promises; it will follow, that it was because the mind, counsel, and purpose of the three persons had determined that it should be done, in the fulness of time. If the counsel and purpose of the three persons determined this; it will then follow to have been from an agreement or covenant existing among them, in the frame of which they all concurred, and in the reciprocal share. And as all the ideas or purposes of Jebavab Alebim must, from the necessity of his nature, be, everlasting and perpetual; this covenant could not but be, what the Scripture calls it, a perpetual or everlesting covenant, a covenant ordered in all things and sure, a covenant of faithfulness which never can fail.

<sup>\*</sup> Sermons upon the Law and Gospel, by the Rev. Mr ROMAINE. p. 243.

<sup>†</sup> Acts iv. 28.

Here, then, we see the reason, the glory, the benignity of this wonderful name; revered by patriarchs and prophets, abused by antient apostates and idolaters\*, but full of grace

and truth to every believer in Jesus.

In the former volume, we proved, that the title ALEHIM belonged to fesus Christ, respecting his divine nature, as the Son in the everblessed trinity: and it is our professed purpose in this Essay to shew, that this ascription pertains and is applied to that other person in the trinity, who is frequently called the Holy Ghost.

It should be premised, however, that as our translators have rendered this name by the word GoD from the Old Testament, and as it is thus rendered (from the usage of the Septuagint) in the New; the indiscriminate use of the terms Alebim or God, as they occur in the two Testaments, will be allowed, if both are proved to be applied to the Holy

Ghost.

## THE DIVINITY OF THE HOLY SPIRIT.

GEN. ii. 7. JEHOVAH ALEHIM breathed into MAN's nostrils the breath of life, or lives.

But in GEN. vii. 22. this breathing of JEHOVAH ALEHIM, is said to be the breath of the SPIRIT of life, or lives.

The Spirit therefore is JEHOVAH ALEHIM.

Jer. XXIII. 23, 24. Am I the ALEHIM at hand, saith JEHO-VAH, and not the ALEHIM afar off?—Can any hide himself in secret places, that I shall not see him? saith JEHOVAH: Do not I fill heaven and earth? saith JEHOVAH.

The same question is asked almost in totidem verbis, concerning the Spirit. Psalm cxxxix. i—12. Whither skall I go from thy Spirit? Or whither shall I flee acceptance from thy faces?† And an answer is given, in the course of the psalm,

\* The name Alehim was very early soused by the heathen, and applied to the powers of nature, to the heavenly bodies, and afterwards to stocks and to stones. They retained the sound, when they had lost the sense: And because it conveyed the notion of a plurality of persons in the Godhead, it was perverted by them to signify a plurality of Gods.

† This word is often used for person or persons, and their immediate presence. It occurs very remarkably in Deut. iv. 37. where Moses, speaking to Israel, says, that Jehovah brought them cut by his faces, or persons: Or, in other language, that three persons in Jehovah concurred in their temporal deliverance, typifying thereby the spiritual recovery of all his people. That God should bring

to this effect; "Thou Jebovab Alebim, art every where;" evidently implying the co-equal omnipresence of the Spirit. The question, otherwise, is absurd, and the answer impertinent; which no man will dare to assert, who believes the Bible to be a divine revelation.

The Spirit then, is Alehim and Jehovah.

Acts x. 19, 20. The Spirit said to Peter-go-I bave sent them.

· But, in verse 33, it is said, that they were present before God, to bear all things that were commanded him of God.

The Spirit therefore, in one text, is called God in the other.

By comparing John i. 13, with James i. 18. and Gal. iv. 6. we find that true believers are called the children of GoD, and hence have a right to cry, ABBA, FATHER.

But they are also said, necessarily and indispensably to be

born of the Spirit, in John iii. 5, 8.

Consequently, the SPIRIT must be God: Or, God's children have two spiritual births, of two different spiritual beings, which is equally preposterous and unscriptural.

Luke i. 68, 70. Acts iii. 18, 21. The Lord God of Israel -spake by the mouth of his boly prophets, which have been

since the world began. See also Heb. i. 1.
2. Pet. i. 21. But, boly men of God spake as they were

moved by the Holy GHOST

The Holy Ghost, therefore, is God, and the Lord God of Israel .- A multitude of other scriptures may be found to

confirm the major and minor part of this argument.

God's people are Ocodidanlos, taught of God. I Thess. iv. 9. Hence they are called by [EHOVAH himself ממרי my disciples, i. c. those whom I have taught. Is. viii. 16.\* The whole verse confirms this point, and is literally thus: Impress (or establish) the testimony; seal the law in my disciples. And again, Is. xlviii. 61. I am Jebovah thy Alebim, who teacheth thee to profit,

Israel out in his own sight, according to our translation, is a very poor sense, if any sense at all. Christ is called the Messenger or Angel of God's Faces, because through him his people renew their lost communion with the divine Persons in Jehovah.

\* This gracious passage promises the gift of the SPIRIT and his inward testimony to all his people. Its purport may be more... clearly expressed by a paraphrase, than by a literal version. " Mark and fix indelibly as on a rock the experimental testimony " of my grace: Seal my Spirit, who is the living Law, in the " hearts of my disciples." To this promise there seems a plain reference made by the apostle in 2 Cor. i. 22. and Eph. i. 13. See hereafter under the word Law.

But the apostle says, that the wisdom in the gospel is not that which man's wisdom teacheth, but that which the Holy Ghost teacheth. I Cor. ii. 13. That the Anointing [i e. the Spirit, by whom believers are anointed] teacheth them all things. I John ii. 27. Christ also says, the Spirit of truth—will guide you into all truth—shall shew you things to come—shall take of the things of mine and shew them unto you. John xvi. 13. &c. So Neh. ix. 20. Thou gavest thy good Spirit to instruct them, or to make them understand; intimating plainly, that without his instruction, they could know nothing aright.

This combination of evidence proves, that this instructing good SPIRIT is and can be no other than JEHOVAH and ALE-

HIM, or LORD and GoD.

JUSTIFICATION of a sinner is and must be an act of Deity alone. All the perfect creatures, in the universe of being, have no more righteousness than what their faculties are fitted to obtain and exert; and consequently the whole of that righteousness is due from them to their Greator, and so due, that they can have none to spare for any other creature. But, admitting for a moment, that they had this exuberant stock; what becomes of their power to apply it; and where do we read the promise of any such bounty from them? Now, as all creatures must fail in this sort of capacity; it is expressly said, it is God that justifieth: And again, that HE [God] justifieth the ungodly; and that this God is one God, who shall justify the circumcision by faith, and uncircumcision through faith. Rom. iii. 30. iv. 5. viii. 33.

But divine truth asseres us, that the SPIRIT also justifieth.

I Cor. vi. 11. Ye are justified—by the Spirit of our God.

The Spirit, therefore, is God; and (because he is not the whole Godhead) a person, necessarily, in the one God Je-HOVAH.

Peter said to Ananias, Why kath Satan filled thine heart to lie to the Holy Ghost—thou hast not lied unto men, but unto God. Acts v. 3, 4. This Scripture contains a syllogism within itself. "Thou hast not lied unto men but unto God:" because thou hast lied to the Holy Ghost, who is God. They, who take this Scripture in any other way, only puzzle themselves to make the apostle speak nonsense. Dr. Clarke, Crellius, and others, have attempted to torture this text to confess a contradiction of itself; namely; that Ananias, in lying to the Holy Ghost, did not lie to God; but only to his messenger, and emanation, a virtue, a power, a quiddity.—An absurdity not more unphilosophical, than un-

<sup>†</sup> It has been justly observed, that the antithesis in this text of man and the Spirit is, by itself, sufficient to denote, that the Spirit is God.

scriptural and unworthy of his high titles and character! But, if the Holy Ghost be not true and very God; where is the particular horror and aggravation of Ananias's crime?—A crime which, if committed only against a creature, is also committed against the creatures every day.

THIS HOLY SPIRIT hath dominion and power in the souls of men; and, therefore, the grace of faith is styled one of

his fruits, effects or operations. GAL. v. 22.

But this very faith is, by the same apostle, said to be of the operation of God. Con. ii. 12.

What, therefore, is the SPIRIT, but Goo?

From the same possession of power, the Spirit belpeth our infirmities; for we know not what we should pray for as we ought, &c. Rom. viii. 26.

But in PHIL. ii. 13. the apostle says, it is God which work-

eth IN YOU both to WILL and to Do of his good pleasure.

Consequently the Spirit is God.

UP in the same principle is this argument: Believers are seared by the SPIRIT to the day of redemption. Eph. iv. 30.

but the same apostle, speaking in behalf of believers, says,

that Gon kaib sealed us. 2 Cor. i. 22.

Therefore, the Spirit is God.

Another operation of the Spirit is his witness in the soul by his heavenly grace. Hebr. x. 15. The Holy Ghost is a witness to us. John v. 6. It is the Spirit that beareth witness, because the Spirit is Truth.\*

But, in verse the 9th of the last mentioned chapter, this witness is called the witness of God, which he hath testified

of his Son.

Therefore, the witness of the Spirit, and the witness of

God, are one; because GoD and the SPIRIT are one.

God is an unsearchable being to his creatures; because he is infinite, and they are finite altogether. There can be no measure without degrees of comparison: And the divine nature must transcend all degrees, which infer more or less; for there cannot be more or less, or any expression of quantity, in a being both unlimitted and incomprehensible. Hence it is said; HIS greatness (or vastness) is unsearchable. Psa. cxlv. 3. And it is asked; Canst thou by searching find out the Aloah? Canst thou find out of perfection the Shaddai, or Almighty? That is, canst thou apprehend the whole of him? Job xi. 7.

But the Spirit searcheth all Things, yea the deep things

[the profound fullness] of God. 1 Cor. ii. 10.

<sup>\*</sup> See a further illustration of the evidence from this text in that able confutation of Mr. Lindsey's apology by William Burgh, esq. p. 212. 2d edit.

Can any words, therefore, more strongly argue, that the Spirit is equal with God? And if equal, then necessarily

GOD HIMSELF?\*

This Holy Spirit is promised to remain with the church in all ages of the world. There is no true ministry in it but by his ordination; and no success from that ministry but by his operation. Hence the Holy Guor is said to make emissiones overseers to feed the flock. Acts xx. 28.

But, in I Cor. xii. 28. we read that it is God, who bath

set in the church the various orders of ministers.

And, therefore, it obviously concludes, that the Holy

GHOST is GOD.

It is repeatedly said, that God raised Christ from the dead. Acts ii. 24. et al. Very remarkable in Heb. xiii. 20, 21. The God of Peace, that brought again from the dead our Lord Jesus, that great-Shepherd of the sheep make you perfect in every good work, working in you that which is well pleasing, &c.

But it is also said that Christ was quickened by the Spirit. 1 Pet. iii. 18. And the text in the Hebrews evidently relates to the office-character of the Holy Grost.

It will follow, then, that the SPIRIT is GoD and the GoD

of PEACE.

THE Israelites provoked JEHOVAH and ALEHIM, in the wil-

† The learned Gomar hath taken this argument of omniscience, and at once proved the divinity of the three persons from it. As his works are not in many hands, the following translation is offered, for the sake of the common reader. " Some particulars are " ascribed to the Father alone, to the Son alone, and to the Spirit " alone, which are not to be understood in reference to the other " persons in the Godhead, but only in relation to the creatures. " For instance; Math. xi. 27. No one [edes nemo] knoweth the " Son but the FATHER: i.e. he alone knoweth. But the Son " must certainly know his own self; nor can the Epirit be ignor-" ant of him, because he searcheth all things, rec [ rz &zon, profunda] " The deep things of God. 1 Cor. ii. 10. And here the creatures " are excluded. Again; Christ says in the above text, neither " knoweth tis any one the FATHER, save the Son, and he to whom the " Son, will reveal him. Here surely the Father, is not excluded " from the knowledge of himself, or yet the Holy Spirit; lastly, the " things of God knoweth soms no one, but the Spirit of God. 1 Cor. ii. " 11. And yet beyond all controversy, neither the Father nor the " Son are excluded from that knowledge. But all these proposi-" tions—the knowledge of the Son, to the Father alone—the know-" ledge of the Father, to the Son alone and the knowledge of God, " to the Spirit alone-are to be understood, not as excluding the " knowledge of one divine person from the other two, but only as 6. excepting the creatures." Illustr. Joh. i. p. 211.

derness, proved bim, and saw bis work. Comp. Ps. xev. 8, 9. with Exod. xvii. 7. Numb. xiv. 22. et al.

But the Holy GHOST saith—your fathers tempted ME, &c.

Heb. iii. 7, &c.

The Holy Ghost, therefore, is JEHOVAH and ALEHIM,\*

No creature can possibly be an object of worship; and therefore no creature can possibly have a temple for the worship of itself. The pretence would be impious, and the service idolatrous.

But believers are called in several places, the temples of the Holy Ghost, and the temples of God, indiscriminately. There is not the least difference or distinction, or even the remotest hint of a difference or distinction made between them. I Cor. iii. 16. 2 Cor. vi. 16, &c.

God and the Holy Ghost, therefore, are essentially one as well as their temples; and thus, distinctly in person, or conjunctively in essence, are the proper object of worship and

adoration.

There would be no end to the arguments, which might be brought to prove this truth of the SPIRIT's divinity from his own Bible. Indeed, as the testimony of Jesus is the spirit of prophecy; so the testimony of the Holy Spirit is the power and principle of all revelation, and consequently, as such, the very life of all the Scriptures. Without Him, they never would have existed; nor, without his continual agency, are, they, more than any other book, a blessing in the world.

It appears, then, from revelation, that the Holy Spirit is febovab and Alebim, or Lord and God; that he is a divine Person, and not a mere unconscious instrument, or created quality; and that, accordingly, He hath ascriptions which can belong only to a person in the Godhead who sees, who knows and who orders all things. In the course of these Essays, the evidence of his divine personality will be more particularly considered, and therefore we will conclude this point of the Spirit's proper divinity by an argument of a mixed nature, founded indeed, as to its datum, upon divine revelation, like all other spiritual truth; but more combined with human reason, which some people pretend to exalt against the wisdom of God, but which "purged from its film," becomes its dutiful servant and willing advocate against the daring pretences of unreasonable men.

God alone is the Creator of all things. This is a maxima which revelation hath fully declared, and to which the lowest

<sup>\*</sup> If it be asked, "How can this plural word Alehim be applied to one of the divine Persons?" the reader is requested to turn to the first Volume, p. 103, for an answer.

degree of reason must yield a ready assent. All the men, who have ever lived upon the earth, were never able to produce a new thing upon it, or to give life where it has once been taken away. The intellect of man can only rise to a discovery, more or less, of what exists; and all his power is exercised only upon the matter and forms about him, to which he can add nothing of his own, nor from which diminish aught by a reduction to nothing. This rule must hold with all ranks of being, except the SUPREME. But we are informed, by the unerring wisdom of the Most High, that the Spirit, of whom we are treating, hath made, hath fashioned, doth give life and being to the beavens, to the carth, and to men. This Spirit, therefore is not, cannot be made himself: And if he be not a creature, he must be of the same substance with the Godbead of the Father, and the Son; and, being of the same substance, has a right to the title of kna, or Greator, with them in the unity of that substance, as the whole three persons or Trinity have to the plural denomination of and www the Greators and Makers. See Eccl. xii. 1. and Is. liv. 5. et al. Now, as whatever is not God, must necessarily be a creature; so what a creature is not, that God is. If the Spirit, therefore, be not of the same substance with the Godhead, he is unavoidably a created substance: And if He be a created substance, then nothing ever was, or ever could be created by Him. But the word of the living God says positively, that the beavens, and the earth, and man in particular were created by him: And, therefore, it will follow, upon the united assent of revelation and reason, that the Holy Spirit as Creator is of one substance or essence with the FATHER and the Son, and consequently is with them, God over all, blessed for ever.

Could it be admitted for a moment, that the Holy Ghost is not very God, nor a proper object of worship; then the Christian church in all ages hath been guilty of the most profane and abominable idolatry, and the ritual of the church of England,\* among other, is contaminated with the abomination of heathenism, by instituting divine service to a creature. The hosts of heaven sing Holy, Holy, Holy, for nought; and (with horror be it spoken) God himself hath failed in the performance of his promise, that his people should be led and guided into ALL Truth, and that against his church the gates of bell should never prevail. But, if it be impossible, that God should have so left his church, or that his faith-

.

See Lord Chancellor King on the Creed. ch. vi. p. 316.

<sup>- \*</sup> See her litany; her offices of consecration of priests, &c. and the doxologies.

fulness and truth should thus have failed; it will follow, that the HOLY SPIRIT hath been rightly the object of their constant adoration, and that He himself hath inspired them with his grace to render to him this tribute of their praise.

The Holy Ghost then is God. But it has been before said, and, it is a principle of true religon which even the wiser sort of Heathens have assented to, that there is but ONE God. If, therefore, the Scriptures inform us, that there are three distinct persons, styled Father, Son and Spirit, who have distinct offices and energies in the salvation of man; and that each of these three do claim the power and name of the one Jehovah; it is obvious, that they are not one in the same respect as they are three, but that there is a real distinction in their inseparable union. One they must be essentially for there is but one God: Three they must also be hypostatically or personally; or there is neither Father, Son, nor Holy Gbost, and of course the Scriptures are false. The conclusion, therefore, is plain and clear, that these three persons are one Godbead, and that the one Godhead (if it may be said) is the common substratum, of the three persons, in which they mutually and inseparably co-exist, " without any difference or inequality." To express this intercommunity of the divine persons, the plural names, ascribed to the Godhead in the Hebrew Bible, appear to have been revealed; and not bonoris causa, or for the sake of dignity, as some have imagined; because God can receive no honor from mere sounds, but only from what they signify; and He has given us not the least hint that Ho has used the plural number for any such purpose. And if the Godhead be one only person, with what sort of propriety is the plural number Alenim so often used, when its own singular ALOAK would, in that case be so much the fitter term? Besides, it is a question upon his truth, that He should call himself WE and Us, instead of I . and ME, as he frequently doth, if he were only one person or subsistence; and it would be representing God as complimenting himself, at the expence of his veracity, in the hollow language of earthly courts and princes.

To render this important point still more undeniable, it may not be improper to produce some proofs from the Scrip-

<sup>†</sup> Selden, de Diis Syris. Prol. c. 3. To the same purpose, Maximus Tyrius, a heathen, says cloquently; "Amidst all the contro"versy, discord, and differences of men, you may see one rule and
"opinion obtaining throughout the world, That God is One, the
"King and Father of all things, with many other gods, his chil"dren reigning with God. This both the Greek and Barbarian
"maintain; this is asserted by nations both near and remote;
"and in this both the wise and the ignorant are agreed." Vide
phara apud Grot. de ver Rel. Christ. 1. 1. §. p. 16. 22.

ture, in addition to those offered under the name ALEHIM in the former volume, which may evince, that what is said of the Father, is said of the Son and Holy Ghost without reserve or limitation, and that, therefore, they are one in essence though three in person-

God alone, mediately or immediately, can raise the dead. But the FATHER raiseth up the dead, and quickeneth them? John v. 21. So doth the Son, whom he will: Ibid. And the Spirit raised and quickened even Christ himself from the

dead. 1 Per. iii. 18. See also Rom. viii. 11.

Therefore EACH of these three must be GoD.

But there is but one Gon:

And, therefore, these THREE are ONE GOD.

Col. ii. 2. The apostle here speaks of the mystery of God, and of the FATHER, and of CHRIST. Now, if the God and the Fasher in this place are one and the same person; it will follow upon the same ground, that God, and the Father, and Christ, are all one and the same person; for the same copulatives unite the one and the other. The apostle, likewise, could not have called that a mystery (to acknowledge which the Colossians were to increase in faith,) which would only imply that these three names meant one and the same thing; for this would have been playing upon terms, which is a sort of folly not to be found in God's word. But if he meant the doctrine of a Trinity, and that the Father, and Christ as to his divinity, with another person termed God, who, from other Scriptures we learn, must be God the Holy Gbost, are three persons in one Godhead; then he might justly call it a mystery, because it is both a divine revelation and a matter of faith, to the acknowledgment of which it would be the riches of the full assurance of understanding to obtain. And these last words are as much a mystery to the carnal mind, as the doctrine of the Trinity can be to any mind; but, however, not the less certain and true. HAGGAT ii. 4, 5. I am with you, saith Jehovan Sabaoth, with the Word which con I cut off (or severed) with you in bringing you forth from Egypt, and my Spirit residing in the midst of you, that ye might not fear.\* In this promise are mentioned the three

<sup>\*</sup> The word vary, rendered in our version, I have covenanted, is strictly, I have cut off, or severed, and alludes to the cutting in pieces or severing of a clean beast before the Lord, as the instituted type, that Christ, the great Purifier of his people, should be so cut off and severed, as to be applied to their respective use and benefit. And the institution of the Lord's Supper retains the same idea, that Christ is broken and distributed among his redeemed. The above text in the Prophet refers to the Paschal Lamb in Exod. xii. who was sacrificed and severed, and whose blood was sprinkled

covenanting persons, Jebovab, the Word, and the Spirit; and it doth not seem improbable, that the Apostle had his eye upon this passage, when he wrote the remarkable text of the three witnesses in beaven, the Father, the Word, and the Holy Gbost; I John v. 7. However, in that text of Haggai there are three persons, as well as in that of St. John; and in both the three are one.

MATTH. iii. 16, 17. Here we find the FATHER speaking, This is my beloved Son, &c.—to the Son the beavens were opened, and upon him descending, for a visible testimony,—

the SPIRIT like a dove.

That the Father is God is allowed by all. That the Son, for whom these words were used, is God, will appear from the second PSALM and the first chapter of HEBR. And that the SPIRIT is God, beside the proof already given, is manifest from ISAIAH xi. 2. where he is expressly called the SPIRIT LEHOVAH.

But there is but one GoD.

Therefore, the Father, Son, and Spirit are ONE GoD.

John xiv. 23. The Father dwells in believers. Eph. iii. 17. Christ dwells in them. Rom. viii. 9. the Spirit also dwells in them.

But God bath said, I will dwell in them, &c. 2 Cor. vi.

16.

Therefore, the Father, Son, and Spirit are GoD.

upon the houses of the Israelites, that the vengeance of God might pass over them, and hence this Lamb was itself called the Passover, and its death the sacrifice of the Lord's passover; and it was to be a memorial to them, that this first-born Lamb (for it was a male of the first year) was typically slain for the salvation of the first-born among the people of Israel. Thus Christ our Passover was sacrificed for the first-born, who are called the church of the first-born, whose names are written in heaven; and was the Word (here mentioned by Haggai) with whom Jehovah was (or, as the Apostle speaks, God was in Christ), and whom He cut off, as the first-born Lamb, without spot, or blemish, to be a ransom for their deliverance from the spiritual L-gypt or bondage; and in testimony of which his Spirit would reside in them, that they might not fear on account of their sins, but have everlasting consolation and good hope through race.

It is worth remarking from Dr. Allix, that the targum of Jonathan Ben Uzziel the Chaldee, hath rendered this text of Haggai; I am with you, saith the Lord of Hosts, with the Word which covenanted with you when ye came out of Egypt, and my Spirit which abideth in the midst of you. See Dr. Allix's Judy ment of the Jewish church, p. 358. Of the targums, &c. see a clear, yet concise account, in

Prideaux's Connect. Part ii. B. 8.

MATTH. XXVIII. 19. People are to be baptized in the Name of the Fa ber, Son, and Holy Gbest.\*

But there is only one LORD, as well as one faith and one

battism. EPH. iv. 5.

Therefore, these three are the ONE LORD, who is the ob-

ject of this faith, and to whom his people are baptized.

THE following text is an invincible argument by itself; and therefore it is not a wonder, that the adversaries of the doctrine should attempt every means to get "well rid of it."

I John v. 7. There are THREE that bear record in beaven, the FATHER, the WORD, and the HOLY GHOST: and THESE

THREE ARE ONE.T

2 Cor. xiii. 14. The grace of the Lord JESUS CHRIST, and the love of God, and the communion of the Holy GHOST,

be with you all, Amen.

But it is God who giveth grace. 1 Pet. v. 5. et. al. Therefore, Christ is God. It is the Father who loveth and bestoweth love, and he is here called God. And the communion or fellowship of the Holy Ghost must be that, by which believers have fellowship with the Father, and Son, I John i. 3. and which is called fellowship with God, in v. 6. From whence it may be inferred, that the SPIRIT is God; or else the communion of the church is with a creature; and the apos-

\* "This is an evident demonstration of the Spirit's divinity; for it cannot be believed, that to two persons, tertium guid, a third something should be added, which might only be an operation or a quality. Nor are we baptized in the name of any operation or grace, but in the name of God. Nor do we believe, according to the creed, in a spirit which may not be God. And if the sin against the Holy Ghost be unpardonable; against whombut God can such an offence be committed?" Molin Eus de uno Deo, &c. apud Thes. Sedan. Vol. i. p. 93. If the Holy Ghost in this text be nothing but a quality, there can be no reason given, why the other two names, which are coupled with it should be more: And, in that case, it was no material blunder, which those ignorant churchmen made, who, instead of using the above names in Latin, baptized in nomine Patria, ct Filia, et Spiritu Sancta. Sum. Concil. per CARRANZAM. p. 357.

† Let any unprejudiced person read the context, and he must perceive a flagrant chasm if this text be removed. It is so necessary to the apostle's argument, that the argument is not complete without it: And it is abundantly more likely, that these remarksble words should be left out and obliterated in copies, made, or kept by the antient Heretics, than that they should have been foisted in by the orthodox, who have authorities enough beside for the doctrine expressed in them. If the reader would see a full investigation of this matter, let him consult the excellent Wirsius, in his third Exercit. de Sermone Dei, and the authorities cited thereir. See also the letters annexed to SLOSS upon the Trinity. MILL in loc. To which may be added a very sensible and learned discussion in several letters signed T. in the Gent. Magazine, for the year 1782.

tle would bless the church in the name of a creature, which creature he hath placed upon a line with God himself.

These three persons, then, are GoD; and, because the

Godhead is but one, they are one God.

From this unity of essence alone, can we conceive the purpose of God in denominating the Holy Spirit by various titles, which belong to the Father and the Son, or why he is called the Spirit of the Father, Eph. iii. 16. the Spirit of the Son or of Christ; Gal. iv. 6. Phil. i. 19. the Spirit febovah, or of febovah (which is just the same, unless it can be proved, that there is any spirit in God, which is not himself) Is. xi. 2. et al. and the Spirit Alehim; Gen. i. 2. Being essentially one with the Father and the Son, he cannot be a different Spirit from them, for then there would be three Spirits and three Essences; but he is essentially one and the self-same Spirit, dividing his gifts according to his will, and inducing faith in the souls of his people. All other people are called sensual, not having the Spirit, which is explained full further by their having no hope and being without God in the world.

ONE argument more, instead of a multitude which might

be given, shall suffice.

Mal. ii. 10. Hath not one God created us?

But in Eph. iii. 9. we find, that God (plainly meaning the Father) created all things: In Col. i. 16. that Christ created all things in heaven, earth, &c. And in Job xxxiii. 4. that the Spirit of God made man and gave him life; that the same Spirit made the host of heaven, in Ps. xxxiii. 6. and in Is. xl. 13—17. that to the same Spirit (who is called God v. 18.) all nations are as nothing.

Either, therefore, these three distinct agents are but one God; and so the syllogism is perfect; or, there are three different Creators and three Gods, which proposition will contradict the major, and many other texts in the Bible.

Thus it seems very fairly to appear that the Holv Spirit is Jehovah and Alehim, personally and per se, and consequently the object of praise and adoration; and that in an essential conjunction of this Holy Spirit with the Father and Son, who likewise are personally and per se Jehovah and Alehim, there is one only true, infinite, everlasting, incomprehensible LORD GOD; by whom, and from whom are all things, to whom be glory for ever and ever, Amen!

THAT JEHOVAH, therefore, exists in three persons, is a truth, which He, who only could know it, hath been pleased to reveal in his word: But it may be an everlasting truth in itself, and yet no more truth to us, respecting our comfort from it, than it is to fallen angels, or the ground beneath our feet. The question then occurs; "What interest has the

soul of a believer in this truth of a Trinity, and of the Divine Personality and Self-existence of the Holy Ghost?" Ail divine truth hath its use; and the more clearly it shines (and clearly it would ever shine but for the clouds of sin and cor-

ruption,) the more comfortable and reviving.

The first great advantage, which the Christian perceives to belong to him, in this doctrine of a Trinity is-the covenanted, certain, and unchangeable purpose of the whole Godhead, both in establishing the means, and in securing the end, of his eternal salvation. He perceives, that the means are equal to the end, and that the end must be the result of the means; because the great agents, who use the means, are divine and infinite, can neither be mistaken in their views, nor be disappointed in their purposes. JEHOVAH, who fainteth not, neither is weary, is the Alehim, and is engaged, by an everlasting covenant existing in his divine personality, to create, recover, and preserve, the souls of his people. Nothing, therefore, can arise which hath not been foreseen; no impediment thrown in the way, which was not foreknown; no difficulty, but which was designed to be overcome. great sin of Adam, that fountain from which innumerable streams of iniquity have overflowed the world, hath only rendered this covenant more illustrious, by proving, that, where sin did abound, grace could much more abound, and that nothing, which concerned the happiness or misery of myriads of souls for everlasting ages, is too bard for Jebouab. not too hard indeed for HIM; but it would be infinitely too hard for all created strength, whether in earth or heaven. None but [EHOVAH could reconcile to JEHOVAH: None but himself had either will, or love, or power, to accomplish the reconciliation. This certainty and perfect ordination, then, of the everlasting covenant, is a ground of great consolation to all, who, through faith, have an interest in it. It is a consolation, which they are privileged, invited, and commanded to take; that God may be glorified in the felicity of his chosen, even in the presence of this miserable world. If the Father hath determined to love; if the Son hath completely redeemed; if the Holy Spirit hath begun to bless; if thus the ALEMIM in JEHOVAH, the three persons in one Essence; or JEHOVAH ALEHIM, the unity in the trinity; are engaged for his people's happiness and salvation: What men, what devils, what height, what depth, what other creature, or what creatures all together, can frustrate his design, extinguish his love, and resist the eternal impressions of his power! O could believers see, on what a rock of eternity their hope and all their eternal concerns are divinely built; they would blush for shame at those fruitless anxieties, those foolish vexations, by which they are too often engrossed, through this momentary scene, and by which they at once so frequently dishonor the cause of religion, and disgrace themselves in the sight of a watchful world! They would blush again to think, that the miserable slaves of lust and hell should pretend to talk of more happiness, than the children of the kingdom, who are privileged to have God's perfect peace in their hearts, and are born for his eternal peace in heaven.

Another comfort, which the believer hath a right to draw from these truths, is, that having the carnest of the Spirit in his soul, first in quickening from the death of sin, and then working faith, hope, and love towards Christ; he is privileged to receive some degree of assurance from the word of God, in proportion to the evidence of this earnest from the Spirit of God, that He, who hath begun the good work, will carry it on to perfection. The written word declares the divinity of this spiritual agent; and this agent brings the heart to the word, by which he gives his own divine persuason; so that the believer can say, "I set to my seal upon God's revealed truth, and I am enabled to do it by the grace of God's enlightening Spirit: Upon this united testimony in my behalf. I believe, that God's love cannot fail, but that I am

saved in Jehovah with an everlasting salvation."

Come, believer; hast thou a right to this language; and are these thy privileges; and wilt thou, then, being the King's son, go sad all thy days? A stranger, indeed intermeddleth not with the joy of God's heritage; but thou art no stranger any more; thou hast an unalicnable claim to the choicest delights of thy Father's house, and art more welcome to enjoy them all, than to pass by the least of them. Thou art not straitened in HIM at any time; but only in thine own bowels. In thyself originates every cause of complaint; not in thy merciful Lord. Thou canst not exhaust an infinite ocean of everlasting good; but thou mayest, as all too often do, shut thine own mouth, and taste for a time not a drop of it. O the depth of unbelief! may we all cry, as well as, O the depth of the riches of God! If this deep did not answer to the other, and confound it; the strongest believer in the world would not swim long upon the surface, but must be swallowed up in the dismal abyss. And yet, if the eye be but opened, and the heart graciously enlarged; here is enough and to spare of mercy, love, and faithfulness in God, an infinite abundance of such durable riches as are commensurate with the existence of God himself, and flow incessantly from his fullness. If our harps were but in constant tune; that is, if our spirits were but in purer harmony, or more exact unison with God the Spirit; we should feel as well as utter the Psalmist's fervent song, which that Spirit inspired; bow

great is thy goodness which thou hast laid up\* for them that trust in thee, before the sons of men!—O love Jehovah all yc his saints: Jehovah preserveth the faithful, and completeth with exaltation him that doeth excellently.† Be of good courage, and he shall strengthen your heart, all ye that hope in

JEHOVAH! Psalm xxxi. 19, 23, 24. Afflicted Christian; thou, who art tossed and exagitated either in body or in mind, and often in both: Here is comfort, rich comfort, and everlasting consolation, for thee? Thou, indeed, art writing bitter things against thyself: and bitter things most truly may be written of thee: Thou canst not set down a thousandth part of the evil, which exists in thy heart, and which hath polluted thee before God, through every day of thy life. If the world did not complain of thee; if thy friends did not murmur; if perhaps the very partner of thy cares, who should be as thy right-hand, did not concur to annoy: The sense of thy own sinfulness, weakness, unprofitableness, and deserts, would be sufficient in the hand of the enemy, to harrass and perplex thy wearied soul. But, fear not, thou miserable worm. Take thine eyes from the earth. and look upward. Look, with the Bible in thine hand, upwards to Him, who sent it down, in pity and grace, to just such miserable worms as thou art. All thy fellow-creatures have cause for the worst of thy feelings; and, if mercy had opened their eyes, their hearts for a time would ache, and mourn, and droop, even as thine. Thou art alive; therefore thou canst feel: The dead in body have no sensations; nor have the dead in soul. Ask for a ray of this Spirit to illuminate thy mind, while thou readest his holy book, that his promises, his exceeding great and precious promises, may not be passed over sunnoticed, but stand like so many angels in the way to point thee to rest, and to thy best good hope through grace. Reading by his light, thou wilt find (and O that thou mayest find it to thy unspeakable joy!) that there is not one harsh word, not one severe denial, to the weakest, the poorest, the worst returning sinner, who longs for mercy because he sees his want of it. On the contrary, just such as Vol. II.

\* nize hidden; i. e. from the world, Hence God's wisdom is called mystery or hidden wisdom, his people are termed hidden ones, and their life is said to be hid with Christ in God. The world know-

eth us not (saith the apostle) because it knew him not.

<sup>†</sup> To render this clause in a good sense, seems more agreeable to the context which is addressed to God's people, than the common and other versions which have followed the lxx. The Psalmist is proposing motives of comfort; and certainly it is a greater cause of joy to the faithful, that Jehovah will complete their salvation, than that he will reward a proud doer, which is no part of that salvation.

thou art (behold thyself as vile as thou canst,) are welcome only to fesus; and for these poor, halt, maimed, and blind, is the rich feast of the kingdom prepared. These thy Sovereign Lord filleth with good things: The rich alone, those who conceit themselves to be full and increased, He sendeth empty away. If thou seest thy need of God's mercy; it is because God hath already had mercy upon thee. Trust in him, therefore, and implore the gracious power of his omnipotent Stirit; thou shalt then find, that, his own faithfulness to his word shall keep thee from falling, and in the best time relieve thee from all thy impressions of sorrow. Live upon this promise, and soon shalt thou have it fulfilled: If ye, being evil, know how to give good gifts unto your children: how much more shall your beavenly Father give the HALY SPIRIT to them that ask him? Ask, and receive: Seek, and

thou shalt freely obtain.

The omnipotence of this Spirit is the Christian's unfailing ground of hope. He hath, indeed, a strong Lord, and one as wise as he is strong, and present as he is wise. Nothing, concerning his people, escapes his notice; and all their holy cares are his own, and his own to relieve or fulfil them. O what a kind benefactor have we, who are saved by his grace! He saw us in our sins, and had mercy upon us, nay, loved us, when we were at minable and deformed: He loved us to purify us from our abominations, and to deck us with the beauty of his holiness. After all this cost and concern, shall he cease to love us, and be gracious? Shall his hand stop its bounty, or his heart refrain to love? He might cease to love us, if his motives of regard arose from our faithfulness or worth; but standing, as they do, upon his own sublime benevolence; fixed, as they are, upon the rock of ages; and arising, as they have done through all eternity, from an irrevocable covenant of everlasting truth: The Father must lose his paternal affection, the Son all the merit of his suffering and obedience, the Holy Spirit his operation and effect, and the whole Godhead change or cease to be; e'er we, who are brought into the bond of his covenant and have cast our souls upon it, can be lost after all and sink into perdition. This is our privilege, to know that we have an unchangeable God, and that, only through him, we are kept unchangeable too. In this view, we are made both happy and holy at once: Happy, because we are safe in our God; and holy in him, because we are led to depend upon him, and to receive out of his fullness grace for grace. This grace is the pledge of our interest in the covenant, and cannot be abused. Men may pervert the notion, but they cannot corrupt the thing; for the possession of the pledge will always spur the diligence,

holiness, and hope of those, on whom God hath been pleased to confer it.

And how doth it fill every gracious heart with wonder and joy, that God should be pleased to dwell thus in very deed with man! 2 Chron. vi. 18. That he should have thoughts of love and complacency for sinners, traitors, and rebels! " Next to the love of Christ, (said a good man) in taking our nature, we may wonder at the love of the Spirit, in taking up his residence in such defiled souls, and turning a dungeon into a temple, a priso, into a paradise, yea, an hell into an heaven." And in another place, he adds, " to make so little grace so victorious over so great a mass of corruption; this requireth a spirit more than human; this is to preserve fire as in the sea, and a part of heaven as it were in hell. Here we know where to have this power, and to whom to return the praise of it."\* It is matter of wonder upon earth to every believer, that God should have mercy upon him; and he is ever ready to ask, "Wby me, LORD, wby me? Wbo am I, and what is my father's house, that THOU hast brought me bitberto? I deserved nothing but hell; and thou hast placed me in the full view of heaven! I sought death in the error of my life; and thou hast given me hopes of life everlasting !"-And it is a matter of wonder, and will always be a matter of wonder in beaven itself: The very angels desire to pry into it. The love of their Maker is so deep, that, though they pry, the cannot see to its bottom: It is too vast and profound for even the capacious and subtle intellect of angels. The world above is full of rapturous astonishment, and admires the love, which was stronger than death, and the pity, which encountered rebellion to save. All heaven exults in the essusion of unbounded mercy, and welcomes the sinner, the reclaimed, the pardoned, the exalted sinner, to his mansion of peace. And heaven sees and owns, that the whole is everlasting grace, and that its lowest tribute is everlasting glory. Let us join, beloved souls, let us join this delighted, this majestic throng, in pouring forth the richest praise of our souls for benignity and blessings of grace showered down, not upon them but on us. Shall they therefore triumph with transport for us? And shall not we join with them to acclaim aloud for ourselves? Shall human hearts be dull; when for these very hearts all heaven is full of joy! -O forbid it mercy, truth, and love divine!-Come, thou gracious Spirit, for thou only canst inspire thankfulness and praise; come and inspire them into every believing soul! O fill us with the sense of that faithfulness and truth, which

\*Dr. Sibbes in his Bruised Reed; one of the most comfortable books of practical divinity, in our language, for mourning and afflicted Christians. His Fountain Sealed is another excellent work, and written in a style above his time.

stooped so low from heaven, only for the purpose of leading us thither; nor let us dishonor such unmerited bounty, either by living without its power, or beneath its dignity and our own! Thou hast exalted us by grace; suffer us not to debase and degrade ourselves by sin: But complete, O complete, in thy glory all thy promises concerning us, and our everlasting relation unto thee! Then, with unabating ardor, shall we join the innumerable hosts above, and shout, as they shout for ever; Holy, Holy, Holy, Lord God Almighty, who wast, and art, and art to come:—Thou art worthy, O Lord to receive glory, and bonor, and power; for Thou bast created all things, and for thy pleasure they are and were created! Even so: Amen,

## A D O N A I.

THE sense of this title hath been explained in the former volume, in which it was observed, that our translators have usually rendered it by the word Lord, and printed it in common or small characters, to distinguish it from the word Jehovah, which also they have rendered Lord, but have placed it in Roman capitals. But though this rendering has been adopted by them in imitation of other translators; the sense of the two words Jebovah and Adonai is much more re-

mote from each other than their sound.

As this title is applied to Christ in almost every page of the Bible, because he is the ruler and disposer, the basis and support of his redeemed; so is it addressed to God the Holy Gbest, for the very same reason. If Christ and the Spirit were not persons in the Godhead; this title would be used, to convey the idea of their respective offices and power in redemption and regeneration, improperly and falsely; and, consequently, the book of God would not be the record of truth. But as this is impossible, it will follow, that the application of this name, in its spiritual intention, is an argument or proof of the divinity of the second and third persons in the Trinity; and, therefore, all that will remain under this head, is to prove, that this application hath been made, and made by God himself. That Christ is so denominated, we have already proved; and that the Spirit claims the same title, it is the further purpose of this Essay to shew.

It is the office of the SPIRIT to reveal the mind, the will, and the things of God. This the apostle fully declares in I Cor. xii. and asserts that whatever gifts, ministrations, or operations, are enjoyed by or wrought in the people of God,

whether wisdom, knowledge, faith, the power of healing, miracles, prophesy, discernment of spirits, possession and interpretation of tongues; they are all worked by one and the selfsame Spirit, who divideth to every man severally as He will. For this reason, among other names, the same apostle styles him the Spirit of Revelation, (Eph. i. 17.) because, without him, was no revelation given to man: And, when he says, in another place, that to God's people are revealed the things which eye bath not seen, nor ear heard, neither have entered into the heart of man, but which God bath prepared for them that love bim; he immediately adds, that God bath revealed these things to them by bis SPIRIT; for the SPIRIT (and only the Spirit) searcheth all things, yea, the deep things of God. I Cor. ii. 9. &c. To this purpose speaks another apostle: The prophecy came not in old time, or at any time, by the will of man; but boly men of God spake as they were moved by the Holy Ghost. 2 Pet. i. 21. All this taken together proves, that the Spirit is the immediate agent of all prophecy and revelation; that he dictated the written word; and that the mind of JEHOVAH hath at all times been manifested and known by his inspiration alone. This proposition of itself might suffice to prove his divinity: The following Scriptures, by way of assumption, do fully confirm it.

Isaiah xxii. 14. It was revealed in mine ears by Jehovah Sabaoth; surely, &c. saith Adonai Jehovah Sabaoth. Amos. iii. 7, 8. Surely, Adonai Jehovah will do nothing, but be RVEALETH his secret unto his servants the prophets. The lion bath roared, who can but fear? Adonai Jehovah bath spoken, who can but PROPHESY? iv. 18. He—that Declareth unto man what is his thought,—Jehovah the God

of Hosts is bis name.

The Spirit, therefore, who revealeth according to these words, is the God of Hosts, Jehovah Sabaoth, and Adonal Jehovah Sabaoth:—The great characters, and pecu-

liar titles of the Most High.

The following text is an argument, for this truth, of itself. Ezek. viii. I. The hand (or power) of Adonal Jehovah fell there upon me. In the third verse he explains who this was, for he says that the Spirit lift me up, &c. and brought me in the visions of God to ferusalem. In the conclusion of this, and in the succeeding chapters, we shall find, that the same Spirit attends the prophet throughout the vision; and that, in Chap. ix. 8. the prophet falls down upon his face, and invokes him, by the title of Adonai Jehovah, which title is repeated to him, with other titles of the highest import, in the continuation of the prophecy. The Spirit, therefore, is Adonai Jehovah.

One argument more shall serve; for as the word Adonai,

in the connection with the name Jehovah, is not and cannot be applied to any creature; so if it be but once found in that connection and thus applied to the Spirit, it will sufficiently prove his right both to that, and to all other essential titles

of the Deity.

Isaiah lxi. I. The Spirit of Adonai Febovah is upon me; because Tebovab bath anointed me, &c. Now if the Spirit of Adonai Jelovab, or the Spirit of God be different from Jebovab kimself; there is something in the nature of God, which is not Ged. It is of no importance what that something be; for if it be not truly and essentially God, it must necessarily be a creature: And then it will follow, that God had no Spirit of his own, or that there was no Spirit of God, till it was created. Take it in another view. If there be something in God, which is not God, in truth and essence; then the Deity is not a pure, simple uncompounded being, but composed of parts; which parts are, from a necessity of nature, limited, finite, and various, because nothing but a whole or unity can be infinite, unbounded, and eternal. This notion, therefore, is not only repugnant to the Bible, but even to the first principles of common sense. Take it in a third form. If there be any being in God, or of God, which is not truly God, or (what amounts to the same) is inferior in any respect to any person in the Godhead; then it is impossible to avoid the inference, that there are either more Gods than one, or that there is an existence in God, which is not co-essential with his nature, and consequently not of it. The first branch of this dilemma contradicts one of the most express truths in the Bible, and is evident Polytheism. Deut. vi. 4. The other (as was before observed) militates against the simplicity of the divine nature, which, being one and therefore uncompounded, admits of nothing heterogeneous or additional. -As all these interpretations of this and such like texts, then, are obviously erroneous and absurd, both contrary to the revealed word, and contradictory to every idea which man hath been taught therein to form of the nature of divine things; it is both wise and safe to reject them, and to follow only the declarations of Him, who can neither deceive nor be deceived in this matter. If the Father and the Son are one (as Christ himself declares) and if there be but one Spirit, who likewise with the Father and the Son is one Godbead; as the Scriptures expressly determine, from kis own divine authority; we may be as sure of this, as of any other revealed truth, that Jebovab and the Spirit of Jebovab can be one only in one undivided Essence, however they may be distinguished in respect of person. Nor would it have been any force upon the original, if it had been translated, as some learned men do translate it, the Spirit Adonai Jebovab, with-

out the particle of; becaus whatever can be predicated of God, is God himself. To this may be added, that, when we say the Spirit of a man, nobody understands by the phrase any thing in a man different from his being, but rather what is entirely essential to it, and without which he doth not exist at all. And in like manner (for it is an apostle who draws this very comparison, I Cor. ii. 11.) when the Scriptures mention the SPIRIT OF GOD, they certainly mean God the Spirit, who only knoweth, according to the truth or mode of their existence, the things of God; because he only searcheth all things, yea, the deep things (or the profound) of God. When God ancinted Jesus of Nazareth with the Holy GHOST and with power (which is the abostle Peter's exposition of the text from Isaiab); he means evidently what St. Paul expresses by, God was in IN Christ (2 Cor. v. 29.), that is, God the Spirit, who formed and endued his human nature in the virgin's womb, and to whom only all power can belong: And that it doth mean this, is further evident by what St. Peter immediately adds, in the above text of Acts. x. 38 .be went about doing good, and bealing all that were oppressed with the devil; FOR GOD was with him. Thus, God being with bim, acording to the apostle, is tantamount to the Spirit Adonai febovab being upon him (or with him, as the particle של might have been rendered), according to the prophet: And so the prediction is completed, but in no other sense can be completed. See also Luke iv. 18. where our Lord claims the accomplishment of this prophacy in himself.

It seems then fairly and clearly proved from the Scriptures, which alone are competent to give evidence in this cause, that the Spirit of Adonai Jebovab is neither more nor less than Adonai Jebovab himself, and is consequently possessed of every divine attribute and perfection in conjunction with the Father and the Son, who, according to their Essence and as persons in the Essence, have called themselves by this very name. The name indeed does not express how they exist in that Essence, for no words can express or thoughts conceive an infinite nature; but it conveys a notice to his people, that the Trinity in unity is the Adonai, not for their

speculation, but for their faith and salvation.

What then, may we ask, is the mind of the Spirit, in taking this name upon himself? For God doth not take names and use words in an arbitary manner, without any connection with some doctrine or sense, as men too often do; but speaks, as well as acts, with truth and precision. It is right, therefore, to enquire, what doctrine the Holy Ghost would convey to our understandings by this denomination, and what practical use is to be made of it by the grace of faith in our souls. His doctrines cannot be mere notions or opinions, but must

have an important relation to the welfare and happiness of

his people.

As he is the divine agent of the new creation, the "Lord and Giver of life," the teacher and preserver of the redeemed; this blessed Spirit becomes their gracious ADONAI, the binge on which they move, the basis on which they stand. If He were not true and very God; He could not be what He calls himself to them; nor do what He promised to do for them: Nav, it would be rank and abominable idolatry in them, to expect in that case, any such blessings of him. They ought not, they dare not, depend for life, peace, and salvation upon a creature: And they would not, if they might; because they are privileged to rest upon the everlasting arms, and to stay themselves upon their God They could not endure such insufferable nonsense and blasphemy, as would direct them to a finite or dependent being, for the creation of their spiritual and eternal life, and for the bestowment and maintenance of that life to them in the world, where every being, but the divine, receives all it has for itself from the merest grace and bounty. Nor will they, while they follow God's word, build upon any foundation, but what he himself hath laid. On the contrary, they are both taught by this Holy Spirit (according to the promise, that they shall all be taught of GoD), and are directed by his holy and infallible word to look unto Jehovah alone not only for salvation at large, but for every branch of salvation.—Are they dead in Sin? He is the Spirit that quickeneth. Do they want strength? their strength is in JEHOVAH SABAOTH their Alehim, (Zech. xii. 5.) yea, they have everlasting strength in Him, who strengtheneth them with might indeed, by his Spirit in the inner man. Do they need grace? He is the Spirit of grace to bestow grace, and even the Spirit of supplication enabling them to ask for the bestowal. Seek they for comfort and peace in their souls? He is the God of all comfort, and that blessed Johovab, who ordains, decrees, or determines, peace for them, and works all their works in them. xxvi. 12. Are they sensible of their blindness and ignorance, and do they wish to be led into all truth? He is the very Spirit of wisdom, not only to give, but to seal instruction. His word, enlightened by his power, clears away the mental darkness of our nature, and affords the convinced sinner an understanding that is true-even a right understanding in all things. Do they hope for victory over death? He is the Spirit of life itself, who bears up his people's hearts beyond that last great enemy of man; and he so swallows bim up in victory, that death is no more death to shem, but the blessed harbinger of life eternal. Look they for glory? This Spirit Adonai is also the Spirit of glory; nor will he leave one of

his people, till he hath brought them to the full possession of glory, bonor, and immortality. And then not one of them can leave him: For they shall be in God, and God will be ever in them: They shall be one with Christ in the communion of this Spirit, and shall bless the favor, love and mer-

cy of a triune febovab, world without end.

From all this, fully supported as it is by the divine testimony of the written word, let the Christian, let any man judge, if so high and gracious an agent, capable of performing such sublime, such omnipotent, infinite, eternal, and omnipresent acts in and for the redeemed, can possibly be inferior to Jebovah himself, or any other than Jebovah? They, who can suppose such an inferiority, either know not or consider not the nature of these operations, and so consequently, not knowing the Scriptures nor the power of God, ascribe those things to created might, which are inconsistent with such a might, and of which God in his word hath taken a peculiar care, that they shall not be ascribed to it. Hence, besides a thousand passages of Scripture which directly secure to himself all the efficacy and glory in the work of salvation, his very names, which he hath revealed himself by, and this name Adonai among the rest, are so many demonstrations of his own necessary activity in this great cause, and of the inability of all creatures to devise, to carry on, and to accomplish it. On the other hand, the names of his church and people, are all names of a passive or belpless sense, and are evidently calculated to impress them with a conviction of their entire dependence upon Jebovab, in his persons and offices of grace, and of their utter incapacity to quicken, restore, support, and to perfect any thing for themselves. Critics take great care to explain the terms in the classical writers, which relate only to the poor affairs of this world, in order to obtain a right understanding of those authors, though the terms themselves are often vague and arbitrary sounds with very little information or meaning: And if the same attention were paid to the language of God's holy book, filled as it is with the most important matter for man's present and eternal happiness; it seems almost impossible, that such absurd mistakes, such bold positions, as have been uttered and avowed, in direct opposition to the very words, pbrases, and scope of the whole Sscripture, could ever have been foisted into the world. In public affairs, and the concerns of time, one has often reason to regret the industry of evil, which in men is abundantly more quick and active than their good intentions; but here the evil arises, as it might seem, from indolence, or inattention, itself. For, though nothing but divine grace can affect the faculties of the soul Vol. II.

and give them an experimental perception of divine things; yet common sense can easily see, that Creator and created, agent and patient, redeemer, and redeemed, or the like, are relative terms, and cannot subsist in the same object. Man, therefore, can be but one part of these: And it seems easy, enough for a child to say, which part that must be. These and many other terms, are not nicknames, imposed without sense according to fancy, but are formed to convey the notices of the most necessary, doctrines; and further, when those doctrines are expressed more at large and run into phrases, these terms harmonize with great force and exactness to compose, strengthen, and enliven the phrases. As these phrases, likewise, relate to one subject, for which both in themselves and in their component terms they are admirably fitted; so, in their great compilation, they universally agree, and make all together one book of one great truth, which (rightly understood) is bright and beautiful as well in its parts, as in that glorious whole, into which those parts are resolved. It resembles one vast and noble arch; every stone of which is fitly framed, has a just contact with, and affords its proportion of strength to all the rest. To some minds indeed, the parts may appear to be loose stones, without connection; but the true believer sees the union, and is, enabled to view the beauty, order, and grandeur of the whole. If Voltaire, and other unhappy infidels, had understood these terms, and perceived how exactly they were squared for their subject and purpose; much of their ignorance and blasphemous wit would have been silenced by a. wisdom, which wiser men than themselves were never able to gainsay or resist, and which sooner or later will make it appear, (according to the apostle) that they have only been sporting with their own deceivings.

The sense of this term Adonai, perfectly agrees with the office and agency of the Holy Spirit, in effecting and completing his people's salvation. He is the arranger, the disposer, the perfecter, of the whole. He judges, what is best for them: And his judgment upon the comparison of ideas or things which are complex and various, but existing in himfelf... as the essence and ground of all truth; is a simple determination and decree of grace or providence, for the welfare of his chosen. Thus He judges from Himself, and like Himself; as the true and very God. And being the great mover, He is necessarily the great foundation, of all salvation. It cannot subsist, or be carried on, without him .- All these truths may we learn from this blessed name, which He has graciously assumed to convey our instruction in them; and, in consequence of his tuition, ought we to cast all our hopes, cares, and confidence upon Him, as upon that Almighty agent, who

is engaged to work for us, and in us; and as upon that eternal foundation, which can never sink, or cease to support us.

If a wise heathen, Thales, could believe, that " Provi-DENCE [which contains much of the sense of the name Adanai] extends to the lowest of all beings, and that nothing is hid from it, no not even that which is most minute ";" how ought the real Christian to be persuaded of the constant, unmediate, and invariable attentions of this SPIRIT JEHOVAH, who is Providence indeed with a higher name, but who carries on providence for a higher end, than the valuable heathen could conceive? What confidence may he not place in HIM, who knoweth his down-sitting, and his up-rising, and who understandeth his very thoughts afar off? To whom nothing in nature is hidden or unexplored; and now much less the concerns of his people? Even the very bairs of your head are all numbered, says Christ; those affairs of our bodies, which we have not numbered ourselves, or make any account of, and which we lose without care or pain. He watches over each of his people, as though he had but that one; and he watches over the whole, as though they were one single frame. O could they but trust in Him at all times, as they are privileged, nay, authorized by his word to trust in him; what a different face would the Christian world present to us! What holier and what happier lives should we see! What triumphs over the follies and pursuits of the world; what victories over the flesh and its lusts; what resistance to the devil and his works; would appear to honour and adorn the Christian's bigb vocation! Instead of a cold, languid, or at best a lukewarm conversation about spiritual things; what melting fervor, what holy and strong affection, would possess the souls of men; if they lived more according to the word, and more upon the Spirit for his application of it to them! It would be a little heaven within their hearts, if this gracious Adonai were more depended upon by professors: And they would see, that it is all but poor and wretched stuff indeed, mere lumber and waste, which often occupies his properroom, and cloys, & clogs, & wearies them out-for no other end, but their weariness. Nor would there be any longer such a wide chasm between their faith and their lives. If religion, indeed, consisted in disputing; the present as well as some former ages, is religious enough. "There has always been a vast multitude of disputers about Christianity, and always (in the

<sup>\*</sup> From Philoponus in his comment upon Arist. de Az. in HARRIS'S Philos. Arrang. p. 435.

comparison) but very few Christians."\* But to talk of divine things, and to enjoy them, are as different as substance and shadow: And to dispute about Christ, without the Spirit of Christ, is only beating the air and crowning a man's la-

bor with his pains,

" Let me then (may the Christian say) have this unction from the Holy One, that I may not only know the things of God, but know them aright—know them to be bis—know them to be mine in Him! May I ever be afraid of naked, barren speculations; as children are of spectres! May it be my aim, through the help of this Spirit Adonai, to seek not only for substance in divine things, but for their enduring substance! Let me grow rich in faith, rather than in notions, that I may be humbled in myself where I ought to be humble, and lifted up in the Lord, where only in fact I can be exalted! Amidst a world of opinions, may I see it my privilege and my duty to rest upon Him, who can never change, and upon his excellent word, which can never be broken! Let me never be taken with any fine-spun speculations of salvation; but be ever pressing that the life and power of it may be established within me!"-This is the cry of the believer's heart; and it is blessed with a joy, with which a stranger to God and this cry intermeddletb not.

"Keep within the revealed word (said an excellent man) and, in the patience and comfort of the Scriptures; live by hope. No flesh can see God and live. Poor man would be wise, and see the upshot of all things; but the vessel of his understanding cannot hold it." When men would be wise above what is written, they are never wise in what is written. They cannot govern themselves, who will not obey

God.

Happy is the believer, who knows, by gracious experience, that the Holy Spirit is his constant Adonai, who moves him when he is moved for God, and who supports him all the way to the presence of God. In trusting to this divine power he obtains the evidence of that power, as, by believing the divine record, he receives the witness of its truth. Could he trust at all times; he would, at all times, find cause to rejoice. When he doubts, he fails; as Peter began to sink in the sea, when he began to fear its threatening waves. The Psalmist nobly sings; what time I am afraid, I will trust in thec. In God I will praise his word; In God I have put my trust; I will not fear what flesh can do unto me. And thou, O Christian, wilt bear a part in this holy song; whenever thy faith, like the Psalmist's, rests firmly on the same founda-

\* REGALTIUS in Commedian. apud CAVE. Hist. Lit.

<sup>†</sup> See Dorner's divinely experimental Discourse of Salvation p. 151. 3d Edit.

tion. This Adonai cannot fail himself; nor will he suffer thee to perish. The foundation of God standeth sure: Sure also is his word; and sure is his covenant; according to which that word was framed. He bears up the pillars of heaven and earth; and is he not sufficient then to sustain thee!

" I do not doubt his sufficiency (says the doubting soul), nor any other of his attributes: My only fear is, that his will is not inclined to save and preserve mc. I feel in myself, what my mouth would not and cannot utter, but what is so abhorrent from every thing good, that, were I one of his, it surely could not be thus with me."—And is this thy grief, that so much ill appears and so little good? Is it thy sorrow indeed, that there is any thing sinful, depraved, and unclean within thee? Dost thou feel real compunction of Spirit at thy departure, or thy distance, from God?-Then be comforted; not in thy distance, or, in any evil; but in the discovery of all this within thee. If God had not loved thee, he would not have acquainted thee with this corruption; nor wouldest thou have been grieved at these depravities of thy nature. The sins of the beart would never have been an affliction, if the Spirit of grace had not renewed, the heart. The sins of the life are scandalous; and the pride of character, and the caution of the hypocrite, will often keep a man from these: But nothing except a principle of gracious life will disturb the den of thieves within, and aim to drive them out of the temple. Whatever manifests is light: And God hath enlightened thee to take this view of thy heart, that, seeing no bope in thyself, thou mayest flee to Christ for pardon and righteousness, and, finding no belp in thyself, thou mayest rely wholly upon the Spirit Adonai. God shews thee to thyself, to frighten thee from thyself: And thou couldest not be without this view for a thousand worlds; as thou wilt find to thy joy hereafter. Only let this discovery humble thy proud nature, and bring thee, with most absolute dependence, to Christ and the Spirit, for mercy, and grace: and all shall be well at the last.

How well it shall be at the last; the thoughts of men cannot conceive, nor the tongues of angels declare. That it shall be infinitly and eternally well, we may be very certain; for God hath said it. Let this be thy repose, O believer; here do thou dwell and have thy constant delight. Soon the shadows of earth and of time shall fly away; soon shall each dreary and drooping scene be removed; and the whole vision and fruition of thy God for ever arise. The night is far spent; the day, the everlasting day is at band. Our longest life below is but a moment of that night: And the puny divisions of time are lost in the eternity of day before thee. As a

good man observed; if before the flood, when men lived for centuries, they reckoned their continuance on earth by days: surely, it becomes us, whose length of life cannot even be mentioned with theirs, to reckon up our ages by bours. By bours! And who thinks of an hour? Who calculates its worth; or lives according to the calculation?-None but he. who values it for Christ, and who passes it with him and for him. He only saves the hour: He alone redeems the time. All other time is lost but this, and sinks into oblivion. O what are men employed in! What paltry occupations engross, as well as engage their hearts, their hands, and their lives! Could they feel the worth of time by knowing the worth of grace in time; is it possible, that not only their busy, but their vacant hours should slide away, without any concern upon their minds bow they slide, or for what they have been spent? Look back, and reckon, believer, if all out of Christ bas not been vanity or vexation of spirit: Look forward, and count, if any thing, on earth, can promise thee more. But O that joy and peace, which will exceed the calculation of time, and which is not reckoned by the world at all! This, and this only, like purified gold in the fire, remains to enrich thee. This, like its author, can never be lost. This, and the gospel, through which it is given, shall brighten to eternity. With respect to the busy, blustering, and the fleeting world, thou mayest sing with a writer of old.\*

> Peaceful let me live below, Though my life I pass unknown: Careless, whether others know, If my name the LORD will own.

Thou art indeed unknown, yet well known—unknown byman—well known of God. And soon shalt thou know, even
as also thou art known.—Here language fails; and imagination is absorbed. Thou canst only add, with the apostle;
and mayest thou add with the same transporting views; O
the depth of the riches both of the wisdom and knowledge of
God! How unsearchable are his judgments, and his ways past
finding out!—For of Him, and through Him, and to Him
are all things; to whom he glory for ever. Amen.

<sup>\*</sup> SYNESIUS, apud Wits. Misc. Sacr. Vol. i. p. 637.

## and a second second

## MOST HIGH.

A LL sorts of people do allow, that this illustrious title is peculiar to the everlasting God. It is not so much a name, which generally implies the definition of a person or thing, as an ascription, which asserts, that God, in respect to definition, cannot properly be named; for let us conceive of him as far as we can, and let us apply to him all the names we are able, he will yet be infinitely above every name, and eternally transcend all our conceptions. This seems to be the sense of this title עלין, or Most High. It tends to express, that IEHOVAH is both inexpressible, and, from the unbounded sublimity of his nature, by us and all the creatures inconceivable too. This ascription, therefore, is admirably characteristic of deity, is used for that purpose in the holy Scriptures, and sets him forth, both as unknowable and unknown, unless according to the mode and extent of bis own revelation. Our old translation of the Psalms has ventured to employ a grammatical solecism to shew, that this title is above all rule of language, and above all idea of men. The term Most Highest, is no more a blunder, in this view, than another title given to Him in the Scriptures, namely, HIGH-ER THAN THE HIGHEST. Eccl. v. 8. Neither name pretends to explain, bow high Jehovah is; but both concur in asserting, that over all names put together, over all descriptions whether of angels or men, over all conceptions and ideas that the most exalted intellects of creatures can frame; Jehovah is still bigber than the bigbest, and that they do not and cannot, by infinite degrees, reach up towards him. The considerate heathens could reason upon this truth, that God must necessarily be inconceivable. They could trace out his wisdom and power by his works; they could be convinced, that the vast frame of things, which is obvious to human sense, could be the effect only of an all-perfect and immortal being; they could be assured, that all activity, motion, or life, must proceed from a cause of infinite energy, or rather from some existence who is all energy, fullness, and truth; But, with all this, they were obliged to own, that to conceive any thing of so pure and abstracled a nature in the mind, was

immensely difficult, and consequently, to express that nature (if it were even right to attempt it) absolutely impossible.\* Some of these heathens procured, by one means or other, this title of God from the true worshippers, in the first ages after the flood, and gradually debased it, as they did all other traditions of the kind, to the purposes of the vilest idolatry. And indeed, in all ages, when men follow any rule, but God's own revelation, concerning his nature and existence, and set up their wretched "reasoning faculty," perverted and clouded as it is by sin; they are sure to wander into doubt or absurdity at best, and generally, by stating their own chimeras as true representations, of the deity, become as mere idolaters in reality, as the very worst of the heathens. Yet, it is remarkable enough; all these will be so positive and dogmatical respecting their particular hypotheses; that one should think, the Most High must be as much an object of their senses as a stick or a straw; and they will tell us, that God is such and such a being, nay, and must be so too; though, at the same time, they have not the goodness to inform us of the manner of existence even in a stick or straw, nor yet the particular mode of being, by which they exist themselves. What is further remarkable likewise; all these over-intelligent heads shall differ amazingly upon this topic from each other: And yet there is not one of them, but will affirm, that all his ideas are not only founded upon his " reasoning faculty," but ought to be founded upon it, as the highest standard and criterion of truth. The antient dogmatists differed in the same way. Some said, that fire was God; others, water; others, air; others, that God was the soul of the world; some one thing; and some another; and the wisest of them all honestly confessed him to be unknown. Take Spinoza's god, Hebbes's, Whiston's, Collins's, Toland's, Chubb's, Tindal's, the god of the Arians, the God of the Socinians, the god of one kind of deists, and the god of another kind; t

\* STOBAUS. Serm. IXXXVIII. Thus Xenophon, Plato, and his commentator Plotinus, with many other of the antient heathens, owned, Deum nec pervestigare possibile, nec fas investigare. See much said to this effect, in Mornaus, de verit. Rel. Christ. c. iv.

† Spinoza's god was, all visible being, the particulars of which were only modifications of the deity; so that men, dogs, mice, insects,

are parts of himself, there being only one existence or nature.

Hobbes's god was not very different, for he made him corporeal, and asserted, that "what is not body, is nothing at all;" and that all religion originated in fear and superstition; in which he was of the same mind with Lucretius and the Epicureans.

Whiston's god was a being entirely different from the Son and Holv. Ghast, who, in his opinion, were mere creatures, and by no mean's

the object of our worship.

and place them together: And a man, viewing all these gods as the result of the "reasoning faculty," would be almost

Collins went farther, and made his god still more remot from every idea suggested of him by Christianity, insomuch that he did not

scruple to renounce Christianity, altogether.

Toland was a glaringly vain and conceited man, even in Locke's judgment, and favored Spinoza's pantheistic scheme, but without Spinoza's morals. His god was every thing, or (as it might be bet-

ter said) a nothing, in the world.

Chubb's god was framed at Salisbury according to his own "reasoning faculty;" but was a deity of that odd make, as to render it unnecessary to pray to him; for this Chubb disallowed, as well as the ideas of particular providence, a future judgment and existence, or any thing else which we have of that kind by revelation. Possibly, by not praying to his god, Chubb thought he should at least avoid idolatry.

Tindal quaintly called himself a Christian deist; and therefore his god must be sui generis, and not classed with the others. Those however, who took pains to develope him and his principles, reduce him to the form of the common deists, as to his own proper place. With them, he indeed discards all revelation, and implicitly follows,

what he calls, and perhaps believed to be, reason.

The Arians make their god of a most extraordinary composition. They assert, that the Father is the one great God, and that the Son and the Holy Spirit, are mere emanations, issuing from him and resolved into him again. Thus they, in fact, confound the simplici-

ty of the divine nature, and and reject its unity.

The Socinians advance a degree or two beyond the Arians, and affirm roundly, that Christ and the Hely Spirit are not even emanations of deity, but real creatures, and there is truly no such thing as redemption or satisfaction for sin, and no inward operation of what is called grace upon the soul. Of course, their god differs, in fact, but very little from the next class (to omit several others)

which we shall mention.

The Deists form their god after the model of the heathen philosophers, receiving, however, a few of his embellishments from the Christian revelation, which some of them affect to despise. They differ, notwithstanding, as their heathen masters did, concerning his precise nature and attributes; and a few of them have even pretended to pay a sort of specious respect to Christianity itself upon the score of its morality; forgetting, perhaps, that if the system be not wholly true, it is the most impious and blasphemous imposture, that ever was foisted upon mankind. Their kiss like Judas's is to be dreaded, lest lit be only a signal to betray both Christ and his gospel.

For a solid and dispassionate confutation of most of these of inces, the reader may be referred to the writings of the late Dr. Lelant, and particularly to his View of the deistical writers, and his, Advantage and necessity of the Christian revelation; in which works his reasoning opponents are fairly and thoroughly beaten with their

own weapons. Vol. II.

tempted (if there were no better rule in the case) rather to adopt Vanini's notion, and roundly assert at once, that there is no God at all. Multitudo numinum, nullitas est numinum. Air these and many other opinions of him cannot possibly be right All but one (if even that one could be excepted), must necessarily be wrong. And the question then is, which is the one? The rest are anavoidably idols, or (at best) illusive unreal phantoms: And if even this one stand upon the " reasoning faculty," which is the assumed ground of all the rest; there is no sort of certainty, but that this may be a phantom too. Here, then, comes the issue of all pretended "rational religion," which begins with the rejection of God's revelation, and usually ends in little better than scepticism and infidelity. It floats perhaps awhile in the brain, but hath not weight enough to sink into the heart, nor force enough to influence the life. It can carry a man no farther,

than it did the heathens-

to a semblance of virtue and outward decency; but will never so affect the soul, as to crucify it to the world, renew it in itself, and lift it up to the enjoyment of God. Possibly, it doth not pretend to this. Then, cui bono? Doth it not leave a man just as it found him? In which case, what is he the better for this ideal affair, which begins, proceeds, and ends, with nothing? Nor is this religion (if it can deserve the name) even so rational, as it pretends; for it rests upon buman ideas to determine a matter which is infinitelyabove them: add to this, these very ideas, are, at the same time, fluctuating and unsteady in themselves, extremely different in different persons, and often exceedingly various, perplexed, and obscured in the same individual person at different times. A pretty foundation this to rest upon, in preference to that rock of ages, which can never be moved, and to his holy word, which hath at all times been proved, and proved again, and never been known to fail! reason, intruding here into things which she hath not seen, becomes, atheism in a fair disguise; and thus by misleading, while she herself is misled, plunges her (in fact) irrational votaries into every pernicious consequence. That man can never be a truly reasonable being, who leaves the Author of all right reason, for the clouded cogitations of his own mind, or for the no less clouded, and wavering, and uncertain opinions of others. Nor, on the other hand, can be be irrational, who, consenting with the wisest of men as well as with the word of God, applies for information to Him, who only can give it upon this subject, and then relies upon that information given, as upon an invincible truth, proceeding from a being, who is both too wise and too holy, to be mistaken himself or to utter a lie to others. There is either no revelation at all; in which case,

all religion is a cheat, and there is nothing certain in the world, respecting the end of our being, as well as the cause of it: Or, if there be a revelation, it is madness and impudence at once in any man, who, admitting its existence, doth not abide by its declarations, but ventures to controvert or determine without them. There is but this alternative in the matter.—Thus much for the little gods of human brains: Let us now turn our attention to the revelation of God Most High.

From revelation we learn, that this Most High, is Jehovah, the incommunicable, self-existent, essence; or (what is exactly the same) that Jehovah only is the Most High. Thou, whose name alone is Jehovah, art the Most High over all the earth; or, (as others render it) Thou, whose name is Jehovah, art alone the Most High over all the earth. Psa. lxxiii. 18. He is called Jehovah Most High, in Psa. vii. 18. and in other places: And, in Psa. xcii. 8. Jehovah the Most High\* for evermore. There can be no doubt, therefore, that this term can only be applied to God, and be reciprocated as a name of his infinite and exalted nature. If, then, it can be applied, and is applied to the Holy Spirit, it will prove most demonstrably, and ought to prove beyond all controversy, that he is truly God or Jehovah, or a person in the self-existent essence so named.

Psalm lxxviii. 17—22. The Israelites provoked the Most High in the wilderness, and they tempted Al in their heart, by asking meat for their lust; yea, they spake against the Alehim, &c.—Therefore, jehovah heard this, and was wroth, &c.—because they believed not in the Alehim, &c. It appears as self-evident as any first proposition, that these several titles of Jehovah, Al, Alehim, and Most High, belong to one and the same being, whom we call God: Or, otherwise, there is a plurality of gods, which the Scriptures oppose and Christians deny. Whoever, therefore, has one of these appellations strictly ascribed to him, has an indefeasable right to all the rest.

Now, the prophet Isaiab declares, that this provocation of the Israelites was against the Holy Shirit: They rebelled and vexed his Holy Spirit. Is. lxiii. 10. The martyr Stephen says, that they resisted the Holy Ghost. Acts viii. 51 And the apostle to the Hebrews confirms both, by declaring, that it is the Holy Ghost, who saith, your fathers tempted ME, proved ME; and saw MY works forty years. Hebr. iii. 7, 9.

The Holy Spirit, therefore, in these last texts, is the

<sup>\*</sup> בתרום, whence the Rimmon of the Gentiles; as from אמרום, their Elion or Elioan. See Vol. 1. p. 155.

MOST HIGH, JEHOVAH, AL, and ALEHIM, stated by the Psalmist in the preceding text, and consequently, the true,

infinite, self-existent, and everlasting GoD.

It may be noted, by the way, that the above passage in the Morews, were there no other in the Bible to assert the essential divinity of the Holy Spirit, is sufficient of itself for that purpose; for it asserts, that all the works, which were done in the wilderness, before or in behalf of the Israelites, were the glorious operations of the Holy Ghost. We have seen, in the former volume, that they are also ascribed to Christ as one of the persons in the essence; and nobody will deny, who believes in revelation at all, that God, or the Father, was undoubtedly present: It follows, then, that all was performed by the Trinity in Unity, and that the whole was carried on by the power and according to the will of the three divine persons in the one undivided essence. Take it in any other view; and there will be different agents of different natures in this work of salvation, and consequently more Gods than one; because to these different agents are the names of God ascribed: Or, there will be only one agent under different names, and so, consequently, Christ and the Holy Ghost with the Father are but one person, who suffered and bled, who departed yet came again as another comforter, yet not another but the same; and thus the Scriptures will be an heap of contradictions, as well as blasphemies against the divine nature. The adversaries, therefore of the Christian doctrine of the trinity, who profess to receive the Bible, have only this refuge as adversaries; either to adopt polytheism and so become idolaters, or to plunge into the sink of Sabellianism, and so admit that the Father was crucified and suffered, putting a lie into Christ's mouth, when he declared, My God, my God, why bast thou Forsaken me. A man must in fact reject the Scriptures altogether, as a divine revelation, if he deny the dectrine of a trinity, upon which as upon, one great and necessary foundation, they entirely stand.

Luke i. 25. The Holy Guost shall come upon thee, and the power of the Highest shall overshadow\* thee: therefore also that holy thing, which shall be born of thee, shall be called the Son of God. In the 32d verse, this Son of God is called the Son of the Highest, and, therefore, Christ, as to his human nature, is the Son of the Holy Ghost, by whose operation that human nature was formed in the virgin's womb. Hence it appears, that God, Highest, and Holy Ghost, are terms of reci-

<sup>\*</sup> Emissions. This word seems to bear a similar idea with mentain Gen. i. 2. which might prefigure what the Spirit would do, in the fulness of time, with relation to the human nature of Christ, and the new life he would impart, at all times, to the people of God.

procation, which could not be the case, unless the Holy Gbost were God Most High. But being God most High, there is no blasphemy (as otherwise there certainly would be) in ascribing to him all the peculiar titles of the Godhead: Let those take care of blasphemy against bim (Matth. xii. 31.) who are

bold enough to ascribe them to any other.

It seems almost a work of supererogation to add a word to proofs like these; but such is the hardness of the human heart, that God useth line upon line, and precept upon precept, like successive sun-beams, to melt it down; and such is the stubbornness of the human will in maintaining its own preconceived opinions, that argument upon argument, though not to be refelled, can make no due impression, without the concurrence of omnipotent aid. It is right, however, to endeavor to silence those, who refuse to be convinced; or, at least, if they will not be silent, to leave them nothing, in fairness, to say. It may be right also to establish those, who are weak in the truth, that they may not be shaken by the unscriptural sophisms; of the adversary.

John iii. 5. Except a man (says Christ) be born of water; and of the Spirit, be cannot enter into the kingdom of God.

Luke vi. 35. But the same Christ tells his disciples, that they shall be the children of the Highest, and (in Luke xx. 36.) the children of God.

The Spirit, therefore, is the Highest and God.

Upon the proof of this important point, there is an end of that controversy, which has employed so many tongues and pens, respecting the proper object of worship. An Arian, who dreams of the inferiority of deity, and all the endless absurdities which arise from that principle, may indeed be perplexed himself, and may perplex others, upon this point; but the orthodox Christian knows, that there is one, and but one object of worship, and that it is abominable idolatry to pay adoration to more. He also professes, that, as the three divine persons are one only essence, he cannot worship them as separate or different from that essence, and, consequently, that whether he address himself to each of the three persons, or to the three persons together, his prayer or praise ascends to the whole essence, which is an undivided ONE, and his worship is of "this Unity in Trinity, and the Trinity in Unity, in all things," and at all times. He is, therefore, a

† Hareticus ad vulgi vitia, vel saculi ingenia, confugit. TERT.

<sup>\*</sup> Water is the Spirit's emblem; for as water pervades the whole matter of the universe, is insinuated unto the fabric of all earthly things, and both vivifies and purifies agreeable to its nature; so the Holy Spirit cleanses the souls of his people, enters into their whole spiritual constitution, and enlivens the whole by his penetrating agency. See farther in the Essay below, entitled, Water of Life.

worshipper of one God, and indeed can worship no more, for there is but one. A learned and ingenious writer hath illustrated this matter by a very pertinent instance. " The discirles of Christ (says he) were commanded to baptize in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost: And, without doubt, the baptism they administered, was in all cases agreeable to the prescribed form. Nevertheless, we are told of some who were commanded to be baptized in the name of the Lord (Acts x. 48.) and particularly, in the name of the Lord Jesus (Acts vin. 16.) so that there was a strange defect either in the baptism itself, or in the account we have of it; or the mention of one person in the trinity must imply the presence, name, and authority, of them all; as the passage is understood by Irenaeus-in Christi nomine subauditur, qui unxit, et qui unctus est, et ipsa unctio in qua unctus est. 1. iii. c. 20."\* i. e. By baptism in the name of Christ, is to be understood, He, who anointed, He, who was anointed, and the anointing itself by which he was anointed: In other

words, Father, Son, and Spirit.

To those, who, consider this point, in an experimental view, the proofs increase from the word of God, with still more abundant force and clearness. Such, and such only, know truly what the apostle means, where he introduces the love and grace of the whole trinity in two lines, and says, that through HIM [Christ] we both [ [ew and Gentile] bave an access [or introduction] by one Spirit unto the Father. Eph. ii. 18. This Spirit leads to Christ, and through Christ carries up the soul into communion with the Father; so that, by his agency, the believer hath fellowship with the Father and the Son in and by the Spirit. Here is the very substance and reality of the Christian religion, without which all the rest is but name or notion. Upon this ground, the true believer sees the importance of this doctrine, finds its establishment evidenced by the word and carried into himself, and that, but for this doctrine experimentally known and considered, there could not be, in fact, any such thing as the Christian religion at all. He holds communion by the grace of faith, which the divine Spirit has planted in his soul, with all the three persons at once in their names, covenant-engagements, and characters, feels all these gracious engagements realized and realizing within him Luke xvii. 21.) and rejoices that, as the one essence is Jehovan Almighty, each person in this one essence hath the undivided power, love and truth of the whole, and consequently is almighty to perform every promise and requirement for his salvation. This is the foundation of all his joy in God. He is assured, that he

<sup>\*</sup> Jones's Catholic Doctrine, p. 57, 3d edit.

trusts the Rock of ages, and not the various will and dependent power of any creatures. Upon the divine immutability he builds his own immutability, and is persuaded, that, till God himself change, he himself shall be for ever unchangeable. By this Holy Spirit, all his services and sacrifices, of prayer and praise, of heart and of life, are carried up to the throne in heaven, and rendered acceptable to the Father through Christ Jesus. Thus the three persons are glorified in him and by him; and thus, by communion with each, he enjoys a necessary and perpetual communion with all.

This truth is as old as the regeneration of the first believer in the world. Cain and Abel were both taught the knowledge of the true God, and were told, that their worship was due to him. But the one came with a carnal unrenewed heart, and (like the Pharisee in the temple) offered up the fruits of his own doings, which being utterly imperfect and defiled with sin in themselves, and offered up also without faith, the Lord had no respect to him or to his offering. On the contrary, the other approached in faith (Heb. xi. 4.) and brought, not the product of his own labor, but with even bimself before or with the FIRST-BORN of his flock, and before or with the fat thereof, in testimony of his reliance upon the sacrifice of the great First-born, who should appear in the fulness of time for the remission of sin. Himself, therefore, AND bis offering were respeced\* by the Lord. His sacrifice was accepted in this view, and the smoke of it ascended as a sweet smelling savour (speaking according to the sense of men) before God .- When Noab came forth from the ark, in which he had been saved by figure or similitude; the first thing he did was to commemorate the means of his typified salvation. He built an altar unto the Lord, and took of every clean beast, and of every clean fowl רעל עלרה and caused an bolocaust, a sacrifice ascending by fire, to ascend, upon the altar. This he did, like Abel, in faith of that great sacrifice Christ, who, through the eternal Spirit, was to offer up himself unto God. The sacrifice was typical of the Redeemer; and the ascent by fire represented the operation of the divine Spirit, who alone carries up the intention and effect before the throne. The next verse proves this, where it is immediately added. The Lord smelled a savour of rest, according to our margina! translation; but there is a force and precision in the original, which the translation, either in the text or margin, doth not reach. The Lord ירוז אתרים inhaled, spiritually receiv-

<sup>\*</sup> Theodotion renders the word DW by Evempers, injiamed, answered by fire from heaven, in token of acceptance. To which the apostle has been thought to allude in Heb. xi. 4. God Testifying of his gifts. Spann. Hist. Chrst. szc. ii. p. 651. See also 2 Chron. viii. 1. and Estius in Gen. iv. 4.

ed, or received by the Spirit, the breathing, the aspiration of rest, or of his own Spirit, which ascended up in that emblematic sacrifice before him. The sacrifice was slain; and so Christ was killed .- It might be slain under the law by strangers, but offered only by the priest; and so Christ was crucified by the Gentiles, but he offered up his own life as the great High-priest .- It was to ascend by fire, by which only the particles of air or any other substance can ascend from the earth; and so the merit of the sacrifice and the faith of the believer in it, as so much spirit and life, are made to ascend before the throne of heaven by that eternal Spirit, whose subtle and invincible energy, under the similitude of fire, is engaged for that purpose. The apostle gives the eftest of this emplem in plain words: He that searcheth the hearts, knoweth what is the mind of the Spirit; because be maketh intercession for the saints according to the will of God, or according to God. Rom. viii. 27. The same mystical rite was continued under the Jewish dispensation which was only a clearer illumination of the patriarchal services. It was: not a new religion, but a fuller and further manifestation of the old. The Jews were to sacrifice these bolocausts, burntofferings or sacrifices ascending by fire, in all the place (says the Lord) which I make the memorial of my name (Exod. xx. 14.) and there he would come unto them and bless them. They were to carry on the dostrine, that as the ascent of the sacrifice could only be made by fire in the emblem, so their faith in the great sacrifice could only be raised by the Spirit in the truth of the emblem. Their beave-offerings\* expressed this great truth in another form, and shewed that their bread, of which this kind of offering was made, came from the Lord, should be devoted to his glory, and that they should lift up their hands and hearts unto him .- In the Christian dispensation, the emblem indeed is taken away, because the sacrifice intended by it, is accomplished; but the idea and doctrine

<sup>\*</sup> The heave-offerings and the wave-offerings, under the law, had their respective doctrines, and preached to the antient believers the necessity of their acknowledging God to be the author of all their powers and bessings. The shoulder in the sacrifices was appointed for the tident or heave offering, and the breast for the tident or wave-offering; and both were the portion of the priests; as God's agents or representatives. The priests were to heave or held up the one towards heaven, in testimony, that all service, and power to render service, expressed by the shoulder, as the instrument of action or I bor, came from and should be devoted to God; and they were to wave the other backward and forward to the four parts of the world, in token that the purposes and affections, signified by the breast, are given by him to his people, respecting salvation, and should therefore be spread out before him and laid out for him.

are the same.\* Christ is the great bolocaust of his church, that sacrifice slain, burned, and ascending by fire unto the Lord. He offered up bimself without spot; yet not alone, but (as the great commentator upon the Jewish ritual explains it) through the ETERNAL SPIRIT, of whom the fire was an instituted emblem. God receives by this Spirit the propitiation of Christ the sacrifice; and his people become thereby, with all their services, (according to the language of the Old Testament which the apostle uses, and, by using, explains) a sweet savour of Christ unto God. Compare 2 Cor. ii. 15.

with Eph. v. 2.

Here, then, we are to come the proper office-character of this Most High and Holy Spirit, and may perceive, that as one of the divine persons must be God Most High, to atone and merit for the redeemed; so it is needful, that another of the divine persons should carry up the memorial of this before the throne, and apply the benefit of it to their souls. Here too we may learn, what our Lord means, when he says, no man bath ascended up to Heaven, but he that came down from Heaven, even the Son of man, which is in Heaven. John iii. 13. No man, but the God-man, could ascend as a propitiation before the throne, even He who came down from' Heaven for that purpose, and who, respecting his divine nature, is ever in Heaven. We may also learn hence another most important, yet often forgotten, truth; that no service of our's can ascend up to God, but in Christ Jesus, and by the power of the Holy Spirit. We have no recommendation, andcan have none, which will be accepted, but Christ: We have no strength or grace, and can have none, but by the operation of the Holy Ghost. Thus one person in the Most High must lead us, through another, up to the third; in which act we have communion with the whole, and, hereafter, when we have parted with sin and corruption, shall have an uninterrupted and perfect enjoyment of the whole to all eternity. This is the true reception of the Christian doctrine of the Trinity; and, without it, all the rest is but as idle a subject of dispute, as the quidlibets and quodlibets of the schools.

This Spirit Most High raises his people to the bigh and boly place, which his own word hath set before them. There is no possession of grace, nor progression in grace, but by him. He instills heavenly thoughts; he imparts heavenly frames; he carries on the heavenly work in the soul, which

<sup>\*</sup> To this effest Grezory excellently says; Una est ecclesia electorum, præcedentium et sequentium. Antiqui patres non divisi a S. Ecclesia fuerunt; quia mente, opere, prædictione, ista jam fidei sacramenta tenuerunt, &c. Apud Spanh. Hist. Christ. sæc. vi. col. 1065.

is to prepare it for an eternal heaven and for God. This is called, and justly called, ascending to heaven in the mind. and the raising up of the affections to things above. All this is performed by the power of the Spirit Most High. Believers, under the old Testament, were privileged to wait upon the Lord for a renewal of their strength, and to mount up with wings as eagles. Is. 40. 31. They could not rise upwards of themselves in their souls, more than in their bodies; but the Spirits, who is described here under the well-known emblem of the wings of the eagle, would bear them aloft to his holy habitation. It is his office to do this. When Ezekiel was lifted up, it was by the spirit; and, by the spirit, was Philip carried through the air from the Eunuch to Azotus: And what he did for their bodies, he doth for all his people's souls. He beareth them on high. From this sinful and perishing world he lifts them up to heaven, and never fails to bless them all the way thither. In this consists the bealth of the soul; and it is remarkable, that the word הקלה, which signifies medicine, or actual bealing, or bealth procured by medicine, is derived from the same root. Man's nature, in falling from God, became sick and diseased both in body and The Holy Spirit works this healing in the soul, purges out its corrupt and sinful affections, and establishes it finally in the perfection of life. There is neither health, nor increase of health, without him. What a blow doth this truth give to all the pride, and power, and presumption of man! It slavs unrighteousness and self-righteousness at once. shows that there is no life, nor health, nor strength, nor activity, nor will, nor any other principle of grace and truth, in any creature, but by his immediate inspiration and "continual help." When the soul is brought to an experimental acquaintance with this doctrine (and all God's people, more or less, do experience it,) there is an end of all strife in the conscience, respecting free-will, free-agency, inherent power, and those other absurd opinions, which the foolish and ignorant pride of fallen man hath prepared (like so many empty bladders upon the sea) to swim by into eternity. The believer sees, that though, like blown bladders they seem large and round, and full; they are only empty fancies, or doctrines swelled out of measure with air. They are winds of doctrine, and doctrines of wind. They have neither life, nor truth, nor power: And this is evident in those who espouse them. They, for the most part, are strenuous contenders for these matters; but do nothing but talk in honor of them. The established church is become heterodox, in the opinion of thougands of its members, and it would be happy if it were not so in the esteem of many of its ministers too; especially where she declares, that "the condition of man, after the fall of

"Adam, is such, that be cannot turn and prepare bimself by his own natural strength and good works to faith, and calling upon God: Wherefore we bave no power to do good works, pleasant and acceptable to God, without the grace of God by Christ preventing us, that we may have a good will, and working with us when (dum while) we have that good will." Art. x. Alas! how many subscribe to this sound formulary e contra, instead of ex animo, and have the effrontery to justify it too! what a wretched salvo do they also make, who divide the articles into two contrary senses, and cause them to appear, deceitful and monstrous like the devil, with a cloven foot; who set the church at variance with itself, and force it to blow hot and cold, to vent error and truth, in the same breath!—Pudet bac opprobria nobis.

By this Highest of all the spirits of the just are finally made perfect. They are fitted for their mansions, and their mansions for them, by his agency. What these mansions are we know not, and in this state of sense we cannot know; because they are spiritual receptacles for the residence of saved spirits to the judgment day; and we do not understand the nature of a spiritual existence. But, hereafter, we shall know, even as also we are known. In the mean time, however, we may be sure, that, as nothing defiled can enter into heaven, our spirits shall be purified by that Spirit of Burning, through whom our forerunner and sacrifice offered up himself without spot unto God, and in whom we shall be unblameable and unreproveable in his sight. Thus the Most High raiseth his his people, from death to life, from sin to grace, from grace to glory, and then from glory to glory, world without end. What manner of love is this! Can sinuers know! Can angels tell!

Angels cannot tell the manner; but recovered sinners know the love. They have tasted that the Lord is gracious; and they know that taste, though they cannot fully explain it. And this thou canst testify, O believer, for thyself, and for others. Thine bands bave kandled of the world of life: Thy spiritual sense has been exercised with its perception: Thou hast been led to communion with the highest, by the fellowship of the Spirit Most High. 1 John i. 1-3. This hath taught thee to make a right estimate of thyself, and of all sublunary things; so that thou art no longer a slave to the opinions and customs of the world, which exalts low and trifling matters, and turns away from the most momentous and important concerns-from concerns, which with all its madness and folly, it will allow to be important and momentous. The acquisition of temporal things, what is it, after all, but an argument of poverty and want? Men court honors, titles, dignities: And what are these? - The empty ad-

miration of the croud! And then, what becomes of that admiration, when the croud is no more?\* All these things, as they begin, do quickly end in a sound. But the possession of grace is not only happiness, so far as it is used, but the pledge of an enduring substance, of joys unspeakable and full of glory. In thy right frame, fellow-christian, thou hast set this present world in view of the world to come, and compared them well together. The balance of the account is, millions against nothing, in favour of eternity. Hence, thou canst account it to be but a poor business to be wise, and rich and reputable, only for a season and in man's deceived esteem; and, then, to be found foolish, and poor, and base, throughout the never-ending ages. An heathen could justly say, respecting this world; "he most enjoys riches, who wants them least:"† But this cannot be said of the world to come; for the riches of eternity are indispensable, and the soul must be miserable in the extreme, which doth not possess them, He, who doth not obtain the inheritance of the Most High, must be thrust down to the lowest hell. Thus thine estimate is formed, according to the extent and perpetuity of the object, and not according to the world's advertisement, which is ever fallacious. Even the pledge of thy future portion is not to be exchanged for all, that the world contains; and much less for what any one poor worm can possess upon it. And if this pledge cannot be bartered without loss; where is the gain, if, for any thing or for all things, a man throw away the eternal felicity of his soul?

How often doth thy beart, O believer, burn within thee upon the prospect of the glory, which shall soon be revealed! The Spirit Most High will cause thee to ascend both to the boliest and to the highest of all; and even now often bears thee up, above the world and all dying things, in the contemplation of these transcendent blessings. When thy frame is quick and lively, much with God, or much employed for him; what a man out of the world dost thou feel thyself? Thou seemest to be living in another element, upon a different bottom, and upon a higher principle, at such moments, than animal nature can know, or animal sense inspire. Thy enjoyment is pure and exalted, like the complacency of heaven. Then all thy heavenly graces flow. "Faith says, all these wonders belong to believers; hope cries, they then are preserved for me; and love adds, I run to enjoy them." Then."

<sup>\*</sup> Acquisitio hujus saculi, quid, nisi inopia et paupertatis argumentum? Affectamus etiam honores, titulos, dignitates: hac quid? nisi vana admiratio vulgi: et qualis ista, si desit vulgus? Morn. de ver. relechr. c. 18.

<sup>†</sup> Is maxime divitiis fruitur, qui minime divitiis indiget. Seneca. Ep. 14, ‡ Bernard. in Ps. xc.

Blessed be God! Thou shalt enjoy them. God never gave a gracious desire, but to fulfill it with grace, and to crown it with glory. He is faithful, who hath promised: And heaven and earth shall sooner pass away, than one tittle of his word can fail. Thou hast an unchangeable God, whose gifts and callings are without repentance, who never gave grace to be lost, and never quickened for heaven, to furnish for hell. What consolation, what strong consolation arises from this glorious immutability of thy Covenant-Lord! Sensible of thy own weakness and blindness, this is the very elenchus, the force, the life, and the marrow, of the gospel to thee. Take away this; and O what a gloom! What a melancholy horror appears! All is dark, because all is doubtful. All would be distressing, if the success of any part depended upon thee. The sense of thy incapacity, the power of thine enemies, and the very weight of glory itself, would sink thee down to dispair. Thou hast an argument for the Spirit's divinity, which the careless and the carnal professor cannot know, and feelest in thy soul (not merely fanciest in thy head) that nothing but the invincible strength of the Most High is able to quell such a wide combination of evil, and to preserve, amidst all, to the full introduction and establishment of eternal good. Nothing revives thee more, than the demonstration afforded by his word without thee, and his grace within thee, that this invincible and immutable God is engaged to bless, keep, and multiply his mercies upon thee without alteration, without remission, and without end. O how delightful is it to be assured, agreeable to those excellent lines of Dr. WATTS, that

The sacred word of grace is strong,
As that which built the skies:
The voice, which rolls the stars along,
Spake all the promises.
Engrav'd, as in eternal brass,
The mighty promise shines;
Nor can the pow'rs of darkness raze
Those everlasting lines.

"I may be faint and weary (says the believer,) but my God cannot. I may alter and fluctuate, as to my frames; but my Redeemer is unchangeably the same. I might utterly fail and come to nothing, if left to myself; but I cannot be left to myself, for the Spirit of truth hath said, I will never leave thee, nor forsake thee. He will renew my strength, either by changing my weakness into strength, or by enduing me with his own power. He is wise to foresee and to provide for all my dangers: He is rich to relieve and to succour me in all my wants: He is gracious to hear and answer all my pray-

ers; He is omnipotent to deliver and defend me from all my enemies: He is faithful to perfect and perform all his own promises: 'He is eternal and immortal to bless my poor depending soul, with eternal blessedness and immortality. what a great and glorious Saviour for such a mean and worthless sinner! O what a bountiful and graciously indulgent friend for such a base and insignificant rebel! What, what am I, when I compare myself and all I am of myself, with what I can conceive of my God, and of what He hath kindly promised even to me! What a mystery am I, to myself, to angels, to men! A worm of earth to be like a star of heaven; a corruptible sinner to be an incorruptible saint; a relel to be made a child; an outlaw to become an heir; a deserver of hell to be an inheritor of heaven; a strong hold of the devil to be changed into a temple of God; an enemy and a beggar to be exalted to a throne, to be in friendship with God, one with Christ, a possessor of his Spirit, and of all this honour, happiness, and glory, for evermore; and all without any right to any one thing on my part, but the miseries of the lowest hell! O what manner, and what matter, of love is this! Lord, take my heart, my soul, my all! I can render thee no more: and I would render thee no less. 'Tis indeed a poor return. My body and soul are but two mites; and yet (glory be to thee!) Thou who didst esteem those of the poor widow, wilt not despise these of mine. Lord, they are thine own too: And I can only give thee what is thine! I melt with gratitude; and even this gratitude is thy gift. O take it, and accept both it and me; blessing me in thyself, which is all my salvation and all my desire, for ever and ever!"

May this be the language of thy heart, reader, with increasing fervor, till thou art translated from this sickening, dying scene, to the life immortal, to the joys ineffable, and, above all, to the King eternal, who having loved his own, with an everlasting love, will love them to the end on earth,

and world without end in heaven!

## HOLY SPIRIT,

中: ※: 图: ※: 四

0 R,

## SPIRIT OF HOLINESS.

THAT Godis a Spirit, is agreed on by every one who believs I there is a God at all. Even those, who have maintained the grossest opinions of his nature, have allowed that he must at least be that Anima Mundi, the Soulor Spirit of the universe, which pervades the whole material system, and unites, invigorates, and moves all corpuscular being. What Spinoza and the whole tribe of atheists term nature, is, when they explain themselves, visible substance enlivened and energized by an invisible one, which they allow is too subtle for sense, and therefore is called by the name of Spirit. The heathens were full as knowing as our modern philosophers about this sublime subject; and the most ignorant are just as wise as both of them, without a light superior to reason. The memorable words of Virgil (however he obtained the idea) are as expressive as any heathens of later times, and, because fewer, much less impertinent. He says of the whole creation, that

Spiritus intus alit; totamque infusa per artus Mens agitat molem, et magno se corpore miscet.\* En. vi. 726.

Here mind and spirit are synonimous, which he represents as pervading and actuating all things: And in another place, he calls this agent God.+

\* See Macrobius's comment upon these words, in Somn. Scip. lib. 1. c. 14. where he collects the sentiments of the antient philoso-

phers on this matter.

† Terras, Tractusque Maris, Calumque profundum Georg. iv. 221.

As we can know nothing by ourselves but through the medium of sense, which likewise can perceive nothing but what has relation to matter; we have no real comprehension of pure abstracted Spirit, further than we can conceive any substance or being to be void of matter. We therefore understand rather what it is not, than what it is. But if we could form a notion of what it is, we must yet be more puzzled about the modus existendi, or bow it is, than we are already upon the existence of material objects. Our senses discern these, as to their being and reality; and yet neither our senses nor intellect can investigate their mode and composition. Thus ignorant is man concerning the plainest subjects before his eyes; and with the wisest of the heathens, he may truly in this strictness of consideration, confess, that be knows nothing. The philosopher was wise enough to know that: some later heathens have thought, on the contrary; that they could soar much higher; and some have aimed so high as even to define God himself, not considering that he is necessarily indefinable. Socrates owned his ignorance; but these men prove their's; for, while they tell us God is an infinite being, they limit him by their conceptions and out of their own heads, expressly lay down, what he is, and how he is; nay, what and how he must be. O the folly of man, whose whole being is but an atom, and his life a moment, and who yet pretends to comprehend incomprehensibility itself, and to set bounds to the Most High! Whereas God cannot be defined; because to define is to limit; and to limit infinitude is an absurdity. Names are ascribed to him indeed, and attributes, not as they fully express his nature, which is inexpressible, but as they convey some faint notices of his exalted perfections, sufficient to preserve the mind from vain imaginations or gross conceptions of his being. The word or revelation of God turns upon a very different

The word or revelation of God turns upon a very different principal. It lays down as a fixed and absolute truth, that man knows nothing of God, nothing of Spiritual being, and (what is more humbling yet) nothing of himself, without God's instruction. Upon this ground, among others, we apprehend the necessity of a divine revelation, and can perceive, that if our notions of God, of the universe, and of ourselves, are not taken from this his own communication; they at best must be uncertain, and are most probably false. To say, that God hath given us reason to discern the true from the erroneous, and that all our ideas must be squared by that rule, is only saying at the most, that we have obtained a capacity to receive ideas upon the subject, not to originate them, and a power to reject what our intellectual sense does not approve or delight in. But if, upon proof, this capacity of ours, this boasted reason, be a mutilated energy and a perverted prin-

ciple; it can be trusted no farther, than itself is squared by some more perfect rule; for, otherwise, in the disquisition of things, and especially of those which transcend all animal sensation, it can afford us no certain and infallible conclusions; and if not such conclusions, then only can it lead us into inextricable doubt. Of this we have a demonstrable proof in the endless variety of opinions, which men form upon all subjects; yet they will all profess, that their respective notions are founded in reason. This proves the error of that boasted faculty, and the impossibility of its being a rule, especially in things which are above human nature, or which relate to the divine. Reason here becomes irrational, if it presume to steer without chart or compass, and even condemns its own advocates in rejecting HIM and his declarations, who, as the great author of reason, cannot be supposed to act without it.\* We may not see the whole of his reason, because our participation of it would be finite, if it were not corrupt; but we may be assured, that it must be right, and infinitely right, because God is infinite, and can utter no wrong.

In condescension to our capacities, God hath revealed himself under names and notices, which may best strike our senses, the channel of all our reasonings, and the medium by which we know. He calls himself by the word Spirit, which refers to air or breath, or that subtle fluid, by the respiration of which all things live; because it is a substance of the most subtle and refined exility or nature, which our sense can discern. Analogous to this air or breath in the animal life is the ALMIGHTY SPIRIT, by which all spiritual beings exist and proceed. What the air in motion, is to the material world; that (as we learn from his own revelation) is the divine Spirit to the whole spiritual world. We can ascend no higher than this notion of his existence, and

<sup>\*</sup> Lord Bacon excellently says; Prærogativa Dei totum hominem complectitur: nec minus ad rationem quam ad voluntatem humanam extenditur. Quare, sicut legi divinæ obedire tenemur, licet reluctetur voluntas; ita et verbo Dei fidem habere, licet reluctetur ratio. Etenim si ea duntaxat credamus quæ sunt rationi nostræ consentanea, rebus adsentimur, non auctori: quod etiam suspectæ fidei testibus præstare solemus. Quanto igitur mysterium aliquod divinum fuerit magis absonum et incredible, tanto plus in credendo exhibetur honoris Deo, et fit victoria fidei nobilior.—Quin etiam, si attente rem perpendamus, dignius quiddam est credere quam scire, qualiter scimus. In scientia enim mens humana patitur a sensu, qui a rebus materiatis resilit: in fide autem anima patitur ab anima, quæ est agens nobilius. De Augm. Scient. lib. ix. De his plura apud Witsium in Exercit. de usu et abusu rationis. §. 23. &c.

the communication of it. Our senses are confined to matter, and, at present, prevent us. Only when we are disembodied can we know even as we are known. This will be truly seeing the face of God, and enjoying his presence. We shall have another manner of being, and, of course, a different compreheusion of all things. In this world it is not necessary for us to know more than God hath been pleased to reveal: And, upon the ground of his revelation, we cannot be mistaken, because he cannot deceive.

God, then, is a Spirit; and, consequently, the three hypostases or persons, in which He exists, must be, distinctly, and conjunctly, Spirit too. God, otherwise, would not be that pure and uncompounded being, which he hath revealed himself to be. He is pure Spirit, because pure act. Each person in the divine nature, being essential in it, must likewise be this pure Spirit, or pure act: "Without quality" good, great without quantity, everlasting without time, present every where without place, containing all things without extent.\*

The Deity is revealed under the name of Spirit, in order to declare, that all existences, both corporeal and incorporeal, derive their spirit, or life and being, from him. He is spirit in the fountain: The creatures are only so as streams proceeding from him. The will and power of the Godhead gave them their entity. Hence Aratus the heathen poet, quoted by St. Paul, could justly sing of himself and others, We are bis

offspring.

But though Father, Son, and Holy Ghost, are one God and Spirit, as to the immateriality and transcendent sublimity of the divine nature; yet one of the three persons is aconomically and emphatically distinguished by the names of Holy Spirit, Spirit of Jebovab, Spirit of Alebim, and the Spirit; because it is his office, in the covenant of grace, to put that spirit and life into his fallen people, which they lost in their progenitor by sin. They become spiritual by his agency. Not that the Father and Son do not concur in it, for the energy of the Godhead ad extra is one; but it is the Holy Spirit's express appointment to carry on that energy to effect salvation. He works in unity with the Father; and therefore he is called the Spirit of the Father, Eph. iii. 16. He works likewise in unity with the Son; and therefore he is styled the Spirit of the Son, Gal. iv. 6. And he works of bimself, in perfect conjunction with the Father and the Son. Thus he divideth his gifts as be will, I Cor. xii. II. and is therefore by himself a sovereign agent; and yet the communion of

<sup>\*</sup> Bishop Hall, Decad. iv. epist. 7. Mornæus De Verit. Rel. xi. c. 4.

believers, who are bis workmansbip, is with the Father, I John I, 3. with the Son, I Cor. I. 9. and with the Spirit, Phil. ii. I. because they are one undivided essence. And as spirit is only another name for active energy (and in this sense our Lord calls his words Spirit and life) the third person in the trinity is peculiarly styled the Spirit, because the impulse of the Godhead is exerted by him. The dry bones (Ezek. xxxvii. I4.) or the dead sinners of Israel, (as all God's people are) lived by the Spirit: And thus God is said to have created all things by the Spirit. Throughout the Scripture, the Spirit is declared to be the acting agent of natural and spiritual life.

From hence we may perceive, with what suitableness to his office and our understandings, the third person in the Godhead is called THE SPIRIT: We will now enquire, wherefore he is called the HOLY SPIRIT, or SPIRIT of HOLINESS,

and upon that ground treat of his divinity.

Holiness, according to God's revelation, by which alone we know any thing of the matter, means a perfect separation from all sin and evil. Holiness in effect is this; and consequently holiness in its cause must certainly be so. It is, therefore, an essential attribute of the Most High. Nothing created can claim this as an attribute to itself; for be it ever so holy, it is not so ex se, from itself, but from its cause. That is not, cannot be, essential holiness, which is derived. Holiness in essence must be God himself, who exists from himself, and communicates the rays of his perfections to his creatures. All the holiness of all the creatures therefore is from God. He always laid claim to this attribute among his people; and, that they might remember it the more constantly, he commanded it to be worn upon the forehead of his high priest. Exod. xxviii. 36. For this end he is represented as sittling upon the throne of his boliness,, Ps. xlvii. 8. intimating, that there is no authority or power to effect holiness but in him. And so essential is this attribute in God, that he is revealed to have sworn by his boliness, i. e. to have sworn by HIMSELF, because be can swear by no greater, and consequently by no other. His holiness and his nature are one and the same. God is his attributes; and his attributes ARE himself. We cannot look on the divine blaze of glory at one view; and therefore the rays of it are selected and distinguished by the medium of revelation, which like a glass darkened, suits itself rather to the weakness of our sight than to the fulness of the object. God not only lives, but is life; not only knows, but is understanding; not only bath power, but is power; not only is boly, but is boliness itself.

The spring, then, of all holiness, or holiness in essence, is Ged: And to him alone, therefore, can we address the words

of that pathetic hymn, composed by Athenogenes the martyr\* (used in the primitive church, and retained in the communion service of the church of England) "Thou only art holy, thou only art the Lord." The universal chorus in heaven choes the sound, and fills the realms of bliss with the adoring theme—Thou only art holy, Lord God Almighty; thou King of saints! Rev. xv. 3, 4.

If then true holiness be God, and God be holiness itself; what can the spirit of boliness be? Can that be less than boliness, wich is the very essence and spirit of it? Can he therefore be less than God, who claims, who possesses, and who is

distinguished by, his most essential attributes?

But the Spirit of God is called the Holy Spirit, because he is God himself. He claims the epithet boly, both from his nature and his office. If he were not boly in his nature, or rather holiness itself, he could not perform that office in the covenant of grace, which begins, is carried on, and is completed, in the exercise and communion of holiness to the redeemed. He could not impart, what is not his own. No stream of holiness could proceed from him, were he not the fountain of it.

He is not (as the Arians dream) an inferior or created God, or the creature of a creature, made by the Son, who himself was made of the Father; because he could not, in that case, be THE Spirit of God, but only A Spirit FROM God Nay, by their account, he could not be so much: He could only be the spirit of a creature, who is (according to them) the Son. And so, in this strange notion, we have the representation of a creature, who is himself the creator of another creature, which other creature quickens or gives life to his own creator (for Christ was quickened by the Spirit, I Pet. iii. 8.) and becomes the power, by which this last creator performs his work of mediation. This is at once absurdity, polytheism, and idolatry. Deism itself doth not furnish so wretched, contradictory, and disgraceful an opinion of the Godhead.

Nor is the Holy Ghost an emanation only, or a ray from the Godhead, as the Socinians, and others have dared to affirm. Can an emanation be the giver of itself? Can this emanation divide various gifts, according to his own knowledge, and severally as He will? If the Spirit be only an emanation from the Son, and the Son another emanation from the Father (as the Arians speak); is not the Spirit, in that case, the emanation of an emanation, and will there not be emanations without end? Can an emanation will any thing, search any thing, explain any thing, abide and depart at his

<sup>\*</sup> S. Basil de Sp. S. apud Cave Hist. Lit. in Nom.

(or rather its) own pleasure?-" But it is an emanation, a virtue, from God." Still more absurd! Can an emanation from God act without God, who himself is a pure act? And, if not without him, is not God the effecting agent? And is not then the emanation or virtue (if it must be so called) God bimself? Or, can God be divided from his own attributes?-This word emanation, applied to God, is indeed a whimsical term, without any real meaning or idea; or, if it hath one, it divides God from himself, or represents, by what can only be used to signify a quality, a conscious independent effective agent. In this view, therefore, it quarrels with the attributes of God, the work of God, and the word of God, and is but a sorry name employed to obscure the personality and divinity of the Holy Ghost. Nor doth it impart an idea, which can square with Scripture or with common sense. For (to mention but one instance among many) if the Holy Ghost be only a quality, the condition of a being and not a being himself; it must be extremely absurd to baptize a person in the name of a thing, which has no existence but per accidens, no essentiality of its own. They, who can justify or make even reason of this (to say nothing of the Bible,) may be very fit apologists for the Romans, who dedicated temples to fear, bope, paleness, and twenty other qualities besides, and at the same time be much safer employed than in venting blasphemy against the HOLY GHOST.

Against these unscriptural dogmas, we will oppose a few scriptural proofs of the personality and divinity of the Holy

Spirit.

That the Holy Ghost is a person, and not an emanation, a virtue, or a something from God which is not God, will appear from the following, among many other, texts of Scripture. He creates and gives life, Job xxxiii. 4. is seen descending in a bodily shape, Luke iii. 22. commands apostles, Acts viii. 29. and xi. 12. lifts up an apostle through the air by his own power, v. 39. sends messengers, Acts x. 19. appoints ministers in the church, Acts xx. 28. calls apostles, Acts xiii. 2. bestows gifts, Heb. ii. 4. speaketh to the churches, Rev. ii. 7. spake by the prophets, Acts xxviii. 15. 2 Pet. i. 21. speaketh expressly, I Tim. iv. 1. renews his people, Titus iii. 5. helpeth infirmities, Rom. viii. 26. maketh intercession, ibid. reveals mysteries, Eph. iii. 5. searcheth all things, I Cor. ii. 10. teacheth all things, John xiv. 26. guideth into all truth, John xvi. 13. beareth witness in earth and heaven, Rom. viii. 16. 1 John v. 6. pronounceth words of blessing, Rev. xiv. 13. testifies of Christ. John xv. 26. glorifies Christ, John xvi. 14. is ANOTHER Comforter, distinct from Christ, John xiv. 16. hath a mind of his own, Rom. viii. 27. hath a will of his own, I Cor. xii. II. hath a power

of his own, Rom. xv. 13. hath worship performed in his name, together with the Pather and Son, Matth. xxviii. 19. hath a temple for his worship, I Cor. vi. 157 abides with his people for ever, John xiv. 16. And, by no people is blasphem-

ed, but upon the peril of damnation, Matth. xii. 31.

Each of these Scriptures, (and much more all together,) is sufficient to demolish that unscriptural and absurd opinion of the Socinians and others, which treats the Holy Spirit of God as an effusion separate from God, consequently as something created by God, and therefore something not of his nature or in it. It was the saying of a good man, that " the devil may pervert Scripture, but he cannot answer it." But the above texts, to which many more might be added, are so positive and direct in proof of the Spirit's personality, that, able as the devil is in sophistry, they seem to defy his wiles upon this point, and are as convincing to faith, as any mathematical demonstrations can possibly be to sense. Two and two making four, does not appear more clear and conclusive, than that the Holy Spirit is a living divine agent, working with consciousness, will and power. If people will not be persuaded by these testimonies from God, neither would they be persuaded, though one rose again from the dead.

That the Holy Ghost is not a creature, nor a little God, nor God inferior to the Father and the Son, but possesses true and perfect divinity equal to and united with the other divine persons, let the Scriptures, and scriptural arguments

only, prove and determine.

His claim to the highest titles and ascriptions of the Deity hath been considered in some other of these Essays; and therefore, in this place, it will be sufficient to prove him to be God from the nature of his work and office, as the Ho-

ly Ghost.

Christ hath declared, that the work of the COMFORTER consisted of two parts; the one was to anoint, to testify of Christ, and to glorify him in his work of mediation; and the other, to teach, to lead, to dwell in, and to abide with his

redeemed for ever.

The anointing of the man Jesus was both his commission and capacity to perform redemption. As a mere man, had he been ever so pure and holy, he could have done nothing, he could have merited nothing, to salvation, but for himself. But as God-man, as a person composed of two natures, divine and kuman; he could accomplish all that was necessary by the one, and suffer all that was due in the other. Being, therefore, in this exalted form; who could commission, who could delegate, who could anoint, the blessed Redeemer for the exercise of his function? Could the creatures? Could the highest angels in heaven? Could he, who was the great Grea-

tor febovab in our nature receive any thing of design, instruction, authority or power, from his own works?—But Christ was anointed with the Holy Gbost for his mediatorial office. The Holy Ghost, therefore, must be equal with God, and consequently God himself; or he added nothing to the Redeemer, and was therefore of no use; which to assert, is blasphemy against the wisdom of God. Christ was baptized with water and the Holy Spirit and declared or anointed by him, at the same time, by the voice of the Father to be the Son of God with power and authority, that he might be receiv-

ed and acknowledged for the great Redeemer.

The Holy Spirit was to testify of Christ. In so important a matter, for which Christ was to suffer, and concerning which his people were to be saved, it became necessary for him and them, that there should appear the highest evidence and testimony. And the highest hath been given to both. God hath borne witness and testified of his Son; I John v. 9. and hath also borne witness and testified of him to his people. Heb. ii. 4. But we shall find, that, it was the Holy Ghost, who testified of Jesus, John xv. 26. And that it is the same Holy Ghost, who is a witness to the redeemed. Heb. x. 15. A human testimony might deceive, and, if it did not deceive, must soon fail; but God hath appointed a witness for Jesus in the people, which continues from gene-

The Holy Spirit was to glorify Christ. But neither earth nor heaven could add glory to the Lord of life and glory. He could only be glorified with his own nature: And therefore he says to the Father, glorify me with thine own self. But the Holy Spirit, being the Spirit of glory, could glorify the Redeemer with the glory which he had before the world was, and with a glory among his people, which should remain

ration to generation and can never decay.

throughout all ages.

The Holy Ghost was also to teach the redeemed, and to guide them into all truth. And who teacheth like him? Men may apply words to the ear; but God alone can fix instruction upon the heart. He only, who is truth itself, can give the demonstration and power of it to the soul. The senses may have a certainty with respect to mathematical quantity and the proportion of matter; but who can afford the Spirit of man an elenchus concerning spiritual and invisible things, but He, who is the Father of spirits, and who can clothe all words and ideas with conviction and efficacy! It is Jehovah Alebim, who teacheth to profit, and leadeth his people by the way they should go. Is. xlviii. 17.

The Holy Ghost was also to dwell in and abide with his people for ever. Christ, when he departed to his Glory, sent the Comforter for this very purpose, as a proof of the

completion of his own mediatorial office.—But we read in the Psalms, that, when be ascended on high, and led captivity captive, it was expressly for this end, that JAH ALEHIM might dwell among his people, and be unto them that sheebinah, which implies every idea of God's gracious comfort and presence. Ps. Ixviii. 18. The Holy Ghost, therefore, is febovah Alehim, or (as it is rendered) the LORD GOD. Again. God hath said, I will dwell in them and walk in them. 2 Corvi. 16. But it is the Holy Spirit which Christ promises shall dwell with them, and be in them. John xiv. 17. The Holy

Spirit, consequently, is God.

That the Holy Ghost, though personally and economically distinguished from the Father and the Son, is essentially conjoined with the other divine persons, as to the unity of of the Godhead; will appear from a variety of Scriptures, some of which have been already considered in the former Essays. His peculiar office, which is to enlighten and comfort the redeemed, proves it also most fully and directly. By him they have a communication and communion with the Godhead. They have access unto this grace indeed through Christ, and in virtue of his redemption: Rom. v. 2. But it is by one Spirit, who worketh all in the children of God, that through Christ they thus approach the Father. Eph. ii. 18. By Christ they receive the title, by the Holy Spirit they obtain the enjoyment, of their inheritance. And, therefore, when communion with God is described in the Scriptures, it is usually in the names of the three divine persons, by whose love, mercy and power, distinctly and severally, the faithful are brought into the participation of it. Thus their fellowship is with the Father and the Son, I John i. 3. with the Son particularly, 1 Cor. i. 9. with the Spirit expressly, Phil. ii. 1. and the three persons together, 2 Cor. xiii. 14. It follows, then, that as there is but one God, this God exists in three persons, who, because of their perfect equality and union, are sometimes mentioned together, to express the unity, and sometimes apart to explain their offices, but always in reference to their glory and divinity, or in reference to man's particular dependence upon them, according to their peculiar characters in the covenant of grace. And, in order to shew more particularly the entire union and equality of the divine persons, there is sometimes mentioned an interchanging of office among them; which proves, that all and every part of salvation is the joint effect of one will, one power, one grace, in the Deity. Sanctification, for instance, whether it be considered in its strict sense of separation, or in the sense of consecration, or of the communication of boliness, is the proper work of the Spirit: But the Spirit is not divided from the Father and Son in this gracious office; for we find, that God the Father sanctifieth, Jude 1. and that the Son sanctifieth, Heb. xiii. 12. The apostle Peter marks bow this is accomplished, in a very particular manner. Believers are electified is one part of sanctifying according to the foreknowlege of God the Father, through sanctification of the Spirit unto obedience [this is another,] and sprinkling of the blood of Jesus [this is a third] I Pet. i. 2. Who doth not see an entire union and communion of the divine persons in this passage? Who hath credulity enough to suppose, that any of these important offices can possibly be performed by creatures? These all relate to works of eternal salvation, and can be accomplished by no finite being; for God hath said, with a most remarkable emphasis; I, even I, am Jehovah, and beside me there is no Saviour. Is. xliii. II.

Happy the man, who, to all this testimony from the word of God, can add that of his own experience! He knows WHOM be bath believed. The confidence and hopes of his soul are not placed upon an Unknown God, nor upon a speculative and uncertain foundation. He that believeth, bath the witness in HIMSELF, says the apostle: And Christ hath declared, that if any man will do the will of God, HE SHALL KNOW of the doctrine, whether it be of God. To the authority of the word, God adds the evidence of his Spirit in the believing soul. By this Spirit, he first believes; and, by the same Spirit, he knows that he believes. As an animal is perceived to live, by that inspiration of air which is called breathing; so a Christian is understood to enjoy the Spirit of life, by the spiritual breathings of prayer and praise. We know that we have passed from death unto life, by the effects of that life. A man cannot live, and perform the functions of life, without a consciousness of life; nor move, without some sense of motion; nor see, without the perception of sight. 'Tis true; like an infant, he may not exercise these faculties with advantage or comfort at first; but he doth not always remain in this state, and, while he doth, he cannot long secrete some evidences of his spiritual life from others. He is born of the Spirit; and being born of HIM, who is all life, all energy, he will not, he cannot, remain in the sluggishness and death of the flesh. He hath a new Spirit put into his old frame; and he must and will walk in newness of life. There is no unnatural constraint in the case (as some have dreamed, who know not the Scriptures nor the power of God;) but this new Spirit and new life bring with them their own proper acts and faculties, and, among the rest, a new will, new affections, new hopes, new fears, new joys, a new understanding; so that the man is become the new creature of a new creation. Constraint implies resistance; but the believer's new nature doth

Vol. II.

not resist, but thinks with the Spirit and wills with the Spirit, and therefore is not constrained. The eye must see, and the sense must feel; but there is no violence upon either faculty in the case, for it is its nature and delight. It is much the same with the real believer. He is not forced to love and serve God; and yet he cannot but love and serve him. It is his desire and delight; and without this engagement he has no more complacency, than the eye can have without its sight, or any other faculty without the use of its peculiar discernment. This wonderful work is altogether the agency of God's free Spirit. It is his honor and his office: And it is called by various names in Scripture, which bear reference to our outward senses, that we may perceive the more clearly what a work and what a change it is. Sometimes it is called, a removal from darkness to light; and this applies to the difference in the understanding between the former state and the present: Sometimes, an exchange of bondage for liberty; and this affects the will, and its thraldom to sin and corruption: Sometimes a translation from the power of Satan into the kingdom of God; and this relates to the exercise of our powers and service: Sometimes, the alteration of condition from being children of wrath to being children of grace; and this applies to the enjoyment of this life and the bappiness resulting from it: And sometimes, a passing from death unto life; and this, including all the rest, refers to the absolute change which is made within the soul in the act of conversion to God. This operation hath been, and ever will be, an incomprehensible business to those, who have not known it in themselves. Like Nicodemus and other masters in Israel, they will reason & re-reason, till they puzzle and perplex themselves by darkening counsel by words without knowledge; &, when they cannot make out the matter, will give the strongest proof of all that they do know nothing of it, by fretting, and raving, and calling hard names, and saying, in short, that there is no such thing. Thus will they strive to content themselves by sporting with their own deceivings: And, if they can find out some melancholy examples of hypocrites and pretenders (as, God knows, they may soon find too many) they will quote these, as so many proofs upon fact for the truth of their opinion; and so, where they do not reason, they will not fail to abuse. Yet reason itself might teach them, that from the abuse to the use of a principle no consequence holds: And the Scripture does teach them, that a man must be born from above ere he can ascend thither; and that this is one part of that work concerning which God says, I work a work in your days, a work which you shall in no wisc believe, though a man declare it unto you. Acls xiii. 41.

Blessed be God, the truths of his grace do not at all depend upon the feeble and fluctuating opinions of fallible men. Though we are all Popes by nature, and every man is prone to claim to himself an infallible chair, to the decisions of which if others oppose themselves he is ready to thunder out angry bulls and bitter words; yet the Spirit of God pulls this papal spirit down within his children, and teaches them not to domineer, but to sit meekly at the Master's feet, or to walk humbly in the sense of their own weakness and depend-

ence upon him. All this work of grace in the soul is, to the believer, an internal proof of the Holy Spirit's divinity, who is the agent. 'Tis no proof indeed to the world at large, nor is it offered as such; being a part of that bidden wisdom, which God ordained before the world unto our glory, and a portion of that bidden manna, which the world knows nothing of. It is that white stone, and new name written on it, which no man knoweth, saving be that receiveth it. The Holy Ghost is a witness for himself in the spirits of his people; and his people rejoice in his testimony. As they know by sense, that the sun shines at mid-day, and are assured of it by its own illumination; so they know by the grace of faith (which seeth bim that is invisible,) that the Spirit of God is in them of a truth, and are convinced of it by his own light and demonstration. The world, on the other hand, laugh at what they know not, with just as much wisdom as a simple clown, who should jeer at the earth's motion and other astronomical truths, merely because he cannot conceive them. Nor let the world call this conceit or pride in the Christian; because he will own, that he must have remained in the same blindness of heart with them, but for the free and unmerited mercy of his God. Unto him, it was given to believe: Of bimself (with the apostle) be knows nothing. "Sceptics may wrangle (says an ingenious author) and mockers may blaspheme; but the pious man knows by evidence too sublime for their comprehension, that his affections are not misplaced and that his hopes shall not be disappointed; by evidence, which to every sound mind, is fully satisfactory; but which to the humble and tender-hearted, is altogether everlasting, irresistable, and divine." Beat-TIE on truth. Part 1. c. ii. 5 5. See also, to the same effect, Stillingfleet's Origines Sacra. Book ii. c. 9.

The Spirit proves himself to be God, by the spiritual wonders which he hath wrought: and he takes upon him the name of the Spirit of Holiness, both because he is the essence of it, and because he wonderfully condescends to impart it to sinners among men. As without boliness no man shall see the Lord; so, without the Lord, no man shall enjoy holiness. It is a principle which cannot arise from so foul a soil as a

sinful soul. It is life eternal both in substance and consequence; and surely this must be a life, which no weak and wicked wretch, as man is by nature, can either create or claim. He has no title to it, but from God'sbounty; no power to exercise it, but by God's strength; no confidence of its perpetuity, but through that faithfulness and mercy which endure for ever.

The Lord the Spirit bestows holiness upon his people, as the means of their happiness, nay, as their happiness itself. They fly not from sin, merely lest they should be damned for it (though it is as certain as God is true, that they who live and die in sin, whoever they be, shall be damned;) but they avoid it, as the path of misery itself, in which they are sure never to find that presence which is better than life, nor that communion of the Spirit which is one main-spring of all their joys. Some there are (and O that it were not too undeniable a truth!) who talk of keeping up this communion and enjoying this presence, even where Satan's seat is, and among the lying vanities and amusements of the world. The condemnation of such men is just, Rom. iii. 8. To do evil that good may come, to mix with sin to enjoy holiness, and to confederate with the devil to serve God; are some of those horrible problems, which make real Christians tremble, excite wonder in heaven at the divine patience, and raise a malignant smile in hell over the amazing impudence and apostacy of man. Such unhappy souls (for they never knew the bappiness of the Spirit of Holiness) have neither part nor lot in the matter; but, like Simon Magus, the founder of such like heresies, are in the gall of bitterness, and in the bond of iniquity. They may talk of the gospel, but do not enjoy it; they may criticize upon doctrines, but do not know their power; and they may split hairs perhaps upon theological theses, but be all the while within a hair's breadth of hell-The SPIRIT of HOLINESS will not be blasphemed, but at their cost, by those who profess to know him, while in works they deny bim, being abominable, and disobedient, and unto every good work reprobate, Tit. i. 16.—This is plain lauguage; but the times require it. The real Christian will not be offended at the truth, for he loves to be sincerely dealt with: And as to hypocritical pretenders, they ought to be offended, that either they may be humbled for their sins, or be allowed no title to a profession which they disgrace. For this, we have the example of the primitive church: And it would be happy for the church in all ages and countries, if she could follow it.

And now, O believer, in whom this divine Spirit hath breathed his heavenly life, and whom he hath anointed with his holy unction; what says thy heart to this title of thy

God? Is he not a Spirit indeed to thee, quickening thy soul and renewing thy strength? Is he not the Holy Spirit or Spirit of boliness, willing in thee all holy inclinations, stirring in thee all holy desires, prompting to thee all holy words, effecting in thee all holy works? Hast thou a thought, a wish, an affection, a work, holy in the least degree without him? Thy spirit will witness for him in all this matter-will witness, his kindness, and mercy, and power, and Godhead everlasting. His own word proclaims his divinity; thy heart feels it. If others doubt this glorious truth, thou canst not, Thou art taught by himself, as well as by his word, that none but almighty power could have raised thee from the death of trespasses and sins, and none but invincible grace have protected thee when raised. And thou hast seen in manifold instances (and thy memory can furnish both the times and occasions,) how readily he has come in to thine aid; when, but for his aid, thou must have sunk under the various temptations, and fallen into the snare of the devil. He furnishes thy mind with knowledge, not notional or speculative knowledge only, but with such full intelligence of necessary truth, as enables thy spirit to receive it as something belonging to thee, and to relish and enjoy it. He sanclifies thy affections, and prevents their intanglement with things beneath him and below thyself. He gives thee sweet complacency of beart, and many a happy hour, which no eye but bis beholds, and no mind but a Christian's can conceive. How kindly doth he bend down the old man of sin, and conquer those harsh and rugged dispositions, which no created strength could subdue! What meek resignation, what placed contentment, what abstraction from the world and from self, doth it introduce into a heart, which, before, was like an untamed beifer, unaccustomed to the yoke, and which only sought SELF, and Sin for self, in all it thought or did! How powerfully, yet how graciously, doth he sustain thy spirit in every trying hour; and, though he suffer thee to flip, perhaps, that thou mightest remember where thy strength lies; with what increase of fervor and holiness doth he raise thee up again, and with what sense of his unmerited mercy and love!\* O what a debtor, what a daily debtor, art thou to this Holy Spirit's wisdom, power, and grace! 'Tis indeed, a salvation, which thou canst not number; a rich salvation, which all heaven

<sup>\*</sup> Bernard elegantly says of these fruits of the Spirit, that they are Spei quadam seminaria, charitatis incentive, occurre prodestinations indicia, future felicitatis prasagia; "Nourishments of hope, motives of love, discoveries of God's secret predestination, and sure prognostics of everlasting felicity." De Grat. & Lib. Arb. Wits. Irenic. c. xiv. §. 15.

cannot count. Thou wilt be counting it to eternity, and all the while be perceiving, more and more clearly, that thou art and must be an everlasting debtor. 'Tis a blessed debt, and thou wilt for ever be welcome to increase it. O come, let us add something to it even here! We have a bad world indeed; but still grace is to be obtained in it; and we can augment our stock in this valley of Acbor for our heavenly Canaan. Soon, soon shall the hour come, when the shadows shall disappear, when the day of Christ shall dawn, and the full effulgence of the divine glory shall irradiate, and fill, and make unalterably happy, our redeemed souls. Soon shall we see Jesus as be is, and by the love of the Father, and power

of the Spirit, be for ever like unto bim.

Wonderfully saved art thou, O Christian! Wonderfully redeemed from the earth! All things here are full of wonders, when we survey the visible creation as we ought: But how surpassing in wonder, how unutterably amazing, must the redemption of thy soul appear, when thou shalt be able more perfectly to trace it out, as it began in heaven, was carried on upon earth, and completed in glory !-when the wonders of God shall burst forth upon thy ravished soul in those realms of bliss, where mortality is swallowed up of life. There, even there perhaps, in the perfect illumination of spirit and life, without one cloud to obscure, thou mayest justly take up the apostle's words to proclaim the ineffable theme; O the depth of the riches both of the wisdom and knowledge of Gon! how unsearchable are his judgments, and his ways past finding out! Of HIM, and through HIM, and to HIM, are all things: to HIM, be glory for ever. AMEN.

-----

## ETERNAL SPIRIT.

TERNITY!—How short a word for an infinite meaning!—"Tis a name for an existence, of which the creatures can only apprehend the succession of parts, and which its author and cause alone can comprehend, without succession, as a whole. It depends upon the existence of God; and it necessarily exists, because He necessarily exists. As it is

impossible that there should be no being, no place, no duration; so, on the contrary, there must be that Being, by whom and in whom all being, place, and duration subsist. For it is absurd to say, that a non-entity endures, or that the cause of duration doth not endure. And as duration must have been eternal a parte ants, or before the present now; so it must be eternal a parte post, or after any given moment of time. Consequently, the author of duration, in both these

respects, is from everlasting to everlasting also.

This idea is included in the peculiar name of God, Jehovah, which says in its original four letters, what perhaps no four words of any language beside the Hebrew can express, that the ESSENCE necessarily existing IS, and WAS, and IS TO COME, without beginning of days or end of life. He, who can fully conceive this, may likewise fully comprehend the sense of the word eternity, which bears the same relation to God, as time doth to the creatures. But, as no created being can thus dilate itself to infinitude [nulium minus continet in se majus;] so none by searching can find out God, or explore the height and depth, which is unbounded.

Now, though we are unable to fathom what is necessarily unfathomable to us, it is however expedient, that we should know it to be so, and in consequence not presume to launch out into an immense ocean, without chart or compass. Man, in every sense of the term, is placed upon an island, to which there is an appointed shore; and he can see but a very little space beyond it—far enough, however, to know, that there is, beyond his small circle of perception and conception, a wide circumference of time, place, power, and wisdom; which, like circles, including others ad infinitum, grow in immensity and compass, the wider they are extended from him.

As man can go but a very little way towards the knowledge and apprehension of God; it hath pleased the divine goodness to bring into his narrow reach such notices of what lies beyond it, as may serve to fill him with a due understanding of his own minuteness and dependence, to make him humble, teachable, and submissive in those things, which are only to be known by divine communication, though absolutely necessary for his being and well-being.

Much of these notices concerning God and his revealed truths, is to be found in the titles and terms, by which they are conveyed. 'Tis a poor attempt to extend theology, even as a science, by any methods which can be found, out of the language and sense of the Bible. God is to be known only by God: And he has directed to his law and testimony for this knowledge. His word contains all the true divinity, which ever appeared in the world. They are, therefore, to be pi-

tied for their pride and presumption, who talk of the "Improvements which later ages are making in theological knowledge;" which improvements, if they are inquired into, are mean and unsatisfactory compilations of metaphysical, ethical, and philosophic opinions, collected from antient heathers, modern infidels, and other human authorities; having no real connection with God's own revelation, or the fallen state of man, but, in most respects, entirely inconsistent with both. This mode of pursuing religious knowlege has been the occasion of all the heresies and absurdities, which ever appeared in the world, & possibly of most of the infidel & sceptic futilities of the present time. If Origen had not studied Plato, instead of St. Paul; it is probable, that the world had not heard of Arius, nor of the various tribes which have descended from him. Men of easy principles, or who do not trouble themselves to search into the right well, where alone truth leis at the bottom, and from whence only it can be drawn; seeing such flimsy and dry discourses upon subjects, which Ciccro, Seneca, and other heathens, have treated, at least, as rationally as most later authors; are tempted to believe, that Christianity and heathenism are nearly of kin, that their morality is much alike, and that the works of the philosophers are very enlightened commentaries upon the Bible. Others, from such hints, have gone further, and treated the Bible itself as one of those old and obscure books, which are hard to be understood, and not even worth the labor of understanding. From this mode of treating religious subjects in protestant countries, and from the mummery and ridiculous varnish with which they are disfigured in popish; deism has gained its principal ground, and in most companies can now be professed and maintained with an open front. They who know the state of religion in France, easily tell us, that its first ecclesiastics are almost universally deists; and that those who are not lax, at least in religious principles, are smiled upon as bigots or fools. And, with respect to England, it is quite enough to say, that neither oaths nor subscriptions can restrain men from disputing against the established articles, founded as they are upon the armest basis of the Scriptures; nor yet from maintaining, even within the church itself, opinions which the church abhors. Than such Christians, it must be owned, that fair and open deists are at least honester and more laudable men-

As these people neither lead themselves nor others to the knowledge of God, because they either forsake or use not his own revelation; we must beg to leave them, and inquire, what God hath said of, and what He calls himself. His names, communicated to us, are various; because the doctrines, which those names teach us, have a relation to our

various wants, infirmities, and dependences upon him. One name would serve as well as ten thousand; if we had but one relation to, or but one idea of God. For instance; could we, being perfect creatures, as angels, only depend upon him as our great Creator; that name would have been sufficient for us to declare him: But, being sinful creatures, yet creatures to be redeemed, our Creator stood immediately in many relations to us, according to our several conditions of sinfulness, recovery, redemption, and salvation, which it was necessary for us to know, that we might apply to him under those relations and receive every benefit and blessing we need. He hath, therefore, suited himself (as it were) to us in the revelation of his names, that, by the doctrines they contain, we might apprehend or be brought into those relations to him, which those names were intended to signify. And as He hath been pleased to inform us, that He exists in himself as Jebovab, or one everlasting and almighty essence, and as the Alebim, or three persons in that essence, which his word stiles Father, Son, and Spirit; so He hath shewn us, bow this Son became our Redeemer as well as Creator, and bow this Spirit is our Sanctifier, as well as our Maker. These two divine persons in the essence being the declared agents of our salvation; they have taken many titles upon them to shew us, in what sense they are those agents, and how they become the fulfillers of that salvation. By them we are led to communion with the first person, or Father; who is not called first from any priority of person or existence, but only by way of distinction; for we find the Son placed first, and also the Spirit, and the Father last, in the same texts, on purpose to shew (as it seems) that "in this Trinity none is afore or after another, none is greater or less than another, but that the whole three persons are coeternal together, and co-equal." We have considered many of the divine names, with respect to the agency of the divine persons; and the present denomination before us is held out to our minds, that we may hold communion with the person of the Spirit, and receive that comfort which it proposes to our souls; even everlasting consolation, because He is everlasting.

That God is a Spirit, Christ declares; that the SPIRIT is a Spirit, his name signifies; and that he is the ETERNAL Spirit, the word of God expressly proclaims, Heb. ix. 14. If the Holy Spirit, then, be the Eternal; it will follow, that he is true and very God; because God only is properly eternal, and none of the creatures are called by that name. No creature could be so; for there was a time, when, whatever creature could be so;

Vol. II.

ture can be named, was not; and therefore be could not exist from eternity: And, consequently, he cannot be called an eternal being. There is also a place, in which any one creature is not; for a limited nature can only occupy one point of space in the eternity of being about him: And therefore, in this view, he is not eternal; but comprehended by Him, whose Fullness filleth all in all. But the Holy Spirit is the ETERNAL Spirit, who ever existed beyond all points of time, and does exist beyond all bounds of place; and therefore He is the eternal God, who is from everlasting to everlasting with respect to duration, and whom the heaven of heavens cannot contain with regard to his dwelling. He is in all ages present, and in all limits unlimited, and possesses that eternity, which (as Boethius terms it) is at once a whole and perfect possession of an endless or boundless life.\*

This title of Eternal is proper to God; and, therefore, God hath revealed himself by that name, and by others which include or imply it. So Abrabam called on the name Jehovah the everlasting God, Gen. xxi. 33. So the promise was made to Israel, concerning the eternal God and the everlasting arms, Deut. xxxiii. 27. So Jehovah is called in Isaiah, the Alebim of ages, or everlasting God, Is. xl. 28. And so the apostle, who calls the Spirit eternal, uses the same word in another place, as a high and grand title peculiar to Gop alone,

Rom. vi. 26.

And as God only is eternal, in the strict sense of the term, and the cause of eternity; so all eternal things, or things which shall remain to eternity, are ascribed to him as the agent, and derived from him as the source. Thus, his kingdom is an everlasting kingdom; his power, an eternal power; his righteousness, an everlasting righteousness; his glory, an eternal glory. In like manner, what is derived from him, partakes of his duration: And, therefore, his redecmed receive an everlasting consolation, a crown of glory which fadeth not, a life eternal, and do reign with him for ever and ever. In a word, all, that shall endure to eternity, must and doth proceed from Him, who only can possess, in their proper

Thomas Aquinas, in the first part of his Summa Theologia, Quæest. x. Art. i. has discussed this passage of Boethius with his usual metaphysical subtilty; but proves how peorly the intellect of man can conceive, or the pen of man express, what is infinite and unbounded. The French hermit who spent his whole life in pondering (as he said) upon Eternity, might have spent a thousand lives, and then be beginning only to think upon it.—There is a sensible essay upon this topic of Eternity in the Spectator. No. 590. And for a more metaphysical and philosophical disquisition, see Gale's Court of the Contiles. Part iv. p. 276—288.

sense and relation to each other, those glorious titles of, JE-HOVAH ALEHIM THE TRUTH, THE VERY ALEHIM OF LIVES (or of all life,) THE KING OF ETERNITY. Jer. x. 10.

From hence it appears, that scarce any, and perhaps no, word could more positively assert the truth of the Deity, than this one word ETERNAL; and, accordingly, we find it ascribed to no being whatever, but to that bigb and lofty One, who inhabiteth\* eternity. All the multitude of the blest, all the angels of God, are immortal, and, in God, shall participate a future eternity: But not one of them can say, that he existed from all past eternity, since, in that case, he must deny himself to be a creature; because all creation, with respect to the being which created, is a beginning to be. None of these, therefore, ARE eternal: None of these possess eternity in their own nature, or from themselves; but are limited in the quantity and quality of their existence, and are dependent for the continuance of it. Now, then, as the Holy Spirit is expressly styled THE ETERNAL SPIRIT, without any expression of his dependence or derivation, but the contrary; it is a plain and precise declaration, from the word of truth, that He is THE ETERNAL God, who was in Christ reconciling the world of his elect to himself, and through whom Christ offered up himself without spot to God, i. e. the Father.

If, after so positive a testimony, any one can doubt of the divinity of the Holy Spirit, it may be worth while to recur to the xxxii. chapter of Deuteronomy, in which we have a definition of all false gods, with their abomination in the sight of Jebovab. The striking circumstance, laid down in their character, is, that they are new, newly come up, of a late original; strange, of a nature remote from the divine, and different from it. The idolaters, therefore, were cursed for their gods, or the devils who so imposed themselves upon them, and with their gods. This service to these new and finite beings is called, by Isaiah, a rebelling and vexing the Holy Spirit was turned to be their enemy, and fought against them, Is.

\* The word implies not only to occupy or fill by inhabiting, but to rest as in an habitation. To occupy, therefore, eternity as a whole, and to rest in that whole, is a most sublime expression of the power of the divine Majesty. Human authors have attempted this sense in their expressions of his eternity, particularly some of the antient philosophers. Boethius, the Christian philosopher, addresses God very nearly in this idea:

\_\_\_Staiblisque manens das cuncta moveri.

The Rabbins are said to call God ביוחף Place, with the same notion of his resting or standing in all that exists. By this word, they would express his omnipresence; as, by אין [literally, without end] they mean his eternity, or infinitude.

lxiii. 10. But, wherefore? Because they left the service of Him, who is the only true and everlasting God, and turned to idols, who are false and finite, and therefore are termed vanities, emptinesses, nothings. In opposition to all these vanities and errors, febovab speaks so often of his everlasting name, and of the eternal duration of his nature and attributes.\*

In this view, what a blasphemy must it be to ascribe the epithet ETERNAL to any being but the great ONE; to Him, who fills eternity with his presence, and who is himself the very life and spring of eternity? And, on the other hand, how direct a testimony is this ascription to the Holy Ghost, that He is the eternal Jehovah, whose kingdom is an everlasting kingdom, and whose dominion endureth throughout all ages?

Need we more proof of the divinity of this gracious Spirit from the eternity of his nature?—Blessed be God for his word, we have (if required) proof upon proof, as well as line upon line. What think we of the following Scripture?

GAL. vi. 8. He, that soweth to the Spirit, shall, in to Theomalos, of or from the Spirit [i. e. by the Spirit's gift and power] reap life everlasting. From hence it may be argued, that

He, who bestoweth life everlasting, must be the author and

possessor of it:

But eternal life (says the apostle, in Rom. vi. 23.) is the

gift of GoD:

Therefore, the Spirit, from whom it is reaped, or derived, and by whom consequently it is bestowed, is necessarily

To the real Christian, this title of ETERNAL SPIRIT affords a bope full of immortality. He is led to perceive, from the eternity of his nature, that He is capable of performing all the great and glorious operations ascribed to Him in the Scriptures, and that those operations upon this account, are permanent and perpetual. Only because He is the Eternal, could He be a party in the everlasting covenant made before all worlds, of which so frequent mention is made: Only because He is God, could He stipulate to bestow those blessings of grace and of glory, which spring from Jebovah, and are at his sole disposal. His purpose is an eternal purpose, because, both in essence and person, he himself is eternal.

\* There is a grand idea of the superiority of the divine nature to all the descriptions and conceptions of time in those words, which Aloses hath used in the xc. psalm. A thousand years in thy sight are but as yesterday, when it is past, &c. i. e. As the day past, which being now no more, is less to us than the present existing moment; so are a thousand years almost a nothing in the eternity of God.

Hence the believer sees, that this counsel is also immutable, (for nothing can be eternal or perfect, which is subject to mutability ) not exposed to diminution or change, but ordered in all things and sure; that all these things were known to Him from eternity, not because they might exist, but bebecause, in his purpose which could not alter, they must exist; and that He beholds the whole series of things, not as they arise to our view in parts or degrees, but as one great whole, of which He Himself is the one great cause. When a man stands upon a mountain (to use a simile of the schoolmen,) he can see an whole army in march from the beginning to the end at one view; while another, who walks in the valley and is a part of the train, can see but very few, and those only who are close about him. So God (if one may compare immensity by minuteness) views at once all infinitude; and all things revolve in the order, in which he hath placed them, this order, consequently, is immutable and not to be broken.

Hence, likewise, the Christian is led to consider the Omnipresence of the divine Spirit, who only can be so, as Ile is eternal. It has been observed before, that a creature must be confined to place, and must begin with time. But this almighty Spirit, as he is never no-where, so he always exists: He is present with the blest in heaven, and never absent from the redeemed on earth. In every moment of time, he diffuses his everlasting consolation through all the mansions, the innumerable mansions of glory, and sheds his sacred influences upon all, even the meanest, believers in houses of clay. From pole to pole it is but as a point with him who views the various nations of this habitable globe, like a few atoms of dust, As ferom phrases it; "The court of heaven is equally open at once for ferusalem and Britain." There is not a sigh of prayer, nor an emotion of praise, however secret in any of his people's hearts, but what he perfectly knows, because he first imparted it to them. He knows indeed the mind of every spirit; but especially the mind of those, who are the objects of his peculiar care.

From hence, lastly, the believer is privileged to rejoice, that, as his salvation is not the purpose of a day, nor rose upon the spur of some accidental occasion, so it shall endure, like its great and bountiful Author, for evermore. God gives like himself: And his gift is eternal life through Jesus Christ. The Spirit imparts this blessing, through his own divine nature, maintains it amidst all the agitations of an evil heart and an evil world, and secures it, beyond all possibility of decay, throughout his own eternity.—With how much reason, then, may the believer entertain everlasting consolation, and good hope through grace? With how much absurdity, do those persons think or talk of either, who dream of this Holv

Spirit, as a creature, an emanation, a quality, a nothing ?—If He be only a creature; to us, in respect to the eternity of

our salvation, he is but as nothing.

WHAT comfort results from this whole matter to the weak, the troubled or desponding soul! Come, build upon this Rock of ages, and thou shalt never fail, never be moved. Remember, his kingdom is a kingdom of all ages [Ps. clxv. 13. margin,] and his dominion throughout all generations. He hath visited thee in thy generation, and set up a throne within thy heart for his own praise. Now, look to him upon his throne; and seek to ask in prayer nothing but what shall be for thy real welfare, and to offer in praise nothing but what shall be for his own glory: At the same time, pray to leave and give up the whole into his hands. Then, rest assured, upon the faithfulness of his own word and promise, that thy praise shall be accepted, and thy prayer answered, through Christ Jesus .- " But I want comfort; and surely, I should have it, if I belonged to him." O that selfish spirit, which ever rises within us! Thou wantest this thing; thou wantest the other; thou wantest heaven upon earth; all comforts and no troubles: But if it be for God's glory, that thou shouldest want all these things (like those noble believers in Hebr. xi.) throughout thy whole way to heaven; art thou willing that God's purpose should be answered, rather than thine? Speak to thy heart, reader; and bid it tell thee no lie. - canst thou give up all, without reserve, to God's will; and keep back no part from him? - I know, thou art staggered this inquiry, and hast need to make a very long pause-consider well; and pronounce not hastily .- In the mean time, recollect, that to induce this disposition in thy soul, to work this new life within thee, and to break down the strength of the old; is one great end of all the divine visitations within thee, and upon thy affairs. Providence, to a believer, has no end but grace: And when the effects and purposes of grace are accomplished in him and by him, he has no more business in this life. Our unhappiness consists, as Christians, in getting into a multitude of things, for our own ends or with relation to others, without committing our way to the Lord, submitting to his will, or considering his glory. We feel hurt and disappointed, if our wishes are not attained; if men annoy us; if our affairs are entangled; if our persons are slighted; if we fall into sickness, decay, or tribulation. And can all this affliction spring out of the ground? No, indeed: There is a very superior cause; and as merciful (could we view it aright) as it is superior. We are all, by nature, froward childien, and want much weaning. The earth is our mother, and we love her milk: And we often roar aloud, only because we cannot obtain it. But God, having provided some better thing for us, takes us off from undue attachment to what men call their comforts and enjoyments, makes us feel how poor and wretched we are in our ownselves, and at length draws us on progressively to himself. We are then more and more in carnest, that he would not merely bestow temporary, but ever-lasting consolations upon us. If we get indeed into the spirit of the world, let our pretences be what they may; we are sure to lose the sweet presence of God's gracious Spirit, and to go lean and dry in our souls. And this is one great reason of the empty, barren profession of the gospel, which we see in so many sad instances about us at this time. Speak, reader, to thy heart; and ask, if it hath not been so with thee?-Thou hast disputed perhaps for Christ and his gospel, and indeed very sincerely at the bottom, but at the same time with a secret wish to display thy own knowledge or talents, or with the little mean view of conquering an opponent. Thou didst not dispute by Christ, as well as for him; and, therefore, when thou retiredst to thyself, thou hadst no other delight or complacency, but the poor flat satisfaction of having had the hardest head or the most voluble tongue.\* When thou camest to thyself, how glad wouldst thou have been, not to have disputed at all? Christ was not glorified, thy heart not edified, and perhaps some other persons only offended. The martyr was in a much better frame, who said, " I cannot dispute for Christ; but I can die for him."- Thou hast mixed, perhaps, with the great run of the professing world, which, alas! hath its passions like the rest of the world at large. Thou hast heard great outcries about patriotism, and Protestanism, and liberty of conscience, and many other fine sounding names; and hast been persuaded, it may be, to run with a multitude, who have talked much, and loudly too, of all these things, till thou hast been as beated, if not as idle and ripe for folly, as they. But, who opposes the Antichrist in reality ?-He, who hath ceased from man, and depends upon the living God. Who is the true patriot?-He, who prays for his king and country, rather than he, who only prates about them? Who enjoys and promotes liberty of conscience?-The Christian, who possesses God's free Spirit, who hath this noisy foolish world under his feet, who tramples upon the powers of darkness, and whose aim is, that the everlasting gospel may be sent forth to all the world. Out of this frame and temper, the believer is out of his ele-

<sup>\*</sup> If the reader would wish to examine his motives of acting or speaking for God, he may find a touchstone for his heart (and touchstones every sincere believer desires) in a very excellent sermon, preached by the late Rev. Mr. Bostwick, styled Sc.f disclaimed, and Christ exaited.

ment, finds no liberty, and can justly expect none. God's flock is a quiet assembly: Dogs and wolves only set up a roaring, -Art thou offended at this, reader !-turn inward; and first be offended at thyself. Take shame to thy heart, that thou hast ever allowed such odious dispositions within Christ's sacred temple; and much more, if thou hast ever dared to plead for them. Regret, that thou hast been so forgetful of thy true strength as a Christian, as to employ any thing, but (what indeed is an "invincible Armada") faith and prayer, in the behalf of thyself and others; and seek ability and wisdom to handle those truly potent weapons, which the apostle recommends to our use, in 2 Cor. x. In compunction of thine own spirit, implore the power of God's Spirit, that his king tom may be quietly established in thy heart over all the rebellions of the man of sin which are in it; and, in the room of the abominable rage and follies of the men of the world, that thou mayest receive the wisdom which is from above, which is first pure, then peaceable, gentle, easy to be intrested, full of mercy and good fruits, without wrangling [alianglos] or censuring, and without bypocrisy, James iii. 17. Remember, Christian, if ever thou fallest into a controversy or cabal, that there is such a text as this in thy Bible.

As the ways of the world are not the ways of peace; so there is but one spring of comfort in this dreary wilderness. The Eternal Spirit, shining upon his word, can only illuminate the darkness of our minds; and, pouring forth his own gladness, can only refresh our hearts. Looking simply to him, O believer, thou art safe among all the corruptions of thine own nature, and amidst all the confusions of time about thee. Come what may, (and nothing can come but what thy Pather wills) all shall work together for thy good. To the world it may seem, and may be otherwise: but thou art not to reckon from the world, nor with it. Thou hast a sacred record to peruse, sure and fixed as the being and throne of God: And from this record, thou art to take the estimate of all things. There is a sanctuary into which thou art privileged to go, and to learn the ends of providence and grace; while those, who remain without, see nothing but either confusions or themselves. In this boly oracle, thou wilt find the understanding, which is true; and, by it, thou shalt be guided into all the truth. No outward things can harm thee; if all be but right within: And it is thy privilege to receive the dis-pensations of heaven, in a very different frame from the men of the world. What consumes them, should only purify thee. "In the same fire, (said a venerable father) gold brightens, and rubbish fumes; under the same stroke, the chaff is bruised, and the corn educed: Nor are the husks confounded with the oil, under the pressure of the same weight. Even-so;

the same visitation proves, purifies, and purges the Christian; while it ruins, wastes, and destroys the man of the world. This last rages and blasphemes; while the other prays and gives thanks to God, in one and the same affliction. From whence it appears, that it is not of so much consequence, what things are suffered, as what the persons are who suffer them.\* Let a man be a Christian, and let him suffer as a Christian; it shall all be well with him at the last. The heavenly Potter puts his vessels into the furnace of tribulation, not to break them, but to fit them for use and glory. 2 Tim. ii. 21. Our light affiction (light, even where heaviest) which is but for a moment, worketh for us a far more exceeding and eternal weight of glory; while we look not at the things which are seen, but at the things which are not seen; for the things, which are seen, are temporal; but the things,

which are not seen, are eternal. I Cor. iv. 16, 17.

And why should they look at, and much less be swallowed up in, temporal matters, who have an eternal hope, an eternal life, an eternal home, an ETERNAL SPIRIT, for their comfort, portion, and everlasting security? O why should such heirs of glory wallow in the dung, or covet the dross, of this giddy, dying world! Why should such immortals be bowed down to the dregs of mortality! At this angels may wonder, and Christians should mourn-should mourn, that angels have reason to wonder and be astonished, that Christians can stoop so low, and rise so heavily to join in the anthems of praise. Could we see, what angels and those spirits of the just now behold, to whom the veil of corruption is no more; what manner of persons should we aim to be?-It seems almost impossible, when we get a little way up the mount on which they stand, that our apprehensions of divine things should ever sink so low into this vale of tears, as they too-too often do. With what sense and force, hath every heart a reason, even the most enlivened heart among us, to cry out; Woe is me, that I sojourn in Mesech, that I awell in the tents of Kedar!-Corruption presses hard upon us on every side; and darkness, with all its power, combines to attack our minds. O for more of this eternal Spirit to dispel the encroaching gloom, and to chear us with his heavenly light !- We are called out of nothing; we were spoken into being, when it was by no means necessary that we should exist at all, and, by a wonderful act of the freest grace and mercy, are made partakers of an everlasting existence. With what humility and prostration of soul, should we, therefore, entertain this benefit, and the means, which God's infinite Vel. II.

<sup>\*</sup> Aug. de civit. Dei. 1. i. c. 8.

condescension used to procure it? How happy in our hearts. how holy in our lives, ought we to be, in thankfulness for such unmerited, such superabundant good! for good, which our thankfulness cannot fully acknowledge; no, not even to eternity. Eternity will not complete this joyful employment, though it will be continued through eternity. It will ever be "beginning to begin;" never ending, nor approaching an end .- " O my soul! says the Christian; is this thine ineffable portion, through the love of the Father, the grace of the Son, and the power of the eternal Spirit; and shall I not stand with rapture and amazement, at such a confluence of all the divine attributes, in all the divine persons, for such a poor, such a helpiess, worthless sinner! Can I withhold my feeble praise, can I suppress the grateful emotions of my soul. to whom so much is given, and so much forgiven !- O no! I ought not, I would not, I cannot. Let me join in the triumphant fervor of the holy Polycarp, who, when he was leading to martyrdom, could lift up his voice and say, O thou true and faithful God; I praise, and bless, and glorify thee in all things, by the eternal God and high priest Christ Jesus, thy beloved Son; through whom, and with whom, and also with the Holy Spirit, be the glory ascribed to thee both now and for ever! Let me join in spirit with that blessed and enraptured throng, who, with a great voice and unspeakable ardor, are shouting in heaven; ballelujab! salvation, and glory, and power, and bonour, unto the Lord our God: Even so, ballelujab !-Amen."-Thou shalt join them, happy soul; for the Lord bath spoken it: Thou shalt join them, in the power of the ETERNAL SPIRIT, never more to be separated throughout eternity.-Lay aside the willow, then, and take up the palm: shouting, and for ever shouting, HALLELU-JAH!

## COMFORTER.

EARNED men are divided upon the proper signification of the original word. Some contend that the Paracleta is so called, because of his office as comforter; and others believe that the name strictly signifies an advocate. The word, very probably, relates to both; for, in the application of the office to his people's souls, the Holy Spirit, as an advocate with God in them, is also their inward comforter by the exercise of his intercession. He is their comforter, by ex-

plaining how much he is their friend and advocate, who has taken upon himself their everlasting interests, and who will never leave nor forsake them. The dispute, therefore, seems rather a strife of words, since the thing implied is nearly one and the same. We will treat of the name in both views, and endeavour to shew, that, in both, He who is this Paraclete, must be God, and therefore able to perform, whatever the illustrious name signifies, for the salvation of his people.

The title remarkably occurs in our Saviour's last affecting discourses to his disciples. He was about to remove from them, and, with respect to their outward sense, to relinquish the office of his personal protection and comfort, which, from their first calling, they had enjoyed continually from him. It was needful and expedient for them, that he, in his person as Christ, should depart from their bodies, in order that the Spirit of truth might perform his spiritual functions of salvation in their souls. For it very plainly appears, that all their first knowledge of Christ was but after the flesh (2 Cor. v. 16.) and that they had but poor and low conceptions of his spiritual kingdom, and of the spiritual state into which it was necessary for them to be brought; until the Spirit descended from on high, and made them a very different sort of men. Christ, as God, could, no doubt, have effected this mighty change in their minds; but it is evident, that he did not; and it is as evident, that the Holy Spirit did. The reason seems equally obvious; for, as Christ had declared, that except a man be born of the SPIRIT be could not enter into thekingdom; so the assumption of this office by the Spirit was to be manifested in a way no less explicit than illustrious, upon the first and greatest of the disciples, on the day of Pentecost. On that day, a visible demonstration was given to the then church, and through it to the church in all future ages, that the DIVINE SPIRIT was the great agent both to purify, as with fire, the souls of the redeemed, and also to impart wisdom, and to enable them to speak wisdom to others, by being to each of them a cloven tongue. The Spirit had exercised this office, in fact, from the beginning; as, in the same manner, Christ was a Lamb slain from the foundation of the world: For as the benefit of bis mediatorial office began with Adam, Abel, and the first of the faithful; so did the efficacy of the Spirit's work, in applying Christ's atonement and mediation to them. This benefit and efficacy were always (like the great agents themselves) distinct as to circumstances in the faith of believers, but never divided: They went (as it were) pari passu, or hand-in-hand; so that wherever the blood of propitiation was sprinkled, in the purpose of the covenant; the testimony or sealing of the Spirit followed of course, according to the same purpose. To will and to do

with God, are as indivisible as the attributes from which (according to our notions) the willing and the acting do proceed: And, therefore, as Christ was to be the Lamb slain without the possibility of a failure, and is said, upon this ground, to bave been slain from the beginning; so the Holy Spirit was promised to be the Spirit of wisdom and revelation to his people, that they might know their salvation, but yet was ever that same Spirit of wisdom who spoke by the prophets and other holy men, and who opened his mysteries to believers, from the foundation of the world. All this was done, because the covenant and purpose of the Godhead could not but be fulfilled; for to him all things are present, and the intention and act the same. Christ could not but perform his undertakings; nor could the Spirit fail in his. An immutable determination existed in both, as persons in the Godhead: And, the whole Godhead or essence was engaged in the operations of the respective persons. There is no making sense of the Bible, but upon this foundation: And upon this foundation, there is the most wonderful harmony, wisdom, truth, righteousness, and mercy, pervading the whole of its revelation; so as to render it to those, whose understandings are open to understand it (Luke xxiv. 45.) the most delightful as well as most interesting book in the world. The want of this view hath been attended with many other wants; for when Christ and the mind of his Spirit do not appear as the basis and substratum of all religion; moral virtue, fitness, propriety, and many other fine names become mere names only, and are scarce understood in fact by those who use them. Yet the fashionable divinity of the day is founded upon these sounding words and notions-notions, which are not realized by those who talk of them, and which cannot be realized at any rate by any fallen, helpless, sinful worms, without the power of that Spirit, which many of those worms affect to ridicule or deny. It may well be called modern divinity; for, God knows, it has very little connection with his most antient book the Bible.

Spiritual and eternal consolation, wrought or established in the soul, is an act of God only. Believers cannot be thus comforted but by the God of all comfort. The ground, the means, the end, of his consolation, all result from his wisdom and power. The application of the term to man, shews him to have been in a state of weakness and misery. If he were not wretched, the administration of comfort would be too superfluous an act to require so many circumstances of detail, which the Scriptures lay down concerning it. If he were not weak, and incapable of being supported by created aid; the office of a divine Comforter would be entirely useless. But, being both feeble and undone, the sound of an almighty Para-

clete, an everlasting Comforter, an omniscient Advocate, rings with unutterable delight in the awakened ear. The heart, when made alive to God and renewed, feels the need of this office; nor is the promise of this gracious aid any longer an idle tale, an enthusiastic dream, or at best a scriptural something, with which people now-a-days have nothing to do; but gled tidings, indeed, tidings of great joy, an assurance of joy unspeakable and full of glory. Let infidels, in fond conceit of themselves, affect to frown; and the profane, in equal ignorance of their own hearts, attempt to despise; the convinced sinner feels the worth of God's promise, and is neither to be laughed out of his spiritual sense by the buffoon, nor by the sophister to be tricked out of his hope. He knows that their tone, if not their bearts, will hereafter be changed, according to that striking passage in Acs v. 34, &c. and his worst wish, for the worst of them all, is, that both heart and tone, for their author's sake, may be duly changed before that hereafter shall come. 'Tis one thing, however, to laugh in the gaity and health of life; and quite another to rejoice in death itself, and in the nearly approaching views of a solemn eternitv.

As Jebovab is the author of all true consolation, so is each person in him. Hence the Father is styled, the Father of mercies, and the God of all comfort, 1 Cor. i. 3. Hence Christ is called the Paraclete, Advocate, or Comforter, I John ii. I. in whom there is consolation, Phil. ii. 1. and who, with the Father, comforts his people's bearts, and gives them everlasting consolation and good hope through grace, 2 Thess. ii. 16, 17. Hence also the Spirit is the Comforter, or Advocate; and his people are privileged to walk in the comfort of the Holy Ghost, Acts ix. 31. It would be beyond the natural bound we perceive fixed to all inferior beings, if creatures were to give the consolation, the everlasting consolation, which Christ and the Spirit are said to give: It would be inverting the order of all things, if these, were they created beings, should attempt those eternal mercies, and spiritual creations, which are promised in the word to the people of God. In that case, it would be confounding subordinate with praordinate, and creature with Creator, beyond the apprehension of faith, as well as the comprehension of reason. The Scriptures hold a very different language. I Jehovah, and none else: I form the light, and create darkness; I make peace, and create affiction: \* I JEHOVAH do all these things. Isa. xlv. 7. When men want spritual comfort, the Scriptures speak of the consolations of God, Job xv. 11, and say, that it is Jehovah, who must

<sup>\*</sup> rn Affliction, or sorrow, which are opposite to peace; as darkness is to light. The text hath a double antithesis.

comfort Zion, Is. li. 3. It must be averred concerning the creatures, in this view, what Job said of his friends, Miserable comforters are they all! There is no belp in them. But, looking to God the Father, the redeemed can bless him, who ordained them peace; looking to God the Son, they can magnify him, as the promised consolation of Israel; and looking to God the Holy Ghost, they can pray for his holy comfort, as from that other great Comforter,\* which was promised to console and conduct them in the way to heaven. They receive this comfort from each of the divine persons, by the agency of the third; and, from the happiest experience, can say of the whole essence or Jebovah, that he indeed is the God of all comfort, and hath extended his peace to their souls. This Comforter speaketh to the heart, + and he alone; all others may visit the ear without effect, or with no better effect than music out of season. Peace is the fruit of the lips; and God may bless the voice of man in speaking about his peace: But man's voice is nothing but voice, unless God create peace to accompany it. Is. lvii. 19.

This Holy Spirit, and heavenly Comforter, is to be with his people, and to dwell in them, -- to be in and with his people in all ages - at one and the same moment, in all countries -in beaven above and in earth beneath at once-without confinement: without intermisson, and without end. Is it possible then to conceive any thing like this of a creature? Who can venture to assert, that a finite being is equal to this momentous, this infinite task? Is not that to be called folly or presumption, which can dare to pronounce, that all the creatures together can create and supply such infinite and everlasting good ?- The language is strong, but not too strong for the truth, that Beelzebub himself, liar as he is, hath not said it: It is a truth felt to the very bottom of hell. The mightiest angel there cannot create for himself a moment's enjoyment of peace, or a moment's cessation from pain. Though reluctantly, yet even Satan owned the oinnipotence of, Christ in the flesh. He hath owned too the power of the divine Spirit in the hearts of hispeople, to the confusion of himself, and all his lying oracles.

Crit. Sacra, in παραμυθεομαι.

<sup>\*</sup> ANOTHER Comforter; John xiv. 16. Here is a most obvious distinction of this divine person from the Son—another personally—yet the same essentially; for he adds, I will not leave you comfortless, I will come again unto you. The former text shews the distinction, the latter the unity, of the two divine persons, in the divine essence.

<sup>†</sup> Hos. ii. 14. See Livelius's note upon the passage in LEIGH's

<sup>†</sup> Tertullian, in his apology, hath several remarkable passages upon this subject, and makes an appeal to the senses of the Roman

This Spirit brooded, like a dove, upon the face of the troubled deep; and he warms, in tender love, the far more troubled deep of man's disordered soul. This mystic Dove visits his church (as Noab's dove, his emblem, did the ark) with the olive branch of eternal peace, prognosticates an approaching rest to the heaven-conducted vessel, and leaves it not, even when in full view of the everlasting bills. This holy Dove, in confirmation of his consolatory office, witnessed visibly for Christ at his baptism, and afterwards spiritually abode or rested upon bim, when this emblem of his presense was seen no more. He took the name and type, possibly to express the fertility, meekness, purity, and love of his grace in the redeemed, the renewal of their minds into the same pattern by his almighty power, or, as his true forerunner, the immediate mission of the great Redeemer. He is, in every sense, the spiritual oil to make the face shine with the splendor of his holiness, and the spiritual wine to make glad the beart of man

with his consolation. Ps. civ. 15.

The usage of the term wine was to express the effect of his agency in the soul. The word wine is derived by some from the same root with the word dove, and is often used in the Scriptures to signify consolation. Thus the wise man says; Give wine to them that be of heavy hearts, Prov. xxxi. 6. that is, comfort. Come, buy wine, &c. without price. Is. lv. 1. that is, receive my free consolation. The like may be observed of other passages. And here, though it be a digression, it may not be altogether wide of our subject to remark, bow it is, that wine is employed to smybolize this effect. Its natural property is, undoubtedly, to cheer the animal spirits; and hence it it very fit to answer the spiritual idea of comfort; but, if we search a little farther, we shall find a still more cogent reason why it is used to imply consolation, and wherefore it is employed by the wisdom of God for this purpose. Christ instituted the sacrament of bread and win: for a memorial of himself: Do this (said he) in remembrance of me. We are at no loss to know, what the bread means; for he has told us, that it signified bimself, and that they, who partake of this bread, live by bim. They become the members of his body. The wine, likewise, he explains to denote his blood; and commands all his disciples to drink of it, in order to live for ever. But under the law, the positive command was, that the blood of the creatures, sacrificed or unsacrificed, should by no means be tasted; and yet, here, Christ commands us to drink his own blood. The reason of these commands, consipeople then living (circ. ann. 200) for the truth of his assertion, that "the devil in the oracle, or in the possessed, would confess himself to be the devil, when challenged to declare it by a Chrisrian." Apol. c. 23.

dered together, seems very striking and important. The blood signifies the life; and man cannot live by pouring out the lives of victims under the Yewish dispensation, nor by the lives of the creatures under any dispensation. Their lives could not atone for bis forfeited life; nor could be live before God by all the powers of created beings. In token of this he was not to support bis natural life by their blood or life, under the law; and from hence he might remember, both that God alone was the strength of his life, and that a bigber life than the life of the creatures must be poured out for his atonement and redemption. Christ, therefore, commands, when he appears in the flesh, that his people should drink his blood, in direct opposition (as it might seem) to the Jewish oconomy; in order that they might notice, that though they could not live by the blood or lives of the creatures, or by any atonement or activities of inferior beings; yet they could and were to live by bis blood or life alone, and, because it was the life of his eternal nature, for ever and ever. John vi. 54. Well, then, may the emblem of consolation, wine, be used for this blood, from which originates the consolation of a saved sinner; and Christ employed the symbol for this end, that it might hold forth to his people in all ages, what he hath borne for them, and that from hence they are to derive their peace. His blood was the means of their reconciliation with God; because his life was shed for their sins, and delivered their lives from eternal destruction. He gave up a life of infinite value to save their lives from an infinite punishment, due to them through sin, which is infinite both as it cannot end of itself, and as it is committed against infinite holiness. He resumed his life by his own almighty power, proving thereby, that he had cancelled all the debt and fully satisfied eternal truth and justice. The Holy Spirit, as the first office of his consolation, applies this blood through faith to his people's benefit; and so imparts the life of that blood to their souls, that it becomes their life; and then it is, that, because Christ liveth, they live also. No blood will serve for this but the blood of the God-man, Christ Jesus. His people's blood would not answer; for in the attempt their life must be lost, and lost for ever. Nor can they for themselves, or others for them, atone in part, leaving Christ to do the rest; for as, under the law, the blood of the sacrifice was not to be mixed with leavened bread; so in the law of faith, no leaven of man, none of his doings, can be mingled with Christ's atoning blood. Nothing will serve for this end, but the true and living bread, namely, his pure body and divine righteousness, represented in the law by the unleavened bread. Hence, his blood is called the blood of the New Testament, in direct oposition to all the works and services of man under that old

covenant in which he was born, and which was declared from Mount Sinai. And it is termed also the blood of the everlasting covenant; because it was purposed to be shed in the everlasting covenant of grace and mercy. The drinking this blood spiritually, is drinking or receiving the life of Christ in the soul: And the victories, which the redeemed gain by this blood, (Rev. xii. 11.) are obtained, under that name, by the life of Christ and his almighty power within them. The application of this blood, for both these ends, is the office of the Spirit. He takes of the things of Christ, and explains, and enforces them, in his people; and, in doing this, he makes them partakers of the divine nature, partakers of the life of Christ; so that they no longer live [i. e. of themselves,] but Christ liveth in them; and, through him, they have communion with the Father and Spirit. His humanity is their bead, in whom all fulness dwells; and, by him, they dwell in that fulness, or (as St. John expresses it) they dwell in God, and God in them. I John. iv. 16. Let us judge, then, if his flesh be not meat indeed, and bis blood drink indeed: Let us consider too, if this blood is not also become the wine of everlaseing consolation. It is the new wine of the kingdom, (Matth. xxvi. 29.) of which Christ participates with his people for evermore. And, when believers approach his table below, how ought they to remember, that his body was broken, that they might become one body in him; and that his blood was poured out, that it might become their life and the rich wine of immortal comfort, through the Spirit, to their souls? Without this kind of remembrance of that dear Lord, the reception of the outward elements would be no sacrament to them, but rather an abomination, and undoubtedly might be ranked with the formal sacrifices of the formal Jews, which God hath severely reprobated, Is. i. 11, &c. with lxvi. 3. But remembering him aright, that is, in faith; then his redeemed find him to be the good and compassionate Samaritan [a Samaritan to the world, despised and rejected of men,] pouring into their wounded spirits the oil of grace and wine of consolation; "then [as the liturgy well expresses it] we dwell in Christ, and Christ in us; we are one with Christ, and Christ with us, to our great and endless comfort."

The Holy Spirit becomes the great Comforter of his people, both by explaining these things to their souls, and by preparing their souls for the explanation. What Christ said to his disciples, may be said to all sinners in their natural state, concerning these consolations; Te cannot bear them now. The heart must both feel its want of, and be fitted for them. If there be no spiritual sense of want; any earthly comforts, however false and pernicious, will be more welcome than all

ľ

the joys of heaven: And, if the soul be not prepared for these divine realities; they will do the soul no more good, than a shower of rain could refresh a rock. Now, JEHOVAH only can work these preparations of the heart in man, Prov. xvi. 1. He only can quicken the dead in sin to a life of righteousness in grace and glory. And He doeth all this; because and only because, He is JEHOVAH. But as the HOLY SPIRIT is expressly the agent of all these wonderful works in the spirits of the redeemed; it is, and to them must be, an undeniable argument of his divinity, and consequently of his co-essentiality with the Father and the Son in the ONE Jehovab. They perceive, by the word and by their own experience, that it is HE, who translated them from darkness to light, who changed them from a state of sin and unbelief to a state of grace and faith, who turned the course of their minds directly opposite to the course of the world, as well as to their own former course in the world. They see the greatness of this operation, in reducing the contrariety of their stubborn nature and in this new creation to a glorious life, and therefore acknowledge him to be JEHOVAH, who only doeth wonderful works. He granted them this repentance to life; this change of sentiment and will; this desire for Christ, and holiness, and heaven: And they find, that this is wrought in them by way of preparation, both for the present consolations of grace, and for the future and unutterable joys of glory .- They see also such a union of love, mercy, truth, honor, justice, and grandeur, in all this dispensation; as carries out their hearts, at times, into the profoundest admiration, gratitude, and praise. O did the men of the world know some of this secret intercourse with heaven; their surprize would soon cease, that rear Christians can love their frequent retirements and solitude, and give up the silly shewy pleasures, which others spend their very souls for, and with so much ardor covet and pursue. And did professors themselves enjoy more, or seek to enjoy more, of this distinguished blessedness, this " calm sunshine of the soul, this heart-felt joy;" the world would not have so much reason to reproach them for their too great solicitude upon those things, which in words at least they affect to despise. If the consolations of God were not small with too many of them; so many would not find such delight in hunting after mammon, in procuring (what are impiously called) independent fortunes, or in laying out for fine houses, splendid furniture, gay apparel, and all the wretched modishness of this dying world. Alas! Alas! what can the mere man of the earth do more? And how much, and how often, do these poor trifles lead astray their souls? Effects, like these, render things innocent in their nature, noxious to those who possess them. If the things were ever so indifferent, as indeed all such matters certainly are in

themselves; yet they cease to be so, when once the mind and affections are solicitously employed about them. How rarely is Christ the topic in our elegant apartments and genteel societies! How rude and unseasonable would any conversation there be thought, which referred to the greatest interests of the soul, or conveyed the solemn ideas of an approaching eternity? Thus modern politeness and Christian discourse are held incompatible. The language of the times is become so excessively refined, that the name of Jesus (except by way of blasphemy) appears almost a mere barbarism, fit only for the use of rustics or the Canaille; at least, not to be mentioned, but in the old forms of a church, and there to remain, till the people resume their seats and the forms again. In some more learned and (one would expect) more solid assemblies; what a disgusting fool would a man be now set down for, who should dare to enter upon the matters of salvation; though they are at once undeniably the wisdom of God, and God's great purpose in the original being of man? A discourse upon weeds or butterflies shall be reckoned a thousand times more intelligent and wise .- To bint upon these things, is enough to shew the bent and stream of the world, and the direct opposition it makes, not at this time, or the other time only, but uniformly and at all times, to God and his gospel. To the Christian this should be a lecture; how lightly all these circumstances, which last but for a moment, ought to sit upon his mind; and with how much mercy it is, that God, for the most part, keeps lying vanities out of his people's hands. The society of Christ in a cottage is infinitely a greater estate, than palaces and kingdoms, without any other heart to enjoy them than the evil beart of unbelief. \* He, that hath Christ, " hath him, who hath all things." And when Christians can make a true estimate of objects, and have learned to distinguish appearances from truth, and gold from tinsel, as sooner or later they undoubtedly will; they will grow gradually into the psalmist's frame, who accounted, that a little that a righteous man bath, is better than the riches of many wicked, Ps. xxxvii. 16. They will find that these wicked seem to enjoy, but do not; while the believer, in the sense of God's fayour and

\* An Heathen could sing:

me silva, cavusque

Tutus ab insidiis tenui solabitur ervo.

Hon. Sat. 1. ii. f. 6.

And so a moral poet of our ewn:

" Then, pilgrim, turn, thy cares forego;

" All earth-born cares are wrong: " Man wants but little here below,

" Nor wants that little long,"

Çoldsmite.

presence, enjoys indeed, but without seeming. He may make but little or no appearance in the outside; yet, like the king's

daughter, he is all glorious within.

One great office of this holy Comforter or Advocate, whom we are treating of, should never be from the memory of his people. He doth not call them to a set of notions and opinions only; for, with respect to these as mere subtle disquisitions, perhaps the devil is as orthodox as any one; but he works in them a change of heart and newness of life. This is the true purpose of all his agency, to make and to keep his people in a nearer and nearer likeness to their Redeemer .-Their tenets, therefore, or rather the doctrines of the gospel, known as they ought to be known, are things rather than words, and exist in facts more than in speculations. A carnal man may know the form of the gospel; but the true believer only knows the matter of it. To the one, divine truth is but a picture, though possibly a very fine one, curiously gilt and adorned, perhaps, by man's art, to be gazed at; but to the other it is substance, the food by which he lives, not lifted up for a shew, but taken inwardly for the very sustenance of his life. A man, with a very fine painting of a feast, may want a dinner. And those professors, who can speak or write perhaps very elegantly upon the gospel, and paint its glorious beauties in splendid colours, while they have never tasted and enjoyed its mercies, will, in the hour of trial, discover their own leanness; and the hour of trial may be posssibly sent for that very purpose. But he, who has true and solid provision in the house, doth not shew it about the apartments for ornament, but brings it forth for use in due season. In like manner, the real Christian aims not to make a parade of his profession, but lives within himself upon that bounty, which his gracious Lord constantly supplies to him. He is renewed in the spirit of his mind, and is become, in a measure, of the same mind with his divine Renewer. They walk together, because they are agreed: And all the felicity of God's people, like Enoch's, consists in walking thus to the end-

To the end they do walk in safety; and all the way thither is truly the way of peace—not perhaps the peace of this world, but that superior peace, which the world can neither give nor take from them. This blessed Comforter is the immediate cause and preserver of it all through Christ Jesus.

In the day of affliction, this ever-present belp stands by with his necessary consolations, and so tempers every affliction with them, as to produce, out of all, the most blessed and perpetual good. Where Christ and his Spirit are, sorrow can do no harm, nay, cannot even subsist long as sorrow, but is turned into joy. Nor is the occasion, which works the sorrow

permitted to come at all, but for some purgation of evil, or some preparation to good. Flesh and blood revolt; and, therefore, it is commonly sent to subdue flesh and blood. which, in believers, as well as in others, are too apt to entertain confidence and consequence, and must for their real welfare be brought down and kept down. Flesh and blood see not the reason, but fect the pang: And the pang they should feel; or the crucifixion, which the apostle speaks of (Gal. v. 24.) as the necessary consequence of their union with Christ, would never appear, would never be known. This holy Comforter bestows and increases, for a clear view of this case, his grace of faith; and faith, enlightened by his trition, reads his word, and there finds the secret of the whole. " He first enables his afflicted children to believe what he has said of his love in afflicting then, and then to wait for the experience of his love under their afflictions. This waiting quietly, without giving way to sense, or unbelief, is patience. Faith is tried, and stands the trial. Tribulation comes; faith is exercised with it, but holds fast its confidence in the word of God, and thereby has full proof of the faithfulness of God. This worketh patience—a quiet submission to the divine will—and an holy subjection to the divine rod. The flesh murmers; self-will repines; self-indulgence rebels: But faith looks up for the present strength, and by it conquers them. It stops their mouths with a hush-Be still and know that He is God-He is my sovereign and my father. This affliction indeed is not for the present joyous, but rather grievous; nevertheless it comes from his love-Love guides his hand-Love will bring good out of it. O that all within me may submit to his will, and bless his holy name !" †

In the day of uproar and confusion, when the earth seems under the immediate agitation of hell, this gracious Comforter keeps those in perfect peace, whose minds are stayed upon him. Come what may, they are upon the mountain of the Lord's house; where they see his presence, learn submission to his will, and look down with calmnes upon the tumults beneath; which, however they may shipwreck those who mix in them, cannot reach up to their souls. The Christian can pity the misery of such persons, as conflict with raging passions, only by passions equally raging; and, if the storm threaten himself, he commits all to HIM, who in one moment can say, Pcace, be still! and at whose command, in the next moment, there shall be a great calm. The winds and the waves cannot but obey him, who made them; and so also the restrained fierceness of man, aiming however at no such e-

vent, sooner or later shall turn to bis praise.

<sup>†</sup> See the very excellent and experimental treatise of the walk of faith, by the Rev. Mr. ROMAINE. Vol. ii. p. 92.

In the day of persecution, God ever did, and ever will support his people with his comforting, or rather with his triumphant grace. This Comforter has shewn to the strong of the world, that they are but as tow with him, and that he can make the weakest of the weak more than a match for all their strength. I hese last have often smiled at the persecutor's rage; and dared the coarsest efforts of his power. They have discovered their victorious superiority, by pitying and praying for the poor worms, to whose felly and madness for a while they have been exposed. They knew them to be but the slaves and tools of that infernal tyrant, who would wreak upon them for this very thing, the permitted wrath of the Almighty. A. Cls vii. 60. Let any man read Lactantius's account of the deaths of the ancient persecutors; and then let him consider, whether they are not equally the objects of pity and contempt. Though, through the divine providence, the most bitter adversaries to the truth of God cannot, at this time, proceed to those enormities; yet it is worth remembering, however, that, in the purest ages of the church, these furies were permitted to range upon the earth, and carry their rage to lengths, which even common humanity must shudder to write. All humanity was then overborne, or turned into diabolic barbarity, whenever the religion of Fesus was concerned: And it was often observed, that persons, who were the most humane, civil, and polite upon all other occasions, laid aside their usual character and put off that agreeable varnish, when the truths or cause of God became the subject of consideration. An instant proof hath then been given, that however education may induce habits, which shall make men exceedingly accomplished in the eves of the world and for worldly purposes; no education and no habit can root out the enmity of the carnal mind against God. It will discover itself, by some means or other, to be perfectly the same, whether it exist in a Roman emperor or the reviling thief upon a cross, in the highest or the lowest, in the proudest or the meanest, of mankind. According to their capacity or opportunity, they will always find pleas to exercise this dislike. The politician brings his reasons of state; the religionist, his reasons of superstition; and the tyrant, his strong reasons of . power. It was the same of old. "Si Tiberis (said Tertullian) ascerdit in moenia si Nilus non ascendit in arva, si coelum, stetit, si terra movit, si fames, si lues, statim-Curistianos ad LEONES.\* If the Tiber overflow, if the Nile do not flow enough, if the skies are bound from rain, if the earth be loosed and quake, if famine, or pestilence, arise; the cry immediately is - Away with the Christians to the lions."

<sup>\*</sup> Adv. Gentes.

In the day of poverty and keen distress, this Comforter becomes the nearest and the dearest friend. He smooths the brow of care, and sooths the heart of sorrow. He teaches the soul of the Christian, that poverty is but a relative term, and that, out of God, or without him, there is no body rich. All men live by divine bounty, and therefore have nothing properly their own. Whatever God has lent them, arose from his own will: And if he set the rich man in a palace, and Lazarus among the dogs upon a dunghill; it only proves, that the Lord saw a reason for it, which men perhaps do not see. The great things (as they are called) of this world, are so lightly esteemed by God, that he often throws them away upon the vilest of mankind, as people throw trash upon a dunghill. If Christians are too fond of this trash; it may be needful for their souls, that they should be kept from wallowing among the dung, and that their way be hedged up with thorns. The riches of this world are not riches in God's sight; nor even in the sight of mere reason, as it may be proved in the examples of heathen philosophers who despised them; and certainly they ought not to be so in the eyes of God's children. What a poor creature, at the best, is a rich man without grace? Nay, how poor have people of that stamp thought themselves? We may take their own evidence and confession in this matter: We may learn this truth by their own example. Have we never heard of some very opulent persons, so loaded with misery as well as with wealth, that they could not support the torment of their own minds, and therefore, in the anguish of despair, have attempted to get rid at once of their wretchedness and being? Instances of this kind have occurred in the history of mankind, and are so many blazing beacons to the Christian, warning him against the legions of devouring cayes, which in a manner swallow up the world about him. On the other hand, let a man look to God's rich promises; and there he will find both support and supply.—" What! to naked promises!" may one ask.— Yes, friend, for the trial of thy faith: And if thou hast not faith to rely on these naked promises, then (whatever then hast beside) thou art poor indeed. Thou wouldst not call them naked, however, if thou didst but see, that they are richly clothed with all the power, faithfulness, love, and infinitude of God.

In the day of siekness, this Comforter is at hand to administer his medicines to the soul. He compounds them according to the word, which is the publication of his skill, and applies them wisely to the case and condition of his people. He is almighty to command, to carry on, and to ensure the effect. His people at such seasons more sensibly feel their need of his aid, and look more eagerly after his power: And

he stands by them when they do not see, and comes into them when it is right they should feel the force of his supporting love. He makes all their bed in their sickness, and never leaves their bed nor them, however it may seem, so much as for a moment.

In the day and hour of death, this God is the believer's God, his friend, and infallible guide. Having conducted him to the last moment by his grace, it would not be for his glory to leave him then. And he doth not. He hath made many a once feeble heart\* to triumph, O death, where is thy sting! O grave, where is thy victory! But whether the nature of their disease allow this noble exclamation or not, all the people of God are conquerors over death, and more than conquerors, through him that loved them. They are enabled to conquer death; and then death himself performs the office of a friend.—If the vain and the ungodly knew this life in death, or could see it; instead of a foolish laugh or senseless jeer, they would cry out as one of themselves did of old, Let me die the death of the righteous, and let my latter end be like his! Numb. xxiii. 10.

In the everlasting day of heaven, this glorious Comforter will comfort his people with joys beyond measure or end. All his consolations below are but as a spark to that eternal blaze of rapture, which shall glow through their spirits above.—But bere imagination will fail, and we must be content with that summary description which the Scriptures afford us that this everlasting state is an exceedingly exceeding and eternal weight of glory; and that eye bath not seen, ear heard, nor hath it entered into the heart of man to conceive, what God

kath prepared for them that love him.

And now, dear Christian, what are thy thoughts concerning such a Comforter as this?——concerning one who hath done so much for thee, is doing so much in thee, and will continue to do so much both for thee and in thee to all eternity?

\* If Lucretius had seen a Christian, in dying triumphant over death, he would have omitted, if not some other arguments he uses against the immortality of the soul, certainly this:

—— Quod si immortalis nostra foret mens: Non jam se moriens dissolvi conquereretur: Sed magis ire foras, vestemque relinquere, ut anguis, Gauderet, prælonga senex aut cornua cervus.

Lib. iii. l. 611.

i. e. "If our mind were immortal; in the article of death, it would not murmur to be dissolved, but rejoice rather to go forth from the body, and leave it, as a snake doth its skin, or an aged stag doth his weighty horns."—Blessed be God, many of his redeemed have rejoiced to quit their bodies, and have left them with a hope full of glory and immortality.

Is he not indeed God the Comforter, full of royalty to command comfort, full of deity to ensure it! Canst thou think that an angel, or ten thousand angels, or all the angels and all the creatures, which ever knew existence, are or can be equal to bestow such floods of comfort, such an infinite ocean of everlasting joy, which will replenish thy soul, and the souls of all the blest, in glory ?- Thou dost not, canst not think so. They only, who never tasted his holy comfort and are strangers to its nature, can think thus madly and blasphemously of this blessing and its author. But thou hast felt its divine force in thy soul; and, when thy faith is lively, thou continuest to feel it. O look to this God of all comfort to increase it within thee, in such manner and degree, as may be expedient for thy good and his own glory! If there were no sin or corruption within thee to be mortified and subdued, thy heart would be a little heaven. If thy faith were but as fixed, as thy condition is secure; thou wouldst be but little short in joy of a saint in light. Thou art not straitened in Christ, nor in this Comforter from Christ: All the confinement is from thyself. Thy own tempers and unbelief are the only bars to the richest consolation of grace on this side of eternity. When, therefore, thou complainest of darkness, dullness, and despair; search (and pray to the great Searcher of hearts that thou mayest search duly) if thou be not in some dark path, out of the narrow way which leadeth to life, and if some sinful practice, or some sinful opinion be not indulged in thy soul. Christ will not dwell in his temple, as in a den of thieves; but will either scourge them out by some sharp trials, or leave thee for a while to the natural deadness of thy heart, without one ray of his presence. Bad practices and evil doctrines are an abomination to the Lord. On the other hand, if this Comforter fill thy spirit with his pure consolations; pray to him earnestly, that pride may be hidden from thee, and that carelessness or drowsiness do not overtake thee in the gracious sunshine, nor entice thee to lie down and sleep. But watch and be sober, be circumsped and serious; for thou art here in the enemy's country, and always upon polluted ground. Pray, that the manifestations of almighty love may be so many attractions to thy soul, and the means of putting spirit and life into thy affections, and duties. Remember, that the most, thou canst enjoy here, is but a slight foretaste, a little drop of that infinite ocean of pure joy, which thou art to inherit in Christ. This should cause thee to thirst for more, and to aspire after greater attainments. Finally, what a weight, what an eternal weight, of transporting bliss is before thee, prepared for thee, secured to thee, by omnipotent power, and endless grace !- Reader,

hast thou no longing for this! Is thy heart, can thy heart, be all dead, and dull, and damp, to such unmeasurable glories! What! not a ray of hope, not a thrill of joy, at all this unmerited mercy! At all this mercy, merited fully and only by Jesus for thee!—It is enough to make the stone in thy heart to cry out. The heart must indeed be the heart of stone, if it feel no emotion here! The heart of flesh, renewed by the Holy Spirit, will triumph in the glorious expectation, and be looking out, beyond all perishing shadows, for the blessed hope, and the glorious appearing of the great God and our Saviour, fesus Christ: And, blessed be this great God and our Saviour, it shall not look in vain.

My soul in fervent longing waits (Each true believer cries) For God to end my earthly straits, And bear me to the skies.

O when shall this poor scene depart, And heaven itself appear! God hath so widen'd all my heart, It can't be filled here.

## SPIRIT OF LIFE.

A LL life is motion, though all motion be not life. What-ever lives, acts; but what is acted on, being only passive power at the utmost, and moving because it is moved, cannot be said to live. The true definition of life, therefore, is-a principle of power to act or move, inherent or implanted in a distinct substance or being. A being, thus possessed, is said to live, because it can act from within itself. If we speak of a being, who lives inherently or of himself; we must say, that He is God, and that there is no other, who can live in this self-existent mode, and perform motions without the assistance of another. If we speak of a being, who lives derivatively or by another; we may affirm, that he is a creature, and that the life in him, though distinct from and perhaps independent of all other beings who live derivatively like himself, is not without God, though its motion be contrary to him. Evil spirits subsist by the first life, which is God, though they act in opposition to his holiness. When, therefore, we define life in a creature, we mean, that this life

exists independently only of all other creatures, but not of God its Creator, by whom those creatures live, even when they sin or act against Him. If, for instance, a creature breathe; its power to perform that action is beyond the aid of all other creatures, and arises independently of them. And so it may be said concerning the rest of its functions, which

discover or exercise the principle of animal life.

There is also a life, which consists in motion, but which is not obvious to the animal sense. The life of man's immertal and immaterial part acts and moves, not from the vibratory motions of matter, but by a principle to which matter has no relation, and to which matter itself, being passive and inert, is and must be subscryient. The collision of two stones might as soon inspire them with thought, as the vibration of the nerves, being mere material motion, could constitute the intellect of man, which, in a thousand cases, has and can have no sort of relation to the motion of matter. Those, who propagate this notion, are only supporting the cause of materialism or pantheism; for, when once a rule is established, that matter produces thought; it is no very distant nor difficult transition to urge, that matter itself, as the author of thought, must therefore be God, and consequently so much the source of all intellection, that there can be no ideas without it. Hence thought is nothing but matter acting upon itself, and of consequence the universal harmony and arrangement of things appears a most lucky and fortuitous jumble of matter in atoms! Here atheism comes in with a full tide, and offers to sweep away religion, revelation, and even morality itself, into the ocean of anarchy and universal infidelity. Those pretended reasoners, therefore, who promote such principles, either see not the mischievous and preposterous result of them; or, if they do see them are very little entitied, either by their heads or their hearts, to the respect and attention of mankind.\*

\* We have had several attempts of late to introduce the fatality of the Stoics, and the absolute necessity of all things, without reference to the will or providence of God, which itself, according to some, seems tied down to this all-ruling fate, after the representation of the antient heathens.

This is, to all intents and purposes mere materialism: And the arguments, which are brought to prove that sort of natural neces-

sity, do conclude in materialism.

If matter existed before mind, those philosophers are undoubtedly right, who raise all the actions of mind out of matter, in which case there is no supreme intellectual Being; and then the creed of Spinoza (following some antient heathens) that "God is all things," must in consequence be received. Upon this plan, it will be right to allow, that, in all respects, the principle called the soul is wholly

The life of spirits, not only distinct but from heterogeneous matter, is exercised in memory, will, understanding, reasoning &c. and moves by these faculties, as the body obtains sensible motion by its members. When this spiritual

modified and governed, entirely acts and thinks, according to the disposal or organization of the body. The next step after this is, when the body perishes, the soul ceases to be. And here we may look round us, and see religion and revelation swallowed up in the

vortex of infidelity and atheism.

But if mind existed before matter, or, in other words, if God existed before gross substance, and is in his own nature different from it; then, all forms of being, whether sensible or intelligible, are copies of those ideas which pre-existed in his mind; or, they were created without design. Those ideas also must have been essentially mental, because they existed before the sensible forms, and are not the objects of sense in any respect. It follows, then, that his ideas (speaking with humble reverence) were prior to the modifications of matter, and that those modifications exist agreeable to the ideas; otherwise, there is no such being as God, considering him as pure Spirit, nor any such arrangement, as we understand by his providence.

If this last conclusion be impossible and absurd (as may well be believed) God, as an infinite and eternal Spirit, is the mental cause of all materias existence, and the source of intellection in all spiritual being. Whatever exists, or acts in its existence, received its sub-

stance and all its powers entirely from him.

That organization of body is not necessary to the acts of the mind, is evident from the angels and the spirits of just men made perfect, who see and enjoy felicity and knowledge more purely and freely without body, than we can, who remain in the flesh. This we must believe, indeed, upon the authority of the Scriptures; or, if we will not believe them, we may commence Sadducees, and say, there is neither angel.nor spirit, who, if they exist at all, must necessarily exist more perfectly and sublimely in thought and power,

than creatures surrounded with clay.

If mere organization of body were sufficient to work up thought, or to modify it into reason and wisdom; the Ouran-Outang would have as good a chance to comprehend or cogitate, as the being called human. M. Buffon says, that "all the parts of the Ouran-Outang's head, limbs, and body, external and internal, are so perfectly similar to the human, that we cannot collate them together, without being amazed at a conformation so parallel, and at an organization so exactly the same, though not resulting to the same effects. The tongue, for example, and all the organs of speech, are the same in both; and yet the Ouran-Outang does not speak: The brain is absolutely the same in texture, disposition, and proportion; and yet he does not think: An evident proof this (continues he) that mere matter alone, though perfectly organized, cannot produce thought, nor speech the index of thought, unless it be animated with a superior principle." One is almost tempted to think, that the similarity between this brute and human nature was

principle is removed, the body becomes torpid and inactive: When this principle is only suspended, as in trances or in bodies half-drowned, there is no action in the catward machine, though all the nerves remain, and no alterations ap-

created, on purpose to shew us, that the soul is a principle independent of matter, and that we do not think and reason because we have bodies, but because (in that nearer approach to the image of God) we have immortal and immaterial souls.

If the excellency of the mental faculty depended on corporeal organization; then the most beautiful, strong, and well-proportioned bodies must think, and reason, and understand, with the greatest force, perspicuity, and wisdom. But nothing needs to be added

to refute this proposition.

It is one thing to say, that the soul receives many of its ideas through the medium of the senses; and quite another to affirm, that the senses generate those ideas. Sense and sensible objects may (as has been well expressed) be "a medium to awaken the dormant energies of man's understanding; yet those energies themselves are no more contained in sense, than the explosion of a cannon in the spark which gave it fire."† The mind of man, simply considered as mind, must be similar to that of angels or disembedied spirits; as their mind is (so far as finite can respect infinite; to the mind of God. There must exist something of congeniality in the whole spiritual world; or there could be no communication between human and angelic spirits, or between those and God.

This congeniaiity or identity of ideas, between human and superior spirits, seems to demonstrate of itself, that ideas are not dependent upon or formed by matter; because, if they were, pure spirits could not think at all. Nor could the identity of ideas subsist between men, and angels, and God; if the origin of the human idea was placed in sensation, and the origin of pure spirits in absolute intellection, which are properties entirely discrepant and heterogeneous. And if heterogeneous, how can matter produce what is so unlike itself, as

mind is?

Carrying our ideas still higher, we may make this principle confute itself. For, if matter generate idea; it will follow, that there is no idea without matter: And, if there be no idea without matter, then, either God is matter, or depends upon matter for his ideas, which will amount to nearly the same thing, and is downright Pantheism.

Further; it seems unavoidable, that all, which begins with matter, must end with matter; because no effect can rise above its cause: And from hence likewise it will follow, that all that philosophy (as 'tis called) which makes gross substance the primum mobile and the principle of thought, tends only to establish the blind fate

of the heathens, or direct materialism.

But, among other proofs, that the mind of man did not originate from matter, it doth not end there, but seeks for itself a more perfect

<sup>- †</sup> See a learned and elegant discussion of this subject in HAR-RIS'S Hermes. Book iii. chap. 4.

pear in the material frame. But let the spirit be restored, the body revives, and proves itself animated, or endued with something far above itself, by those actions which correspond with its frame. Shall we say then, that this mass, which pre-

and exalted good. The whole world cannot fill the soul, nor satisfy it; and the spirit of a man can find no true rest or completency but in an intellectual good. The good, which is GODDNESS ITSELF, and fills all things, can only fill that "aching void," which every man by the corruption of his nature, feels within him.

Undoubtedly, respecting the material substances about us, we form our ideas of them through the medium of matter. But notter doth not form those ideas; for, if it could, the eve would see, and the organs of sense would continue to perceive, when the spirit is departed. It is the spirit, which employs those organs, as instruments, to range in the world of matter, and by the application of them determines upon the quality or quantity of substances, very different from itself. God has given us this constitution, and wonderfully enables us to perceive it. Indeed, it seems a greater wonder, that matter actuated by mind should seem almost to investigate matter, and so rise above it, than that mere mind should comprehend matter, as it undoubtedly must, if there are such beings as angels and the spirits of just men made perfect. Our spirits can work upon matter, can frame ideas of it or according to it, and through the intervention of matter can receive ideas. But matter is only the medium (as we said before) not the cause. If a man invent a science, the origin of the idea is intrinscally intellectual. The spirit combines the material forms, and discovers conclusions, which, however they may exist in the matter, matter itself could net have discovered. Geometry, for instance, respects material proportious; and these proportions exist in the substance of matter: But was it the eye, or the hand, or the ear, of Luclid; was it his mind, or his body, which traced them out? His body, surely, was but the machine of his mind, and acted upon matter by its direction-

If the soul hath no ideas but what it derives from the body; then it is not an ens distinct from the body, but a co-essential substance with it, though rarified to the utmost degree of exility. Hence, it seems perishable with body; or, if it could exist without it, yet having no body to act with it, it can have no ideas, but must lose the very activity of its being, and sink into an inertness, which contradicts every notion of spirit.—Of such consequence is the opinion, which renders the soul dependent upon matter both in esse et in operari, that it directly removes the basis of the immortality as well as immateriality of all spirit, and puts men, nay, God himself,

upon a level with the beasts that perish.

When we ascend to forms purely intellectual, we seem to act as truly spritual beings, and leave matter quite out of sight. Ve think, without the intervention of our animal senses, upon many subjects, and upon some of which those senses could have no exercise. Our corporal frame, for instance, has nothing to do with religion, but to be governed according to its dictates: It has no par-

sently corrupts without that other principle, is the life or motion of that principle? Or, rather, that this immaterial part, which can leave the body without taking away one atom of its substance, is the life, which thinks in that body, and the

ticular relation, as a lump of matter, to its spiritual concerns, and can afford us no ideas, no nor yet sensation concerning them. It may be acted upon, and assuredly is, in this momentous case; but

it doth not and cannot act from itself. See John iv. 24.

Upon the ground of the Christian religion, this Epicurian business of the potency of matter must presently fall into atoms. Here we find, that there is no activity but in spirit; and that this activity originates from the supreme Spirit, is communicated by him to enry thing which acts, and is limited by him in the mode and degree of action. Matter is all obedience here; and even spirits themselves are active, only through the impulse of his activity. As volitions, or comprehensions, are as much mental acts, as local motion is an act of the body; so these are determined, as well as that, by the motion of the Supreme mind: Otherwise, there would be a principle of self-determination in the creatures, which would render them independent of his direction. In other words, they would, in that case, be no longer creatures: And so there would be an utter end of all providence in the government of nature, and of all grace in the revelation of God. There would be no certainty in any thing, and consequently no order; for order is certainty, wearing only another name. But if we view God's providence in the government of things, carried on with his grace in the salvation of his people; we may see a beautiful arrangement in the whole disposition of the intellectual and natural world, and a strength in the whole fabric, which renders it indemolishable. Yet there could be no arrangement of a whole, without a previous disposition of all the parts. How God influences the will of spirits, we cannot define; nor can we define the mode of God's action in any thing: But we are sure, as his word can teach us, that it is He who doth make them willing, and that they will and do, according to his power. We are also sure, that he effects this disposition in our souls, sometimes with, and sometimes without, the intervention of matter; and that, therefore, matter is not absolutely necessary to his operation. Meaner and worse agents than this can affect the mind, and give it inclinations, which it had not of itself. The temptations of the devil are not always by material objects, but remote from them, and often affect only spiritual concerns. From these short hints, we may conclude that God is the sovereign agent, that he acts according to his providence and grace, and that both matter and spirit are acted upon by him.

That God acts by necessity, in the usual sense of that term, it seems as impious to affirm, as it is above us to inquire. If we say, he is his own necessity; we can only mean, that he has no necessity out of himself: And how far we can pretend to determine what that self-necessity in the Godhead is, should be left for a very modest consideration. Certainly, he is his own law in this respect: And

motive power which acts upon it? It seems even reasonable to assert, with the voice of revealed truth, that it is the Sprair, which quickeneth: The flesh profiteth nothing.

Life, however, is motion, whether in the animal or the in-

if we say, that God is his own freedom or his own necessity, we are too bold, if we mean by these terms more than this, that God acts according to his pleasure, and that all his pleasure must be just and true.

To a Christian, then, the naked notion of an absolute necessity, independent of the divine controul, is as absurd and blasphemous a tenet, as the opinion of self-determination and free agency, independent of the divine direction, is untrue and impious. In all things, we should be guided by God; and certainly in all must be ruled by him. Otherwise, there is an end of all providence; and we mightadopt the poems of Lucretius, in the room of the two Testaments, called the Bible. "God's will (says Bernard, is done concerning all men, and by all, but not in all; for his people only have this blessing—He is pleased with good things in themselves, and satisfied with his wise and good disposal even of the bad." "Judas did ill in betraying Christ (says Austin) but God out of his treachery produced a good, which Judas never thought of. God viewed our salvation; but Judas only filthy lucre." Farther; if matter could not exist but by spirit as matter, in any other view, will be eternal, and its own maker, which is preposterous) certainly, it cannot act but by spirit. It will follow, hence, that all the impressions, which may be derived to the soul from matter, must be arranged according to Spirit, and that this Spirit must be Gop. If this be admitted, as it seems but just to admit it, the divine providence opens to our view in its resplendent glory; free grace in its sovereign beauty; and all the attributes of God uniting in the salvation of man, with the utmost perfection and harmony .- This is all the necessity for which a Christian should contend, and all which concerns him to know. And this he should know, because God hath taught it: This he should believe, because the Author of truth himself hath been pleased to reveal it.

He is bound to believe this, let his outward senses oppose or let sensible matter appear, as it may. Indeed, it is the great business of faith to live above mere sense and sensible objects: And hence again it may properly be asked, how then is faith to receive any ideas from them? It can receive none, but under such distributions of the sensible forms, which speak (as it were spiritual things, and so are composed to shadow forth what they have not in themselves. Such were the Levitical institutions, which led sense, even away from itself, up to faith; thereby proving themselves, when abstracted of their object, but week and beggary elements. A Christian now is not to judge from the appearances of matter, but to live above matter upon his Cod. This is one branch of the life of faith, which is contradistinguished from sense in almost every thing.

There is no absurdity in this, unless it be absurd to believe God, and to be persuaded that he cannot lie: And of this it becomes us to-

tellectual world. In the one case, matter is moved: In the other, spirit. The first cause of both must be that GREAT LIFE, who only can be said to live independently, necessarily, and eternally. What had a beginning of life, owed that beginning to a superior cause; for no being can produce itself out of nothing. But God, having no beginning, existed from himself, and is consequently independent, necessary, and cternal. This he gives us to understand from his name IE-HOVAH, which implies all that we can conceive, (and probably much more) of life, without beginning, dependence, or end. In truth, HE only lives; because he is the only cause of life, and the only determiner of its various modes of existence. He is the great Author of all understanding; therefore, the intellectual substances LIVE by him, and act in mind, thought, reason, and memory, by his power. He is the sole Creator of that gross substance called matter; therefore, all material natures ARE MOVED (having nothing akin to motion in themselves) by his activity and direction. He is the first

be, at least, as fally assured, as we are of any evidence which can result from our corporal senses. It is possible, that these may deceive us; but it is impossible, that God should. We may err in the application of our senses; but God cannot be mistaken in the declaration of his will. Every idea of certainty, both in the moral and spiritual world, is derived from the existence of God, without

whom all is darkness, anarchy, and error.

The intelligent reader will pardon the length of this note, if it appear in the least to establish, what the author means it should c-stablish, That all matter was produced by God, the creating mind, and that it is modified according to his will; that all spirit is derived from God, the only first Spirit, and hath no right or true end but communion with God; that both matter and spirit are controuled in all things by the constant superintendence of his PROVIDENCE; that they cannot act for rood, without his efficient aid, nor, for evil, without the permitted abuse of his power; and that there is no necessity in any created beings, beside that of their dependence upon him, nor any self-determination, beyond the limits of his will.

In this view, it is evident, that man is free when he acts by and according to him, who is the author of all freedom; and a slave, when, abusing the powers given to his nature, he attempts to act without or against him. In the one case, as a child of God, he is privileged to walk in his glorious liberty; and in the other, as a bondman of that evil spirit who exists without that liberty, he is taken captive by him; while that spirit himself is held in chains of darkness by the power of his Maker. Thus every man, in his depraved state, is at best but the slave of a slave. Rightcousness and true holiness are the essential liberty of the divine nature itself: And therefore sin and corruption, having no communion with the Almighty, though under his controll, are weakness, misery, and bondage.

cause of all existence; therefore, in Him all things, whether

spiritual or material, buve their being.

Hence, it appears, that God only is THE LIFE, properly so called, and that no other being hath a life of its own; indecendent or underived. It is nonsense, as well as blasphemy, to say of a creature, that he is life of itself: and all beings are creatures but one, who, in an eternal distinction, is denominated God THE CRESTOR.

Now, then, we must ado, t these conclusions, that whatever being is truly and justiy called the life, as the cause of life, is and can be no other than God: And that whatever being is thus termed by divine revelation, is therefore most'

truly and strictly so.

That the FATHER hath life in bimself, nobody will deny. Here all men, who believe there is such a being as God, are abreed: And as for those, who venture to deny his existence, their understandings rather demand our pity than an

argument. A fool only can affirm, There is no God.

Of CHRIST it was said, that in bim was life, and the life (or that life) was the light of men: And he says of himself, openly and expressly, I am the life. Hence, then, the Father and the Son, assuming this essential name, claim to be true and very God.

That the SPIRIT is also life, will appear both from the attribute being applied to him, and from the exercise of the at-

tribute by him.

In Rom. viii. 10. The Spirit is called life, in opposition to the condemnation or death, which comes by the transgression of the law. He is termed, not only Life, but what is more emphatical, the very Spirit of Life, in many places of the New Testament; and stronger still, in the Old Testament, the Spirit of lives. As if it had been said, He is life, the very life of life, the original life of all lives. To denominate the Holy Ghost thus, is calling him God by the strongest terms which could be used. It is representing him essential (as it were) to the divine Essence; because he is called the very Spirit of that life, in which the essence exists. He is denominated hereby the very energy of its energies, the very principle of its action ad extra, the divine glory of its power in all the creatures. Compared with this, to say simply, that the Spirit is God, though it be the same truth, is certainly not the same forcible expression of the truth. God (as it were) clothes the assertions of the Spirit's divinity and glorv by periphrases and terms, which may excite the strongest faith and comfort in the hearts of his people, and leave without excuse those who, knowing not his grace, have dared to dispute his being.

If we consider the Holy Spirit's exercise of this attribute

of life, we may be still farther convinced of the same important doctrine, revealed by his name. The Spirit (says the apostle) giveth life. 2 Cor. iii. 6. He gives natural life, spiritual life, and eternal life; and, in this view, He is the Spirit of lives. All live by Him. It was the treath or inspiration of the Spirit of lives, which communicated natural existence to all the creatures, at the beginning. Gen. vii. 22. And when that breath is taken away, they die, and re-

turn again to their dust. I's. civ. 20. With respect to spiritual life, man by the fall was cut off and alienated from the life of God. In this view, the human spirit is accounted as dead, and affirmed to be so in a multitude of texts; because it hath now no true spiritual action, no pure motion; and because it is in that state, separated from the holiness of Him, whose life is holiness itself, and in communion with which all perfect creatures are moved and concentered towards him. Thus, not to think what is good, not to love what is good, not to comprehend what is good, not to follow what is good; is that cessation from the most truly spiritual motion, which constitutes spiritual death. If all death be the privation of life; this is most eminently so. Now, who could restore this life, who could reposses the human mind with activity for God, but God himself? Yet the Spirit of life doeth this; it is his office to do it; and he takes this name, among other reasons, to denote, that it is his own peculiar office to do it. The law of the Spirit of Life in Christ Jesus, bath made me free (says St. Paul) from the law of sin and death: - For the minding, will, or purpose, of the flesh, is death; but the minding, will, or purpose, of the Spirit, is life and peace. Rom. viii. 2, 6. margin. See the whole chapter.

As the Spirit gives natural and spiritual, so he bestows everlasting life. He that soweth to the Spirit (says the apostle) shall of the Spirit reap life everlasting. Gal. vi. 8.

It appears, then, that the SPIRIT is both "the LORD and the GIVER of life"—of life abstractedly, i. e. of all the life, which we can understand or know. And if this be his title and his power; if there be no energy but by him, no principle of being but from him; what shall that opinion be called, which denies him to be God? Shall we say, that it is an absurdity? It must be so, if a contradiction to all truth and evidence can merit the name. Shall we believe it to be blasphemy? It cannot be otherwise, if a word spoken against the Holy Ghost shall never be forgiven, either in this world or in the world to come. O how fearfully, then, do they presume; how dangerously do they trifle with their own souls; who, not content with speaking a word against this blessed Comforter, write volumes upon volumes in degradation of his

glory, and seek to make proselytes to the most daring defa-

mation of his person among men!

As the Father, Son, and Holy Ghost, have each life in themselves, and are therefore three persons; so, there being but one original life, the three persons, by claiming that original life, do declare themselves to be but one undivided essence. They could not be persons, if they had not this life distinctly: They could not be one essence or God, if there was any separation or difference in the life. Hence the co-essentiality and co-equality are as common to each, as the life is common to all: They co-exist, as one God; and yet exist in distinction, as three persons. Thus, each is called JEHOVAH in Scripture, and is certainly JEHOVAH: yet there is but one JEHOVAH, and can be but one. Of course, the three persons are, in a mode inconceivable by the creatures, the one Jehovah; and the one Jehovah exists in the three persons; or the Scripture will contradict itself, and be untrue; which is either impossible or it is not a divine revelation. Each of the three persons, then, is selfexistent; or each cannot be Jebovab, which is the name for self-existence, and which means the same thing with the baving life in bimself. They are also co-existent, or of equal existence; else, it is impossible, that they should be of one essence. There is not, there cannot be, higher or lower, inferior or superior, difference or inequality, in JEHOVAH; for such discord would destroy the very serse of the name, and is repugnant to every scriptural, and even rational, idea of the perfections of the Godhead. As each person claims the essential attributes; these attributes could not be essential, perfect, and divine, unless the three persons were equally so. It is impossible, that either of them should hold the same attributes in a higher or lower degree; for that notion destroys the very idea of the essentiality of those attributes, and divides and distributes, what is absolutely indivisible and unimpartible.

Those people, therefore, who suppose any inferiority in the Godhead, do not seem perfectly aware to what consequences their notion will lead them, and how, by supposing it, they entirely darken the divinity of two of the divine persons, and in fact deny the personality itself. Otherwise, to avoid this conclusion, they must run into absolute tritheism, or, if

they please, into positive idolatry. Thus,

Incidit in Scytlam, qui vult vitare Charybdim.

It may be said, and it has been said, "that God is a Spirit, and that this name of Spirit may belong to him as one indistinguishable person."—Respecting the subtlety, purity, and absolute immateriality of his nature, it is undeniable, that God is Spirit, a Spirit, one Spirit; because he is one nature, and one essence; and, in this respect, the Father, Son, and

Spirit, being holy, may justly be termed Holy Spirit. But these last names are names of office, and were not intended so much to convey the notices of what the persons are in themselves, as of what they are to us. The Spirit of God. for instance, is so named, because it is his office in the covenant, to breathe life, to inspire the strength of that life, and to be the very Spirit, fountain and cause both of it and of its continuance, in all the redeemed. In this respect, He is also their Father; and is so called. The Son of God, for a similar reason, is styled, The everlasting Father.\* And, when we address ourselves in that perfect form of words, which Christ hath taught us to use; we address the three persons in one Godhead, and style them our Father. As it hath been already observed in the former volume, p. 91, the characters and offices of the Eternal Trinity are plainly marked out and expressed in the course of that prayer; and the interchanging some of these characters and offices to the respective persons in the Godhead, seems evidently designed to demonstrate their respective equality, and their mutual consent and energy in all operations. We, in fact, cannot address one of the divine persons, without worshipping the other two; because we worship him as God, and because there is but one Essence or Godhead. A true Christian cannot be an idolater, for he doth not worship the figment of his own brains, but a God revealed; nor a Polytheist, for he worships one God; nor an Arian, for he worships each person in the Godeead; nor an beretic against the Holy Ghost, for he adores the Godhead in the Spirit, and by the Spirit, and also the Spirit bimself, in the unity of the Godhead. He believes God's own account of his own divine nature, and implicitly obeys his sovereign direction in all acts of adoration and duty.

The enmity which has been shewn to this fundamental doctrine of true religion, both by Jew and Gentile, is the

\* See under this name in Vol. i. p. 89.

† When the enmity of the Jews is spoken of in this case, it is to be understood of the modern Jews. The antient people of this denomination were of a different opinion respecting this and some other doctrines of revelation, and agreed in substance with the Christians. Some proof of this has been given in the Introduction to the first Volume of these Essays; and the learned reader may find more, in Mornaus's Book de veritate religionis Christiana, and in Pocoke's notes upon Maimonides's dissertations, entitled Porta Mosis.

It may not be unsatisfactory to readers, who have not opportunity to consult such kinds of books, to lay before them an abstract of the present Jewish fundamentals; by which they may see something of their distance from the Christian religion, and how little in fact they differ from Sociains, Turks, and the men of what is called national states.

the best apology for considering it in so many of the various ways, which relate to our faith and hopes both here and hereafter. The souls of men are at stake in this case; and the dignity of God forbids all presumption and trifling. We, therefore, for safety fly to his word, which, we are sure, can never deceive us; and we stay ourselves upon his revelation, which alone can precisely inform us in all things, which are proper or necessary to our salvation. O one thing, we are very certain, that, if God hath not told us the truth, respecting his own nature and his engagements to us, we shall never be able to find it our ourselves; and in that case we may

tural religion; even while they profess to believe in a divine revelation. These fundamentals are stated in the celebrated catechim of Rabbi Abraham Jagel, and were originally extracted from Maimonides, as may be seen in the Porta Mosis, p. 164, &c.

1. That there is a Creator, by whom are all things.

2. That this Creator, is cne God, of the most perfect simplicity and unity of being.

3. That this one God is absolutely incorporeal, and cannot be

included in body, nor wear the likeness of body.

4. That God is also eternal, without beginning or end.

5. That this one eternal God only is to be worshipped by all the creatures.

6. That God hath imparted his will to Moses and the prophets,

by his own inspiration.

7. That the prophecy, delivered by Moses, is more excellent, than that delivered by the patriarchs and other prophets; because Moses spake with God, face to face, without vision, or suppression of the natural faculties, or any previous preparation; which was peculiar to Moses alone.

8. That Moses acted as the mere amanuensis of God, in writing

both the historical and ceremonial parts of his five books.

9. That to this revelation nothing is to be added, and from it nothing to be diminished.

10. That God knows all the thoughts, words, and works of men-

11. That God will punish or reward men in another life, according to their works, and particularly the Jews, more or less than o-

thers, for their obedience or disobedience of the law.

12. That God will yet send the Messiah to deliver the Jews from the bondage of the Gentiles, although his advent be long delayed; that this Messiah is to arise of the stock of David the son of Jesse, of Bethlehem; that he will govern the world in righteousness; that, upon his advent, the Jews shall repossess their own land, rebuild the temple, and resume all the antient ceremonies and observances of the law; and that it is their duty to pray for this continually.

13. That there is a resurrection of the dead.

Concerning this last article there is much difference and disputation among them; as may be seen at large in the very learned, notes of Dr. Pocoche above-mentioned, c. vi. p. 86, &c. (old as the world is) erect another altar, and inscribe it; with the heathens—To the unknown God.

We have hinted, in another place, for what reason the third person in the Trinity hath assumed the name of Spirit. It is a title borrowed from the air, which we breathe, to convey to our minds, under that sensible form, our spiritual dependence upon his person. As wind is air in motion, it is his frequent' emblem to denote the quickness, subtlety, and effeet, of his activity. No animal can subsist a moment without air, not even the fishes under the water: All the vegetable tribes live by it, and without it perish. It is, in fact, so much the life of all creatures in this system, that to breathe and to live, are exactly synonimous. We have no power in our animal sense, but by this medium. Air conveys sounds to our ears, smells to our nose, and reflects the light of the heavenly orbs to our eyes .- What this subtle and most necessary fluid is to our bodies; just such is the most holy and blessed Spirit to our souls. We have no spiritual life but by his momentary supply. We have no spiritual strength but by his continual support. Whenever we move for God; he is the spring and life of our motion, gives all the efficacy, and doeth all in us and by us. Our bodies, possibly, are not more gross in comparison of the air, than our spirits are to the subtle nature and force of the Spirit of God. We know the action of the wind, though we cannot see it; and throughout eternity we may be perceiving the impressions of the Holy Ghost, without being able to explain them. It will be sufficient for us, both here and hereafter, to enjoy the fullness of his almighty love, which, because it is infinite, must always be indefinable. As our outward senses cannot be exercised without the intervention of the air, his emblem; so neither can our spirits hear, taste, see, and enjoy the wisdom, grace, and righteousness of God, but by his constant inspiration. He reflects the light of Christ upon our souls, explains the things of Christ to our minds, and applies the salvation of Christ to our whole frame. We are spiritually dead without him, separated from the life of God, alienated from the love of God, altogether both spiritual and natural rottenness, corruption, and mortality, or whatever of misery and death can be included in those terms.

God hath given his people a pointed description of their case, in the xxxvii of Ezckiel, under the very emblem of which we are treating. The prophet was carried out in the Spirit of the Lord, and was set down in the midst of the valley, which was full of bones; and those bones very dry. They (whom these bones represented) were in a low place, far from the mountain of God's holiness, and void of the least oil or moisture of his grace. "Is it possible, that these bones

can live?" The prophet knew, that nothing was too hard for God, though every thing of this kind must be too hard for the creature, and therefore referred the answer to his wisdom and power. He was commanded to preach to these bones in the name and by the word of the Lord. Could his feeble voice avail? No. He might sooner turn the tides of the sea, and cause the winds to be still, than impart life by his speaking to the least of these dry bones. But he did not reason like a bold Rationalist, who must be informed of and will pretend to understand everything, or will credit nothing: He obeyed like a true believer in that God who cannot lie, who orders nothing, and who will do nothing, in vain. As he spake, while the words were in his mouth, the effect began: The wind breathed upon the bones; and they lived, and stood up upon their feet, even an exceeding great army .- This was the vision or parable. Immediately afterwards is subjoined the comment or explanation, which contains one of the most noble testimonies in the Bible for the Spirit's divinity and glory. I will put my Spirit in you, and ye shall live, says Jebovah to his people. As if it had been said; " your souls are as dead to God as these dry bones are to the world: Ye have no power to raise vourselves from death, any more than they. My word, by my appointed instruments, must come forth; and my Spirit must accompany that word, to make it effectual for your regeneration. When that Holy Spirit is placed within you, ye shall live-live spiritually by his continual inspiration, and finally enter into the possession of heaven your own, for ever appointed to be, your own land."-Taking this whole expressive prophecy together, it evidently appears, that as the dry bones, when restored to their original state and form, that is, compounding the respective men to whom they belonged, could not live without breathing the material wind; so neither God's people, even when regenerated and renewed, can subsist in their spiritual life, without the breath of that holy Spirit, whose office it is to impart and maintain it in their souls .- A man must be most violently prejudiced indeed, who will not see, that this is the obvious and important doctrine, inculcated by the prophecy before us.

When men can live naturally without air for their bodies, they may live spiritually without the Holy Ghost for their souls. This is one of those evident and solemn truths, which shine through the fabric of the Book of God. And if, therefore, it be equally true, that in God we live, are moved, and have our being; will it not demonstrably and undeniably follow, that the Holy Spirit, by whom we thus live, is true and very God? Doth it not appear, upon the ground of that fact, highly absurd to deny it? Even reason becomes, in this case, a handmaid to faith, and bears evidence for the divinity.

of him, who created her. If the Holy Ghost be not God, he could not give life, which is solely the work and the gift of God. If the Holy Ghost be not God, he could not maintain life, because this is the prerogative of God. If the Holy Ghost be not God, he could not bestow life everlasting, because this is the sole possession of God, and cannot be enjoyed but in Him. But the holy Spirit doeth all these things, hath done them from the beginning, and hath promised to do them for evermore: He doeth them to myriads upon myriads of creatures, in the same instant of time, beyond the impediments of space, and according to their various capacities. Is it unbelief only to say, then, "that He is not God ever-blessed?"—If these premises be true, it must be spiritual folly,

absurdity, and impiety.

Could we ask the highest creatures, which God hath made, to communicate to us the gifts and excellencies of grace; the nearer they are to the throne, the louder they would say, " It is not in us to bestow them." They are as much indebted for divine life, and all its sublime advantages; as the poorest reptile which crawls upon the ground, or as the smallest insect which floats in the air, are for their lives, to the Almighty Creator. Nor could they convey any of their natural endowments to man, more than man himself can impart his human nature to a fly. Life, with all its proper appendages, capacities, and exercise, flows freely and solely from HIM, who only bath life in Himself, and who infinitely and eternally lives, independent of others. "Creatures live, but they are not life itself, because they have their life by participation: And every being by participation must be reduced to somewhat, that is such [life or being] of itself; therefore, the life of the creature must be reduced to God, who is life itself."†

Upon the whole, we see, that if the Scriptures be true, in ascribing this name and attribute of life to the Holy Spirit, and true, in relating the facts of his granting and supporting life in the creatures; the unavoidable consequence is, that the Holy Spirit is God or Jebovab: But if he be not Jebovab or God, then the Scriptures are untrue both in doctrine and record, the Christian religion becomes at once a fible, and there is no bope of salvation, by the means it proposes, either

in this world, or in the world to come.

Of such importance to our faith is the doctrine of the Spiritr's divinity: And it is of no less consequence to our experience. If Jebovah Alehim alone could breathe into our nostrils the breath of our natural life; surely none less than Himself could impart to our souls the inspiration of spiritry.

ritual life.—Gen. ii. 7. And if this be from Him we must depend upon Him for it on the one hand, that it may be constantly maintained in us; and, on the other, live out of ourselves, and reject the pride of our fallen hearts, which very hardly stoop to this dependent situation. This proud independent spirit is so dear to us, that the giving of it up is in the Scripture, called a crucifixion, and even a losing of our very life. To do this daily (and daily it must be done) is taking up the cross daily, and following Christ. It is that surrendering up of life for life, which every believer is more or less acquainted with, all the way to heaven. "This (says the excellent Mr. Dorney) cuts the heart of self-pride, spiritual surfeiting, and slotbfulness, when I live every moment at the mercy of another, even Jesus Christ, both for justifying righteousness, and every influence thereof, by the immediate breathing of his Spirit, according to his good pleasure; having not the power, so much as to make one hair white or black: But I must wholly work by his hands, see by bis eyes, and in bis light behold the light. What more powerful inducement can there be to self-denial than this? Boasting is excluded; because Christ, in his own person, and by his own SPIRIT, doeth whatsoever is done for me, or in me. Here lies the mystery and labour of faith, which the mere notion thereof can never reach unto, so as to improve the same to a self-denying activity for God, in the paths of godliness and travel towards Zion." This is one of those mysteries of godliness, which, to the ungodly, the carnal, or mere reasoning professor, will always be mysteries. Not to live a man's own life, but to live by the faith of the Son of God, and to breathe spiritually by the Spirit of God; are inexplicable points even to masters in Israel, who walk by their own understandings; though obvious enough to the meanest disciple, who knows the truth as it is in Jesus. We are, by nature, fond of our own will, wisdom, power; and, at every turn, are ready to cry out, Who is Lord over us? We presume, in consequence, upon our free agency and the vigor of our faculties, and fancy we can do all things for God, while we perceive not, that we have not at present the will, and that, in fact, we have never had the power to do any thing for Him. The louder the boast, the less the deed. The Pharisee in the temple was of this cast. He came in the undiscerning pride of his natural state, and therefore was rejected. Another spirit actuated the Publican, led him to renounce himself, and to see that he could do nothing at the most but cry for mercy. He could not even have cried for that mercy; had he not already obtained the mercy to cry for it. It was grace, which made the difference: It was sovereign grace, which filled his hungry soul with good things,

and sent the rich and self-exalted empty away. Instead of g ving to God, as too many dream; we can only receive from Him: And, when we have received one blessing, we must receive another, that we may be enabled to use the first for good. If we have the life of the Spirit, we need the strength of that life for its exercise and employment. If we pray and receive, we want grace to praise for the receiving: And if our souls are enlarged towards God, we must be indebted to his conduct, that we be not puffed up within ourselves. If we are diligent, the Spirit of truth, who gave us power to be diligent, must preserve us from the pride of human activity. If we are depressed or described in mind, the same Spirit must uphold us from falling and fainting, must restrain our ungrateful hearts from murmurs, and our lives from disgracing his truth .- Real believers know much of these wrestlings; and they know them, because they are really alive. The life in them, given by the Spirit of life, struggles against the attacks of disease, which is sin, in their carnal nature; and, struggling by a strength far above itself or what can be exerted by a creature, it assuredly and finally prevails. It gives no quarter to the least unholy thought, declares perpetual war against all evil words and deeds, and tends to reduce the whole man to the love and obedience of Jesus Christ. His "service being perfect freedom," it seeks the utmost liberty here, not for an occasion to the flesh, but for the glory of God .- Will any man venture to say then, that this holy Guide can lead to licentiousness, or that those, who are led by him, can be the servants of sin? Can the boldest mortal declare, that doctrines, like this, or founded upon this, tend to diminish morality, or corrupt the principles of holiness either in heart or life? - If they can insist upon so strange a conclusion, they may also insist, that the sun is the cause of all darkness, and that the icy regions of the north send forth the intolerable heats, which pervade the Arabian sands. The Spirit of God in the believer leads him as opposite to all sin, as the devil leads those, over whom he has power, in ways contrary to all holiness.

"But may not people be deceived, concerning this life, and fancy they have it, when they know nothing of the matter?"—Most undoubtedly. The Scripture mentions such persons in the apostle's time; and there, most likely, have been such at all times. But this is no argument against the truth, but for it. Here, as in other cases, exceptio probat regulum: If there was no line, there could be no deviation. It, however, strongly urges, that every professor should examine and prove bimself: And this the real believer is always desirous to do. Our Lord hath proposed a rule for trial; and so have his apostles. He tells us, concerning others, By

their fruits, ye shall know them: He assures us, concerning ourselves, Te must be born again. His apostles follow his doctrine, and affirm, That if any man bave not the Spirit of Corist, be is none of bis; and, that every man, that bath this bope in bim, purifieth bimself, even as he is pure. Take these with many other such tests, and compare them together in our own bosoms; we cannot but see something correspondent with or contrary to them, arising within ourselves. If we are sincere in the inquiry, we shall pray before we make it: We shall pray to that Searcher of hearts to prove and try, whether there be any way of wickedness in us; and we shall beg, with tears, to be led into the way everlasting. No hypocrite asks about the matter, at least never asks in this secret earnest manner before God. He wishes to take it for granted; and he desires, that all men should take it for granted too. The true Christian is never satisfied, but with the testimony of his own conscience, the testimony of God's word, and the testimony which is laid down in this sentence of the apostle, Hereby we know that be [God] abideth in us, by the Spirit which he hath given us. 1 John iii. 24. evidences, indeed, may be sometimes clouded; but there will ever be light enough to distinguish the reality of their existence; as, in the shortest and darkest day, people can see a wide difference between that and the night. Serious Christians will soon discern a real believer under a cloud, even though the believer seems himself bewildered, and ready to give up all for lost. Persons upon a hill can see the end of the thickets beneath them, while those in the thickets are puzzled about the way through, think themselves in an impenetrable forest, and cannot view a step of their progress before them. In temptations of this kind, it is well to advise with established and experimental Christians, and especially pious ministers, who, if they have not been exercised in this manner themselves, must know many that have, and are therefore the more able to suit their instructions and advice.

It is an invincible argument of comfort to the believer, who knows, that the life, which he liveth in the flesh by the faith of the Son of God, is an indefectible life, that be can never perish from it, and that it cannot cease from him. He is enabled to view it, not as bis own life, but as the life of God in him; and he, therefore, is the more persuaded of the permanency of the gift from the perpetuity of the giver. To talk, as some poor unacquainted people do, of the perishing nature of this immortal life, appears to him (what it truly is) first, the uttering an absurd error in itself, then, a most gloomy and uncomfortable position for the soul of the Christian, and in fine a direct blasphemy against the divinity of the

Holy Ghost. 'Tis readily granted, that such persons do not see these consequences, or it may be hoped they would abhor them; but they follow as necessarily from their principles, as the conclusions of the most perfect syllogisms do from their respective premises. Such professors debase the glory and truth of God's promises, which are as immutable as himsert; they endeavour to rob his people of their strong consolations founded upon this immutability; and they hold forth, in its stead, --- what :-- a dark uncertain void, where no prospect of stability, no ground of hope, can relieve the mind. They preposterously suspend a man's salvation upon his own will and strength, when the man of himself cannot so much as think one good thought towards it, nor do (what is less indeed than this, because Christ says it is least of all with respect to doing ) aught to make one bair black or white .- And thus much for this arrogant presum; tion of man, which, whether it be more impious or absurd, it is indeed difficult to say.

Our God, believer, is a God unchangeably true. The life, which he grants to the soul, is strictly indefeasible; or it could not have been for his glory to have granted it. It was granted by God, upon a covenant of promise and power, which stipulates to perform, and must perform (if its author be true) whatever it hath stipulated. If, when we were dead, this Spirit, of which we are treating, graciously gave us life, without any procurement of our own; surely, he will, at least with equal ease, preserve this life already bestowed, and lead it on to eternal bliss. This life is given in and through Christ for this very end. He holds it as the bead, for his people as the members. Hence, He is the Mediator of the new testament, or covenant, that-they which are called might receive the promise of eternal inheritance. The calling of men by God, is the making them saints to God. The Holy Spirit doth not sound in men's ears, as men do, without effect, but is a still small voice in the soul, which (while it speaks) works, new-creates, and transforms to the image of God's dear Son. The believer also doth not receive this grace of the Spirit of life, without a mediation; because, without the Mediator, the holy God could have no communion with defiled sinners: But he receives every grace, mercy, promise, and blessing, in Christ, for Christ's sake, and for the glory of Christ. Hence the Spirit is called the Spirit of Life in Christ Jesus, Rom. viii. 2. as well as the Spirit of Life from God. Rev. xi. 11. We have no access to the Father but by Christ; no communion of the Spirit, but in him. Through his human nature we approach to the divine; and (what is still more) through the same human nature, glorified in him, we are partakers of the divine. He, that is joined to the Lord, is one spirit: i. e. there is an indissoluble u-

nion between God the Pather and believers through God the Son, who hath assumed our nature, and who partook of both natures to become a due Mediator, and also by the power and effectual working of God the Spirit. Thus their life is bid and laid up with Christ in Gad; and because be liveth, they live also. The life is in the Son for them, brought through the Son by the Spirit into them, and by it they are united to Father, Son, and Spirit, for evermore. John xiv. 17, 19, 20. xvii. 21, &c. O what glory to God from man, what security for man to God, rest in this glorious truth! The apostles are full of this subject in their several epistles to the brethren. They admire and bless God for this unutterable benignity to their souls. They seem transported at times with the exhilarating views of the divine benificence in Christ Jesus, and labor to express the gratitude they felt by words, which after all teem with big thoughts that cannot be expressed. Reboid, what manner of love! O the depth! are among the fervent exclamations of their spirits, which could neither fathom the depth, nor describe the manner, of what they saw and enjoy-They only express by these terms, that the love is altogether inexpressible. In heaven, doubtless, their language is the same; for the farther they see into what is infinite, and the more they enjoy of what is eternal; the wonder, the love, the transport, must increase upon them, and (in a devotion which mere mortals cannot feel) entirely rapt them up in the sublimity of praise. The highest praise is even then (as it were) but dumb, in declaring the goodness or the glory of the Lord: The loudest acclamation of heaven is but like the stillest silence, when that acclamation attemps to utter the mighty majesty of God. It can sing almost nothing. To this purpose, the psalmist no icss justly, than beautifully, says, Praise is silent for thee, O Goa, in Zion. Ps. lxv. 1. It cannot declare his glory, it cannot express how much He is to be praised. As the most pungent grief sturs the faculties and makes men dumb; so this height of God's due praise, when faith can look up to it, absords all human and angelic powers, and would leave the creatures, like Daniel and some others, quite overwhelmed with the sense of its majesty, (Dan. x. 8. Rev. 1. 17. Ezek. i. 26.) did not the Spirit of life from God go forth to support them .- Happy believer! all this blessedness, all this triumph and transport, shall one day be thine! Thou shalt be fitted for this work; as this work is already prepared for thee. Doth not thy beart burn within thee in the foresight, or rather from the foretaste, of this delightful portion, of this everlasting joy, with which the stranger intermeddleth not! Satan cannot touch it, the world cannot take it away; no, nor even thy contemptible flesh detain thee from it. This thou shalt drop as a filthy garment, and

the others shall be removed far away. Then shalt thou be all life in this Spirit of life, all activity by his power, all love by his goodness, all purity by his holiness, all joy by his blessing. Surrounded by innumerable millions of happy spirits, like thyself; grief, corruption, and sin, thou shalt see no more. Fitted for God, thou shalt enjoy God. One with Christ, thou shalt be like him. The Fither, Son, and Spirit, will commune with thee through the human nature of thy Saviour, and impart all, what thou wilt be able to receive of, the vast-ness of glory. Thou wilt then know, whatever is to be known by the purified intellect of man, concerning the trinity in unity, the unity in trinity, the incarnation of the Messiah, an I all the other acls and intentions of the covenant of truth. The veil of ignorance, which thou hast often deplored, together with sin its cause, shall entirely be done away. Every faculty shall be dilated with the love of God, and every capacity filled with his joy. O couldst thou see the high employment of the blest, couldst thou conceive but the half of their glory; this dull poor life below would appear doubly dull and disgusting, and thy soul would be crying out in a rapture, "Come, LORD JESUS; come quickly! Hasten, my beloved, and my friend! My soul panteth for thee; yea, my heart and my flesh, the meanest faculty that I have for thee, even for thee, the LIVING God!" When a great philosopher first preached theimmortality of the soul; and from reason asserted that there must be a better world for the spirits of men than this we live on; two of his hearers went away and put an end to their mortal lives, in order (as they hoped) to enjoy it. Though their practice was wrong; yet how many, who are called Christians, will their fervor condemn! If these heathens could not endure to live upon earth from the bare notion of an immortal joy; O what hearts have we, that we should cling so close to the earth, and be ready to sacrifice almost our very souls to obtain but a small particle of it; even when life and immortality are, in a manner, laid open to our view by the gospel! OLD MEN, what say we to this? Ye, who are treading quick towards the grave, and yet have lingering hearts for the world? Can ye rejoice to die; not because death brings you to the end of pain, but to the end of sin, and to the beginning of life eternal? "Gray hairs (says an ingenious physician) are church-yard flowers, which may serve to them that bear them, instead of passing bells, to give them certain notice, whither they are suddenly going." These hang about your ears: Have they sounded thus in your ears; and do ye find pleasure in the sound? O what an honorable example are you privileged to give among men, if grace be in

your hearts, and glory in your eye? You may respecively say with good old Polycrap, yet without his particular trial, "I have served for so many or so many years, The served, as he told the Roman proconsul, eighty six years] my good master Christ; and he hath ever been kind to me: And shall I forsake him now?" Yor are upon the threshold of heaven, and may almost hear the melodies of the blest: Surely the din and confusion of the world can never be entertaining to you. What is earthly clamor to those who live above it?- the muttering of slaves in a mine, which free men in day-light and good air, when they hear it, only commiserate or contemn. Come then, old believer, some few steps more; and all the life of heaven is yours. Commit your gray hairs to HIM, who hath said, that not one of them shall perish. And if not one of these shall perish; how much less the least of your dearer conserns, the hopes of your soul, the promise of a mansion in heaven! Cheer up, therefore, and say, with an aged believer like thyself, " Though my beart and my flesh fail; though all the strength of my nature be gone and the very grassbopper is a burden; yet GoD is the strength of my beart, and my portion for ever! I trust in the ANTIENT or DAYS, to whom all my days are but few, as to myself they are evil; and he shall renew my youth as the eagle's and give me that immortal bloom, which shall glow brighter and brighter throughout eternity! Behold, LORD, thy servant: Be it unto me according to thy word!"-Dear old friend; it shall be so; thou shalt have this cordial, and more. Wait for thy Lord; and be, that will come, shall come and will not tarry. He will replenish thee with eternal youth; and thou shalt remember thy cares and thy infirmities no more for ever.

#### **──**: \*: **\***: \*:

# WATER OF LIFE.

IFE hath already been considered as an attribute of the Holy Spirit, and consequently as a proof of his divinity. He is the Spirit of life to impart life, and the water of life to nourisb it when imparted. When and where this Spirit breather, this water flows: Or, in other words, to whomsoever the Holy Ghost conveys life, He immediately so possesses the soul, as to maintain it continually, finally, eternally. It has been repeated, that God uses this emblematic language

in order to illustrate, from the natural objects around us, the necessity, the riches, and (in many respects) the manner of his grace. He hath employed the emblem of water for that end, and thereby shews us, that this fluid is not more necessary to the subsistence of the material, than his Holy Spirit is to the spiritual or intellectual world. And, hence, he is most admirably denominated (what the Godhead alone could have denominated him) the living Water, and Water of Life, or Lives.

Every body knows, that water is a simple and transparent fluid, which enters into the composition of all matter, at least all the matter of our system. There is no substance, whether animal, vegetable, or mineral, without it. The accretions of the hardest substances, probably even of precious stones which are as hard as any, are formed by this univer-sal principle, and possibly derive a proportional perfection from its purity. Every being, which has a proper life, lives by it; and, whatever grows, through it receives its growth. When they decay, they return for the most part to water, not excepting the driest substances, as to one of their original principles. We have no fluid so subtle and penetrating, excepting fire: It enters into the minutest particles and pores of matter, into the finest vessels of animals, and the smallest tubes of plants. It will pierce through substances, which detain air itself. And, wherever it enters according to the aconomy of providence, it promotes, sustains, and increases life; preserves all material natures in their proper classes of being; and is one of the first principles in the fabric and constitution of the world. Whether, in short, it be considered, as productive of health to animal and vegetable being, as requisite to the beauty and existence of the earth, or as the great mechanic power, by which God works in the sustentation and action of the whole universe; we may perceive a noble propriety in the sensible image for a representation of the spiritual agency, and divinity, of the Holy Guost.

The necessity and use of this admirable fluid in all things, impressed some antient philosophers with a notion, that it was the first principle of universal life, and that therefore (as they had not then conceived the idea of a universal mind)

it must be God, or the source of the Gods.\*

T

<sup>\*</sup> Cicero, in his first book de natura Deorum, says, that Thales the Milesian was the first who asserted, that "God was that mind, who formed all things out of water;" but he presently adds, that Anaxagoras was the first who affirmed, that the design and frame of all things was planned and formed by the power and reason of an infinite mind. The honor, however, is generally attributed to the latter, who was surnamed Nes, or mind, upon the doctrine.

At the creation of the world, the Spirit of God moved, or brooded it upon the face of the waters, ingenerating life with this fluid into all the material substances as they were created, and diffusing the fluid itself through all the members of this terrestrial frame, for the support of the life bestowed. In this first great instance he acted by water for the sustenance of all things, declaring upon fact, that, without his express energy, it had no power of its own to support the natural being of things, and declaring also in the emblem of that fact, that the spiritual life of men is by his infusion, and that it can by no means subsist without him.

To explain and enforce this important truth, there are many rites and declarations, concerning the use of water, both in the Old and New Testaments. These all refer to the agency of the Spirit of God, and, at the same time, shew, for the most part, that this agency and its blessings, result only

through the great Redeemer.

It was not by change that the people of Israel, after their departure from Egypt, were led to Rephidim, where there was no water for them to drink. Exodus xvii. God himself led them thither, to teach believers among them, and believers also among us, a lesson of his grace, as well as of his power. Moses, upon their complaint of thirst, was to go on before the people, and with the rod of authority, which God had given him, was commanded to smite a great rock which formed a part of the mountain in Horeb. It was very improbable to human reason, that a dry impenetrable substance, as a rock is, should afford the sfuid of water at all, and much less a sufficient quantity for the lasting refreshment of so many hundred thousand people: But Moses was too wise to reason upon God's revelation: He obeyed it in faith. Behold (says the Lord) I will stand before thee there upon the rock. In this and in the xx chapter of Numbers, where the fact is repeated with other particulars; we find, that the water came out abundantly, and supplied the whole congregation.-We are not left to guess at the instruction meant by this wonderful transaction: The Scripture is full upon the subject. The rock (says the apostle) was CHRIST: And Christ, to the eye of reason, when he appeared in the flesh, was just as unlikely to afford all the benefits of salvation, as the rock in Horeb was, at the stroke of a stick, to send forth water. So thought the Jews when they saw him; and so think all unbelieving Gentiles: While both of them, without meaning it, only ful-

<sup>†</sup> The antient heathens had many obscure traditions both concerning the cosmogony and the state of man before and about the times of the flood. Thus, according to Dr. Thomas Gale, quod Moses, per Spiritum, qui aquas. fovebat, expressit, Egyptii per Zum designabant. Not. in Jambl. Sect. viii. c. iii.

al thereby the Scriptures concerning him. He was a man of sorrows, and, to human view, barren even of comfort for himself. Yet it pleased the Lord to smite him; and, at his smiting, forthwith issued out the water of life everlasting. John iv. 14. He gives this living werer. If any man thirst (says he,) let bim come unto me and drink. He that believeth on me, as the Scripture bath said, out of his belly shall how rivers of living water. But this spake be of the Spirit, which they, that believe on him, should receive; for the Holy GHOST was not yet given, because that Jesus was not yet giorified. John vii. 37, &c. God was in Christ; and this he emblematically declared, when he said to Moses, Behold, take notice, I will stand before thee there upon the rock. The rock was nothing in itself to this purpose, and could have yielded nothing without God: Nor could Christ have redeemed us by his buman nature alone; for he could not have merited but by the divine.\* When this human nature was smitten for the transgressions of bis people; then came forth, even with sensible demonstration, the SPIRIT of God from this Jesus. It was however the same Spirit, which, in all past ages, had proceeded from him, and even then had spiritually accomplished his own office to believers in those types, which proclaimed the work and sufferings of the Redeemer, till he should appear in the world. The Spirit operated in virtue of that eternal covenant, by which Jesus was also considered as a Lamb already slain from the foundation of the world. -The whole congregation of Israel was replenished from the water out of the rock; and so is the whole church of God by the Spirit of life in Christ Jesus: And this, by the way, affords the reason why he is called so often the Spirit of Christ, as well as the Spirit of God.

It was the same lesson, which was taught by the standing rite, recorded in Lev. xiv. 4. If a man had been healed of the leprosy, the mode of cleansing was, that the priest should go forth to him out of the camp, and command two clean living birds to be taken for the person, with cedar-wood, and scarlet (or scarlet-wool or silk) and hyssop. One of the birds was to be killed in an earther vessel, over running water (Heb. living water or water of lives;) and the other bird was to be dipped, with the cedar, the scarlet, and the hyssop, in the blood of the bird, which was killed over this running water. The man was then to be sprinkled seven times with the blood; in consequence of which he was pronounced clean, and the living bird was let loose into the open field.—So the redeemed of the Lord have Christ for their high priest, who came to them in their pollution, and when cast out of the

camp of God. He is also their sacrifice itself. His divine nature, represented by that aerial creature the bird, was placed in our human nature, under the well-known image of an earthen vessel, and, in it, suffered for their sins. Out of his side come forth blood and water, the two testimonials of cleansing. As the bird was killed over or upon the living or running water; so Christ offered bimself through the ETER-WAL SPIRIT, which that water signified, unto God, and poureth out that Spirit upon his people, when He sprinkleth them with his blood. The sprinkling, reiterated seven times, denotes the perfect purification by that blood. The living bird also represents, under another form, the Lord Fesus. This was to be dipped in blood, and to rise from it, and to fly away. So Christ was buried, and rose again, and is now ascended into heaven, baving obtained eternal redemption for his people. Through him, the Spirit of life became the water of life for them, all-efficacious to cleanse and to replenish for evermore.

If we go through the whole ceremonial of the law, we shall find the application of water made in a variety of instances, which were appointed to shadow forth the necessary and illustrious agency of the Spirit of God. The priests were to be outwardly washed with water, in sign of their inward purification, and not from a political motive of mere cleanliness (as some authors have very unscripturally supposed;) and, in allusion to this, the great expounder of the Jewish ritual recommends to believers, that their bodies be washed with pure water, by which he means, that their outward life and conversation should be purified from the filth of sin, as well as their bearts be sprinkled from an evil conscience. Heb. x. 22. Exod. xxix. 4. Lev. viii. 6. Men are not truly qualified to minister in holy things without the water of life, whatever be their parts or learning; and nothing, done for God, can be holy, but by its purification. Lev. viii. 7. It was necessary even for Christ himself, as the great High-Priest of our profession, to offer himself with this water, or the eternal Spirit so called; as was prefigured by the sacrifice of the red beifer, whose ashes were to be mingled with water, and kept for the church, as a water of separation, or purification for sin. Numb. xix. Thus Christ came by water; not only in his own innocence but in the power of the Spirit; and also by blood, shedding his own life for the lives of his redeemed. His merit was confirmed by the Holy Spirit, and is applied by him to all the people of God. This the apostle seems to mean in 1 John v. 7, 8. by the three that bear witness in beaven, and the three that bear witness on carth; the former giving spiritual testimony, the latter a sensible one, that the work of salvation is accomplished by

Christ. The three divine persons bear witness to believers concerning Christ; and this is called the witness of God, which every believer bath in bimself: verses 9, 10. The Sylvit of the believer winesses to the truth of what God reveals, setting to bis seal that God is true, respecting the efficacy of the water and the blood, or, in other words, of the Spirit and Christ, in their engagements of salvation. And these three, namely, the believer's spirit, this water, and this blood, agree in one; i.e. they all harmonize and agree together in one object, and in one great end and purpose fully accomplished for that object. Thus (we may repeat the heavenly truth) Christ came not by water only, to sanclify by the SPIRIT, but by water and blood, i. e. by the united efficacy of bis own atonement and of the Spirit's purification and blessing.

Nothing was clean or purified to the Lord, but by this emblematic water of separation. The spoils taken from the enemy underwent this ceremonial of purification, Numb. xxxi. 23. And this was to declare to believers, that all victory over sin was to be effected by and ascribed to the Spirit of God, working in them through the great Mediator .-For this reason, Christ is said to be with his people always, even to the end; not in his corporal presence, or human nature, for that is ascended into the boliest till the time of restitution; but in the Spirit, who is one with him and with the Father, and who, dwelling in his people, fulfills the Scripture, that God is in them of a truth. In a word, there was a constant use of water in the Mosaic ritual, in order to shew the Jews, and to shew us by them, that the grace of sanctification and all its blessings must be derived, through Christ, from the Holy Ghost. Considered in this view, they do exhibit many important truths, which, as other parts of Scripture prove, they were intended to exhibit; whereas, without this consideration, they dwindle into insignificant ceremonies, unworthy of a divine institution, and have either no meaning at all, or no meaning of importance to any man. And this result would contradict a universal rule, laid down concerning the Bible, that ALL SCRIPTURE is given by inspiration of God, and is profitable for doctrine, for reproof, for correction, for INSTRUCTION in righteousness. 2 Tim. iii. 16.

If we turn to the Christian dispensation, water, as the emblem of the Holy Spirit's agency, is appointed in one of the two sacraments to signify, that our introduction to a new life, and to the company of those who have obtained this life here and hereafter, is by his renovating power alone. Except a man be born of water (says our Lord, employing the long-accustomed emblem) and of the Spirit (explaining directly what the emblem signified) be cannot enter into the

kingdom of God + John iii. 5. The simple element alone is nothing in this respect, not even the whole world of waters, could they be thrown upon a man, or were he plunged into them. Of themselves, they could sooner wash the Ethiopian white, than purify one sin. If they had a voice, they would take up the words in fob; and the depth would say, It is not in me; and the sea, It is not with me. Job. xxviii. 14. God understanderb the way thereof, and he knoweth the place thereof. v. 23: It is from Him alone, that there is any blessing or use in the creatures. He only makes his ordinances effectual, and adds to the outward sign the thing signified thereby. To be truly born of water, is indeed to be born of the Spirit: In other words, the Spirit of God will operate upon the believing soul, as water acts in the frame and composition of all material things. These cannot live, nor increase, nor be pure, without that salutary fluid; nor can the Christian be in reality a Christian, nor put forth one act of the truly Christian life, but by the life and agency of the Spirit of God. All substances are dry and dead, when deprived of elementary water: And so are all souls, as dead to God as souls can be, and as evil spirits are, without the possession and support of this water of life. 1

The whole office of the divine Spirit, under this emblem of living water, turns upon these two points of Life and Purification, throughout the Bible. In fact, these two are but one; for, purity being the true life of spirits, purification is nothing more than the continuance, increase, or support, of the spiritual life bestowed. When a being continues to live, it is not by the adhibition of another life, but by the support of the same life. In like manner, the soul, being made alive by

† As the Spirit of Life preserves the faithful, so he is the breath of the Lord to destroy the ungodly. The same water, which drowned the world, sustained the ark, or church, from destruction. It is a just observation of the learned Mr. Bryant, who, speaking of this ark, says; "It was of such a model and construction as plainly indicated, that it was never designed to be managed, or directed by the hands of mon. And it seems to have been the purpose of Providence throughout, to signify to those who were saved, as well as to their latest posterity, that their preservation was not in any degree effected by human means." Anal. of ant. myth. Vol. ii. p. 187. The Christian reader will anticipate any reflections, how exactly this emblem corresponds with the state of the church in all ages.

‡ When man fell from God, he lost this water, and so became parched ground, a wilderness, &c. Hence it was, that when believers in the Old Testament acknowledged their fall and loss of God's presence, they poured out water before him in humiliation and confession of soul, acknowledging thereby, that they were lost and undone without his mercy. See I Sam. vii. 6. 2 Sam. xiv. 14.

the agency of the Spirit, doth not receive new and new life from time to time, but a maintenance of the same spiritual life by the Spirit's power. Thus, a soul, once born of God, or of the Spirit who is God, can never die again, unless the Being of whom it is born, can die, or should withdraw the support of his life, which he hath most positively declared he will not. Hence, those people, who talk of the defectibility of grace, approach so nearly to charging the almighty Spirit with impotence or falshood, that they ought to consider well, how closely they advance to indirect blasphemy against him. It is not sufferable among men to publish any thing, which affects the honour and dignity of a king; and how far the truth and majesty of Jebovah can be safely questioned by poor mortals, it seems of much importance to them that they

should inquire.

In the law (as we have said) there was no sacrifice for sin without some use of water. This points out to us, that, as the Spirit never aels but in and through Christ with respect to his people, so Christ is never received but by and with the influences of the Spirit. They are as undivided in their operations, as in their essence. A man cannot truly believe in Christ, but by the power of the Holy Ghost: Nor can a man have the Holy Chost, who doth not truly believe in Christ. There is a reciprocity in the two divine offices, which illustrates and magnifies both, and for which, respecting the divine glory, they were covenanted and undertaken. Christ is the Fountain of Life; and the Holy Spirit is the Water of Life from that Fountain. Christ is also called the Fountain of Israel, because the Water of Life flows from him only to his Israel, or true and spiritual people. Christ is likewise termed a Fountain sealed, a Fountain of gardens, a Fountain opened to the bouse of David, and to the inhabitants of Jerusalem; because none but the Spirit of God can unseal this Fountain, and impart the Water of Life from it; because it is not a common spring, but stands in God's garden or church; and because only the house or family of the spiritual David, i. e. all true believers, who are citizens of the heavenly Ferusalem, are privileged to draw from it. As Christ cannot be a dry fountain, or be without water for his people; so the Spirit, as the water of life, flows only to them through that iountain. The humanity of our great Redeemer is the grand nexus or bond by which we are united to him, and in him to the Spirit, and through the Spirit to the Father. Hence the life of believers is said to be from Christ, who is their life, and from the Spirit, and from the Father; because it is their joint bestowment as to its nature, though each distinct person is oconomically distinguished in the respeclive manner of its bestowal or enjoyment.

For this great purpose there is so much mention made in the Scriptures of the use of living water, or the water of life. Believers, being planted or grafted into Christ, are to grow and increase by the continual watering of the Holy Spirita As they need his influence and support, from moment to moment; he hath graciously promised to water them every moment. As they require free access to Christ, as to their fountain, from whom this water of life proceeds; the grant runs, Whosoever will, let him take the water of life freely. They are athirst for this, and therefore they will to drink; and, being willing to drink, they may drink freely and for ever. The Spirit gave them life, or they could have felt no thirst: They thirst for increasing life; and they may have it to their full replenishment and joy by him. O what a glorious promise is here to those, who thirst for the living God, and who feel within them a will to drink, not out of the broken cisterns of the world, which can hold no water, but out of the inextraustible fountain of living waters! To such the word is, Drink, yea drink abundantly, O beloved!

From the foregoing considerations it may appear, that it is the peculiar office and glory of the Spirit of God to be the water of life unto his people, and the water of purification to keep them clean, when made alive, from their original filth and pollution. He is called the Holy Spirit, not only because He is intrinsically holy in Himself, for this cannot be doubted, but because He is the author of all holiness and purification to the church of God. He gives life, sustains it, and purifies it from the filth of the earthen vessel into which it is received. He is not mere passive power like elementary water, and therefore He calls himself living water, water. of life, or of lives. He both gives life, and acts in the lifegiven. As water naturally rejects impurities, and purges away all heterogeneous particles, till nothing remain in its substance but its own pure fluid: How much more, then, must the water of life cleanse all defilements from the hearts of his people, till, in the appointed time, nothing shall remain

but his own pure life within their souls!

If these premises be admitted, and admitted they must be upon the ground of the Scriptures, they conclude most invincibly for the DIVINITY of that blessed person, by whom such supernatural operations are performed. No effect can rise above its cause: And therefore, as these effects are above all created might, it follows, that no creature could perform them. But the Holy Ghost hath performed them; and it is his office to perform them. Will Belzebub himself say, then, that he is a creature? Belzebub, with all his effrontery, would disown such logic, as would render him as much a fool as he is a devil. He knew Christ in the flesh, and acknow-

ledged his divine power and glory: And he hath seen too much of the mighty works of the Spirit of God, not to know, that only God himself could have wrought them. So many demonstrations of this grand truth, even upon experiment (to use a favorite word from modern philosophy) might convince modern philosophers themselves, were they to be convinced by God's machines rather than their own, that this is a truth resulting from the God of truth. The mighty signs and wonders, wrought by the power of the Spirit of God, do so manifest and testify his eternal power and Godbead, that they, who presume or persist to deny it, are left without excuse. Rom. xv. 19. i. 20. They have no refuge, but to deny the signs and wonders themselves; and, in this refuge, they must deny all religion and revelation, commence avowed hea-

thens, and utterly reject the God of the Scriptures.

Upon these strong foundations, believer, rest the proofs of thy blessed supporter's divinity. They, who deny it, may pretend indeed to kiss the Bible; but they do it, like Judas, either to betray, or like some customary perjurers, only to gain by it. That a sincere, sensible, and intelligent mind, which is able to see the consequences and combinations of facts and doctrines, should oppose the very principle upon which all those facts and doctrines have proceeded, and in spite of the effects disown the cause; can only be accounted for in one way, and in the way St. Paul accounted for the preposterous unbelief of the Jews. Acts xxviii. 25, &c. And that this is the true mode of accounting for this procedure, appears from hence; let the man be once touched by the grace of this Spirit (and, blessed be God, there have been many instances of this kind); let him feel himself to be, as he is, a poor, lost, and guilty creature: let him find his own nature sinful, helpless, and hopeless in itself throughout; let him embrace the Lord Jesus Christ as his only rock of salvation, and his blood and righteousness as the only means of his acceptance with God; and he owns at once, that this mighty change in his heart and life could only be effected by a divine power, and that this is the power of the Spirit of God. No longer will he doubt of the divinity of his person, no longer disown the omnipotence of his grace. He is charmed with this truth, as the comfort of his soul, and blesses God, that, as He alone could have mercy upon such a worm and restore him to life, surely He will do nothing in vain, but bless him to life eternal. The demonstration is brought home to his heart; and he could just as soon deny his own existence, as dare to oppose the divinity of God the Holy Ghost. It is a truth, as certain as the Bible itself, that, let the man be who he may or what he may, if he gainsay the divine nature and glory of the Spirit of God, he neither knows his own heart, nor the book of God, nor the power of God, and hath no true hope or comfort in his soul, while he continues in this state, for life eternal. Speak, conscience, in him that reads this, and bear witness for God, that these things are so.

The whole Book of God is a book of experience, as well as of instruction. It is a channel provided by the Spirit of Life, and himself, as the Water of Life, flows within it; and thus wherever the book is understood, it is not like other books laboured with fine thoughts or bright compositions only, but full of life, demonstration, and power. To the real believer, it is a book sprinkled for his use by the blood of fesus, and his conscience is sprinkled with the same blood to use the book. See Hebr. ix. 19. There are no naked principles, void of influence or use, in the Scripture; but they all apply to the heart, mind, and conduct, and, wherever they enter, make the whole man the wiser and the better for eternity. Continual appeals are made in this book to men's experimental knowledge of divine truths; and this kind of knowledge is the only one called by that name in the original word, and becomes the taste and enjoyment of the things assumed to be known. Carnal professors of Christianity do not comprehend this quickening mode of acquiring theology, but erroneously suppose, that it consists in high notions, refined ideas, or some metaphysical speculations. On the contrary, it is so plain to the renewed capacity, that be who runs may read it, and he, who wills, may enjoy it. The Spirit of truth prepares the heart for the truth, and, by this preparation of the Spirit, the most ignorant man apprehends so much truth as is necessary to salvation; and the most learned can do no more. As with the manna, he that can gather but little, has no lack; and he that gathers much, has none to spare. The reason is, both apprehend it by an higher operation than their own: And, without this operation, they cannot apprehend it at all. There were divers washings and carnal ordinances imposed on the Jews, until the time of reformation, or the appointed season of correction and explanation; and these shadowed forth the purifying operations of the Holy Spirit: But the carnal Jews, like too many of our nominal Christians, knew nothing of the matter, and did the work as a work, without the sense of its experimental instruction. They were no more cleansed by the spirit of the law, though they punctually followed the letter of it, than some of our modern professors are by the sacrament of baptism. They thought, that if they put away the filth of the flesh literally, it was all well with them, and that their mind and conscience, however defiled, would stand in the judgment. Our Lord corrects this gross mistake, in Mark vii. And in Luke xi. 38, he seems to omit the

common practice of washing before meals, on purpose to have an occasion of explaining that original design, which had been forgotten, and without which all these outward services became empty ceremonies, or (in the apostle's indignant phrase) weak and beggarly elements. That design was not a political one framed by Moses's own brain, in order to induce cleanliness in a hot climate among a nasty people, as some have pretended to account for the institution; but a piece of instruction to the people, like the rest of the law, to lead up their minds by natural types to high and beavenly things. As all natural men do, the carnal Jews courted the shadow, and lost sight of the substance. They did what was right in following the outward precepts, but they became guilty of perversion, when they so rested in them, as to look no farther. Hence, the apostle calls such men wells without water: They are in form wells professing to have and to vield water; but, because they have none, they may justly be called empty pro-

fessors.

When a man, therefore, applies to his own experience, he soon may know, either that he hath not this divine Spirit, or water of life in him, and so he knows not, in truth, whether there be any Holy Ghost; or else, that he hath the blessing of his grace in him, which from the very nature of it, he is sure could only be the work of a divine agent. If any man bave not the Spirit of Christ be is none of kis: And, in that case, all his belief or unbelief, respecting his divinity, is a mere notion, and ends in nothing (unless God prevent) but to harden him on the one hand, or to make him secure and careless on the other. To convince a man in his sins of this truth, speculatively, that the Holy Chost is God; is not worth the labor of writing one line. He may hold it, or not hold it; it is just the same to him. The divinity of the Spirit can afford no more comfort to him, than the bare idea of God's justice or vengance upon sinners. On the other hand, when this truth, concerning the Holy Ghost, is applied to the real believer; he can say, upon the warrant of God's word, that he ought, and upon the testimony of his own conscience, that he doth apprehend and know it, experimentally, to the comfort and support of his soul. He further can say; "Once I was dead, but now am alive to my God: Once I was blind to my true, and my everlasting interests; but now I see them: Once I was a scoffer at true religion, and could not endure (what I thought) the insupportable striceness of an holy life; but now I love and rejoice in it as my portion, and find all its paths to be paths of peace. God's word tells me, that this renewal or restoration to life is by the power of the divine Spirit; that be converted my soul, and supplies it with that living water, by which it is comforted and nourished for

his heavenly kingdom; and that I am, with all the redeemed, to be an babication of God through the Spirit. My heart's experience tailies with the holy Scripture, and assures me, in conformity to it, that He, who bath wrought this self-same thing in me, is God. And I see it as impossible for it to be the work of a creature, as it is impossible for creatures to create at all, and so give a life which they have not in or from themselves. I could much sooner believe that a fly could create an angel or frame a world, than that any being, who depends for his all upon another, should of his own will be get me by the word of truth; and, as he will, divide unto me and others severally, all those gifts, which are positively and directly called the operations of God." James i. 18. with 1

Cor. xii, 6, 11. Experience, which is the repeated work of God's Spirit in the soul, teaches the believer, that the several outward acts of washing and cleansing loudly preach purity of heart and life, and were chiefly enjoined as expressive symbols for that purpose. Thus, the baving our bearts sprinkled from an evil conscience, is the great object of the legal injunction, that our bodies be washed with pure water. Heb. x. 22. Thus the purpose of being baptized outwardly, is a sensible expression of faith, that our sins are washed away through Christ Jesus. Acls xxii. 16. Thus this outward washing is typical of the mystical washing of regeneration and renewing of the Holy Ghost. Titus iii, 5. See also Ezek. xxxvi. 25. And the whole design of it is comprehended at once by the apostle in these words; But ye are washed, but ye are sanctified, but ye are justified, in the name of the Lord Jesus, and by the Spirit of our God. 1 Cor. vi. 11. Abana and Pharpar, the rivers of Damascus, the Ganges of the east, nay, Fordan itself, dignified as it hath been by Christ and his prophets, could not wipe away one spot of sin, nor purify to the least degree of holiness; \* but the blood of Christ, and the living water alone, from the Spirit of God, Man can at any time find water enough ; as John Baptist said, I baptize with water, &c. But God alone can baptize with (what the water signifies) the Holy Ghost, for the ablution of sir. In vain do men catch at the shell of religion, if they enjoy not what lies within. The shell hath no life nor food in itself, though ordained to hold and communicate, what is altogether food and life to those, who receive it.

<sup>\*</sup> Epiphanius goes farther, and says, in the words of his translator, Neque enim occanus, neque omn.a; uenta ac marie. j uviique ferfetui, ac foikes, universaque imbripera natura in unum congressa, feccata delere foics. Contra Hemerob.

But some may yet ask, "How shall we know indeed, that our experience is true, and that we are really partakers of this Water of Life!"-Consult the emblem, which God has set before you. Common water is called living water, because it is running or moving water.\* So the Spirit of God in a man moves and acts, is not mere himself, nor suffers the creature to be so. Has he stirred up the mind towards God, and Christ, and heavenly things! Doth he cleanse from the filth of sin, and the flesh, and earthly things? Are the affections of the heart engaged for God, and the actions of the life employed to his glory? Is there a positive renunciation of self, and a continual breathing after nearer communion with God in all duties and functions?-These are the acts of life. This is the motion of the living water, which our Lord describes as springing, continually running and springing up into everlasting life. It flows because it lives. View its em- . blem in plants and animals. The water which nourishes them, and forms a considerable part of their composition, is ever in act and exercise, is always moving through the various parts and channels of their frame. Thus also, the Holy Spirit acts in the soul of the Christian, and is to it, respecting its divine life, what material water is to the animal life of the body. He nourishes, saturates, and prepares it for everlasting glory. This is a very common image in the holy Scriptures, particularly in the Old Testament, and must have occurred to the frequent observation of every serious reader.

As we have corrupt bodies, and walk in a filthy world, we ourselves have need of frequent cleansing from our own unavoidable defilements, and should look, therefore, with candor and compassion on the defilements of others. This lesson is taught us in a most forcible emblem by Jesus Christ, in John xiii. His disciples, except one, were all clean, and truly so, by being washed in the Fountain of life. Yet the feet needed repeated washing by bim, and, not only this, but washing by each other. In plain words; our obedience, signified by the feet as the instruments of motion, is imperfect at the best, and requires much cleansing from God: And it is also so combined with corruption, that Christians, knowing their own infirmities, should be tender to the infirmities of others, endeavour to recover them from their falls, strive to cleanse away dirt instead of sticking it on, and cover with a mantle of charity whatever may be concealed without injury to the cause of God or to society. He should hate the sin as

<sup>\*</sup> Duemadmodum enim corpus anima carens non movetur, sed contra vivum, anima vi movetur: sic aqua e fonte profluens non quiescit, sed movetur. Goman. In Johan. iv. 10,

much as possible, but not the sinner, who is to be tenderly prayed for, and restored upon his penitency with the spirit of meekness.

When this well of living water springs up in a man, it disposes his habit and frame to the likeness of Christ in all the duties of love, patience, forbearance and humility. The life and conversation of a person will soon shew, whether this water be in him or not, and how strong or weak it is in him. It cannot run long in him without cleansing his lips and his life; as the muddiest channel will be washed from its filth by the continued accessions of running water. A foul mouth is a lying mouth, if it pretend to have been cleansed by the water of life: And the same may be said of the heart, if it can indulge itself in allowed impurities. If Pericles also an heathen could affirm of a general, that "he ought not only to have clean hands, but clean eyes too;" undoubtedly it may be urged with far greater reason concerning the Christian's employment of that faculty. Turn away mine eyes, lest they behold vanity; was an excellent prayer for as excellent a practice. There are many cups and platters fairly washed on the outside, which will not bear to be looked at within.—We may also judge of the strength of the stream by the manner of its flowing. Shallow little rivulets make a wonderful rippling noise, because they are only little and shallow. The deeper the stream, the more solid and calm it will glide along. Its object is use, and not clamor. While it yields fertility to the shores, and profit to those who pass upon it or receive a portion of its flood; its depth is not seen by the eye, nor can the ear perceive its flow; yet the ear is gratified by the sounds of those who enjoy its benefits, and the eye is filled with the prospect of advantages arising on every side. But rivers are rare, and deep rivers still more rare; while rivulets, bourns, and shallows, not to say puddles, are common wherever we go.

Talking or writing about this living water, if it end in writing or talking only, will do the soul no good. A dissertation upon the properties of the elementary water will not quench the thirst of a man ready to perish, nor yet the view of its use by others: It must be drank, received within, and appropriated to himself. Hence, all true believers, are said, by the apostle, to be baptized by one Spirit into one body, which regards their purification as members of Christ, and to bave been all made to drink into one Spirit, which implies their reception of this water of life so as to live by it. I Cor. xii. 13. They are cleansed from outward defilements by that very Spirit, by whom they inwardly enjoy the life and peace

of God. Were this more understood, and the necessity of it more forcibly felt, even by good men; we should see more honor appear in the world for the cause of true religion, than can possibly be expected from hard words and sharp disputes, which, whatever they do beside, certainly can edify no-body.\*\*

Itappy believer! How art thou privileged constantly to be drawing water, this very water of eternal life, out of the wells, or rather fountains, of salvation! Isa. xii. 3. Thou art by nature a dry soil, and situated in a wilderness, where there is no water: But God hath promised to make this wilderness a prol of water, and this dry land springs of water. Isa. xii. 18. He hath begun to fulfil this promise in thy heart. Thou canst not say, as formerly, that there was no plant of grace within thee; no hope, no love, no desire to please God, nor solicitude about salvation. These graces are all trees of the Lord's planting: The wilderness within, which is but a parched sand, could not have raised them. And what he plants, he waters; sometimes with ri-

\* It seems impossible for any real Christian to read the following words of the late Dr. Doddridge, without an edifying satisfaction. This amiable man, though a dissenter, undertook a very laborious revisal of archbishop Leighton's commentary on the first epistle of St. Peter; and, towards the close of a long and excellent preface, drops these sentiments, which do him as much honor as a Christian, as his other valuable performances distinguish him for a Scholar. " It is truly my grief that any thing should divide me from the full-" est communion with those, to whom I am united in bonds of as " tender affection, as I bear to any of my fellow Christians. And " it is my daily prayer, that God will, by his gentle but powerful " influence on our minds, mutually dispose us more and more for " such a further union, as may most effectually consolidate the " Protestant cause, establish the throne of our gracious Sovereign, " remove the scandals our divisions have occasioned, and strength-" en our hands in these efforts, by which we are attempting, and " might then I hope more successfully attempt, the service of our " common christianity."-If the pious reader has not read this preface, and the admirable book to which it is prefixed; he has yet a satisfaction to receive, which it would be even injurious to deny himself. Leighton's works stand among the foremost upon practical and experimental divinity. Dr. Doddridge's edition is wholly in private hands; but it is a favor to the public, that another has lately been set forth, under the direction of the Rev. Mr. Foster.

The pious reader will also be pleased to find almost these very sentiments in the diary of Mr. Matthew Henry, published in the account of his life by Mr. Tonge, p. 225. It is with delight one reads these candid and catholic opinions, which (God be praised) are to be found among the most eminently gracious writers both in and out of the established church. May this harmony of grace be increased!

vers, which represent his sensible, solid, and lasting grace: sometimes with rains, which, though perceptible, are short and occasional; and sometimes only with dews, which fall invisibly, yet keep the plants alive between shower and shower, till they are matured for glory. The Spirit of the Lordhath an order and a season for all his operations. Not a drop more or less of the living water falls upon a believing heart, than is appointed for it, or appointed for particular good. Hence the psalmist says, My times, my seasons, opportunities, or fit times, are in thy band, or power. And hence the wise man observes, To every thing there is this time or season, and to every purpose under beaven. The world of grace is no more conducted by chance, or the self-determining will of man, which is exactly the same, than the world of nature And for this reason, believer, thou art privileged to entertain a more abundant joy, which none can take from thee. God's omnipotence and faithfulness are thy safety, and form a ground of security which cannot be found in all the creatures. His wisdom, likewise, metes out thy proper portion, and works in the whole of it for thy real welfare. The divine Spirit waters, cleanses, replenishes, and sustains, from time to time, by his grace, all that principle of life in thy soul, which, left to thy own corrupt nature, would soon perish or decay. It is thy privilege, therefore, as well as thy interest and duty, to be ever looking up to him, and to be praying for strength and wisdom to be, as constantly, looking out from thyself. In thee all is barrenness and misery: In him, all is life and peace. It was a gracious cry of St. Augustine; Domine, libera me a malo bomine meipso! "O Lord, deliver me from that evil man MYSELF!" And it is a cry, which none but a truly gracious heart can feelingly utter. Whoever can utter it aright, is enabled so to do by the power of that Spirit, who discovered so much weakness, sin, and corruption within the heart, as to make it loathe itself, and to cry out for his present and omnipotent aid. Nothing but omnipotence will satisfy a mind, who considers the extent of sin with its infinite train of evils, the power of Satan and his adherents, the snares of all sorts laid in the way, and the inward disposition of corrupt nature to follow all these, both in ignorance of the worth of God and in enmity to the will of God. To discourse with such an one, about his natural powers in spiritual concerns, is to him entering upon a romance, which never has been realized since the fall of Adam, and which never can be realized upon the present constitution of things. will only prove, that the discourser, however eminent or intelligent in other affairs, knows nothing of the subject in hand, or (mortifying as it is to human pride) is not duly acquainted with his own heart. It is seeking the garden of Eden in the deserts of Arabia; nay, worse, it is representing those very deserts, which are vast tracts of inhospitable sands, to be groves, and parterres, and gardens, and even paradise itself. Such a fairy land may amuse those, who pursue religion as they do their reveries; but the Christian seeks for solid ground to walk upon, solid comforts upon that ground, and finds both to be only attainable through the word and the

working of him who built the world. Blessed be God, solid ground and solid comforts are attainable here: And every believer is privileged to possess them. " But if this be the case (says some drooping heart) why go I mourning thus all the day? Why do I not experience this inward blessedness of God's people, and taste the felicity of his chosen ?- Ask thyself first, "Wby do I desire the blessing?" Is it with a view to God's glory alone; or is it for some ease and satisfaction to thyself? It is natural to desire happiness; but it is not natural to desire it in the right way, and for the right end. The devil, without doubt, would be happy if he could; and so would the wickedest mortal upon earth. Art thou contented to go without happiness, if it be God's will? And canst thou say to him, Tby will be done, in this respect? How art thou seeking peace for thy mind? And what end dost thou propose to thyself in having it?-These are questions, which are worth examining; for there are many people, who expect the comforts of the gospel, without the faith of the gospel; and as many, who would have the peace of grace, without the life of grace. Into these two classes, perhaps, all sorrowing professors may be resolved. If they have not true faith, or do not exercise that faith truly; it is impossible they should have peace. While darkness rules in the mind, and hides the object of salvation; they can no more trust in it, than the Israelites could look upon the serpent in the wilderness at midnight. The truths of the gospel must be obvious to the understanding, and the will and judgment must cleave to them, before a man can be comforted by those truths. And, therefore, where the soul is enabled to see, that both itself is a sinner, and that Christ died for such sinners, holding forth his salvation to them who feel their need of it, without any conditions or qualifications but that need; it will also be enabled to see, that one soul, thus circumstanced, is as welcome to Christ as another, and that, if it had not been welcome to Christ, it had never been made to see this absolute need of him, nor to feel any distress about its own miserable condition without him. There is no ground of hope but this; for God's people do not come to Christ for salvation as elected persons, but as sinful persons ready to perish. Afterwards indeed, when faith is establish-

Vol. II.

ed, the sense of their election fills them with "sweet, pleasant, and unspeakable comfort;" but it is by no means their principle of hope or action in coming to Christ. They come as wretched and undone sinners, depend upon him only as such; and then, finding his gracious joy and peace in believing communicated through the divine Spirit, they have a testimony of their adoption into God's family, and find this testimony confirmed by the assurance of his free favor in their election. Now, a man cannot see and feel all this, without receiving consolation. And he never loses this consolation, but when he gets off from this hinge upon some other. And

Here, he gets into the second class abovementioned, namely, of these, who live not the life of grace. The greatest saint, that ever lived, could never find peace in sin: And all things are sin, which are not conducted in a gracious spirit and for a gracious end. This sin is the source of all sorrow. A negligent walk and conversation proceed from lifelessness in grace; and therefore, it either degenerates into downright hardness and stupidity, proving the man to be a hypocrite; or it brings on trouble and inquietude of soul, in order to show the man, that he is out of the high-way to heaven. If a carcless walk will break tranquility; what must be said of a simili or unholy conduct? There are many persons, who are always aiming to unite God and mammon; and, indeed, it is from one of the prevalent corruptions in our nature that they do so. They carry on their business in the world without the least grace in it, or prayer over it: And a man, who cannot pray over what he is doing, may be sure that there is no grace in it, but a great deal of sin. A person, in the commission of a fraud, (though it may not be an open cheating like an avowed thief; but a fraud of trade and occupation) can never be so impudent with God, as to pray for his assistance in it: And, if he doth it by himself, God surely leaves him to misery as the effect of it. A cool and deliberate smuggler, for this reason, has no title to the name of a Christian; nor those liars, (for they are not to be called by a softer name) who ask high prices, that people may bid for commodities more than they are worth: nor those cheats, who will take more. People, who follow evil professions of business (and a man may know that a business is evil which cannot be prayed over, both in its act and design) or who follow just professions in an evil way, who seek nothing but money or self in them, without any respect to God's glory or the good of men; these people cannot expect happiness in the Christian profession, while they allow themselves in practices incompatible with it. They cannot say over their gains; "Here, Lord, thy providence hath bestowed this money upon me, as the medium to answer my own

necessities and those of my family. Thou hast been pleased to give it me in the use of that lawful vocation, which thou hast assigned to me in the world; and I pray thee to put thy blessing in it, that the little may go a great way in good purposes, or that the much may answer thy will in the holiest uses; so that, for all of it, I may have reason to bless thy providence and love, in bestowing upon me the means of doing good, and in enabling me to employ the means for thy glory. O help me to be thankful for this mercy, in time and in eternity!"-Can a man be so presumptuous, as to expect peace with God in the world, who cannot thus pray to him? Can he dare to hope, that God will be his partner in fraud and deceit, or in telling lies in the shop, or in perjury at the custom-house? Can he believe, in his sober senses, that, while he lives in the indulgence of any impurities, either in thought, word, or deed, the Holy Spirit will vouchsafe him the com-

forts of holiness ?- It is impossible.

To enjoy peace from God, a man must walk with bim, and with him be agreed: And the closer he walks with him, the more peace will be found to flow. The soul, which hath the true taste of the Water of life, will always be thirsting after it, that, in its strength, he may come nigher and nigher unto God, and enjoy the sweetest communion with him. O what are all other things to such a heaven-born, such a heaven-desiring, soul! What trash does all the world appear to him, at such moments of life and fervor, which men vex themselves about for a short space of time, and then, at death, cast all away! What poor trifles, in this consideration, are the honours and opinions of dying worms! What empty joys their highest pleasures! He longs for God: He thirsts for him as the Water of Life; and he uses the things of time, as a traveller does a carriage upon the road, only for an appointed means of bringing him nearer to the fountain, whence this water flows. God hath given him a mind too great to be taken up with little things, and a temper too justly ambitious to be put off with less than eternal things. It becomes him, therefore, as a Christian, to be exalted above other men; not in pride or conceited airs, for these are baseness and folly; but in that dignity of sentiment and expectation, which renders him most like to the God he serves, and most useful to the world about him. In this high, yet heavenly, frame, he enjoys the sublimest and most extensive views: And the higher he ascends to the object of his soul above, the less and less do all worldly matters beneath him appear. And when he loses sight of them (as e'er long he shall) he comes at once into the full vision and fruition of God. Blessed are the dead which die in the Lord, anzele, instantly or perfectly. There is not a moment lost between their death and their everlasting bliss. They come, at once,

to that pure river of the water of life, clear as crystal, i. e. of the most transparent holiness, which proceeds out of the throne of God, and of the Lamb. This is that Holy Spirit which comes from the Father and the Son, and which purifies and replenishes the church and temple of God throughout eternity.—O then, what are men doing, who seek not this eternal good! What are believers considering, when they consider not their latter end! Is this the voice of Christ! The Spirit and the bride say, Come. And let him that heareth, say, Come. And let him, that is athirst, come. And whosoever will, let him take the water of life freely.—Here is a triple call to endless joy: Who that hears it, would not wish to obey! Who, that feels its worth, would not answer; Come, Lord Jesus, come quickly!

#### 

## SPIRIT OF TRUTH.

HAT is Truth? was the inquiry of a heathen, who neither loved it nor cared for it: And truth, in the sense of the Scriptures, is no more the concern of the great

bulk of mankind, than it was of Pontius Pilate.

Truth, strictly speaking, is that which exists firmly and unalterably. It cannot change; for then it would lose its nature: Error only is mutable and various; and, though it pass through numberless forms and semblances, can never become the truth, which is perfect unity and simplicity. Hence, truth is not only the foundation and reality of all existence, but is also infinite existence; for it must be commensurate with all being, as without it being is only ideal, or rather no truth of being at all. But there is and can be only one infinite existence, comprehending all things and comprehended of none; for, could it be comprehended of any, it must nece sarily be bounded, and therefore not infinite. Here then truth appears to be an infinite, unchangeable, and eternal attribute, which can be applied to no being, but that which is infinite, unchangeable, and eternal. It can belong, therefore, to none but God, who is his own attributes, and consequently that distinguished one, truth itself in the abstract. And he is called the God of truth because truth in him, as the fountain, flows from him into all the creatures. They have no reality or existence but in him; and he only can impart that permanency to them, which forms the continuance of their being. According to his name Jebovab, He is; and he alone exists of himself: All entities are in him and from him, and with this difference likewise, that time is applicable to them, but not to Him. All being, but the Divine, began to be: whereas I HOVAH eternally is, and only is, in an unut-

terable supremacy of nature.

It must be the same with all the spiritual and invisible species of being, as it is with the visible and material. There can be no truth in mental acl or energy, but as it proceeds from this root of truth, which communicates what is communicable of itself to all existences, according to their order and capacity. The gospel, which treats of both truth in essence and truth communicated, is the truth of God, because it both proceeded from him as its cause, and returns to him and to his glory as its end. It takes in man's salvation as means or uses to that end: but this salvation, necessary as it may be to the happiness of a fallen creature, can be no more the original motive of God's action than his other operations in the world. He will ever appear to be bis own motive, having none higher or lower than himself, which certainly is suitable to his perfection; and whatever he hath wrought in and for his creatures, began with himself, and therefore not occasioned by them. The proof of this were it necessary, might be easily given at large from his own revelation.

Here reason seems to shew, with what strict propriety God hath assumed this name of TRUTH. But it was only the revelation of God himself which could convince, how suitably and justly this bright attribute operates for the eternal wel-

fare and salvation of sinners.

In the holy word, this title of truth is frequently applied to God; and when any matter concerning the welfare of men is mentioned, where all the comfort depends on its being true, there is constantly a reference made to God himself, as the source from whom, being the truth essential, it entirely flows.

An argument or two from Scripture will serve to convince an unprejudiced mind, both that this title of the truth is proper only to God; and that, as to God or each person in the Godhead, it is also properly applicable and applied to the

HOLY GHOST.

In Deut. xxxii. near the beginning, Moses publishes the name of Jebovah, and, among other titles, ascribes to him the remarkable one, AL the Truth, which is rendered in our translation, God of truth, but more justly by Montanus, Deus Veritas, "God the truth."—But the apostle John says (I John v. 6.) It is the Spirit that beareth witness, because the Spirit is nadingular) THE TRUTH.—The Spirit, therefore, is Jehovah, Album, and Al, which are among the titles given to the Truth in Deuteronomy abovementioned,

In Psalm XXXI. God is styled JEHOVAH AL THE TRUTH, or of truth, according to our translation.—But the Holy Ghost is named THE TRUTH, and SPIRIT OF TRUTH. Consequently

he is JEHOVAH AL.

The prophet Geremiab (c. x. 10.) says, Jehovah Alehim is the Truth, be is the living Alehim, (or Alehim of lives, i. e. of natural and spiritual life,) and everlasting King—But the Spirit is the Truth, according to the text in I John v. 6. And, therefore, is Jehovah Alehim, the Alehim of

lives (as all live by him) and the everlasting King.

It appears from hence, that truth essential, and especially spiritual truth, which is our more immediate subject, is applicable only to Deity. Whatever is true, is true alone in God, and must have some respect to his excellency and glory. And the privation of spiritual truth, or (what is just the same) a separation from God, is darkness and error, the effects of which are sin, confusion, and misery. Truth in the concrete is from God; as truth in the abstract is an attribute of God, or rather God himself.

For this reason the Psalmist prays to Jehovah, Lead me in Thy truth. Ps. xxv. 5. But Christ himself says, that the Spirit of Truth shall guide into All truth. John xvi. 13. Of consequence, the Spirit is Jehovah himself, or he could not, at that time and in all times to come, guide into the truth of febovah, and much less into all the truth necessary to sal.

vasion.

Nebemiab confesses to the Lord, Thou gavest thy good Spirit to instruct the people of Israel, or rather to make them to understand. Neh. ix. 20. But it is very particularly delivered to those very Israelites themselves, in Deut. iv. 36. that Jehovah Alehim, and none else beside him, out of beaven made them to hear his voice, that he might instruct them. The Spirit, therefore, is Jehovah Alehim, whose office it is to guide his people, in all ages, into all the truth.

And it was God, and his revealed truth, which these Israelites were constantly opposing. Te do always resist (said Stephen) the Holy Grost; as your fathers did, so do ye. Acts vii. 51. But if Deut. ix. 7. be compared with Psalm evi-25. it will appear, that this resistance of the Israelites was made to Jehovah himself. It follows, then, that the Holy

GHOST is JEHOVAH, and, as such, true and very God.

It is written in Isaiab concerning the church; ALL thy children shall be taught of God. Isa. liv. 13. Which promise is referred to by our Lord in John vi. 45. But it is said also by our Lord to his disciples, The Holy Ghost shall teach you all things. John xiv. 26. And the apostle assures the Corinthians, that he spake of divine things, not in the words which

\* MAN's wisdom teacheth, but which the Holy Ghost teacheth. I Cor. ii. 13. The Holy Ghost, therefore, is God.

Not to multiply arguments from Scripture under this head, let one more suffice, which the Arians and Socinians may do

well to consider.

The Spirit (says the apostle) searcheth ALL THINGS, yea, the DEEP THINGS of God. For what man knoweth the things of a man, save the spirit of man, which is in him? Even so the things of God knoweth no man, but the Spirit of God, I Cor. ii. 11.—But the psalmist, speaking of Jebovah, says, that bis understanding is infinite. The Spirit, therefore, in order to search all things and the deep things of God, must necessarily be infinite too. If he be not infinite, he cannot search the deep infinitude mentioned; but, if he be infinite, he must be co-essential with the Godhead, and consequently God .- What further confirms this argument, is the prophecy of Isaiab concerning the everlasting God, Jekovah, of whom it is said, There is no searching of his understanding. Isa. xl. 28. He evidently means, not by the creatures, not by any finite being. But if the Holy Ghost doth search this infinite understanding, or the depths of God himself; it is a demonstration of his infinitude and deity, and that nothing can possibly be hid from him. The psalmist, upon this ground, justly inquires, Whither shall I go from thy Spirit? or whither shall I go from thy FACE! If I ascend up into heaven, Thou art there. Psa. cxxxix. 7. What words can more strongly mark the omniscience and omnipresence of the Holy Spirit? What could more directly assert him to be febovab? "I can go no where from thy Spirit; for Thou art every where."

It was a great expression for a heathen, that "He is most perfect, who understands all things, at all times, and all together." Max. Tyrius. The Spirit of God so understands; or He could not be qualified for the great office of leading the whole company of the faithful into all truth. No created being can be omnipresent, nor omniscient, nor infinite. Not the brightest angel of heaven can be in the hearts of all God's people at once, helping their infirmities every moment, and conducting them all together in the way of truth. They are scattered far and wide. They all want help in every instant; and God hath promised, that in every instant he will water them.—Water is the Spirit's emblem, and he is poured out, according to his office, upon all his people, through all ages, in all places, and upon all together. Who but God is equal to a task of such magnitude, power, and salyation? Who, but God,

\* It has been well observed by an able writer, that the antithesis, in this place, of man to the Holy Ghost, according to the usual style of the Scripture, is sufficient aione to prove the Spirit to be God. Jones's Cath. Doct. p. 36.

could fit his help to the occasion, with such exactness and wisdom, to millions of souls, in all ages and countries at once; so that, as their day was, their particular strength should be? This the Holy Ghost hath done, this he doeth, and this he will do to the end. For the promise of his gracious aid was not only to the fews and to their children, but to all that are afar off, even as many as the Lord our God shall call. Acts ii. 39. This free donation extends to all his people that are afar off, in point of time, or place, or disposition of soul. They all meet in this one eternal Spirit, and are brought nigh by the blood of Christ. And if all this be done in them and for them by one great agent; what absurdity, as well as blasphemy, is it to suppose, that this agent can be less than the Omnipotent? A man, who can deliberately utter such a position, must not only understand very little of the Bible, or the experimental truths which it contains, but must, allowing this Bible to be a divine revelation, make war against the plainest deductions which reason itself can make from it. For as this revelation states, that the whole of man's salvation is planned, effected and completed by God alone; while, at the same time, it represents the particular, the constant, the efficacious operation of the Holy Ghost through the whole of it, we cannot, with any consistency, avoid the immediate conclusion, that he is, upon that very account, God over all, blessed for ever. This truth, so consentaneous with positive revelation and those plain inferences which reason fairly makes from it, one would think, would be obvious to every candid inquirer, and shine bright enough to confound the dark prejudices of all opposers.

But, however we may err by ourselves or in following others, we surely cannot be mistaken in an humble dependence for instruction upon God. He hath promised to give his Spirit to them that ask him; and his word declares, that the Spirit is truth, who therefore cannot give a false evidence of bimself. He is the SPIRIT of truth, and cannot misguide es. He is Jehovan Alfhim The Truth, (Jer. x. 10.) and therefore able to effect all, which he hath promised to do or bestow. Hence, to his people, who believe in and rest upon him, he gives an earnest of himself in their hearts; by conferring, what in the Old Testament is called, the peace of truth, and, in the New, joy in the Holy Ghost. They can say, with holy boldness, The truth dwelleth in us, and shall be with us for ever, (2 John 2.) for they find, according to the promise of Christ, that the truth bath made them free. They were slaves once to the world, flesh and devil; but now are brought into a glorious liberty. They love truth and righteousness, which they formerly loathed; and they tremble at sin, which

heretofore they had loved. Their happiness \* lies entirely in their duty and love to God; and they know, by the witness of God's Spirit with their spirits, that there is no method of maintaining and increasing that happiness, but by cleaving to and depending upon him in humility and holiness. He, that walketh not according to this rule (if the Scripture may determine) is a liar, and the Truth is not in him; or, in other words, he is sensual, not having the Spirit.

In the Old Testament, there is a very particular and frequent conjunction of mercy and truth. They are attributes of the Godhead, and, in this conjunction, are used as such.

As they operate in this fallen world, they beautifully display the two distinct, yet inseparable persons in febovab. It seems no strain to say, that the attributes are sometimes used, by a metonymy, for the persons themselves. Thus mercy frequently stands for the great Redeemer, by whom alone mercy did and could come to man. † And truth as frequently denotes the Spirit of Truth, by whom alone the redeemed are led into truth. They are inseparable whether in se or ad extra; that is, whether they are viewed as attributes in the Godhead, or exercised officially by the Son and Spirit. If any soul partake of mercy, it is in strict and indissoluble union with truth: That is, if a man taste of the redemption of fesus Christ, it is through and by the Holy Ghost. No man can truly call Christ his Lord, but by the Spirit of truth. And this furnishes the criterion or rule, so often proposed in the Scripture, that a man should examine himself by: Know ye not, that Christ is in you, except ye be reprobates? It appeals to their internal perceptions, for their assurance of his mercy. Again. If any man bave not the Spirit of Christ, he is none of bis. This applies to the same demonstration of sensible consciousness, by which a person knows any thing to be true, and much more when he enjoys God, who is the fulness of truth. For it would be strange indeed, that a creature should possess such operative principles, and never know or be sensible of the possession. Thus mercy and truth meet together; and thus all the paths of febovah are mercy and truth; because he walketh among men for salvation in no other way,

<sup>\* &</sup>quot;Certainly (says Lord Bacon in his Essays) it is heaven upon earth, to have a man's mind move in charity, rest in Providence, and turn upon the poles of truth."

<sup>†</sup> The prophets, and even the antient Jews, understood the Messiah by this name of Mercy: And the Messiah himself leaves no room to doubt, that the Spirit is the Truth. See several testimonies to this effect in that incomparable book De Verite Rel. Christoby the celebrated Mornay du Plessis. c. 28.

but that of grace through the Son and Spirit. There is no approach to the Father, but by Jesus Christ, and the Holy Gwost. Hence, believers are exhorted to call upon the Father in the name of the Son, by the Son himself; which would have been a useless injunction, if they might have been accepted without it. And hence, likewise, the same unerring wisdom hath said, that they, who worship God, MUST worship in spirit and truth, or they worship him not at all. Agreeably to this, it is said, The Lord is night unco all them that call upon him; but it is said with an explanation, that it might be particularly noticed, to all that call upon him in TRUTH. Psa. cxlv. 18. The TRUTH itself must enable the heart truly to call upon God, by freeing it from the dominion of sin, and by releasing it to a state of grace. In this state, the SPIRIT belpeth the infirmities of his people, and worketh in them both to will and to do. They will the truth in his willingness, and they act in the truth by his energy. Thus acting and acted upon, not by a flavish constraint but by a joyful harmony of spirit, they are said to do things, which, of themselves, they are morally and naturally incapable of doing. Very remarkably are they said, in this view, to work out their own salvation, by an apostle who affirms, that of bimself be knew nothing; BECAUSE it is God which worketh in them. They cannot, therefore, but work; for they have an almighty helper, and are privileged to work with him, and by him. In another place they are said to purify their souls in obeying the truth-but it is added, THROUGH the SPIRIT. The Spirit of truth enabled them to obey his own truth revealed, and, in the obedience of faith, they obtained remission of sins and justification of their persons. The excellent archbishop Leighton says upon the passage; "It is certain and undeni-" ble, that the soul itself doth act in believing or obeying " the truth, but not of itself; it is not the first principle of " motion. They purify their souls, but it is by the Spirit. "They do it by his enlivening power, and a purifying virtue " received from him. Faith, or obeying the truth, works this " purity: But the Holy Ghost works that faith, as in the forecited place, God is said to purify their hearts by faith. " He doeth that, by giving them the Holy Ghost."

These expressions of Scripture should be well considered by those, who contend for the free will and free agency of the natural man. We can only say of so high an opinion in this place, that, in order to be a free agent, not only man, but every being, must be entirely independent; for how can he be free, who depends from moment to moment upon the will and power of another being for the very existence and support of bis own? And if he be not free, and hath not an unlimited enjoyment of existence; how is it possible that he can be free

respecting an unlimited exercise of it? The apostle says, In God we live; we derive our existence from his will—in God we move, or are moved; we take our activity from his power—in God we bave our being; we enjoy the continuance of both, in utter dependence upon him. This one text, duly considered in all its connections and consequences, ought to humble the insolence of man, when he assumes to be, what even angels, pure and perfect as they are, cannot venture to claim. They are ministring spirits, they serve, they obey: And they find that, in all their duty, is comprized (what real

Christians also find) the most "perfect freedom." Besides; how obviously is it the setting imperium in imperio, a rule against a rule; if we state more independent principles than one, in the ordination and controll of all things? And if there be any thing independent of God, or any being which can frustrate his designs, or any event which can a ise without his permission; it seems something more than a limiting of the Most High, for it takes away his infinitude and deity. As the infinite God, he must include all things; for that cannot be infinite, which is excepted and bounded in any. Upon this account, the psalmist could even say; If I descend into bell, thou art there; though the manner of God's presence be very different in hell and heaven. God can pervade hell and the deepest recesses of the damned, as a pure and refined spirit can grossness, without being affected by evil. We may therefore safely talk of God's free will, but very dangerously of man's, when not in strict conjunction with and dependence upon his Maker's. In this dependence it may be allowed to be free, because it then will be righteous; and all righteousness is freedom, and essential to it. Nor need we fear the limitation of the human will in this dependence; unless we can suppose that the human will may overpass un-

One observation more shall suffice, in this Essay, to prove the necessity of the Holy Spirit's agency for the instruction of his people in the truth of his will; and consequently from the nature of that agency, the divinity of his person. Christ said to his disciples, just before he departed from the world; It is expedient for you, that I go away; for if I go not away, the Comforter will not come unto you; and then he proceeds to explain his office and character. Upon a review of the whole of that passage, it is plain, that the Mediator, as God manifest in the flesh, was about to complete his official part in the covenant of grace, styled the work which the Father had given him to do; that though this work was perfect in itself, and the ground of salvation was finished for the redeemed, insomuch as to be incapable of any addition from all the creatures; yet that it was not and could not be finished in them, but by the

bounded holiness and truth.

advent of the Comforter. It also appears, that, in order to prepare their souls for the reception of so great a mercy, it is the office and work of the Comforter, to convert the people of God in their understandings from error to truth, to change their bearts and affections, to apply the salvation of Jesus for the remission of their sins and their justification before the Father, to preserve, strengthen and settle them to the end; and, in a word, to do all that remained to be done in them, for them, and by them, previous to that glory, to which he finally and infallibly conducts them. It was expedient, therefore, that Christ should depart upon the fininishing bis work, that the agency of the Holy Ghost might eminently ensue in his crowning grace, and vield his own sealing pledge of eternal glory. How expedient all this was, we have a proof upon fact to convince us. No mortals could be more unlike themselves, in point of knowledge, faith, and courage, than the apostles were before and after Christ's ascension to heaven. And wbo made the difference? It is undeniably evident, the Holy Ghost alone upon the day of Pentecost. View them from that time forwards, and they appear heroes of grace, or rather lambs in holiness and lions in boldness. Peter, who denied Christ with oaths, and all the rest who ran away from their Master and fled, rejoiced from that day to suffer reproach and even death itself for his sake. Could any created being work this astonishing change, and by a visible intervention equally astonishing? A man must have the credulity of an atheist, who pretends to think that there is no God at all, before he can believe that any being but God could work all this and carry it on against the utmost malice and opposition of the world. The same proof upon fact is carried down to this day in the heart of every believer, who can truly say, "Once I was darkness, but now am I light in the Lord; once I was dead in sin, but now am alive unto God; and once I was without hope and an atheist in the world, but now I have obtained hopes full of immortality, and a Comforter who will never depart from me."

The word Truth, O believer, contains a sense in its original language, which is both precious to thy soul and confirmed by thy experience. It signifies not only truth in the abstract which carries along with it the idea of firmness and stability, and so relates to God himself; but it also signifies to nourish with the truth, and bears the sense of the apostle's expression, as new-born babes desire the sincere (or pure) milk of the word, that ye may grow thereby. In the former view, thou hast reason to rejoice in the never-failing ground of the Truth, because it is a rock and full of perfection; but, in the latter view, thou hast a title to be exceeding glad, because of that nourishment, which it supplies to thy soul, of

truth communicable, with all its train of graces and blessings. The one is truth as the spring, and therefore inexhaustible: The other is truth in the stream, and therefore to believers gracious and accessible. In the former respect, it is illustrious; and, in the latter, comfortable. It is comfortable, dear Christian, whosoever thou art who hast a right to that name: it is full of "sweet, pleasant, and unspeakable comfort" to thee. Thou hast an infallible rule, and an infallible guide; the one in the word of truth, and the other in the Spirit of Truth. This guide, who laid down that rule, applies the rule to thy heart, works by it in thee, and according to it for thee. This rule is the sensible manifestation of invisible truth, so far as it concerns thy happiness and salvation. He hath new-created thee in the boliness of truth (Eph. iv. 24.) and he conducts thee in the truth and beauty of holiness from day to day. He doth not mercly prescribe, but enables. Thou hast no mental powers, capable of discovering the things of God, or capable of exercising themselves upon those things: It is God the Spirit alone, who teacheth thee to profit. If all the saints of God were equal in spiritual endowments with the apostles, if all the apostles, together with those saints, could descend from heaven to instruct one soul, and if all of them had the eloquence of angels, or the highest created eloquence and wisdom which can be imagined; vain would be their united efforts, unattended by this Holy Spirit, to translate that soul from darkness to light, and to give it that right understanding of the truth, which consists in the real enjoyment and participation of it. They would all plant and water in vain, unless God should give the increase. T What an argument is this, to thy soul, of the divinity and glory of thy holy teacher!-And if he hath once taught thee the way of life and truth, shall he not teach thee to the end? Who can pervert his counsels, or frustrate his designs? It is God, who hath drawn the plan. Who can obstruct the execution to its full effect? It is God, who worketh all in all. Who can plunge into error, or into hell the consequence of error? It is the Spirit of truth, and who will lead into all truth for ever. Fear not, fainting soul, thou hast not only an all-wise conductor, but an almighty agent, who hath undertaken to bring thee safe home. Thy safety is of the Lord, and not from thyself, nor from the whole creation together. Without him, all the angels in heaven could not preserve thee for a moment: Nor without him,

<sup>†</sup> Non sufficit homini spirituali Mosen aliquem audivisse, aut apostolum, aut, si forte, cælestem angelum, nisi arcanus accesserit DIVINI SPIRITUS Sermo, ministrorum conciones animo insinuans, exponens, confirmans, atque obsignans. WITSIJ Misc. Sacr. Vol. ii. p. 35.

could they even support themselves. How then shouldest thou stay thyself upon his everlasting arms! He cannot aeceive thee, for he is the truth itsel; he cannot forsake thee. for he hath promised to keep thee; he cannot be overcome, for he is the invincione God, Thou, O feeble fainting heart, art more his care, if there be any difference in the divine care, than the strongest believers. His holy word is more frequently addressed to such as thee, than to them. O believe this record, which is of much importance to thy happiness, and which in itself must be both faithful and true. Pray to this author of truth to bless thee with the clear perception and enjoyment of it; and thou shalt not pray in vain. He will give it thee in thy bead, in such measure as shall be expedient, but certainly he will pour it into thy beart, so as 10 induce a solid and a comfortable experience. His truth is not a shadow or a phantom, but substantial life and everlasting love; and thou shalt possess the delightful pledge of it now, and the full enjoyment in God's due time. In one word; be will guide thee with his counsel, and afterward receive thee to glory.

### SPIRIT OF GRACE.

HE word grace is used in two significations. In one sense, it is taken to convey the abstract notion of free favor or gratuitous bounty; and, in the other, to imply the positive possession of that divine principle within the soul. In the first instance, we may contemplate what it is in itself; and, in the other, its operation and effect, or what it is to us. In the former case, we should remember, that it exists only in God as the giver, and, in the latter, that it descends to man as God's free gift. These distinctions are included in the term grace, with all their relations and consequences.

Grace, in both these respects, is the cause and the means of all true blessedness to man: And God the Holy Ghost is called the spirit of grace, because he is the fountain from which this grace doth wholly flow. He is indeed GRACE itself, though, in condescension to our apprehensions, he hath been pleased to convey the notices of his love by figures and expressions, which strike our senses and apply to the objects we perceive about us. We are not able to survey the unlimited ocean of goodness; nor, if our capacities were enlarged to ten thousand times their present dimensions, could we

enjoy all that is to be enjoyed of it. God would still be an INFINITE beyond us; and the most we could receive, either in such a state or our own, would only be a larger or a smaller drop of an unbounded sea. We could say, with certainty, from our participation of its nature, that it is good and very good; but bow much so, it would be a depth and a breadth

The Spirit is called grace, or the Spirit of grace, because he is the convincer and conductor of grace to the souls of his people. Christ suffered and obtained; and therefore grace came by bim (John 1. 17.) And Christ was full of grace (John 1. 14.) because he was full of the Spirit. He received the Spirit likewise without measure; because he had an infinite capacity, which cannot be said of any creature: And the spirit itself must therefore be immeasurable and infinite to fill that capacity: and these are terms, which can be applied to none but God.

The Scriptures have many passages of this sort, which may strike every gracious mind with full conviction of the proper divinity of the Holy Ghost, and which ought to silence the blasphemy of those who have ventured to deny it. His word witnesses for him to all men; and he witnesses with his word, by a most gracious and particular evidence indeed, to the hearts of his people. Let us consider then some testimonies of his divine glory, as they occur under this name of his office, or in relation to it.

Sanctification, considered as an act of grace upon the soul, cannot be performed or maintained by the agency of any creature. It is always ascribed to God throughout the Bible. Whatever means are prescribed or used, they have apparently no efficacy but by him. The God of peace must sanctify bis people wbolly, or they cannot be truly sanctified at all.

This operation is ascribed to the Father, in Jude, v. 1. who addresses his epistle to them that are sanctified by Gad the Father. It is ascribed to the Son, the Lord Christ, in Heb. ii. 11. and other places. And it is no less directly referred to the Holy Ghost in Rom. xv. 16 .- This to a fair and candid mind would alone be a sufficient evidence of the equality and co-existence of the three persons in the Godhead; for if an act, which can only with propriety be ascribed to God, be equally ascribed to three distinct persons, it proves that each of these persons is God, and that they (both in union and distinction) have one common intercommunity in the divine nature, which at the same time must be one in itself, or such intercommunity could not subsist. There must be an homogeneity of essence or existence in the three persons; for a division of substance would be a difference of mind, will, and operation, and of course, a gross tritheism contrary to the

Bible, which declares that Jehovah is ONE Jehovah. Deut. vi. 4. But, stating the doctrine of three persons, to whom severally and distinctly are referred several agencies and operations, which, though they vary, are notwithstanding imputable to none but Deity; we find an barmony in the Scriptures, respecting the nature of God's unity and personality, which, without this doctrine, is most evidently broken. If, therefore, God only can sanctify the ungodly; and if we find, that the Hily Spirit doth sanctify them: it proves most incontestably, that he is God, and consequently the great object

of praise and adoration.

It is also true, that no peculiar attribute of God can be properly ascribed to a creature. One creature may be used as an instrument to convey the agency of that attribute to another creature; but it is not inberent in him, nor is it in his power to use it, when, or how, or where he pleases. Now, grace is a peculiar attribute of God in every strict sense of the term. He only bas it, as the fountain. He only can give it, as a stream from the fountain. Whatever the first angel or the first saint in glory may posses of grace, it is not their own radically. They enjoy it by donation, and by the donation of God. They are what they are by his free favour and bounty. He is therefore called the God of all grace. I Pet. v. 10. There is no grace but from him. Christ is said to bestow grace, Eph. iv. 7. because there is no grace but by him. And the Holy Ghost is called repeatedly the Spirit of grace, because there is no grace but with him. He is, therefore, conjointly with the Father and the Son, true and very God.

The gifts of grace, and the attestations of them in the working of miracles, are directly applied in Scripture to the Holy Spirit; and so directly are they applied to him, that it is affirmed, that no man can say, knowing what he says, that Jesus is the Lord, or Jehovah, but by the Holy Ghost, because without the Holy Ghost, in strict truth he can know nothing of the matter. He may use the words and syllables; but he has no demonstration or conviction of the thing. Our sufficiency (says the same apostle) is of God. It is God alone, who can controul the powers of nature, and interrupt those laws of being, which he hath placed in the world of matter. It is God alone, who can govern in the spiritual and invisible world, and direct effects in the souls of men, which can be ascribed to no subordinate or created cause. This none but an atheist can deny. But the Holy Ghost is expressly said by the apostle in I Cor. xii. to have accomplished all this. The word of wisdom and of knowledge, the grace of faith and the gifts of healing, the working of miracles and the power of prophecy, the discernment of spirits with the variety and ininterpretation of tongues, are ALL wrought by one AND

THE SFLF-SAME SPIRIT, dividing to every man severally as HE WILL. And yet, in all these diversities of operations, it is the SAME GOD which workerb all in all. The Holy Ghost, consequently, is this same God: And a man must resist all sorts of evidence, delivered from the senses and testimonies of others, oppose even the most common principles of ratiocination, and renounce the Bible itself; when he denies this conclusion. And yet it must be owned, there are people who, in the face of such testimonies, do venture upon this denial, of whose mental accomplishments in other things there can be no doubt.—We can only take up the words of the prophet concerning them: The wise men—bave rejected the word of the Lord; and what wisdom is in them? Jer. viii. 9.

fustification, another and of divine grace, is from God. It is one God (saith the apostle) which shall justify the circumcision by faith, and the uncircumcision through faith. Rom. iii. 30. It is God that justifieth. Rom. viii. 33.—But believers are justified, in the name of the Lord Jesus, and by the Spirit of our God. I Cor. vi. 11.—The Spirit therefore is

God: Or, there are more Gods than one.

One of the greatest, if not the greatest, operation of power in the heart, is the creation or donation of faith. The apostle says, it is not of ourselves: It is the gift of God. Eph. ii. 8.—But he also says, in another place, that faith is given by the Spirit. 1 Cor. xii. 9.—The Spirit, therefore, is God.

All the work of grace in the Soul is to prepare it for glory. It is an agency of divine love; and none but a divine hand can perform it. For this purpose, God promised in the Old Testament to dwell in his people, and to walk in them; and hence, because of his presence, they are called the remple of the living God. 2 Cor. vi. 16.—Bu., in another place (1 Cor. vi. 19.) their body is said to be the temple of the Holy Chost.

The Holy Ghost, therefore, is the living God.

Many arguments of this kind might be drawn from the Scriptures to prove, under this title of Grace, the proper personality and divinity of the Holy Ghost .- To the Christian, these will more than suffice; and to establish the Christian in this important truth, are these papers principally written. With respect to the unbeliever, all the arguments in the world, whether from Scripture or its analogy, would fail of their full effect, unless attended with that grace, which the Holy Spirit, as God over all, bestows as be will. It his reason were silenced or convinced, his heart would be just as it was before: And to make a man a Christian in head or in notion only, would be rendering him as useless as the paper which might be wasted for the purpose; or at least would be . drawing a mere portrait, which has neither life nor action, and which, as it is calculated to deceive the sight, has for its Vol. II.

only worth its capacity of deception .- A qualification, which

no sincere mind would wish to acquire.

But they, who bave tasted that the Lord is gracious, can never dispute, that the grace they enjoy can only be from the Lord. Acquainted with the powers of corruption and the strength of sin, they know full well, that none but HE, who is stronger than the strong ONE armed, could have rescued them from the iron bondage, in which they were held. They perceive experimentally, that none but God could plan such a determination of free grace, as the Scripture reveals; that no created being could have either the wisdom, will, or power, to accomplish all that was necessary for their salvation; and that only the infinite and everlasting Jebovah could make

if really an everlasting salvation.

When the believer considers himself, he is ready to say: " Here am I, a sinful inhabitant of a wicked world, without any thought of God by nature, and turned away in my affections from all' that can be conceived of divine purity and perfection. I feel no natural inclination to goodness; but a strong propensity to all things, which are corrupt and perishing. My soul never sought after its God; and if it has thought of futurity, it considered the eternal state as a dark barren void, the gloomy apprehensions of which inclined me to forget it as fast as I could. My heart was all alive to the pursuits of the world, which, in my sober moments undistracted by the immediate presence of the objects, my heart told me were altogether perishing and vain. Still I ran on the mad career, sure of a precipice which must terminate my course, and sure of nothing beyond it. Thus my whole nature I have constantly found rivetted to the earth, without one aspiring thought or desire of its own to guit it. The very idea indeed of quitting it, has filled me with horror and pain. In this state, always in quest of good without ever finding its satiety, I have heard and read of God, and, with the mere curiosity of a man, have perused his word. I saw nothing in the holiness and omnipotence of my Maker, but which struck me with a sense of my distance from bim, and with a terror of his future approach to me. All his attributes, considered in the aggregate, filled me with awe: His mercy alone afforded me some hope, when I thought of it by itself; but attempered with his justice, even mercy increased the dread. The very goodness of God must detach him from all that is sinful and impure, and consequently (as I saw) must detach him from me. The Scripture appeared dark and confused to my understanding. I saw no propriety in many of its precepts, no force in its allegories, no comfort in its promises, no glory in its end. Indeed, its end I did not understand; for it seemed void of scheme or plan, and only, to my dark mind,

a rude and undigested mass. It was, in all respects, a book sealed to my eyes, a book unaffecting to my heart. Some of its moral precepts alone seemed worthy of attention; and these I viewed distinctly from all the rest; and, thus viewed, I thought that Cicero, Seneca or any of the philosophers, had or might have delivered as good as those. Thus I was left affoat in an immense ocean of uncertainty, without chart or compass to direct my course, or to promise me an harbour of comfort and repose. I found, likewise, that I had no rudder to my bark to steer it aright by any rule, could I obtain one; and that I lay exposed to the united agitation of winds and waves. To sink, filled me with horror; to swim, afforded me a prospect of continual restlessness and care. I saw cthers in the same situation of distress, some sensible or it and others stupid or asleep; but this only wounded my humanity, without presenting me with relief. At length, a voice reached my heart; a voice, not of sound but of power, which I had never perceived before. "God hath sworn by an oath to his people, that he would grant unto them, that they, being delivered out of the hands of their enemies, might serve him without fear, in holiness and righteousness before him, all the days of their life." A sun-beam, darting upon the eyes of a man just recovered to sight from being born blind, could not fill him with so much amazement and wonder at the light, as these important words did my soul at the truths, which they contained, and which, though I had read them an hundred times, I never had perceived before. I saw, I felt an elenchus and a power in them, which no mere words, formed by any kind of art, could possibly have induced. I stood astonished; not at the demonstration of truth alone, though that appeared bright and obvious; but at the force and impression with which it seized my soul. It was quick and powerful indeed; and sharper than any two-edged sword, piercing even to the dividing asunder of soul and spirit, and of the joints end marrow, and a discerner of the thoughts and intents of the beart. The electrical fluid could not pervade the body with more subtilty and surprize; than the heavenly flame affected and seized upon the powers of my mind. I soon found, that to know a truth, is not merely to see it, but to feel and enjoy it too. I tasted, I handled, I felt the Word of Life. I found it was life indeed. Soon my soul, like a new-born babe, casting its eyes around, perceived its situation by nature, and the gracious change, which had passed upon it. By degrees, it could explore the darkness of sin and error, by the light of grace and truth. I saw that through all my past life, I had been in a state of bondage; that I had been a slave in the hands of my most cruel enemies; that, I had feared God only as an angry and inexogable judge; that

so far from walking before him in holiness and rightecusness. I had counted it as the best enjoyment of my life to turn away from him; that it had been a part of my misery to reflect upon his transcendent holiness, to the commands of which I neither could yield, nor loved to yield, obedience; and that all his attributes were at war with me a sinner. I now saw, on the other hand, how God could be just, and yet the justifier of him that believeth in Jesus; and how all my sins, sufficient as they were to damn a thousand worlds, could be blotted out and forgiven. I perceived, with horror, the deep apostacy of my nature, and my total aversion of heart to God and his holy will. I was covered with shame and contrition, in the view of myself, and with wonder at so much go odness and beauty, in the consideration of bim. My soul was bowed down with the conflict of remorse, hope, love, adoration, and surprize. I saw, I felt, I believed. I wondered, at first, that I had never seen, felt, or believed, before. But I soon found that this wonderful change in the human mind, is indeed a blessing and a gift from God; that it is not of him that willeth, nor of him that runneth, but of God, who sheweth mercy; in short, that it is not of human might or power, but altogether by God the Spirit. The Scriptures now were unsealed in all those parts which became necessary for my establishment; and they shewed me, that God only could raise the dead—the dead in trespasses and sins, to newness of life; that no human wisdom can impart spiritual instruction; that the Spirit of life in Christ Jesus can only sustain that life, which it is his office to give; and that the same Spirit of grace and truth alone can confer the grace and truth, which are needful for the soul in all its conflicts with its enemies, and for safe conduct to eternity, And, O what a harmony and glory did then appear in all the offices of the overlasting covenant; what a propriety and suitableness in the work of the divine persons; what a lustre in the satisfaction of their unchangeable attributes; what a force and savor in the holy Scriptures; what a hope from the promises; what privileges from communion with God, in his will, and love, and mercy! In short, it was altogether wonderful, and altogether new. It was a life of newness, as well as a newness of life. There was indeed a life and glory in the whole, which those, who have enjoyed them, can better rejoice in than describe. In one word, I felt a hope full of immortality, and found new and earnest desires after im-

This, more or less, is the growing experience of every believer. He is a child of wrath by nature, and has had a transition from this natural state to a state of grace and favor. It is so great a change, that it cannot pass upon a man unknown

to him. He may not know, indeed, the hour, the day, or perhaps the month of this translation; but the translation itself he must know, or he hath found none. He once was darkness; but now he is light in the Lord. And can a man emerge from darkness into light, without perceiving the change? He once was dead in sin; but now is alive to God. Can any creature pass from death unto life, without any perception of the difference? Impossible! Equally impossible also is it for a soul to live unto God, but by the power of God. An angel could not impart life to a &v; and can any created being induce a life immortal, and eternal, to man? Can that, which depends for the existence and support of its own being on the will and power of its Creator, act independently of that Creator? Lazarus might, with equal case, have raised himself from the dead, and come forth. It tollows, then, that as spiritual life can only be given from God, it can only be exerted by lim. Grace is not a principle given to man to render him independent, but to increase his dependence by increasing his communion with God. He cannot live to God, without God. The strongest believer cannot excite so much as one good thought in his soul, without the agency of the divine Spirit; and much less can he bring that thought into act without the same agency and aid. It is God, which workerb in you (says the apostle) both to will and to do. We are not sufficient of ourselves (he tells us in another place) to THINK any thing as of ourselves. Our sufficiency is of God. Again. The Spirit belpeth our infirmities; for we know not what to pray for as we cught. " As thou (says that most excellent collect in the liturgy for Easter-Day) by thy special grace preventing us dost put into our minds good desires, so by thy continual help we may bring the same to good effect." To the like purpose is the tenth article of the church of England. To say, that a man is good without communion with the Author of all goodness, is a blasphemous assertion of human independence, and as false in speculation as in fact. An heathen philosopher could teach a better doctrine, and has taught it. Seneca says, Sacer intra nos Spiritus sedet-Bonus vir sine Deo nemo est-Ille dat consilia magnifica et erecta. In unoquoque virorum bonorum babitat Deus. Ep. xli. "An holy Spirit dwells within us-No man can be good without God-He gives exalted and upright instructions, and resides in every good man."-Alas! how many, who are named divines, and who have professed themselves moved by the Holy Gbost to take upon them their sacred office, will this ingenious heathen one day condemn? How many condemn even themselves by their subsequent lives and doctrine, both in works and in words denying the efficacy or the existence of the Spirit of grace? Such persons should remember one text,

which they are often obliged to read-If ANY man bave not

the Spikit of Christ, be is none of kis.

But to thee, O believer, the mere argument of thy teacher's divinity needs not to be urged: Thou hast been taught the heavenly truth by an heavenly guide. Thou last been made to see and to feel thyself destitute of all spiritual life and grace: and thou knowest, by experience, that none but God himself could ever give thee life, or maintain it when given. Thou art sensible too, that the life of grace from the dead is of far more importance and dignity, than thy mere life of nature as a creature. The unclion of God's Spirit, which anointed thy Redeemer for this purpose of salvation, hath descended from him upon thee. The Spirit of Grace hath distilled like the dew upon thy barren heart, and enriched it with the knowledge and the love of God. He hath been and is to thy soul a gracious Spirit, according to the everlasting covenant, both in coming freely, and in working efficaciausly. He came with free grace, because the value of his blessing could not possibly by thee have been purchased; and with efficacious grace, because none but a divine power could remove the opposition of world, flesh and devil, and introduce the divine life within thy soul. O what a debtor art thou already to this almighty Lord! And what an increasing debtor wilt thou be throughout eternity! He is and will be the Spirit of Grace to his people in everlasting glory. All the company of the blessed are imbued with his divine anointing; and they enjoy him as their life and their portion, world without end. The spirits of just men are made perfect by God the Spirit. He fills their capacities with his divine inhabitation, and they live in and by him as the great spring of all their bliss. They are there become a perfect unison with this Holy Spirit. And what they are, redeemed soul, thou, even thou, shalt one day be. Corruptible as is thy body, and feeble as thou feelest thy inward man; within a while, and a short while too, thou shalt part with corruption and weakness; and all the enemies of thy peace, which thou hast seen in the days of thy flesh, thou shalt see again no more forever. God will wipe away not only all tears from thine eyes, but the cause of all tears from thy heart. There thou shalt never shed another; unless it be possible to shed one of gratitude, wonder, and joy. O what bath God the Spirit done in thee now! He hath subdued thy reigning sins, and mastered for thee thy domineering corruptions. He hath released thee from thy bondage, and brought thee into a glorious liberty. And all this he hath done as the earnest only of greater blessings. The mercies, that remain behind, are beyond all human account or conception. The pledge is delightful and full of an

uncloying sweetness: What then shall the full measure of grace and glory be; where there is nothing to abate it, or to

distract its course for a single moment?

And all this is thine, assuredly thine, thou weakest of believers! God never gives grace to the soul, to disappoint it of glory. It is a blasphemy, perhaps, against the Spirit of grace to utter so detracting an expression against his nature and office. The very term of communicated grace, precludes such a notion. For if it might be lost as soon as given, it a -. pears no better than the gift of a man, who cannot secure the possession of any one thing to himself or to others, for a moment. But the gifts and calling of God are without repentance; and whom the Lord loveth, he loveth to the end. Man would change in a moment without the divine help; but God, being God, changeth not. All change implies defect; and therefore both are impossible in God. Christians in this life are full of defects: and are kept from changing only by an almighty hand. It was Cain's curse to be a vagabond or wanderer upon earth. The law of God restrained him not; and the grace of God, not being imparted, gave him no rest. All men by nature, like Gain, stroll about in the land of Nod; and none enter into Canaan, but (as Abrabam did) through the sovereign call and power of God. But grace, which is fixed in itself, fixes the believer in Jesus. This is the work of the Holy Spirit, and, to the redeemed soul, it is one of the most incontestible arguments of his divinity. He is essentially God to bestow grace: And he is God almighty to preserve it, where bestowed, against all the powers of darkness for evermore. By him, from being a dismal wanderer after peace, the Christian enters into rest, His aching heart is privileged, through him alone, to obtain quietness and assurance for ever .- And this is thy privilege, fainting, feeble, and heavy-laden soul: It is thy privilege more than any. For he, that thirsts most after God, by God's own promise, hath the most right to Him. O look upon this grace, which God the Spirit can alone bestow; and is not thy very soul wrapt up in eagerness to possess it? And why is thy soul thus eager? Is there any principle in thy heart in the least similar to this heavenly gift? No. Thy heart is naturally full of baseness, corruption and unbelief, and would lead thee, (like fallen Adam ) from God instead of to him. This is the cause. The Holy Spirit hath already quickened thee with his living grace, and worketh in thy soul all these desires after himself. If he had not wrought them, thou never couldest have had them. And if he hath stirred up these holy longings; did he stir them up to disappoint thee at the last? O think not so unworthily of the God of all grace; for this in fact is calling the God of truth by the name of liar. He hath promised,

nay, to give thee strong consolation, he hath sworn, and sworn by bimself, because he could swear by no greater: that whosoever cometb to bim, be will in no wise cast out; that they, who bunger and thirst after righteousness, shall be filled; that the weary and beavy-laden, who come to bim, shall find rest to their souls; and, in a word, that he will be a strength to the poor, a strength to the needy in his distress, a refuge from the storm, a shadow and a belp, a very present belp in the time of trouble. God is thus rich in mercy, that thou shouldest be rich in faith: And when thy faith once embraces his mercy, thou wilt have a present comfort in that act, and e'er long, in the best time, a sare fulfillment of the promise. Remember; God cannot lie; and, while thou trustest in Aim, thou canst not be disappointed. The manner and the means may not be after thy imagination; but the end will be right, and thou wilt rejoice in it at the last. Thou hast laid hold of an omnipotent arm; and thy great business

is to be stayed upon it.

In the view of all these things, what encouragement is there for the believing soul, not only to contemplate, but to enjoy the Spirit of grace, and the effusions of his divinity? He is the Spirit of grace, and grace itself, which, like all his other perfections, is unutterable. Grace is his nature; and grace, in the essect, is his office. He will be gracious to whom be will be gracious; for he possesses grace as the sovereign dispenser, and receives it from none. In the union of the persons in the Godhead, he enjoys every essential glory, in perfect equality and concord, and bestows the grace of the eternal throne, according to the eternal covenant and decree. He is the immediate agent conferring that grace in which the other two persons essentially concur. It is equally the grace of the Father and the Son; but it is the Spirit's office to reyeal it unto men, and to effectuate by it their eternal salvation .- O wonderful creature, thou believing Christian, who art born of God!-Saved by a cost, which angels cannot count, and in a manner, which fills all heaven with amazement! A brittle clod, a crawling worm, or at the highest, a rebellious sinner, full of the enmity of hell and the insignificance of earth; is saved for glory, for the highest glory of heaven; saved by the abasement, by the sufferings and death of the Son of God; saved by the power of the almighty Spirit and his effectual grace; saved according to the eternal purpose and decree of the Father, Son, and Holy Ghost! What an expence of salvation, for beings, who are minute as atoms in the universe of things, and fit only for devils and the damned in the bosom of hell! O the beight and depth! Love passing knowledge! Love without end!-Angels wonder, and all heaven is filled with joy, both at the

complacency of God, and at the happiness of man: And shalt not thou, O believer, participate the joy, who art so immediately the object of its excitement? Can beaven pour forth its praises for thee; and canst thou be dumb? No. If thou art silent, it must be from the excess of gratitude and joy, overpowering the organs of speech or the extent of imagination; and, in this respect, there may, sometimes, be silence in beaven: But it will not, it cannot last. God will improve thy power of praise, with the increasing sense of its due. He will be glorified, and thou shalt be blessed in glorifying him, throughout eternity.-Lord, what is man, that thou art mindful of him; or the son of man that thus thou visitest him !

> Spirit of Grace, my heart renew, (Each faithful Christian cries) And where the weeds of error grew, Let plants of truth arise.

My soul, an howling wilderness, Shall then such beauties wear, That heav'n with rapture shall confess Thy workmanship is there.

●: 歩: @: ☆: ★

## SPIRIT OF ADOPTION.

A DOPTION, among men, is the taking of a stranger into a family, and conferring upon him all the rights and privileges of a son: And as it depends upon the adopter's free choice and bounty; the favor is more or less valuable, according to the inheritance which is entailed upon it. When Tiberius was adopted by Augustus Casar, it was understood, that whatever the patron or adopter possessed, would of right descend to the adopted: And thus Tiberius inherited the empire of Rome, to which otherwise he could not have aspired from any notion or pretence of hereditary right.

The first instance of adoption, that can be found, is the reception of Moses by Pharaob's daughter; and from this instance we may believe, that it was in that early age a wellknown or established custom; or it may be presumed, that a king's daughter would not have ventured to begin it. We will

Vol. II. Aa omit the silly stories, which Josephus and the Rabbins relate concerning Moses in this exalted station, on purpose (as they think) to embellish his character, and will only add that illustrious testimony of him from the voice of truth, which does him more honor than the plaudits of ten thousand historians. By faith Moses, when he was come to years, refused to be called the son of Pharaoh's daughter; choosing rather to suffer affliction with the people of God, than to enjoy the pleasures of sin for a season; esteeming the reproach of Christ greater riches than the treasures of Egypt. Hebr. xi. 24-26. "What a madman!" cries human policy. "What wisdom!" says Moses now, and all heaven with him.

This practice was so well established among the Greeks, that they had positive laws to direct the form and extent of it; so that every adoption might appear by a public act, and become notorious to the world. † And it was followed by the Romans down to the times of Justinian, who, in his institutes, has established particular regulations concerning the adopted, putting them under the adopter's power, as though

they were their own offspring.t

God hath been pleased to use this term, in order to convey to our minds another view of his grace and love to the souls of his people. Every image of endearment in nature he hath employed for the expression of his kindness; and this important one, therefore, among the rest. The motives of this affedion and adoption are entirely within himself. Indeed, they could not but be so; for all the world was become guilty before God; and when be looked down from beaven, he saw that all men were become abominable, and that there was none doing good, no not one. There were no attractions in miserable, bateful, and bating, sinners; and there could be none to win the love of a holy and righteous God. Thus, when he was pleased to adopt the people of Israel from among the sinful families of the earth, a very particular declaration is given, That the LORD did not set bis love upon, nor choose them, because of their number, for they were the fewest of all people-nor for their wealth, for He gave them the power to get wealth-nor for their righteousness, for they were a rebellious and stiff-necked people: But because the Lord loved them, and because be would be gracious to whom be would be gracious, and shew mercy on whom he would shew mercy. Every cause, reason, and purpose, existed entirely in himself; and, from his own benignity, did every blessing pro-

† Rous Arch. Att. l. v. c. 15.

‡ Justin. Inst. 1. i. tit. 11. The reader may see a curious controversy, upon the subject of adoption, in the remains of Marcus Annews Seneca, (father of the great Seneca) in his second book of Controv. §. 9. cum notis varior.

teed. And yet bad as this people was, what shall we think of this other declaration, which God made, in their behalf, in the face of their enemies? Thus saith Jenovan, Israel is my Son, even my First-born. Exed, iv. 22. See Rom, ix. 4. And of what was said to themselves? אוני בעבריך איני בעבריך איני בעבריך ב

ing beyond the grave for the full possession.

What the LORD once did to Israel, he doeth for ever to all his people. The calling and salvation in the type fully expresses, and was designed to express, the calling and salvation of all the redeemed in every age of the world. His election of grace is a truth as positively revealed to believers by the Old Testament, as it is or can be to them by the New; for the same eternal Spirit dictated both, and both for the same end. And the only difference between the terms election and adoption is; the former expresses God's simple choice of his people, without any motives for that choice, but his own; and the latter implies the same kind of choice, but at the same time conveys with it an idea of what they are elected to. Election is the choice of God, as it exists in bimself; and adoption is that very choice, as it becomes manifested to them. By their adoption therefore they are persuaded of their election; and not of their adoption by their election. Their faith does not conclude from what exists in the unrevealed mind of God, which it is impossible for them to know; but from what hath already passed upon their own minds, agreeable to his mind revealed, which God hath designed that they should know. They do not infer without evidence, which would be enthusiasm with a witness, or something worse; but, in their earnestness for the knowledge of salvation, they are so far from being satisfied with faint hopes and mere conjectures, that they require no less testimony than God's own warrant and God's own seal with that warrant, to prove that it is for them. This doctrine, consequently, cannot be abused, wherever it is understood in faith and experience: And as for those, who will abuse it; they are to be pitied and deplored for the predominancy of that corruption, which ever turns the use and benefit of the best things into uselessness or destruction.

If Israel, after the flesh and in type, was adopted to be the son, and the first-born, of Jehovah; Israel, after the Spirit, and the consummation of that type, can certainly be invested with no inferior privilege. If God chose the one from motives of his own; surely, the other hath no other motives to plead, why he should ever adopt them. If Jews were stiff-necked and sinful; can Gentiles plead greater obedience and purity? And if the children of Abrabam, who were brought up in the faith, and who had the promise of the life that now is as well as the future, were not received, because they were his children; how shall strangers to the covenants of promise, aliens from God's commonwealth, and atheists in the world, dare to hold up their heads, and claim the inheritance of glory by desert ?- If this argument of adoption were but rightly understood in the beart, as well as the bead; the pride of man, which inspires him with high notions of his own will and powers, with the wild farrago of opinions issuing from those notions, would tumble, like Dagon before the ark, and be broken into ruins.

"But bow are God's people adopted by him; when He is immaculately holy, and they are altogether defiled by sin?" -This is an important question; and the answer, which God's word affords us, is no less complete than delightful.

The apostle tells, us that we are chosen in CHRIST, that God bath predestinated us unto the adoption of children by JESUS. CHRIST to bimself, according to the good pleasure of his will, to the praise of the glory of his grace, &c. Eph. i. 5, 6. and that God sent forth his Son, made of a woman, made under the law, to redeem them that were under the law, that we might receive the adoption of sons. Gal. iv. 4, 5. God sent his Son in human nature to redeem us first, and then to give the right of adoption to us. To them, that received bim, gave be power [Marg. right, or privilege.] to become the sons of God. John i. 12. As, among men, they were to be made free, before they could be positively and effectually adopted; so we are first delivered from bondage, before we can receive or lay claim to the privilege of spiritual adoption. We are, therefore, partakers of this adoption through Christ; and we can enjoy it only in him: consequently, we must first be in bim, before we can know our adoption, or possess it. He is the great Son, the great DOD or FIRST-BORN; I and we are sons and first-

t In a former note, the doctrine of the roa or first-born, was briefly considered: And it was shewn to belong to Christ, and to his members through him. He is also, respecting his human nature, the head, the beginning, and the דאשית מבורים, the head, the talling, the chief or first of the first-fruits, for the sake of his people, unto God: But as to his divine nature, he hath no beginning, and there-

Find too IN him, according to the declaration given to Israel. Exod. iv. 22. And therefore it is, that we inherit all the rights, honors, and privileges of the first-bern and become joint-beirs with Christ. He is also, in another view, the

fore cannot be the first or chief of any creatures, because this would express a relation and comparison, which cannot obtain between infinite and finite, or JEHOVAH the incommunicable and, dependent beings. Regarding Christ's humanity, he may be called the primus inter pares with relation to his people, as indeed he is their nur [Sec Vol. 1.] their fellow, and one, though the principal one, of them: But in his divinity, he is above every name, the rour of Jehovah himself, and therefore necessarily the self-existent and inconceivable Jehovah too, the cause of all things, and consequently neither one nor the first of those things. The primogeniture and the blessing are almost convertible terms; and some authors have observed the same of the two roots and and art, from which those terms are derived. We had forfeited, like Esau, our birth-right and the blessing; and therefore Christ became a first-born, and suffered for his people, that they might partake of his birth-right and its attendant blessing: And thus they are all firstborn, as being members of and in him. They are, therefore, considered by the Scripture, as as all one in Christ Jesus; and he is considered as their head. And this unity which subsists between Christ and his church, is as much insisted upon, perhaps, as any one truth in the Bible; and possibly for the purpose of explaining to his people, that, without him, they are nothing, and can do nothing.

From the corruption of this doctrine of the first-born, it is very probable, that the heathen round about Israel, (for this corruption doth not seem to have obtained much farther) offered to Moloch, the sun, or king of the material heavens, their first-born for their transgression, the fruit of their body for the sin of their soul. Michael vi. 7.

As the first-born belonged to the Lord under the law, in type of his spiritual first-born in Christ; so the first-fruits also were to be offered to him, as peculiarly his own. In Lev. ii. 12. &c. the manner of this oblation is prescribed, and hath an immediate reference to the subject of this Essay. The first-fruits in this place typify both believers themselves, and the first-fruits of the Seiblit in believers, as his earnest bestowed upon them, in testimony of their adoption to the primogeniture. Thus they are בכורים first-born, and first-fruits, by being members, in the Unity abovementioned, of Christ the great and the first-born, who is (according to the apostle) the first-fruits of them that slept: And they are to offer up the first of their Arst-fruits, their Arst affections and principal services unto God .- The first-fruits under the law were not to be a burnt sacrifice for atonement, but matters of oblation and thanksgiving: So the fruits of the Spikit in his people are not to be preferred as means of atonement or reconciliation, but only as duties of devotion and priic. The TTION OF MEMORIAL only was to be burnt by the priest before the

FIRST-FRUIT unto God for us; and we in Him are also to God the first-fruits of his creatures. He is the first-born among many brethren; and those brethren are all first-born in him, their common inseparable head. He is the Amagen the first-fruits, 1 Col. xy. 20. and the Apan, the beginning or chief, the first-born from the dead, Col. i. 18. or (according to the

Lord for an riws, a fire-offering, or offering for atonement: And thus Christ, who is his people's memorial and representative before God offered up himself (being both priest and sacrifice for the sole propitiation of their sins. These first-fruits under the law were also particularly enjoined to be presented, after they had been seasoned with sait, called the salt of the covenant of the Alehim; and no offering would be accepted without it. How forcibly doth this describe, that nothing can be acceptable to God even from his people, but through the Eternal Spirit, who is that salt and seal of that immutable covenant, which the divine persons entered into for the redemption and adoption of the first-born? Thus God's people are to have salt in themselves; because as salt is the appointed emblem of preservation and incorruptibility, they are preserved to an incorruptible life by this Spirit, and are privileged to present themselves, as a living sacrifice of first-fruits through his divine power, as children of the covenant and adoption, and as heirs of the kingdom in Christ Jesus .- Oil also and frankincense were to be put upon the offering: And these are emblems of the Spirit's grace of holiness and prayer or praise, with which all the redeemed are to offer up themselves and their services before God. This oil and frankincense accompanied the memorial itself: And so the Spirit of the Lord was upon Jesus, who was holy, harmless, undefiled, and who offered up prayers and supplications, with strong crying and tears, for the salvation of his people. O reader what a fund of instruction doth all this mystery of Godliness contain for thy soul! Meditate, according to the precept. Josh. i. 8. upon the purpose of this law, day and nie ht; and then thy way indeed shall be prosperous, and thou thyself shalt have good success, or true understanding.

Though it may add to the great length of this note, the subject of which would not be exhausted in a volume, it may not be unacceptable to some readers to annex an idea of the truly learned and excellent archbishop Usher on this interesting matter. " At the time of the passover, Christ our passover was slain for us, and the whole Sabbath following he rested in the grave. The next day after that Sabbath, the my [Lev. xxiii. 10, 11.] or sheaf of the firstfruits of the first (or barley harvest, was offered unto God: And Christ rose from the dead, and became the first-fruits of them that slept; many bodies of the saints that slept, arising likewise after him. From thence was the account taken of the seven Sabbaths; and upon the morrow after the seventh Sabbath (which was our Lord's day was celebrated the feast of weeks [Lev. xxiii. 15-17. Numb. xxviii. 26. Exod. xxxiv. 22.] the day of the first-fruits of the second or wheat) harvest; upon which day the apostles having themselves received the first-fruits of the Spirit, begat 3000 souls

same titles in the Old Testament) the man, the beginning, bead, first-fruits, &c. of all; the ראשית chiej, bead, of Jeho-VAH's way of salvation, Prov. viii. 22. of whom God said. I will make bim the Tion, the first-born, bigher than the kings of the earth. Ps. Ixxxix. 27. And we, his redeemed, being his brethren, nay, members of his body, of his flesh, and of his bones, are privileged to enjoy all his inheritance in him, and are thus (according to the promise) made princes by bim in all the earth; i. e. from every part of the earth are called to this adoption. Ps. xLv. 16. Thus, it appears, we are adopted in Christ, and because we are bis members; not in ourselves, individually or separately from him. We were slaves, and could not be adopted till we were made free; and we had neither wealth nor strength of our own to purchase or procure our freedom. He paid our ransom, by becoming one of us, by suffering for us, and by paying down the full tale which God's righteous justice required: To which the apostle Peter alludes; Ye were not redeemed with corruptible things, as silver and gold-but with the precious blood of Christ. I Pet. i. Hence, we are said to be, not our own, because we are bought with a price; and are now become so much a part of our gracious Head, that if men persecute us or do us good, they do it to Him, (Acts ix. 4. Luke x. 16.) and that we are all one in bim, and be in us. John xvii. 21. All his estate is our's; and whatever he gained in our nature by being a son made of a woman, and a first-born; he gained it for those, who by a living faith are united to him. This is, and to eternity will be found, an immense inheritance. God, by his apostle, hath given us a kind of sum total, because the particulars of it are innumerable. All things are your's; whether Paul, or Apollos, or Cephas, [all ministers and church-ordinances or the world, or life, or death, or things present, or things to come; ALL ARE YOUR'S: and ye are CHRIST'S; and CHRIST is God's. I Cor. iii. 21-23.-Look, Christian, if

with the word of truth, and presented them as the first-fruits of the Christian church unto God and unto the Lamb. And from that time forward doth Waldensis note [Thom. Waldens. Doctrinal. Tom. iii. tit. 16. c. 140.] that the Lord's day was observed in the Christian church in the place of the Sabbath: Quia inter legalia (saith he) tune sublata Sabbati custodia fuit unum, flanum est tunc intrasse dominicam loco ejus; sicut baptisma statim loco circumcisionis. Adhuc eminisuperstes erat sanctus Johannes, qui diceret; et fui in Spiritu die Dominica, Apoc. i. cum de Dominica die ante Christi resurrectionem nulla prorsus mentio haberetur. Sed statim post missionem Spiritus Sancti, lege nova ful ente, in humano cultu sublatum est Sabbatum; et dies Dominica resurrectionis c'arescebat Dominica." See Archbishop Usher's life and letters. Letter 205.

any thing, which thou canst want, is left out here; or see;

if thou canst add any thing to the sum!

This is what we are adopted to; and this is the way of our adoption, namely, in Christ Jesus the living way. But we are to be brought into this way; we are to be grafted into Christ; we are to be made alive in him: All of them terms, expressive of our inherent weakness and incapacity, and of the exercise of some external power. The very term adoption not only implies our former alienation (for no true and natural son could be adopted, nor any who possessed an heriditary right to an inheritance,) but also that we are the mere subjects and not in any sense the authors of it. The adoption must entirely depend upon the will of the adopter. The Scripture hath not left us in darkness here. God never appoints an end, but he always provides the means. As we are the first-fruits in Christ, we are to have also the first-fruits of the Spirit, Rom. viii. 23. and because we are sons, and firstborn, God bath sent forth the Spirit of his Son, into our. bearts, crying, Abba, Father: Wherefore, we are no more servants, but sons; and if sons, then heirs of God through Christ. Gal. IV. 6, 7. We are brought therefore into this state, or born again, not of blood, nor of the will of the flesh, nor of the will of man, but of God. John. i- 13. By this Spirit of ADOPTION it is, that we can call freely upon God, claim to be his sons, style him our Father, cur tender Father, [Abba,] and plead all the benefits of our adoption. We can ask for heaven itself, without fear of asking too much; because we ask for our own, and now our own just inheritance. As heirs, we can stand upon our heirship, and need fear nothing but the living below it.

We have here the means of our adoption before us, VIZ-CHRIST and the SPIRIT: And are not the means adequate to the end?—If these two agents be divine; if they be febovab bimself; they certainly are equal to the task undertaken by them. But, if they be, in any sense or in any nature, inferior to febovab; then undoubtedly they are not: and we shall build upon creatures, nay upon sinful creatures, because they undertake to do, and claim the glory of doing, what is the pe-

culiar alone of the Almighty.

That Christ is not, respecting his divine nature, inferior to febovab, but febovab himself, has been proved in the former volume; and, therefore, he is equal, in all points, to the agency, which was undertaken by him. That the Spirit also is febovab, or a person in febovab, seems to have been cleared in some proceeding Essays of this volume, and will be further manifest, if we consider the gracious character, which he hath assumed, under this title of the Spirit of Adoption.

Among men, nobody could force a person to adopt another; but it was always an act of the freest choice and liberality: Nor could any one be adopted to inherit an estate, not belonging to the adopter himself. So, in the spiritual adoption, it is an act of sovereign grace and mercy; and the inheritance, consequent upon it, which is heaven and glory, is the adopter's own property, and is granted as such to every adopted child. If therefore the Spirit be, according to his name, the Spirit of Adoption, and brings into the heavenly family any worms of earth, who were aliens to it, constituting them, by that act, the very children of God; it will follow irresistibly, that the Spirit himself is God, or he gives what he has no right to give, and therefore would be erroneously styled, for this purpose, the Spirit of Adoption. But as this last is impossible, because it would overthrow the truth of the Bible; it follows, that the Spirit is the omnipotent Jebovab, who bestows the grace of adoption, in order to convey the inheritance of glory, which glory is bis own, and therefore freely given by him to whomsoever he pleaseth. Were the Spirit not the everlasting and true God; how could his adoption make the redeemed the children of God? He could not confer that title, nor bear witness to the truth of it in their souls, unless the title God were bis own just title. His adoption otherwise might make them indeed the children of a creature, according to his own rank and eminence; but they could not be made by such adoption the children of the Highest. But we read of no angelic adoption, no adoption of creatures by creatures for glory, nor of any adoption for the kingdom of heaven established by any one inferior to the King of beaven: And, therefore, the Holy Spirit, being this Spirit of Adoption, whereby the redeemed cry, Abba, Father; is necessarily and incontrovertibly, from the word of truth and from the fairest and most obvious deduction, true and very God. Here then we see with what delightful propriety it is said, that as many as are led by the Spirit of God, they are the sons of God; and that the Spirit itself beareth witness with our spirit, that we are the CHILDREN of God, and if children then Hairs, Heirs of God, and Joint Heirs with Christ. We see also another glorious and comfortable truth; that it was God the Tather, who predestinated us unto the adoption of children by Jesus Christ to himself , Eph. i. 5. that it was God the Son, who was made of a woman, made under the law, to redeem them that were under the law, that we might receive the adoption of sons; Gal. iv. 4. and that it is God the Spirit, by subose lead ing, or forming, we are the sons of God, and by whom we cry Abba, Father. Rom. viii. 15. The whole Trivity concurs in bestowing this blessing of adoption, because it it the result Bb Vol. II.

of a covenant entered into between the divine persons from before all worlds, and therefore both in prospect and retro-

spect perfectly everlasting.

The last cited text furnishes another invincible argument for the Holy Spirie's divinity, He not only gives a title to, but makes us fit for the enjoyment of the inheritance. The words of an excellent friend have furnished the following vavaluable hints upon the subject of this Essay. " When a hu-" man adopter has raised a poor beggar, he may enrich him " with a princely fortune; but he cannot give him the tem-" per and affection of a dutiful child. The adopted may prove ungrateful: He may abuse the favor, and be worse for the adoption. But it is quite otherwise, when God gives his " Spirit. He, at the same time, creates spiritual life in the " adopted son, unites him by his almighty power to Fesus, " and thereby enables him to live by faith in and upon Jesus, through whom he knows and finds the Father's love. Thus " he forms the son for the family. He lives, as Christ does " has the mind of Christ; judges of things as Christ does; " has the same affections as Christ, I John v. 1, 2, 3. has the " same relations with Christ, John xvii. 21, &c. has the same " inheritance, Rom. viii. 17. and for the same duration. Rom. " vi. 23. In this view, the Spirit of adoption bestows the " highest dignity, which a creature can possibly receive-" united by one Spirit to Immanuel, and in him united to the " Father, and thereby capable of enjoying the greatest hap-" piness, of which any creature can possibly partake, even " to be a partaker of the divine nature." - Can the agent, who effecteth all this grace for such consummate glory, be any other than Jebovab? Could a creature prepare for and bestow crowns and kingdoms in heaven? Is it possible for any being, less than the Supreme, not only to give a right to enjoy heaven, but to change the heart, renew the spirit, and to qualify the believer for heaven? Yet the Spirit of Adoption hath this office to perform; an office as much beyond the power of the creatures, as it is beyond the strength of a mite to move a world. It is a new creation, and consequently the work of an Almighty Creator; a restoration to the image of God, which God only could form at first, and reform when defaced. It is, therefore, said, that God did predestinate his people to be conformed to the image of his Son; and then it is added, that such HE also called, and justified, and glorified; all which is effected by the internal operation of the diving Spirit. The fallen angels, who are great in power and might, cannot recover themselves: nor can all the unfallen spirits round the throne blot out one sin, convert one soul, or confer one grace, upon this polluted globe. The good that is done upon carth, Jehovan doesh bimself; and certainly, then, that

HOLY SPIRIT can be no other than Jehovah, who doeth the greatest good, which ever can be done upon it, in leading

souls by his grace to eternal salvation.

Thus it appears, that the great spiritual Adopter, or Spirit of Adoption, is an almighty, free, and sovereign agent; that, accordingly, he bestoweth his adoption, on whom He will, his will being agreeable to the covenant of grace which was framed by himself and the other divine persons; that those, whom he adopts, have his influence upon their souls, renewing, guiding, and inspiring them to call upon God as their Father; that they, therefore, are led in this way from the love of sin to a thirst after more and more righteousness, as an earnest of their inheritance; and that, finally, they are brought, by the same Spirit, to the full enjayment of that inheritance in his everlasting kingdom, where they reign triumphant kings and holy priests in unutterable glory. From this view, we may perceive that God the Spiril's adoption is not a matter of hypothesis or speculation, but of life, reality, and power; and that they, who are blessed with it, are privileged even here, in some degree, to know it, to feel it, and to enfor it. An unknown earnest could be no earnest at all, and can answer no end for which any earnest could be given, namely, the assurance or testimony of a future inheritance. A spcculative earnest (admitting there could be any sense in the term) would be much the same; for whatever floats only in the fancy, without renewing the soul, may indeed be finely fanciful and extremely curious, and so are many romances; but it could have no effect, but what romances have, -- corrupt and puff up the mind and render the man not one tittle the better for it. On the contrary, God's Spirit fills the soul, at times, with the sense and impression of his adoption, makes the man alive to God, serious, devout, and thankful, gives him a taste of heaven in his affections, opens the evidence and truth of his own word to the mind, and yields him that faith and hope of glory, by which he hates sin, overcomes the world, and at last is a conqueror and more than a conqueror over hell and death itself. Now as Christians are men like others, endued with the same senses and appetites, carrying the same corrupt hearts and affections, and naturally loving case, and pleasure, and honor, and riches, like all the rest of the world: Can it be a more notion or idea, which enables them, in any degree, to turn from these things, to consider them as lying vanities, to desire that these inbred corruptions should be subdued, to deny the flesh and its lusts, and to pant for (what will crucify them entirely) the enjoyment of a spiritual good beyond the reach of all animal gratification? Is it a more whim, a fond chimera, by which they rise and have risen superior to the world, and long

for the presence of Christ and the communion of his Spirit? -Surely, there must be something more in the case, strengthened as it is by a wonderful uniformity of this principle in all ages, against the current maxims and sentiments of the world: And it might seem a matter of surprize (were the reason unknown,) that our inquisitive philosophers, who compass the world in search of plants and butterflies; our acute naturalists and chemists, who attempt to dive into the depths of nature; and our enlarged astronomers, who are for measuring and exploring worlds upon worlds; that all these knowing and ingenious people never enter into a due investigation of this far more interesting phonomenon in that little great world, called man. Till this be done, it is absurd and unworthy of them, as men of science, to call it by an ill name, and so get rid of the matter by writing enthusiasm upon the back of it. The refuge of ignorance in occult qualities has been so much and so justly exploded, that it is rather extraordinary that philosophers, at this time of day, can venture to contradict their own principle, by making use of it. For if they be asked, what this enthusiasm is, which has been so long exemplified in prophets, apostles, martyrs, and believers in every age, they are generally honest enough to confess, that they never felt, or experienced, or knew this strange thing, this occult quality, in themselves. Will they term it Madness? Madness is a deviation from all rule: And if we prove what they venture to call enthusiasm to be strictly agreeable to the rule of God in his word; what must that principle be called (let it be adorned with the name of reason or any other fine title) which not only deviates from this perfect rule, but dares to oppose and contradict it? Either the rule revealed is no rule; or their's is the madness, who wander from it. And if we ask, how it can possibly be rational in these great masters of reason to call by any name a subject, with the properties of which they are confessedly unacquainted, and whether, without ground, they may not sooner impose a wrong name than a right; their ratiocination is, to justify themselves by holding up their knowledge in other things, and bearing us down with them. But is this more correct than the conduct of Phidias's cobler, who, because he knew how to cover a man's foot, would presume to know the anatomical structure of a man himself?—We will only add, that it may be honest for a person to confess what he doth not know, though not quite so wise to CONDEMN it: And, therefore, Fbidias's proverb may be applied to these reasoners, and to reason itself, upon spiritual things-ne sutor ultra crepidam. When it pleases God to impart the knowledge of his truth, as in mercy he hath sometimes done, to the great and learned of this world; they first feel, that

they must become fools in order to be wise; and they soon after know, that the wisdom and grace of God are not to be called by hard and opprehious names, without a very high measure of spiritual presumption and folly. They then perceive and are ready enough to own, that, as the wisdom of this world is foolishness with God, a man may reckon himself and be esteemed by the world for very wise and knowing, and yet, after all, be a magnificent fool, or elevated madman, fond of

mere tinsel, and satisfied with mere sounds. But, leaving these, hath God the Spirit, O believer, been graciously pleased to communicate his blessed adoption to thee; and what is thy language and frame? The psalmist will describe it exactly, and with a divine pathos, which it is thy privilege likewise to feel: "What shall I render unto the LORD, for all his benefits towards me? What shall I offer to him, who hath had such pity, such tender love and pity, on so poor and despicable a worm as me?"-Render! Thou like David, canst render nothing. Do, then, as he did-receive more; take the cup of salvation, that full cup of grace and truth, and call upon the name of the LORD, that he may enable thee to take still more and more from it. Thou hast not grace of thine own so much as to thank him for grace given; and, therefore, He giverb more grace to grace received, that thou mayest praise and bless his holy name for thy free reception of it. O what a gracious Spirit of Adoption is this! He not only confers a blessing, but suffers it not to be lost upon us, nor sunk into the corruption and unthankfulness of our nature: He works the praise in our hearts, which is due to him for his adoption bestowed upon our souls. Thus all "our works," every thing exerted in us, and carried on by our instrumentality, " are begun, continued, and ended in him." He gives both will and power, defends us in all operations, and crowns them with eventual success by his effectual blessing.

How deeply, how inconceivably, art thou indebted to this almighty Spirit, O thou, who art one of his first-born and first-fruits for glory! Know, as much as thou mayest, of his grace; taste, as much as thou canst, of his love; enjoy, as much as thou art able, of his power; thou mayest say more strictly than the queen of Sheba said to Solomon, that not only not the balf, but not the ten thousandth part of his wisdom and goodness hath ever been told thee. And it never can be told thee. Angels pry into this unsearchable love; but, still finding it unsearchable, cannot express it: And when thou hast enjoyed it for myriads of ages, and comprehended worlds after worlds of his communicable glories; thy finite faculties must yet view an infinite profound of ineffable love, wisdom, and truth; ever to be dived into, but never to be fathomed or

explored. In heaven, thou wilt see, as much as thou canst bear and enjoy; but thou wilt not see all: Thy God will comprehend thee, and all the blest, with happiness and splen-

dor; while he himself can be comprehended of none.

And while thou art a prisoner in the body, remember, dear Christian, that thou art an beir of God by adoption, and a cobeir with Christ Jesus in love. Walk worthy of this bigh vocation, with which thou art called: Walk, like the king's son, and not like a slave of the devil. The eyes of all, are upon thee: The eye of the world, to censure thee; the eye of Satan, to distress thee; the eve of the church, to be edified by thee; the eye of angels, to glorify God for thee; the eve of Christ, to intercede in thy behalf; and the all-seeing eve of [EHOVAH, to whom thou criest, Abba, Father, to protect and bless thee. Walk and speak among men, as in the presence of God; \* and the presence of God will be known in thy closet, and in thy soul. Say to thyself; " I am adopt-"ca into God's family, and from being an execrable slave, "am made his freeman, his son, and his beir. I am entitled, " through my redeeming Lord, my Friend and my Brother, to "all the privileges of grace, set forth in his declared will; "I have tasted some of these privileges, as an unperishing " carnest of an unperishable inheritance; and I am assured, " that I shall have full possession in the best time, and for e-"vermore. What then becomes me? What ought such a "person to do? How ought he to think, and speak, and live? "LORD! I am ashamed of myself; I am covered with con-"fusion and abasement, that I, for whom thou hast done so " much, am living and doing so little for thee! I bow my soul " before thee, in deep contrition, and acknowledge, with all "compunction of spirit, that I am vile and ungrateful, and "that, if thy mercy did not endure for ever, it could not "have endured to put up with so base a worm as me, with " such long-suffering and grace. I own, that if thy good-"ness had lasted no longer than my deserts; I should " have lost thy goodness, in the moment thou didst be-"stow it upon me! O pity my weakness, which Thou "knewest from my birth, and which thou understandest "better than I do myself; and suit all the mercies of "thy holy adoption, to my various occasions and thine own glory. I only know and feel, that I would be thine " and none but thine for ever: And this sense and knowlege "thy grace alone conveyed to my heart; for by nature I ne-" ver found them there. Cause me, therefore, to live as be-

<sup>\*</sup> An heathen could say, Sic loquendum est cum hominibus tanquam Dii audiant. " Men ought to speak with men, as though God were to hear. Macros. Sat. I. i. c. 7.

"cometh thy gospel, my own happiness, and my everlasting, my unchangeable relation to thee. Gause me to live more and more like one, who hath a title and a hope to live, with an innumerable company of holy beings, with an holy Jesus, and with thee my holy and my heavenly Father, for ever and ever. O let it never be said, that my tongue and my life are at variance; lest I conclude against myself, that thou and I never were agreed, that I am not thine adopted child, but only a presumptuous pretender to an inheritance entirely unmeet for me.—I fall down before thy throne: O make me to be, what thou wouldest have me to

" be; and let me be that to all eternity!"

Whoever thou art, that canst utter this cry, take courage and peace: It is the voice of the Spirit of adoption within thee. O go on, and prosper: The Lord enlighten thee, and give thee peace; give thee every earnest of his blessing, every first-fruit of his glory below, and, in his own time which is the best time for thee, an abundant entrance into bis everlasting kingdom! Amen.

That GOD should lift an boly creature
From earth to reign with him above,
Would shew, were such in human nature,
A vast transcendency of love.

But when his grace a traiter blesses,
With the full title of an heir,
To his own kingdom and caresses,
O who can tell, what love is there!

## SPIRIT OF FAITH.

word of God, which may easily be reduced to one plain definition. But faith, emphatically so called, or saving faith, wrought in the heart by the regeneration of the Spirit of God, is what we mean to treat of in this Essay, and what we understand to be particularly designed for the character of its divine agent, in this title of Spirit of Faith.

To understand with precision the terms used in Scripture, we must recur to that sacred language, in which they were originally delivered. It is held fair and just in all other books to take the author's own words; but it is of the greatest importance in reading the Book of God, to see the exactness

and force with which all things are expressed.

The word faith is derived from the root post amen, which signifies, to fix, or rest, as upon a foundation, to confide that a thing is according to a representation given, firmly to trust and desire, that a matter is and shall be agreeable to the promise and assurance proposed concerning it. When the prayers were ended to God, or the promises given from God, the antient church used to sav Amen to them; that is, we believe that these things are gracious and true, and we desire their fulfillment. The Christian church, in all countries, has retained this Hebrew word for the same use: And the primitive Christian church, who spoke the Greek language, employed the nearest word they had to express the same idea. Hisis, faith, infers the persuasion and agreement of the mind and will, that a thing is to be received and desired as true: And the Latin fides is taken from two words, which nearly express the sense of Amen, flat dicium, i. e. " Be it so, according as it is spoken."

We see then that faith regards truth, and cannot exist without it, any more than a house can stand without a foundation. And truth is that existing substance which agrees or is correlative with the idea or persuasion of its existence, named faith. When we say, a thing is; we mean the truth of its being: The belief, that it is, arises from the agreement of the mind with that truth, when the mind is exercised upon it. Thus, he that cometh to God, must believe that He is. That God exists, is the truth; and the agreement or persuasion of the mind is the faith, which influences the man to come unto

God.

Truth, then, is the proper foundation for all credibility; and God's truth the only foundation of Christian credibility, or faith. There can be no foundation without truth; and, consequently, no faith without this foundation.

But the foundation must be laid; that is, the truth must be fublished, or faith cannot rest upon it. God, therefore, hath revealed and published his truth, which, before his revelation of it, must have been bid in himself as its proper essence.

When this truth is published, it is not absolutely essential to the agreement of the mind or to the concurrence of faith, that the truth should be fully comprehended, either in the extent or in the manner of its existence; because, in such a cose, the mind of a man could properly believe little or nothing. We know not the mode of being in any natural substances; and if full comprehension were essential to faith, we could not receive much of the revelation of God, because we cannot explain some of its mysteries; such, for instance

as the revealed account of God's existence, the doctrine of the incarnation, and some other points which, at least in this world, will ever be the mysteries of faith. Nay, we could not believe much concerning our own nature, and very little indeed, or rather nothing, concerning the state of our

future being.†

As all truth proceeds from God: he is, and he calls himself, the Truth emphatically: He is the source of all reality. What therefore proceeds from him, must be true; and thus the matters, which he hath declared or done, are manifestations or revelations of his truth ad extra, or to his people, and as such are to be received by them. What is communicable (even though it be not fully comprehensible) of this truth, belongs to them to whom he extends it. This extension, in spiritual things, is now given through his written word; as formerly (in the wisest arrangement) it was by vocal prophecy, or other sensible communication. In both, however, it was only understood, as well in order as degree, according to the will of the giver. John xvi. 12. Mark iv. 33. Prov. iv. 18.

Hence, these manifestations or revelations, in the word, are real and immoveable TRUTHS necessary and credible, for us, with us, and in us.

They proceed from Him, as their cause; are effected by

Him as their agent; and tend to Him as their end.

They descend for us, as grounds of our fairb; are with us, for strengthening our bope; and remain experimentally in us,

as the means or earnest used for our salvation.

When we say us, we mean "all the elect people of God." In this view, the apostle says, that the house of God is the church of the living God, sure in proper which some translate, pillar and ground, others better, the station and seat of the truth. I Tim. iii. 15. God is the truth; and so subordi-

† Dr. Jonathan Edwards, in his valuable Preservative against Socinianism, justly observes. "That in matters of faith, we must be "content with God's affirmation, whether we do or do not confere—hend those divine truths, which he hath revealed. Which com—prehension ought to be of no regard in these matters: it being "extrinsical to the true and formal reason of believing; which is not resolved into the evidence of the thing [i. e. as it exists in itself,] but into the authority of God, and the truth and certainty of his revelations." Part iii. p. 56.

DR. GUYSE, upon the place, takes the pillar and ground of the truth here to mean the truth of the gospel, or Christ in it. But this supposition seems to destroy the present allusion of the apostle, and is not warranted by the construction of the language. Tis probable, if the apostle had written in Hebrew, he would have used, for

Vol. II. C. c

nately are the revelations from him: The church is the column raised upon this truth as upon its its proper foundation, and is also the seat or place where all these revelations concentrate, and where only, as to application, they will ever be found. There is no column or pillar which will be acknowledged out of the temple of the living God; because this temple is the only edifice upon earth which is founded upon the iruth of God. His testimonies are now, and always were, within the sanctuary, and in the tabernacle, which God pitched and not man. The apostle alladed to the structure of the outward temple, and of those columns in it, which bear the very name of faith in the original language, and are no unapt symbols of it. For, as the material columns rested upon the rock Moriab, or boly mountain; so the faith of the church collectively, and of every individual in it, stands upon that truth, which God hath revealed in Christ, who hath framed them as a spiritual temple for his glory. Eph. ii. 22. Rev. iii. 12.

From this ground of faith, and from its name, both imparted by God; we may be able to form a just idea of faith itself, and to consider it, as that gift of grace to the soul, by which it stands upon the truth of God, for the attainment of those

blessings, which that truth promises and reveals.

If God hath threatened; faith believes, that the threat shall be accomplished: If he hath promised; it is persuaded also, that the promise shall be fulfilled. Hence it turns away from the evil which is the ground of the threat, and appropriates the good which the promise discovers. Faith credits the blessings upon the foundation of God's word and promise, and claims those blessings for its own, only because God hath engaged to bestow them. As this grace of faith cannot build upon mere notions, or upon any thing imperfect as to its certainty, but requires a sure foundation; so God hath provided this foundation in himself. He hath given his word, as so much communicable truth from himself, on which faith may ground itself; and thus ultimately it reaches up to and rests upon God himself. The word reveals Christ, declares the grace of the spirit and the love of the Father, and discovers so much of their covenant-engagements for sinners, as is necessary for the knowledge of their salvation. Accordingly, the word contains the promises of an hap-

the Greek words abovementioned, And the region the column [viewing the mental sense] and place of all God's truth among men. For this reason, the psalmist desired, as the one thing needful, to dwell in the house of the Lord, and to inquire in his temple. Ps. xxvii.

4.—Christ is certainly the foundation; but these words appear to mean something upon it.

py and eternal life, and points out the means and mannerin its attainment. And, as this whole world is established of the hand of a personal Mediator; so this Mediator is frequently called the Word itself, in whom all the covenant and its promises are framed, and through whom they are carried forth unto his people. 'Christ, therefore, this Mediator, hath taken also the name of Truth, (Rev. iii. 14.) and as such, is become the basis or foundation of his people. He was appointed to this purpose by Jehovah: And, therefore, Jehovah hath said, Bebold, I lay in Zion for a foundation, a stone, a tried stone, a precious corner-stone, a sure foundation: He that believeth, shall not make baste. Isaiah xxviii. 16.

From this ground of faith, we may see further into the nature of faith itself. Consistent with what it proceeds from, and on what it stands, faith must be certitude in respect to its object, as that is certainty; and certitude also, in respect to the nature of its apprehension, because it is a grace arising from a divine power, and not the accidental impulse of a fallen creature. It takes for an infallible position, that God is true, and, for a position, equally infallible, that his promises, or the things promised by him, are also true and real; though they cannot be the objects of immediate science to the mind, nor of present sense to the body. Hence, we see, that faith is not opinion; because opinion implies doub: And doubt is contrary to the nature of faith, which is founded upon the certainty of God in his word. Nor is it knowledge; because knowledge infers the presence or enjoyment of a thing at some past time. But faith is certitude respecting things, not vet seen or possessed; which is the high encomium given of it in all the examples, recited in the xich chapter of the Epistle to the Hebrews.

Faith is certitude in itself; but there is as great a difference in its proportions, as between the grain of mustard seed when cast into the ground, and afterwards when it becomes a great tree. The seed had the tree in embryo; but the tree did not then discover itself. So there is a distinction between faith and the full assurance; of faith; or they would not have been distinguished in Scripture by different names. Faith, given to the soul, in regeneration, is the grain which can scarce be discerned at first by the soul itself, and still less by

<sup>†</sup> Witsius has collected several excellent judgments of learned divines upon this point: Perhaps none of them is more clear and pious, than the following from Perkins. Nam licit omnis fides ex natura sua sit persuasio, sola tamen perfecta persuasio est firma & consummata fides. Proinde debebat fides definiri, non solum in genere & gradious summis; sed etiam varii ejus gradus & menewa declarari, ut et qui infirmi sunt vere et recte de suo statu possint careers. Iron. c. vii. See also Spanh. Opera. Vol. iii. p. 173.

any body else. Full assurance is radically in that grain, and in due time may grow out of it to the size of a tree; but it cannot properly be called a tree, till it be grown up to one. Their nature is one; but the difference consists in the degree. True faith may exist in the soul without the height of full assurance, and tremblingly may catch hold of the promises, as a little child doth its nurse's hand. The defect is not in the principle itself, because it is true and spiritual life; but in the exercise of that principle of life in our nature, which is full of weakness and frailty, not to say hostility against its very being in us. † If all this were not true; it would have been idle in the disciples to pray for the increase of faith, or useless for us, that our faith may be strengthened. Nor can we otherwise understand, what the apostle meant by the weak in faith, or those distinctions of babes, young men, and fathers in Christ.

In the strongest believers there may be doubts and fears; because they have mortal and sinful bodies: But they do not conquer and prevail. In the weakest believers, for the same reason, there are also the same doubts and fears; but without the like strength of faith to repel them. God carries these lambs in his bosom, and therefore their faith doth not fail.

It seems a paradox to say, that he never believed, who never doubted: But it is as real a truth as it is to say, that I bad not known sin, but by the law. Sin and the law are not more opposites, than faith and unbelief: Yet unbelief had never been known, but for the grace of faith.

These distinctions are necessary to be observed, on the one hand, against those who (with the papists) affirm that there is no certitude in faith, and, on the other, in behalf of those who are oppressed, because their faith is not arisen to the

full assurance of certitude.

This full assurance is, however, to be desired and pursued, as the happy privilege of every believer: Though (as it hath been said) it can only be employed and exercised by those who are strong. These only can firmly say with St. Paul, I am PLRSUADLD, that neither death, nor life, &c. shall be able to se-

† The graces of the Spirit, as they come from the hand of God that infuses them, are nothing but pureness; but being put into a heart where sin dwells (which, till the body be dissolved and taken to pieces, cannot be fully purged out) there they are mixed with correspt on and dross: And particularly faith is mixed with unbelief, and love of earthly things, and dependence upon the creature; if not more than God, yet together with him; and for this the furnace is needful, that the soul may be purified from this dross, and made more sublime and spiritual in believing." LEIGHTON. Com, on St. Peter. Ch. i. v. 7,

parate us from the love of God, which is in Christ Jesus our Lord: But the others should aspire to say it; and those who do not aspire, may very well doubt of one thing, whether they

be in the faith or not.

And here again, to the high commendation of faith, it may be said, with the apostle, that it is the substance of things boped for, because it substantiates, what is not yet enjoyed; and the evidence of things not seen, because its own very being in the soul is a demonstration from God, that, what he hath promised he will assuredly perform. Thus, he that believeth on the Son of God, bath the witness in himself. I John v. 10. And the author of that witness confirms the testimony: The Spirit itself heareth witness with our spirit, that we are the children of God, Rom. viii. 10.

Thus much for the NATURE and FOUNDATION of FAITH:

Let us now consider its Efficient Cause.

All natural men think, that they themselves can produce andexercise faith, whenever they please: And they think so, because they are natural men, not having the experience of this faith, and therefore not knowing the Scriptures nor the

power of God.

Faith, it is true, is an act in and with the mind, but no more an act of the mind, or from and by itself, than the gushing of the waters from the rock was actually wrought by the little stroke of Moses's rod, or the resurrection of Lazarus from the grave was a mere act of his own, If faith were an act simply of the mind, or the mere production of its natural powers; then, perhaps, men might believe, as they please, and when they please. But then we must presently reject the ground of faith, the Bible, which most positively contradicts this opinion; and, consequently, this sort of faith, having no foundation, must sink into confusion or nothing. We must give up the notion of the self-producing cause of faith, if we follow the Scripture, which says, that faith is the gift of God; that, to Christians, it is given to believe; and that no man can come unto Christ [i. e. believe on him to salvation] except the Father draw bim. Many other passages occur to the same purport.

When God commands to believe, he bestows power to obey that command; for, if faith be his gift, and no inherent principle (which it could not be if a gift of grace,) men cannot

<sup>†</sup> It is a truth, though uttered by schoolmen, Fidem esse substantiam rerum sperenderum; quia scilicet prima inchoatio rerum sperendarum in nobis est per assensum fidei, que virtute confinet annes res sperendas, Aquin. Sec. sec. quest. iv. artv 1.— Certem est enim fidem, que sst cognitio quedam justitie et virtutis Dei, esse radicem immortalitatis, quia en fide initium est, & origo salutis & beatitudinis nostre. Estius in lib. Sap. c. 15.

obey without it. So then, he enjoins the action of a power only where the power is given. In like manner, Christ said to the apostle St. Matthew, Follow me: But if, at the same time, he had not granted him the power of faith, the apostle could not have yielded the obedience of faith at one single word. The call of God is not in vain; nor doth bis word re-

turn void, or without his accomplishment.

This is to be understood of God's own particular call to the soul. There is a general call made to the outward ears of men by his ministers, and to their outward eyes by the word itself; but this call is effectual, only where seconded by the immediate grace of God; and then, to all intents and purposes, it becomes a particular call to every object of its success. The call of ministers is and must be general; they are to call all nations, and consequently the rich and mighty in them: But these are rarely the objects of God's particular call; for we read, that not many wise men after the flesh no: many mighty, not many noble, are called. Without this obvious distinction, it is impossible to reconcile or understand many important texts upon this subject.

The improper consideration of this matter, and the not attending to these necessary distinctions, seem to have occasioned the presumptuous error of the Arminians, Antinomians, Socinians, Pelagians, Papists, &c. who generally lay it for a foundation, "either that faith exists in the mind of man, as one of its natural powers, or that it can be induced and exercised by him at his will." Hence, they all speak very slightly and superficially of faith: And indeed, according to their notion, it is so common an affair, that it really deserves no more notice than they take of it. They evidently understand no more in the term faith, than what can really be meant in the

act of assent to a history.

The Arminians indeed do say, that it is the gift of God;† but they also say, that it wholly depends upon us, whether we will receive it, or act it when received. In this case, they

<sup>†</sup> Deus statuit illis darc fidem & prnitentiam per gratiam sufficientem: hoc est ita dare ut illi possint accipere, per vires ipsis a Deo datas, necessarias & sufficientes ad accipiendum. ARMIN. opera. p. 666. But he means, that this suficient grace is common to every man and resident in all: so that it amounts to nothing more than natural powers, which, to be sure are the gift of God, but not a special gift in the redemption of Christ. The great Du Moulin hath well observed upon the concession of the Arminians, "that faith is the gift of God," heceverba non accipiunt co sensu, quen pra se ferunt. Lovum mens est [ut ipsi fatentur) Deum dare omnibus hominibus vires credendi: At non dare \$\pi\$ credere, sive, actum ipsum credendi, contra apostolum, qui diest, Deum dare ipsum credere. Phil. 1: 29. Et Deum dare velle & perficere. cap. ii. 13. Qux voces designant

can only mean, that faith is a common gift put into the power of all men; and, therefore, not a particular grace specially conferred. This is but saying, in other words, that it is at their option, whether faith shall be a gift or not. For, if they chuse to have it; then it exists in them only as they chuse, and so virtually they give to themselves God's gitt. which is absurd: But, if they chuse to reject it; then it becomes no gift at all, or it is wholly annihilated with respect to them. Either way, it is a rash usurpation of God's wisdom and power to pretend to effectuate or frustrate the first great object of both in the world, and that too by the puny efforts of human strength or pleasure. By a bold perversion, it is saying; God works, but man can let. It is throwing the beautiful arrangement of grace and providence into confusion, introducing chance into the world instead of foresight, and subjecting the Creator of all things to one of the worst and most helpless of his creatures.

The very notion of a gift implies, that it is a matter which the receiver bad not before, and, consequently, that it was, at one time, out of bimself, and, at another, brought to bimself. Tis strange to say, that God confers a gift upon a man, which he either could have elsewhere, or already possesses within him. Upon such a plan, grace and nature would be

one and the same.

But, if faith be the proper gift of God, and, as such, a gracious gift not inherent in human nature; man can derive it only and entirely from him. And, if it be a principle to be acted from, in, and with his mind, respecting spiritual objects; then his mind, could never have acted for those objects, without this principle. Otherwise, this new faculty of grace would be given idly or unnecessarily; which it must be blasphemous to affirm concerning its giver. The life (the spiritual and active principle) I live in the flesh is id the apostle,) that by which I move and exercise in the body, towards the things which are above the body, I live by the faith of the Son of God.

It appears, therefore, that as a man can only possess in the by the gift of God; so he can only act this faith, when possessed, by the power of God. Hence, Christ says, Without me ye can do nothing; and the apostle, It is God, that worketh,

energizeth, in you, both to will and to do.

Here, then, we may conclude; that the sole EFFICIENT CAUSE of faith is God; and that the EXERCISE of this faith, with all opportunities found for that exercise, is induced and occasioned only by the power of God.

ipsum volendi & credendi actum. Sane posse credere, non est fides: Ergo, si Deus dat tuntum vires credendi, non dat, fidem. Quomodo autem Deus dat vires credendi, in Christum, quibus Christus non innotuit, dici non potest. Molin. Thes. p. 110.

What can declare this conclusion more positively, than the following words? We are bis [God's] workmanship, created in Corist Jesus unto good works, which God bath before ordained, that we should walk in them. Eph. ii. 10. Believers are here represented, as a spiritual creation in Christ, and not less unable to effect this creation in grace, than they were to create or beget themselves in nature. Nor can they obtain the end of this creation by themselves; but God is stated as wholly providing and præordaining that end.

He so doeth all in them and all for them, with respect to the life and acts of grace, that they are even his entire work-manship: They are as much so, at least, as the vessel of clay can be the perfect formation of the potter's hand. In becoming the members of Christ, they can do nothing without their bead.\* He is solely the author and the finisher of their faith.

LAITH, then is the gift of God. This proposition cannot be denied, but by a denial of the Scriptures themselves.—But faith is also the gift of the SPIRIT, 1 Cor. xii. 9. and therefore called the fruit of the SPIRIT, Gal. v. 2.—Consequently, the SPIRIT is, truly and properly, God.—The conclusion is equally infallible with the premises, and can only be refelled with them.

This irrefragable argument evinces the propriety of the name, which entitles this Essay. The Holy Ghost may well be called The SPIRIT of FAITH; because, as the great agent from the Godhead, he creates this divine principle of faith in the soul, which is in fact spiritual life by another name; and ever after yields every support to this principle, till it arrives to its end in the eternal fruition of God.

Upon this ground, we cannot wonder at the constant reference, made in the Scriptures, to the presence, power, love, and consolation, of God the Holy Ghost. Believers are privileged, upon the warrant of his own word, to look to him through Christ, as the energy of their spiritual life, the blissful companion of their souls, and the kind preparer of their

hearts and of their ways to the mansions above.

Now, their life, as well as their creation, is altogether new. If they obey the voice of God (and him they must obey, or they could not be believers,) their obedience being excited and invigorated by this Spirit of Faith, it is called the obedience of faith. Without him, they perceive, they have

<sup>\*</sup> The elder Spanneim excellently says; Qui enim per veram fidem Christum apprehencit & suum facit, ille Christo inseritur & fit membrum illius, adeoque ut tale non tantum jus habet ad satisfactionem & merita sai capitis, sed et spiritu illius magis magisque renovatur et gubernatur, quum absurdum sit membrum alio præterquam capitis sui spiritu & influxu regi & moveri. Dub. Evang. Vol. ii. p. 754.

neither will nor power, and much less the faith, to obey. It is the work of God the Spirit, that they believe in Christ, or understand any thing indeed of the curse of sin or their own sinfulness, as the preparation to this belief. It is by Him, that they know, and, knowing, are constrained to love, his holy word. 'Tis truly said, that "the assent of the mind to heavenly things, because, revealed by supreme Truth itself, doth not so much arise from the natural conclusions of reason, as from the humble subjection of the soul, tamed into obedience, under the word of God."† All this is effected by the internal operation of this almighty agent. In short; It is the same God, who worketh all in all; or, as the apostle reciprocates almost immediately the same phrase, All these worketh that one and the self-same Spirit, dividing, or distributing to every man severally as He will. I Cor. xii. 6, II.

Hence it further appears, that the obedience of faith cannot possibly be the condition of obtaining it; because, without faith, men cannot properly obey at all. The fruit of the tree did not plant the tree, nor give it life. But the fruit is produced, because the tree is already planted and lives. The fact is not more real in nature, than this principle is true in grace.

It also appears, that this obedience cannot be our justifying righteousness with God; not only because it proceeds with some mixture of corruption by passing through us, but because faith itself, which is the ground or instrument of that obedience, is enjoined to embrace the righteousness of another, called the righteousness or obedience of ONE, by whom many SHALL BE MADE righteous. Rom. v. 19.

All opinions, therefore, which tend to dignify the natural powers of man in spiritual things, or to nullify the necessity and operation of divine grace in all things, are impious violations of the law of faith, and consequently are not less odious

to God than injurious to man.

As faith rests upon truth, its proper basis; it must continue there by this law of faith. It has no motion beyond it; but rises upwards upon it, as a house necessarily rises in its whole frame from the foundation. The same terms, for the signification of this doctrine, are employed in Scripture. Believers are edified, or built up, in their most boly faith: And they are built according to rule; and this rule is the same law of faith, which arranges them as individuals, and collectively as the whole temple of God.

Believers, therefore, are not to wander into the regions of enthusiasm, but to stand fast with respect to the word as their ground, and to grow upwards in the Lord by his divine power, which acts according to the word. The Book of God

Vol. II. Č c

is the written law of faith, that document or statute which faith must recur to at all times, and which, by the power of the Spirit of faith who gave that word, is the lively oracle of truth for this purpose. But, as some men are slow to hear, as others have different states and capacities in spiritual things, and as none are without need of assistance; God hath enjoined the constant publication of this word, enabled some to explain it to others, and established a unity of occasion, as well as of faith, among all his people. He makes use of sensible instruments to convey spiritual blessings: And his word becomes living and lively in their mouths by his Spirit. Thus, the law of faith, by being extended to dead and enslaved sinners, becomes the law of liberty for their deliverance, and then also the law of the Spirit of life in Christ Jesus for their life eternal.

From hence we see the necessity, design, and use of an evangelic ministry, the members of which are to make constant proclamations according to the law of faith, and to present it, at all times, to the eyes and cars of men. Faith cometh by hearing: But how shall they hear, without a preacher? And how shall they preach, except they be sent? Their business is to preach: And it is the office of the Holy Spirit to convert, which He usually doth by their preaching. Those are to be mistrusted, therefore, or, rather, they ought to mistrust themselves, who either despise the faithful ministers of Christ, or neglect their ministrations. These are ordained by God, as means of his grace: And those men presume to be wiser than God, who undervalue his ordinations.

When, by all these aids, the Spirit of faith hath imparted his grace of faith to the soul, he doth not suffer it to remain there torpid and inactive; but he constantly breathes in it, and works upon it, that by exercise it may be strengthened, and by his nourishment it may grow. So far from permitting their own faculties to lie rusty (as it were) and useless; often their whole body, soul, and spirit, are engaged by him in operation, affection, and understanding: Or, if not so engaged, then they appear lifeless and listless, are employed to no va-

<sup>\*</sup> The admired Belgic Confession of Faith professes, Credimus veram hanc fidem perauditum verbi Dei & Sprititus Sancti operationem unicuique nostrum inditam nos regenerare, atque veluti novos homines efficere, ut quos ad novam vitam vivendam excitet, et a peccati servitute liberas reddat. Tantum abest igitur ut fides hac justificans homines a recta sanctaque vivendi ratione avocet, aut tepidiores efficiat, ut contra absque illa nemo unquam quicquam bom propter Deum (sed omnia vel propter seipsum, vel ob metum justa condemnationis) agere atque operari possit. Ficri itaque non potest, ut hac fides sancta in homine otiosa sit. Syntagma Confess. Fid. p. 174.

uable end, and usually feel all this, sooner or later, with bitter experience. And yet, to shew himself in them, at times, above these faculties, that bis operations may not be mistaken for their own; he maketh intercession for them with groanings, which cannot be uttered. Nature feels his power, with-

out the capacity to express it.

By these exercises, the soul is prepared and matured for that glorious progression of faith, which is called the plerophory, or full assurance, of it; and thus attains the substance and substantiation of the things hoped for, liberty of speech and secess unto God, confidence, triumph, and hope to the end. The building is now raised above the ground, and tends upwards to the skies. It waits only for the topsione of grace to

be compleated for glory.

If we now collect the whole of what hath been considered, it seems fairly reducible to this plain and scriptural conclusion: That faith is a principle of grace and divine life in the soul; that it is the free and unmerited gift of Jehovah, in Christ, and by the Spirit; that it enables the soul to believe whatever God bath said and done, generally, as an invincible declaration or demonstration of his eternal truth; that it appropriates, particularly, according to its strength, all the promises and mercies of God; that it is the principle by which the Spirit acts to produce love, joy, peace, and all his other graces in the soul; And, lastly, that the Spirit, thus the author and agent of all this supernatural good, proves himself to be true and very GOD, and the almighty JEHOVAH, who only doeth wondrous things.

IN this view, (which, for its importance, we have the more largely considered) faith appears to be a mighty grace, building and built upon a strong foundation. Having an omnipotent cause, it is carried on also with omnipotence; and fixing itself upon the faithfulness, wisdom, love, and power of God, cannot possibly be destroyed. It is a covenanted grace, and therefore indefectible; unless it can be supposed, that the covenant of God can be broken, or the promises of it can fail. From hence it is we perceive, what sure ground faith stands upon, what sure mercies it expects, what a blessed end it may daily contemplate! They, who treat of faith as a mere vapor of the brain, or an exertion of natural strength, do not more dishonor God, than take away every ray of comfort from the souls of men.

The end of faith is a united object, and as happy as it is sublime. Faith aims at nothing less than connecting the glory of God with the final salvation of the soul. Christ for his people, hath joined these two together; and these neither men nor devils, from his people, shall be able to put asunder.

Doth not this raise a cry in some solicitous heart; Lord I believe; O belp mine unbelief!—'Tis a good cry, and the cry of faith. No unconvinced sinner ever poured it forth, in deed and in truth: No convinced sinner ever uttered it, without a gracious aid. Lord, save; or I perish! was a word of faith, though extorted by unbelief. Peter feared, and therefore he doubted: He cried to Jesus, because he believed. If he had not believed, he would have perished; and if he had not feared to perish, he would have had no unbelief. He had but little faith, yet enough in Christ to keep him from sinking. He felt himself just upon sinking; and his little faith cried out for more help, which Christ never denied to any, who asked it of him.

What a gentle, though just, reproach! O thou of little

faith; wherefore didst thou doubt?

Imitate Peter, thou troubled, because doubting, believer; cry, as he cried; and the stormy sea of trial, and the furious waves of the world, shall never destroy thee. Thou art walking upon this sea every day of thy life: And thou wilt never enter into the ship, till thou enter into heaven. Faith and patience, like oil upon the billows, shall smooth much of the boisterous turmoil without thee, and often quiet thy spi-

rit within thee through all thy course to glory.

When carnal faith (if it deserve the name) encounters these trials, it presently succumbs, and shews its base original. It began with the flesh; and it will end there. "If the faith, that thou hast, (said the gracious archbishop Leighton) grew out of thy natural heart of itself; be assured it is but a weed. The right plant of faith is always set by God's own hand; and it is watered and preserved by him, because exposed to many hazards: He watches it night and day. Isa. xxvii. 3. I the Lord do keep it; I will water it every moment; lest any burt it, I will keep it night and day."

O what comfort must this afford to the tossed and afflicted soul! What nourishment to its faith! What encouragement to its hopes!—If God be for us, who can be against us?—Who shall separate us from the love of Christ?—Shall tribulation? Through much tribulation, and in despite of tribulation, we shall enter into the kingdom.—Shall distress? We may be troubled on every side, but not distressed; perplexed, but not in despair.—Shall persecution? Men have no power, but of God; and God will give them none to drive us from Christ: So that, if we are persecuted, we are not forsaken.—Shall famine; shall nakedness; shall peril, or sword? Nay, says the apostle, so far from it, that, in all these things we are, not only mere conquerers, but more than conquerors, through him that loved us. Rom. viii. 31—37. This is the victory, which overcometh the world, even our Faith. I John v. 4.—

Why then dost thou not add with the apostle, as thou art privileged to add; I am Persuaded, ibat neither death, nor life, nor angels, nor principalities, nor powers, nor things present, nor things to come, nor beight, nor depth, nor any other creature, shall be able to separate me, weak and worthless as I am, from the love of God which is in Christ Jesus my Lord.

Pray, then, for the increase of faith. If faith do not grow, there can be no growth in any other grace: Because this is the hand which receives every thing spiritual, or the channel through which all heavenly blessings flow. According to faith, so is the measure of all advancement, both in true knowledge and real experience. A man cannot have the full assurance of understanding, which consists in a strong and undoubted perception of the correspondence and relation of all heavenly truths to God and to each other, without the full assurance of faith; because out of this last, and not out of the man's own head, the other proceeds; and proceeds by its exercise on the word, and through the illumination of the Spirit upon it. Then from the conjunction of faith with the understanding, and in the advancement of both, arises that most comfortable grace, which the apostle styles, the full assurance of bope to the end. This sort of hope is not like that poor vapid principal of the natural heart, which hath nothing certain to expect, and longs for distant objects as matters of mere chance: No, It is a hope, which never yet made a man asbamed, and which, grounding itself upon what faith discovers in the word concerning the sureness and truth of salvation, looks out for and expects it, as a great estate which it is heir to, which it shall soon enjoy, and which nothing can take away from it. Thus the man's faith understanding and bope; or, in other words, faith as a divine principle, acting upon the other two, and enduing them with its own full persuasion, carries all the faculties of the soul and body, (allowing for their infirmities) into the sweetest communion with Christ, and through him with the Spirit and the Father. The whole Trinity is glorified in one poor creature; and, thus glorified, elevates that creature to a dignity, which, (according to the apostle) no thought can conceive. God is first glorified in him; for man of himself can give no glory to God; and then man reflects the rays of this heavenly splendor, confessing that they all came from Jebovab, and belong only to him. Like the moon, the redeemed have no true light of their own; but derive all that deserves the name from their self-existent Sun of Righteousness.

The trial of faith is appointed for this end. God suffers, and even ordains, that things evil shall prove those which are good. It is an evil thing, which attempts to debauch or

destroy our faith: And Christ calls those matters by the name of offences, which are to come, and must come, for the trial of this faith, that it may appear to be wrought in God. But this is a precious trial, and a precious end, whatever be the means which God permits and which the world and the devil may use, upon the occasion. These are indeed evil, and intend nothing beside evil: But the Spirit of faith shews his own sovereignty in all, by establishing righteousness itself from the very opposition of iniquity, and by constraining the powers of darkness to drive his people into higher degrees of

light and glory.

Upon occasions of this kind, the word of God becomes doubly precious to the believer's heart and understanding He looks upon it as a pledge of God's faithfulness, and is happy in the assurance, that beaven and earth may pass away, but that not one tittle of this word shall fail. He consults the word for information and instruction, that his understanding may be found in the truth; and for comfort and support, that his Lope may increase in the truth: And he prays to the Spirit of faith over his faithful word, that he may be enabled to act faith upon it, and that a full persuasion of the divine truth may flow into his soul, in order that he may go through his warfare, like a faithful priest and soldier of Christ Jesus. Nothing endears the Bible more to a Christian, than his trials; and these are made to prove, that indeed the Bible belongs to him, and that he belongs to God. Flights and fancies may amuse those, who are at ease; but, in the great fight of afflictions, one plain word in God's book is worth ten thousand times ten thousand of them all. They are but husks and trash, which can never satisfy the soul, who hungers and thirsts for the living God. The heart in trial doth not want words only, but things in the words: And no word but God's can pretend to this, which hath more matter than language, nay, implies infinitely more than language can express. It is therefore called the word of God, not only because it proceeded from bim, but because he fills it with his power, and uses it as the proper instrument for the happiness and salvation of his people.

In matters of faith and practice, the real Christian makes his whole reference and appeal to the word, and suffers no guide to direct his mind, but this. A truly excellent and evangelical writer hath observed, "that Scripture is the only rule of right and wrong, and that conscience has no direction but this rule. Neither ethics, nor metaphysics, no fancied light of dark nature, no lawless law of rebel nature, no human science, whether pretended to be implanted, or by the use of reason to be acquired, have any right to guide the conscience. These are blind leaders of the blind. They under-

take, what they are not only unfit, but what they have no warrant for."\*—Nothing needs to be added to this, but the exhortation of the apostle, upon another occasion; that Christians should bold fast the faithful word as they have been taught, that they may be able by sound doctrine both to exhort

and to convince the gainsayers. Tit. i. 9.

And if men are exhorted to boid fast the faithful word; shall we suppose, that the God of all faithfulness will not hold fast bis own word? Can we imagine, that He, who restores men from death unto life, and who hath promised that this life is and shall be eternal, will disappoint his own purpose, and break his own promise, by suffering that life to be temporary only, or by permitting any wretched creatures to controul his will? What can be a more horrid or blasphemous position than this, against the very power, honor, and truth of God.—Blessed be his holy name, he doth not cure like a Paracelsus, to make the relapse worse than the disease; but he heals all diseases of sin, and prevents all relapses to ruin. He is faithful, that hath promised; is a word for a Christian's heart, which will administer more comfort, even in the time of his trial, than the contrary tenet possibly can to its espousers, in the moments of their greatest ease. Our Goa is a ROCK; and his work must be perfect: And surely then the works of his grace, so much more costly and sublime, as they are than all his works of nature, can never be incomplete.

Come then, humble Christian; while others contend for doubting (a poor prize, not worth their pains!) do thou pray and entreat for the firmest acts of believing. In this way, thou wilt be enabled to glorify God; and, in this course, he will, one day, glorify thee. Faith is the death of sin, as well as the life of righteousness. Faith makes'a treasure of God's word, and treasures up, as the choicest jewels, the exceeding great and precious promises found therein. Faith lifts up the soul above the busy bustling troubles of a thorny world, or wafts it over a sea of cares with safety to the haven of bliss. Faith leads the spirit of a man to communion with Christ, and through him, to an access with confidence to the ETERNAL THREE. In a word; faith teaches, purifies, and comforts the heart living and dying; inspires it with a holy longing for unalterable bliss; and, at length, dissolves into love when the believer is arrived in that place, where he will be found to the praise, and honor, and glory of his God, without inter-

ruption and without end.

Lastly; contemplate the triumphs of faith, and pray, that, according to the occasion, these triumphs may be thine. What, a golden legend, indeed, is the eleventh chapter to the

<sup>\*</sup> Walk of Faith. Vol. i. p. 40.

Hebrews! What a noble army of martyrs, and other confessors of Christ, may be found there, and in ancient ecclesiastical histories! Filled with this Spirit of faith, they despised all the malice of men, and looked down upon their cruel tormentors, with contempt for their rage, and with pity for their souls. One cannot read those magnanimous words of Lactantius, without being moved. " With God before our eyes, with God in our hearts, we can triumph by his aid over all the torments which men can inflict upon our bodies. At those times of trial, we are able to think of nothing else, but the blessings of the life immortal. Though torn in pieces, or consuming in the fire, we are assisted to sustain, without difficulty, whatever the madness of tyranny can contrive to lav upon us. Nor do we meet death itself with regret or fear, but court it freely and with joy; knowing what glory is just ready to be put upon us, and that we are only hastening to enjoy the promises."\* This was not an empty boast, uttered when no danger was near, but professed about the time of one of the bitterest and most severe persecutions, which e-

ver tried the church of God. 'Tis not probable, believer, that thou shouldst be called to this sort of trial for thy faith: But, if thou wert, the same God, who filled thine ancient brethren with courage and joy, could give thee the same triumph in the end. There is, however, one trial, which thou and all men must in a very short time endure. The hour and trial of death is near to thee, and far from nobody in the world. Thou art graciously privileged to triumph over the last, as well as other enemies of thy soul. Victory over death is the infallible blessing to every believer; and sometimes transport in death. He will e'er long open his eyes and mouth in heaven, though disease may have stopped them below. And can that be death, which ends in life? Can that be an evil which lasts for a moment, and then conducts to everlasting good ?-Who can read, without encouragement, the noble confession of the gracious Rivet, just before his translation to glory? "Lord, come and receive me-I " long for thee, O my God! My soul boketh for thee, as the " parched earth for moisture. Come, Lord; come, Jesus; " take me into thy bosom. I am ready whensoever it shall " please thee .- I long for his coming; yet do I not fret my-" self. Through the help of God, I am not troubled. I wait; "I believe; I persevere. Though he delay my joy, yet I " am in my way; and the sense of his favour grows in me e-" very moment. My pain is sufferable; and my joy is be-"yond value. I have no more earthly cares, nor any desires, but of the things that are above." Then laying his hand.

upon his breast, he added; "Here is inward joy, by the Spi"rit of God dwelling in me. What am I, O gracious God,
"that thou deignest to dwell under my poor roof! It is my
"will, O Lord; and it is mine also. Let thy good Spirit
"dwell in me to the end!" Some of his last words were;
"I am going to your God, my friends, and to my God. We
have gained all: Amen."—Doubtless, one of his first
words, soon after these, was ballelujub!—Reader, pray that it
may also be thine!

## L A W.

HEN man fell from God, the world, which was made for him, was thrown into disorder; and he himself, like a wandering star, removed from its proper course, began to slide from darkness to darkness, and naturally tended onward to the blackness of darkness for ever. A law had been given him, as the test of his obedience, calculated both for body and mind; and this law required nothing, but what it was both his duty and his happiness to observe. He had a superiority over all creatures in the world, which was then his pleasant though not perpetual home; and he was subject to none but to HIM, who afforded him both life and love, and who only claimed that from him, which he was well able to pay, and in the payment of which he was to receive new and new incomes of joy. All his blessedness consisted in looking upwards to God; and therefore, as a picture of the state of his mind, his Maker gave him a sublime countenance\* and an ered posture of body. Thus while his natural eyes might easily view the heavens, the eyes of his mind c uld beholl HIM, whom the heaven of heavens cannot contain but yet who vouchsafed to set up his throne in the heart of his humble creature man. By the very figure of his body was he taught, where lay the fundamental happiness of his soul: His face, then the true index of his mind, pointed upwards and continually to God. The beasts were created otherwise; that he might learn from their prone and downward aspect,

. 11.

Ovid. Met. l. i. f. 3.

Lactantius frequently dwells upon this thought, with his usual elegance of expression, in his Institutions.

<sup>\*</sup> Os homini sublime dedit, calumq. videre Jussit, & erectos ad sidera tollere vuctus.

that they had no end beyond the earth; and that he alone was privileged, as well as enabled, to hold intercourse with heaven and the God of heaven. And concerning the test of his obedience, as an excellent man hath well observed; "the fair tree, of which he was forbidden to eat, taught him the same lesson, that his happiness lay not in enjoyment of the creatures; for there was a want even in Paradise: So that the forbidden tree was, in effect, the band of all the creatures, pointing man away from themselves to God for happiness. It was a sign of emptiness hung before the door of the creation, with that inscription, This is not your Rest."\*

When man, for his disobedience, was thrust out of this Paradise, he lost the instruction, which the objects existing in it were created to give him, as well as the capacity to understand any thing, but a part of his own wretchedness. He felt misery and death in his body, beyond the possibility of denial; and his soul became, as our souls are from him, exceedingly dark and ignorant concerning the great objects of his beings He was not only without the knowlege of God, but without a desire to know him. He burst forth from Paradise an Out-LAW in every sense of the term; liable to divine vengeance, and without title to divine mercy. In this forlorn condition, without light from God, because void of all spiritual communion with him; he must ever have wandered and groped in mental darkness, if Jehovab himself had not deigned to provide a recovery. For this end, it was necessary, that there should be a manifestation of some enlightening law, by which the divine purity might be known, and man compare his own lapsed and miserable condition. Accordingly, an exhibition was made of one grand spiritual decree, the truth of which was to be attested by several particulars that reach the animal sense of both sexes; namely, that enmity should be put between the devil and human nature, instead of their then present league, and between his adherents and the woman's offspring; and that, though this fallen spirit might attack and discress the inferior part of the promised seed called his beel, this promised seed, by his divine power, should at length trample upon and bruise his bead for ever.

This was the first ray of spiritual light, which broke through the darkness of our fallen world: And it became a ray of hope to all succeeding generations. That SPIRIT of God, which, in the first creation, moved upon the face of the troubled deep, now began to brood with the warmth of his leve upon the troubled soul of man. The law of this SPIRIT of Life here began to free the unhappy mind, fettered and brought into captivity to the law of sin and death. It is our

<sup>\*</sup> Boston's Fourfold State, p. 13.

privilege, then, to consider, what this law is in its essence and effects, and what relation these bear to us.

There are many acceptations of this word Law, all of them just and true, and all of them important likewise to sal-

vation; or, they had never been revealed.

The word Law, as it stands in the Bible connected with spiritual things, includes these various senses. 1. It is taken for the law which God hath planted in the frame and constitution of the world, which is preserved and conducted according to his ordinance. Psa. cxix. 91. 2. Sometimes it implies the fiery law, delivered by Moses, which, because of its extreme purity and our sinfulness, seems cloathed with all the fire of God's vengeance: And this is frequently called the moral law, the letter of which is in the Ten Commandments. 3. The term is also used for the ceremonial law, which was a doctrinal exemplor of the gospel of grace. 4. The Scriptures are sometimes called by this name, John x. 34. possibly because they contain the whole revealed law and mind of God. 5. The gospel likewise, in distinction from the law of Moses, is called the law of faith. Rom. iii. 27. 6. The covenant of grace itself, of which every iota must be fulfilled and shall never pass away, is thus named. I Chron. xvi. 17. et al. 7. And sometimes it is used personally for the SPIRIT of God: In which view it will be considered in this Essay; because HE is the spring or foundation of the whole.

If we look at the radical sense of the original term, which seems to be the only true way of studying the Bible, we shall find it derived from a root, which signifies to cast, or throw, or shoot any thing like a dart, and which, in the conjugation Hipbil, means to teach, to throw instruction upon the mind, to inject or shower down doctrine, like the rain cust down from The term, therefore, teaches us, that we not only need this instruction naturally, but also that it can only be given us from above, or that by a superior agent it must be injected into our minds. And because our capacities are dull in heavenly things, and our corruptions make great opposition to them within; this tuition is applied under the image of force and strong impression, and this being effected by an almighty hand, the instruction becomes a word quick and powerful, and sharper (or more penetrating) than any two-edged sword, piercing even to the dividing asunder of soul and spirit, and of the joints and marrow, and is a discerner (or critic) of the thoughts and intents of the heart. Heb. iv. 12.

It may also be observed, that as rain in nature descends freely from the skies, this rain of instruction also comes down as freely from the God of the skies. This doctrine, therefore, whether it be called law, ordinances, statutes, testimonics, commandments, or the like, means neither more nor less.

in its primary sense, than a DIVINE REVELATION, branched out into these various particulars according to some peculiar and necessary application to the state of the children of men. All these particulars were delivered, or (according to the root) poured down, from heaven by the inspiration of God, and indeed, when collected, compose but one great aggregate, arising from one great cause, and answering one great end. This end is God's glory in his people's salvation: And the cause we shall consider presently. Upon this plan, was the first revelation of God thrown into the aching bosoms of our first parents. For this purpose, did Abraham obey Jehovah's voice, and keep bis charge, bis commandments, bis statutes, and bis laws, under the patriarchal dispensation. Gen. xxvi. 5. In this view, the moral and ceremonial law, accompanied with rites, ceremonies, statutes, testimonies, &c. into which those laws were distributed and distinguished, were delivered to Moses, for the Jewish aconomy. And to fulfil this great object, was the gospel itself, and all its written word, delivered to man; as the consummate revelation of God's eternal will,

mind, or law, concerning his redemption.

This word LAW, then, in its broad and glorious sense, signifies all or any instruction and revelation of the mind of IE-HOVAH: and though expressed by different names, in order to shew its different purposes, it still is in perfect harmony in all its parts, and results only from one grand idea in the mind oi God. The law delivered to Moses is generally understood to be a law of death and condemnation; and so it truly is to every sinner out of Christ: And it was given to teach sinners that most important instruction. But yet that law in itself is confessedly boly, just, and good, and to every believer in Fesus, the atoner and fulfiller, is really a part or manifestation of that perfect law of liberty, which opens to him ten thousand promises, and at length introduces him to glory. The matter of d ath is in the sinner, not in the law; and though damnation itsell arises from the pure goodness of Ged, which cannot endure sin, it is not to be imputed to him, as the cause, but to iniquity, which is averse to his being, and being separated from it necessarily becomes misery. This law, so far from quarrelling with the gospel, is the gospel in Christ, and another branch, or appearance only, of the same unalterable and holy will. The gospel could not be the gospel without this perfect law; which points out the just requirements of God, on the one hand, full of truth and majesty; and which, in conjunction with the gespel, exhibits, on the other, a complete satisfaction of all these requirements by one, who was able to pay them. The law and the gospel are two branches of own. devine revelation; the former, when alone, shewing the heis nousness of sin and the condemnation of sinners; and the latter, without the least derogation from the absolute perfection of the law, explaining the purification of sin, and the salvation or sinners, by a Mediator. Estb unite in displaying God's purity and justice glorified by means, which at the same time illustrate his kindness and love: And, in this union, it is, that mercy and truth are met together, rightcoursess and peace have kissed each other; or, in the language of the New Testament, that God is just, and the justifier of him, that believeth in Jesus.

We are now come to the main object in view, and may perceive, that as all God's revelation is but one, though diversified by several names and parts; so the GREAT REVEALER is one and the same, who spake by patriarchs; prophets, and apostles, and who hath rained down all the true instruction from heaven, which ever renewed men upon the face of the

earth.

In some other papers, we have considered, who this great instructor, teacher, and revealer is; and have proved, that He is no other than God the Spirit. Holy men of old spake as they were moved by the Holy Ghost; and the Holy Ghost is to teach his people and to dwell in them, to the end of time, and thereby to prepare them for his eternal inhabitation. Eph. ii. 22. "But can He, therefore, be called the Law of the Lord?"—Let his own revealed law determine; only premising, that law, mind, and will, with relation to God, are terms, in their broad extent, perfectly synonimous. His law is, respecting us, the expression of his mind, and the declaration of his will; all which are terms rather adapted to our conceptions and feelings, than definitions how God thinks, wills, or commands, of which it is impossible we should form any proper idea. We know not even the mode of our own understandings. Augustine calls Christ himself the eternal law; \*\* and very justly, because the Scriptures repre-

<sup>\*</sup> De vera Rel.—Each person in the Godhead, and consequently the whole Gouhead, is this law eternal and essential which is also called the law of liberty; because it removes that force and of pression of sin, which confines from holiness, and liberates the soul to the exercise of all goodness. If the Son shall make you free, ye shall be free indeed; was the voice of the Son himself, who, with the I'ather and Spirit, hat's a right to this title. It is remarkable, that Luther, in his comment upon the Ga atians, in which he speaks with great veh-mence against the moral law as a covenant of works, and justly reprehends them who so far pervert it from the design of its revelation, as to aim at salvation by it; has these striking words upon the eternal law of which we are speaking: " I hear thee murmuring, O law [law of Moses,] that thou wilt accuse and condemn me; but this doth not trouble me. Thou art to me, as the grave was ut to Christ; for I see that thou art fast bound: And this hath MY LAW done. What law is that? LIBERTY, which is called the law, not because it bindeth me, but because it bindeth the law [i. e. as to its

sent him as that ERERNAL LIFE, which was with the Father. and was MANIFFSTED unto man, I John i. 2. and as that author of eternal salvation, in whom was purposed the ETERNAL PURPOSE of God, for that end. Eph. iii. 11. In short, whatever can be predicated of God, is God himself; and as the cause and end of the divine law and government is God's own existence, his law cannot be any thing different from himself, as to its essence; for otherwise something will exist in God, which is not God, and so oppose the simplicity and purity of his nature. The intellect of man is the subordinate rule and measure of man's capacity, and is the grand constituent of his being. The intellect of God likewise (humbly speaking after the manner of man, who is created in his likeness) is the rule and law of his own being, and cannot be any thing but himself. We know concerning his intellect only by his communication or publication, which is now a rule and law to us, it being the manifestation of his own will, applying itself to such and such objects as fall under our apprehensions. Farther than this publication, we can know nothing of God: And this, so far as we truly know it, is (as it were) God speaking to us, or the rule, mode, or law, by which we are to have our intercourse and communion with him.

If the essence of God, then, be his own law, the original and "primitive reason," and the cause of all laws planted in or delivered down to the creatures; the Holy Spirit, as a subsistent in that essence, participates whatever can be predicated of it, and is personally, therefore, this essential law. Thus, He who says, I am understanding, immediately adds, By me kings reign, and princes decree justice: By me princes rule, and nobles, even all the judges of the earth. Prov. viii. 15, 16. Through this Eternal Spirit, or law, or counsel, or divine essence (which in this view are one and the same,) Christ offered himself without spot to God, that he might fulfil the revealed law of God, which sprung from that eternal law just mentioned. Thus the secret of the Lord is with them, that fear him; i. e. his Holy Spirit or secret law, confirming the mind and law of God revealed. Thus believers

condemning power] which bound me, even the law of the ten Commandments. But against that law, I have another law, even the law of grace, which however, is to me no law, because it doth not bind, but set me at liberty. And this is a law against that accusing and condemning law, which is so bound by this law, that it hath no power to hurt me.—Thus Christ, with most sweet names, is called My LAW, &c." Com. on Gal. ii. 18. See also Lactantius, who calls Christ, as to his Godhead, vivam prasentemque Legem. Devera sap. 1. iv. 6. 17. To the same purpose see Thom. Aq. Finis divina gubernationis est ipse Deus, nec ejus lex est aliud ab ipso. Prim. Sec. Q. xci. A. 1.

are led by the Spirit (who becomes the law of their minds) to be the children, and the obedient children of God. Rom. viii. 14. with vii. 23. Thus the law of the Spirit of life, makes these believers free from the law of sin and death, Rom. viii. 2. \* and to this law the carnal mind is not subject, neither indeed can be, BECAUSE the carnal mind is enmity against GoD, who is the law. Rom. viii. 7. Thus where the Spirit of the Lord is, there is liberty; because the Spirit is that perfect law of liberty, which is not only free himself, but makes his people free by his energetic grace, Thus the Spirit, under this name of law, as well as Christ under the title of word, spake unto the fathers by the prophets. Isaiah i. 10. Thus the law was in the psalmist's beart; not surely the written, the moral, the ceremonial law, for these of themselves could not profit the heart; but that great law, which enlightened to him the object and use of those revealed laws, and which was the understanding he prayed for, by whom alone he should be enabled to keep or observe them. Ps. xl. 8. cxix. 33. This law was his delight, because this law is the truth; which is as much as to say, God or the Spirit bimself. And thus man can yield no true obedience to the written and revealed law, but by the power of that essential and secret LAW, who beipeth bis people's infirmities, and maketh intercession for the saints, according to the will of God.

From this consideration of the HOLY SPIRIT, under the name of law in essence, or lawgiver in fact; we draw another incontestable argument for his divinity and equality in the Godbead. For, if He be the essential law, HE must be essentially God: Or, if HE be the great re-

\* In this view of the word *law*, considering it as the *Spirit of life* himself; the difficulty, which Dr. *Guyse* complains of, in his note upon the passage, seems to vanish; and a very considerable light is also thrown upon the context.

† The Stoics and other heathers had some faint notions of this truth upon the principles of reason, which led them far enough to see, that there must be some supreme and universal law pervading all that exists; as, without it, nothing could exist, and much less in order and perfection. But their dark and blind fate, their soul of the world, or natural force, is founded upon a very different idea from what revelation affords; for, examined to the bottom, their fate, law, &c. is neither uncompounded with matter, nor purely abstracted from it. Not even Seneca's notion is clear in this respect, though he had the advantage of living later in the world, and possibly had some information of the Christian religion, but certainly not that information which his pretended correspondence with St. Faul would insinuate to us. According to the gospel, God is the law because of his perfection and omniscience, and of consequence is the eternal rule of rectitude and truth both to Himself and his caeatures.

vealer of the communicated law, in all or any of its branches ! HE must be God, who only could in the nose instance reveal his own mind and will: Or, if HE explain the mind of the Father, and give to balievers the mind of Christ or the Son : HE must be equal to the Father and the Son; unless it can be presumed, that God revealed to his Spirit, what the Spirit did not know before; which is a presumption, supported neither by reason nor Scripture. Not by reason; because it would be asserting, that there is something in God, called the Spirit of God, which is heterogeneous to the divine nature; and this consequently would destroy the simplicity and perfection of his being. Not by Scripture; because the Spirit searcheth all things, yea, the very profound or deep things of God, whose infinite and eternal being he must fully know, and to which for that end he must be perfectly equal; or there would be an infinitude of things ever beyond him, which, as a creature, he could not possibly search, and which, if unsearched by him, the Scripture could not possibly be true.

Being the law or mind of God himself, the Holy Spirit is certainly able to teach it, to impress it, and to effectuate it, in the redeemed. His dostrine, therefore, according to this gracious name, descends as the rain (one of his emblems,) and orders as the law, Spirit, or power (for these are his names,) throughout the universe of the faithful. He is the fulfiller of that glorious promise in Is. ii. 2. &c. and in Micah iv. 1. 2, &c.\* In the last days, the mountain of the Lord's

Yet this law, or rule, doth not imply confinement to him, because this law is the unlimited exercise of unbounded goodness and perfection in the divine nature; but, with respect to us, it forms a boundary only because we are sinners, limiting our exercise of evil and corruption; for, after we are regenerated, and especially when we enter heaven, we possess the glorious liberty of God through his perfect law of liberty, and are no other was a enfined in the activity of holieness but by the extent of our faculties. Absolute purity is all liberty: Sin only is bondage, both in itse f as to its connection with nothing but evil, and with respect to God, who bounds and limits its encroachments upon the visible and invisible parts of his creation.

Of the heathen epinions concerning this subject the reader may see more in Cic. de natura deor, and especially in LAGTANT, de falsa

rel lib. i. f. 5. and de vita beat. l. vii. f. S.

† This mountain of the Lord's house is named Moriah, the spot where Abraham offered up up his son, and where the temple was afterwards built. The word Moriah seems to be derived from the same root, with the word low, and plainly denotes, that upon this mountain the doctrine, instruction, and representation of grace, should descend and be revealed. Upon this mountain, Araham received instruction, through the type of his son, concerning the mode of Christ's redemption: So did the Jews, in the constant sacrifices

bouse shall be established—and all nations shall flow univ it: And many people shall go and say, Come ye, and let us go up to the mountain of the Lord, to the house of the God of facob, and HE will teach us of his ways, and we will walk in his pails; for out of Zion [not from Horeb] shall go forth the LAW, and the WORD of the Lord from Ferusalem .- O House of facob, come ye, and let us walk in the LIGHT of the Lord. And what is this light, but the divine nature itself, of which believers are made partakers? And what is this law, which proceeds from Zion, but this very light? This essential law is that essential light, from which all statutes, testimonies, ordinances, revelations internal and external, were ever but so many rays sent down to man, in order to lead him up to his God. Believers here are in a dark wilderness; and the word of God is given as the lanthorn, and the Spirit of God as the light therein, to conduct their otherwise undirected feet to their Father's house. This Spirit is the perfect law, converting the soul; and all his statutes, testimonies, and commandments, were revealed for the work of his salvation. The redeemed in all ages, like the rest of the world, were ignorant sinners, without rule, and without law (I Cor. ix. 21.) by nature: This Spirit of truth comes, in the appointed time, takes his written rule and applies it to their hearts, and so makes that to be the measure and ground of his own conduct towards them. He explains to their minds, how his own revealed law, when expressive of the absolute perfection of the divine nature (as in the case of the law called moral) is necessarily against them as sinners; and how, on the other hand, it graciously becomes a part of the covenant of life itself in Christ

and services of the temple, as well as by the immediate revelations of God's will often delivered there. Here God made his doctrine descend as the dew, and upon this holy mountain, typifying Christ himself, (Zech. viii. 3.) God would alone be worshipped with his prescribed services; and concerning this mountain, under the symbol of our Redeemer, very glorious things are spoken in Isaiah xxv. 6, &c .- All this, in plainer language, signifies, that the Spirit would descend upon Christ alone for the purpose of effecting salvation, and that God was in Christ reconciling the world to himself; so that, "without Christ, there is no grace given, nor sin forgiven," but that in him all our communion with God is obtained and continued for ever .- It may further be observed that part of this mountain with part of the temple stood in Judah, and the other part of both in Benjamin; which partition may possibly be intended to mean, that Christ was not the Saviour only of one class of men, i. e. the Jews, but of Jews and Gentiles, who are privileged to look upon him as their common Lord, and to have an equal claim to him as their holy temple and mountain of holiness. Vol. II.

lesus, who hath fulfilled it for his people and entitled them to be saints; and not only saints, imperfect as they are in this life, but holy and immaculate beings. Thus, hereafter, they are represented as walking in (emblematic) white, or purity, and crowned with the utmost perfection and bliss. All the revealed word, wilk, law, and promise of God, are shewn by this Spirit to be all yea, and all amen, in the great Redeemer; all full of positive mercy and blessing, and all confirmed by the faithfulness and truth of an omnipotent God-As the written word is a revelation of the unwritten mind and law of God; so the Spirit convinces the believer's soul, that it is all fulfilled in Christ Jesus, and all brought into effect and applied to salvation by his own quickening power, in a manner, of which, though a carnal (and in other respects sensible) mind may consider the words and their grammatical construction, no carnal mind can form a true because not experimental, conception. I And this some of the most able and sensible men have confessed of their own capacities, after their conversion by the grace of God: --- Men, who could not easily have been deceived themselves in such a matter, and who could have no interest to combine in the same testimony, from age to age, for the deception of others :- Men. who confirmed by their latest breath the principles and doctrines, which they had maintained, and who loved not even their lives, nor counted them dear, so that they might svieness this good, this important confession.

From the whole it seems to appear with how great propriety, God is called by the name of law; how, with the same propriety, the Holy Spirit, as God, is so entitled; and how, in

† Bishop Stillingsheet, in his Origines Sacra, has quoted the translation of a sentiment from Dante the Itasian poet, which is very applicable to this point.

Spiritus sancti, que est diffusa
Super veteres & super novas membranas,
Est syllogismus ille qui eam mini conclusit
Adeo acute, ut pre illa demonstratione
Omnis demonstratio alia mini videatur obtusa-

Which may be thus rendered;

"God's Holy Spirit hath so amply fill'd With gracious wisdom all the word reveal'd, That this alone an argument appears, And to my soul such demonstration bears, As makes all reasonings, which the mind can frame, Seem shadows of the truth, or flat and lane."

communion with God and longing after him, every believer is privileged to pray, Open thou mine eyes, and I shall behold wonderful things out of thy law: O how I love thy law, it is my meditation all the day; and unless it had been my delight, I should have perished in my trouble. I have longed for thy salvation, and thy law is my delight. Grant me thy law graciously: How sweet are thy words to my taste, yea, weeter than

boney to my month.

This living law in the heart is the death of all legality, or what is usually called by that name. It leads a man to Christ, and to Christ alone. It strips him of himself, lowers the pride of the flesh, and all confidence in the flesh: For this Spirit testifies of Christ in the sinner, and shows to the sinner his need of Christ. He opens his understanding to know and regard what the Scriptures say of Jesus, and concerning the means, the premises, the hope, the jov, the assurance of salvation; and then applies all these things to the coul, and makes a glorious feast within. In this act, the convinced sinner, so far from depending upon self-rightcousness, sees it to be much rather unrighteousness, and therefore cannot trust to what he must look upon as sin, for any part of his salvation.-He sees too much impurity in himself, and in every thing he is capable of doing, and beholds too much of the perfection of God, to imagine any of his performances can be acceptable without his Redeemer. And though he knows there is a reward, yet he hears also that it is a reward of grace; and though men are saved according to their works he is divinely taught, that it is not according to the merit of their works. He reads in the book of God, and he feels by the grace of God, that his works cannot merit in any sense, and that grace itself, by which he works and aelights to work, is not given him to merit by and so deserve of God, but to live by and so receive from God. The law of the Spirit of life doth not send him to the law of works, but to the law-fulfiller, for meritorious righteourness, and then enables him, according to measure, to love and to do (however imperfectly) an evangelical righteousness, in proof of his interest in the other. He aims to follow Christ, but not to supplant him. Instead of so ignorant a conduct, which the Pharisees and their successors (learned as they may be in other things) uniformly patronize; the believer lies to Jesus Christ, in the power of his Holy Spirit, and cries with the pralmist; My mouth shall shew for the thy righteousness and thy salvation all the day; for I know not the numbers thereof. I will go, (not in my own strength for that is weaksess, but) in the strength of the LORD God: I will make mention (not of my own righteousness, for alas! that is mere sin and defilement, but) of the rightcourness, even of thine only. Ps. lxxi. 15, 16.

As this law of the Spirit of life is the death of all self-rightcousness, which is sin in its most inviting form, and which often looks so much like the innocence of angels, as to be mistaken for it; so is he the utter death, and the most determined foe, of all barefaced ungodliness and iniquity. If he cannot endure sin in the specious guise of holiness, and set off with painted beauties; surely, he utterly loaths and abhors it in its open deformity, or in that audacious hue with which it stalks abroad in the world. This Spirit teaches his people also to hate sin in their very thoughts, and to fight against its power, not only without them, but within them; to follow it with a drawn sword (the word of God;) and to give it no quarter wherever they can fasten upon it. And the heart which doth not this, in the strength of grace; but which can indulge inward sins, the sins of the thought, of the passions, and of the mind, with complacency; may have the greatest reason to examine itself, whether it be in the faith or not. Certainly, if this be formed into any thing like a habit, the person is without one great and indispensable evidence of the Spirit of Christ within him: For he, who is a discerner of the thoughts, hath declared by his apostle, that sin shall not have dominion over his people, but that the thoughts, and every thought as far as possible, are to be brought into captivity to the obedience of Christ. The sincere Christian is grieved at his imperfections, and certainly can never delight in them.

The victory, which this LAW of the Lord gains for the believer over these two evil principles of self-righteousness and sin, both clears his way for, and adds strength to enjoy the triumph of holiness. This almighty LAW works holiness in him by uniting him to Christ, as the great head of influence, through whom all his sanctification must proceed: And this was typified by the sacred oil, which was poured upon Aaron's head, and which from the head ran down to the skirts of his cloathing. The unction from the Spirit is all through the head, from whom it descends to the meanest of his members. Christians have no consecration or separation to God from the world and sin, but in this way; and they enjoy all real and vital holiness with its power, and the several and particular acts of that power, only by this great mean. It is as much beyond a poor helpless sinner, for such the strongest believer upon earth is in bimself (and the strongest believer is the most sensible of his weakness,) to perform any act in God's sight intrinsically hely by his own strength; as it is for him, by the same strength, to wrest the earth from its crbit, or to pluck the sun from the sky. Now, what is the effect of this knowledge in his soul? And what doth the consciousness of all this infirmity produce in him?-Not laziness, or inaction; not despair of doing good, nor yet of pleasing God by attempting it; but a firm and more entire reliance upon this all-quickening LAW, that He, by his energy, may work in bim both to will and to do. In this way, like the apostle, he finds, that when he is weak, then beis strong; that is, when he is most sensible of his natural weakness, he lays the faster hold by faith upon this spiritual helper, who is not only strong, but strength itself, and even everlasting strength. And in this mode too he perceives his experience to be parallel with the apostle's, I can do all things through Christ which strengtheneth me :- through Christ, because the Spirit (as was before observed) works all in the believer through his divine Head and Saviour, which is another proof to bim, and upon fact too, that there subsists an eternal and inseparable union between the divine persons, and that his own enjoyment of communion with one, is the enjoyment of communion with the other two, rendering him a worshipper " of one God in Trinity, and of the Trinity in Unity; neither confounding the persons (with the Sabellians, &c.) nor

(with the Arians, &c.) dividing the substance.

Thus, believer, art thou privileged to consider, and apply to the GREAT and GLORIOUS LAW, of which we have been treating. In HIM all manifestative or revealed laws concentrate, and from HIM alone did they proceed. They were all given to lead his people into a right way, all calculated according to their state and condition, all designed to introduce them to holiness and heaven. Rightly understood, the several branches are seen perfectly to coalesce; the moral, the ceremonial, and the evangelical, forming one great and beautiful whole. They extend, like radii or rays to the different points of a vast circumference; but, as they issued from one center, they all unite in the same. Like the several parts of a mighty arch, they give reciprocal aid to each other, constitute one grand design, and perform one common The moral law curses indeed, but, in Christ, it only curses to bless; by shewing the sinner to himself, and by driving him out of himself to his Redeemer for refuge. The ceremonial law, with pointed and most expressive emblems, shews bow this refuge and salvation are to be effected, and leads the faith of believers to Jesus the sum and substance of all its speaking and lively shadows.\* The evangelic law,

<sup>\*</sup> Abarbanel the famous Rabbi could call the aparatus of the Jewish ceremonial "a book of the most sublime wisdom, to the glorious substance of which all those rites refer." Nor is there any wonder in this case, since we are expressly informed, (1 Chron. xxviii. 12.) that David had the pattern, the model, the revelation, by the Spirit, concerning these things, and that he was made to understand them (v. 19.) by the hand or Spirit of the Lord upon him. 2 Kings iii. 15. See Witz. Egypt. 1. iii. c. 10.

(if such it may be called) is the consummation of the other two, and records, that all the statutes of external rites, all the precepts which denoted God's presence, all the testimonics which showed the coming of the Messiah, all the judgments or decrees of God concerning him and his people, all the commandments or general duties, all the word revealed whether of Christ or from Christ, and, in short, all the mind and will of God comprehended under the notion of rule and law; were one grand influx from this Holy Spirit of truth, in conjunction with the Father and Son; were designed to signify their respective offices of grace; and do now, as they have ever done, lead up the hearts of his faithful people to communion with him in those offices; the end of all which

is glory to God and life everlasting to them.

Dear Christian! what is here before thine eyes?-Canst thou view thyself any longer that despicable worm, which sin hath rendered thee, or which the miseries and infirmities of thy nature seem to proclaim? Can all this expence of salvation be laid out for nobody, or nothing; or for thee, if thou wert considered by thy God, as not worth the saving? Did Christ die for a wretch, a miserable apostate, and a slave, only to leave him in the same condition, in which he was found? Doth He set no higher value upon thee, after thou hast cost him so many cares, and such reiterated sufferings, than to leave thee to thyself; or to permit thee to sink into original nothing; or to perish into endless misery, which is worse than that nothing? Is it possible for thee to believe all this concerning bim, and concerning that loving Spirit, which as a living law, thee, led to this Jesus for his promised salvation? -O the depth of unbelief; that bitterest root of sin! prone to credit any thing but the truth, unbelief would inspire thee to contradict every result of God's eternal counsel, and to question the reality, certainty and wisdom of his everlasting covenant, which (being such) can never be broken. "Thou art a worm!"-Well, be it so: Yet fear not, worm Jacob: I will belp thee, saith Jehovah. Is. XLI. 10.—14.— But "Thou art a sinner!" Hearken again; Come now, and let us reason together, saith Jehovau, though your sins be as scarlet, they shall be as white as snow, though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool. Is. i. 18. Only Come!-But "Thou art a backslider!"-Perhaps, a very great one; but see if thou art, or ever caust be greater than those, to whom these words are addressed; Return thou backstiding Israel, saith JEHOVAH, and I will not cause mine anger to fall upon you; for I am merciful, saith JEHOVAH; I will not keep anger for ever. Jer. iii. read the whole chapter .- But " these were Israelites (it may be urged) and thou art a Gentile !"-God doth not stop here; for thus saith the ADDNAI JEHOVAH, B. boll !

will lift up mine band to the GENTILES, and set up my standard to the people. Wherefore? That the GENTILES might glorify God for bis mercy. There is no difference between few or Greek (or Gentile,) for the same LORD over all is rich unto all that call upon bim. O that this Spirit may quicken these words to thy soul, that the power of unbelief, that principal sinew of all other sin and corruption, may be weakened within thee! Learn to consider unbelief, as a most heinous treason against the truth of God, and a most impudent presumption (with all its affected modesty) against the omnipotence of God; and then pray against it in this view: Like the devil himself, its abettor, thus resisted, it shall be put under thy feet. If it rise up again and harrass, do not trifle with it in thy own strength nor hold parley for a minute: Buckle on thy Christian armour, and fall on with the sword of the Spirit. Often one blow, with a Thus it is written, shall bring the monster prostrate to the ground. Reasoning with sins, like coaxing with rebels, only tends to give them confidence, and to make them tenfold more rebellious.

And O what a privilege, thou more confirmed Christian, art thou entitled to enjoy! This great living LAW, who reigns in heaven, descends to reign and dwell within thy breast. He is thy Law: And thou desirest his dominion for evermore. He is also the Law of Love, and brings peace, joy, and righteousness to thy troubled mind. When He appears, sorrow dies away. His absence, or the sense of his absence, is the presence of misery, and the occasion of all evil. "O for his continual, his more abiding presence!"is thy daily cry: And thou shalt not cry in vain. Remember, He is the law of faith for thee to trust in and to work by, a spiritual law, to suit his doctrine to thy spiritual ignorance,\* and the law of the Spirit of Life to bring thee from the death of sin to life everlasting. This was one great end, why he would be known as the law of life, and why he revealed all other laws to erring man: And this object and purpose can never be lost by him, either through want of wisdom, power, or love; for these attributes are all spirit and life in him. As Christ is the Lord thy righteousness, so the Spirit is the Lord thy law, writing himself upon thy beart, and witnessing for himself in thy life; enabling thee to embrace Christ as thy righteousness for heaven, and exciting thee to bring forth works of righteousness all the way to heaven. How happy, then, art thou privileged to be, in full recumbence on his faithfulness and truth, and upon those counsels of old which sprung from both. Did ever man fail, that trusted in the Lord? Search, and enquire. Did no publish himself as the

<sup>·</sup> Remoto Deo, calestique doctrina, omnia erroribus plena sunt. LACT.

ground of the unerring law and the everlasting covenant, on purpose to break the one, and to render the other void? Stop and consider.—Men may act foolishly or ineffectually, which is almost the same; but thy God cannot. Lean, therefore, upon his strength; and he will bear thee on, and bear thee out, to thy journey's end: And, when mortality is swallowed up of life, and thy corruptible shall put on incorruption; O with what joy, what unutterable joy, shalt thou enter the mansions of the blest, and sing, with eternal liberty, the praises of that PERFECT LAW of Life, which shall fill them, and fill thee, with his own fulness, without end!——After a little more faith and patience thou shalt inherit the promises, and possess those perfections, which thou canst not even guess at or conceive below: And then,—O then what remains? Surely, nothing, nothing but praise upon praise; the great, the universal, the everlasting Hallely Jah!

Come thou UNIVERSAL LAW, And with thy sweet power draw All my soul from Satan's wiles, And from sin's delusive smiles, And from what, devoid of thee, Only death or hell can be!

Then my soul, with wisdom fraught, Such as thou hast ever taught, Shall to heighths of truth aspire, With no languid dull desire, And with liberty shall rove O'er thy vast expanse of love.

Come, thou LIVING LAW, to me; Or translate my soul to thee!

## VOICE.

By the word voice is generally understood that vibration of the air, performed by the mouth of man, which excites the sensation, called sound, in the auditory nerves of his own and of other species of creatures about him. The elastic nature of the air, which returns a vast variety of impressions with the utmost speed and exactness; and the organs of speech, which, minute as they are, affect so powerful

and fleeting a body to a great and wide degree; are truly astonishing circumstances in themselves, and might justly raise astonishment in men at the Creator's wisdom and power, could these operations be less common, or more considered, than they are. 'Tis an old debate, that we have no exact idea of motion; but certainly we have much less idea of the rapidity of the motion of sound, which, according to the experimental calculations of Dr. Durbam, passes at the rate of 1142 feet in one second of time. We know, by experience, that the lips, teeth, and tongue, which modulate the sound of our voice into distinct articulations, can no sooner perform their office; than the words, which are sounds articulated, are at the same instant in the ears of those we speak to. Our voice is the means, by which we convey the ideas of our own spirits to the spirits of others; and our organs strike the spring of air, as the only medium, in this world of matter, for the communion of souls, which are inclosed in that matter, and which, but for a substance of this rarified exility, must be more locked up in prisons, than at present we find them.

Thunder, and other agitations of the air, which surpass the art and power of man to accomplish, or which are confessedly accomplished by God in the elementary world, are usually called in Scripture, for that reason, the voice of God. They are vibrations of, or sounds in the air, and thus become a voice: And they are effected and ordained by the power of

God alone, and, therefore, are properly his voice.

But this word Voice, in its application to God, has a much higher sense than this, and is used to express the agency or communications of his blessed Spirit. He takes his name Spirit from the air we breathe, signifying to us, under that emblem, that whatever the air is to the respiration, life, and well-being of the material world; He, the Holy Spirit, in a superior though similar manner, is to the existence, enjoyment, and support of the spiritual world. And as the voice is air moved or in motion, as to natural things; so the Voice of Jehovah is the Spirit in motion, with respect to heavenly things. When, therefore, the Voice of the Lord is said to do such and such wonders, as are ascribed to it in the Bible; we are to understand, that it is the Lord the Spirit in act and exercise, accomplishing some particular object. God uses this mode of speaking according to natural emblems, in condescension to our capacities; for had any other mode of speaking been used, with relation to spiritual concerns, our present faculties could not have conceived them.\* They

\* It is an old and true maxim, Quicquid recipitur, recipitur secundum modum recipientis. We can receive nothing above, but only according to our capacity; and as our ideas usually pass through the

conceive but too little of them even in this way, and constantly need superior aid for instruction: How then must we have been puzzled, if even language could have borne it; had God delivered his sublime truths, as they are in se, or as they really exist in themselves?

Two or three Scriptures may serve to shew with what propriety, the Holy Spirit is revealed under the title of Voice

of the Lord.

At the creation of the world, it is revealed, the SPIRIT of God moved upon the face of the waters, as an agent in that glorious work. In the xxixth psalm, which celebrates the mighty acts of the Voice of the Lord, we shall find, that this Voice was, or is, upon the waters, ruling and governing the great depths of nature and of grace; and that the same Voice is no other than JEHOVAH himself, because it is presently added, by way of describing this Voice, that JEHOVAH is upon many, or great, waters. From the comparison of these two Scriptures, it is evident, that the Voice upon the waters in the one text is not a mere sound, but that divine person who is called the Spirit of God in the other text, and both the one and the other name, i. e. of Voice and Spirit, refer ultimately, as the grand titles of the same divine person, to IE-HOVAH upon the waters. The whole psalm is a noble testimony concerning this Spirit, under the name of Voice; and there is a remarkable interchanging of that title with the name Feborab, which is a convincing proof, that the Voice and Jebovab are one, and consequently, that the Spirit is Yelovab himself; or a person in Jebovab.\*

In Isaiah vi. 8. we read, that the Voice of the Lord said, whom shall I send? proving the personality of that Voice: And who will go for US? declaring the plurality of that personality, in the Godhead. In the next verse it is added, And HE said, &c. If we turn to A&s xxviii. 25, &c. we shall find, that this Voice, mentioned by the prophet, is, according to the apostle, identically the Holy Ghost, who spake by Isaiab to the fathers, saying, Go unto this people, &c.—From these texts (and others might be added) it appears, That the Voice of Jehovah is the Spirit of Jehovah, and that the Spirit

is a person in Jehovah himself.

God's Voice, therefore, is not (like the voice of crea-

medium of our senses, God in his gracious wisdom hath given his revelation accordingly, and raises up the mind through objects of sense to those things, at which sense ends and faith begins.

\* The Romish commentators have tortured this glorious psalm into a mere panegyric upon their seven sacraments, but with how much absurdity it may be easily seen in one of the best of them, the learned Estius upon the place.

tures) a vibratory motion only of the air or mere sound, but that person the divine Spirit, who is all life, activity, and omnipotence. Accordingly, it is said of him, that when God uttered bis Voice, i. e. sent forth his Spirit, ad extra, to elial the divine purpose, the earth melted; it sunk beneath his power in a moment. Ps. xlvi. 6. Again; in Ps. lxviii. 33. it is said, that God sendeth out his Voice, and that a mirbin Voice; a voice of power. This Spirit of power concurred in the whole work of creation; for when God said, or gave forth his voice, Let there be light; that Voice enerted with was said, and fulfilled, outwardly, God's inward and and accree. When God spake to the fathers; he sent forth his Voice or Spirit to them for the revolution of his will; and accordingly it is said, that it was the Holy Gbost who spoke to them. He was the Voice both in them and to them. When the law was given by Moses; it was the Voice of the Lord who spake to him, and gave instruction by him to the people. Deut. iv. 36. When the Spirit came down at the day of Pentecost upon the apostles; they spake indeed the words of God, but it was the Voice or Spirit of God in them, who gave them utterance. In a word, he is the almighty Voice of thunder and dismay to his adversaries, breaking in pieces the tallest cedars, the loftiest of the creatures; but a still small voice to his people, constantly giving to their ears an instructive word, This is the way, wath ye in it. He is of equal power in both, though to different ends; in the one for the terror of destruction, and in the other for the peace of salvation.

From all this it seems plain, that the voice of God is God speaking by his Spirit, and that, therefore, the Spirit hath taken the name of Voice, in order to declare his swiftness, life, and energy. It is also plain, that God hath used this emblem of voice, to convey further to our minds, by natural effects which are constantly with us, such notices, as we are able to conceive, of that sublime and supernatural agency, which his Holy Spirit is performing for us. It becomes our duty and our interest, to consider the name and the sign, with frequency and attention, as we would wish to have, the more fre-

quently in our minds, the important end signified.

God sent forth his Spirit, who, together with the other divine persons, made the world, and whatever we can see or conceive upon it and beyond it. He spake and all things were made. Onnipotence was in this voice; or, rather, this voice was omnipotence itself. Words and deeds are the same with him: And his will, wisdom, and power, though employed by the different persons in the divine essence, and for distinct ends, are all essentially the same, are alike in each person, and common to all. The voice is buth the expression and the act of that will: It is the Spirit performing

outwardly from the essence in the creation. When God said, Let it be done; it was done as soon as it was said, and done in and by the saying. It would be blasphemy to affirm, that He wills any thing, which doth not ensue; or that his voice commands, without a consequent obedience to his command. He said, Live, to beings, which had no being till that word was pronounced; and, by the voice of his power, all the universe of beings exist and are maintained. If he withdraw himself they die, are discomposed, and turned again to their dust; for, in him alone they live, and move, and bave the con-

This voice not only spake all things into being, but preserves them in the enjoyment of that being. The world and all the creatures are supported by the same divine power which created them; or they could either not subsist at all, or must rush into confusion. This voice is both in providence and grace, and banishes the absurdity of mere chance into chaos, if such a region can be found. The sun, for instance, doth not rise of itself: God maketh the sun to rise, as well as the rain to fall, Matth. v. 45. This text "shews (said a good man) the continual concurrence and power of God with natural causes. It is not like a clock, which, when it is once wound up, will go itself by the weight of the plummets; but like a pen, which writes not a letter nor a tittle, without the continual guidance of the writer."†

When man fell from his original rectitude, he no longer received the voice of God as at the first, a voice of peace and instruction in which he delighted; but, immediately, upon hearing the voice, the very voice, of Jehovah Alehim, walking,‡ or moving, the property of the spirit of the day, i. e. (probly) to carry on that spiritual and natural life for which the

† WHITE'S Πανθεολογία. p. 100.

† The participle is yet stronger for the personality of this voice in the original, being in Hithpael, which signifies an agent acting upon himself; so that the words might have been rendered, The

voice caused himself to move, &c.

The idea of the voice's walking in the cool of the day, like a man about his garden in the evening to avoid the heat, according to our own and some other translations; or, in the afternoon of the day, according to the Septuagint; seems neither agreeable to the words or the sense of the original. The purport of the passage may be conveyed by the following paraphrase; "As the wind passes over the earth for the life of the creatures upon it; so the Spirit of God moved through this perfect spot, thence called a garden, for the life and support of the souls, he had placed in it. The mode of this motion, in the Spirit or in its symbol the wind, is not to be understood by us; though the effect of both will be always evident cough. See John til. 8. Excles. xi. 5.

day of this system was created; both Adam and his wife hid themselves from bis presence, for they felt their souls to be more naked of truth and uprightness, than their bodies were of raiment. He heard the divine voice and was afraid, because he found himself a sinner. He hid himself, in the foolishness of sin, from an all-seeing eye, to whom he could no longer look up with confidence for protection, favor, and delight. And had God's voice left him, as he left the voice of God; he had been undone forever. But this gracious voice spake a promise, which, as God, he only could make or perform, and carried the faith of it to poor Adam's heart. Thus, the first sinners became the first believers, and gave a lesson to their fallen offspring, both of the unavoidable curse of sin, and the free salvation of grace.

This blessed voice hath, in all ages since, communicated the mind of God to men. He gave forth the precepts to patriarchs, the law to Israelites, the gospel to all. He gave all in Christ, and for Christ, who was appointed to be the bead of all things to his church. This voice came in perfect communion with the Father and Son, and hath ever illustrated the transcendent glory of the three undivided persons in one.

Godhead.

When he gave the precepts to patriarchs, he gave with those precepts the everlasting gospel. Abel, Setb, Noab, Abraham, and the rest of the holy ancients, believed, had faith, rested upon the truth of God, and found him at all times the God of truth. This mighty voice carried peace, and every requisite grace, into their souls. He appointed some ordinances to them, as witnesses of himself; and he witnessed for himself, in those ordinances, by his own divine power to their hearts. What lessons of grace, love, and promise, did Abraham receive, for instance, when he had devoted his only Son to God, under an appointed figure, which was to shew him, how God had devoted his only Son for him. If one could have seen the good old patriarch's heart, in the close of this transaction upon the mount; one might also have seen, with what justness he is called, the Father of the faithful, and the friend of God.

When this voice uttered the law, and enjoined the ceremonial institutes, to the Jews; he clothed the one with power, to shew men their sin and departure from truth; and the other with grace, to declare his own righteousness and their salvation by the Messiah. Without his energy in both, both were ineffectual; and, therefore, thousands, who came out of Egypt and had seen his mighty acts, were afterwards destroyed, because they believed not. His mighty acts, and his loudest thunders, carried no voice of grace and life to the soul, but by that spiritual and almighty voice, who spake them all

into being. How few of that vast multitude in the wilderness are recorded for their faith? Rather, almost the whole multitude itself, were punished for unbelief. The way of life and the way of destruction had the same limits then as now; the one narrow, for a few; and the other, broad for the

many.

When this holy Voice spake by the prophets, his revelations came with the power of saving life to some, and to others with the force, or savour of death, unto death. The hardness of man's heart by fallen nature is shewn, by the constant unintermitted and obstinate resistance, it has at all times made to the mind of God, the threatenings of God, and the witnesses of God. Facts and examples in every age may convince us, that no power, but the divine, can meliorate the obduracy within, and impart the tender flesh for the callous or impenetrable stone. This voice gives, and ever gave, the bearing ear, the seeing eye, and the believing mind: And, if be command not these blessed gifts, men have ears and bear not, eyes and see not, and bearts without understanding, or power

to believe. To prove this, is to point to the world.

When Jesus spake as never man spake, this voice was with him, and in him. God was in Christ, the Spirit was in Christ; and, therefore, Christ spake not his own words, as of the Father, and of God. The manhood of Jesus was inhabited by the Son, and was witnessed to by the Father and the Spirit, at his baptism and at his transfiguration; by all which this very manhood became the Son of God with power, and was qualified to be the great High Priest to mediate between God and man. And as the Spirit witnessed for Jesus; so Jesus witnessed for the Spirit, as the Comforter, the promise of the Father, the infallible guide into all truth. When Christ commanded, this Spirit, went forth and effectuated his command. He was the voice of God in the Messiah, and performed, in him, by him, and for him, all the miracles which men saw in nature, and those which only his people felt in grace.

This voice attended the apostles, gave them utterance, filled their mouths with right words, and clothed those words with a glorious force. Acts iv. 33. He spake in them, and by them. It is not ye that speak (said Jesus,) but the Spirit of your Father which speaketh in you. They did not go forth into the world, like philosophers, or like the learned ignorants of the age, with the unmeaning or inefficacious words of man's wisdom, but with the words of the Holy Ghost and with power; that it might be seen, that the conversion of sinners is not to be effected by human arguments or artifice, nor the faith of God's people by eloquence or moral sussion, but only by him, who gave the word, and the company of

preachers to declare it. What was there in St. Peter's first sermons, for instance, which could create such amazing effects in changing and piercing hearts, as we find they did in the conversion of three thousand souls at one time, and of five thousand at another? They were plain, unstudied, and unadorned narrations of some simple matters of fact, with an obvious inference or two, which arose from them. The apostle had no skill to fence with words, and desired none. 2 Peter i. 16. He knew his own strength to be nothing, and that all good consequences must proceed from a much higher cause. Nor was it in him to give the Holy Ghost to whom he would, as Simon Magus thought, and as some besides him have seemed to think; but it depended entirely upon the sovereign power of the voice by whom he spake, to bestow the life and grace of the gospel, and, in some sad instances, to seal up to death and condemnation by the law. Acts xi. 17. v. I. xxviii. 27. All the apostles acknowledged this grand truth; and so, more or less, have all the witnesses for God

in every age of the world.

This Voice of majesty accompanies his own revealed and written word, even now. When his ministers preach it, the blessing is imparted by him, and doth not stand upon the propriety, the arrangement, the elegance, or force of their style, manner, or matter; but upon his own will and activity. His word by them, not their word by themselves, is to be considered by the people; and, as his word, it is conveyed by himself to the hearts of the people. He honors his ministers, while they honor him; and though he could convert souls without their instrumentality, yet he very rarely operates but by it. The eunuch might have been taught by his grace to understand his word without Philip; but he so regarded the means of his own appointment, that he rather chose to send Philip a journey into the desert. The cunuch might have had the help of the apostles at Jerusalem; but the Spirit suffered him to depart in order to shew, that he would work by whatever means he pleased, without any confinement of time or place. The angel likewise might have taught Cornelius the same truths with St. Pear; but the Spirit close to declare, in a contrary appointment, that a feeble reed, as the spostle was in himself, trembling at every wind and once at the mean breath of a servant-maid, should by this superadded strength work such miracles in men's souls, as all the angels in heaven united could not perform. Those blessed spirits would say aloud, if permitted, 'Tis not in us: And, if not in them, surely not in the children of men, nor in all the ministers of God. 'Tis true; God bath in due times manifested bis word through preaching; but 'tis equally true, that none can preach that word except they be sent, nor impart success, in

preaching, by themselves. They might as well take a belf. as the Romish priests do to scare away the devil, and ring it in the pulpit to bring up the dead; as expect the salvation of men should arise from their fleeting breath. 'Tis possible for them (as, with too many, it is to be feared is the case) to tinkle like a cymbal, and afford a pretty tune; and 'tis equally possible, for people to go away vastly delighted, with the jingle of their sound or the cadence of their words: But follow them home, examine the influence of all upon their lives, and there it will be perceived, whether or not the sense expired with the sound, and whether they only remember (what people remember of oratorios) that it was all very fine, elegant, and charming. There is a deal of this sort of diversion in modern profession; and two many appear to estimate the state of their souls, only by the quantity of religious amusement, which they can procure for them. But, with respect to the life of God, or any experimental knowledge of his word; they know no more of it, upon examination, than their horses; nay will do, what their horses cannot, revile and blaspheme it. This is no novel, though plain comparison: It is as old at least as Isaiab, who gives it even in blunter

terms. Is. i. 3.

As it would be a wonder indeed, if men by their voice could raise the acad in sin; so the wonder ceases, when we find that it is the Voice of God, which causeth sinners to arise, and walk, and live. This Voice, being the power of the Godhead carried forth into external act, is an omnipotent or irresistable Voice. He no sooner reached the auditory nerves of Lazarus in the grave, and He reached them (for surpassing the velocity of material sound) in less than a moment, than those nerves felt and heard in that individual instant, though but, in the moment before, they were actually dead. He was not the mere sound of the words, Come forth; but the vivid life and energy, under the emblem or medium of that sound. In like manner, his written word, though given from him and agreeable to his will, is not bimself, as some heretics have imagined; but plain letters and symbols of sound, expressing sacred truths, which then have their force, when this Holy Spirit breathes into them, carries them like a shaft into a sinner's heart, and clothes them with his living power. A man might read the Bible from morning to night, and from January to December; but, unless this Spirit enlighten it, be the man as learned in other respects as he may, it will be a book sealed, and, in its most important matters, really unintelligible to him. It hath been so to learned Rabbies, as well ancient as modern, in whose tongue it was written, and who have had some outward helps, which the present learned among the Gentiles have not. And what was the gospel to

them? Nothing but a mere stumbling-block; all wood, and nothing good. To the learned Greeks, who were the most acute, ingenious, and scientific of all men, it was altogether foolishness, or (in polished modern phrase) "cant, enthusiasm, nonsense." They sagaciously thought, for instance, that the resurrection, which St. Paul preached, was (like fear and paleness among the Romans) a new or strange God; and as to the doctrine of a crucified Saviour, they scouted it as the most ridiculous babbling or stupidity. It was, and is, an hidden wisdom, which, as man is by nature too blind to see it, and yet too conceited to own this blindness, he profoundly calls by the name of fally, that he may run it down, if possible, by an ill name. He succeeds in this attempt, perhaps, in the present world; but loses himself by it, for the world to come.

To the people of God in all ages and nations, this Voice of God is full of life and energy. He calls them from the night of nature and the death of sin: And his calling is effeetual for this end. He emits, not only word, but power in the word, which the dead hear and feel, and, by feeling and hearing it, live. This Voice, imparting life, collects all the heirs of life, and gathers them into one, under one head, Christ Jesus. They are the called according to his purpose. Hence they derive their general name of borp and early ora, in the Old and New Testaments; i. e. the Church, which consists of "the whole company of faithful people," who are called together in one body, by this glorious Voice. The Spirit called, the Spirit gathered them all, and will do so, till the number of those be complete, whose names are written in beaven. This shews, that the calling of God, originating both as to purpose and exercise in himself, is both unfrustrable and without repentance; and that the salvation of the called depends upon the effectual working of bis power, and not their own.

As this Voice speaks life into the people of Christ; so it bears continual witness for him in their hearts and lives. He keeps their hearts, that they might not fail: He orders their lives, that they may not depart from him; and he gives them all the holiness they have. This voice explains the world of Christ in all things, draws the effections after him, keeps faith alive and active upon him, preserves from wrong apprehensions of him, discovers more and more of his glary, and finally brings the soul to everlasting communion with him.

This blessed voice teaches the children of God to cry, Abba, Father: He gives them utterance, and adds power to the sound, This voice speaks in them, when they pray and praise; not in the clatter of mere words, but in the deep and fervent

Vol. II. G g

devotions of their souls. He also speaks for them before the throne; and is their advocate, in conjunction with the Saviour, in the holiest of all.

This voice opens to them the mysteries of the kingdom, and enables their souls to rejoice in the glories of the world above. He speaks understanding to their minds, affording them a right conception and a true experience of his holy word. This word, without Him, is a lock without a key; an unintelligible cyphering for the most part, which the unassisted wit of man can never explain.\* He yields the rich sense, rather than the nicety of words, to the soul; and enables it, not only to read a naked account, but to taste the sweet savour of eternal life revealed in his book. Nor does he teach them to impose a sense, or to make allegories, for the word is fixed and the prophecy sealed; but explains the sense already laid down, and the allegories before established, to their believing minds. Hence, they see an analogy in the Book of God, which others do not; and discover, by degrees, that it is not a "rude and indigested mass" of various matters, but a complete and beautiful arrangement of grace, love, and peace, from beginning to end. It flows from one great fountain of truth, and, in its several streams, rolls the Water of Life through the whole city of God.

This Voice condescends in all his tuition to our capacities, and speaks the things of God in the language of man. He descends to the poverty of our ideas, and enriches them from the everlasting treasures of his grace. When his people look to him for instruction, he is not a Bath-Kol, to daughter of s voice, as the Jewish dreamers have asserted; but he speaks to their hearts by his word; he enlightens their eyes to read it; and (as that word is made for all their possible circumstances) he enables them to read his answer in the sacred

<sup>\*</sup> The word of God was ever an anigma, or parable, to the world, and to carnal professors, who are but of the world. There is a spiritual sense, which runs through the whole law, the prophets, and the New Testament itself, which only is truly explained by the Holy Spirit, and which he does explain, in various measures, to the meanest believers; while the learned and great (in their own eyes) are sent empty away.—This is a grating truth to human pride; but a truth notwithstanding. Peter, the fisherman, knew this sense; when Gamaliel, the most learned doctor of the Jewish law, could not comprehend it. See more to this effect in Bishop Stillingfleet's Orig. Sacra, book vii. c. 7. and also, very excelently, in Spahn. Dub. Evang. vol. 1. p. 466.

<sup>†</sup> The reader may see a very satisfactory account of this pretended oracle, and of the sortes Virgiliane, with other stupid divinations, in PRIDEAUX'S Connect. vol. 11. b. 5. To which might be added, Wirs. Atics. Sacr. vol. 1. p. 18.

code. By his aid, this book becomes a true Encyclopadia, a circle of all spiritual science, a lively oracle, to answer all

the wants, longings, and ignorances of their souls.

And, if any word or words in these Essays, O reader, find a way to thy heart, and render thy soul the least aid or advantage; this glorious Voice, of whom we treat, and according to whose word, 'tis hoped, they are framed, hath alone spoken that aid or advantage to thee. Ten thousand volumes, all penned according to truth, and containing n thing but the truth, would not impart one ray of light, nor afford one drop of comfort, to the spirit, without this effectual help. How should this teach thee, then, to pray over what thou mayest hear or read; that thy time may not be lost in the exercise, nor thy soul go away dry without a blessing? For want of this, we hear such constant complaints among religious people, of their frames, their preachers, or themselves. There is no wonder in the case, that ordinances, prayers, sermons, &c. should not profit; because they are not mixed with faith in those who use them. They look up to men; who, as men, are barren trees. And what right have they, then, to grieve, that God doth not hear them, when they themselves do not listen to God? Can they expect, that He should comfort them on earth, while they do not look up to Him in heaven? Ought they to complain, that the Lord slights their desires, who attend not to his word in the nature or expression of those desires? If Abrabam, Moses, or St. Paul, were on earth; neither of them could give a spark of grace from themselves; and all of them would peremptorily point men to the Spirit and his word for that end. In vain do ministers preach even the truth as it is in Jesus to people, who are not taught by the Spirit of Jesus to look up to him alone for his gracious power and instruction. They may run from ordinance to ordinance, and yet go lean all the day long. They may be diverted (according to a strange fashion grown up in the professing world) under a sermon; their ears may be tickled with the wit, or the eloquence, and sometimes perhaps with something less than these; but their minds not savingly enlightened, their hearts not edified, nor the life of grace more established within them. O what deceits of sin and sinfulness have we in us, and about us! How little communion do we hold with our God, even in places devoted to that communion; and how much less, every where else !-Might not Christ ask again that awful question; When the Son of man cometh, shall be find faith on the careb ?-Reader, ask thyself, "shall be find faith in me?"

Attendance upon ordinances, uttering prayers, singing praises, or any other acts which the body can perform, considered in themselves, are not religion, though proper and ap-

pointed means, by which the Holy Spirit works to beget and support it. They are, therefore, rightly called means; for they are no more the end, than the scaffold is the building itself, which it is only constructed to raise. But true religion is that inwrought grace of God, which shews itself in faith towards Him, and goodness towards man; which enables the Christian to lean upon God as his only stay, to enjoy communion with him, and to give up body, soul, and all things, to his wise disposal; which invigorates his heart against the power of the world and sin, and which enlightens his mind to follow truth and to renounce every delusion and error, which may affect his salvation. In this blessed religion, there is life, light, peace, holiness, and all the fruits of the Spirit; because this religion is a creation, not of the animal nature, but of the Spirit alone. - When one considers this truth, and looks abroad in the world for some appearances of it; Alas! Where are they to be found! How many poor souls, under the most evangelical preaching for years, join in the prayers of others and make many long prayers themselves, constantly frequent every holy ordinance, and look with solemn faces on all the solemnities of the gospel; who never knew, and never enjoyed, the secret and divine experience of the religion of Jesus! If they are not ignorant of its form, or not cold and insipid in their manner; yet how many only get heated in their passions, or fervent in their animal trame, either by the affecting energy of a sermon, or upon the relation of some extraordinary occurrences in the world! And how many, when nothing but the old man has been stirred up in them, have funcied themselves, only from the violence of his emotions, deeply devout and religious; when, if they would examine the case, they might find perhaps that the same emotions might be raised upon any other occasion, or at the play-house. The voice of God, in his people's souls, is not thunder and bluster, but a still small voice, inducing a calm in curturbulent nature, and lifting us up, above that nature, into his holy rest. Thus, he that truly believeth, HATH entered into rest, and finds it within his soul. 'Tis not grace, but the flesh, which finds amusement in possession, Faith doth not go to ordinances to pass away the time, or merely because it is right to go; but enters upon the holy duties with a sacred awe, considers in whose presence it acts, and looks, through the duties, for the blessings of strength and wisdom promised in the use of them. Unbelief, on the contrary, attends ordinances, not to edify but to stun conscience with a form of goddiness; to quiet a gnawing worm within, or to appear with a good face in the professing world without .- O the deceitfulness of the heart, which can draw metives of self-righteousness and self-complacency out of those

very duties, which were enjoined for the suppression of those principles within us! And how wonderful a business is it, in the view of so many shipwrecks about us, to be indeed a CHRISTIAN, and at last to get safe into the haven !- Believer, let this awful reflection preach to thy heart, that it is all of grace, from beginning to end, that thou art saved ; for surely, it speaks aloud, that nothing but gracious omnipotence could save thee, so long and so often, from the snares of the world, from the wiles of the devil, among the falls of professors, and from (what is a more dangerous evil than all the vest)-toine own self. O look up to this blessed Spirit. this eternal voice of heaven, that he may finish what he hath begun in thee, and that, after enabling thee to fight the good fight of faith, he may finally give thee the crown of righteourness, and bless thee among his chosen for ever and ever!

The VOICE of God is God alone,
Speaking his perfect will:
Angels are dumb before his throne,
And mortals should be still.

"Be still and know that I am GOD;"
This glorious voice commands;
And swift the universe abroad
In awful silence stands.

So when this voice divine affords
The counsels of his grace,
All heav'n is mute, because no words
His mercy can express.

-----

## SPIRIT OF WISDOM, &c.

POLLY came into the world by sin; and therefore, in the language of divine revelation, it is called by the same name. Moral turpitude and spiritual ignorance arose from one source; and, though we may distinguish them into acts of the body and acts of the mind, they are as closely allied as cause and effect, or even, in our present state, as the body and mind from which they proceed. The wickedness of folly, and the folly of wickedness, are terms perfectly convertible:

They mean the same thing, and in fact are the same. No wicked man is a wise man. The world may possibly consider him as such, because he may have craft and cunning; and so have the devils: But like them indeed he is a very fool, and will be found so to all eternity. He may possibly delude and bubble his fellow-creatures; but while he is doing it, he is laboring to cheat himself into everlasting ruin: And the man, who commits this cunning folly, denies also the very being of God, in the strongest manner he can deny it, for which impudence of absurdity God calls him a stupid sinner, or a sinful fool, for his pains. Psalms xiv. and liii. If he could get the whole world by his industry in this way, our Saviour says (in almost so many words) that he would be an eternal loser: And what a wretched mistake then, must be commit, who throws away his soul for less than the ten thousandib part of that world?-Yet every man commits this very mistake, who, leaving God, hunts after the earth as his pertion, and becomes the identical person of whom the Lord speaks in the text just mentioned; because his beart and life, which are stronger evidences than his tongue, agree to say-There is no God.

The original word ;; from whence the words for folly, &c. are derived, is very expressive, and plainly points out how this evil came into man, and how odious it is, both as to cause and effect, in the sight of God. It signifies to fall away, slide, or flow off, and alludes to the woeful fall of Adam. It means, likewise, as a consequence of that fall, to be weak, languid, cut off from nourishment, as leaves are by falling from their tree. Nor does the fulness of the word stop here, but carries on its idea into the effect of all this, viz. to make or esteem vile and loatbsome, as a putrid substance is to the outward sense. Hence, a dead carcase, which every body knows was unclean and abhorred among the Jews, receives its name. Lev. v. 2. This very name for the corrupt carcase is also the word which God hath used for the expression of vileness and abomination. The very same word likewise is employed to convey the true notion of folly, which at best is insipidity, and so opposed to wisdom which is derived from tasting, and in conclusion becomes (like all insipid and unsalted matters) filth, rottenness, and corruption. By all this, as well as by express phrases and passages of Scripture, we may perceive, how senseless and abominable at once all sin and corruption

are in the sight of an holy and all-wise God.

By man came sin and folly, and death or the dead carcase, into the world; all expressed by one word, which imports whatever is stupid, and insipid, and hateful, and loathsome. In opposition to this, God hath used another word, mean, wishom, which does not mean mere naked intellect, but that capacity

of the soul, employed and engaged upon mental objects, which perceives, tastes, relishes, and consequently knows assuredly: as the faculty of sensation, which our palates have, tastes and distinguishes with certainty the sweet or bitter qualities of food, or other substances.\* By the fall, our nature was cut off from the life of God, became insipid, foolish, sinful, and in one word, spiritually dead and losthsome, without capacity to taste, without wish for that capacity, and without any emotion of bunger and thirst after rightcourness or spiritual wisdom, which might discover the least true symptom of life. For creatures in this state, divine mercy, with equal love and power, contrived the means of recovery. A person in the trinity would assume the human nature, to make a satisfaction for sin, to remove every cause of separation between God and man, to give a title toman for the heirship of God, and to render to God the glory which his justice required from man. Another person in the trinity promitted, and so became the Spirit of promise, to renew the spiritual life in the heirs of salvation; to endue them, in consequence, with the mental capacities of tasting, and seeing, bow good the Lond is; to carry on and support this gracious life through their pilgrimage here; and to fit, ripen, and introduce them, for and into the kingdom of glory. This operation of the Spirit proceeds in a mode analogous to the animal nature; and gives the first symptom of its quickening power in the soul, by creating bunger and thirst for spiritual food (which food is the sincere or unadulterated milk of the word;) by bestowing a faculty to taste and delight in this food; by imparting strength to concoct and digest it, so that growth may be attained thereby; and, finally, by carrying on the whole mosnomy of grace, till the soul bath obtained its proper fulne s of stature in Christ. This is the great work of the Spirit. Its leading effect in us is this wisdom or tasting: And because He is the cause and operator of it, He hath revealed himself under the name of the Spirit or Wisson. Hunce, every one, whose soul is convinced of the lack of wisdom (James i. 5.) which is spiritual hunger and thirst, and one of the truest signs of real life, may know where to apply for it. He is to ask of GOD, who giveth liber illy and upbraideth not; and, by obeying this precept, he grows to the full and experimental conviction that this Spirit of wisdom is the God of all wisdom, and that, according to his name, it is his office to give and grant the wisdom of grace, and the grace of wisdom, to all his people. They obtain the wisdom of grace, which puts them upon seeking salvation; and then they grow

<sup>\*</sup> Even Cicero could say; Non enim paranda nobie solum, sel frunda supientia est. De finio. 1. i.

in the grace of wisdom, which enables them to discern, what doth or doth not belong to that salvation. By him, they are thus made wise, however ignorant or simple in other respects, to the true ends of their being .- That this great agent is God, will more fully appear, by an argument founded on Scripture, and by the considerations which follow it.

The Spirit of wisdom and revelation was to be given, in or for the knowledge of God or of Christ, that, the eyes of the understanding in believers being enlightened, they might know the hope of his calling, the riches of his glory, and the exceeding greatness of bis power. Eph. 1. 17, &c. All which is confirmed and expressed in other words, but more at length, by the same apostle, in 1 Cor. ii. 11, &c. 1 Cor. xii. 8, &c.

But it is Senovan, or God, who giveto this wisdom, and who teacheth to profit in this understanding; which is proved, at mong many others, from the following Scriptures: Prov. ii. 6.

Ps. xciv. 10. Is. xlviii. 17. Dan. ii. 20-23.

Therefore, the Spirit of Wisdom is Jehovah, or God, the SPIRIT.

In the former Volume, that glorious climax in the prophecy of Isaiab (ix. 6.) was considered in proof of the divinity of the great Redeemer: And a climax equally glorious may now be treated of, which the same evangelical prophet has delivered to us from God, respecting the Spirit's divinity. The words are in the xith chapter, and 2d verse. Christ was called Curist, because he was anointed by the Spirit: And here we shall see the nature and effect of this unction. The Spirit of Jebovab shall rest upon bim, the Spirit of wisdom and understanding, the Spirit of counsel and might, the Spirit of knowlege and fear of Jebovab. We will briefly take each of these titles in their order, with some others which have an immediate relation to them, only premising (what has more than once been already observed,) that they are all names, assumed by one and the same Spirit, to enable us to conceive the several effects of bis operations in the soul, and not the manner of his own existence which is ineffable. I Cor. xii. 11.

He calls himself the Spirit of Jehovah, or the Spirit IEHOVAH, because he would impart the knowledge of his divinity, and make us know, that his attributes are the attributes of the Godhead, that He is self-existent and eternal, and that, therefore, all his operations being divine must be sure, permanent, and indefeasible. In this view, he has been considered in a former Essay; and therefore we shall pass on, and enlarge only in the present attempt upon those names, which may not be treated of more distinctly elsewhere.

The Spirit or Wisdom, or Spirit Wisdom. We are all rendered brutish and foolish by the fall. The ox knoweth bis owner, but we know not ours; and the ass bis master's crib;

but we are insensible, and walk insensible of our dependence upon God for the gifts of providence and grace: We do not know by nature, nor by nature do we consider or understand. The Spirit Febovab in his office of grace is the Spirit of wisdom; the very power, essence and life of wisdom; to restore to his people both life and those faculties which attend upon life, in bungering, thirsting, tasting, and enjoying the word of grace, the gospel of the kingdom, and finally life everlasting. This kind of wisdom is not to be raised by the intellect or industry of man or any other creature; for it is life, strength, a faculty, which enters into the very composition of the soul, and is the very principle of its spiritual being and welfare. It is from above, and leads the mind to things above. It delivers the soul from the vanities and fooleries of time and sense, in proportion to the force of its operation; and gives it that true relish of unseen and invisible realities, which causes the possessor to thirst for them, as the bart panteth for the water-brooks, and to count every thing else, as trash or dirt in the mouth, in tomparison of them. Nor is this relish given in vain; for God never creates faculties but for their suitable objects. By having a power to taste, the believer comes to possess the spiritual wisdom which is to be tasted; for as men, in the animal sense, partake of what they taste according to the quantity received, so Christians are partakers of this divine nature or wisdom, according to the measure of their several capacities. They do not taste this food, to cast it away; but receive it into their own frame for its very life and sustenance. Hence, this wisdom seems placed as the foremost of the Spirit's divine operations; because it is the basis and ground-work of all the rest.

The Spirit of Understanding, or Binan. By this we are to understand a farther progression in the divine life, which the Spirit worketh in the soul. He brings it to a true judgment and discernment, respecting himself and all neces-

sary truths.

The Spirit of Counsel. Christ was called the Counsellor; and here we perceive the reason. The Spirit rested upon him without measure. He was filled with the fullness of God; and in him it dwells. Through Christ (for the Spirit worketh all in and through him, and is, therefore, among other names, called the Spirit of Christ) he is the Spirit of Counsel, and counsel in essence to ensure his counsel, to all the redeemed. His counsel, with respect to the persons in the divine nature, is the counsel of the everlasting covenant, and is therefore called, in Zech. vi. 13, the counsel of peace, its object being to restore peace between God and man. Vol. II.

Thus, the covenant and the counsel are alike everlasting Ps. xxxiv. 11. And, with regard to the redeemed, his counsel is the manifestation of their interest in that everlasting covenant, and the demonstration of their right to all the benefits which it ensures, It seems to be the very same, as to the enjoyment of believers, with the manpocopia, or full assurance, of the New Testament: And, accordingly, it enters into all the conclusions and energies of the spiritual life, in its progression and approach to glory. The believer is led by the Spirit, under this character, into all truth, not as notion but reality: And this Spirit, in the use of his word, gives him the evidence of spiritual sense (if the term may be used) respecting divine things, preserves him in consequence from the fallacies of error, and opens to him brighter and brighter views of his everlasting inheritance. This is energetic counsel, not mere naked advice, which may be taken or let alone. For the Spirit is in it, enlivens, engages, and effectuates the whole, beyond the resistance of the animal corruptions, or all the oppositions of men or devils. Hence, this Spirit may

well be styled,

The SPIRIT OF MIGHT. He was so in Christ; and, therefore, Christ is called by the same name גבור Mighty, in Isaiah The Spirit is the Spirit of Might; because there is no might, but by him. Not by might, nor by power, but by my SPIRIT, saith the LORD of Hosts. Zech. iv. 6. He is the Spirit of Might to the redeemed; because sin, in robbing them of their spiritual life, left them without any spiritual strength. Rom. v. 6. Throughout the Scriptures, in this respect, they are described in the condition of a dead carcase-without sensation-without capacity-without the power even to wish or to will for power. In their regeneration, this Spirit exerts his might, quickening them from the death of trespasses and sins, & enabling them (like the dry bones in Ezekiel) to rise, stand up, and walk. Nor is this all. He works all their works in them. He gives strength to act grace, to grow in grace, and to put forth the fruits of grace. The believer has no spiritual life or power, separate from this Spirit; but being in communion, nay in union itself, with him, he is invigorated to do all that is truly done for God, by the effectual working of his power. This is an inestimable privilege; because operations, so performed, have spirit, life and value in them, cannot be lost or perish, but must be acceptable to God through Christ Jesus for ever. And these are the good works, which the Spirit himself says do follow his people into glory. Rev. xiv. 13. The natural man laughs at all this. He thinks himself mighty enough in his fallen nature to do "works pleasing and acceptable to God;" and, though he cannot keep one single thought in his head without fluctuation for one

single minute, he presumes, that he can fix for himself an everlasting foundation beyond the skies. But a trial will come upon all these natural powers; and then will be funilled the words of the prophet; The youths shall faint and be weary (those who promised to hold out the longest, and the young men, (the choicest and the strongest of all) shall utterly fall. Is, xl. 30.

The Spirit of Knowledge. The word rendered knowledge, in this place, has a very full and comprehensive idea, and includes the whole experience of the children of God. It consists in knowing, by a sensible enjoyment of the thing known, and it particularly refers to the enjoyment of God and the things of God, by communion with him. By this Spirit, as the Spirit of knowledge, a man is led to know and to estimate bimself aright, as well as to form a just value of all other things. By this he is led to know experimentally, whatever he knows, concerning the objects of salvation. An apostle, and the most learned of all the apostles, humbly professed; Of myself I know nothing. After such a testimony, it must be no moderate arrogance in any other man to pretend the ability. And yet, there are people at this time, and there have been people at all times, who suppose, that, from first to last, they are the immediate and express agents of their own salvation, and who contradict, by that supposition, the terms, the phrases, the analogy, and agreement, of the whole book of God. Scarce any presumption, for instance, is more common, than that it is in every man's power to repent, when he pleases, as often as he pleases, and as long as he pleases: And, accordingly, we have volumes upon volumes written, and sermons after sermons preached, to strengthen that presumption. But where is the effect, and what? Who is converted by these unscriptural discourses to God? Who learns from them to detest and avoid sin, to be heavenly minded, or to be weaned from the world? Do the writers and preachers themselves?-It is tender ground: Let them ask their own hearts the question. God's word, however, holds out a very different sentiment concerning repentance. The term uslavora, which implies the repentance unto life, is used in the New Testament to express a change of the mind,\* and points out, by an easy implication.

<sup>\*</sup> The word DTD signifies this change; and it also signifies consolation: Possibly because this repentance leads to all consolation, and is never to be repented of. There is another word DTD, which is translated to repent; but it means rather to be converted; as when a person has gone wrong into a way of trouble and sorrow, he is turned back or restored to a right path of peace and quietness. The apostle Peter hath used the sense of both words in Acts iii. 19.

how much the mind of man is turned from truth and reditude. To change it from this state of corruption, can only be the work of the Father of spirits. God only could raise a dead body: And can any being, inferior to God, quicken with life a perverted and dead soul? Repentance is a grace of the Spirit, effected in the soul by his own immediate agency, and carried on to its perfection in life eternal by his almighty power: And they, who imagine this ability in themselves (though they never found it there, nor saw it in others) only prove, that they know not the Scriptures, nor the power of God.

The last title, which the Spirit has in the text of the prophet is, The SPIRIT OF THE FEAR OF JEHOVAH. It has been well observed by a learned author, that " the word איז [whence יראה or יראה, translated fear] when it is used with relation to Cod, signifies every kind of religious duty, and worship both internal and external."\* Hence he observes, that יהוח יראת means the same with שנספר and בשסב בום, that is, the adoration of God, and piety. The word reverence or veneration, more aptly conveys the sense of the term used by the prophet in this view, and well expresses the final office of the Spirit in his people upon earth, which consists in making them meet, by all holiness, for his kingdom of glory. Much of this holiness lies in the religious actings and pious breathings of the soul towards God. It is indeed a careful and circumspect carriage of life outwards, and must be so; otherwise, there is nothing within, or at least nothing for comfort. But its chief energies are applied to the inner man, and are acted in him, very much out of the world's eye, often out of the eye of even gracious professors, and sometimes (especially in the hours of temptation) out of the believer's own eye. The purpose of the Spirit, in all seasons, whether light or gloomy, tried or not tried, is to bring the soul to that filial reverence dependence, adoration, and consciousness of God in Christ, both for time and eternity, which may render it fit for the beatific vision and full fruition of heaven. He induces all devotion, to effect devotedness. This is the SPIRIT's finishing work in the soul upon earth; and therefore it is placed last in the above text, that we might, as Christians, see, what the power of the Spirit was in Christ for us, and what through Christ his power is to be in us. In both respects, there is an inexhaustible fund of hope and joy; because Christ cannot be disap-

The reader may see a just definition of evangelical repentance in that excellent little tract, entitled, A sketch of the distinguished graces of a Christian; by the Rev. Mr. Gurdon. p. 44, &c.

<sup>\*</sup> SPANH. Dub. Evang. vol. 11. p. 276.

<sup>†</sup> The LXX have rendered יראת in the text by this word.

pointed of the fruit of his doings in his great work of redemption, nor the Spirit defeated in his purpose of applying that work to our benefit, and of fitting us for its full enjoyment .-O what news is this to the soul in distress, or to a soul going into eternity! Kingdoms, and empires, and a thousand worlds. are not to be mentioned with these superior glories-with glories, which cannot decay (as these do) but which shall grow more and more glorious through all the everlasting ages. O how has this prospect ravished the spirit of mary a departing Christian, and given him a taste of the unutterable bliss of heaven, before he could come there! How intense, yet sclid, the delight which he has felt-almost too much at times for the mortal frame; and, with what transport, has he proclaimed victory over death and the grave, and all the fears and apprehensions which swallow up the world!-Reader; canst thou pity the Christian in this state? If thou canst; well may he pity thee.

There are some other terms, applied to the Spirit, which are so immediately connected with this office of being Wis-DOM to his people, and seem to arise as so many branches from it, that they may properly be considered in the same Essay. Indeed, they may be looked upon as farther explanations, or presentations, of his divine agency to the mind; or as different or distinct views of the same magnificent object, in some particular respect or proportions. object is a whole; but, through the minuteness of our capacity, and the narrowness of our apprehension, we can see only one part, or one side, of this object at a time: And, therefore, these various displays should be owned, as so many merciful accommodations from God to our limited under-

standings.

ONE of the Spirit's gracious attentions to his people, is to be found in his title of GUIDE. The gracious promise is, that He shall guide them into all the truth. John xvi. 13. But, it may be said, that the same promise is made concerning Christ; and it may be asked if there be no confusion of the office? If the words are duly considered, it will appear, that there is no confusion, but, on the contrary, the utmost harmony in the case. Christ, as the day-spring, was to visit, give light, and guide our feet into the way of peace. Luke i. 79. In this last text, the word is xxlev devas, which signifieth "to direct by a right line" to some particular object: \* And it answers well to the title of the blessed Redeemer, Проворь. , forerunner, who laid down that right line, and first walked in it himself. The Old Testament has a correspondent word; but more strong and simple. The name אליף, leader, forerun-

<sup>\*</sup> LEIGH. Crit. Sacr. in verb.

ner, preceptor, is formed upon this idea; that as x (the first letter in the Hebrew alphabet) is the leading letter of the other letters, and the first element of all future science and erudition; so is the name, taken from it, applied to one who precedes, or leads up a train after him. Christ, therefore, calls himself by this very name, to subserve this important idea of his walking before us, and of entering first into the holy of holies for us. Rev. i. 8. I am Alpha.—But there is another word, used to express the agency of the SPIRIT, in respect to bis personal guidance. He is the odnyos, not merely as a forerunner, or as one that points out the way, but as our conductor and companion in it. The Hebrew word for this (as usual) expresses the doctrine more happily. Thou shalt guide me with thy counsel. Ps. Ixxiii. 24. The term in not only signifies simply to guide, but to guide with comfort and complacency, agreeable to the Spirit's office of Comforter and Spirit of Counsel. Thus in Isaiah lviii. 11. JEHOVAH shall guide thee continually: And the words, which follow these, express the happy effects of his guidance. There are some other passages, where this word is used to signify Jehovah the Spirit's comfortable guidance and support; one in particular at Exod. xv. 13—18. Thou in thy mercy hast led forth [thou hast guided powerfully in Christ] the people whom thou hast redcemed: Thou hast guided them [gently led, as a shepherd his flock | in thy strength unto thy boly habitation, or habitation of thy holiness .- Fear and dread shall fall upon them [the enemies] by the greatness of thine arm shall they be as still as a stone; till thy people PASS OVER, O LORD, till thy people PASS OVER, which thou hast purchased, or possessed. Thou shalt bring them in, and plant them in the mountain of thine inheritance, the place, O LORD, which thou hast made for thee to dwell in, for thine own rest, in the sense of Eph. ii. 22.] in the sanctuary, O LORD, which thy hands have established: The LORD shall reign for ever and ever. This glorious passage includes the purport of the Old and New Testaments, the offices of Christ and the Spirit, the object and end of all grace and salvation. The people of God are said to be—redeemed—in mercy—guided powerfully, and gently led—not in their own strength, but in Jebovab's—to beaven; the earth not being the habitation of his holiness, because it is pelluted and cursed-all opposition to be nothing or in vain against them-while they pass over; which is doubled for a particular emphasis, and denotes, that they must be Hebrews in deed, as well as in name; and must pass, like Abraham, over the river, leaving all behind them for God; or, like the Israelites over the sea, quitting with Moses the world and its bondage-for they belong to another, being the purchase and possession of GoD-are to be bis babitation through the Spi-

rit-and, then, the Lord will reign in them and over them for ever and ever. According to this gracious promise, the Holy Spirit typically led them through the wilderness, by the pillar of cloud and fire. They moved as he moved, and followed wherever he led. He never left them till he brought them to Canaan .- This is a summary of the gospel and grace of God, and was given to lead up his people's minds, above the consideration of their present deliverance from Pharash and Egypt, to what that deliverance typified, and to what would be the end of their faith in him; namely, a present release from the curse and bondage of sin, and finally the consummation of grace in glory. It is a full answer to the miserable cavil, that the people of God in the Old Testament were to have nothing in view but temporal things: It is a rich promise to believers in all ages, that (JEHOVAH- Jesus having redeemed and purchased them by his blood and righteousness) JEHOVAH THE SPIRIT will guide them with comfort and safety, in the face of all their enemies, to his and their holy habitation .- O what a delightful theme is here for meditation and praise!-For meditation without anxiety, and for praise without end! How justly then do they, who have gotten the final victory, and are entered into rest, take up the barps of God (for even there, they have neither instrument nor skill of their own) and sing the song of Moses, and the song of the Lamb, saying, GREAT AND MARVELLOUS ARE THY WORKS, LORD GOD, ALMIGHTY; JUST AND TRUE ARE THY WAYS, THOU KING OF SAINTS! The song of Moses, and the song of the Lamb, are but two parts of the same glorious anthem: the one chaunting forth the prediction; the other, the accomplishment of everlasting truth: and they accord in one chorus, in one transporting, universal, thundering, HALLELU-JAH! The voice from beaven, the voice as of many waters, the voice as of a vast thunder, and the voice of these innumerable barpers, was only one great resounding voice of that perfect number of God's elect, who sing before the throne one blessed ode of thanksgiving, ever-new, though ever-lasting. Rev. xv. 3. and xiv. 2, 3. To all this, reader, the Holy Spirit is the heavenly guide. Art thou not ready to turn the psalmist's words into a prayer; May this God be our God for ever and ever, for time and eternity: May HE be our guide even unto death, and beyond it!

CONNECTED with this office of the Spirit, as the Spirit of Wisdom, is his title of TEACHER. Under this name, the prophet foel speaks of him, in ii. 23. Be glad, ye children of Zion, and rejoice in JEHOVAH your ALEHIM, for be bath given you לצוקה THE TEACHER OF, or FOR RIGHT-EOUSNESS; and be will cause to come down bo to you the rain, the former rain, and the latter rain, in the first, or chief (pro-

bably) of their season. The words cannot be translated into any other language, to carry their spiritual and important sense; as the original did to true believers, under the Old Testament. Our tongue can convey the notion of rain, the Spirit's emblem; but not, as in Hebrew, what the rain signis fies in the same word. This is a glorious prophecy, to the end of the chapter, concerning the divine Spirit. He is to teach his people; and his doctrine is to descend like a mus, a copious shower, which shall replenish with grace, or fall in its gentler influences, as the min, the early rain at seed-time, representing the instruction which is first imparted to the mind, and as the wind the latter rain at harvest maturing the corn, answering to that subsequent crudition, which ripens and fills the soul for the heavenly garner. Our translators. by rendering in the first month, seem to have made the text absurd; as though it said, both the former rain, and the latter rain fell in one month. But the former and the latter rain came down in months as wide asunder as October and March; and there is nothing said about month in the whole chapter. The natural image appears to be, that both of these rains shall fall in the prime or chief of the season; and the spiritual sense, that, these doctrines and instructions shall all descend in Him, and through Him, who is the head or chief of Jehovah's way of grace, and the head or chief of his own body the church; or that they shall be imparted in the very best time. The next verse, the 24th, treats of the consequent blessedness of the Spirit's descent through Christ upon his people: The floors shall be full of wheat, and the fats shall overflow with wine and oilthere shall be abundance of grace; and comfort and joy shall superabound. The following verse, speaks of the triumph over enemies, and the restoration by grace of what was lost by sin; and the two succeeding verses treat of the happiness, satisfaction, and joy, which shall be to God's people, and of the praise which they shall render him, in consequence of their sense of his presence in the midst of them, and of the assurance that they shall never be ashamed. After this follows immediately that celebrated prophecy, which St. Peter explains in the Acls, and which, in fact, is only a farther illustration of the verses above mentioned. They all belong to one

<sup>\*</sup> There is a similar prophecy in Hosea vi. 3. and symbols of the like kind are used in other places, which are to be understood in the same manner. Cocceius renders the above passage in Hosea; et veniet'ut imber nobis, ut serotina crudiens terram; " and he shall come like a shower to us, like the latter rain teaching the ground;" i. e. preparing it. The learned Hebraan aimed to preserve the double sense of the original, which the Latin and English will scarcely bear. See Psalm laxii. 5.

and the same prophecy, and afford a key to Deut. xi. 11. Lev. xxvi. 4. and several other passages of that nature. The office, and necessity of the office, assumed by the Holy Spirit, of the Teacher, is undeniably set forth in the end of this second chapter of foel, and set forth in such a manner, and with such dignity of circumstances; as, one would think, could leave no doubt in the mind of any candid and impartial

person, concerning the truth of his divinity.

Bebold (says Elibu) God exalteth, raiseth up the mind, by bis power: Who teacheth like bim? He teacheth, not like man with uncertain effect, but efficaciously, mightily, yea (if the word may be permitted) almightily. It is the glory of Jehovah, to give men real knowledge, and to teach them, with the utmost certainty, to profit: And it is as expressly the office of the Comforter, the Holy Ghost whom the Father hath sent in the name of Jesus, to teach his people ALL THINGS, John xvi. 26. and to guide them into all the truth. v. 13. Consequently, He is the true and very Jehovah, the

most mighty and omniscient GoD.

Let him, who hath the unction of the Holy One, look into almost any passage of the Bible; and he will see full and indubitable proofs of his great Teacher's divinity, every where expressed or implied. And he hath the witness of his tuition within himself. The word, and his own experience wrought by him who gave the word, answer, as in a glass, like face to face. He is led more and more to prize the words, not which man's wisdom teacheth, but which this Holy GHOST teacheth, comparing spiritual things with spiritual. By these words, the great TEACHER disciplines and instructs his mind, and often darts his communications of grace and knowledge, like a keen and irresistable arrow, into the inmost soul. He makes his doctrine enter into the very heart; and, therefore, the apostle calls it ζων, και ενεργης, και τομωθερος, living, and energetic, and more penetrating, than even the sharpest weapon, which is all edge and point-a two-edged sword. Hebr. iv. 12. God doth not deal in flashy expressions, which have great pomp and little meaning; but uses that internal vigor of sense, which language alone can never impart to the soul.

Sense in each word with power shines, And TRUTH through all the nervous lines.

In this way, he renders his people (however ignorant in wordly science) truly learned, and deeply wise: Not in the jingle and cadence of sounds, (the fribbled dress of literary coxcombs) not in puny and trifling criticisms upon such supposed elegances and polish of phrase, as are to be met with in human authors, who have, more or less, high words and low sense; not in comparing his holy Book with the trifling

Vol. II.

compositions of heathen poets and philosophers, nor in admiring passages, only because (like them) they charm the weakness of fancy, or the flights of imagination; not in measuring and moulding his revealed will according to the little low rules of human logic, rhetoric, or grammar, the mere efforts of mortal ingenuity: But in planting or imbuing their very spirits into those profound and momentous truths, which open the eternal affairs of an approaching immortality, and which are founded on the solemn declarations of a most holy and tremendous God. To a mind thus rightly informed, and preserved thus rightly in frame, which sees the glory, and feels the worth of these important things; how flat and jejune, how barren and poor, do the finest words appear, which only play (as it were) about the surface of the subject! How puny and insipid all comparisons of the excellencies in Scripture, with the tinklings of the classics, or the most labored performances of men! These indeed may serve to amuse, and, in natural things, may also serve to embellish and inform the mind; but, in the things of God, either by way of rule or illustration, they are perfectly out of season, order, and place. The utmost end they can serve, in this respect, is by way of foil, to shew their ignorance when opposed to the wisdom of heaven. In the spiritual temple, they are as profane and impertinent; as were, in the outward temple, those bold intruders, Antiochus, and Pompey the Great.\* Persons became holy, by having a real relation and right to the temple; and they did not expect the knowledge of divine things out of it. When I went INTO the sanctuar y (said David) then understood I, &c. In like manner; we must find divinity, and the true excellencies of divinity, in the Bible alone, which is the Christian sanctuary; we cannot compose them ourselves, nor obtain them elsewhere from others: Nor do they require human ornaments to recommend them, but their own native simplicity. " Many (says the learned Mede ) would have gold to be gilded, and find want of knowledge in the noblest piece of learning in the world." what would the men of taste say, if, in a picture of Christ with his apostles at the last supper, the painter should draw the figures with bags, swords, ruffles, and other trappings of men going to court? Would they admire his judgment? The beauty of God's word consists in its truth and relation to spiritual things: And the best representation of that word, in human language, is what most discovers this relation of eternal truth and draws back the veil from before it. Hence, men must pray, as well as read; or they will find words instead of things: They may adjust or admire the cadency of

<sup>\*</sup> Macc. v. 15. JOSEPH. Ant. Jud. l. xiv. c. 8.

the language, discover poetical flights, and respect the strength of the diction; but, with all these exterior circumstances which are but as tinsel to the gold which it cover, they may know nothing of those divine glories which irradiate and almost animate the book of God. If this method were pursued in studying theology, most of the heresies and errors which obtain among men, through ne ded or ignorance of that blessed book, would soon be exploded for futilities, which, under a shew of reason, contradict the first great reason in the world. At present, too many bring sentiments to the Scripture, instead of receiving truth from it; and because these sentiments will ever vary, and those who hold them are glad to catch at any thing which may support their respective opinions; they turn (as far as they can) the Bible into Bubel, and try to make it speak all manner of languages. Whereas, it contains but one great truth, whose root is in the God of truth; and all its several doctrines, phrases, and terms, are but so many branches growing out of it, which have a natural

relation and resemblance to each other

There are several other titles, ascribed to the Holy Spi-RIT, which have a very near relation to these here considered; but we should carry this Essay into a volume, if we attempted to treat of them all: And, therefore, the last which shall be adduced in this connection, is his name of MAKER, FORMER, FASHIONER, OF FRANER. Our translation unhappily uses these terms in an indiscriminate manner, for one and for other words in the original, which, though they have a relative signification, are certainly not the same, and are sometimes applied in very different senses. We will take the principal of these which are usually rendered Maker or Former; and, by the natural, endeavour to explain its spiritual idea. A text or two will help us in this. Isaiah xlv. 18. FOR THUS saith JEHOVAH, that Ene created (out of nothing) the beavens, the Alenim bimself that is (formans) formeto (mouldetb according to his will) the earth, and שנות (faciens) maketh (arranges its perfect frame and order) even be mine establishes it lines it firmly and unalterably in its whole arangement:) He created it not in vain; he formed it to be inbabited: I am [EHOVAH, and TIPE without end of my duration or power. Let the verse, preceding this, be considered; and it will appear, that all this testimony of God relates to specitual objects and matters of salvation, and that the present verse, with its illative particles כייכה, For Thus, is iatended for a confirmation of the other verse, which it could not be unless that verse had a spiritual meaning also. The following paraphrase may possibly explain the whole. "Israel hath not been called to my knowledge in order to perish. but shall be saved in JEHOVAH with an everlasting salvation: Ye shall not be ashamed nor confounded world without end. For thus shall it be in your spiritual creation, as it was in the natural; I the ALEHIM, God in covenant, brought the world and you both out of nothing; I gave you a new creation from amidst the destruction of sin. I have endued you with gracious capacity, as I did the earth with beautiful form. I have arranged all things in you and for you; as I have arranged in perfect order all the universe of matter about you. I, even I, have so fixed all these blessings of salvation, that, like the world itself, they cannot be moved, shaken, or frustrated. Nor have I bestowed all this cost and care in vain; for, as I have formed the earth to be inhabited, so have I formed and fitly framed you to be an habitation of Jebovab through the Spirit. I, who pronounce this mighty promise, am Jebovab himself, to whom there is no bound of will, time, or power."-Another text, which must be understood in the same way, may be cited from the same prophet to confirm this important testimony. Isaiah xliii. 7. God's people are to be brought to his salvation from all parts of the world: Not one is to be left, but all are to be gathered; even every one (says the Lord) that is called in my name [God's calling is an effectual calling in Christ] and to my glory: I have created bim, I have formed bim (or moulded him to my will), even I bave made bim, or disposed him to such a frame of mind, as is necessary for his salvation. There are several other passages, and particularly in this prophecy, which mention the power and love of God in forming his people, and which are to be understood in no other than a mental or spiritual sense. See also Zech. xii. 1.

And wherefore shall none of these fail; and why shall none of the redeemed be left? - Seek ye out of the book of the LORD, and read: No one of these shall fail, none shall want ber mate; for my Mouth [Christ] bimself bath commanded, and bis Spirit bimself bath gathered them. Is. xxxiv. 16. There is an almighty efficacy in Jesus to redeem, who is the mouth and word of the mouth for Jehovan to his people; and there is an equally omnipotent power in the Spirit to collect and gather together in one [that is, CHRIST] all the children of God that are scattered abroad. Compare John xi. 52. with Eph. i. 10.—And who is sufficient for these things, but He, who is all-sufficient? Who could do this great work, but that great God, who can do every thing? And if all this be through the operation of the Spirit; what bold creature can presume to question his divinity, or call into doubt the efficacy of his creating power?

HOW wonderfully suited are all these offices of grace to the condition and wants of the redeemed? In this gracious Spirit, through Christ, there is an adequate supply for every possi-

ble occasion and circumstance of their souls; and in his holy word there is a full and positive direction, under each of those possible circumstances, to that supply.—They were sunk in sin and folly, and loathsome in the sight of incorruptible holiness: There is the SPIRIT OF WISDOM, given thro' Jesus their covenant head, to renew them to life, and to recover them from ignorance and insensibility .- They are situated in a world of error, and have ten thousand attacks made upon their minds by the sophisms and fallacies of a carnal nature, of carnal men, and of evil Spirits: The Holy Ghost is the Binab, or Spirit of Understanding, to give them a right judgment and true discernment in spiritual things; so that they shall not be beguiled of their reward by any enticing words. Col. iii. 4, 18 .- When they have obtained faith; it is their privilege and duty to seek the full evidence and comfort of their faith, that they may hope to the end: The Holy Spirit is the SPIRIT OF COUNSEL to work this demonstration and clear preception in their souls, so that believing they may rejoice with joy unspeakable and full of glory .- They are naturally without strength, and have no spiritual power of their own; and, when grace is given and an opportunity occurs, they have no ability of themselves to exert it for any just and gracious purpose: The Comforter is the SPIRIT OF MIGHT, and worketh mightily in their inner man, enabling them both to will and to do of his good pleasure: He suffers none of his to be barren or unfruitful; and he not only inspires them with readiness to do every good word and work, but he ordains even the works themselves, and affords his people strength so to perform them, as to render them good in reality, with respect to God and man: He allows none that belong to him to take up the form of godliness in their lips, and to deny the power of it in their lives .- They want experience and establishment in the truths of salvation: He is the Spirit of that KNOWLEDGE and experience, and exercises their minds to endure bardiness as good soldiers of Christ, that they may conflict with their enemies, and become at length conquerors, and more than conquerors, through him that loved them. They ought to be devoted to God in heart and life, should walk as in his presence, and should be prepared for his eternal fruition: This holy One is the SPIRIT OF THE FEAR OF THE LORD to effectuate and establish these heavenly principles in their lives and souls .- Further: They were not only ignorant, but out of the way: He is the Guide, to bring them again into the right way, to walk with them in it, and to conduct them safely to their journey's end .- They need constant instruction: He is their sublime TEACHER, who will make his doctrine descend as the dow, and his lessons of grace, like

the early and the latter rain, in due season: He will water them every moment; so that they shall spring, and grow, and bear fruit abundantly to his glory.—As they could not create themselves anew; so likewise they cannot frame and prepare their own souls for the evertasting mansions: This blessed Spirit, therefore, is the Former, Maker, Fashioner, and Preparer of all their spirits for glory, as well as glory for them: All his dispensations, providences, teachings, and supports, concentrate in this one great end, that they might be eternally saved, and that God in all things may be glorif-

ed through Christ Jesus.

From these considerations, the dignity of the person, who executes these amazing operations in myriads of souls at one and the same time, and at all times as well as in all places, without intermission or end; and the vast importance of the operations themselves, in the bliss of such innumerable multitudes and in the glory of God; may evidently appear, and perhaps cannot but appear, to any unprejudiced or awakened mind. But, however, to guard us (as it were) against a contrary conclusion, absurd as the conclusion is even in reason, as well as repugnant to Scripture; God hath given such a positive testimony of the divinity of his Spirit in this case, as ought to silence the most audacious tongue. He himself calls this Spirit, as his first and leading name of nature, the SPIRIT JEHOVAH; thereby declaring, that he is able to perform all the stipulations and promises of the everlasting covenant revealed to his people, and that they are to look up to him for the performance of them, both in time and eternity. Of whom, beside this Spirit, is the following glorious declaration (to mention no others) given to the church, which contains his particular agencies for her? Hast thou not known? bast thou not heard, that the everlasting Alchim Jehovah, the Creator of the ends of the earth, fainteth not, neither is weary? there is no searching of his understanding .-He giveth peace to the faint; and to them that have no might, be encreaseth strength; even the youths shall faint and be weary; and the young men shall utterly fall: But they that wait upon the LORD shall renew their strength; they shall mount up with wings, as eagles; they shall run and not be weary, and they shall walk and not faint. Is. xl. 28, &c. Compare thee operations with the Spirit's titles in Is. xi. above recited; and see whether they do not answer as precisely, as the name of any agent, and the agency signified in the name, possibly can do.

AND now, reader, what says thy heart to all this? Canst thou receive it, not only as true, but (what is almost as important, at least to thy state) true to thee? Hast thou any sayour of these blessings; and are the names and offices of

the Spirit, who bestows them, as ointment poured forth? Art thou led into the experience of these doctrines; and are not the doctrines themselves reviving to the sout!——It must, it will be so, indeed. Thou wilt be ready to break forth with the psalmist; How precious are they thoughts, the whole counsel of the revealed will, unto me O God! How great is

the sum of them!

If thou hast been truly convinced of thing own ignorance and the want of spiritual wisdom; nay, what is more, or the want-of capacity to attain it, and the inability of all the creatures to confer it upon thee; thou art convinced also, that the Setrit of Wisdom can bestow it upon thy soul, and impart the power to exercise it, when bestowed. Thou hast seen, that this wisdom is not a wisdom of words only; that it doth not consist in fine sounds, but important sense; that it doth not speculate so much upon its properobjects, as taste and enjoy them; \* that it is an acquaintance with things, imperceptible indeed in themselves to the animal sense, but open and clear to this wisdom in the very spirit and purpose of them. In a word, they are the things of God, and not of men: And thou hast been taught the humbling lesson, that God only can bestow them upon thee. Finding, therefore, in the Scripture the full evidence of this truth, and in thy own soul the deep experience of its necessity; thou becomest entirely persuaded, that, because the Spirir is God, he both is, and is qualified to be, the Spirit of Wirdsm to thy soul, and to all the redeemed. He is equally necessary to thee, as to them; and a man must be credulous with a witness, was can believe that a creature is able to extend himself to myriads of other creatures; know their very thoughts; supply with perfect exactness, what is requisite for their respective instruction, strength, comfort, and life, through all the ages of time; and at length carry on the whole of their felicity to his own glory throughout eternity. He, that can believe such a monstrous proposition, rather than submit to God's testimony concerning his own Spirit, without whom (as it hath been proved in the course of these Essays) there is not one operation carried on either in the natural or spiritual world, and to whose divinity every doctrine of the gospel has a direct and indissoluble relation : cannot indeed be called an

<sup>\*</sup> The reader may find many gracious and excellent reflections of this kind in that admirable oration of Witsius, entitled, De vero theologo, which cannot be too much or too often read, especially by young professors of divinity. The elegance of the composition, great as it must be allowed to be, is nothing in comparison to that amiable spirit of evangelical truth and hollness, which breathes in every line.

infidel in a certain sense, but a very devoted believer in human authority in direct contradiction to the divine. He doubts of God's infallibility; but he swallows, by wholesale, the infallible omniscience of that stupendous reason which exalts itself against all that is called God, and denies the only Lord God and our Saviour Jesus Christ. "That person can very easily believe men in opposition to God (says Cyprian) who will not believe God in opposition to men." Or, perhaps (as some have done) they will make a merit of doubting upon every thing. It would not be an unfair question to ask these sages, Whether they do not doubt of their very doubts, and whether in doubting they are sure if they doubt at all. For, if they doubt not of their very doubts, they become believers in unbelief: But, if they do doubt of them, they are unbelievers of that very reason, which they pretend to admire, and by which they have acquired the whole art of doubting. Admirable sophists! who learn the knack of deluding others, by first playing the cheat upon their own selves .- To such mighty lengths can man's boasted reason lead him; and, though it be so depraved and short-sighted as not to be able to explain any one substance in the world as to the mode of its existence, nor yet to shew how a man's own spirit acts upon his own body, nor how so different a principle should be confined for any period of time to a lump of matter; it can arrogate to comprehend the incomprehensible, to define the indefinable, and to assert that God must be this and the other, while it knows nothing essentially of any one of his creatures. But this it reason, and sense, and wisdom: and, further, it is rational religion, natural religion, the religion of very great reasoners; who, above sixteen hundred years after the apostles, have made a wonderful discovery, that all the first ages of Christianity were involved in fanaticism and stupidity, without any rational ideas of religion, or any just conceptions of truth. And yet, without much presumption, it may be credited, that if some of these insmortal rationalists had lived in those early times, when "the blood of martyrs was the seed of the church;" their great reasoning faculty would have found out twenty arguments, why a man should not forsake all and die for Christ, for one, why he should. -But, when it is considered, that all this respect is paid to reason, in order to get rid of the Holy Spirit's agency in the minds of men, and, by that riddance, to prepare the way for something else; though one cannot admire the reasoning powers, or the arguments which are to effect this, one may be astonished at the effrontery of the artifice, which aims to overthrow all Christianity, and to put men exactly upon the level of the elder heathens. These certainly had as acute and strong understandings, as perhaps any moderns will pre-

tend to, in the discovery of divine things; yet they had so much modesty as to confess, that God was unknown to their faculties, nor was he an object to be discovered by them .-But, let these people but once prevail in exploding the necessity of the Holy Spirit's internal operations in the souls of men; or (what will finally amount exactly to the same thing) let them once gain credit to their assertions, that he is a creature, an emanation, a virtue, a name, or at most an inferior God; it is very easy to see, how they may demolish the whole Christian fabric, and put the gospel of fesus (as some already have had the boldness to do) upon the same footing with the Koran of Mahomet. As they set out upon a principle, which is diametrically opposite to the first great principle of the Bible, viz. THAT NO MAN CAN KNOW GOD, OR THE THINGS OF GOD, BUT BY HIS OWN REVELATION; it is no sort of wonder, that their deductions should contradict its sublimest truths. It could not be otherwise; partly because these truths were never the objects of reason, but of faith only; and partly because the minds of men are fallen and perverted, and consequently different from themselves at different times, as well as contradictory to the minds of others: And this is the surest proof, that can be, of the fallacy and imperfection of human reason, and in divine things especially. Were this duly settled, we should hear but little more of, what the world calls, rational religion, natural religion, &c. which are just as proper epithets to be joined with the word religion, as idolatrous, beathenish, &c. the notions to which these terms are applied, being alike the corrupted offspring of buman brains. They are altogether but impotent stretches to supersede or get rid of the Bible. But if the gates of bell cannot prevail in such an enterprize; the gates of earth (as hath been often the case) can scarce expect a better fate.-"Light of this sort (says Dr. John Edwards) is but the prologue to eternal darkness."

All this, however, may deserve the name of cunning which (as Lord Bacon calls it) is "crooked or left-handed wisdom;" but there is not one grain of true wisdom in the whole procedure. For since the Holy Spirit is indeed God, and since Jehovah himself hath declared this for a truth; the blasphemers of his divinity can have but a sorry account to make with him, when they present the sum total of their lives and sayings. There is a fearful text against them, which, it is presumed, "all the copies of the New Testament may have extant;" and which if they really believed to be of divine authority, one cannot call their hardiness very reasonable, though perhaps it may be very confident and daring. It seems a great stake to venture; and a man must have more courage than

Vol. II.

becomes a Christian, who, as such, dares to hazard any thing, rather than the saivation of his soul. But this sad hazard every man makes, who presumes upon the sufficiency of his own reason, either without or in contradiction to the revelation of God.

Though ignorance is certainly to be avoided, and that man is brutish who desires not to know; yet it is much to be lamented, that people of the finest parts, and those who have the greatest compass of human erudition, are most exposed to the infelicity of thinking highly of themselves, and of becoming dupes to their own vanity or the splendid fallacies of the human understanding. In proportion, as they can make these fallacies shining and specious (which men of wit and abilities are always capable of making, upon the wildest paradoxes and reveries;) they are the more liable to be ensnared themselves, as well as more dangerous in deluding others. Most of the arch-heretics were men of undoubted parts and accomplishments, as to the world: But they sought distinction by those parts, invented new opinions to create it, and at length became the victims of their own vanity and pride. It was a just remark of the excellent Philip Henry; " a head full of vain and unprofitable notions, meeting with a heart full of pride and self-conceit, disposes a man directly to be an atheist." Every body seems delighted with a polished style, the charms of wit, the refinements of knowledge, and that combination of distributed ideas which is the characteristic effort of genius; but every body does not see the danger which attends these illustrious qualities, not even those who possess them, nor how much more mischief they are the more likely to work (without superior guidance) and above all in spiritual concerns. None of these things are wisdom, or even branches of wisdom; because they are and have been employed by men, whom common sense must condemn, to the most undeniable follies, and for the most miserable ends. A wise man may possibly have them; and so may a fool. The world, it may be, will not call him by that name, who is so endowed; but be must be so, who knows not or neglects his true interest. The famous lord Rochester, the fineness of whose genius is undisputed, thought thus of himself, when he was brought to consider, with how little wisdom he had used that genius. And graver men than he, men possessed of the most uncommon erudition, have lamented at last the miscrable prestitution of their time to pursuits, which did not make them more wise and knowing for eternity, nor dispose them better for the enjoyment of it. Cyprian, a great and a good man, used to say, Give me the master, meaning his Tertullian: He had called more wisely, as Selden and some others did in their last days, for the Lible, the Bible ! nothing but the Lible!

263

Here alone is truth without error, or the danger of error; but fine parts and learning, though in themselves neither one nor the other, have often been engaged in the service of both. Error needs them much, to make itself plausible; but truth appears most beautiful, when stript of all ornaments but its own.

The wisest of men, or rather God by him, gives a strong caution, therefore, on this head-Lean not to thine own understanding; for be that trusteth bis own heart is a food. Prov. iii. 5, and xxxviii. 26. True wisdom, on the contrary, is simple, pure, and removed from the appearance of vanity, even in natural things: And the purest wisdom of all, which the Spirit of God communicates to believers, is still more so. This flows from God, who is all purity and simplicity: it is supported by him, to the contempt of that wisdom of fools-dissimulation and guile; it is carried on towards the enjoyment of a spiritual and everlasting interest, and it ends, where folly never can end, in the salvation of the soul. The meanest peasant, who can speak his own language but imperfectly, may through this wisdom converse deeply with God; not by the rules of grammar indeed, nor by rbetorical flourishes, but by (what is infinitely beyond these poor arts) the language of spirits, which God understands, the heart feels, and all heaven intimately knows. The grounings, which cannot be uttered, have an eloquence, which moves the courts of glery, and the very God of glory. There is a pathos in these, which finds all language poor, and, sometimes, leaving it as such, aims to convey itself by that vehemence of spirit and life, which the God of spirit and of life both loves and comprehends. Here, the unlettered clown, possessed of this gracious wisdom, soars beyond the learned and the wise of this world, keeps better company than they, talks a more noble language, enjoys more exalted and refined sentiments, feels higher sensations, has more just and generous gratifications, takes more extensive views, estimates the and time with better reason, meets death with more courage, and at length enters into glory (where the companison ends) with unspeakable triumph. This is bis wisdom; not radically, but imparted to him: And is it not the very same wisdom, which the most learned Christians desire, above all things, to ob tain? Most assuredly; for, in fael, there is no other. Nothing can be truly wisdom, which dotn not render a man hetter and happier for eternity. Where, then, shou we find this, except in the Bible? By whom shall we obtain this, but by the Spirit of wisdom? And what are they, then, who despise or reject both?-The answer is a harsh monosyllable in proud ears; and a man would not venture to utter it, the from something better than man's authority.

These considerations may afford some comfort to ignorance believers, who fancy themselves low in God's favor, becaus they are low in the reading of men's books: Nor can they give any just cause of offence to the most literary Christians. If these are truly enlightened, they see, that they must sit upon the same form with the meanest believers, must learn the same lessons from the same divine Master, and become fools, in the apprehension of their own sense and capacity, that they may be wise indeed. Both the one and the other are brought to be convinced, that there is but one wisdom, and but one way of obtaining it: They have also but one heart, under the divine impression, in the enjoyment of that wisdom. "He, who would be much with God (which is the only way of being wise) let him, says Austin, often pray over and read his Bible; for when we pray, we speak with God; and when we read, be speaks with us." These are the stated means of obtaining and improving in this wisdom. The temple of God is IN the believer; and, be his body wherever it may, his soul may be at church (as it were) all the day long, and so pray without ceasing. Here he may draw wisdom continually. In like manner, outward ordinances become truly refreshing, and (according to their name) means of grace: The grace and the means are together with him; and he glorifies God in both. They consequently increase this wisdom, and establish it to the end, through the blessing of the Spirit of Wisdom. For, as the wisdom is but words without HIM; He is the Spirit and Life to make his own wisdom real, and living, and spiritual, to all his people.

This Spirit will be ever known as the Spirit of wisdom, beyond the grave: When the faithful enter glory, they shall know even as they are known; not by the medium of sense or sensible objects, as in this world, but by an immediate communion with their God. In that pure and exalted state, the faculties of their souls, now fettered and loaded with matter, will doubtless have a manner of perception neither attainable nor conceivable here. They will see Christ as be ts, which now they cannot; and shall be for ever like unto bim, which now they are not. How they will maintain an intercourse with the spirits in eternity, we can at most but faintly imagine; but certainly by sympathies and attractions, devoid of all gross sensation and its mistakes or interruptions, and probably by that intuitive communication which good men often feel below, in the impressions of grace upon their When they are all spirit, and life, and holiness, it is impossible but that they must perceive and comprehend vastly beyond the most exalted sublimities imaginable here, and enjoy a scope of wisdom, which, however remote from the

infinitude of that attribute in God, will possibly be beyond all comparison with the highest measure of it in this life, and even there shall be growing through all the successions of the ages of eternity. The object of knowledge is infinite; and, therefore, the created faculties of knowing, be they never so immensely extended, will always be infinitely beneath it.\*

\* Though it may seem a digression from the immediate subject of this Essay, the serious reader will forgive a short reflection or two upon a point, which has often oppressed, if not depressed, many a serious mind; namely, the apparent insignificance and minuteness of its own being. But the dimensions of the soul (speaking after the manner of corporal existence) are not to be considered merely as commensurate with those of the body; for as the cogitations of the spirit of a man can act, and do exceedingly extend themselves, far beyond the measure and power of that material frame, which is its temporary seat and residence; so it seems highly probable, that, when the spirit is unconfined by gross substance, it shall be dilated and expanded at one time, or contracted and compacted at another, according to the measure and operations which God in his love may assign it. Yet all this may be ordered as much above the remotest approach to corporeity even in its glorified state, as the mode of our Lord's glorified body confessedly transcends all those present conceptions, which we are at present able to form concerning the mode of our own corruptible bodies. With respect indeed to the Godhead and his infinitude, all measures of being, so far as we are able to conceive of measures, may differ little as to him, however their magnitude or minuteness may strike We find, however, in Scripture, that Christ cast out of one individual man a legion of devils (Luke viii. 30.) and yet Satan himself, the prince of the devils, is said to work in the hearts of the children of disobedience; and, if to work in them, certainly to reside in or act upon them according to the mode and limited force of hisbeing. But if an evil and accursed spirit is capable of so much extension in himself, and of so diversified a capacity with respect to his powers; what have not we to believe concerning the spirits of just men made perfect, relative to the greatness of their glorified existence, and the vastness of their abilities to shew forth the praises of their divine Redeemer? What can be said against the enlargement of their powers, even like those of angels, to utter the wonders of his love, to worlds almost infinite in number and piace, and to beings of glory and power beyond all present conceptions of created nature? Who can doubt, but, if all heaven is to ring with the triumphs of Jesus Immanuel, that those, who have been the immediate occasion of his assuming that name and character, will be the happy instruments of declaring those triumphs to listening myriads throughout that unbounded region, and of finding new and new myriads to inform and commune with upon the blissful theme throughout eternity?-'Tis indeed a ravishing prospect. and lifts up the mind, above its present narrow scale of being and employment, to an ardent desire for the fulfillment of so much

How then, may the heirs of salvation rejoice in this unspeakable gift, and in the adorable Giver! How ought they to worship and glorify Him; who sought them, when they wandered out of the right way; who gave them eyes, to see at once their own error and his reclitude; who guided them constantly by is counsel; and who finally receives them to his glory! And how mayest thou rejoice, dear reader, if God hath had mercy on thee, and made thee one of this happy number! Thou wast, in time past, as a sheep going astray; leaving home for a wilderness, and the earth which God hath cursed, for the hell which God hath damned. Thou mayest truly say, with the antient Christian poet,

Gens & ego fui, perversa mente moratus.;

Which may be rendered,

Erring from God, and in perverseness strong, A heathen once I was, and erred long.

He brought thee to thy right mind. This Spirit of wisdom made thee, what thou wast not born,—a Christian; who, contrary to the common notion, is a person not to be known by his name, but by his nature. He began, by teaching thee thine own ignorance, and thine utter need of his help. He hath bent, not merely thy knees in prayer, but (what none but his power could bend) the stubborn tempers of thy soul. How often hast thou cried in secret; " Lord save, or I perish! I feel myself a wretched, blind, and worthless worm; without power to do good when I would, and without will to do it when I ought. I commit a thousand mistakes in my apprehensions, which I could not bear that men should know, lest they should esteem me for a fool; but they are all known to thee, even all my straying and my stupid thoughts; and shall I, can I presume myself to be wise in thy sight, or live without dependence upon Thee, O Thou Spirit of Wisdom, for tuition and guidance all my days? Adorable Comforter, I would renounce myself and all the fancied powers of my nature, and would roll all, without reserve, upon thy conduct and truth, now and for ever, through my covenant-head

blisfulness in itself, and of so much usefulness in a more exalted and extensive occupation. "O my soul (may the Christian say) though now thou seemest a mere atom or a contemptible littleness in the magnitude and immensity of the creation of God; yet be not dismayed at thine own meanness and insignificance, as though thou couldest be slighted or forgotten; for thy Redeemer is mighty, and, as he is the fulness which filleth all in all, so shalt thou be reised up, far above all earthly and contracted measures of existence, to be filled with him and to be like unto him for ever and ever!"

‡ COMMODIANUS, apud Cave Hist. Lit.

Christ Jesus!"-Thou canst look back upon such secret moments as these, and canst remember too, that these longings and resignations of soul did not pass away without some soken for good. At least thou wast strengthened, if not comforted, emboldened, if not lifted up, to go on thy way rejsicing. Go on, and prosper, blessed soul: The Lord is with thee. He is the faithful and true witness; and he neither will, nor can, consistent with his own word, promise, and oath, suffer so much as one hair of thine head to perish, or the least portion of his own grace to be lost. O with what peace art thou privileged to live; with what hope art thou encouraged to die! Death can make no change to thee, but what is for thy good: Death is not the end of thy nature, but of thy sin: Death doth not destroy the least true life, but consummates that life, which is everlasting, with everlasting glory. What a gainer then is the Christian by death! What profit is it for him to die! Say, then, "Leap, my soul, beyoud the utmost bounds of the everlasting bills;" spring upwards to him that made them; mount to God, Father, Son, and Spirit, JEHOVAH the Almighty! Thou hast said-Look to me and be saved-I look, and I long: I have waited for thy salvation, O Lord! Nor can I look, and long, and wait in vain. Thou hast kindled this holy fire, that the flame might rise upwards to thy glory, and warm my own heart beneath, and enlighten others around me. O pour thy sacred oil upon it, that it may rise higher and burn brighter, that it may illustrate thy praise and increase my joy, throughout eternity."-So be it! Amen!

## 

## POWER.

OD is pleased to convey to the minds of his people such notices of his divine nature, as they are able to know, or such as are expedient for them to believe, by a variety of names and attributes. No variety, however, exists in God, nor is there any difference in the divine perfections; for, as He himself is a pure, simple, and uncompounded being, all his acts and energies do necessarily flow in purity and simplicity, without division or separation. But, as our narrow capacities cannot duly or fully consider him in the mode of his existence; he hath vouchsafed to communicate the knowledge of himself, according to the mode of our existence, and, by presenting to us the distinctions in his attributes, hath ena-

bled us to reflect upon the attributes themselves, one by one. with that advantage and comfort, which we were not able to receive from an abstract view of the whole together. For though one attribute of God doth inseparably and actually include all the rest; yet we cannot understand it in this repect for our edification, which is the end God proposes in all the revelations of himself; nor can we unite the several acts of love, power, wisdom, mercy, truth, justice, &c. (as they appear to us) into one uncompounded act, according to the reality of its existence in the divine nature. We cannot do this even in his creatures. We cannot comprehend, respecting ourselves, how the five senses of the body unite with the reason, memory, will, and other faculties of the soul, to pursue or complete any one action; nor see all the colors, which are occasioned by the refraction of the same ray of light, without distinction or distribution as they are in themselves, by one application of our sight. When we think of God's justice, we are obliged to set it off (as it were) from his mercy; because, however the two attributes may exist (as they certainly do) in a perfect unity and without any distinction at all in him, we cannot conceive of their action in this way towards ourselves: We must look upon each apart, or we shall understand neither of them, and perhaps nothing right or clear concerning their importance to us. Our case is the same with all the other attributes; and if we attempt to conceive of them in any other manner, we find our minds bewildered in an inextricable labyrinth, and we feel nothing but amazement instead of knowledge. As our bodily eye cannot take into view all objects at once; so much less can the eye of our minds behold the infinite author of all objects. For this reason, the Lord suits himself to our apprehensions, and reveals the truths concerning his sublime nature in a manner, which bears the nearest analogy to our own. Man, in this respect, as well as others, might be said to have been created in the image of God; because, in his perfect state, he was to survey God after the similitude of himself, and to consider the mode of God's action to him, according to the mode of his own action in the world. He had a noble communion with his Creator for this end; but he lost it by his transgression, and then fell into that spiritual death, which had been threatened, and which involved his nature in darkness, error, and evil. His frame and constitution, however, were radieally the same: And, therefore, when God revealed himself for redemption, the mode of his instruction was accommodated, as before, to the natural capacity of the redeemed.

It seems proper to premise this to shew, that, as all God's attributes and perfections are one in themselves, or rather one in kim, so they are not communicable to any creatures,

nor act separately from himself. Wherever any one of God's attributes acts (speaking after the human conception of this sublime truth) there God acts: He is his own energy; and his energy is himself. He is not simply power, as we understand of an attribute carried out into act, but above power in himself, and is the being from whom whatever we know or can conceive of power primarily proceeds. The same may be said of all his other perfections. From hence it will follow, that to whomsoever these attributes and perfections are ascribed either by the testimony of God himself or of those to whom he hath revealed his will; that being is and can be no other than God. Otherwise the ascription would not be true: And God can testify nothing but truth. But these very attributes and perfections are ascribed by God himself, and by men inspired by him, to one person called the Son of God, to another person called the Holy Spirit, and to a third styled the Father; each of whom exercises those attributes, with relation to men, in a mode distinct from the mode of the others, or with expressions of their distinct and particular action. From whence it unavoidably follows, that these THREE Persons are respectively and essentially God; and vet, because of divine revelation and the simplicity of the divine nature, in a manner inconceivable by us, but ONE GODHEAD.

Among the other attributes, we may consider this of Pow-ER: And we shall find that this glory of the divine nature is ascribed as such to each of the divine persons, and that it is not and cannot be so ascribed to any creature. It is applied to each, as to an indivisible person in that one Godhead, who is pure act, essential power, and the first mover in all that acts or has power. There is no power but of God is an infallible axiom: And the times and the seaso is the Father bath put in bis own power, is an axiom equally undeniable. The Father, then, hath power, in a manner superior to all creatures. Christ also is set in the beavenly places FAR ABOVE ALL principality, and power, and might, and dominion, and EVERY NAME that is named, not only in this world, but also in that which is to come. Eph. i. 21. Now, if Christ be above and fur above all these, it will follow, that Christ hath a divine nature, and so is God; or else, that He is exalted far abo. e God bimself, because he is exalted above every name, or idea that can be raised, in the natural and spiritual world. Again, He is styled THE HEAD of all principality and power. Col. ii. 10. Rise as high as possible in the idea of rule and power, he is still the head or spring of them; so that there is no power or rule but of him: And, if this be not asserting his divinity, words can never declare it. The Spirit, likewise, is termed the Spirit of might; because of all power he is the

Vol. II. L l

very life and spirit, its energy and its act. Hence the apostle says, that the mighty signs and wonders wrought in Christ, or through Christ by his disciples, were wrought by the power of the Spirit of God. Rom. xv. 19. Acts x. 38. Luke iv. 14. Hence, Jesus himself said, with an asseveration of truth, He that believeth on me, the works, that I do, shall be do, and greater works than these [outward miracles] shall be do; because I go unto my Father. John xiv. 12. How is this possible? He explains it afterwards to his disciples, by revealing to them the descent of the Holy Gbost, the Comforter, the Promise of the Father, who would endue them with power, as the power from on bigb. Luke xxiv. 49. And this power was not only to be exercised in the outward miracles of healing the sick or raising the dead, but in the far greater and more difficult wonders of converting the soul and quickening the dead in trespasses and sins. This was the demonstration of the Spirit, who clothed his apostle's words with a power, which they had not in themselves, and which not all the creatures could give them; and from hence he is styled by the apostle the Spirit of Power. 2 Tim. i. 7 .- Let all this be considered maturely and impartially; and it seems almost impossible, upon the ground of the Scripture, for any man to deny, that the power so eminently ascribed to each of the three divine persons can be any thing less than the power of God; and that this ascription of it to them is one of the most forcible modes, which could be used, of expressing their proper divinity and glory.

The preachers under the Old Testament, who generally were the prophets, confessed that their knowledge and strength in their office came from the agency of God's Holy Spirit. Truly (says one of them) I am full of power by the SPIRIT OF JEHOVAH, and of judgment, and of might, to declare unto Jacob his transgression, and to Israel his sin. Micah iii.

3. Thy people (says another, addressing himself to Christ, shall be willing in the day of thy power; the peculiar day of which power was, when the Spirit of God and of Christ was

poured out upon his people after his ascension.

The apestles, under the New Testament, confessed the same truth with their elder brethren the prophets. Their hope of success and of salvation abounded through THE POWER of the Holl Ghost; and, therefore, they did not preach with the enticing words of man's wisdom, but in the demonstration of the Stirt, that their [hearers'] faith might not stand in the wisdom of men, but in the power of God; and hence God committed as one of them urged) this treasure to earther vessels, that the excellency of the power may be of God, and not of us. 2 Cor. iv. 7. Here the terms God and Spirit are reciprocated, and evidently predicated of the same person. The power of God and the power of the Spirit are also one

and the same thing, proceeding from one and the same space, and concluding to one and the same end. The man, who will not see this, shuts his eyes, and then has an excellent

cause to complain of the darkness.

An angel hath confirmed the testimony of prophets and aposiles, and declared, that the greatest blessing, which was ever shewed to the world, came by the supreme power of the Spirit of truth. The Holy Gnost (says he to the Virgin Mary) shall come upon thee, and the rower of the Highist shall overshadow thee; therefore also that holy thing, which shall be born of thee, shall be called the Son of God. Luke i. The POWER of the HIGHEST is characteristic of the agency of that divine Spirit, by whom all things were made, and who, as a person in the Godhead, is essential power. This text alone is sufficient to prove the divinity of the living Ghost, and is a two-edged sword against the opposers of the trinity. For, if the Holy Ghost be the power of the highest, as Christians believe; then is He true and very God, because he posseses the essential attribute of the Godhead: But if the power of the highest be a being, different from the Holy Ghost; then there are either two persons mentioned in the text, or a person and an attribute (as the antich istrans would rather have it,) which is equally against them. If the text speak of two persons, then the Spirit and the power of the highest are distinctly or conjointly God, -or there will be more Gods than one; for that which was to be born, through their agency, was the Son of God-of one God. But if the text speak of a person and an attribute (as some folks talk,) then the Holy Gbost must be the person, and the power of the bighest must be the attribute; and consequently the Holy Ghost is God; because the human nature of Christ was produced by bim and called the Son of God in the textifor that reason: Otherwise, to say that Christ's human nature was born of an attribute (in the sense of some, as a mere emanation) not only renders the Spirit's presence a matter of nullity, but contradicts the propriety of the expression, which affirms Christ to be the Son of God. Will the adversaries say, that the Holy Gbost and the power are two names for the same attribute only? They still cut up their cause; for the Holy Ghost, even according to them, can be no ereated attribute in that case, but the essential, underived act of the Most High: And then it will become them to show us, how God is so separable from his own all, as to render it improper to say, that the Holy Ghost is God bimself. If they grant this; they make a concession, which will rout their opinion presently in the hands of the Cristian: If they do not grant it, they strip God of his attribute of power, and leave him (one cannot say what kind of) an helples, being

whose energies are in his emanations, and not in bimself. And this futility and obscurity must be embraced by men, who, pretending respect to the Scripture, oppose the doctrine of the Trinity. On the other hand, if the text be considered in the orthodox view, there is an end of all ambiguity at once; because the Holy Ghost being the person in the Trinity, who for his operations in vature and grace is called the power of the Highest, and who was the agent to prepare Christ's body; the human nature of the Messiah might justly

be called the Son of God, having no other father. Not only in this wonderful operation of producing the body of Christ, was the Spirit expressly the agent; but, in the whole ministration of Christ and his apostles, the same Spirit was with bim and with them. God anointed bim with the Spirit and with power: He was led by the Spirit into the wilderness to be tempted; and be returned from the wilderness by the power of the Spirit. The apostles were endued also with power from on high; and they received that power, it is expressly said, after the Holy Ghost came upon them. By this power, they wrought miracles and wonders in the sight of the people; and constantly declared, that they wrought them by the agency of the Holy Spirit. They could not be mistaken in the case; for the miracles were intended to prove and testify truth: And if this doctrine of the Spirit had not been a truth, it is impossible to believe, that any miracle would have been permitted, or could have been effected, to confirm it.

That this power should have been an emanation only, or a naked attribute, seems as preposterous, as it is unscriptural. That a naked attribute should have a mind in itself to direct it with infinite precision to certain objects, and so take a name of acting and existing without God in it, is that new creation of human genius, which might do well enough in a poem or a fable; but ill accords with the plan of the Scripture, which asserts, that God doeth all, and is in all. Or, that an attribute or emanation should act separate from God, or rather be not God himself acting according to the notion of such an attribute, may pass with children, or with those who will own any thing and adopt any absurdity, rather than embrace the

truth of revelation.

But, that this power of God is God in the power, effecting all whatever is ascribed to it, and that the Holy Ghost is the power of God because He is God the Holy Ghost, are truths written with a sun-beam throughout the Scriptures, and one great point of their harmony from beginning to end. Nor could there have been conceived a more forcible or emphatic mode of asserting the divinity of the Holy Spirit, than that which the Scriptures use, by applying to his person, in the most abstract sense, the attribute of power. In this sense,

power is not a principle acted, but pure act itself, which act hath no cause or end out of its own nature, but effects every thing agreeably to it. But as this is or can be predicable only of God, power, then, is God himself, and is accordingly used by our Lord to signify the divine nature; ye skall see the Son of man sitting on the right-band of Power. Mark xiv. 62. To say of him in this view that He is THE Power, and the power of God, is only calling him God by another name, which name properly belongs to God alone. There is no power but of God: And where the power of God is displayed, there God is manifestatively in the power. The calling of God by the name of any attribute, or the applying any attribute to either of the persons in the Godhead, is ascribing the infinite perfection of that attribute, and a most strong, though indired, assertion of the essential divinity of him, to whom it is applied. When the apostle, for instance, pronounces, that God is love; no nanner of speaking (among men) could glorify that benign attribute with more force of expression, on the one hand; nor, on the other, shew, that love, originally and essentially, is God himself, and one with the truth of his being. And if it be said, that God is power, or that the Holy Ghost is power, in the same essential manner that he is love; we may invert the terms, if we please, and affirm, that the power is God, that the power is the Holy Ghost, that the Holy Ghost, therefore, is God; yet the proposition is still the same, containing, under these reciprocations, one inseparable truth. The power, ascribed in this essential manner, to God and the Holy Spirit, is an invincible argument of divinity. It would be impious to say to a creature, Thine is the kingdom, the power, and the glory: And yet these two last attributes in particular, which are the principle of the first, are often applied to the Holy Spirit. The word God is a name, indeed, in which all the other conceivable attributes unite collectively; but neither this of power, nor any other of them, in their essential form, can possibly be applied, and never were applied, to a mere creature.

From all this it appears, that the Spirit, and this attribute of power, are so often joined together and reciprocated, on purpose to declare, that as power belongeth into God, the Spirit of God is the God of all power to effect the salvation of his people. Derivative power could not accomplish this task; and this sort of power is carefully exploded in the word by God himself. This was the word of Jehovah unto Zerubbabel, saying, Not by might, nor by power, [evidently meaning buman might and power] but by my SPIRIT, taith Jehovah Sabaoth. Zech. iv. 7. What could more strongly have cut down all the pretended power of the creatures?

at could more vehemently assert the divinity of the Sri-

T, the Creator?

If we consider the effects of power, ascribed to the Spirit, and with the Scripture view him as their cause; we must still be further convinced of his divine omnipotence and glory. The promises of God concerning these are so many declarations and prophecies, which are confirmed by their fulfillment upon fact. He hath done whatever was said of him, and brought down as much as could be possessed of the truth

of God, into the knowledge and experience of man.

By the Spirit God garnished the beavens. Job. xxvi. 13. The same Spirit made man, and was the breath of the Almighty, which gave him life. Job xxxiii. 4. He, therefore, is cailed JEHOVAH ALEHIM, who breathed this life into man. Gen. ii. 7. He was also promised in the prophets, as the great renewer of the spiritual world, as the free Spirit to recover from the thraldom of sin, and as the great teacher of the house of God: And all this we find him upon fact in the New Testament. The miracles were wrought by him, as the finger of God; souls were converted by him, as the power of God; and live everlasting is bestowed by him, as the Spirit of God. He is the blessed Paraclete or Advocate, who carries on the cause of Christ upon earth, by various divine operations in the hearts of his people, and who pleads their cause in heaven before the throne. He enables his ministers to perform, or be the means of performing, far greater works than any outward miracles, by raising the dead in sin at their preaching of his gospel, and edifying his church through their instrumentality. It is the power of this Spirit, or this Spirit of power, which breathes in their breath, and goes forth in it and with it to revive the sinner's soul. It was this sublime power, which, in every age, invigorated the redeemed to withstand the rage of the world, and to tread Sitan under their feet. He it was, who supported them in that great fight of uffictions which mere professors would tremble to view, but which by the "noble army of martyrs" was thought but light and momentary, and in some cases sought after with perhaps too much avidity. They courted the crown of martyrdom with greater zeal, than the ancient Greeks pursued the crown of triumph at the Olympic games. They strove for the mastery in a strength very superior to their own, and, in the same strength, obtained the prize of their high calling. To this very day, we see believers triumphing over death and the grave, and borne up against the cvils within and without, unconquered and unconquerable. And what should give this immortal vigor, but that ever-living Spirit, who is all power and immortality? What should dissipate the most awful gloom of drooping nature, but this

Spirit of the Almighty, who created at first, and who only can replenish or restore? Who is atle to do all those things in the world, and in his people throughout the world, but that divine Spirit, who is Jehovah, God over all, blessed for ever?

Thus we see, that the declarations, prophecies, promises, and facts, recorded in Scripture concerning the Holy Spirit, uniformly concur in the attestation of his divinity. We find it confirmed also by the people of God in every age, not in opinion only, but in experience and enjoyment; and we are assured, that it is to have this confirmation to the end of time, and that there shall be witnesses of this truth in the world, as long as the world shall endate. The promise [i. c. of the Spirit] is unto you (said St. Peter to the Jews) and to your children, and to ALL THAT ARE AFAROLF, even as many

as the Lord our God shall call. Acls ii. 39.

And what is this call, but that effectual word of power, with which the Holy Spirit penetrates the human heart?-The soul is dead in sin; the word comes from some instrument or other, and says, Live! There is nothing in such a word, considered as a word, which can produce any effect. A man, a minister, an angel, might traverse the church-yard, and call up the dead from their graves by saying the word live over them, with more case (because it is a less work) than they, by saving the word live, or any other words to that effect, to a congregation of people dead in soul, could induce their conversion. People often think, that it is the multitude of words, or the strength of argument, which converts sinners. But what was the force of argument, when Christ said to Matthew, Follow ME! Exactly the same, as when he said to the dead son of the widow of Nain, ARISE! The objects were different, but the power was one. If there was any greater exertion in the one case than in the other, it was shewn towards Matthew; because to change the state of the soul itself, must necessarily be a far superior work, than to return the soul again to occupy its body. Where was the skill, the eloquence, or power, in St. Peter's sermon at the day of Pentecost? He was an illiterate man, quite unccquainted with the managements of the schools. He had never seen the great world, but only had followed, till about two or three years before, the solitary trade of a fisherman, and therefore knew not how to address with artifice the passions of men, or to lead a multitude by their eyes and cals. We have the sermon before us, to this day; and we can see no. thing in it of what men admire in orations. It only contains some plain matters of fact, in the plainest and simplest langnage: And these are delivered with all possible brevity !-Though it may be said of the apostle with more truth than it

was of Phocion the Athenian, "that his words were to be estimated like coins, from the intrinsic value of the metal, not from the bulk;" Yet how could such a discourse have such an amazing effect as to win three thousand souls at once to the faith of Christ; when, it is not impossible, many of them had, but a little while before, importuned Pilate to crucify him? We shall find, in the book of the Acts, where this and many like facts are recorded, that the power of the Holy GHOST fell upon the hearers, and that it was the LORD who added to the church daily such as should be saved. It was no more by the apostle's own power or boliness (as he said upon another occasion) that this vast draught of spiritual fishes was taken at one throw of the gospel-net; than that the lame man, by his mere speaking, was made whole, or Dorcas raised from the dead. The apostles well knew where the strength of the argument lay, which could convert sinners to God, and declared it to be in the secret power of the Holy Ghost .--They, therefore, did not aim to speak their own words, but the words which the Holy Ghost taught them, who only could give demonstration of the truth to the mind, and carry it home with power to the heart. To have used human skill upon the occasion, they knew well enough would have been that ignoratio elencbi, that mistake of the point in hand, which would have concluded in nothing for the hearers, and produced only shame for themselves. They had too much concern for men's souls to tickle their ears, and too deep a sense of their important errand, to play with words. They spake as the Spirit gave them utterance; and the power of the Spirit attended all their words, rendering them the means of faith and salvation to as many as He himself had ordained.

Though the wonderful effusion of this holy Comforter has ceased, so far as regards external miracles and the more sensible operations; it is by his power, even now, that souls are awakened to life and called forth from the grave of sin. In proportion as ministers are led to depend upon and acknowledge him, and in proportion as they are truly called and ordained by him and according to his will; is the success of their ministration and labor. \*Such gracious souls are above

<sup>\*</sup> This is one great proof, which faithful ministers alone can venture to offer, concerning the truth of their own mission, or of the certainty that the Holy Ghost hath not yet forsaken the earth. In these days of blasphenry, when worldly men and worldly ministers presume with open front to deny the agency of God's Spirit upon the hearts of men, only because they have not felt it upon their own (which certainly is a very wise reason for contradicting the word and church of God upon the subject.) it behoves those, who know their calling, to meist the more strenuously on the necessity of that operation, without which men are and can be no more Chris-

playing the orator and descending to the low solicitude of pleasing mortals like themselves: Their great desire is to please God, and to put themselves, as much as may be, out of the question. If the work succeed, be it either through them or others, they rejoice; and they will be exceedingly glad, if souls are brought home to Christ by other men, when they themselves (like Peter) bave toiled all the night and bave caught nothing. They are sensible of this one truth, that, were they to preach ten thousand years to ten thousand times ten thousand people, with all the cloquence of Demostbenes, or of St. Paul, or of angels themselves, they should not be able to bring one soul in reality to God, even though all these people should profess to receive their word, and to be delighted in them as their teachers. They are convinced, that they might as soon stop a torrent with one of their fingers, as stop the course of sin in a man's heart by any of their endeavours. They see, that the things of God have a reach far above all the capacity of man, and that though God condescends, to use them as his instruments; it is chiefly for the purpose of shewing, bow strong his own grace is, when he can make it effectual to life eternal in their weak hands. They feel it their duty to go forth in his name, and to rely upon his strength, persuaded that, without him, they only leat

tians, than statues of wax or of stone can be creatures of life and consciousness.—"How many souls have been awakened under my "ministry to the knowledge of God? How many seals can I shew "of my vocation? Who has been quickened from the death of sin "to a life of grace and holiness, through my preaching? And who "has been edified in the most holy faith of my master Christ, by "the blessing of God on my labors?"—These are the questions, which faithful men will ask of their own hearts; and such men only will be most deeply solicitous of the salvation of their hearers, above all considerations of the earthly advantages which may be drawn from them.

In a word; those are very ill qualified to treat upon the corruptions of others, and much less to draw sinister insinuations from any pretended "Corruptions of Christianity," who either by life or doctrine do demonstrate, that they know but little or nothing of their own. There is a pride of understanding, and a conceit of abilities in all men, if their mental attainments are ever so little above the vulgar, and proportionally increasing with the poor opinion and applause of their fellow-worms, which nothing but divine grace can subdue to the obedience of Christ: But where these corruptions are not subdued, the greater the man's talents are, the more error and spiritual folly will be usually produce; as the richest soils maintain the rankest weeds, when not under due cultivation and restraint.

the air, and raise a transient and a dying sound.\* Invigorated by him, they plead from the heart for God; and God usually honors them by making their words all life and power to the hearts of his people, who truly receive these words, and who were appointed to receive them.

\* Neither this doctrine, nor that of election, tends to make those, who are really influenced by it, idle and indifferent, but the contrary. Those, who have been most sensible of the worth of these truths, have, beyond comparison, been most diligent in their work, most earnest with God for the success of it, and most happy in the attendance of that success. The reason is, they are not human truths, or truths of man's invention, but of God and of his revelation. They were maintained by Christ and his apostles, by the most excellent of the fathers, by holy men in all ages, and by the reformed church (for the most part) in particular down to this age. One is almost astonished, therefore, to find so candid and sensible a man, as Montesquieu, among the herd of rude declaimers, in attacking the doctrines of grace. " From the inactivity of soul (says he springs the MAHOMETAN doctrine of predestination, and from this doctrine of predestination springs the inactivity of soul. This, they say, is in the decrees of God; they must, therefore, indulge their repose." Spirit of Laws. Book xxiv. c. 14. It is sufficient to refute his conclusion by a higher authority. Ee always abounding says St. Paul) in the work of the Lord, FORASMUCH AS YE KNOW that your labor is NOT IN VAIN in the Lord. A fair argument for the use of the means, when the end is certain through the use of them. How so masterly a writer could slide into the absurdity of confounding cause and effect, as he does by rendering reciprocally the one principle to be the spring of the other, cannot be accounted for, but by the triumph of prejudice in this case over the understanding. In fact, this truly ingenious man was a better civilian than divine, and understood the spirit of human laws with greater accuracy than the spirit of true Christianity. Otherwise, he had not unhappily jumbled all religions (as they are falsely termed almost together, and made the true religion itself the tool and creature of human polity. See the xxiv. and xxv. Books of the Spirit of Laws. To call as he does the doctrine of predestination by the odious name of Mahometan, is abusive and unbecoming so great a writer; unless it were a doctrine peculiar to the Mahometans, which he well knew it was not, but that it is as old as revelation itself. is the more surprising, after his great approbation of the Stoics, who with the Mahometans, held the doctrine in that exceptionable manner which Christians do not, to the exclusion of providence. "Never (says he) were any principles more worthy of human nature, and more proper to form the good man, than those of the Stoics: And if I could for a moment cease to think that I am a Christian, I should not be able to hinder myself from ranking the destruction of the sect of Zeno among the misfortunes, that have befallen the human race." The rest of this x chap, of the xxiv. Fook is little else than a high panegyric upon the virtues of stoicism, and offers

This Power of the holy Spirit is a glorious attribute tor the true believer. He sees what need there is of it to keep him from falling, and to carry him on from day to day. The promise, that in waiting upon God he shall re new his screncib, is no idle promise to him; for he constantly feels a necessary for fresh supplies of immortal power, having nothing of his own to oppose against his enemies, or to move one stop towards heaven. His heart would faint, and his hopes fail, but for the ever-present help of his powerful Comforter. He sees (what worldly men cannot see) innumerable dimenties and foes to overcome all the way to God; he finds it a constant warrare without, and as constant a fighting within; he surveys his own puny might, and his heart is ready to sink like a stone. It would sink, did not the gracious hand, witch held up Peter in the sea, hold him up also, and keep him from drowning. Then he takes the last refuge of believers. He cries out with them, in the view of all his corruptions, and snares, and adversaries, O our God, we have no might against this great company that cometh against us; neither know we what to do; but our eyes are upon thee! 2 Chron. xx. 12. And what is the consequence? He hears the voice of the Spirit in his word, saying, Be not afraid nor dismayed by reason of this great multitude; for the battle is not your's, but God's. When the believer can make God his strength, the battle is as good as won: 'The great fight is, to keep off corruptions, till the soul can get under the Lord's banner. Here he fights to purpose and assuredly prevails.

In the difficulties of life, we are prone to double them, by taking them all upon ourselves. We are not able, in our own might, properly to sustain or master the least trouble; and our usual object, in trying to get rid of it, is merely our case. Too often we forget who sent it, or for what it was sent: And, hence, we neither glarify God in it, nor reap,

a striking contradiction to the lazy effects, which he supposes in another place must result from predestination. He asserts here, that rank fatalism did not exterminate virtue, but promoted it in the highest degree next to Christianity. How then was it possible for him to think, that the doctrine of predestination deserved to be branded with the word Mahometan? How could be avoid belowing, that this principle, founded as it is on providence and not or brind indurate fate, must necessarily be more active and ingrous to an a persuasion, without hope or certainty on the one hand, or full of the ideas, of a rigid, dark, and inexorable rule, on the other. If Stition could be alert (as he vehemently assures us) in the cause of virtue: what reason could he have given; what can any nearly it; that Christianity should not, at least, be equally so? That it is seen infinitely more alert: witness the histories of the two professions, and the conduct of philosophers and Christians.

as we ought, any spiritual improvement for ourselves. We never had a sorrow or temptation, but, if we had brought it to our God, we might have been the wiser or the better for it as long as we live. Our very slips and falls, with this management of grace, would have made us stronger and more upon our guard for the time to come. But we too often encounter trials in our own strength, and especially if we think them small; and then our trials, even the least, bring us down with grief and trouble. The sorrows of a believing soul, in this respect, no unbeliever can know. The troubles of his mind are more, from what the world cannot see, than from what it can. The making God our strength, or reposing ourselves upon his holy arm, is no slight business, but the hardest work in the world. It is easy to believe a matter out of trial; and so it is for people to talk of storms and shipwrecks in a warm room upon shore: But let evil spirits or corruptions blow like the winds; let the floods of ungodly men beat on every side; and then, if faith hath not fixed the house upon the rock, down it will fall. There is but one support in the case, and that support is at the foundation. If this be not right, all the rest will soon be found wrong. And even where it is right, the tempest is not pleasant, although the soul be safe. It may be shaken, though it stand; and so shaken, as to put the trembling inhabitant in fear of his life. It is a shrewd sign, that a man doth not know his own heart, who makes light, and talks light, of temptations and trials: For, if he saw the weakness within and the strength without, he would shrink within himself at the sense of the danger. Bravocs in common life are usually men of no true spirit, and often cowards: And, in the spiritual life, it is much the same. Young professors, like young recruits, talk bravely about battles: The veteran is silent upon the pleasure of fighting, and recollects the variety of his hardships and dangers. Bring both into the field; and the old soldier will be firm, where the very noise and terrors of the conflict shall make the young one tremble. Our Lord puts it into all his people's mouths to pray-Lead us not into temptation: And, whether we see it or not, there is a temptation lurking in every thing. It is our duty to pray, in all circumstances, against the temptations which attend them. If we saw sometimes, what temptations lay disguised under our greatest blessings and privileges, and even under our holiest duties; we should almost be afraid to use them. When we are alone, as to our own apprehension, we are beset by them; and we are kept from being a prey only by superior power. In company, we have those and other snares in our way; and we had need to pray, and pray again. Lead us not into temptation. In our earnest approaches to God, and when our souls are most enlarged; we are not beyond the reach of a snare, nor able of ourselves to repel it. We are never safe, but in Him, who is our strength, and who alone can keep us, by bis mighty

power, through faith unto salvation.

" True, (says the desponding Christian) I feel and see all this in myself. I know so much of my own weakness, that I often fear the prevalence of my enemy, and that I shall one day perish by the hand of this Saul."-The man, who feels and fears this in reality, shall never fall. The soul is often brought into this state, that it may be sensible of its entire dependence upon the strength of almighty grace for its support and continuance. We are beaten very hardly out of ourselves: And all the struggles we endure within, arise, in fact, from the want of confidence in God. Flesh and blood cannot enter into the kingdom of God, nor quietly submit to the will of God. Could we cast all our care upon him, as we are privileged to cast it, our moments of anxiety would be few, and the natural perturbations of our hearts less distracting and 'Tis a heavenly lesson to put every thing into the Lord's hand, to view with calmness the workings of his providence, to abate the impatient forwardness of our earthly nature, and to follow him with resignation of spirit wherever he is pleased to lead .- "Our vows are cruel to ourselves, if they demand nothing but gentle zephyrs, and flowery fields, and calm repose, as the lot of our life; for these pleasant things often prove the most dangerous enemies to our nobler and dearer life."\* Our unhappiness is, we want all things to be done, in us and for us, according to our own way, and in our own time. We do not wait the Lord's leisure, nor his will; but often make basse to perplexity and sorrow by seek ing our own. As God doth not refuse, when he delays; so he doth not delay, without the most sufficient cause. for instance, the case of Abrabam. God could have given him Isaac, as soon as or before Ishmael; could have made his promise much earlier than he did, and, after he had made it, could have fulfilled it in a very short time. Instead of this, God deferred the promise and the fulfilment for many years, and brought it forward in the extremity of Abrabam's old age. But the good patriarch's faith was not only to be tried, which is the general view of the case, but to be taught; and the faith of future ages was to be instructed by that teaching: And the lesson was; that from the promise & its fulfilment being deferred to a time of life, when he could not expect much or long enjoyment of any temporal blessing, and to days, when he might say, I bave no pleasure in them: he might take notice, and we by him, that the great and true blessing promised was not a

<sup>\*</sup> Archbishop Leighton, Bied, on 1s. cxxx.

matter of this world, and that the earthly good was a good. principally, in being the symbol or promise of spiritual and eternal mercies. In like manner, Moses was four-score, when he preached deliverance to the people in Egypt, and could expect no great felicity in the promised land, as a mere earthly possession; and especially when he had continued near forty years longer in the wilderness. But he desired this possession, as an instituted sacrament or pledge of a far greater possession, even the inheritance of the spiritual Canaan. He desired a better country, even a beavenly, and looked for the earthly one, chiefly, as its appointed earnest. If he had not been thus disposed, he might have said, when God ordered him into Egypt at four-score, what Barzillai said to David at the very same age, " How long bave I to live? And what is the difference between earthly good and evil to me?" But, viewing this dispensation by the grace of faith, he saw into the spiritual and eternal truth, which that dispensation preached, and gave up his quiet retirement in the wilderness in proof of it; as, before, he had quitted human grandeur for the wilderness, in testimony of his adherence to the gospel and people of God .- After these bright examples, believer, be not thou weary, nor faint in thy mind. God doth not withhold comforts on earth from thee, but to quicken thy desires after, and finally to bestow upon thee, the joys of heaven. Thou wilt have happiness enough there: And the voice of his afflicting dispensations should tell thee so. He gives the world, as a matter of small account in itself, to wicked men; but Himself only to his children. And will not such a portion suffice for thee?

This attribute of power in God, is alarming, or will be alarming, to all them who oppose his truth, or who fight against him in his people. If he be mighty to save, he is almighty to destroy. They, who run upon the thick besses of his buckler, can only wound themselves. The highest, on his everlasting throne, is not to be moved by the weak efforts of dying worms; nor can their silly designs prosper or prevail

against his eternal counsel and decree.

As the Holy Shirit hath all power in himself, so he communicates the power of his grace through the gospel of truth. He gives power to his word, and power by his word. When he bestows light upon the soul, he doth not give "a useless knowledge of useful things." but imparts a vigor and efficacy with that light, which mould the spirit of a man into the frame and temper of the great pattern, Christ Jesus. A man is not left here to the form of Godliness, but possesses the power of it. In this state, he sees that all divine truths are not merely to be known as speculations, but enjoyed as realities: And a truth, without enjoyment and relish, is to him but

as a statue without life. It may be fine marble, perhaps, and highly polished but it is nothing but form, and very cold. Our minds are naturally inclined to sour and the more ingenious a man is, the higher he may mount; but the more dreadful will be his fall. There is a luxury for the head, as well as for the appetite. Fine thoughts and nice speculations shall bloat a soul, which may belong to a man, whose body at the same time may be quite emaciated through absteniousness. We may know the worth and the kind of our knowlelye, by the fruit which it bears. There are many trees beautiful to the sight, which are also very strong and very lofty, but do not produce the least food or fruit: And there are others, which (like the vine) are very feeble and homely in appearance, but yield productions of the greatest value and delight. In like manner, towering thoughts, decorated speculations, unprofitable inquiries, concerning divine things, may amuse the mind; but one humbling view of ourselves. or one moment's communion of divine grace, is better than a world-full of such useless vanities. We may see the evidence of this truth, by the lofty speculatists of the day, who are impatient of the least contradiction, swell with arrogance and insult at the most trifling opposition, and cannot endure the opinion, that other men should not think as well of their vast capacity, as they do themselves. All this is poor indeed! If such be the object of aman's life, and if all his aim be to live in the opinion of others; he may well be pronounced miserable, because it is an object never attained, and an aim which no man could ever possibly enjoy. He quits the judgment of God, who is the author of all wisdom and happiness, for the opinion of creatures, who are all folly and misery in themselves, and whose best opinion dies with them, if not before them.

Learn then, believer, to make God thy strength, and thy glory. His trumpet shall not blow an empty or a lying blast, like the trumpet of fame, but in pronouncing thee Messed, shall make thee so. It was a faithful resolution, I will go in the strength of the LORD GOD: And it is a wise example for thee to follow, that thou mayest never want power-IEHOVAH, one sail, I have everlasting strength: But not the only one, who hath said and found it too. It is thy privilege in faith so to say, and so to find. It is the common privilege of all the people of God. O then, let us join in locking up to this Holy Spirit of Power for fresh supplies of importal strength, that we may proceed in our heavenly way rejoicing, that we may hold on and hold out to the end of that way, and finally obtain the purpose of all grace in the enjoyment of eternal glory. Then shall we attune harps, heirts, and voices, to never-dying strains of the purest love; and then, 284

in the view of past and future mercies, which Jehovah hath ordained, shall we triumph when we sing his praise, and rejoice to proclaim his power!

## 

# SPIRIT OF PROMISE.

of misery, and needed a promise to keep him from despair. Mercy triumphed over this misery, and supplied that promise, raising up his drooping mind to the expectation of good. This good, and the means by which it was to be introduced, made the ground of the promise: The author of it could be no less than the author of all good, even God himself.

The promise, at first immediately delivered by God to man, was afterwards renewed upon various occasions, both immediately by Himself, and mediately by persons commissioned by him. When the promise came directly from God, it was generally ascribed to his Voice; and this Voice has been proved, in another place, to denote his Spirit. When it has been communicated through men, the same Voice spake in them; and therefore it is said, they spake as they were moved by the Holy Ghost, or still more directly in the terms of Christ, it is not ye that speak, but the Spirit of your Father which speaketh in you. This voice gave the word, which is sometimes translated promise, and always implies it; for God's word declared, being predictive of what shall come to pass, is consequently prophetical or promissory. It usually means, what we particularly understand by promise, when it predicts good things; and hence the promises are called exceeding great and precious, both on account of their author and subject; but the word itself is all promise, even of destruction to sinners, and must to a tittle be accomplished.

As the whole promise of grace and life eternal proceeds from God, because He only hath the right to give or power to fulfill it, and because his Voice only can utter his own mind and decree, which voice is his Spirit; therefore the Spirit is termed, sometimes the promise emphatically, as including every other declaration of salvation; and sometimes the promise of the Spirit, and the Sirit of promise, explicitly, as expressing the great agent who is to fulfill it. He is called the promise itself, because he reveals or makes it known; and the Spirit of promise, because he is the very Spirit and power, by

whom it is accomplished.

He gave his promise to his people in the GOD-MAN, Chrise Jesus, as their fæderal or mediatorial head; and no promise, or the fulfilment of it, flows to them through any other channel. In Him only the promises are all yea, and all amen; all positive and full, all established and sure. The truth is in Fesus; and so likewise is the promise of truth. The Spirit never gave a promise but what related to Christ, or to his people in Christ. Christ is, therefore, the promised seed; and so are they, for his sake. Rom. ix. 8. But the great promiser, and one great branch of the promise itself, is that eternal Spirit through whom Christ offered bimself without pot unto God, and by whose power the redeemed are gathered and united to Christ, as one body or temple, for his own habitation and glory. Eph. ii. 21, 22. In Christ they have communion with the Spirit; and by the Spirit they are brought to Christ for this communion. In and through both these divine persons, they are led up finally to the Father, as to the consummation of their own bliss, and of Jebovab's glory. Thus the Spirit is the great vivifying agent of all the people of God, who convinces them of sin, leads them to Christ for his atonement and righteousness, keeps them in dependence upon Christ by his almighty power, instructs their souls in the truths of salvation by enlightening his holy word. supplies them with strength against their enemies, affords them comfort in all their tribulations, imparts to them the various degrees of grace and holiness, and at last brings them safely to glory and heaven. Surely, such a Spirit as this might be well called a promise, in the highest sense and as the greatest blessing that can be conceived; and he may likewise be well styled the Spirit of promise, since none but his omnipotent power could impart or secure it.

But, that we might not mistake in so important a matter as the nature of this holy agent, He is called by other names in conjunction with the word premise, or with what is promised. Thus, our Lord styles him, the promise of my Father, because the Spirit is sent by the Father, proceedeth from bim, . and is one with him in the Godhead. These additions to the name of the Spirit appear designed to prevent a misapprehension of him for some common or created spirit. Hence he is called the Spirit from on high, or from the Highest, Isaiah xxxii. 15. because he descends, not only from heaven (for angels do this,) but from the divine nature or Godhead. The words are framed according to the apprehensions of our sense, and mean, that in descending from the bigbest, he necessarily was above all, and as such came as necessarily from JEHOVAH MOST HIGH, who only is above all. He was a party in the everlasting covenant [in a manner superior to our conceptions as to the mode, but somewhat ana-

Nn

Vol. II.

logous to what we apprehend from those words in the sense or purport.] which covenant is the foundation of the promise; as the promise itself is the declaration of God's intention in that covenant. Now, none could make this declaration or promise, but the Godbead who conceived and determined it, or a person in the Godhead. No creatures, however exalted, could apprehend the infinite mind and will of Jebovab, but by the communication of Jebsuab, and then only according to their limited capacity. The whole matter and manner must spring originally from God alone; and could have been known to any creature, only by his inspiration; for creatures depend as much for their knowledge upon God as for their being. But, as the Spirit is a party in this everlasting covenant, searcheth all things even the deep things of God, hath revealed in all ages (as the voice of God) the will of God, is the very promise itself for the tuition and comfort of the children of God, and the Spirit of promise to effectuate what is promised to them, both in time and eternity; the man who, on the one hand, will grant these premises, is most absurd, if he doth not also grant, that none but Jekovab could do these mighty acts; and the man who, on the other, will not grant them, must deny the Bible itself, and renounce all revelation for ever. There seems, therefore, on refuge in the case; but either the Spirit of promise is Jehovah promising, or there is no promise at all, and consequently no revealed communication between God and man. The one principle is the root and ground of faith; and the other, of all infidelity. To which it may be added; the operation and effect of these two principles divide the world, and separate gracious souls of all denominations from the graceless in every one.

It appears from hence, as well as from some other considerations, how important a matter it is for Christians to be well grounded in the truth of their conductor's divinity. Their comfort in the hope of salvation, as well as salvation itself, depends upon it. Remove this dectrine, and what man, who knows his own heart, the warfare he is engaged in, and the power of his foes, would not give up all for lost in a moment? The ignorance of these matters renders men trifling, unpersuaded, and unconcerned, respecting the divinity of the Spirit. They do not see that the Christian religion itself stands upon it, and the very purpose of that religion to man, even life eternal. Devolish this principle, and Deism, under cover of Socinianism, and other heterodoxies, come in with full force, upon the citadel of faith. To an awakened or enlightened soul (as the antient Christians used to term the established believer) the divinity of the Holv Spirit appears as essential to his calvation, as the prior existence of God

himself was necessary to his natural being. He cannot read a page in his Bible, but he perceives an expression or implication of this truth, which also is the very spring of all providence and grace, resolving the occurrences of the one into the purposes and conclusions of the other. And he possesses a further demonstration of this truth, in conjunction with the Bible, from that experience of it, which the Bible warrants and inculcates, and which it may not be unprofitable to consider.

The apostle, in mentioning this Holy Spirit of promise in Eph. i. 13. declares also the use and advantage of the Spirit. And it may be noted, by the way, that all the dockrines of the Bible apply to use, and are not to be considered as mere notions to swell the brain, without feeding the heart: After ye believed \* in Christ (says St. Paul) ye were sealed with that Holy Spirit of promise, which is the earnest of our inheritance, &c. They believed, which they were enabled to do by the operation of God, Col. ii. 12. and thus they were scaled by the Spirit of promise, or according to the promise of God. This sealing is the carnest, sure pledge and part of that possession, which is called our inscritance, because, through Christ, we are born of the Stirit, or of God, are therefore children of God, and, being children, become keirs of God and joint beirs with Christ for that inheritance. The admission is through faith, the pleage and security is the seal of God the Spirit, and the end everlasting life. As a naked promise without witness is not obligatory among men, before their courts of law; God takes up a similitude from it, in order to shew the positive certainty of his salvation. He delivers his promise under the name of a testament, which he ratifies by his own oath, which comes into force by the death of that tellator in whose name it was made, which is scaled by the Spirit and impleaded by him in the hearts of his people for whose benefit it was made, and which is witnessed to by the Son and Spirit before the court of heaven. In this way, God delights (as it were) to communicate to the heirs of salvation the immutability of bis counsel, and their security in him. But if the Holy Spirit were not a person, he could not seal at all; if not a divine person, he could not seal for the conveyance of an inheritance, which only a divine nature could bestow; and

<sup>\*</sup> The words might be rendered, Believing pe were scaled; but they amount to the same sense. Faith, though a grace of the Spirit as exercised in and by us, is one thing; and the sett of the Spirit is another. Dr. Guyse, upon the place, has judiciously distinguished them; and even Mr. Herrey, who correds our translation, seems to mean by this sealing of the Spirit, "some delightful fretastes of life and immortality." There and Assiste. Dial. xvi. near the end-

much less could he so seal, as to be the very earnest, assurance, and certainty of an eternal inheritance. His sealing obliged the divine nature to perform to man; and it seems not a little incongruous to imagine, that any creature whatever could seal an innumerable multitude of souls, and oblige his own Maker to grant salvation to them. On the other hand, admitting the Holy Spirit to be, what indeed he is, God over all; there is a beautiful harmony in the above similitude, and (what is better for us than all mere beauty) that perfect security from alienation, which every believing soul desires to understand. He sees, in this delightful view, that God contrived the testament, that God effected the purpose of it, that God sealed and secured the whole, without possibility of failure or disappointment. The covenant or testament now appears worthy of God, as well as ordained by Him; and most comfortable to man, for whose poor soul it was graciously framed. Here is GoD planning, effecting, and securing to eternity; and man to eternity enjoying, adoring, and praising. This is all brightness and delight at once: while the reverse is altogether gloom and despair.—Judge then, reader, which of the two profers more honor to God, or more happiness to thee!

In full dependence upon the divinity of the Spirit of promise do all his promises, engagements, and operations proceed. Trace them to their fountain-head, they rise from him, and, rising from him, do thereby prove him to be God. They either spring not from the Spirit, and so the Bible is an imposition; or, springing from him, according to the Bible, they demonstrate his divinity. He could not give a promise of grace, if he were not the God of all grace; for the nearest angel to the heavenly throne, the very first which stands in the whole order of creatures, depends absolutely upon the grace and favor of his Creator, and can have nothing more, in any respect, than what he is capable of enjoying; and the employment of this whole capacity, or of the grace and favor bestowed upon him, belongs to the Giver, and cannot be communicated by one creature to another. If the Spirit then could not confer grace, but as God; he likewise could not seal or secure it, but in the right and power of his divine nature. Were there any being superior to his own, the security would be nothing which a dependent being could give, but must be ultimately resolved into him, who bears the supreme power. Every promise, seal, or security, which the subordinate being might give would, in that case, be impertinent and nugatory: What is more, they would arise from one who had no right, as well as no power, to form such a sort of covenant, as deals out heaven itself to worthless sinners, and parcels eternal life and happiness among a set of rebellious mortals. There would be so much error, arrogance, and presumption in such a case, that no good being could be guilty of them; and the attempt itself would be frivolous and contrary to the nature as well as above the powers of an evil one.

And why doth God so often claim the epithet of fai:hful; but because he keepeth promise for ever? The Spirit, for the same reason, is the Spirit of promise, to make good all those engagements, which he declared to the boly men of old, who were moved by bim, and which fill the sacred volume from beginning to end. He spake the promises to them; and he was well qualified to promise, because he is also able to perform. He gave them out, in antient time, by pertinent symbols; and he taught his redeemed both the sense and the experience of those symbols. This Holy Spirit signified; Heb. ix. 8. and then gave his people the purport of the sign. Carnal professors and the world at large, then, as well as now, saw the types and shadows, but took them for ends and substances. But the Spirit imparted the ultimate sense and understanding of them only to the faithful. When the Spirit of promise held forth the promised land, the multitude of mere professors thought of nothing beyond the milk and honey, the worldly ease and worldly comforts, which they might enjoy in it: But the true Jews, or real confessors of God, saw through the veil of time, and were taught to consider Canaan, either as the church collectively in one body, or the everlasting residence of the church finally in one place. Concerning Jerusalem itself, they perceived the same, and knew it to be relatively only the boly city, in symbol of that ferusalem which is above. This was the Canaan and this the Jerusalem they longed for, and in the hope of which they confessed themselves strangers and pilgrims upon earth, seeking a better country than Judea, even a beavenly, and a city which HATH foundations [solid and perpetual, which ferusalem had not] whose builder and maker is God. They knew that the land below was an appointed type of the courts above; and they enjoyed it in this frame. Upon this account, the country itself became (as it were) a sacrament to the faithful Jews, and put them in continual mind, that this was not their rest, being polluted, but that heaven only was their home, even the boliest of all, for the forerunner into which they ardently waited, even for Jesus, their High-priest, and our's. All the services of the law likewise were promises and prophecies in disguise; yet known well enough by them, to whom it was given. They were a veil of flesh; but that veil was rent in twain, spiritually by the divine teacher, when saving life and light were brought into their souls, and when they were instructed in the mysteries of the kingdom. Hence the distinction between the outward and the inward Jews; the one

having the veil upon their beart, when Moses was read, and the ceremonies given by Moses were exhibited; the other having that veil done away in Christ, and through faith in him, who was then to come. Christ himself also was promised in this way, and came veiled with buman flesh; so that the carnal or outward Jews knew him not, nor saw what a divine and ineffable pearl, far above all price, tabernacled in mortal clay. But those, who were enlightened by the Holy Spirit, were at no loss about HIM, but through all the helpless simplicity of a little babe when he came into the world, beheld him by faith, and acknowledged him to be their salvation. What made the difference between good old Simeon, Anna the prophetess, with others who rejoiced in him, and Herod, with all those who received him not but sought to destroy him? The answer is; That very Spirit alone, who brought Simeon into the temple, at the time of his circumcision, and led others to testify of him; as may be read at large in the two first chapters of the gospel by St. Luke. And what makes the distinction between the real Christian and the nominal professor in their lives and deaths even now? Why is the one enabled to live and be happy in the things of God, to rejoice in tribulation and death, and to have ardent desires for the blessings of eternity; while the other passes his fleeting hours in the hot pursuit after dying affairs, cares neither for God nor his soul, for heaven or hell? It cannot be imputed to mere difference of natural understanding; for, usually, those who are esteemed wisest in the world, accept the worse rather than the better part, and are even prone to think the others, as Festus did Paul, mad and beside themselves. Nay, some of the very persons themselves, who have turned from what they conceived to be follies and sins bewitching others, have been people of whose learning, sense, and integrity, no reasonable man could possibly doubt, and the difference of whose conversation and conduct have been obvious to all who knew them; and yet these have frankly and seriously owned, that it was no might, wisdom, or capacity of their own, which effected this change upon them. To what then could it be ascribed? Surely to nothing else but that which they ascribed it to, in strict concurrence with the word of God; even the power and wisdom of the divine Spirit operating upon their souls. By this they lived; for this they prayed; and for the same have all the churches of Christ in all ages of the world prayed most expressly either in liturgies or other sclemn addresses to heaven. The Church of England, in particular, reiterates the petitions of this kind throughout her service, and, in the deepest sense of human frailty, implores that the

" Holy Spirit may in all things direct and hole our

hearts, through Jesus Christ."\*

From all this it may appear, that the promises, made in the word, need the Spirit of promise to apply and explain them to believing souls; and that he doth seal this instruction, according to that degree of saving truth which is necessary for them or for others by them, proving himself thereby to be true and very God. And it is an argument which cannot be too much remembered and insisted on, that none but God could do this to myrials of creatures at one and the same instant, in various ages, nations, kingdoms, and tongues, and to the whole world of the blest, without intermission, and without end.

This Holy Spirit is, therefore, well called the Promise itself; because it was often promised under the law, that he

\* It seems truly astonishing, how it is possible that a minister of this excellent church should venture to nullify the exercise of the Holy Spirit upon men's souls, or (what is thought at present to be the more decent fashion) to assert that this exercise is so secret, so imperceptible, so resistable, and so extinguishable by men, that they either cannot know when they have its power on them, or can suppress it at their pleasure. That the form of prayer should express or imply in all its parts the absolute necessity of the Spirit's aid, that men should read over these sound words in the desk, and then immediately after deny, reprobate, and even ridicule the whole sense of them in the pulpit, is so very shocking and horrid, that it adds a most dreadful weight to all the other profligacy and unprincioled conduct of the times. The Common Prayer beseaches God to replenish our King with the grace of his Holy Spirit, and to endue the ROYAL FAMILY with the same Spirit. Where is the loyalty or respect in pretending to ask for a blessing, which is treated by these innovators as a chimera? The congregation is led to ask for the healthful Spirit of grace upon the bishops and clergy, that they may truly please God. Is it not horribly impious to use these words in sound, and to deny them in substance? Or can any clergy man think he can truly please God by so bold a duplicity? The people, immediately after the confession of their sins, are exhorted to beseech God to great them true repentance and his Holy Spirit. Are they then to request a mere imagination, an unfelt and unknown good, a mere non-entity? And is not the telling them this, in a discourse after such a petition and many more of the same kind, a wicked and andacious abuse of their time, patience, and understanding! But when Jesus Christ has said, in a very strong and particular monner, that, much more than a father to give good gifts to his children. God is willing to give the Holy Spirit to them that ask him; who, what, where are they, that will be so wicked and so blasphemous as to assert that there is no such blessing to be had, or (what is much the same) no such good to be known - Hear, O heavens, and give rar, O earth; for the LOAD hath spoken: I have nourished and been he aproblemen, and they have rebelled agains: me.

should be fully evidenced and manifested to the people of God upon the advent of the Messiab. Huetius, in his Demonstratio Evangelica (Prop. ix. c. 149.) has drawn out some of the most remarkable texts of this kind from the Old Testament, and paralleled them with others from the New, which shew their accomplishment. It would take up too much room to copy the texts at length, as he has done; and therefore it may be sufficient to point only to the places, which the reader may consult at his leisure.—Old Testament. Isaiah xxxii. 15. xliv. 3. lix. 21. Ezekiel xxxvi. 26, 27. xxxix. 29. Joel ii. 28, 29. Zech. xii. 10.—New Testament. Luke xxiv. 49. John vii. 37, &c. xiv. 16, &c. xv. 26. xvi. 7, &c. xx. 22. Acts i. 4, &c. ii. 1, &c. viii. 15, &c. ix. 17. x. 44, 45. xi. 15, 16. xiii. 2, 3, 4, 9, 52. xv. 7, 8. xix. 2, 6. Romans v. 5. 1 Cor. iii. 16. Gal. iv. 6. 1 John iv. 13. with several o

ther correspondent texts.

What consolation is held forth in this gracious title of the Spirit for the children of God: What assurance of happiness doth it contain? What a pledge of life eternal? There is not a promise revealed in the book of God, but which the believer may look to the Spirit of promise for the performance of it. He took this name for that end. He is the Spirit in the promise, and becomes inherent with the promise itself, as the very life and essence of it; and He is the Spirit of the promise, because he was a party in the divine mind who gave it, and the person in the divine nature who accomplishes it to his people. Looking to him, they can never be disappointed of their hope; for he doth not make promises, nor give his word, according to the little follies of earthly courts, but pledges himself for the performance of them, that his people may rely on him with strong consolation, and entertain a good hope through grace. None of his creatures can charge him with breach of promise: He did not make promises to break them, but to keep them. Nor did he make them at an uncertainty of issue; because no promise was ever given out, but according to that everlasting covenant, which is ordered in ALL things and SURE. So that the promise stands upon the very Godhead itself, and upon all his attributes of wisdom, love, and power: Nor can it fail, till this Rock of Ages fails, but must endure like it for evermore. O what comfort may the troubled weary mind draw from this unfailing spring! Could it but look out from itself, and lay fast hold upon the word of promise; the Spirit of promise would soon witness to his own word, and give the sweetness of it to the bungry soul. But the soul too, too often looks into itself, where it can find nothing but sorrow and sin: It seeks, in this case, the living among the dead. Its hope is risen; and it must rise from the sepulchre of self to follow after, where only it can be found. Let the word be read in faith; and there the

Lord of the word will appear. He will appear to bless in reading, and to carry, from the reading, some strength and savour into the heart and life.

" But (says the troubled Christian) I can see no prospect of help in my case. Providence seems shut up to me. All is darkness and gloom; and I cannot find one cheerful ray in the whole book to guide me on, nor one argument of comfort to support me from sinking."-How many gracious souls are in this situation! They would not be in it, were they not gracious. Their aim would be, if they were of the world, to seek relief in the world; and the heavenly record would have stood unopened as to them: And 'tis one good sign of a truly believing soul, when all afflictions or distresses drive it to the Bible, and constrain a longing to receive comfort and support from that quarter. Christian! Hold fast here. Remember thou art privileged to trust a FAITHFUL God: And when thy heart droops within thee, cry out : Lord, I believe: belp thou mine unbelief! Do, as the father of the faithful did; against bope believe in bope, according to that which is spoken by thy God. Let go the reeds and the rushes, which float about thee in thy tribulation, and catch hold upon the arm which is stretched out for thine aid. That word, Lord, save, or I perish, was never uttered by any one, who perished. He will give thee strength for thy temptation, or provide a way for an escape. And the trial was sent, not for thy distress (for the Lord doth not willingly or causelessly afflict his people,) but to beat thee from thyself, from thy own contrivances, schemes, or power, and to make thee fly for refuge to him. Blessed is that affliction, which endears God to his people: And blessed are those tongues, which can thank God in the affliction, as well as for the affliction. Nor is this too much for faith, when the Spirit of promise enlivens it to embrace a promise; as it appears from the apostle's case, and from the cases of many others, who rejoiced in tribulation, knowing the happy effects of their trial. Rom. v. 3. They did not puzzle themselves about the means of deliverance; but sought first to glorify God in the present dispensation of his providence; and then to embrace those occasions of aid, which that providence put in their way. They wrestled with God, rather than with the world; and, like facob, they prevailed. For faith, being of the Spirit, lays hold of the promising word, energizes in the strength of the Spirit, and obtains from God, the fulfilment of his promise, and all the happy consequences which result from it. The promises contain full measure, and over measure; and have in them more than we can ask or think. Were it not for our own weakness, nothing in the world could disturb us. Winds make no impression upon

Vol. II.

rocks, but upon loose and unsettled substances. And were we, or could we, be perfectly fixed upon the Rock of Ages, as we shall be hereafter; not all the powers of earth or hell could affect or perplex us Our wretchedness comes hence: we cannot give up all contentedly or resignedly to Goa's disposal and management, at the bottom; and this is the true though secret cause of all our trouble. For could we rest upon God, as we are warranted to rest upon him, in spiritual things, without disturbing our own minds with those whys and wherefores, which, for the trial of our faith, are concealed from us; we should then find him an unshaken foundation, and, in the very act of faith, enough to assure us, that we do not trust him in vain. So, in temporal matters, did we cast all our care, or carefulness, upon God, according to his precept, and and commit the times and the seasons entirely to bis own power, as they are indeed, and must be whether we trust him or not, we should find much smoother work within, and abundantly less perplexity from without. The unhappiness rests here; we cannot trust God nakedly, without a view or probability of our own; and so we carve out to him our own ways of relief, instead of following bis will into the disposals of his providence. We argue for him, as well as for ourselves; and hence come all our fallacies and disappointments. If we left it to bis wisdom to arrange the argument for us, and only follow, as that led, with our own; we should find a most happy and invincible conclusion in our behalf, at the sum. To use a familiar phrase; we want to be masters, when we ought to be journeymen, and are always setting up for ourselves, before we have learned our trade: And the consequence is, a temporary bankruptcy. Do we not frequently see artificers performing things in their business, which we cannot account for; and do we dispute their conduct because of our own ignorance? They cut down, hew, throw about, mingle, and perplex the various parts of a frame or machine, as it seems to our apprehension; but yet all goes on with a design in their minds, which we are not masters of. At length, when they have put the several particulars into their appointed places, and combine all the parts into a compiete whole; we see order, beauty, and use, arise out of a very complicated and (to our view) a very confused scene. We could not investigate the artifice; but we can perceive the end. In like manner, comparing small things with great, God deals with the individuals among his people, and with his temple the church in general. He permits the world (as it appears) to fall into a multitude of cross purposes, strange circumstances, and perplexing events, by which his people and church, together with the world, are disordered and affected. Private affairs and public concerns, may seem confused beyond the skill or power of men to unravel, or cyplain them. But when the believer shall reach his home, and much more when the end of all things shall appear; God's design in all will break forth illustrious, and create astonishment, admiration and praise, at his complications of wildow and grace, through beholding worlds.—Learn then, believer, to consider his arrangements of providence and marro in this view; and then nothing in the short scene of things below will trouble thee much or long. Leave God's screet to himself, and say with good Salvian, "I do not understand thou; I dare not investigate them; I even tremble to attempt in." The day will soon appear; and then the chadows of the night shall flee away; while the objects of truth and glory shall achall flee away; while the objects of truth and glory shall a

rise to view, without number or end.

" But (says the Christian, buth not God promise! the seal of the Spirit, in order to assure me of my salvation; and may I not expect this? May I not be deceived, if on the one hual I content myself without it, or if on the other I pre ume only that I have it?"—God hath bronised this seaf in or upon believing and when thou didst believe thou wast scaled; but not with visions or revelations, but with a conviction of the truth of God, and with gracious comfort flowing from that conviction. The Spirit of promise applies the word of promise to the soul, acts by that word usually as its medium, gives the believer power to rest upon it, and in that power conveys a demonstration of his own presence and of the Christian's title to salvation. The seal, however, is not always in comfort immediately, though always in grace, which connects the heart and life by leve, and informs the mind with wisdom. The inscription of this seal, to be known and read of thee and of all men, is, Let every one, that nameth the name of Christ, depart from iniquity. Let thy conscience make thy appeal to this, and carefully read this golden lagend every day. It is a true phylaetery, or inscribed frontlet ; and the plainer it is written, the better. And be assured of this, that if heart, head, and life, be framed according to the word, and depend upon the truth of Go i, and w.ic for the salvation of God; it is a further proof that the Spirit hath sealed thee to his eternal redemption. Thou art not to go on contented without this testimony; and much less with a contrary testimony: For, believe what thou vide, unless this seal be upon thee; thou hast no proof to this al. of thine own sincerity, nor to others, that then art not an lypocrite. As to visions be contented without them: The pinpliets, who had them, called them a burden; and thousands who have pretended to have them, have followed their own delusion and enthusiasm to their cost. Pray Gud to teach thee by his word, and according to his word: Then will find

wisdom in safety there, and more wisdom in depth than in this life thou fully canst know. And if a word, apparently in season, come home to thy heart; there is also a rule, by which thou mayest judge whether its application be from the tuition of God, or from the mere elevation of thy own mind. If the thought humble thee in thy own sight, while it warm thee with love to Christ; and if it fill thee with meekness and submission, as well as complacency and comfort; thou mayest be assured, that (as the devil never deals in this way) the Lord is thy belper. But if the idea excite a swelling (as it were) of the mind, a delight in its own excellence for the thing spoken or conceived, a consciousness or desire of superiority in the heart over others, a languid notion of the intervention of God, and especially if it end in high words, and strong passions towards men; thou mayest justly fear, however ingenious or devout the cogitation may be in shew, that it is but the ebullition only of the human understanding, unaided and uninfluenced by the grace of God. What God sends to man humbles him in himself and lifts him up in another. What man conceives from within, exalts self, and leaves God out of sight .- If this rule were duly attended to; we should probably see fewer presumptions of self-importance, and more real concern for the edification of others, in the professing world.

Happy, only happy, are they, who wait on the Spirit of promise to seal and to accomplish all the promises for their souls! Happy they, who meditate on his word for this end, who love his commandments, and delight in his ways. This happiness is the privilege of every believer, the undoubted portion of the children of God. How happy would these be, if they knew their own happiness! How content, if they considered God, as their manager, their friend, their father! How satisfied about worldly things, if they duly lived in expectation of heaven as their home. Whatever was disordered about them, they could not be touched; nor, in worlds of ruin, can these be lost. Their anchor cast, within the veil, cannot fail; because the promise is its hold: Their vessel of grace shall never be wrecked, for the Spirit of promise is at the helm. This spirit shall preserve them by day and by night, amidst the storms of life, and the loudest horrors of death: He will carry them safely into the haven of felicity, and give them an inheritance among them, who, from all past ages, do now through faith and patience inherit the PROMISES,

### 

# L O V E.

OVE, as it exists in human nature, is the inclination or affection of the mind to some object, which it conceives to be valuable in itself or proper for its own welfare: And, if sin had brought no darkness or error into the mind, this faculty of love would apply itself only to what is truly valuable and good.

In rational creatures, this affection should be directed to God as the only fountain of good, and to created good objects, as they relate to him or may be enjoyed with him.

With respect to God, there can be no cause of his love beyond himself or out of himself; and therefore this affection or attribute exists, independent of all other objects, within himself; for which reason, He is revealed under the name of LOVE, being the true essence or source of all that faculty or disposition, which we can strictly comprehend by this term.

From hence it seems evident, that, as enmity and hatred are diametrically opposite to this benign character of the divine nature, they must proceed from some other cause: And as whatever is thus contrary to God, must be a revolt from Him, and a departure from the proper end of its own creation, it is therefore justly denominated sin, which, again, being repugnant as well to the good of the creature, as to the source of all good, bears both the name and the nature of evil. Enmity, consequently, as it appears in the creature towards God himself, or to what is of God in other objects, is but another word for evil and sin.

The revelation of God informs us, how all this depravity came into our nature, which was originally created upright. Since that awful event, it is in human experience to say, that the inclinations of the soul have naturally contradicted the mind and will of God, have wandered wide from his love and purity, and so far departed from the pure rectitude of a perfect creature, as to have this character stamped by unerring truth upon the mind from which they flow, that it is enmity itself, comity in the abstract, against God. Rom. viii. 7.

God is love; pure, perfect, and incorruptible love: But the carnal mind, the mind of every man by nature, the mind which is under the dominion of his flesh and makes this flesh his only end, is corrupted, debased, and absorded with ennity.

From this direct opposition of God and man, which is forcibly expressed by these opposite terms, we may perceive the use and design of the Bible; for the blessed volume describes this opposition in its nature and effects, and points out from thence both the necessity and the method of reconciliation.

The Bible describes the nature of this enmity to be rooted in sin, and this sin to consist in transgression or disobedience of God's law. The Bible also states, that this holy law was communicated to man, both in precept and sanction. By keeping it, which in his perfect state he was easily able to do, he was to live, or (in more extended phrase) to live happy and blessed; but in transgressing it, he was surely to dic, or be cut off from the source of all life and happiness in body and soul. He broke this law, and plunged himself into rebellion: And this rebellion (as was before observed) is the principle and ground of all his enmity, or sin, against his Maker.

The effects of this apostasy are clearly seen in his ruin. As he became opposite to the love of God, he became possessed with enmity; being contrary to the holiness of God, he was filled with sin; repugnant to the goodness of God, he was seized with evil; and cut off from the life of God, he inherited death spiritual, temporal, and eternal. The divine nature could not be contaminated by nor hold communion with a sinful nature: And therefore there ensued a separation of God from man, which, having every dreadful consequence to the latter, is expressed by the wrath, abhorrence, vengeance, judgment, &c. of God-Terms adapted to the workings and capacities of the human mind, and used to mark out its entire alienation (with the sad effects of it) from its maker. There is no wrath in God, as wrath; because He is wholly love: But his separation of man from the participation of his love, with all its various blessings, operates upon the human passions, now defiled with enmity, under the notions and impressions of anger and indignation. Thus God's love, being pure and unapproachable by sin, becomes a most dreadful and even horrible attribute to a sinner; because, as a sinner, he can never come nigh to God, never hold communion with him, nor receive delightor blessedness from him. And if divine wisdom had not found a method of reconciliation; human nature would and must have sustained whatever can be conceived under the awful idea of damnation, or the state of absolute rejection from the presence of Gon.

By these considerations it might appear, were it necessary to extend them, that enmity, sin, wrath, and misery, with other words of the like import, are all correlative terms, which only variously express the nature or effects of man's

alienation from God. They are all branches of one baleful tree, the fruit of which is the full completion of human wretchedness and woe.

On the other hand, the word love is also correlative and entirely connected with every other divine attribute and perfection, or with whatever may be called by those names: It has, and can have, no difference from them, however distinguished, by a merciful condescension, for the better comprehension of our minds. Righteousness, for instance, is only a name for this love in act and exercise: For the love of God in its energies does only what is right or righteo to. Love is the motive of all his action, according to the Scriptures; and, by communicating this love, he renders it the essential principle of all righteous action in man. John iii. 16. 1 Cor. xiii. 4, &c. Truth, purity, and the like, are also but love in particular forms, actions, or aspects. In short, all the attibutes and perfections of the divine nature, have their essence in love; and the term love is but a glorious title for the grand assemblage of them, denominating (as the Bible hath) the first and supreme nature. God is Love then, uniting, as in that one attribute, all the other predicaments and glories of his majesty and goodness; not per accidens, but in essentiality: And, with respect to his creatures, there is no grace nor act of righteousness, but what is an emanation from the same principle, enlivening, invigorating, and making them happy.

It is hoped, that this kind of deduction will not be thought too metaphysical, as it derives every portion of its weight from the Scriptures, and only aims to evince from the nature of all we see and know, in full proof and connection with sacred authority, that divine love is union, and the desire of unity, and can only subsist between objects connatural; because (according to the apostle) God or Christ bath no concord with Belial, nor bis works any fellowship with the in-

fruitful works of darkness,

Now, man's nature, since the fall, being entirely defiled by sin; and consequently unlike that of his maker; there can be no harmony or communion between them, until the principle of this disagreement be removed. And if this principle be not removed, the enmity or opposition of the creature to God can end in nothing but the creature's misery and ruin. Hence appears, for man's sake, the necessity before-mentioned of a new and positive reconciliation.

If the necessity of this reconciliation be clear, it is of importance to inquire for the method or means by which it may be obtained. How then shall this be accomplished?—GOD cannot change his own nature: And can man expel the sinfulness, which is now intermixed with his? It is confesselly beyond his powers either of will or wisdom.\* He might as soon overcome the force of disease and death, as overcome the cause which produced them. He cannot, he would not, in his present unrenewed constitution, exterminate sin. It follows, then, that the entity must be removed, if removed

at all, by a superior power.

But, can any superior created power perform this great operation? Can any dependent being reconcile HIM, on whom he depends for his being, with another creature who is equally dependent with himself? Admitting the inclination, where is the ability? For the obstacles to be removed are, the sins innumerable of a vast multitude of human creatures, the natural rebellion of those creatures against God, and their equally natural aversion to righteousness and true holiness: And the means to be employed are, the presentation of a complete atonement to God's infinite attribute of justice, which must, as such, reward all iniquity with its desert; the introduction of a perfect righteousness, which might entitle to everlasting reward; and the transformation of myriads of souls into the image of God and conformity with him. - 'Tis as absurd to suppose, that a creature can accomplish a work so transcendent, so infinite and everlasting both in itself and its effects: as to believe, that a fly could impel the stars to move in their courses by the puny efforts of its wing.

Here appear, in full glory, the wisdom, power, and benevolence of febovab as revealed in the gospel. By it alone we see, how mercy and truth are met together, how righteousness and peace have kissed each other. What man of himself would not do, and what neither he nor all the creatures can do! it hath pleased infinite benignity to take upon itself. It hath performed the whole in a manner so astonishing and gracious, that, unless the same benignity had revealed the plan as well as undertaken the execution, the most refined intellect of man could not have soared to conceive it.

That Jebovah should appoint a mediator, fitted both by divinity and humanity to interpose between the Godhead and the creature; that this mediator, as Jebovah, should merit, and impute what he merited, to the creature's account; and, as man, should suffer, what the creature must otherwise have suffered for its apostasy; † that so marvellous a constitution

<sup>\*</sup> It is the despairing language of the famous heathen moralist; Idem semper de nobis pronuntiure debebinus, malos esse nos, malos fuisse, invitus adjiciam, et futuros esse. Sen. de benef. l. i. c. 10.

<sup>†</sup> There hath been a man in the world not ashamed to profess, for himself and his party; Credimus, etiansi non semel atque iterom, sed satis crebro et dissertissime scriptum exstaret, deum esse kominem factum, multo satius esse, quia hæc res sit absurda, & sanæ

should obtain, in which all the attributes and glories of the Godhead are rendered most wonderfully illustricus, while the creature is pardoned, justified, renewed, and savel; all this appears so much above the size of man's understanding, that even to look upon it, now it is revealed, and revealed too only in part, (1 Cor. xiii. 9, 10.1 datales with such a splendor of grace and glory, as to command a confession of its divine authority from every enlightened mind. Those, who see not this divine goodness and beauty, may indeed boost of enlarged understandings as loud as they please; but they must pardon the Christian, if, in believing God rather than man, he concludes, that every mind, which conceives nothing of God's liberality in this case, must necessarily be mean, narrow, and darkened. Eph. iv. 18.

In this most interesting way hath God demonstrated himself to be Love. It is a magnificent attribute of himself, and necessarily essential to his nature. His very existence might as well be denied, as this super-eminent glory and perfection

of it.

We know that God is love by the effects: For all the effects proclaim, in their method, magnitude, and extension, that their cause must be God alone. In this was manifested the love of God toguards us (says St. John,) because that God sent his only begotten Son into the world, that we might live through him. I John iv. 9. Here the mention is made of this love existing in the personality of the deity; and here, in particular, appears the love of the FATHER. In the next instance, the love of the Son is equally manifest. Hereby (says the same apostle) perceive we the love of God, because be [God the Son] laid down kis life for us. I John iii. 16. Another apostle also mentions the love of the Spirit (Rom. xv. 30:) And in what peculiar office doth this gracious agent display his love to the children of men? The Scriptures, which he didated, testify concerning it with full and repeated evidence. By this Spirit his people are quickened from the death of trespasses and sins, and have an access to the Pather. By his omnipotent power, they are renewed in the Spirit of their mind, obtain faith to confide in the great Redeemcr, and apply all the work of his salvation to their souls. By his effectual grace, they bring forth fruit unto God, and hald

rationi plane contraria, & in Deum blasphema, Modum aliquem dicendi comminisci, quo ista de Deo dici possint, quam i ta single deita ut verba sonant intelligere. Smaleius afad Wits. Mice. Vol. 2 p. 500. It would be happy, if the boldness and impiety of these sentiments were no more living than the language in which they are written.

Pp

out unto the end. In a word, all the fruits of righteousness, which are (812) through Fesus Christ, unto the glory and praise of God (Phil. i. 11,) are the fruit of the SPIRIT, as the grand agent of the whole. In this way it is, that he witnesseth for Christ in his people, and so becomes the pledge of their salvation; and he witnesseth for his people to their own consciences and to the world, that indeed they are redeemed from the carth, in being redeemed from the corruptions that are in it through lust, and (what is harder still) redeemed from themselves.

This operation of the Spirit is in perfect concord with the will and work of the Father and the Son, and is also, in all its intentions, the result of that everlasting covenant which subsisted before the world began. One and the same love, however diversified in their official engagements, actuates the ETERNAL THREE; because they are but one Godhead: And however the manifestations may vary, according to the capacity of creatures to apprehend them, redemption is but one undivided work, and the concurrent energy of the Three Persons upon the objects of that redemption, in the several offices of choice, calling, justification, sanctification, and re-

ceiving to glory.

From hence it will appear, that this HOLY SPIRIT, as well as the Son, must be God over all, blessed for ever; because all his operations appear to be divine and from himself; nay, because they render effectual the operations of the other two divine persons, which, without his completion of the gracious economy (for aught we can see,) might be void or in vain.\* It was for this reason, that our blessed Lord himself refers the full explanation and effect of his own mission to the agency of the third person; where he promises to his disciples, that the Comforter, which is the Holy GHOST, whom the FATHER (says he) will send in MY NAME, shall teach you all things (John xiv. 26.) will guide you into all the truth, † and shall glorify ME. John xvi. 13, 14. Thus Christ testified of the Spirit, as the Father had testified of him (Matth. iii. 17:) And the Spirit also was to testify, in return, of Christ and the Father; else, how is that passage to be understood, where the Redcemer says, ALL things that the FA-THER bath, are MINE; therefore said I, that HE [the Spirit]

To a similar effect speaks the Czenzerine confession of faith, first published in 1570. Hi tres, Pater, Sermo, et Spiritus—sunt unum in adoratione; sicut enim Deus Pater sine Filio suo et Spiritu Saneto eligere, creare, sanctificare non potest; ita Pater sine Filio et Spiritu Sancto Deus Johova adorandus esse non potest. Syntag. conf. P. i. p. 193.

<sup>†</sup> Eis πασαν την αληθείαν, i. e. of things necessary to salvation.

shall take of mine, and shall show it unto you? John xvi. 15. These reciprocal testimonies of the divine persons to each other, prove their intercommunity or oneness of Godhead, for there is but one God; while, from thence, they declare, as plainly as words can declare, the proper divinity of each of the three witnesses, as persons or consubsistences in that Godhead.

The like reciprocity holds good in the experience of the faithful. They will own, that they could never have known the Father, as the Father of mercies, but through the Son; according to the express declaration of Christ himself, neither knoweth any man the Father, save the Son, and he to whomsoever the Son will reveal bim. Matth. xi. 27. And again, God [the Father] bath sent forth the Spirit of his Son into your bearts, crying, Abba, Father. Gal. iv. 6. It would be casy to offer numerous passages of Scripture, where these references are made from the office of one divine person to those of the others, and where again the unity of the three is equally apparent and undeniable. It will be sufficient, perhaps, only to add in this place, that if to know God requires divine teaching, to love God in deed and in truth must necessarily be the effect of divine power. In fact, the right knowledge and the true love of God are so much one and the same, that it is impossible to separate them in Christian experience, or even Christian doctrine: And it is the saving office of the divine Spirit to lead and guide the redeemed into the possession of both. Upon this ground alone can " the splendid union" of TASTE and TRUTH, in a sense more sublime than the philosophical, be established for an end the most important of all to man, -his everlasting welfare.

The Holy Spirit is, therefore, the grand communicator and applier of the love of the Godhead to the souls of the redeemed. He prepares their hearts for the reception of this love, and then sheds it abroad upon them as they are able to bear it. In doing this, He effectuates the election of the Father unto life, and manifests it by repeated proofs to the soul. The salvation of the Son also He applies to his people, and scals them unto the day of redemption. And, in the performance of this gracious work in all its branches, he fulfils his own divine office, and proves himself in the fact to be a person in the ever living and true God. For, who beside is saf-

ficient for these things :

It was this divine Spirit, who in the beginning moved upon the face of the waters, to vivify what was creating in this material world; and it was He, who oversbadowed the blessed virgin, to quicken and produce that holy substance, which therefore should be called the Son of God. It is the same almighty agent, who moves upon the troubled heart of a sinner, and generates a new life in that fallen spirit, which be-

fore was dead to God, to itself, and to glory.

If these premises be true, or, rather, if the holy Scriptures be true from which these premises are gathered; is it possible to mistake the author and agent of so much infinite and everlasting love, for a creature, for an emanation, for a quality? If the Spirit bath love (and we read in God's revelation both of the leve and the fruits of the Spirit;) can the love which exists in him, be the finite love of a created being, and yet be coeval and cooperative with the Father of mercies, in the everlasting salvation of sinners? If love be of God, can the love of the Spirit, which is everlasting in all its fruits and operations, be any thing else beside that love of God? And if God himself be love, can the very Spirit of that love be less or any thing else than God? Surely one should think, that no man, who credits the Bible, and certainly no man, who in the least understands it, can hesitate upon so obvious a matter. An infidel, indeed, escapes the conclusion by denying the premises, vet escapes it by involving himself in the mazes of inextricable doubt and perplexity, where he can give no clear or just account either of the author or design of his own being. But a professor of Christianity, with the Bible in his hand, rejecting the principles of that Bible which connect it as a system of saving truth, and these principles in particular concerning the personality in Jebovab, on which the whole fabric of redemption is raised; is indeed a most inconsistent creature, and would render the revelation of his maker just as incongruous as himself. 'Tis no wonder, that such men rail at divine truth in a system, while their blindness doth not see one, and which not being seen by themselves, the pride of an unsanctified understanding will not allow, that others should be favored to behold it. But Christ hath given the reason of all this, in Matth. xi. 25, &c. See also Dan. xii. 10. And yet, after all, it seems most palpably absurd, that men should study the order, relations and conneclions of other truth, as a bright and beautiful whole, in all the sciences, and at the same time refuse to the revelation of the God of truth a character of symmetry, union, and perfection, which they think essential in every ordinary hypothesis.\* Dlessed be God, however, his wisdom and truth are perfect; and the more the eyes of men are enlightened by his grace, the more of this perfection and harmony do they see in all his counsels of salvation.

<sup>\*</sup> Alte ingenious philosopher, commenting upon his favorite Staterite, neth cruly said, that, "even negative truths and negative conclusions cannot subsist, but by bringing terms and propositions together, so necessary is this uniting power to every species of enough documents." Harris's Hermes, p. 364, note.

The man, who Lath tosted that the Lord is procious, and who knows whom he hash believed, thath the wieness in Lineself, that the Spirit is love and the God of love. In penel conformity with the revealed word, which this Holy Spirit gave forth in antient times, he believes in the aimity of his person, and rejoices in the evidence of his power. The voice of the Spirit in the gospel, and the breathing of the Spirit in his inmost soul, are the flowing love of an infinite cause, and excite his affection, devotion, and gratitude, in return. He reasons, and by this gracious Preceptor he reasons rightly, and from matter of fact, that in agent, alling upon him for his translation from darkness to light, overcoming the most rooted and inbred enmity of his heart to the will and ways of God, inducing at the same time a new and lively affection to them, and enabling him to resist the impetuous torrent of temptations from the world, the firsh and the devil, and to hold fast a hope, which bath very little to expect in this life, and in some cases is against all the carnal interests of it, with steadiness to the end; that such an agent as fully, at least, demonstrates himself to be God, as the material universe itself can prove, that the hand, which made it, is divine. "Tis true, the argument, drawn from experience, would not be conclusive, if alone; nor, in that case, could it be expected to silence the opposition of the gainsaver; but when the experimental proof is not only corroborated by the testimony of God's word, but is appealed to by that word, one great purpose of which is to produce and confirm it; then it is no longer a particular argument, confined to individuals, but a general truth, which is consistently to be acknowledged by all

† 2 Tim. i. 12. To know God, or Christ, or the Holy Spirit, in the sense of the apostle, is not a theoretic or speculative notion, raised in the mind by the powers of reason; but a divine communication and impression, through the means of grace usually, upon the sensitive as well as intellectual faculties of the soul. Hence the Hebrew word for the wisdom which leads to salvation, is derived from a root which relates to the taste and sensible ferception: And hence the apostle, evidently bearing in mind the origin I idea mentions the savour of this knowledge, the tusting that the I ord is gracious, and the handling the word of life; which is a manner of speaking that applies to the certainty and demonstration, which the soul obtains concerning these objects. The consequence of this scriptural reasoning is, that " carnal men, lacking the Spirit of Christ," when they talk of believing God, cannot be and to anow whom they profess to have believed; but at neck, only to guess, or dream, concerning him. And they, of all other, are heat the by to know any thing of the platter, who are havey man, I so deny the agency of that divine person, by a sem alone all a 20 hoursedge of this hind can be obe inch.

those, who profess to receive the outward testimony. We have a chart of the coast of New Zealand, and we have navigators who have landed upon that island: Would it be thought decent to say, that their landing proves nothing of the reality of that country to others, however it might identify the spot and confirm the chart to themselves? The case in divinity stands upon a stronger foundation than this in nature. God himself hath drawn the plan of his spiritual kingdom; and one particular portion of it is the earnest of bis Spirit in the heart; which, in the plan, is defined to be righteousness, and peace, and joy in the Holy Ghost. Rom. xiv. 17. Will any man acknowledge the truth of the plan, and yet be so inconsistent as to deny the existence of what the plan delineates? Is it not grossly absurd to admit, that indeed the kingdom of God is all this righteousness, peace and joy, and yet that these are not to be felt, or known? And is it not equally absurd to allow, that though these do exist by the power of the Holy Ghost, yet that HE is neither a person nor agent, or (if he be) that he is not essentially divine? All this would be not only making the word of God of no effect, but would be placing it beneath the mere morality of heathens, and putting it upon a level with the wildest reveries of impostors-One might add, below even them; for there might be some show of consistency in these; but, in the other case, the Bible would be a bundle of contradictions, of promises unfulfilled, of intentions in themselves everlastingly important, never to be performed.

It may be retorted; "if the fruit of the SPIRIT be love, how is it, that those, who profess to believe in him, have often so little of this love in their hearts and lives? Why then are there so many sees and divisions among Christians? And wherefore do they hold such odia theologica, such religious oppositions among themselves?"—This is too much a truth, even though it were spoken by the accuser of the brethren. But it may be answered, that the profession of a truth by the tongue is one thing; and the possession of that truth in the soul quite another. There are thousands, who can give no better account of their name as Christians, than that it is the fashion and religion of the country in which they were born. There are thousands who never read the Bible through, nor scarce so much as look into it, who still would be offended at the very doubt of their Christianity. There are thousands also, who only read it to cavil out of it; as though it were a book of arguments, with which they were to dispute against all mankind. There are other thousands who have been bred up in a party or persuasion; and therefore they think themselves bound in honour to maintain it. And there are as many more, who fancy it a point of cleverness and understanding to invent new methods of difference and distinction, to supply perhaps the place of those which are worn out and almost forgotten in the world. But all these litigious and irreligious wits, however they may be bemoaned for their own sakes, do not destroy the reality of the gospel, but rather fulfil its predictions. They do not prove, that there are no fruits of the Spirit, but, only, that they themselves have them not. Much less can they infer, that there is no Spirit of Love, but, at most, that they have not the love of the Spirit. If such cannot be said to know whom they have believed; how can their ignorance, or ignorance of any

kind, affect the truth? The Holy Spirit himself hath sufficiently cleared this matter. From whence come wars and fightings [or litigations of words] among you? Come they not bence, even of your lusts, that war in your members?-These things are not the fruits of the Spirit, but of the flesh: They are not of God, but of man. The Spirit of peace is not the author of confusion and discord; but the restless, the pertinacious boldness of the carnal mind. The want of the Spirit of love, therefore, in particular persons can be no argument against his own personal existence; but only against his positive operation in some human hearts. Wherever he comes and dwells, he never fails to bring peace, and to preserve it. He maketh men to be of one mind in an bouse, in the temple, in a kingdom: And whenever they are otherwise minded, we may be sure, that the Spirit of peace is by no means the occasion of it, but rather that the peace of God doth not RULE in their hearts. Though the truths of the gospel are to be maintained inviolate from error; yet this is not to be done merely by multiplying parties, which have too often much more of the heat of the flesh in them, then the wisdom of the Spirit; but rather in meckness instructing those that oppose themselves, and perhaps against their own happiness and salvation. Luther, magnanimous and zealous as he was in contending for the grand peculiarities of the gospel, would have yielded far more to the idle and nugatory ceremonies of the Romish church, then any modern protestant can or possibly ought to do, for the sake of peace. He was rather driven than inclined of himself to that degree of reformation, which he afterwards established. But for protestants to bite and devour, who are agreed in fundamentals, merely because of some external and non-essential circumstances, is matter of triumph at Rome, and, it may be, in Babylon below. One thing, however, appears very certain, amidst this world of brawling and contention about outward rituals, that it is not man which can render truth prevalent and effectual to the soul, but God alone. He will maintain his own cause, much better without than with the help of man's evil tempers and passions, which are too often, like his tongue, (to use the apostolic language) set on fire of bell.

"Why all this (it may be said) is setting up the act of uniformity, and encroaching upon liberty of conscience and the natural rights of mankind."—There is no plea in all this for human authority, nor yet for opposition to it. The whole of this matter stands upon much higher ground. God's book is the Christian's act of uniformity: And every one, who is truly a Christian, is a conformist in grace, whatever he may be in respects which are not gracious. Such a man must own, that God hath but one people, one flock, one family, among men; and that these have but one Lord, one faith, and one hope of their calling. Here is a uniformity, in which all real Christians are united: And, if they are united here, in the name of religion and common sense, what is the profit or use of all other unions or disunions?

"But this is latudinarianism?"—Far from it, in the evil sense of that long name. It is no broader than that way of truth, the gate of which is so strait to human corruption, that no evil man desires to enter within it. There is such a thing as the grace of charity to bear and forbear, as well as the grace of faith to understand and believe. And if there be no schism in the natural body, and can be none without disfiguring it; what man living can point out the use or beauty of schism in that spiritual frame, which is called Christ's body?

Rom. xii. 5. 1 Cor. xii. 27.

O for more fruit of this Spirit of Love among Christians! There would not be so much classing into denominations, nor clashing of parties; but more pure and fervent affection for ALL, of all parties and denominations, who love the Lord Jesus Christ in sincerity.\* The measure of love to Christ would

<sup>\*</sup> How truly amiable is the spirit of the famous Ambrose, bishop of Milan! and yet no one, who remembers his faithfulness to the emperor Theodotive, can suspect him for a trimmer. Quando hic sunn[Mediol.] non jejuno sabbatho, quando Roma sum jejuno sabbatho; et ad quameunque ecclesiam veneritis, ejus morem servate, si pati non vultis scandalum aut favere. "When I am at Alilan I do not fast on the Sabbath, but I do the contrary when I am at Rome: And so whatever church you come to, follow its mode, if you would wish neither to suffer distraction and offence, nor to give anv." To the same effect of the celebrated Augustine, his friend, justly says; Sit una fides universa eccl sia, ctiam si ipsa fidei unitas quibusdam diversis observationibus oclobratur, quibas nullo modo quod in fide verum est, impeaitur. Omnis enim puichritudo filio regis intrinsecus: ILLE autem observati mes que varie celebranter, in ejus veste intelliguntur. Unde Bi d'elter; In funbrils aureis circumamieta varietate. Sed ea queque l'estis ita diversis celebrationibus varietur, ut non adversis contentionibus dissifatur. Fp. 83.

appear in the measure of love to his members. It would be no longer the maintenance of this opinion and the other interest in the world, which would engross the chief attention of professors; but a zealous regard for the reality of Godliness, and a general detestation of all hypocrisy and sin. The kingdom of God would then be sought, where alone it should be sought, not in word, but in power: And wherever it was found living and reigning, there would be joy in earth as well as in heaven over it, even that communion of saints, which (alas!) in these last days, is but too seldom found out of the creed.

It is easy to believe that sentiments of this kind will not be too acceptable to bigots of any party. Such reflections are not calculated to soothe, but to oppose, that sensuality of opinions, which begin in the flesh, and naturally enough end there. But if they are agreeable to the mind of the Spirit of love, and raise the least catholicism, or general affection, in the heart of the Christian reader to his brethren of any or of all denominations; the censure of a carnal mind, or the support of a carnal interest, where so much glory to God is concerned, cannot deserve a moment's consideration.

This branch of wisdom, as well as all others, will be justified of wisdom's children. To thee, O believer, who walkest in the light and in the love of the Spirit of grace, this experimental truth, were it even more forcibly insisted on, would need no apology. There is something within thee, which hath fellowship with this matter. It bears its own recommendation to thy conscience. If it did not, or if it should appear contrary to the written word, let it pass with the farrage of human opinions, and die with the numerous sects, whose very names have almost perished with them. But can it not be appealed to thine inmost soul; how often thou hast contemplated with delight that happy time, or rather eternity, when thou shalt hold full communion with the spirits of just men made perfect, above all the unimportant divisions, which error and corruption have invented below! How happy hast thou been in the prospect of that tender, intimate, and sympathetic love, which shall flow from soul to soul, without interruption and without end, in the regions of immortality! How hath thy soul been almost transported with the promise in view, that thou and all the faithful shall be one, even as the Father is in Christ, and Christ in the Father, and, by the power of the holy Ghost, made, in respect to communion, one spirit with the Lord! John xvii. 21. 1 Cor. vi. 17. O what enlargement of heart have these views afforded thee !- An enlargement capable of receiving all that the Lord thy God should call! It hath been the wish of thy soul, at such times in Vol. II.

particular, that more unity, love and tenderness were exhibited among true believers, and that the houshold of faith below might more exactly resemble the houshold of glory above!—'That professor hath tasted but little of the love of Christ, who hath not felt something at least of this love in the Spirit (as the apostle terms it) towards the bretbren of Christ. He that dwelleth in love (says another apostle,) dwelleth in God, and God in him. 'The holy Spirit, dwelling in the heart of the believer, proves his own divinity and the believer's adoption at once, by teaching him to love those that belong to God, and enabling him in this gracious habit to make his own calling and election sure. I Thess. iv. 9.

This love of God, shed abroad in the heart, implies and includes every other Christian grace and affection. 'Tis a general name for God, and the good which proceeds from him. If the love of God be in the heart, holiness and duty will appear in the life. And, if one might use the expression, 'tis a Spirit, whose very body is good works. For as the spirit of a man is known through the body of a man; so is this Spirit of love discerned by the works and labor of love which it uses. 'Thus, the body of sin is destroyed (for sin hath its body of evil works,) that benceforth the Christian should not serve

sin. Rom. vi. 6.

This love also implies knowledge; because it is impossible to love what is unknown. A man, that doth not know God, or is unknown of Him, cannot love God. Knowledge and affection, in this case, mutually strengthen each other. And this knowledge (as was said before) is not a matter of mere speculation, but of taste and enjoyment. So the apostle states it; I John i. I, 2, &c.—These considerations expose the nakedness of all that empty profession, which treats the gospel as though it were a matter of vision or theory, but substantiates nothing, and produces nothing from it. The remark was just, that "bold and lifeles (though never so fine and well-contrived) must those discourses be, that are of an unknown Christ." A speculation upon the soil of the moon, cannot be more barren than such disquisitions as these.

'Tis a less painful reflection, that, at this present time also, there is a remnant according to the election of grace. Rom xi. 5. Blessed be God, though too, too many disgrace their hely profession, and give sad occasions for others to blaspheme the boly name by which they are called; yet even now, in these last dregs of time, God hath a chosen generation and a peculiar people, whose aim and desire it is to shew forth the praises of him, who hath called them out of darkness into his marvellous light. I Pet. ii. 9. O that their numbers did more abound, and their work of faith were more illustrious, that

an ungodly world might be more askamed than it is when it attempts falsely to accuse their good conversation in Christ.

Happy believer, who walkest, and whose delight it is to walk, according to this rule. Peace be on thee and mercy! The love of the FATAER, Son, and SPIRIT, which is stronger than death-stronger even than thy death of trespasses and sins-yea, stronger than the death of Christ, for it spared not him for thy sake-this unmeasurable love is upon thee and in thee. Thy Lord kath loved thee with an everlasting love, before time began to flow, or sun and stars and earth received their forms; and therefore with loving kindness bath be drawn thee: He will love thee with the same everlasting love, subsisting without decline, when the heavens, the earth, and the elements shall melt away; and therefore thou art safe under bis wings, and shalt never be confounded nor dismayed world without end. O happy, for ever happy soul, how art thou privileged to rejoice, by this Spirit of love, in the view and foretaste of that unabating ardor, with which thy God calls thee, and claims thee for his own! A woman may forget ber sucking child, and may have no compassion on the son of her womb; there hath been such a monster; but thy God hath declared, that He will not forget thee, for thou art graven (as it were) upon the palms of his hands. 1s. xlix. 15, &c. His eyes are ever upon thee to do thee good, in the best way, in the best time, and for the best end. Why then shouldest not thou rejoice, as indeed thou are highly privileged, in thy loving, and faithful Lord? He hath done and will do, both for thee and in thee, all that is requisite for his own glory and thy welfare. Remember, JEHOVAH is the rock, and bis work is perfect. If thou hadst more faith in him; it would certainly shew itself more proportionally in this way of love. The love of the Spirit, shed abroad in thy heart, would cause thee to abound in love towards thy God: And this love would afford thee an increasing measure of humble and holy confidence. This confidence, again, would excite thee to abound in every good word and work, knowing that thou art not acting as uncertainly, or as one that beateth the air, but that thy labor is not in vain in the Lord. All these gracious enects, wrought in thy heart by this Spirit of love, would heighten thy stature and stability as a Christian; and by his continual supply, thou wouldest increase (as the apostle speaks) with the increase of God. Instead of a poor, doubting, trembling life; thou wouldest attain a hope, which would not suffer thee to be ashamed; a faith, which would make thee to know whom and what thou last believed; and a joy which the world could neither give nor take away from thy heart. Thou wouldest enjoy this dignified religion, enabling thee to live superior to the creeping meanness of the world, end ennobling thee with the rank of a citizen of heaven while thou sojournest upon earth. The sense of possessing this privilege, in thy enlightened mind, would induce enlargement of heart above every thing that men call by that name, a true liberality of sentiment, and a generous freedom of soul, which doth not consist in revolting against human laws, but in so living above them as to make them unnecessa-This, O Christian, is thy wisdom; this, thy divine exaltation; an exaltation, as much above all the littleness of human pride, as heaven is above the earth, O that thou hadst more of this spiritual glory shed down upon thy soul even this illustrious majesty of a child of God! Thou wouldest more dearly prize the honors of grace and glory, and shew thyself sensible of thy rank, by living in that spiritual dignity of mind which is agreeable to it. Earthly peers we know, should count it their honor to live above base things, and the princes of this world are anxious to preserve the splendor of their crowns; though all these are in themselves, to the mere philosophic eye, but poor and dying distinctions: And shalt not thou, who art a compeer with the angels in heaven, who art a king, and a priest to God, and an heir of God through Jesus Christ; shalt not thou, above all others, be solicitous to walk worthy of thy high vocation ?-O look up to this Spirit of love and glory, that indeed thou mayest live and act in this superior strain! † Depend upon his wisdom and power, and, possessing these thou certainly wilt. And when thy pilgrimage in this vale of tears is ended, when thou "passest out of the vale of the dying into the vale of the dead," O with what ecstacy of joy wilt thou rise up to those blisful regions, where thy sun shall no more go down, but the Lord shall be thine everlasting light, and the days of thy mourning shall be ended!

# UNDERSTANDING.

\$\$: \$\$: \$\$: \$\$: \$\$

OUR translators have usually rendered the original word for this name, Binah, by the word understanding; but neither this, nor the latin intelligentia, which signifies, intus legere, to read what is within, nor the greek συνεσις οι φρονησις, which

<sup>\*</sup> Sapientia sola libertas est. SEN. Ep. 37.

<sup>†</sup> Magni animi est, magna contemnere. Sen. Ep. 39.

import little more than what we mean by prudence, contain the full sense of the term. The word is derived from a root which signifies to build up, as architec's do, the several members of a structure. For, as the intellect frames the idea, and arranges the distribution of the several materials for the fabric; so the body subserves that idea, and carries into sensible effect, what the intellect has already conceived. The sense of the term may be referred to those powers of the mind, by which we distribute a subject into its several parts for a close investigation and then collect or build up those parts, when separated, for one grand proposition or principle. Hence, the word חכנית, which is sometimes rendered a structure, is often as justly rendered model; pattern, exemplar, type, or similitude, because every material edifice or frame is truly the copy of that pattern, which before existed in the mind: And, when it is spoken with relation to God, it means the relation of a type or pattern from his understanding. Thus, the whole world was compiled according to the all-wise and all-perfect ideas of Jebovab; and thus Moses was directed to frame all the circumstances of the tabernacle according to those spi itual forms which had been revealed to him in the mount. Exod. xxv. 40. Look (said God to Moses) that thou make (form) all things after their PATTERN, which was showed thee (which thou wast enabled to see) in the mount. This may serve to shew the radical meaning of the word. We will now attempt to consider that the term Binab is sometimes, used essentially for the Most High, and that then it is particularly employed as an office-name of JEHOVAH THE SPIRIT.

The Old Testament makes great use of this word, and commonly in conjunction with the word wisdom, which implies a certain knowledge in the mind of a matter; like that sure perception which we gain of sensible objects by the sense of tasting\*. God employs these and other terms, which have relation to our animal and natural faculties, in order to convey by them some necessary information of his own being, and of our relation to him. Did he talk with us upon these subjects, according to the mode of their existence, we should not be able, with our present capacities, to understand him; because we are so far from having any ideas of spiritual modification, that we have no precise notion of the mode in which any sensible object exists in the world. He speaks, therefore, ad captum bumanum, † according to our size and way of

<sup>\*</sup> The Latin word sapere to taste, from whence sapientia wisdom, comes nearly to the idea of the Hebrew word.

<sup>†</sup> It should ever be remembered, that it is not from any obscurity in God or the things of God, that we cannot comprehend them, but from the weakness of our faculties. The natural sun, when it

perception; that we may not be destitute of any saving truth, but be thoroughly furnished (as the apostle speaks) for every good word and work. In the former Volume it was pointed out, that CHRIST, as God, claimed the name of wisdom. Had he been less than God, wisdom could not have been his title, as to his essence, or nature; in which form it is ascribed to him; whatever he might have enjoyed of the communications of wisdom, as a creature: Between which two forms of possession, there is an infinite and eternal difference. Wisdom essential is God himself; and all the persons of the Godhead are therefore wisdom, because they are of and in the essence: And yet one of those divine persons is economically called by this name, and called so in distinction often; because it was his office, as the word of God, to declare and proclaim the WISDOM of God. God is wisdom; but Christ is the exhibition of that wisdom to us: And, therefore, as he is essentially such and also the means or channel of our intercourse with it, be is of God unto us wisdom itself. The same may be said of the word BINAH before us. God himself declares I AM UNDERSTANDING. Prov. viii. 14. And Christ, who is the wisdom of God ad extra, or to us, joins in that declaration. But, if the LORD had not so positively claimed this title; what creature, or creatures, could have said, "I am wisdom: I am understanding itself: I owe nothing of either to another? With respect to the essence; God the Father is wisdom and understanding: So is God the Son, and God the Holy Ghost. In the unity of the essence, they are so; and in the trinity of person, they cannot be less; for diminutions or differences in deity cannot be supposed without polytheism or nonsense. But, as the manifestation or communication of this wisdom was the personal engagement of Christ in the covenant of grace, as it hath been shewed; he, therefore, is called wisdom: So the manifestation and communication of this understanding, being the office of the boly Spirit (as we shall aim to clear;) he is specially expressed by the name Binab, or understanding: Name and essentiality being but one with God. And, further, as the communication of this wisdom and this understanding are operations of one and the same Jehovah, though referred to distinct persons in him; it proves, by the way, the unity and co-essentiality of those persons in the one Jehovah.

If God be understanding in essence; surely, the SPIRIT, who searcheth his profound, can be no other.\* He is thereshines brightest, becomes less an object of vision than at other times. The mysteries of God proclaim the ignorance of man; for there can be no such thing as mystery to a perfect intellection.

\* What a contradiction doth this text (I Cor. ii. 10.) afford to the strange assertion of *Plotinus*, that the first principle, or God;

fore, called the Spirit of understanding, &c. who was to rest upon Christ. Is. xi. 2. and, at the same time, the Spirit febovab; by which latter name we see his right to the former. If he were not the understanding of febovab himself, he could not spiritually teach all things; at all times, at one and the same time; to myriads of different beings, in different states, situations of place, capacity, and existence. Nor vet could he shew his people things to come, nor glorify Christ, nor take of the things of Christ and the Father (John xvi. 14, 15.) unless he were one with Christ and the Father. To say, that the Spirit could take of an infinite understanding, and exercise it infinitely, without participating or having in himself that infinite understanding; would be as great an absurdity as to affirm, that a part contains the whole, that time can measure eternity, or that creatures create themselves. The Scriptures speak very differently, and declare, that, however it might be supposed that the multitude of years should teach men wisdom, it surely is the SPIRIT HIM-SELF \* in man, and must be inspiration of the Almighty, who giveth them understanding, or causeth them to understand. Job. xxxii. 8. Agreeable to this, the apostle asks, Who bath known the mind of the Lord? or who bath been his counsellor? intimating plainly, that none but himself, for, as the prophet speaks, there is no searching of bis understanding; and the psalmist gives the reason, because his understanding is infinite. But, as the Spirit searche:ball :bis; it follows, that he must have an infinite understanding, or rather must be the infinite understanding bimself: And, if He be this infinite understanding, it will necessarily conclude, that He is truly and essentially God. There is no avoiding this conclusion but by denying him the attribute of understanding; in which case, it would be impossible that he should teach any thing. And how this can be reconciled to the express words of Scripture, the opposers of the Spirit's divinity are bound to explain.

Thus it appears, that understanding, in its essence, is necessarily God himself; And that the Holy Spirit is this

cannot properly know itself? See more of this in Cupworth's Int. system. B. i. c. 4.

\* Dr. Grey, in his edition of Schultens's Job, justly says, upon this passage; Non intelligo adstatum motumque propheticum, sed ordinarium effectum Spiritus illuminantis, sine cujus influxu negat Elihu de rebus divinis vel sentiri, vel disputari recte, posse. And then just afterwards; Insinuatur lumen veritatis, quo Deus mente collustrat, non esse annis alligatum; and sape, sic volente Deo, juvenem de rebus divinis peritius and solidius dissertare, quam grandavos.

essential understanding, because He is a person in the Godhead. From him, in the unity of the divine persons, proceeds every measure of communicable understanding to the creatures. who never could know any thing by themselves, nor beyond the limits assigned them. God is the intellect, strictly speaking; and, from him, through the agency of the Spirit, is supplied all the intellection of other beings, whether in earth or heaven. He is, at one and the same time, the first cause and the first intellect: And, therefore, the schoolmen and others # did not say amiss, when they asserted, that in Deo idem est intelligere & esse, " in God to understand and to be, is the same;" or, Ipse est scientia sua, et scientia sua est ipse, "himself is his knowledge, and his knowledge is himself." He knows all things, not because they exist, as we know them; but they exist because of his knowledge, in a manner we cannot know them. He foreknew them, when they had not a sensible existence, or such a being as is the object of created perception; and he brought them into this mode of existence according to his will. Known unto God are all his works from the beginning of the world: And so his people are known of him, before they could be positively known of each other, or recognize themselves. He sees through eternityt at one view, (to speak in the language of men,) because He alone is infinite and eternal; while all the creatures, having a finite capacity, can only see to its particular extent, beyond which, let it be more or less, an infinitude will ever remain to be explored and understood.

These ideas, concerning the Spirit of God, are not new, but as old, at least, as the Scriptures. Novatian said truly, Spiritus sanctus non est in evangelio novus, sed nec nove datus: to the holy Spirit is not a being never revealed till

<sup>\*</sup> Thom. Aquin. 1. quæst. xvi. art. 5. Mornæus de ver. Rel. Christ. c. 13. Maimon. Port. Mos. p. 256. Zanch. de attrib. Dei. l. iji. 9. 10. Gomar. de vis. Dei. p. 251.

<sup>†</sup> It was the remark of a Jesuit and no great friend to divine revelation, that a sort of people, who follow the principles of Aristotle, "pretend that God knows no events but after they are come to pass, that what is usually called the future contingent, cannot be known to God, and that what doth not already exist, cannot be known at all. The Socinians, (and he might have added some other names) who make profession of this refined philosophy, and according to which they regulate all religion, are but the disciples of the Mahometan doctors'—who attribute all to sense, and who believe that even God himself hath that kind of substance, which we term body. See F. Simon's remarks upon Dandini's voyage to mount Libanus, c. 8.

<sup>†</sup> Novar. edit. Welchm. p. 110.

the times of the gospel, nor yet from that period newly given :" He is one and the same, in his influences upon patriarchs, prophets, and apostles, and ever suited his agency, according to the times and occasions, appointed in the counsels of the Highest. Accordingly (as it hath been shewn, from many authorities, in the introduction to the first Volume) the most learned and respectable Jews, long before and for sometime after Christ(till their hatred of Christianity led them to oppose, or torture, all the great truths in the Bible) used this name Binab to express the third person in the Trinity, in whom they professed to believe. The term Holy Spirit was, in their idea, the name of a divine person; and they often used it to express both him and his operations. They had not then learned, with Arius and the other disciples of the too ingenious Origen, to consider him as a mere prophetical gift,\* an inspiration, an emanation, a virtue, or some other sort of quality. However such an opinion may agree with the dogmas of the platonic school at Alexandria; it by no means accords with the revelation of God, who only (as we have in a former Essay observed) could impart any truth concerning his own being.

As the words mercy and truth are often coupled together, which are (as hinted in another placet) office-characters of Christ and the Spirit; so we find, and especially in the book of the proverbs, that the names wisdom and understanding are frequently conjoined, as being other office-titles of the same divine persons. The redeemed have communion with both of them under all these denominations. Thus Christ is the wisdom of God, I Cor. i. 24. and of God made UNTO US wisdom, v. 30. And thus the Spirit is to teach all things, to lead and guide into all truth, John xvi. 13. and being sent from the Son, John xv. 56. is that understanding subich is true, and so said to be given by the Son, 1 John v. 20. See also John xv. 26. The full assurance, being a gift of grace, must come from the Spirit of grace; and therefore it is not only an assurance of bope, but (as peculiarly characteristic of its divine agent) the full assurance of understanding. Col. ii. 2. He is inseparably connected with Christ the wisdom; and therefore the knowledge of his will is, in all wisdom and spiritual understanding. Col. i. g. In other words, believers are led to know and enjoy the communion of Christ and the Spirit. It is this Spirit's office to take of the things of Christ and shew them to his people. John xvi. 15. And when

<sup>\*</sup> So Abarbanel, R. Solomon, Jarchi, &c. in Huns. Thevi. Jud. p. 206, &c.

<sup>†</sup> See Spirit of Truth.

Christ breathed on his disciples, and said, receive ye the Holy Ghost, John xx. 22. it was an outward sign of that invisible grace, which by his Spirit he bestowed upon them, in order to open their understandings, that they might understand the Scriptures. Luke xxiv. 45. This Holy Ghost illuminated their minds to apprehend those mysteries of the word, concerning which, before that operation, they were spiritually blind and ignorant. From the sense of this great truth, the Psalmist, in the exixth Psalm, so often prays for understanding from Jehovah, that he might know spiritual things, and once in particular, at v. 144. requests this precious gift, that he might live. This spiritual grace is indeed the life and action of the soul; and therefore it is said, in another psalm, that a man however high in honour with respect to other things, if he spiritually do not understand, is

like the beasts that perish.

Since the fall, man is naturally without knowledge of God, and without concern for the salvation of his soul: And though the education which he may receive in a Christian land, and the customary ideas which he may imbibe from others, may furnish him with something to say upon the topic, of a Deity, or upon any other articles of the Christian faith; yet his understanding is just as darkened with respect to any real apprehension of God, and his heart as much alienated from the life of God, as the heart and understanding of any Mahometan or Pagan. It seems to be a sad mistake with many, arising from ignorance of the word and power of God, that the having some notion of God and of Christ, and of a certain theory deduced from the Scriptures, is quite sufficient to constitute them real and knowing Christians. But if they happen to adorn all this speculation by a tolerably decent and virtuous life; they are then (as they suppose) in a very safe state indeed, and really working out their own salvation. There is indeed so little even of this low kind of knowledge among the generality of men, that with reluctance one would drop a word against it; but when men collect their principles and gather their notions, not only without God, but against his revealed will; there is no charity in pronouncing well of a case, that (if God be true) will never stand the test, which one day must be made of it. There cannot be too much goodness, nor even too much of the appearance of goodness in the world: And the temporal happiness of socicty requires every encouragement to both. But we are speaking, in this instance, of man's state with God, by whom all things are understood in a very different way from the modes of the world, and to whom mere appearances are nothing, and indeed worse than nothing. Realities, or truth, only can be acceptable to him, who is all understanding to

search out, and all truth itself to weigh, the mind and actions of his creatures. We may deceive others, and ourselves to a but human vanity never yet pretended a power to delude him. The question then, which will arise upon these considerations, is; how shall a man know, that he is not decived in this most important concern; and what certainty can be

obtain of rectitude in any thing? The solution is easy; because God hath made it so: And nothing but extreme corruption and blindness could keep men from seeing it. Man feels himself a feeble, ignorant, and failen creature, whether he will own it or not. In this situation, he is void of rule, and being without strength, could not walk by one, if even he had wisdom enough left to find out the rule or lay it down. The author of all wisdom, therefore, hath provided this rule, and fitted it for the case of those, for whose benefit he was pleased to grant it. This rule is his revealed word, or will; and it applies to those o'jects, for which it was principally needed; the objects of spiritual life and salvation. It meets man upon the ground of his fall, alienation, and apostasy from God: And till a man finds himself upon that ground, it can be no rule to him, and will do him no good, respecting those objects of it just mentioned. The question then occurs, How is man to be brought upon this ground, with respect to his perception? for it will appear, that, perceiving it or not, he is certainly upon it .-The rule revealed has furnished an answer. Considering him as dead in sin, it shows, that the Spirit of God alone can quicken from that death—as depraved and departed from God; that this Spirit restores and gives an access with confidence through Christ Jesus-as having a wicked and sceny heart naturally; that the same gracious agent converts and renews it to a beart of flesh, capable of perceiving and feeling what it never could before-and (to avoid more particulars at present) this rule treats man, as blind in the soul, darkened in the understanding, and utterly ignorant of God and his glory; and shows that this almighty Spirit alone opens the eyes of the mind, enlightens the understanding, and teaches all things which are necessary to be known. Hence, it may be seen, as clearly as the words of this revelation can manifest it that man, being ignorant, cannot reach bimself, and being deal, cannot recover himself, or attain any understanding of God; unless God in mercy first visit bim by his gracious Spirit, and teach him the use of that revolution, respecting his state and condition for time and eternity. God shews wan his own darkness, before he admits him to know, or consider the melf 23 light in the Lord. This is the Scripture-mode of representing man since the fall; and therefore, they who deny it, or attempt to conduct themselves by any other line, on the the only straight rule which God ever gave to man, and con-

sequently walk in the crooked paths of spiritual error.

We are come to the use and necessity of that office of the Holy Spirit, by which he is known to be the Spirit of understanding. God is understanding in himself, and in a mode incommunicable to us; but, in mercy to poor sinners, the second person would be known under the name of wisdom, to be communicable wisdom for them; and the Hely Spirit, or third person, assumed the office-name of understanding, to give them an understanding which is true, and to lead them forward to contemplate, receive and enjoy Christ, who is the wisdom and power of God. The divine persons confer upon believers, according to their state, a due portion of their official influences. Happy, therefore, is the man, that findeth wisdom, and the man that getteth understanding. It shall give to his head an ornament of GRACE, a crown of GLORYshall it deliver to him!

This great and glorious UNDERSTANDING then descends from heaven, that those, on whom he descends, may both experimentally know \* themselves, and know him. From hence it follows, that, without this descent, they can know neither aright. This understanding is also cloathed with power: he is not a naked idea or an unfelt notion, which leaves the heart as it was, while it puffs up the mind; but life, light, activity, joy, and immortality, all together. He comes as God, with the power of God, and not only bears down all resistance from without, but turns the heart into so sweet a compliance within, that it yields as much by its own will, as by the will of the Spirit itself, which bears it along. Thus the heart would not resist, if it could. "When the Lord himself (says the amiable archbishop Leighton †) speaks by his spirit to a man, selecting and calling him out of the lost world; he can no more disobey than Abraham did, when the Lord spoke to him, after an extraordinary manner, to depart from his own country and kindred .- There is a secret, but very powerful, virtue in a word, or look, or touch of this Spirit upon the soul, by which it is forced, not with a barsb but pleasing violence, and cannot chuse but follow it; not unlike that of Elijab's mantle upon Elisba. 1 Kings xix. 19. How easily did the disciples forsake their callings and dwellings to follow Christ?"

It is this understanding, which accompanies his own

<sup>\*</sup> So, to know wisdom, Prov. 1. 2. means sensible perception and experimental knowledge. The word rimplies that thorough and certain recognition, which gives the mind or sense full evidence or conviction of a matter.

<sup>†</sup> Comm. upon 1 Pct. i. 2.

word with conviction and demonstration to the the souls of his people: without him, the word, inestimably precious as it is, can only touch the ear, without reaching the heart. It is HE, who giveth understanding to the simple, and often by means of a few plain and simple words; while the rhetoric, and other literary embellishments of man live only in the sound. These, however ingenious inthemselves, or in human esteem, when they pretend to act in divine things, presently discover ther weakness and futility, and, like the momentary ebullitions of froth, are lost in air. How often shall a plain sermon and an unstudied book, where the man himself has not aimed to Be seen but only to shew his Lord, be blessed to the conversion, establishment and happiness of immortal souls; when pompous orations and laboured performances shall evaporate in sound, or (what is much the same) produce no spiritual good? or, if they are remembered for a while, they are remembered not for God's glory, but for the praise of these dying creatures who made them. A poor employment this, to speak and write for the breath of worms which is at first corrupt in itself, and soon vanishes into nothing!

This glorious understanding takes of the things of fesus and explains them to the mind, inducing both a right apprehension and a true experience at once. He is the great teacher; not of mere words, barren comments; not of florid fancies and airy speculations; but of things, and of things rich and solid, even grace and glory everlasting. All the understanding, which he communicates to the soul, is to be enjoyed as well as known, to be lived upon in the heart, while it is found sweet to the taste. Without him there is neither life nor power in the most just or excellent words; witness the word of God himself, which is a book sealed, a book unfelt and unendeared, till the great teacher apply it to the soul. If this great understanding be not present, preaching is vain, and bearing is also vain. Without HIM, preachers however learned or able in other respects, are but mere pulpiteers, not ministers of Jesus rightly dividing the word of truth ;-tinkling cymbals, clear perhaps and fine; sounding brass, loud, yet only noise and shew. Without usm, people also may be professors, towering, old and esteemed professors, but not Christians indeed, not perfect\*, mild, nor humble followers of a meek and lowly Saviour. And without HIM it is possi-

<sup>\*</sup> This much-abused word occurs very particularly in I Cor. ii. 6. Eph. iii. 5. and in some other places. It by no means implies a perfection devoid of sin, but that manly degree of knowledge, which in human capacity is opposed to merelity and weakness, and in sacred life to those who are babes in Christ. Thus among the Pythagoreans, the relate, were those, who, like the Experiment of Jew-

ble to be members of an outward church, and of the purest outward church too in the world; and yet not members of Christ's mystic body, nor communicants with him the living head. In a word, as with HIM, men become beirs of God and joint-beirs with Christ, both for grace and glory, so without bim, they have nothing but spiritual ignorance, vanity, corruption, and wretchedness without end.

How often, to convince us of this, doth this Almightv Un-DERSTANDING work faith and confer knowledge upon many low, despised, and (in other respects) ignorant souls; while He leaves the learned and the proud to the wretched ignorance, error and uncertainty of all human knowledge? And how often, to put the utmost contempt upon this knowledge, which wholly leaves a man at the grave, doth He suffer the grand deluder of the world to perplex these wise and great ones in labyrinths of their own making? What a great profane with once said, every man out of Christ, whether learned or ignorant, may say too; Dubius vixi, incertus morior: "I lived in doubt, and quite uncertain die." There can be no certainty, but in truth; and there is no truth, which can profit the soul, but what is discovered in the word of God. If we venture to ground our knowledge in divinity upon any thing but the written testimony, we shall find, to our cost, that the devil is an abler logician than the acutest of us all. He not only can impose his sophisms upon us for truths, but can corrupt and ensnare the affections, while he puzzles and confounds the mind. He has cheated every one of us ten thousand times: We know, too, that we have been cheated; and, yet so well can his artifices soothe and suit our corruptions, that unless this SPIRIT of truth restrain, he will deceive us to the end. 'Tis this all-wise teacher alone, who enables his disciples to detect Satan's fallacies, and suffers not the meanest of them to be wholly ignorant of his devices. He graciously exposes the snare, removes erroneous impressions and revives the heart too with a persuasion, which (however languid and obscured at times) shall never finally be baffied or lost.

Doth not all this explain to the believer, or enforce the explanation, that the source of his spiritual knowledge lies out of himself, and that it flows freely and only from Him,

ish schools, were distinguished from the novices, or mere learners. And thus in the school of Christ, the relation the perfect, or well-established disciples, being arrived to the measure of a perfect man, become by degrees fathers and old men, who are not to be carried about, like children or novices, with every wind of doctrine. See several criticisms upon the word in Leight's critica sacra.

<sup>†</sup> Duke of Buckingham.

who is all understanding to teach, and all power to preserve those that depend upon him?-It is a striking passage (already noticed) in Plutarch, that Pericles, whenever he attempted to address the people, used to pray to the gods, that no unbecoming word or improper expression might pass his lips: And shall a heathen to his idols do this, animated only, as Pericles was, with the dying concerns of a moment, and thus put to shame those who know the true God, and profess the hope of living with Him through eternity? Ought not Christians, above all men, in the deepest distrust of their own sufficiency, to ask for wisdom at the spring-head of all wisdom, even of God, who giveth liberally, and uf braideth not. Are they privileged to have a right understanding in all things pertaining to salvation; and shall they not apply for it to that bountiful Spirit, who will deny them nothing for their good? Alas! Did this humble, vet wise and safe, frame of mind more obtain among professors; what a different scene would appear in the church of God below? What different sort of people would be found in the professing world? This at once would dissolve half our parties and divisions, which originated from pride, passion and disappointment on the one hand, and from interest, insolence, and intolerancy of mind, on the other. It would then be seen, that it is the Spirit of the world which forms and foments divisions, not only from divine truth, but from the unity of those brethren in whom the truth resides; and by no means the Spirit of God, who is the author of peace and concord. It is none of bis wisdom, which finds out points of difference, nor indeed any true natural wisdom, among men; but a foelish and wicked spirit, which either cannot or will not discorn those essential grounds of holiness and peace; in which all Christians, as Christians, must be agreed. The Spirit of truth, who is understanding, inclines all his people to rejoice in the TRUTH, not only as it appears in the narrow circle of a particular profession, but also wherever it is to be found, and will deaw the heart of a believer to love another believer for the :rusb's sake, though his mode of education, another set of phena, or a different habit, may have set them at a distance in the opinion of men. If God has vouchsafed his grace and love to a man, whom we, as Peter thought of Cornelius, may perhaps have considered as unclean; who are we, that we should withhold our affections where God hath bestowed bis? Are we not alarmed with a fear, lest in so doing, we should withstand God? - It is however a reviving fact, that those souls, who have had most true life and spirituality, and therefore walked the closest in communion with God, have ever been the most gentle, humble, and conciliating, with respect to their conduel among men. They feel too much of their own weakness

and frailty to venture upon those large strides of presumption. which the want only of true understanding and clearness could ever prompt others to make, in many a difficult and slippery road. They, who hastily jump to conclusions, (as one used to express it) are commonly those, who see but a little, and presume a great deal: Did they see more of the way before them, they would not attempt to run, where the ablest find it a labor to walk. To the grief of soberer minds. how often may they hear some poor talkative professors determining upon the most difficult and sublime topics, with the positive air and authority of a general council? And how often do such persons take a great deal of pains to prove, to every intelligent Christian, that really they know nothing of the matter? Bishop Hall names a man of this sort, " a bladder full of wind, a skin full of words, a fool's wonder, and a wise man's fool." It is indeed very different to confess the truth, and to make a profession of it: The one implies a previous and certain knowledge; whereas the other may be proposed without any knowledge at all. The meanest beliver, 'tis true, may be called upon at some time or other, to speak for his master and the truths of his gospel; and in doing this, for God, he is not to fear the face of man: But he will always remember, or ought to remember that, if God's providence has rendered this a just or necessary duty, God's grace will not leave him to himself, but be bis mouth and wisdom, his aid and support, which the enemies of truth shall not be able to everthrow. In a wordevery believer might take up his word, upon such occasions, and address himself to God;

Whene'er thy laws,
Thy truth and cause
To own, my duty be;
From fear of shame,
Or love of fame,
Good LORD, deliver me!

Upon the whole, we may reflect that man hath no spiritual understanding from bimself, that he cannot procure it but through the internal renewing and operation of the SPIRIT of understanding and that he cannot even exercise it, when conferred upon him, but by the continual agency of this Holy One. The inference from all which, to the soul of the believer, is, that it is necessary for him, never to lean to bis own understanding, but simply to depend upon this Lord the Spirit for his instruction in rightcoursess in the use of his word; and that, for this reason, he ought ever to pray for the fulfilment of the promise, that this blessed guide may not only be with him but dwell in him, as a fountain of grace and understanding, springing up into everlasting life.

## OIL OF GLADNESS.

IL is one of the three active principles (as the chemists assert), which enter into the composition of all animal and vegetable substances, and by which they are enabled both to subsist and grow.\* The essential oil lubricating and sheathing all the parts, and forming a vehicle for the essential salt or nitre by being perfectly intermixed, and both these acted upon by the light; is the mean used by the wise Creator to put in motion the spirit of the whole animal and vegetable economy, or, in other words, to cause it to live and prosper. When a tree dies, we perceive an abstraction of this oil from its substance; for, when a part of it is placed upon the fire, it will yield no flame, as every substance, which hath oil in it, obviously will. And every body knows that the fatness of animals, which proceeds from the exuberance of this natural oil, is, when proportional to the other parts of the frame, both indicative of their health and conducive to their beauty.

As oil is an essential part of the life, health, strength, and beauty of substantial forms; it hath pleased the divine wisdom to constitute it for the emblem of THAT HOLY ONE, who imparts every portion of divine life, vigor, and glory to the spiritual world. Wheever is not acted upon by or is not possesed of Him, is dead, according to the Scripture, in the most dreadful sense of that term. Whoever doth not enjoy Him, is so far from being spiritually beautiful, that he is as loathsome and abominable in the sight of Jebovab, as a putrid and stinking carcase, can be unclean and offensive to the natural

Ss

<sup>\*</sup> The earth, while it supplies the various plants which grow upon it, is supplied for that purpose very much by the dew, which is full of oleaginous particles. "The dews (says our philosor hical husbandman, Mr. Tuil) seem to be the richest present the atmosphere gives to the earth; having, when putrified in a vessel, a black sediment like mud at the bettom. This seems to cause the darkish colour to the upper part of the ground. And the sulphur which is found in the dew, may be the chief ingredient of the cement of the earth; sulphur being very glutinous, as nitre is dissolvent. Dew has both these." Tull shusbandry, c. vi.—A lively comment this upon that gracious promise, I will be as the cervainto Israel; Hos. xiv. 5. i. e. the spiritual cause of all gracious fertility.

sense of man. None ought to be offended at the strength of these expressions; for this very image is employed by God himself to describe his abhorrence of the state of sin, and of

those who are in it. Is. xxxiv. 3.

These premises may lead us to the spiritual design, for which the Lord instituted, with so much precision, the ceremony of unction under the Jewish dispensation. Not more than the blood of bulls and goats could take away sin, could oil, as a material substance, either be holy or make holy. It was what the oil signified, and what Jebovab revealed under its emblem, which fulfilled that gracious intention to the heirs of salvation. The true believers then, as well as now, were divinely instructed to resolve the parable, and through the agent in nature, or natural object, to behold and to experience the spiritual blessing from the God of grace. Neither Moses, nor any other man, was equal to the comprehension of so much wisdom, as the spiritual eye sees, in the legal economy, under its various types and shadows; nor could any human ingenuity have contrived mysteries so loudly prophetic and deeply predicable, as those in the Levitical service, even though previously possesed of the gospel.\* A gracious mind sees the hand of God, beyond the power of man, in the whole arrangement and design.

When unction was prepared according to the command ment in Exod. xxx. 23, &c. the basis of which was oil-olive, strongly impregnated with three principal spices; and when this preparation was poured upon the head of Aaron, and of his sons the high-priests after him; they spiritually beheld the promise, and the mode of its fulfilment, that the Holy Spirit would, in the fullness of time, descend upon the great head of the church, and from him flow down to all his members, that they also might be an habitation of God through the Spirit. They saw, that he was to be anointed (whence his name Messiab, Christ) with this OIL of GLADNESS above those, whom in mercy he would call and make bis fellows. Ps. xlv They foresaw in faith, that the SPIRIT JEHOVAH would rest upon bim (Is. xi. 2.) and be upon bim, anointing bim to preach good tidings (Is. 1xi. 1.) and, in a word, to do all that was necessary to be done for his people's salvation. † The souls. It might also signify, the internal consolation, life and

<sup>\*</sup> An Heathen professed, Tradadi: arcano quodeunque volumine Moses. Juv. Sat. xiv. 1. 102. And to thousands, who would not wish to be thought Heathens, the writings of Moses is as much a volumon urcumon arcumun as they were to Juvenal.

<sup>†</sup> The mode of anointing a Priest under the law in the form of the Greek X, from whence it has been conjectured further that

fragrance of this sweet unction to the outward smell signified to them the complacency and delight of the Holy One in this gracious operation, and the communicated excellency bestowed upon them, who received this precious treasure into their souls: It might also signify, the internal consolation, life and support, which they should feel in themselves under his

when they behold the high priest fully anointed with the holy oil, so as (according to the psalmist) to run down upon bis beard, and to the skirts of bis cloatbing; and, on the other hand, saw that the inferior priests were only sprinkled with it, and this sprinkling made not without the blood of the ram of consecration: They were led to consider, that the Holy Ghost would be poured without measure upon the great high priest of our profession, because of the infinitude of his person and office; but in measure upon those who are spiritual priests in all ages; and that these last would need an atonement for their sin, (in contradistinction to the great Messiab) before they could enter upon the holy service of offering up spiritual sacrifices of prayer and thanksgiving to the Most High.

When they read, that the holy unction was only to be compounded for this use, and that it was by no means to be put upon a stranger; they understood, that the Holy Ghost was not only remote from all impurity and the low purpose of this mortal life in himself, but that also He would peculiarly apply himself to the true Israel of God, and, in that application,

render them his peculiar people too.\*

Thus the antient believers spiritually beheld the glory of this divine person, and the nature of his gracious office; and if we, in the present dispensation, are favoured with the same anointing, we shall behold these comfortable intentions as they did. We shall find, that the institutions delivered to them have a voice of grace and truth to us, and preach aloud, that Christ and the Spirit are at once the hope and the means

through the Cross of Christ the blessings of the spiritual oil was to flow, has been treated of by some; but not being authorised by the written word, it is not insisted upon here.

\* The learned Dean Prideaux, following the Rabbins, seems to suppose, that this Holy Oil was but once made, and that it was afterwards miraculously kept in the most holy place till the destruction of the first temple. But Witsius, with very apparent reason, urges, that there is no ground from the command in Exod. xxx. to suppose, that it was to be compounded only once for all generations, but that it was never to be applied to any profane use after it was compounded. See PRIDEAUX S Connection. p. 1. B. iii. § 5. WITE, De sacerdotio Aaronis & Christi. § 57, &c.

of glory. We shall perceive, that the new Testament only declares in express words the accomplishment in fact of the predictions of the Old, and that there is an inexpressible harmony and inseparable relation between them both. This unction will also enable us to see, that the faith of God's elect is no novelty, but hath ever been one and the same pre-

cious gift, almost from the foundation of the world.

When the great Messiah was to appear in the flesh for the accomplishment of his people's redemption, that flesh was qualified for this office, not only by the hypostatic union with a person in Jehovah, but by the special endowment and unction of the Holy Ghost; and for this reason, that, through Christ as the head, the Spirit of grace might have communion with all the members. Accordingly, it was prophesied concerning our Immanuel, that the SPIRIT JEHOVAH should rest upon bim, &c. (Is. xi. 2. and lxi. 1.) constituting thereby what is to be understood by the typical unction: And indeed if Christ himself as to his divine nature, be a person in the Godhead, none but a person of co-equal subsistence could possibly glorify him, as God in his arduous mission. Nor when the Holy Ghost descended upon Christ at his baptism, by which he was evidentially anointed and commissioned as man, to proceed on his great work, could any being less than the Almighty afford the qualification. If Christ's disciples were baptized by the Holy Ghost, in order to endue them with power for the discharge of their subordinate commissions; and if this baptism be that Unction from the Holy One, which enableth the believer to know all things needful for salvation, and is also the Anointing, which Teacheth his people, and is the TRUTH himself; I John ii. 20, 27. and, further, if no other than an infinite and almighty agent can possibly extend such blessings to innumerable objects at one and the same moment, and guide, rule, and preserve them to everlasting glory: Surely, it is impossible, that the blessed Messiah, who is before all things, and by whom all things consist, should have the unction of a creature, and a commission from a subordinate being, to perform his undertaking. A man must have immense credulity in the possibilities of creatures to imagine, that a divine person can receive accessions of power or dignity, either from a dependent being, or from a mere emanation which can scarce be called a being at all .-To such unavoidable absurdities are those driven, who, acknowleging the data, or truths of the Scripture, yet venture to deny the conclusions necessarily deducible from them; and denying them because spiritual existence cannot be explained by corrupt reason, which, as to the essence of even the meanest matter, can fully explain nothing in the world. They seem to forget exceedingly, that if finite understandings could comprehend God, (speaking with reverence) God would not be infinite; and that it is a most absolute impossibility to know any thing more of the mode of his existence, than what he is pleased to reveal and declare concerning it. It is the wisdom of man and his best reason, therefore, to believe implicitly the declarations of God: And to doubt him, is that irrational atheism, which detains the mind in every

maze of error and obscurity. From the above considerations, we may perceive with what propriety the Holy Ghost is called the Spirit of Christ (1 Pet. 1. 11.) and the Spirit of the Son (Gal. iv. 6.) as well as the Spirit proceeding from the Father (John xv. 26.) or the Spirit of God; because the intercommunion and co-existence of the divine persons is such, that whatever is predicable of one of them, as to their nature, is predicable equally of the others. And from hence also we may understand, when it is said concerning the faithful; God is in them (1 Cor. xiv. 25.) or Christ is in them (Rom. viii. 10.) or the Spirit dwelleth in them (Rom. viii. 11. et al.) that such phrases mean, that they are partakers of the DIVINE NATURE (2 Pet. 1. 4.) in general, by having communion with, or by being partakers of, either of the divine persons in particular. (See Heb. iii. 14. vi. 4.) Upon the like account, when either of the divine persons is mentioned in Scripture, as the immediate author of grace or fellowship; it is to be understood that, through the office-character and operation of the person named, the believer is to consider himself, in that instance, as brought into communion with the Godhead. This observation seems fully confirmed by our Lord himself in his last prayer to the Father: I in them—this is the nexus, or bond of union between Christ and his people—and THOU in me—this is the union of Christ with the Godhead-and, just before, as thou, Father, art in me, and I in thee-this is the reciprocal fellowship of the divine persons-that THEY also may be ONE IN US-and that implies the union or fellowship of believers with the di vine persons, as the final object of their salvation. Hence we see the apostle's meaning, where he says, that be that is joined to the Lord is ONE Spirit: I Cor. vi. 17. that believers are members of Chrise's body, of his flesh, and of his bones: Eph. v. 30. that both HE that sanctifieth, and THEY who are sanctified, are all OF ONE; for which cause Christ is not ashamed to call them brethren: Heb. ii. 11. And that through bim [CHRIST] they have an access by one Spirit unto the FATHER. Eph. ii. 18) These passages of Scripture, and several others of the like import, necessarily infer both a unity and personality in the Godhead, and also the communion of the saints with the unity, by means of the personality. Thus they have fellowship with the FATHER (I John i. 3.) fallow-

ship wiih the Son (I Cor. i. 9. I John i. 3.) and the fellowship of the Spirit (Phil. ii. 1.): And will any man venture to say, that the faithful have these fellowships, or any one of them, all resulting from one cause, all conducive to one end, with any being less than God? will he be bold enough to declare, that the respective communions, thus distinctly marked from the several operations, and clearly leading (as in Eph. ii. 18.) from the office of one to the other, do not necessarily state a personality and in consequence a Trinity, in the divine nature? And will he dare to affirm, while the Scripture as expressly reveals the unity as the personality, that this personality doth not subsist in the unity, and only because he cannot comprehend it ?- Men have dared to affirm such tenets, though directly opposite to God's own declaration; and the worms, who are not able to comprehend the essence of the least thing about them, have been hardy enough to dispute against the triune essence of their MAKER, in the very face of his own communication and testimony. This method is only consistent in those, who put the Bible upon a level with Quintus Curtius or any other romance, " And who reason onward, till they doubt of God." But the reason or wisdom of this world never knew God; and God hath made foolish the wisdom of this world, and perhaps in no one instance more than when it attempts to define Him, who hath made it foolish.

Leaving these to the divine mercy; of this we may be assured as a truth, that those, who have obtained the fellowship of the divine persons, cannot deny or doubt of their proper divinity, nor of their unity of nature. Such are divinely persuaded, that their communion with the Spirit is a communion with God and that the Holy Gbost is that personal Paraclete, or teacher who leadeth and guideth into all the truth, and of course into this as a most important branch of it. They know whom that have believed in this case, as well as in all the others. Experience follows and concurs with doctrine in the great leading principles of salvation; and God neither leaves bimself without witness nor yet his people, concerning a matter of such consequence to his own glory. It may be said to them, as it was to the virgin Mary; Blessed are they that believed; for there shall be a performance of those things, which have been told them from the LORD.

The HOLY SPIRIT, then, is not only the OIL OF GLADNESS, but the sacred anointer too. God cannot be passive, but is always the first great agent, active and acting: And, therefore, whatever perfection is revealed concerning Him, or apprehended of Him, it is always causative and efficient, not dormant or inert, as in the creatures till acted upon. In this view, He is the hope and the strength of his people, helping their infirmities, correcting their errors, complete the contraction of the complete the complete the contraction of the complete the complete the contraction of the contraction

forting their hearts, and carrying on the whole work of grace in them for glory. To him they are to look up in all circumstances and situations, and to depend upon his blessing, in all times of adversity or of wealth, of sickness or of health, "in the hour of death, and in the day of judgment." With respect to the things of time, they know (to use the words of an ingenious author)\* that "if all the [earthly] happiness that is dispersed through the whole race of mankind in this world were drawn together, and put into the possession of any single man, it would not make a very happy being;" and, therefore, they are led by this Holy Spirit to seek for happiness out of the modes of the world which can afford none, and to find a divine reality of it in him.

From his outward emblem of oil, they are led to understand some intimations of the manner of his grace in their hearts; and their souls are confirmed by experience, in whatever their eyes can learn by vision concerning it. To such, the mention of a few instances, may not, however well-known

be altogether unimportant.

Oil hath ever had a most distinguished place in the materia medica, and, among the antients in particular, was always held in the highest estimation as a great antidote against poison, both outwardly and inwardly applied. † It was for this reason, they frequently anointed themselves to induce health and strength: And possibly the anointing with oil in the name of the Lord, mentioned by the apostle, which has been so miserably distorted to the superstition of extreme unction, among the papists, signified only that the friends of the sick Christian should use it medically, as a lawful means under the divine blessing, for his recovery. James v. 14.—So, in a spiritual view, the believer sees, and is happily made to experience, that the OIL OF GLADNESS is the only great antidote for the poison of sin, and that this alone can essectually resist the malady of a corrupt nature, or heal its putrid and destructive wounds. Luke x. 33, &c. See also Is. i. 6. When, therefore they see themselves sorely beset, they pray for this unction of strength and wisdom that they may victoriously repel and rightly understand: And when they feel the contagious sores of iniquity upon their souls, they implore this gracious anointing both to mollify the pain, and to heal up the plague. Nor do they pray and implore in vain. The Holy Spirit is given to them that ask. He descends as the oil from Christ to heal, and becomes the vil of gladness in healing, all the maladies and miseries of sin. He will finally make a perfect cure, and bring them to the regions of everlasting health and joy.

<sup>\*</sup> Apprison. Spect. No. 163.

<sup>†</sup> Com. SALAUTH, in Guid. Pancir. P.i. tit. 52.

There they shall have the beauty of holiness for the asbcs of corruption, this oil or jor for the mourning of sin, the garment of praise for the spirit of heaviness: There they shall be called trees of righteousness, the planting of the Lord, that be might be glorified. As this oil afforded them a cheerful countenance even here below, according to their measure of possession; O how will it gladden their spirits and beautify their souls, when the possibility of corruption is done away from them for ever!

Without oil in the natural body, the springs of life could neither act nor more; and the whole animal system, through the acid nature of some juices, and the obstructions arising from the viscidity of others, would soon be exsiccated and become a lump of adust and lifeless matter.—The parallel holds good in the spiritual system; for, without the oil of gladness, there is no power in the fallen soul of man to think or act for God and his own happiness; but, on the contrary, sin rages in all his faculties, renders them more and more corrupt, and, at length makes his whole system, like a dry and

decayed branch, fit only for everlasting fire.

Oil, in the vegetable world, maintains the same economy as in the animal. By its penetrating quality, it carries the other necessary juices into and thro' the finest vessels, and sheathes those vessels at the same time from the nitrous and rough particles, which mix and ascend with the sap. It also seems to separate, strain, or prevent from entering into the system, all such gross and terrene atoms, as would, if admitted, choke up the capillary vessels (which are almost inconceivably minute) and consequently induce disease and death .- The emblem expresses the case, as it obtains in the spiritual life. But for this HOLY OIL, the word of God, and the life of God, could find no passage to the heart of man, nor receive any lodgment there. Neither law nor gospel could enter within his soul. And, again, did this spiritual oil only carry on the law to a man's spirit, and leave it there by itself to operate with its fiery nature upon him; in that view, there would soon be an end of all his hope and happiness. He would feel vengeance within him, corroding with the force of the worm that never shall die and of the fire that never can be quenched. But this Holy Spirit, applying the law to the mind, and (preserving our figure) sheathing it with his heavenly grace, renders the law in spiritual experience like nitre in natural operation. As nitre discusses and divides the atoms with which it is intermixed; so the law, in the power of the Spirit, is the preparation for the gospel; and the conviction of sin, with which it pierces the sout, disposes it to receive with meckness the ingrafted ward of salvation. And when the soul is brought to the knowledge and experience of the trath as it is in Jesus;

this oil of gladness preserves it from being choaked up with earthly things; so that neither the cares of the world nor the deceitfulness of riches can operate, as they naturally would, to render it unfruitful. Thus this boly Lord defended the inhabitants of [the spiritual] ferusalem; so that be that is feeble among them is as David [or the beloved; i. e. Christ] and the house of David [all the people of Christ] shall be as God [by being made partakers of the divine nature] and the angel febovah before them, or Christ in them, and with them, through faith, the hope of glory. Zech. xii. 8.

Were it not for the oil in plants, the action of light or heat upon their substance would soon exhaust the aqueous and other juices, and consequently would destroy it. On the other hand, the natural oil, by its tenacity, which [as Dr. Quincy assures us] is " a kind of glue or cement to the other principles,"\* preserves the frame from the penetrating effects of the frost, and especially where the oil has been matured and duly concocled; for those late and tender shoots, in which the aqueous parts of the sap predominate, not having had time for the requisite digestion, are often destroyed by the winter; when the lower parts of the same branches, and the rest of the plant or tree, have received no injury .- So the oil of grace, communicated by the divine Spirit, preserves his people in all kinds of trial: And the more they possess of his saving power, the better able are they to resist and overcome those things, which entirely overwhelm the rest of the world.

One property of oil is to soften and supple what it is applied to in nature for that purpose. - The effect also in grace of the oil of gladness is an inwrought tenderness of spirit and conscience, which enables the Christian to receive with meekness and humility the holy will of God, & to dread the very thought of acting contrary to it. This oil of salvation carries home the new covenant, in its promised power, to the Christian; by taking away his stony heart, and giving him a heart of flesh in its stead. Every body knows that oil is the universal pabulum or supply of light, and that without the oleaginous par . ticles neither vegetable substances, as wood, nor mineral matter, as coal, would emit a flame, though placed in the strongest fire. Thus, without the oil of gladness, there can be no reception of Christ, the true Light, no meetness for him within the soul. The SPIRIT of life introduces the LIGHT of life; their personal union is inseparable; and so is their action. No man can call fesus Lord [savingly call him his Lord] but by the Holy Ghost: And no man having

the Holy Ghost, can do otherwise. This is very plain in the parable of the virgins. The five foolish had indeed the lamps of profession; but they had no oil within them. When, therefore, the bridegroom came (say, either in death or judgment,) they had no light; because they had not that, which is the concomitant of it within them. In other words, being sensual, not having the Spirit, they were without Christ, and shut out, in consequence, from his kingdom .- The Scripture, likewise, represents the church under the figure of a candlestick with many branches; but as the candlestick in the holy place had no light in itself, but received first the holy oil, and then the flame; so is it with every individual believer and with the church of God at large. They must receive the quickening power of the Spirit, before they can see their need of Christ, or have the least desire towards him. He prepares their hearts for that vital flame, which shall never be extinguished to all eternity. And then, as the soul enlightens the body for its natural life, by dwelling in and animating it: So the Holy Ghost illuminates and actuates the soul by making it his own habitation. Eph. ii. 22. Hence the antient Christians called the ordinance of baptism Cωτισμος, or illumination, because it was the outward sign of possesing Christ, the light of the soul: And, for the same reason, they styled the solemn days, appointed for that ordinance, the days of light; the newly baptized, the newly enlightened; and the time of Christ's own baptism, the lightbringing day, all which terms they employed to denote the spiritual effect of divine mercy, namely, light to the mind.\* Analogous to this, the participation of the Spirit is called and prefigured by the unction with consecrated oil: And thus the Messiab, or Christ, or anointed one, was anointed with the oil of gladness, in token of being imbued with the holy Spirit; and his people are called Christians, or anointed, because, in being truly his people, they have received the same Spirit with him, and by him. Of bis fulness bave all these received, and grace for grace. John i. 16. The oil of gladness, flowing from him, is that enlivening and enlightening chrism, which makes them Christians, and keeps them so.

Under the law, there is a positive prescription concerning the use of oil in presenting every mincha, or offering of faith and thanksgiving, under several forms and types, before the Lord. A specification of this kind of oblation is made in Lev. ii. and ix. And the reader, who wishes to dwell particularly upon the several distinctions and meanings of the legal oblations, may be much gratified in perusing the learned

<sup>\*</sup> See the elder Spanheim de baptismo ignis.

Mede's discourse upon them.\* It will be sufficient for the purpose of this Essay to consider the oil, prescribed in the law, as typical of the Holy Spirit, without whom no offerings or services can be acceptable to the Lord. All the institutions of the law have a voice to those, who have ears to bear: Nor is it possible to believe, without an equal possession of blindness and blasphemy, that the wisdom of God could have descended to the minute detail of the several parts and compositions of what should be accepted of febovab; unless some spiritual doctrines, some sublime and evangelical truths, essential to his people's salvation, there intended under these emblems. These were the similitudest of the Old Testament, which concealed the mysteries of the kingdom, that, like the parables of the New Testament, were only to be known by those, to whom it was given. Matth. xiii. 10, 11.

This oil as we have said, typified the Holy Ghost, in whom and by whom all offerings were to be made to febovab. Nor did Christ, the bigb-priest of our profession, present the dignified oblation of himself as the sacrifice for his people, without this boly oil: For it is expressly written, through the E-TERNAL SPIRIT he offered kimself without spot to God. Hebr. ix. 14. Thus God was in Christ, reconciling the world to bimself, &c. And thus is spiritually fulfilled the testimony of the prophet, concerning the people of God; the burden [of the enemy] shall be taken away from off thy shoulder, and kis yoke from off thy neck, and the yoke shall be destroyed BECAUSE.

\* MEDE's works, Disc. ii. p. 284, &c.

† The excellent Witsius hath made the like observation. "The intention of the ceremonies was, that they might be the figures and shadows of spiritual things, and that they might continually exhibit a picture of Christ, and of the grace introduced by him. And certainly this was a most happy priviledge to the Jews, that, when God delivered all the mysteries of salvation by parables and types, they should have these representations of the divine mercy and of the promised Saviour constantly before their eyes. Especially too, as by patriarchs, prophets and other teachers, they were instructed in their spiritual import, after the manner of that dispensation." Egypt. L. iii. c. 14.

† Thus the book, the title of which is translated proverbs, might have been, with perhaps greater propriety, rendered similitudes. They are not an indigested mass of moral precepts only; but, under the picture of sensible objects, they were intended to convey

many rich delineations of spiritual grace to the mind.

f. Is. x. 27. Literally rendered it is, before the face of the oil. This hath been well expounded, and by Jonathan the Chaldee, too, "thou shalt be delivered through Christ, in whom the Spirit of Jehovah rests, because he hath anointed him." ROBERTS. Thus. in pow.

Christ offered up himself, descends through him upon his people, enabling them to be conquerors and more than conquerors over their enemies, and likewise to present their bodies a living

sacrifice, boly and acceptable unto God. Rom. xi. 1.

As the oil represented, sometimes, the person of the Spirit; so, sometimes, it preached the graces of the Spirit. In condescension to human capacity, he appears to have taken this comprehensive emblem; and through the medium of the outward sense, (which is the usual method of the Scripture) to affect the intellect of man.

The ancients made much use of oil to beautify their persons. In the Psalms, we read of oil to make man's face to sbine. Ruth anointed herself for decoration, Ruth iii. 3. and the women of Tekoab and the prophet Daniel omitted the use of oil for the contrary reason. 2 Sam. xiv. 3. Dan. x. 3. The custom is also mentioned in Matth. vi. 17. Luke vii. 46. On this account, the boly oil is the figure of that beauty of boliness, which the Spirit of God puts upon his people, and by which they are enabled to worship him, according to his own will, in spirit and in truth. Thus, when the psalmist prays, that the beauty of the Lord our God might be upon the church, it is as if he had said, " Let the holy oil, whose unction affordeth all the beauty of holiness, endue their souls with his sanctifying power." The oil signified boliness; the application of this oil to believers, or the Holy Spirit's operation upon them, constitutes the beauty of boliness: And when they have done with the vile body of sin, they shall be most perfectly beautified, by a complete transformation into the very image and likeness of Christ Jesus in all things.

Joy was also denoted under this sacred emblem of oil: It was therefore, in peculiar reference to this grace of the Spirit, called by the prophet the oil of joy, Is. Ixi. 3. and by the psalmist the oil of gladness. Ps. xlv. 7. The Spirit, as God, is not only Joy himself essentially, and so called Ps. xliii. 4. but the cause and communicator of it to the redeemed. Thus it is said to believers, that they received the word in much [outward] offliction, with Joy of the Holy Ghost, I Thess. i. 6. and the first disciples, that they were fitted with Joy and the Holy Ghost. Acts. xii. 52. The kingdom of God is also said to be joy in the Holy Ghost. Rom. xiv. 17. All which demonstrates both the nature of his being, which must be omnipotent thus to influence and reign, and the kind of office assumed by him, which is to make glad the city of God.

This spiritual oil also induce the health and strength. Now be (says the apostle) which stablisheth us with you, is Christ, and hath anointed us, is God. 2 Cor. i. 21. Jehovah the Spirit is the saving strength of his anointed; and He alone strengtheneth them with strength in their souls. 'Tis he who

strengthens them with might in the inner man: And surely can such a blessing come from any one less than God? If God be the strength of his people; surely that Spirit, who quickens them, and in whom they live, and wait, and walk, and are led, can be none else than that Almighty strength in essence, or febovah, working upon them, and dividing his gifts

severally as He will. I Cor. xii. 11. We have already considered oil as one great mean of all growth, and consequently of fertility, in the vegetable world. The Lord the Spirit employs the image of oil to intimate the similar effect of his grace in the spiritual world. My wellbeloved (saith the Lord, speaking by the prophet) bath a vincyard in a very fruitful bill, or (as it is literally rendered from the Hebrew in the margin) in the born of the son of oil. Our translation has given the effect, but omitted to express the cause. Christ's vineyard, or church, is upon a hill, yea, the bill of Zion itself; but its fertility is from HIM, who giveth strength to the faint, and supplieth every spiritual nutriment, which shall turn to the salvation of his people. Phil. i. 19: Every believer in Jesus is a fruit-bearing branch of the spiritual vine. He is not like the cypress tree, to which Poocion compared a vain and wordy orator, having indeed much pomp and beauty in its form and appearance, yet bearing no fruit; but abundant, according to measure, in all the fruits of righteousness, which are by Christ Jesus, to the glory of God.

The use of oil, in cleansing the lepers under the law, is extremely significant and remarkable. After the application of the blood of the lamb to the party, in the same places was the oil to be applied and poured on by the priest, viz, on the right ear, on the thumb of the right hand, on the great toe of the right foot, and finally on the head. Here appears the effects of the gospel in signs. The blood of Christ is applied first to the ear and then the living oil, or grace of the Spirit, follows, to render that ear open to receive the word of truth. The next application of both these is to the band, that it may be purged from dead works to serve the living God: Then to the feet, that they may be swift for obedience, as well as cleansed from defilement: And lastly to the bead, that the understanding may be purified and enlightened, and the whole Spirit, as well as body, under the conduct of the divine Spirit, given up to the Father through Christ Jesus. The application was made to the principal parts of these several members, to denote, both that these included the government of all the rest, and that the Lord should be glorified by the best faculties of his people.

Oil, and the olive-trees which produced it, were considerable branches of the riches and agriculture of Judea. Thus

Asher was to dip his foot in oil. Deut. xxxiii. 24. He was to be rich in oil and olive-trees; and it literally came to pass. The olive-trees, and cellars of oil, formed some of the riches and temporal blessings of David. I Chron. xxvii 28. And they are called treasures in Jeremiab xli. 8. Oil is also stated to be a part of the trade of Judab. Ezek. xxvii. 17. And what are those riches, or (as they are emphatically styled) the exceeding riches of grace, and glory, and wisdom, and knowledge, and goodness, mentioned concerning GoD; but the graces and effusions of the Holy Spirit, the oil of salvation, conferred upon his people's souls? 'Tis through him only, and his liberality of flowing, that they become rich in faith, and in good works, preparatory to their enjoyment of the full tiches of his salvation. His graces are those bidden riches (as the prophet is led to style them) by which they know the Lord, Is. xlv. 3. and which the world doth not see, nor can see, because the wisdom, which gave them forth, as well as the wisdom which is in them, is an bidden wisdom ordained of God before the world for his people's glory. I Cor. ii. 7. All these treasures of wisdom and knowledge are bid in Christ; and therefore, the Spirit taketh of the things of Christ and sheweth them to his redeemed. Col. ii. 3. and John xvi. 15. Thus it is, that believers become rich and wise, at once, unto salvation.

Under the Jewish dispensation, if not the patriarchal, certain persons and things were consecrated to God by libations of oil. It has been upon good ground believed, that when Jacob anointed the stone for a pillar with oil in Bethel, he received the ordinance by tradition from the fathers of his faith, as well as of his flesh; and that the Lapides Bætulii,\* or anointed stones, among the heathen, were only corruptions of a sacred ceremony, the meaning of which they had either lost or misapplied. They thought, indeed, that, in consequence of their consecration by oil, a power or virtue took possession of the image or stone; the but they apprehended nothing more than the invisible power of some of their gods,

<sup>\*</sup> See enough concerning these in Stillingfleet's Origines Sacra. B iii. c. v. 10. and the authorities he cites in the margin; with Gale's Court of the Gentiles. Part 1.

<sup>†</sup> Arnobius, who had been a Gentile philosopher and rhetorician, and was converted to the Christian faith about the year 300, humbly confesses; Venerabar (o cacitas!) nuper simulachra modo ex fornacibus prompta, picturas, veternosis in arboribus tanias; fi quando conspexeram lubricatum lapidem, & ex olivi unguine ornatum, tanquam inesset vis præsens, adulchar, affabar. & beneficia poscebam nihil sentiente de trunco. Adv. Gent. L. i. The learned Selden, in the Prolegomena and first Syntagma, c. 2. of his treatise de Dijs Syris, hath discussed this subject with his usual ability.

or, at most, some physical virtue from the heavens. Whatever was consecrated to God under the law (as the tabernacle and all its utensils were) by the solemnity of anointing with oil, could never afterwards be engaged out of his service without profanation. Lev. x. 7. Exol. xxix. 2, 21, 33.— All this plainly intimates, that those, who are anointed priests unto God (as all true believers are) by the Holy Spirit are, like their head Christ Jesus, consecrated for evermore. Hebr. vii. 28. The gifts and calling of God are without repentance. Having given to the beirs of salvation the earnest of their inheritance, this gracious and almighty Spirit will not suffer them to be wronged of the purchased possession. The anointing oil of Jebovah is upon them, and they shall remain in his true tabernacle for ever.

If these things be so, O Christian; is not this Holy Spirit, most significantly entitled, The oil of Gladness? Doth not the beautiful name most pointedly describe the bountiful effects of his love? And hast thou not joyful communion with him, at times, in all these benignities of his office? Yes; as surely as thou art a Christian, thou hast. Thy very name, as well as the name of thy master, belongs to thee only for this cause. He was called Christ on account of this unction; and thou art a Christian, only by partaking of this unction thro'

him.

If thou hast this oil of gladness poured forth upon thy soul, the consequences of it will appear throughout thee. Like the leaven, which our Lord speaks of, it will leaven the whole lump; and thy whole body, soul, and spirit, will feel its sanctifying power. The corruptions of the outward man shall be subdued and purged; the affections of the heart shall be purified and guided to their proper object, and the intellection of the mind illuminated and extended for a more ample apprehension of God. It will mollify what is hard, even the stone within thee; it will cleanse what is defiled; it will make holy, and keep holy, unto life eternal, thy whole man.

This sacred oil will smoothe the ruggid roughness of evil, which sin bath brought upon thy soul: And though it will not wholly irradicate the harsh tempers of thine earthly frame, till that frame be dissolved; it will, at least, polish them in a manner, which nature can never do.\* Rudeness of manners, incivility of disposition, and proneness to mur-

<sup>\*</sup> It was the advice of *Democritus*, "to have honey within, and oil without;" by which the laughing philosopher probably meant, it was necessary for a man's welfare, to have good tempers in the heart and good manners in the life. Christianity says nothing against this? but, on the contrary, most powerfully induces it, yet without "Simulation or Dissimulation."

muring, not only indicate natural unhappiness, but yield too sad a proof, that the oil of gladness either hath not been poured forth at all, or in a very low degree, upon the soul. The Spirit of God doth not make men boisterous to complain, but

patient to endure.

There is a fragrance in this holy unction, which at once perfumes as well as gladdens the soul. It is not only acceptable to the Most High in itself, as coming from him; but it renders the persons, on whom it is poured, an offering of a sweetsmelling savour through Christ Jesus. By it they are enabled to conceive holv thoughts, to speak holy words, and to perform holy deeds; none of which are they able to do by their own power. Their life and conversation, in proportion to their enjoyment of the heavenly gift, shall yield an odour of a sweet smell, which, like the box of ointment that Mary bestowed upon her Redeemer, shall fill the house of God, and even beyond that house flow out to the sense of the world. All men shall know the disciples of Jesus, by the discovery of his Spirit of love, actuating their tempers, their language, and their lives. Like the aromatic oil, which was poured upon Aaron; this precious oil of gladness will diffuse around its sacred odours, and not only refresh the sense of him that bears it, but convince the sense of others too, that indeed the anointing oil of the Lord is upon bim. Lev. x. 7.

O how great then is the privilege of those, who are the redeemed and the ransomed of Jebovah; who come and sing, because they are so, in the height of Zion, and flow together to the goodness of the Lord, for wheat, or the bread of life, and for wine, or the joy of his salvation, and for oil, to beautify with holiness!—Their souls shall be as a watered garden, and they shall not sorrow any more at all. Jer. XXXI: 11, 12.

God often visits with his gladness the souls of men. How many proofs have we of this truth handed down, by the most credible witnesses? Witnesses, who, in the hour of death, would not deceive; and witnesses, who, in their holiness of life, could not wish to delude.\* Yet, greater evidence than even from these arises from the testimony of God, and from those promises of consolation and joy, which he never could have given forth in vain. But in vain would they have been given, if they had never been experienced (according to their tenor) by gracious souls, at times, when no earthly thing could have given the shadow of a consolation. O what ani-

<sup>\*</sup> See, among other excellent books, *Burnham's* "Pious memorials;" *Fleming* on "God's appearances for his church; and "the triumphs of faith," published at *Edinburgh*, 1767. See also a very striking account, which Mr. *Flavel* gives of a Christian experience, in his admirable "Treatise of the soul of man." p. 238, &c.

mating expressions of the most fervent happiness have issued forth from lips, quivering under the agonies of death, and from tongues tremulous in the struggles of departing life! The witnesses for Christ have testified the joy of their Lord under the cruelest strokes of their persecutors' rage: And martyrdom hath received half its honours from the gladness and alacrity, with which it was endured. The accounts of these transactions at once astonish and edify the mind. Far unlike the apathy of stoical pride, or the brutality of Indian savageness; the soldiers of Christ met death as conquerors, and not as stocks. No sullen gloom pervaded their spirits, no despair of life; but the Oil of Gladness lifted up their eyes and their hearts beyond the skies, and made them sensible, that the worst malice of men could only send them home the faster to their God. Let infidels affect to find parallels to these among infidels, as eagerly as they can; but there is as much difference between sufferings endured by grace, and sufferings supported only by nature, as there is (to use the lowest comparison worthy of the subject) between the most vivid hope which can fill, or the most hardened unbelief which can stupify the human mind. The expectation of a Christian upon these occasions is a fullness of expectation, and therefore called the manpo popus, or full assurance, which possesses & animates almost to real enjoyment his awakened soul; but, to say the best of the other, it is a mere vacuity from absolute despair, which (as in the dying emperor Adrian) can only cause the heart to flutter between a trembling hope and dismal uncertainty. The partition between these is so thin and feeble, that it totters with every blast, and is often crushed by the full weight of the trial. Even Socrates himself, who gave the greatest example among the heathens of a philosophical æquanimity in death, reasons and concludes before his judges with an apparent doubt upon his mind of a future existence, though certainly there is something dignified, and to be admired in his courage and conduct which could back him so far in his last extremity. We may deplore "this Homer of the philosophers" (as Plato called him) and his admirer Cicero, that, amidst a world of ingenuity and the honest efforts of reason, they are led rather to an anxious expectation of a future happiness, than to a lively bope or firm persuation about it. All certainty, in this respect, was only to be derived thro' the gospel.\*

The Christian's joy is a joy unspeakable and full of glary. Reader, hast thou never found it so? Hath no rivulet of peace flowed into thy heart from the boundless ocean of peace?

Hast thou not known that the grace of God, which bringeth salvation, hath brought gladness and tranquility too ?-Yes, believer, thou hast found this mercy, and tasted indeed that the Lord is gracious. Tho' annoyed by distractions, and broken at times by interruptions, through the calls or the evils of the body and its outwards affairs; still thy soul pants for the enjoyment of this blessing, and cannot rest without the view or the relish of it within thee. Thou hungerest and thirstest after this fruit of righteousness, though, on earth and in thy earthly tabernacle, thou canst not be fully satisfied with it. " The highest pleasures (said a good man) of a gracious soul in the body, are but the pleasures of an uncentred soul, which is still gravitating and striving forward, and consequently can be but low and very imperfect, in comparison with those it enjoys, when it is centered and fixed in its everlasting rest. They differ as the shadow [or cessation] of the labourer for an hour in the day, from his rest in his bed when his work is ended." And yet, faint and low as all present views and enjoyments of grace are here below, compared with the fullness of joy at God's right-hand; there have been instances, where the communication of divine love has been almost too much for nature to sustain. But these have usually been upon some great occasions, either upon leaving the world, or upon suffering for Christ in it, where it has been expedient for the glory of God and the edification of his people, that such testimonies of his presence should be declared. However, there will be enough of this at all times to shew the truth of God's promise, that light is sown for the righteous, and gladness for the upright in heart. Ps. xcvii. 11. In other words, that where Christ, the true light, descends upon the soul; the Holy Spirit will cause to spring up those returns of joy and praise, which, like the incense upon the altar, shall ascend for a sweet-smelling savour before the throne of the Highest.

Happy believer; didst thou know thy own privileges, or couldest thou walk in the constant sight and sense of them; nothing upon this poor earth would much or long perplex thee. Like a traveller near the end of his journey, thou wouldst patiently bear the dust and dirt of the road, upon the view of thine heavenly mansion, and thy almighty Father ready to bless thee there. 'Tis this which, by divine aid, hath ever borne up the souls of the faithful in past trials, worse probably than ever will be thine; and 'tis this which must support thee also in the least as well as greatest difficulty, or alike it will be far too much for thee to bear. The realizing views of these things, not the mere speculations upon them, render the heart truly magnanimous in encountering the evils of life or of death; and the grace, which shews these

things, gives the Christian that nice sense of honour and duty, which would incline him to all that is right, though neither men, nor angels, nor even God himself, were to behold. 'Tis this Spirit of faith, dear Christian, which must enable thee to consider thyself, and to act, as a stranger and pilgrim upon earth; not the hearing only, or the talking only, about 'Tis this oil of gladness, which must anoint thee for a higher profession, than that poor miserable one, which (alas!) too often obtains among men, and of which it is difficult to understand, whether it belongs to this world or another. O how hard is it rightly to discern in many instances, whether there be any real difference between some who profess the truths of the gospel, and others who, like Gallio, care for none of these things! The believer, as Timothy had, should desire to have a good profession before many witnesses—the witnesses of his conscience within him, of the world about him, and of God above him. These testimonies he must have, in some measure, before he can enjoy that quietness and assurance of spirit, which are the general and genuine result of them. A meagre, half-starved soil can yield only wretched and despicable fruits: Nor can the effect of a mean, half-carnal profession rise above itself, or produce aught at best but a pitiable poverty of joy. " Wouldest thou have comfort in thy misery (said a very learned and good man,) wouldest thou have joy in all thy sorrows, wouldest thou find rest in the greatest troubles of thy life, wouldest thou entertain death as a messenger of joy, wouldest thou welcome the Lord Jesus at his coming? O labor then to make thy election sure; never cease till thou hast gotten the seal and earnest of thy salvation; renounce all kinds of peace, till thou hast found the peace of conscience; discard all joy, till thou feelest the joy of the Holy Ghost."\* O then, pray for vigor of grace, or that fervency of spirit in serving the Lord, which shall ever draw down with it a glorious superiority over the world, and a sweet approximation of soul to God and the redeemed in glory. In a word, ask to live like a CHRISTIAN; like a man, who indeed bath the heavenly unction, who is thus a-kin to Christ and to God, and who both is and feels himself really to be a citizen of beggen .- Ask and receive, that thy joy may be full. Thy dear Saviour means nothing but kindness and joy for thee; and if thy cup were more emptied of other things, it would be made to run over with his love. Thou art privileged not to glean like Ruth, in the field, or the vintage; but to gather the whole ripe shocks and precious fruits of thy Father's blessing. Why then wilt thou crawl and creep; when thou mayest, as with the wings of eagles, rise up and soar? Why study hard, and labor much, upon a little dirty \* MEDE. Disc. liii.

clod; when the ætherial mansions, the whole universe of the blessed, may be thy glorious contemplation and felicity? O that this wisdom, and dignity of grace, precious soul, may be more and more thine! Canst thou not join in this prayer for thyself, which an unworthy stranger ardently offers up for thee! Art thou not willing to mingle this gracious joy with one, whose soul burns that thy soul and his may participate together the felicity of God's chosen, and the riches of the glory of his inheritance! O that heart might thus answer heart, and be more spiritually alive to this grace, that the communion of saints below may more perfectly imitate, as well as forerun, the communion of saints above!

- Come, thou OIL of GLADNSS, shed All thine energy divine: Bid each faithful heart and head In thy sacred love combine.
- 2. Come, thou OIL of GLADNESS, pour Gracious joy on all around.

  Make, full fraught with heav'nly lore,
  All in heav'nly hope abound.
- 3. Come, thou OIL of GLADNESS, come, Shed abroad thy reigning grace; Fit thy kings and priests for home, Grown them with eternal peace.

## CONCLUSION.

SEVERAL other titles and ascriptions, belonging to the HOLY SPIRIT, occurred to the author in proof of his divinity; such, for instance, as WITNESS, GIFT, GUIDE, SPIRIT of BURNING, SPIRIT of JUDGEMENT, REST, SPIRIT of GLORY, &c. but the size of the volume will not admit of any further enlargement. It is humbly conceived, however, that the many testimonies, which have been already submitted, under the preceding names, do illustrate, according to the measure and manner of the human capacity, some of the essential glories of the ETERNAL SPIRIT, both in his divine nature, person, and offices. The evidence from the Scriptures, both positive and collateral, appears as full, clear, and convincing; as it is possible for the mind of man fairly to require, or his

understanding to receive. Though the point insisted on be not in its essence an object of sense or animal perception, and cannot be such from the pure spirituality of its nature; yes it has been shewn, that God the Spirit has given testimony to this point by some proofs that have even reached the senses, and by circumstances, which might impress them with the most happy and lively demonstration of his being and presence. He hath indeed left all men, who have his word in their reach, without excuse for unbelief concerning himself; and they have no subterfuge in this case from any difficulty in his revelation, which is clear enough here: but must recur at once to their own corrupt and positive dislike of its authority, or, not being able to overthrow or get rid of this, must take shelter (as too many in all ages have done) under some wilful perversions and sophistications of the divine record. But, admitting this record to be true, and permitting it to speak its own genuine sense in harmony and analogy with itself (which is allowed in all other writings;) the doctrine of its AUTHOR's divinity is true also, and from the record is proved to be so. On the other hand, if that book can be demonstrated to be false in principle or authority, and so is an audacious imposition upon the world; it is readily granted, that there is and can be no other proof of this subject, and that all the miracles, or sensible evidences of it, and all the internal operations, either promised or received, which are the experimental evidences; are equally lies, dreams, and delusions. It will be further granted, in that case, that we are exactly in the situation of all the heathens, antient and modern; that there is no assurance, or evidence, of any one thing in the world; that we live without present hope, and must die without future end or purpose of being. shall be added too, and must be added, that there is neither sin nor goodness, neither religion nor irreligion, neither heaen nor hell; and that all those, who have declared these things to the world, in the shape of patriarchs, prophets, or apostles, have been impudent mountebanks, who have played upon the hopes and fears of mankind, for the advancement of their own designs. It will be allowed also, in this train of consequences, that CHRIST and Mahomet are quite upon a level, and equally detestable impostors; that Judas Iscariot was an honest fellow, for betraying the former; and that all the people, called martyrs, were a set of stupid and inconsiderate simpletons, for believing and dying in the cause of a crucified malefactor. In one word, it must be acknowledged, in this view of things, that there is no hope in life or in death, that we are bewildered in the chaos of our own imaginations, and that Lucretius, and Hobbes, and such like men, were perfeetly right, in attempting to banish every trace of religion, as mere mad superstition, from the face of the earth.

There are many people who will profess themselves shocked at these consequences, and yet do not see that the principles, on which they proceed concerning religion, naturally and necessarily lead to them. They think without the Bible, in the first instance; and then, in the next, think against it. Nor do some people express much concern, upon the discovery of this consequence; but call their method, with a peculiar ease and confidence, liberality of sentiment and freedom of inquiry. But if those fine words are examined to the bottom, they will be found to merit another title, and will really appear to be only looseness of principle, and scepticism universal. The first point they begin with in religion isa doubt of God's truth in the Bible; forgetting that without this truth there is no religion at all, and that there either must be already such an infallible rule, or there never can be one. If the rule do exist; then it is their wisdom to follow it: But if it do not, then all the men in the world could not agree to compose one; and consequently all their pretended inquiry must end in uncertainty; if that can be called an end, which is nothing; or that can be good logic, which has no conclusion .- However, this doubt (say they) ought to be satisfied. And wbo is the judge, evidence, and counsel, in the matter? Their answer is, buman reason, which after all, they must own, can judge nothing concerning spiritual existence. And yet the Bible deals chiefly in spiritual existence. If reason were even uncorrupt and undepraved, which it is not; it could be no judge in this case, unless it were infinite and eternal; because here the determination is to be upon an infinite being, and upon eternal concerns. Of course, the evidence it can produce, or the counsel it might bring, being alike depraved, limited, and irregular, stand exactly in the same predicament. The fallacy of these people is; they presuppose, that all things are in doubt, and that therefore there is no such matter as truth revealed; and yet absurdly enough they hold, that both these conclusions of their own are to be believed. That principle in man, which doubts, is, according to them, to procure evidence out of itself, in order to convert itself into a believing principle, or rather to frame a believer in nothing beyond it. The sea might just as soon make itself dry, the fire emit a cooling flame, or a man scoop up the ocean with a shell; as any of these can turn this Ethiopian . unbelief into the fair complexion of holy faith. Their itch is to dispute every thing, and to believe nobody but themselves, who own at the same time that they know nothing with precision. They are quite sure, that nothing is true, which is not agreeable to their own reason; and yet often this reason doth not agree with itself upon the most trifling subjects within its immediate scrutiny, but it pretends to be very exact, however, in the everlasting concerns above it. Thus our reasoners venture to go on, as though they were omniscient beings, who could see through all spiritual and abstracted nature, could comprise all that is to be known universally, and could determine upon the whole with perfect judgment and infallibility. They are sceptics towards God, but the most implicit believers in themselves. In this high sentiment, they determine upon what angels veil their faces to bebold, with an air of importance and authority, and are not a. shamed to conclude, that what they themselves know not, is and must be, therefore, unknown. Their sentiments are indeed liberal, and their inquiries free; for they are by no means limited by the strait line of truth, but make copious excursions enough in the regions on either side of it. Truth is too low and fixed a subject for such unfettered speculatists, as disdain to take any settled foundation; but love to soar above all certain boundaries, and the narrow apprehensions of those pitiful mortals, who humbly believe in God: And so,

-their sail-broad vans

They spread for flight, and in the surging smoke Uplifted spurn the ground; thence many a league, As in a cloudy chair, ascending ride Audacious; but that seat soon failing, meet MILTON. A vast VACUITY.

But, for people of this order, these imperfect Essays were not designed. Written, as they are, for the most part, without any labored attention to method; they are calculated, principally, for those who receive the Bible as the truth of God, and who wish to be more truly acquainted with it as such ; and for some others likewise, who, not weighing the sense of its words nor that analogy of principle which runs through the whole, have been led into perplexities, which the Bible does not contain in itself, but which have been brought to it by the false reasonings of its readers. book, indeed, is a parable, and (according to Christ's own words) intended to be so: consequently, it hath its mysteries, or (if the world will call it by that name) its obscurities. It is no shallow composition, but contains the words and the mind of God. If men do not perfectly understand these words, it is no wonder: They do not understand the most obvious and most ordinary works of God. And it is the less to be wondered at, because it is expressly said, that none can understand the Scriptures but those to whom it is given; and

the very apostles understood them, only according to that dispensation. Luke xxiv. 45. Of course it will follow, that none can understand them farther than it is given. This measure, or bound, also must rest entirely with HIM, who imparts this understanding itself, which is a principle superior to human reason, though working upon and by it. Reason of itself cannot determine in spiritual things what are truths, but at most conceives only their connexion and agreement: But the gift of spiritual understanding is imparted, that reason might be informed, and from that information proceed, in a manner analogous to its nature, to combine, connect, or conclude, not its own ideas, but ideas from the word of God as the ground on which they are to be raised, and which the Spirit of God, as the agent, alone raises from that ground. The word itself doth not and cannot raise ideas truly spiritual and đivine: as we may see in thousands who frequently read it, but to whom it is a book sealed impenetrably: Nor does the Spirit act but by the word, or in perfect concord with it. So that here is the strongest fence, on the one hand, against absurd or enthusiastic reveries, because the written word checks all fanciful excursions and all idle opinions; as, on the other hand, there is the fullest implication of the necessity of divine grace, to help the ignorance or check the infidelity of man. This grace is a gift, afforded according to the will of its author, and allotted and diversified with respect to the purposes of glory and salvation, which are to be brought forth in his people.-Proud reason quarrels with this; and yet without reason. Grace in all its parts or distinctions, whether of holiness, knowledge, faith, &c. is the donation of God and a free donation, because it could not be earned by a creature. A creature might just as soon earn its own natural life, before it had life. It must first live, then act; and a man must have the grace or faculty for divine knowledge, before he can presume to know the things divine. I Cor. ii. 11. The ground of all human error is in the fall and apostasy of our nature from God: and yet men profess to think and act, as though they were not fallen. They advance upon this mistaken ground; and consequently, the farther they push their conclusions, or speculations, upon divine subjects, the wider they are from the truth of God, and it may be added, from the God of truth. Nor, till they are brought back to see this origin of their error, and are enabled to keep it constantly in sight, can they make any excursions, in which they do not stray.

The Scriptures are entirely written upon this great idea of the FALL. They keep it ever in view. All the terms, with relation to man, are formed upon this very principle; the combination of those terms into fuller detail amply expresses it; and the whole purpose of revelation proves, enforces, and answers it as a fact, which every one of us may feel within ourselves, and may see but too many evidences of in the world about us. Our restoration to God, and his names revealed to convey the means of that restoration, are increasing demonstrations of that truth, which it is both our duty to believe, and the way of our happiness to know. All its important evidence, taken together, will be found to generate this grand conclusion; that fallen man can be recovered to God, only through the love of the Father, the redemption of the Son, and the power of the Holy Ghost; three divine

persons in ONE and the same GODHEAD.

This truth is the basis of the Bible and consequently of all Christianity. Remove it, and they both fall utterly to the ground .- God only could plan a work, which should glorify two such essential attributes, as his own justice and mercy, in the salvation of sinners. Accordingly, we read of an everlasting covenant and a counsel of the Godhead for this end. No creature could make an atonement for his own sin, and much less for the innumerable sins of others: No creature could work out an everlasting righteousness and bring it in for the justification of even himself, and much less for the justification of others who might need it; since all he could do, it would be his duty to do, without remission, and to the continuance of his being. Having done this, he might justify bimself, but not others. In this absence of all created help, we find, that Jebovab was to reconcile to Jebovab these helpless fallen creatures, that Jebovab became the Redeemer for this object, and that Immanuel, God with us, took that name, because he was to take our nature, in order to suffer in the behalf of his people, and to fulfil all righteousness for them. It was impossible, that these creatures, who are represented as dead in trespasses and sins, in respect to spiritual life; and enemies and aliens to God, in respect to their desires after it; should change themselves, renew their minds, new-create the frame of their spirits, and transform themselves from darkness to light, either by will, or power, or conception, of their own. They were as incapable of all this, as a dead carcase is of restoring itself to life, or of performing its living functions: And the Scriptures describe this to be exactly their case. Upon this very account, it was necessary, that the author of all life should restore it: And, accordingly, it is revealed, that another divine person, assuming the name of Spirit, is the very spirit of life for this purpose; that He testifies concerning Christ, as the mediate cause of removing all impediments and glorifying all attributes, in his life and death; and that He himself is the Comforter, in consequence, to seeure every blessing to the redeemed, by giving them life WW Vol. II.

grace, holiness, and, in a word, by seating, teaching, guiding, and preparing them, in the state below, for a sublime and

everlasting inheritance.

Here we see a perfect accordance between divine revelation and the state of men, an unspeakable suitableness between the gracious offices of the divine persons and the wants of sinners, a just harmony in all the attributes of the Godhead and the everlasting salvation of souls. The whole of it is grounded upon facts which we know, and upon necessities which we feel; it rests upon evidence, which reason enjoys not, and doth not require, in other cases, even the evidence of good men in all ages; who were eye-witnesses, ear-witnesses, and heart-witnesses, of what is delivered to us; who could have no temptation to impose, but who were called to die for their testimony, to convince us, that they did not impose.\* And if, after all this, we think the matter to be still a subject of free inquiry, or of uncertain foundation, like a common speculation; we become like those fools, who, having a chart and compass and the testimony of seamen, that have seen what they relate concerning a distant country, very gravely threw them all over-board, and profoundly resolve that these are checks upon their liberality of scntiment and free inquiry, and that they will sail on, without these limitations, to explore an unknown world. The next news, we should expect to hear of such able pilots, would be, that they were cast away, or gone to fathom the profound below.

All the other doctrines of the gospel are links in this chain,

<sup>\*</sup> The reader will find this kind of argument, pursued with equal strength and elegance by a late noble author, who cannot be suspected of indulging an enthusiastic credulity. The Observations on the conversion of St. Paul, written by the first lord LYTTLETON, contain an admirable defence of this outwork of Christianity. "Is it (says he) on account of the mysteries in the gospel that the facts are denied, though supported by evidence which in all other cases would be allowed to contain the clearest conviction, and cannot in this be rejected without reducing the mind to a state of absolute scepticism, and overturning those rules by which we judge of all evidence, and of the truth or credibility of all other facts? But this is plainly to give up the use of our understanding where we are able to use it most properly, in order to apply it to things of which it is not a competent judge. The motives and reasons, upon which divine wisdom may think proper to act, as well as the manner in which it acts, must often lie out of the reach of our understanding." This is reason "taught reason," and approved by divine revelation. My thoughts are not your thoughts, neither are your ways my ways, saith the Lord: For as the heavens are higher than the earth, so are my ways higher than your ways, and my thoughts than your thoughts. Is. Iv. 8, 9.

and depend in perfect agreement upon each other. If one be taken away, it is no longer a whole; and its strength is virtually dissolved. The doctrine of the divinity of the Holy SPIRIT, for instance, is so capital a link, that, let it be once broken, the whole system of Christianity falls to the ground. The Bible will become untrue; and all that is contained in the Bible, a confused mass of idle principles, disjoined fables. and useless narrations. It is no wonder, therefore, that the enemy of souls should militate in all ages, very particularly, against this essential article of truth, and that where he could not absolutely deny, he should attempt to perplex, confound, and pollute it; so that, from this very pollution, he might gain a step, in some favorable time, to succeed farther against the article itself. It may not be altogether impertinent or unprofitable, to look back and see, how he has managed this matter in past ages; because it may in part help us to the apostolic lesson of not being ignorant of Satan's devices, and hence be the means of guarding against them. We will, therefore, as briefly as possible, mention the chief of those dogmatists, who have either set themselves entirely against the Spirit's divinity, or treated it in a manne: which, though covertly, yet essentially undermined the doctrine.

THE man, who funcied the Holy Ghost was to be bought for money, was the first upon record, since the Christian ara, who turned blasphemer against him. A fit instrument was Simon Magus for so foul a deed, and deserves to be placed at the head of the motley corps, who have enlisted themselves into the same service. To mention this poor wretch's assertions, is to confute them. The chief of these were; that Simon himself was the true Messiah or Christ; that he appeared at mount Sinai in the person of the Father: that he came in the reign of Tiberius in the form of the Son, and descended upon the apostles, as fiery tongues, in the person of the Holy Ghost; that the world was not made by God, but by angels; that there is no resurrection of the flesh; and that a promiscuous and unlimited commerce with women was a noble part of Christian liberty. Licentiousness of this sort is a common point of agreement for many heretical opinions. We shall only observe further of him, that he was contemporary with the apostles; propagated his opinions in Samaria and Pales:ine, from whence they had a rapid flow, and that he was the common father of that prolific brood, which under the names of Sabellianism, Anti-trinitarianism, Manichaism, &c. &c. &c. for a long time after, disgraced and troubled the church. He was the first, who broached the notion, that the names of Father, Son, and Spirit, belonged to the same numerical person, and, of course, that there really is no Trinity.

From this corrupt progenitor arose, in the next century, among many others who advanced all sorts of opinions and practised all kinds of impurities, Hermogenes and Praxeas. The first denied the Trinity, and asserted that matter was coæval with God. He was a painter by trade, and a practical polygamist: \* This drew upon him the sarcasm of Tertullian (as painting was then reckoned an improper profession for Christians,) pingit illicite, nubit assidue; he paints without law, and married without end." Praxeas carried on the opinion of Simon Magus respecting the trinity, charging all Christians, who worshipped the three persons in the Godhead, with the worship of three Gods. To him Tertullian opposed himself, with his uncommon abilities and tartness, and gives us a testimony thereby, that, in his time (which was about the year 190,) the church expressly worshipped one God in unity of substance, power and glory, and the three persons of Father, Son, and Spirit, in that unity. † Praxeas, in fact, seems to have been the immediate parent of what was afterwards called Sahellianism.

Nectus of Smyrna, however, obtained the infamy of being immediate master to Sabellius, (and according to some of Praxeas himself); and of inculcating the same opinions. He lived about the beginning of the third

† SPANE. Hist. Christ. smc. iii. p. 748.

<sup>\*</sup> It is an observation made by Jerom, and repeated by many others, that the principle heresies, which ever disgraced religion and plagued the world, were begun, carried on, and ended, by the support of women, or for the sake of women. From the Nicolaitans in the revelation down to Bernerd Ochin, who, soon after the reformation, set up the inexpedient and impracticable (not to say, licentious) doctrine of polygamy; we might produce but two many instances to justify that observation. The mind of man is naturally inclined to pleasure; and when it finds no happiness in God, or hath lost its happiness in the things of God, it roves abroad (like the unclean spirit) after those objects, which are most adapted to the constitution and temper of its owner. It will easily find pleas for selfindulgence, and can even fancy that this indulgence of the flesh is not unacceptable to God; though God himself hath enjoined the crucifixion of the flesh, with its affections and lusts, and though the indulgence of these hath a natural and direct tendency to draw the heart from God and the things above, and to fix it on the creatures and on things beneath. See 1 Cor. vii. 29. Gal. v. 24. Rom. xiii. 14. 2 Pet. ii. 18. Delicatus es, Christiane, si et in faculo voluptatem concupiscis; immo nimium stultus, si hoc existimas voluptatem. TERTULL. de spect.

<sup>†</sup> BLACKMORE'S summary of Christian antiq. Vol. i. p. 59. and many other authorities from ancient writers, in Spanh. Theol. oper. Vol. iii. p. 1216, &c.

century. His disciple, Sabellius, being a man of greater talents and capacity, and asserting the same opinions, consequently, with more art and address, obtained them to be called after his name. He confounded the distinction of persons in the essence, asserting, that they were names of one and the same individual being, who suffered in the person of Christ, and who appeared in the descent upon the apostles. Hence his disciples were called Patripassians, because they maintained, that the Father endured all the agonies upon the cross. They also averred, that God was called the Father in heaven, upon earth the Son, and, when he put forth his power in the creatures, the Holy Ghost.—We have already given, in the former volume, a short confutation of this error, which has a tendency to subvert every doctrine of the Gospel.

Paul of Samosata, soon after Sabellius, though they differed in other points, agreed with him very nearly, if not entirely, upon the article of the trinity. They both denied the personality in the Godhead. The principal difference between them was; Sabellius asserted, that the whole Godhead was in Christ; and this Paul, that the Saviour was a mere man, neither co-eternal nor consubstantial with the Godhead. Both thesemen, as well as some of their late successors, endeavored constantly to puzzle the cause, by confounding the persons with the substance, and by using these

different terms for one and the same idea.

In the next century (i. e. about the year 317 or 320) sprang up the famous Arius, and drew away great multitudes after him. He neither wanted art, learning, nor ambition: And he employed these (as all other men do, who have not grace) to subserve his own views and passions. We need not, however, dwell upon the man and his communication; for this has been treated of by a variety of authors: It is sufficient for us to mark his particular error concerning the divinity of the Holy Spirit. As he denied that the Son was of the substance of the Father, or consubstantial with him, but was a creature made out of nothing, though before all other creatures; so he asserted, that the Holy Ghost was not God, but created or produced by the Son, and inferior in all respects to him, tho' employed by him in the work of creation. Thus, in his view, the Holy Spirit was the creature of a creature, or, in more modern language, the emanation of an emanation. Consequently, there was a time, when the Son and Holy Spirit, had no existence, and a time, when, like the merest maggots, they began to exist. Those, who maintained these principles, were called (by a wonderful abuse of language) pure A-There were many sects of them, who had the same common parent, but who distinguished themselves, however

from their brethren by a variety of names and opinions in this matter, in which they disagreed as well amongst themselves, as with the orthodox. Hence, generally, after the names of their several leaders, they were called Actions, Eusebians, Eunomians,\* Anomaans, Eudoxians, Acacians, Semi-arians, and the like. The most prevailing sect of these, and the nearest to the orthodox, were the Semi-arians, who maintained that the Son was ouoierios, but not ouoerios, i. e. that he was of like substance with the Father, but not of the same substance; that he was like the Father also, in will and operation, but really different from him in nature or essence. The same they believed, for the most part, concerning the Spirit. Consequently, they must hold, either, that there is but one person in the Godhead, called the Father, and so the Son and Spirit are absolutely creatures; or, that there are three Gods, of three different substances, who have only the relation of a likeness to each other. The wit of man cannot devise a medium between these two: And let a man take either of the two, he will be sure of equally contradicting the Scriptures, and of finding himself, one time or other, in the wrong.

Photinus, bishop of Sirmium, from whom came the Photinians, asserted (about 20 years after Arius (that Christ was a mereman, without any being till he was produced of the virgin Mary, and that the Holy Spirit was neither God, nor a person in the Godhead. He also asserted, that the names of Father, Son, and Spirit, belonged to one and the same individual being, and that the same numerical person took those names only to signify some particular operations. In this opinion, he followed the Sabellians. He wrote elegantly and ably against all heresies but his own, and is said to have been

a learned and eloquent man.

About the same time, lived also *Macedonius*, patriarch of *Constantinople*; a worthless character, and fit to oppose that gracious Spirit, whose divinity he denied, and whose influences (to say nothing of his principles,) his whole conduct proved, he never felt. He was one of those worldly priests, who aim at nothing but riches and rank, and who stick at nothing to obtain them. If men were to follow *fcrom's* advice they would avoid such clerical tradesmen, and scanda-

<sup>\*</sup> See Eunomius's confession of Faith in Cave's Hist. Lit. In this confession, he says, "the Father begat the Son, net according to his own substance, but according to his will, and that, afterwards, incomes, he made the Holy Spirit by his own proper authority and command, and yet by the energy and active power of the Son.' A little below, he calls the Holy Spirit—"the first and greatest of all the works of the only begotten."

lous money-hunters, as they would the pestilence.\* Macedonius was at first a Semi-arian, asserting that the Son was of the like substance but not of the same substance with the Father, and yet not a creature. When the pure Arians, who advanced him to the chair upon the murder of Paul the good, found he was not purely their own; they drove him from it: And then, to draw away disciples after himself, he set up a new heresy, or rather new-modelled an old one. Agreeing with the Semi-arians concerning the Son, he opposed himself particularly against the Holy Ghost, and denied him to be God, or a divine person, or even to have any person or substance at all; maintaining, that the Spirit was a mere created energy, imparted to the Son, and divided among all other animated beings. Hence he and his followers were called Πνευμαίομαχοι. Fighters against the Spirit; for the censure of whom the second general council was convened at Constantinople, in the year 384; as the first general council was at Nice, 60 years before, for the condemnation of Arius.+

\* Negotiatorem clericum & exinope divitem, ex ignobili gloriosum, quasi quandam pestem fuge. Ignominia omnium sacerdotem est, probriis studere divitiis. Delicatus ma isier est, qui pleno ventre de jejuniis disputat. Sacerdotis Christi os, mens, manusque concordent. 111-ERON. ad Nepot.—But Christianity is "improved" (say some) since the days of Jerom. Perhaps others will ask, in what? And, perhaps, others again will take up the complaint, sung 400 years ago, as not quite inapplicable now:

A maximis ad minimum, Vix habet unum filium Religio tam sacrum, Qui pure propter Dominum Religionis habitum Portare videatur.

This doggrel, to the extent of 51 stanzas, is entitled Planetus Bernhardi Westerrodis; and, if it hath no other merit, it has the merit of being a witness for truth in that dark age, the 14th century. It is mentioned by Fl. L'lyricus the author of the Catalogus testium veritatis, and preserved at full length by BASELIUS in his Sulpitius Belgicus. p. 150.

† See the sum of these and other councils, digested by Bartholomew Carranza, formerly archbishop of Toledo. Of his work, it may be said, that it will give a protestant reader a sufficient idea of the several councils; and of the author, that, being suspecled of inclining to protestanism, he was imprisoned by the inquisition, and his archiepiscopal revenues were confiscated to the king of Spain. By appealing, indeed, to Rome, he saved his life, but not his see; for he died many years after in a private station. Theanus says, he knew him; and that his learning, integrity, and the holiness of his conversation were such, as made him worthy of his dignity.

In the fifth century, another sect was raised against the doctrine of the trinity, which proceeded, in a great measure, upon the notion of Sabellius. The professors of it were called Theopaschitae, "God sufferers," or Fullonians, from Peter Fullo, bishop of Antioch, their leader. This tribe asserted, that the whole trinity suffered upon the cross; and therefore, they addressed the trisagion or doxology to Christ alone, as the representative of the trinity, or the man in whom the trinity was. With respect to the person of Christ, they came very near, if not quite, to the Eutychians or Monophysita, who so confounded his two natures, as to represent the human to be absorbed in the divine, and to lose

thereby its own proper existence.

About the end of the same century, or (according to Cave) at the very beginning of the next, appeared the celebrated Jobannes Grammaticus, called Philoponus from his constant study; a man, who for his shining talents as a philosopher was certainly respectable, but who, too little like a professor of Christianity, abused those talents to the mean purpose of his own applause. " Tertullian (savs Cave ) long ago justly observed, that philosophers in the church have, for the most part, been the patriarchs of heretics." He had studied Aristotle and Plato; and, like Origen with many others, he endeavoured to corrupt the simplicity of divine truth, with the dogmas of the schools and the language of error. Thus, the scholar is as liable to be befooled in divine things by the subtleties and jargon of human science, as the unlettered man by the wrong apprehensions of ignorance. Neither the one nor the other can be safe, one moment, from delusion, but by a wisdom and direction very superior to their own. Philoponus was cheated by his philosophy to believe, that person and nature are the same which was the common confusion of the heretical depravers of the trinity; and he was hardened in that cheat by a concern for his own glory, and the pride of not yielding to an adversary. His heresy consisted in maintaining, that in the trinity there are three substances or natures; and yet he inconsistently enough urged, that there are not three Deities or Gods. But this consequence is unavoidable upon his hypothesis; and, therefore, he and his abettors were not unjustly called Trithcists, or maintainers of the doctrine of three Gods.

See Sleidan's Com. App. p. 48. The reader, however, should be cautioned of a flagrant error, committed in the acts of the Laodicean council, c. 35. which the papists have entitled, De his qui angulos colunt, instead of angelos, and which would otherwise have directly opposed their creature-worship. Carranza has followed them in his Sum, printed in 1552. Theodoret exposed this mistake, according to Comar. v. opera. p. 565.

foachimus of Calabria, an abbot, who flourished about the year 1200, was condemned by the Lateran council, 1215, for accusing Peter Lombard, the famous master of the sentences, of asserting, that there was a quaternity rather than a trinty in the Godhead; because, beside the three persons, of whom one begat, the other was begotten, and the third proceeding, he held, that there was a common essence, neither begetting nor begotten, nor proceeding, and so was distinct from the Father, Son, and Holy Ghost."\*

Nothing more, respecting the trinity, appears to have been started in this dark and barbarous age of the world, immersed in Romish superstition and ruled by Papal tyranny; till Gregory Palamas, archbishop of Thessalonica, about the year 1354, was accused of believing in two Gods, because he distinguished between the divine essence, and its energy or act. Palamas was a Greek, and hated by some Latin monks, who determined to find, or say, whatever they could against him. Men, thus happily disposed, may possibly obtain credit among themselves; but it must be through an excess of liberality indeed, if they gain any thing better than pity elsewhere.

With the much-needed reformation came in a world of errors, some of which arose from the most glaring impiety and licentiousness. There seemed an endeavour among many, not only to shake off those fetters which had been so long unjustly imposed upon men's consciences, but to shew that men's consciences were to have no bounds at all, and that the word of God himself, instead of being a test for all men, was now to submit to those tribunals of reason or fancy, which every man might presume he had a right to set up for himself. And as most of these judges had a law of their own, or made one for themselves; it is not at all miraculous, that there have been almost as many determinations as men, and that, upon this ground, no two men should have thought alike. They not only invented, therefore, a thousand new opinions, but industriously revived many of the old, which either suited, or, by lopping off some excrescences, might be made to suit, the genius of the times. The facists had covered every thing with mystery, and crammed it down by force: In opposition to all this, which was bad and impious enough, there arose a set of men, who, pretending to join with the wise and pious reformers, and taking advantage of the general liberty, endeavoured to subvert the Christian religion itself, by laying it down for a principle, that all true religion was not mysterious, or that there ought to be no mys-

<sup>\*</sup> SPANH. hist. Christ. sec. xiii. p. 1693. CARRANZE Summa con-

tery in religion, or that whatever was mysterious in religion was altogether wrong. This foundation turns the Bible out of its place, and sets up reason, the reason of every man, and consequently the different and jarring reasons\* of all men, to be the infallible judge in spiritual controversies. Under this usurpation of reason, it is no wonder, that the Mosaic account of the creation, the fall of man, the prophetic rites of the Jews, (for all their institutions had the voice of prophecy) the doctrine of the trinity, the incarnation of Christ, the sa. tisfaction and atonement of Christ, the descent of the Holy Ghost, his communion with his people, and the other doctrines of the gospel dependent upon these, were altogether exploded. Reason could not understand these things; "therefore, says reason, they are false." If faith would urge, "that they are the things of God, which no man can know but the Spirit of God;" reason answers, "I will take no evidence, but what comes to my own proper sense, and will believe the attestations of no man, not even of God himself, unless the same miracles are set before me, as are stated to have happened unto them." Thus reason very modestly proposes, that God shall continue to interrupt the laws of nature constantly (for every man to the end of time may plead this) for her satisfaction; and then she will do him the honor to believe, that the Almighty can tell no lie; but, not before. She will, upon this, condescend to own, that possibly he may be right in some other assertions concerning his own divine nature, and that the gospel, though it may be rather mysterious to her after all, shall have leave to be credited a little in the world.—But as God never meant, that his gospel should be a subject of depraved reason, but of gracious faitb; there is no hope, but that, as it ever hath been, so it ever will be, a stone of stumbling and a rock of offence to them, who stumble at the word, being disobedient, whereunto also they were appointed. I Pet. ii. 8 .- "I cannot understand all this," says reason: 'To which the best answer is; " It would not be true, if you could. You perfectly understand nothing: How then can you presume to comprehend the irfinite cause of all things?"t

\* Austin quotes from Verro, that there were no less than 288 different opinions of philosophers upon one single question. "What is the summum bonum, or chief good?" De civit dei. 1. xix. c. 1.

† If it be objected, that this method of disclaiming the agency of reason in religious matters, tends to open a door to enthusiasm and all manner of nonsense; it may be answered liberally, that to the religion of Jesus Christ there can properly belong no nonsense, which is a ridiculous repugnance to truth, nor enthusiasm, which is a serious abuse of it; so that a wild profession is not a true one-

Reason has fled from this humiliating ground, and set up a religion, or rather a variety in religion, of her own. We will only take the chief of those into view, which most nearly relate to the subject of these Essays; only premising, that all the sects, we shall mention, pretend a regard to the Scripture,

And with respect to the use of reason, it being an excellent gift of God originally perfect in our nature, it is to be regarded, though now deprayed, in all things but those, which are above its powers, as all divine things most certainly are; and on these therefore it would be irrational to employ it. As this objection is of much importance, it may be worth while to give it a short consideration.

## The case of Enthusiasm briefly stated.

That there is an intercourse upon the business of salvation between the Spirit of God and the spirits of men, really, powerfully, and effectually, cannot be doubted or denied by those, who will receive the authority of the following Scriptures among many others:

John iii. 5. vii. 39. Rom viii. 2, 9, 11, 16, 26. Gal. iii. 14. Eph. ii 18. 1. Pet. iv. 14. John xvi. 13. Rom. xiv. 17. 1 Cor. vi. 19. Titus iii. 5.

What these Scriptures (which are the wise revelation of God) promise, testify, and explain, as the undoubted priviledge of ALL real Christians, cannot therefore be nonsense, nor yet what is usually understood by enthusiasm. This last term then, in its common evil sense, must be applied to something very different from the grace of God or (what is the same) the operation of his Holy Spirit, enlivening, enlightening, and enabling the souls of his people; or, while we pass strictures upon men and their errors, we may extend our censures unwarily to the truth of God itself. The real Christian "does not only believe (says Mr. Addison, who will not be suspected for a fanciful devotee) but feels there is a Deity. He has actual sensations of him; his experience concurs with his reason; he sees him more and more in all his intercourses with him, and even in this life almost loses his faith in conviction. In short, the person who has a firm trust on the supreme Being is powerful in his power, wise by his wisdom, happy by his happiness." Spect. No. 46 and 441. Will any man call this enthusiasm?

It is right to ask then; what is properly enthusiasm, that dangerous evil against which we hear so loud an alarm in the world?

It cannot be gross vice or immortality; for, generally, vicious and immoral people exclaim vehemently against it. Nor is it carelessness or unconcern about salvation; because the more indifferent people are in that respect, the more violent is their outcry upon the matter. Is it then an enthusiasm in the pursuit of the world's pleasure, riches, and honors? in the chase of its galeties, parade, and professions? Certainly not; for this is by no means an enthusiasm condemned, but, if successful especially, admired, followed, and crowned with applause. Nobody puts a stigma upon people with these accomplishments, nor believes them to merit the

so far at least as it can be wrested to support their respective opinions. As to those, who are such masters in reason, as to reject the Bible altogether; it would be too foreign to our matter, and require too long a discussion for this place, even if it had not been sufficiently done already; which indeed it has been by Dr. Leland and by several others.

odious title of enthusiastic creatures, if even life, health, and sub-

stance are wholly laid out upon these objects.

On the other hand (as we have seen) the impressions of divine grace, and all their "sober certainty of waking bliss," must be above the imputation of any ill name; or God and his truth, however impossible in fact, will seem to fall under condemnation.

Yet this mark of infamy is placed only upon religious professors. 'Tis a something in religion which is thus branded; and, if it deserve the brand, let it fore ver wear the shame. But it can only deserve this, by being contrary to the express and written word of God.

Agreeable to this principle; the true defination of religious enthusiasm (not regarding the misapplication, but the commonly received sense, of the term) may be somewhat like the follow-

ing.

An elevation, conceit, effusion, or inflation only of the human mind, under the impulse of which it pretends to think or act in religious concerns, without having or without regarding the proper warrant of God's written word, which being fixed in its canon and closed in its prophecy, is now the only settled rule, law, and testimony, by which all the circumstances of religion are to be proved

and determined.

If this definition be correct, we shall find the censure of enthusiasm to fall upon two sorts of persons. First, those, who pretend to divine inspiration, while they are only warmed by a deluded fancy, ABOVE the word of God and BEYOND its sanctions: And, secondly, those who rejecting all supernatural aids or (what is the same the particular efficacy and omnipotence of those aids, are so vainly puffed up by their fleshly mind, as not to hold the head [CHRIST] for spiritual nourishment or erudition, and by following their own spirits venture to intrude into those things which they have not seen; and therefore proceed without the word and AGAINST it. Both of these act upon the same common principle, however different the effect; their own natural and corrupted mind being ruler and guide in both. For, as the one sort is borne aloft by a wild and unbounded imagination, the other blindly follows a corrupt and incapable reason; which two are different powers indeed, but are however powers alike of the same human understanding.

Upon this view of the case then, it may appear, that the depraved energy of fallen man, if it attempt divine things without assistance or without rule, is urged by that arrogance or inflation of an undisciplined soul, which deserves the name, because it bears the nature, of enthusiasm; and consequently that those are the religious en

Some of the German Anabaptists, among other points, thought perversely of the trinity, holding the three persons to be three essences, different from each other in nature, power, and glory, and maintaining that their unity consisted only in that kind of will and consent of operation, which may subsist between two or three kings, or did subsist among the disciples of Jesus. They also held the same opinions with Marcion. Cerdon, &c. concer the person of Christ, and respecting the divinity of the Holy Spirit. They took their composition from Arianism and the enthusiasms of some antient heretics, and wrought itup, with some wild conceptions of their own, for a new sect or sects, to which they gave a new denomination. It is right, however, to say, that the northern Anabaptists in Germany, and the society called Baptists in England, were always people of a different stamp; the latter of whom are for the most part of the same principles with our Congregationalists or Independents, excepting in the article of baptism.

About the same time with these Anabaptists, the famous Michael Servetus made his appearance, for the trouble and disgrace of the reformation. It is an old remark? "Where God founds a church, the devil will build a chapel." It was permitted to be so, in this case; And the reason of it may be seen in 1 Cor. xi. 19. The devil chuses his instruments, for the most part, with his usual sagacity: And Servetus, in respect to the abilities of his mind and to his literary attainments, was qualified to do honor to a better patron. Like his master, he was indefatigable, and went to and fro in the earth, and walking up and down in it. He wrote much, as well as travelled much, and took uncommon pains to disseminate his opinions, or rather the opinions of Paul of Samosata, which he improved in their error. He opposed the doctrine of the trinity with the utmost virulence, and led the way for the Socinians; upon which account, perhaps, it is, they are

thusiasts, who presume to soar above God's revealed wisdom in his word, or pretend to obtain divine knowlege without divine teaching, and to act or determine in spiritual things by the strength of

their own weak and incompetent faculties.

Nothing has been said here of diabolic impressions, because, whatever they may act upon the human mind, they so act according to the mode of its corruptions and depravities, that the result can only be the same abuse or contradiction of the revealed will of God, and therefore must merit no other name.

In confirmation of these sentiments, the reader is requested attentively to compare the following Scriptures: Is. viii. 20. John viii. 47. 1 John ii. 5. Matth. xxiv. 25 .- 1 Cor. ii. 11. &c. iii. 16. Eph. ii. 18. Phil. iii. 3. 1 John iv. 13. Jude 19. Luke xxiv. 45. John xv. 5.

so exceedingly zealous to defend his reputation. Spanbeim. who at least was as likely to know correctly about him as they, informs us, that he was bomo ad omnem improbitatem effictus, "a man framed for all sorts of wickedness." \* Yet this unhappy man could sit down to correct proofs of a Latin Bible, printed at Lyons, and to write a preface and marginal notes for it, after the declaration of his principles. He went farther; for he entitled one of his books, The restitution of Christianity; though it tends to sap the very foundation of all Christianity. With this conduct, he pretended to believe, that the Bible was a divine revelation: And yet he wrote many things in direct contradiction to it. He followed his own ingenuity, which is generally allowed to have been great; and this seems to have misled him in warping the Scriptures to a preconceived system, which he maintained with such an intemperance of language and heat of spirit, as certainly could give neither himself nor his opinions any weight or value. He was a metaphysician, and thought to comprehend by reason, what only is delivered to the church as an article of faith. No natural man can endure this bidded wisdom of God (as the apostle calls it;) nor even allow it to be wisdom at all, because hidden from him. Servetus deserves to be placed at the head of modern Anti-trinitarians, and may be esteemed the wretched martyr of a bad cause. The putting him to death, however, cannot well be justified, if it was adjudged only for his heterodox principles; and serves to shew, in that case, that good men, left to the passions of their own corrupt hearts, are capable of doing very ill things.

Soon after Servetus, the Spaniard Valentinus Genti. is an Italian newly vamped up the opinion of John Grammaticus or Philoponus, and contended, in opposition to the Unitarians, that there were three eternal Spirits, numerically different, and different in degree. This was Tritheism, or the opinion of three Gods, with a witness Yet he found followers, and especially in Poland and Transylvania. These followers, aiming to improve their master's opinions, carried their refinements so far, as to reproduce the different degrees of Arianism and Socinianism, which, from that time to this, have so eminently edified the world in all things but one—the true knowledge of God, by a life of faith and communion with Him. But this, according to them, is a mere error, in religion; and on the other hand, according to the Bible, all re-

<sup>\*</sup> Misc. Sacr. Ant. Lib. x. col. 1544. Sec, to the same effect, Melch. Adam. In vit. Calvini. p. 89.

ligion, which does not end in this, is mere delusion.—These are wide extremes; and the Bible must be cut up and framed

anew, before they can be reconciled.

In this first age also of the reformation, arose the famous Loclius Socinus, an Italian of family at Sienna, and his memorable nephew Faustus. 'The uncle was, according to Spanbeim, a consociate with Bernard Ochin, with Gentilis abovementioned, and several others, to the number of forty in the whole, in the Venetian territory. These people, being for the most part men of acknowledged abilities with respect to human attainments, set up and propagated, by combining the old heresies of Paul of Samosata, of Photinus, of Pelagius, and in some degree of Arius, a new and famous heresy, which from the Socini its principal founders, is now well known by the name of Socinianism. From their Racovian school in Poland, this error has spread itself, and particularly in the countries professing protestanism, through all Europe. It is (among the pure Sociaiansat least) not many removes from Mabomedism; insomuch, that one Adam Neuser, a German theologist of the Socinian order, openly espoused the Turkish religion, was circumcised at Constantinople, and pressed his example upon his brethren; which he might, not very inconsistently, do; the ground-work of the two religions being pretty much alike. For though (as it hath been observed)\* not one example can be produced of a Turk turning Christian, or to any other religion; yet for a Socinian, who renounces that distinguishing tenet of Christianity, the divinity of Christ and the Spirit, to commence Mahometan, is rather an easy than a violent transition. And there have been people among us of the Socinian leaven, who have tacitly acknowledged this, by proposing a formal renunciation of the doctrine of the trinity, in order to win the Turks, "who, (as one pleasantly says) pray five times a day that the may never become Christians." Perhaps some of them would think it rather hard, if they were obliged to pray half so often, that they might never become Turks.

After the Socini, uncle and nephew, the most considerable abettors of this opinion abroad have been Ostorodius, Credius, Smalcius, Volkelius, Conrad Vorstius, &c. The names at home are too numerous to be mentioned; and it might seem likewise invidious to mention them. Suffice it therefore to add, that these great masters of reason have been very well answered by several English and foreign divines; among the former of whom Dr. Jonathan Edwards, whose Preservative against Socinianism might be recommended to an English reader,

was none of the least.

<sup>\*</sup> IVES's travels through Persia, p. \$12.

So much has been said about REASON in religion of late years, that one would almost think, its panegyrists had made a new discovery, or that it was a new creation dropped from the clouds. The whole discourse of some men, in this age, turns entirely in favor of rational religion, as though this kind of religion was either a new thing, or (what seems most likely to be the opinion of its advocates) the Christian religion was never found rational before. And so because the doctrines of grace have been abused by fanatics and hypocrites; they think it impossible to go too far into the opposite extreme: And hence they deny grace and its operations all together. High encomiums are raised therefore, at present, upon people of cool piety, and moderate devotion; which terms are not to be guarrelled with, if used in a true sense: But, when they are employed to cover laxness of principle and formality in religion, one cannot help saying, that the piety of such men is cool enough indeed, chilling cold, without, warmth of love either to God or man. Their devotions will certainly be very moderate upon this ground; and there is no sort of fear, that they should happen to be over-strained. Of this reasonable piety of the age, it may be said, without breach of charity, because it is a melancholy truth, that it is not founded upon the word of God, nor supported by the grace of God, nor effected to the glory of God. It is a religion of mere philosophy or ethics, in all respects independent of, and in some contradictory to the religion of Jesus Christ. Dry and speculative both in form and matter, it has no life to mend the heart, no power to influence the life. And, as this is evidently, from the principles and practice of its professors, the character of our modern rational profession; we may well wish for the ancient faith to revive again, and to resume its former credit and operation in the world-

And what is this reason of which we hear so much applause, and see so little benefit?—It may not be amiss to consider.

As God creates only what is good; so reason, before the fall, was pure and periest reason, and adequate to its proper objects. Reason is that faculty in the intellect of man, which combines ideas, and, from their combination, concludes their due result: And if the ideas are certain and conclusive, the deductions will be the same. This faculty in man, at its first creation, had none but right objects for its exercise; and it had a perfect and true power to form and collect ideas from those objects, and to obtain just conclusions by them. There was then no cloud thrown over the objects, and no darkness in the faculty, which was to be employed about them; but they perfectly corresponded with each other, and led all the powers of the soul into truth. This happy state of reason consisted, not only in the purity and justness of its formation,

but in its constant communion with Him, who is uncreated rectitude, and who carried it on consentaneously with his unering mind, and pointed it to himself as to its final object or end.

Upon the fall, this beautiful scene of light, truth, and peace, immediately changed. Reason now flowed from a dark, depraved, and agitated intellect; and, of course, her ratiocinations were no longer carried on, either with God, through God, or to God. Having forfeited communion with him, and, insensible of the greatness of that benefit, boldly owning no assistances from him; it preposterously endeavours to collect bright ideas of spiritual things from a benighted world of matter, and to form certain and exact conclusions of truth without correspondence with the God of truth. It is so blind, that it doth not know, that its faculty has lost its original certainty, and that the mind and every thing about it is shut up in a darkness that may be felt. It is often at a loss upon the most trifling earthly subjects, about its own powers and existence, and clashes with itself in each individual, and with its own operations in other men. debates and controversies in the world prove the weakness and insufficiency, and from thence the fall, of reason. In affairs, where men have no other guide, and lawfully appeal to reason, they often differ strangely, and rather guess at, than produce, right conclusions. In this humiliating condition, however, reason rejects the very notion of its impotence and depravity, though proved by every circumstance of natural, moral, and intellectual evil; and ventures to act from itself, concerning divine affairs, in a manner, which it ought not to do, and certainly would not do, if it were not depraved. All the other faculties became partakers of this degeneracy of the mind. The passions and affections fell into disorder, quarrelled at once with the rule of righteousness, and with each other. They now had no system but self; and self was too much at variance to keep up a system. Each appetite of the body, each passion of the soul, no longer adverting to the particular end for which it was created, the good of the whole man and the Creator's glory; sought its own immediate gratification, and gave rise to those jars and conflicts, which every one feels within him. But, as reason is the appointed natural guide to the attainment of whatever can be possessed of this world by body or mind; each appetite or passion makes its address to reason, and tempts it to become its advocate, wrestles with it to prevail, and promises a truce to the conflict within upon granting its terms. Hence, according to the respective predominancy of each particular affection, enfeebled reason becomes a dupe, and warps all its con-Vol. II.

clusions to the service of the reigning tyrant within .- Thus, the man, whose first appetite is ambition, mistaking the object of true and lasting glory, which is God, lays out all the powers of his reason to subserve that ambition in the aggrandizement of self. Of this Machiavel's writings give us a monstrous proof, where reason is prostituted to work into system all the selfishness and horrors of the most restless ambition .- Thus, the man of avarice, having lost the knowledge of the true riches, endeavours to gratify his lust of wealth, by forming plans to scrape up all the perishing trash within his grasp upon earth .- Thus, the man of show or pride, ignorant of the beauty of holiness or spiritual perfection, strives to satisfy his passion for ornament and splendor, by devising modes to adorn a poor corruptible body, and by adding his share of support to the same gaudy fashions in the rest of the world. Thus the man, whose desire turns upon curiosity or knowledge (laudable as that desire is above most others,) yet, having none at all for true erudition or a divine tutor, pursues the shadow of human learning for substantial wisdom, and often imagines that to be true science, which is all opposition in itself, and which at the best is but falsly so called .-Thus, the man of lust, who is by many degrees nearer the brutes of the creation, forgetting the chaste affection, which God gave to his nature for his own comfort, for the comfort of one amiable help-mate endeared by every tie of the most unreserved society, and for the general welfare and increase of mankind; wanders, in direct opposition to this elegant as well as benevolent harmony, from female to female, for the indulgence of a sensuality, in which goats and dogs are his rivals, and in which he is scarce on a level with them. same brutal lust will prostitute the wretch's reason to contend for this, as it hath done (and with great learning too)\* in books of the vilest obscenity; or if it cannot so far violace reason, through some adventitious checks, as to constrain her, like an audacious strumpet, to justify indiscriminate or unlimited amours; it will urge her to become advocate at least for some further licence, than the marriage of pairs can allow. Reason may shrink for a while, and plead inexpedience, and from thence that the practice cannot be natural, and then further, that, consequently, it could not be instituted by the God of nature: But strong lust will bring weak reason down, and not only so, but turn the Bible itself into a shop

<sup>\*</sup> The author is sorry to stain his page, in evidence of this assertion, with the names of Peter Aretin, Sanchez the Jesuit, and the truly infamous Adrian Beverland; all men of fine parts and learning, but who abused them (like the wits of Charles the second's court) to the most brutal and indecent purposes.

for licentious wares, and find drugs in it to provoke and stimulate appetites, which God revealed it from heaven to correct and subdue. In this prostitution of religion, lust will proceed to compel reason to urge, from the condemned bardness of some men's bearts, or from an ancient practice which doth not apply to any Christian society in the world, the es tablishment of a commerce, which would overturn and dissolve all religious, civil, and domestic economies, and, from a masked battery, let loose the rakes of the earth, like Romans upon Sabines, to reduce the worth and comfort or to make a prey of womankind.\* Lust, the vilest lust, shall be the spur and the spring of these excogitations; while reason and the Scripture shall be dragged forth, like two pimps, to procure for or defend emotions, with which reason (depraved as she is) has nothing to do, and which the Scripture, untortured, in the very end and design of it, expressly condemns. -Thus, also, the Atheist, having lost sight of God, suborns his reason to deny his very being, and, like the ostrich hiding his head in a bush, fancies that, because he cannot see his Maker, his Maker doth not behold him. One might enumerate many other particulars, in which men argue from or for their vices; and, because reason is corrupted and employed in their aid, they very correctly call the clamors of their passions and appetites the voice of reason itself .- From all this, we may see what reason is, in our present fallen state; that, instead of being luminous as at first, it is dark and degraded; and, instead of being free to command all righteousness to the animal frame, it is become a slave to those mean and sordid appetites, which sin corrupted, and which, for sin, must perish in the grave. From hence too we may see one great cause of all human error even upon natural objects, and what

<sup>\*</sup> Bernard Ochin was the first Protestant, who wrote in defence of polygamy, and was well answered by Beza. In the last century, several authors appeared to justify this practice, both in Germany and England, some anonymously, and others under fictitious names, who were answered abroad, by the elder Sphanheim in his Dubia Evangelica, Vol. II. by Johannes Musaus, in a Latin dissertation; by Walter Schluter, chaplain to the K. of Denmark, in the German tongue; and by the learned professor Meyer, in his book de uxore Christiana, which Spanheim the son highly commends in his theol. oper. p. ii. col. 1006. Putting religion out of the question, Sallust, an heathen historian, lewd as he was, gives, in his concise style, sufficient argument against the practice from reason alone. Speaking of the polygamy, which obtained amongst the antient Moors and Numidians, he adds, Singuli pro opibus, quisque quamplurimas uxores; denas alii, alii plures habent; sed reges eo amplius. Ita animus multitudine distrahitur; nullam pro socia obtinet : pariter omnes viles sunt. Bell. Jugurth.

mistakes must necessarily arise, when this principle is suffered to come in, as a rule or criterion in spiritual things. Surely, that which is now become a false medium for vision is very ill qualified to correct our sight. Who could have believed, but for the existence of the fact, that this glass of reason should have refracted such different colors as Socinianism Arianism, Tritheism, Sabellianism, and Deism, from the same ray of pure and uncorrupted light? And yet this is the case;

as perhaps the following considerations may shew.

The principal ground, for instance, of the Socinian error, consists in this one point—the submitting the Bible to what they suppose to be reason, instead of submitting this reason to the revlation of God in the Bible. In this respect, they are but one remove from the Deists, who, from the pretended dictates of this imperfect and depraved principle, reject all revelation together. The Socinians act a more uncandid and inconsistent part; for, while they profess to receive the Bible as the truth of God, they reject those most distinguishing principles, on which the whole of the Bible stands, and without which it is indeed that composition of absurdities, which it is for the interest of some men that it should be. To say, that the Bible is the truth of God, which must be cerditude itself as such, and yet to deny its peculiar doctrines, because poor fallible worms cannot measure or bring them down to the full comprehension of their faculties; is a bold contradiction in itself, and just as absurd as the conduct of that man would be, who should refuse to receive food as food, merely because he cannot explain bow it is so. If reason could explain any one thing in the world, there might be the more pretence for all this wisdom above what is written: But as no man can unravel the multiform mysteries in nature, and yet allows their existence; it becomes the more inexcusable in any, who receive God's word as such, to quarrel with its doctrines, only because their little limited reason cannot define them. Their reason, in this place, dwindles into opinion, because the objects are out of its reach; and stands in the same predicament with those conjectures of philosophers, who form kingdoms in the moon, and raise states and empires in all the planetary worlds about them. Christianity has indeed but very little obligation to many of those divines, who, under color of making the religion of Jesus Christ (what they are pleased to term) reasonable, have given up the most essential doctrines of that religion, purely because their reason could not account for them; forgetting, that the objects of faith cannot be the objects of reason, and consequently not subject to reason. One should have thought, that the first question to be asked by these cogent reasoners would have been; " Hath God said this? Is this bis truth?"-If it be so (as most of them have conceded;) there is an end of all controversy, and there should be an end of all doubt; because God cannot lie.—If it be not so; then, again, there is at once an end of the whole matter; for all the mere reasonings in the world cannot prove the Bible to be true, and for this plain reason; because all the doctrinal parts of it, relating to God and the world of spirits, are not the invention nor the present objects of the reasoning faculty. A snail or a fly might as justly commence mathematicians, pretend to write down the order of things in the universe, and dictate lectures of instruction to the intellect of man.

What have been the effects of this potent reason in the Socinian world ?- A train of doctrines, which invalidate all revelation. They have passed a Rubicon (as one expresses it) and may dispute either for the Talmud or Koran.\* In the first place, they will not allow, that God has given a true account of bimself, nor of Christ, nor of man, nor of beaven, nor of bell. For, they deny, that there are persons in the Godhead, and assert that other beings may properly have the name of Jehovah; though God says, bis name only is febovab, and hath declared a plurality in his essence. They maintain, that Christ was a mere man, without any existence before the virgin Mary; though Christ himself says, that he had the glory with the Father before the world was. From this daring blasphemy against his person arise twenty other impious dogmas concerning his work, which they assert to be merely human, without any satisfaction for sin, without any merit for righteousness, or without any other consequence than as a mere pattern, like the example of any other moral man. Their philosophy too allows the strange opinion, that souls sleep in the dust, perhaps die with the body, and rise again (if evil) not to be tormented for ever, but for a space of time proportionate to its sin. Thus, they have invented a method of quenching what Christ calls unquenchable and everlasting fire, and of putting an end to that gnawing worm, which he declares shall never die. Lastly, they roundly af-

<sup>\*</sup> Huls. Theol Jud. in præf. See also, concerning the Sociniae practices and opinions, Jones's letter to the common people, annexed to his 3d edition of the Catholic doctrine of a trinity; a book, which cannot be two much diffused or read by the common people at this time, when all sorts of errors, both religious and political, have been employed, with art and strength united, to overturn the constitution both in church and state. It is the interest even of all sound dissenters to oppose schemes and endeavors, which are altogether formed against the very foundations of Christianity, and, under the pretence of universal liberty, can only introduce universal licentiousness and infidelity.

firm, that the Holy Spirit is no person, and consequently not God. Sometimes they inform us, that He is the gospel itself, in which they concur with the Antinomians; or, at best, some accidental gift, or virtue, or emanation from the Deity, for some particular purpose, which being accomplished, it ceases to be. Those of them, who do allow the Holy Spirit to be a person (for these masters of reason differ wonderfully in their very correct reasonings upon this subject,) affirm however, that he is a mere creature, of a nature heterogeneous to the divine, a prince of the angels, or the whole mass of angelic spirits together. How reason discovered all this it is hard to conceive; but with some any thing will do, which may degrade the eternal Spirit from its proper divinity. After such clear accounts respecting his person, his offices in the Bible are, without doubt, most exactly handled. Accordingly, they inform us, that original sin, and grace, and election, and justification, and sanctification, are a parcel of wild chimeras fit only for madmen and fools. Hence, the comforts of the Spirit, promised in Scripture, and many other spiritual blessings to be received even in this world, are all old wives' fables, fit for the entertainment of superstitious heads, but by no means of such sagacious and profound reasoners as themselves, In fine, they would reason the word of God out of its own truths, the people of God out of all their hopes and comforts, and themselves out of any claim to heaven but by their own rational virtues, which they talk a vast deal about, but which neither they nor any body else, by human power, can truly and properly perform. To add no more upon this head, the whole Socinian hypothesis, both in matter and conduct, is diametrically opposite to that comprehensive plan, which the apostle has laid down in the first epistle to the Corintbians, beginning with the 17th verse of the first chapter, and ending with the last verse of chapter the third. They, who follow Socinus and his reasoners must reject the apostle; and they, who credit the apostle, must give up Socinus and them. A man, who feels any concern for the salvation of his soul, will not hesitate which to chuse for his company; and especially when he finds, that God, and Christ, prophets and apostles, with all the blessed above, are in perfect harmony and conjunction with St. Paul.

It is this pretended light of reason, exercised out of place upon the objects of faith, which has occasioned or revived most of the heresies in the world, and which has misled multitudes of otherwise respectable men into every contrariety of error. The not considering, that our reasoning powers are fallen powers degenerated and corrupt, as the Scripture testifies, and as (one would think) the proudest heart must feel; is the grand root of all the confusion. Either our

veason is depraved; and so we cannot judge properly upon divine things, as God tells us we cannot, and as the difference of our judgments proves to a demonstration: Or, it is not depraved; and then the whole Bible proceeds upon a false hypothesis, has nothing to do with us, nor we with it. We are then wise for ourselves, and renounce all revelation from God. It is of no importance, in the former case, to urge the learning or attainments which our faculties may acquire, unless it could be proved, that these advantages can discover to us, without the risque of any important mistake, how we may renew the soul and restore it to its lost perfection: And then likewise we virtually set aside the use and necessity of a divine revelation. But this discovery is beyond the reach of art; for, as it was said by Cicero, there is no opinion so absurd, but which has been espoused by some philosopher; so we can prove, that there is no heresy so blasphemous, no doctrine so mischievous or contradictory, but which has been supported by some learned man. higher the conceit of knowledge, the greater has been the danger of error. Men of moderate parts, or attainments. are afraid to venture with those,

> Who nobly take the high priori road, And REASON downward, till they doubt of GoD.

POPE.

Ordinary men, like ordinary horses, are preserved from making such bold leaps, as risk every thing and gain nothing. The great wits, who soar the highest, are they who meet with the most desperate falls. Providence seems to have permitted this on purpose to shew the world, that by all its wisdom it never knew God, and by all its learning it cannot explore the truths of God. And this fact confirms loudly that voice of the Scripture, where it declares, that the natural man receiveth not the things of the Spirit of God, for they are foolishness unto him, neither can be know them, because they are spiritually discerned .- What then can be thought of that principle, which calls God's wisdom folly, and which pretends, therefore, to be its own infallible guide? Men may call it reason, if they please, or any thing else; but, let it be denominated or adorned as it may, certainly it will one day be found to deserve a very different

The Arian gets upon the same reasoning ground with the Socinian, Latitudinarian, and Doist, when, instead of implicitly believing the record of God, he begins to argue only from his own understanding upon it. He joins with them to make a demand, like Nicodemus. How can these things be?

When reason can settle the theory of the wind, which is an invisible though material substance; it may have advanced a step towards the knowledge of something higher; till it does this it must be content to be a learner, even in the masters of Israel. It is not wonderful then, that the Arian like all other people, cannot conceive, How the three divine persons can be one Godhead or essence, nor now entitled to the same acts of worship, as can be proved to be given them in the Bible, both in doctrine and example. Rather than submit to this evidence, he boldly reasons about it from things buman to things divine; and, because a human son is inferior to his father and was begotten by him at a certain point of time, he very positively concludes, that it cannot be otherwise with the Godhead. As to the Holy Ghost, he is very much at a loss, what to do with him. Sometimes, he is almost ready to think him a sort of a little God, made by the plastic power of the Father, or perhaps by the joint help of the Father and the Son; and sometimes he will very roundly insist upon it, that he is nothing but the plastic power itself, very handsomely dividing God from his own energy. He gets into his own reason, will see the ground of all things by that faculty, or will believe nothing. God's testimony, indeed, if it can seem at any rate to chime in with his own notions, will do very well; but set them at variance, which may easily be done, and it will presently be seen that our Arian is only a concealed idolater, not worshipping the God of the Scriptures, but rather the device or fabrication of his own reason.

Can the Arminian be acquitted in this view; and is not he too far enlisted (perhaps unexpectedly to himself) under the same banner? He may and doth hold the theory of the trinity rightly enough; but if he be examined upon the effect and operations of the second and third persons, he appears, in the mode of its maintainance, too much upon a bottom with the Arian. He is speculatively right, and practically wrong. He will deny, for instance, the particular effect of Christ's redemption, in perfectly atoning for the sins of bis own people, in completely investing them with his righteousness, and in thus giving them an unalienable title to glory. And is not this a violation of his divine sovereignty as king over Israel? He limits also the omnipotent efficacy of the Holy Spirit in those communications of grace, by which he is the first, the sole and the sovereign agent in the redeemed (as Christ was for the redeemed) and by which he absolutely and finally secures them to life everlasting. And doth not this seem an impeachment of his divinity as Lord over all? \* If it be in-

<sup>\*</sup> The author, wishing to treat this point with the utmost tenderness consistent with truth, would therefore beg any candid Armini-

quired of him: How he can boldly reject or torture a thousand passages of Scripture, which directly speak for these points or naturally, proceed from them; he flies off in a tangent to his reason. He will urge, that he cannot conceive. how God, consistently with such and such attributes (the ideas of which are the offspring of his own brain) can act in this and that manner; that it is not reasonable to believe so; and that, therefore, it must be otherwise. In doing this, he has left the plain testimonies of the Bible, and taken up the common subterfuge of all heretics, - buman, corrupted, miserable. reason. He will wind and turn some texts of the Bible, it may be, in order to favor his rational scheme; but this scheme being already formed, and this hypothesis being previously laid down, those authorities from God are not treated as principals, but only as accidental auxiliaries to his own natural understanding. He examines the counsels of God by his own rule; and, though the pre-conceived opinions of his own mind are not to be reconciled with the harmony and general purport of the divine declarations, he persists to follow the one against the other, and to represent the will, power, and covenanted truth of the Almighty, as truckling to the will power, and contingent inclinations of feeble and sinful creatures.\*

an to consider; how far the causative supremacy, inseparable from divinity, can be reconciled with that dependent or consequent activity, which his principles necessarily lead him to adopt, respecting the work of the Son and Holy Ghost in the salvation of sinners. He may also reflect, how it is possible that either of these divine persons can be disappointed in their offices of grace, consistent with their divinity, and how far the maintenance of such an opinion necessarily derogates from the wisdom and omnipotence, from the truth and faithfulness, of these glorious persons, and from the order, beauty, and consummation of all their works both in grace and nature.—These things, well digested, may prove, that the charge, severe as it seems in words, is not entirely unfounded in very deed.

\* It ought to be noted with candor, that there are many good men inclined to the Arminian principles, who, as good men, do certainly (though perhaps not obviously to themselves) live much above them. There are, strange as it may seem, many Arminians in theory, who are perfect Calvanists in practice and experience Bring them upon their knees before God, they will ask, ike his children, in the deepest confession of their own weakness, helplessness, and wants: Set them to speak from their own hearts, their voice will be the voice of Jacob: But if their hands are to pass examination, they become hunters at once like Esau, and wander from the Bible and the blessing into the mazes of reason and

opinion. Vol. II.

Thus the ground of all errors in divinity, various and cons tradictory as they are and must be among themselves, appears to be in the depravity of reason. People differ upon all subjects, where they employ their reason, to a proverb; and it will be more in vain, under such a guide, to expect universal agreement; than it was by the emperor Charles V. in his retirement, that his great number of clocks, which he strove to regulate for that end, should all continue to strike together in the same moment of time. The truth is, God made man upright, but be bath since followed, as well as sought out many inventions-some of his own, and some even worse than his own-the devil's. Were reason pure, as in its first estate; it would be perfect and concordant in all its conclusions. All men would think alike, in such a state of perfection; but the difference in the faculty demonstrably proves, and upon fact, its own imperfection. But for the fall there would have been no occasion for a divine revelation, which is founded upon this grand principle, "that undone mortals are without saving truth, and cannot obtain it by any other channel." The gift of the Bible demonstrates the error of man: And its light explains his darkness. It demonstrates too, that his benighted reason, ignorant and perplexed upon lower objects, can never by arguments drawn from itself, conduct him to those sublime truths which relate to God. All experience justifies this doctrine. The wisest heathens knew nothing truly or certainly of God: They confessed him indeed to be unknown: 'The best of them lived in perplexity, and all of them died in doubt. It was reserved for the book of God, to enlighten the doctrine of immortality, and to give the most convincing evidences for grace and glory through Jesus

Truth, in all things, should be the chief concern of man. In spiritual things, above all, it is of infinite and everlasting

On the other hand, it is equally fair to note, that there are Calainists in principle, denying the liberty of the human will, who yet are seeking nothing in the world but the liberty or licentiousness of that will. Such are freewillers, in the worst sense. In their heads, they understand that grace is free; but, in their hearts, they know not the freedom of grace. They will talk soundly of Christ and the Spirit, and salvation; and feel, at the same time, no more of their power, than if they were fancies or dreams. These are but mere reasoners in their way, and differ only from others in this respect, the one speculating with and according to the Bible, and the other without or contrary to the Bible. It is a solemn and aweful truth to add, that such men are farther from the real possession of the gospel in its life and power, than perhaps all the other tribes of reasoners put together.

importance. And, who can comprehend spiritual things, but he, who is, in some measure, spiritual? And who can enable a man, by nature carnal, sold under sin, to become thus spiritual, but the author and God of spirits himself? God gives to man both discernment and objects to discern. If He speak, He speaks nothing but everlasting truth: And if He give to man the faculty to hear, man will hear nothing from him but this truth. It is the summit of human wisdom then to yield implicit confidence to God. We know, that we ourselves can err and be deceived; for we err daily. But if God cannot mistake nor delude; what may that bold creature be called, who rejects the counsel of God against bimself, and, because he cannot scrutinize the understanding and conduct of the Most High, resolves to follow none but his own? "Teach my best reason, reason," was the language of an ingenious man; and it should be the humble language of every man, in his approaches to God, or to the things of God.\* The Bible was delivered for this end; and when a man has grace to understand that blessed book, he possesses a demonstration of truth in it, which all the petty sophisters of human wit are unable to puzzle or confound. He has an understanding, which is true, and is in him, who is both true and the truth itself; and he is led to know eventually according to the promise, that the doctrine is of God, and that God teachetb it to man. John vii. 17. Is. liv. 13.

If the preceding Essays shall be blessed to promote this happy effect in but one believer, or to dispel any of his doubts upon the glorious subject to which they relate, and much more if they are honourd by HIM, of whose essential glory they treat, to produce any solid benefit to the church of God; the author will have attained his utmost end. He abhors all earthly advantages in this matter, and believes, it would be almost a sacrilege in him, as a layman, to receive any. Content with his humble station and retirement, and satisfied that it is enough for a pilgrim and a stranger upon earth; he possesses no ambition but that, which, he hopes without pride, is above the glare and tinsel of this mortal life, or at least above all sordid means to attain them. He believes, that exalted stations may rather be pitied for their snares, and despised for their aims, than solicited for any real advantage to body or mind. † As for human glory, it will easily

† Who can read the mortified declaration of a man who was raised to the highest rank that a subject can enjoy without a reflec

<sup>\*</sup> Idem qui theologia est auctor, ejus est objectum et finis sine ulla caurarum confusione: adeo ut theologia definiri fossit.—Sapientia a Deo, de Deo, per Deum, ad Deum. Ramburtii Theses. in Thes. Sedan. Vol. ii. P. 17.

be granted, that, this is a wrong road to its attainment, if it were truly desirable; but the author has seen too much of men, either extremely to value or to wish for it.\* Human praise is mere breath in the beginning, has but a short date, and then drops into everlasting oblivion.—To say no more upon so mean a subject as himself, the author will only add, that he believes he can be well satisfied, if he never knows of any profit which God may in this instance vouchsafe by him to

tion upon the vanity of human greatness? After Dr. Tilletsen became archbishop of Canterbury, he left this acknowledgment behind him in his common-place book. "I doubt it will prove a melancholy business when a man comes to die, to have made a great noise and bustle in the world, and to have been known far and near, but all this while to have been hid and concealed from himself. It is a very odd and fantastical sort of life, for a man to be continually from home, and most of all a stranger at his own house. It is sure-Iv an uneasy thing to sit always in a frame, and to be perpetually upon a man's guard, not to be able to speak a careless word, or to use a negligent posture, without observation and censure. Men are apt to think, that they who are in the highest places, and have the most power, have most liberty to say and do what they please; but it is quite otherwise, for they have the least liberty, because they are most observed. It is not mine own observation; a much wiser man, I mean Tully, says, In maxima quaque fortuna minimum licere: they, that are in the highest and greatest condition have, of all others, the least liberty." To which his biographer adds, " All these and many more are the evils, which attend greatness: but what will not mortals undergo, and what real goods will they not sacrifice, for the sake of gratifying vanity? Biogr. dict. Vol. xi. P. 179. To the same effect is the confession also of a layman of the highest official dignity. Lord Bacon, the chancellor, declares that "men in great place are thrice servants: servants of the soureign or state, servants of fame, and servants of business. So as they have no freedom, either in their persons, in their actions, or in their times. It is a strange desire to seek power, and to lose liberty : or to seek power over others, and to lose power over a man's self. The rising into place is laborious; and by pains men come to greater pains." Essays, \ xi. These are not the declarations of mere philosophers, nor the splenetic or sour effusions of disappointed courtiers, but the sober experience of persons, who had attained the summit of ambition in their respective professions, and whose understandings are beyond all question. The late lord Chesterfield could talk of being " sated with the pompous follies of life;' but these, with minds of a superior form, seemed perfectly disgusted with them.

<sup>\*</sup> Sapientia divina—non pendens ex hominum judiciis, animos deo admovet, ob quem pati contumelias honestum est dehonestamentum, & of-frobrium splendidius omni humana gloria. MOLINEUS de laud. theol. 35.

others, or if he be never known himself as the instrument of it, till the perfect consummation of the just. That knowledge then will not burt him, through the natural vanity which now cleaves inseparably in this life to all men, but serve only to heighten his gratitude, and wonder, and praise, that, out of the mouths of babes and sucklings, God should have been pleased to ordain the least display of his strength.

AND now, reader, upon the close of this work, or of thy perusing it, it may not be amiss to ask thyself, "What is the result of all these things? Are the proofs and authorities collected from the Scriptures sufficient to satisfy my mind in this important article of the SPIRIT's divinity? Have I obtained clearer views, and been led to a closer experience, of the truth in this matter than ever before?" If thou bast; bless God, and pray, that these happy effects may be increased more and more, to his glory and thy edification. But if not, and yet if it be thy wish only to obtain them; there is one way, in which thou shalt never err, and one mode of study, in which thou shalt never be mistaken. Take the Bible constantly into hand, meditate thereon upon all convenient opportunities, and above all PRAY OVER IT, as a poor, blind, and helpless sinner, that God may teach thee his mind and will in that book, and explain to thy understanding all the truths necessary to salvation. If thou hast grace to do this, and grace to persevere in doing it; thy doubts shall gradually vanish, many present difficulties shall be satisfactorily answered, mamy obscurities happily enlightened, and (what will amount to an argument of fact to thy soul) such comforts, assistances, and mercies shall flow into thy heart, as shall crown every doctrine of salvation with its own proper experience, and give thee to taste, bandle, and enjoy the word of life. Then it will cease to be a barren, naked speculation for the head; but it will become food, strength, and consolation to thy very soul. Thou wilt then perceive, that the glerious liberty of the children of God, is neither noise nor nousense, neither whim nor notion, but a solid inheritance, and a wise as well as most enduring joy. Thou wilt have a sensible and spiritual experience, that the HOLY SPIRIT is indeed God THE Spirit, giving thee that fullness of the blessing of the gospel of CHRIST, which no creature can give, and leading thee on to those sure mercies, which by JEHOVAH only can be enioved.\*

<sup>\*</sup> Bishop Stilling freet excellently says; "Christ crucified is the library which triumphant souls will be studying in to all eternity. This is the only library, which is the true izrquo \$1275, that which cures the soul of all its maladies and distempers: other knowledge makes men's minds giddy and flatulent; this settles, and composes

On the other hand, if, wiser than the Author of all wisdom in thine own conceit, thou canst venture to impeach his veracity, or to question his account of his own being, and, in consequence of this, wilt presume to scan him by thy reason, and to measure his word by thine own understanding; thou mayest be left, like thousands before thee, to this poor scanty reason and understanding, which never did and never can find out God nor his truths, and mayest wander on, as heathens in all ages have done, without light, without hope, and without certainty in any thing. A void, an endless void, dark and inscrutable, will always meet thy views; and thou must take, in a short time, a dreadful plunge into what no air of confidence can make less abhorrent to thy soul. And can it be thought, that a gloom so hateful can proceed from him, who created all light both intellectual and natural, and who is light essential in himself? Is this the best conclusion of humon reason, (if that can deserve the name of a conclusion which is involved in the deepest doubt,) which leads thee only to the insupportable reflection, that thou hast a being without knowing any just or certain end of that being? And doth not all this speak to thy heart, that a principle, which determines in so dark, so horrid a result, must necessarily be abominable in itself, be destitute of all beauty, use, or truth, and be wide also from Him, who could not but create all things for these sublime purposes? Admitting only for a moment, that the Christian may be mistaken, and that the whole of God's revelation is an empty fable; is notthat a most wonderful delusion, which can impart comfort in all the exigencies of life, and animate the throbbing heart with unutterable transports in the extremities of death? is it possible, there should be any here? Is it not even sense and enjoyment, which all men desire, and against which there is no arguing ?-On the contrary, view the bold and boasting reasoner. If he think at all upon the subject; it must be, either to feed his vanity by shewing his talents, or to make himself and others miserable by making this vastly wise and profitable discovery, that nothing can be found at all certain either in life, death, or eternity. A man, who proceeds upon his own powers, has but this object or this conclusion. For the proof of this, read the writings of such They abound in the most labored reasonings on these

them: Other knowledge is apt to swell men into high conceits and opinions of themselves; this brings them to the truest view of themselves, and thereby to humility and sobriety; other knowledge leaves men's hearts, as it found them; this alters them, and makes them better. So transcendent an excellency is there in the knowledge fo Christ crucified above the sublimest speculations in the world!" Origines Sacra. Book iii. c. 6.

topics, and are set off with all the force and elegance of composition. They will give the matter an air of plausibility; it shall run very smooth; and it shall sound incomparably well; but there is a dreadful dryness running through the whole, and a coldness, very shining perhaps, but shining like the moon in a frosty night, which leaves all things as barren and dreary as they were before. No; God's truth alone can claim the honor of being comfortably true for eternity. And that is the kind of truth, which man's nature wants, or which leads to the proper end of man. All atheistical, deistical, and other speculations, founded upon human reason, are not only dark, intricate, and perplexed, but leave the man just as miserable as they found him. On the other hand, if the Christian is not and cannot be mistaken, in his trust upon God; if the Bible shall be owned at last for a divine revelation; if the testimonies of holy men in all ages will at length be proved fully authentic; where, it may be asked, shall those bold worms appear, who could find out nothing by themselves that was true for eternity, and yet could reject what had every evidence of eternal truth, which its nature or their nature could justly demand; and who, destitute of all comfort in the knowledge they pretend to find, renounced the peace of God proposed in his word, because it surpassed their low understanding, though it could not have been God's peace if it had not? If such be their wisdom, is it not a most dangerous wisdom to themselves, and a most unprofitable one to any beside ?-Either way, it is certain, the Christian is safe and will be no looser; while the infidel can get nothing before him, if even his notions could be true; whereas, being found false, annihilation will become his desirable gain; if that can be called gain, which is nothing in itself and brings a man to nothing. But the real Christian is not dragged, like the evil spirit

in the gospel, through dry places, seeking rest and finding none: He is privileged to enjoy the refreshing dow from above, and both to believe and know whom he hath believed. He credits God's revelation of bis divine nature, and he receives God's testimony concerning kis own; and in believing he finds an admirable suitableness between God's declaration and those spiritual wants, for the accomodation of which that declaration was given. He sees, that the word witnesses of the Spirit who gave it; and he feels, that the Spirit witnesses the truth of his own word. He has a testimony without him, in which thousands of evidences have concurred; and a testimony within him, which likewise has been confirmed by the concurrent experience of thousands, in all ages and countries of the world. He sees, he knows, he enjoys the truth. He does not speculate, like an astronomer gazing after a distan star, which he can never reach; but he perceives a ligh

sbining into a dark place, the dawning of the day, and the rising of the true day-star or sun of righteousness, in his beart. It glimmered first; then broke forth illustrious: And bis path shall shine more and more to the perfect everlasting day in his soul. What joy is it to perceive this, even now, in a body of perverseness and corruption, in a world of sin and iniquity: But O what shall be the happiness, the rapture, the transport; when this dark dull veil shall be removed, and the believer, face to face, shall behold HIM, whom he loved, and sought, and hoped for, below! What a glow of admiration and delight shall possess his soul: when he shall see all, that he is capable of seeing in glory, when he shall enjoy all, that his nature can enjoy, of everlasting bliss! With what astonishment shall he survey the world of spirits; with what pleasure shall he call them his friends! What wonders of grace, life, harmony and glory, shall break in upon his enraptured soul on every side! especially, when he shall behold his dear REDEEMER, crowned with ineffable splendor, smiling upon him with love and benignity, and blessing him with the complete participation of his kingdom! Then shall the BLESSED SPIRIT, who conducted him through the wretchedness of time, pour the full gladness of heaven into his soul, by giving him such communion with the everlasting and ever-glorious TRINITY, as will ex. cite ineffable adoration to each of the DIVINE PERSONS for their respective offices, and to the WHOLE GODHEAD for the glorious covenant of salvation, world without end.

TO FATHER, SON, AND SPIRIT, THREE DIVINE PERSONS IN ONE AND THE SAME JEHOVAH, AS TO THE TRINITY IN UNITY; AND TO THE ONE JEHOVAH, EXISTING IN THE THREE PERSONS OF FATHER, SON, AND SPIRIT, AS TO THE UNITY IN TRINITY; BE ALL HONOR, GRACE, AND GLORY, ASCRIBED BY ALL CREATURES, THROUGH ALL AGES. Amen.











